WILEY-VCH

Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida

Applied Bioengineering

Innovations and Future Directions



Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida

Applied Bioengineering

Related Titles

Buchholz, K., Kasche, V., Bornscheuer, U.T.

Biocatalysts and Enzyme Technology

2 Edition

2012 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-32989-2

Meyer, H., Schmidhalter, D.R. (eds.)

Industrial Scale Suspension Culture of Living Cells

2014 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-33547-3

Behme, S.

Manufacturing of Pharmaceutical Proteins From Technology to Economy 2 Edition

2015 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-33766-8

Further Volumes of the "Advanved Biotechnology" Series:

Published:

Villadsen, J. (ed.)

Fundamental Bioengineering

2016 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-33674-6 Love, J. Ch. (ed.)

Micro- and Nanosystems for Biotechnology

2016 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-33281-6

Coming soon:

Wittmann, Ch., Liao, J.C. (eds.)

Industrial Biotechnology Microorganisms 2 Volumes

2017 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-34075-0

Wittmann, Ch., and Liao, J. C. (eds.)

Industrial Biotechnology Products and Processes

2017 Print ISBN: 978-3-527-34181-8

Planned:

Systems Biology

J. Nielsen & S. Hohmann (Chalmers University, Sweden)

Emerging Areas in Bioengineering

H. N. Chang (KAIST, South Korea)

Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida

Applied Bioengineering

Innovations and Future Directions



Volume Editor

Toshiomi Yoshida

Osaka University International Center for Biotechnology 2-1 Yamada-oka Suita-shi 565-0871 Osaka Japan

Series Editors

Sang Yup Lee

KAIST 373-1; Guseong-Dong 291 Daehak-ro,Yuseong-gu 305-701 Daejon South Korea

Jens Nielsen

Chalmers University Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Kemivägen 10 412 96 Göteborg Sweden

Gregory Stephanopoulos

Massachusetts Instituts of Technology Department of Chemical Engineering 77 Massachusetts Avenue Cambridge MA 02139 USA All books published by **Wiley-VCH** are carefully produced. Nevertheless, authors, editors, and publisher do not warrant the information contained in these books, including this book, to be free of errors. Readers are advised to keep in mind that statements, data, illustrations, procedural details or other items may inadvertently be inaccurate.

Library of Congress Card No.: applied for

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at <http://dnb.d-nb.de>.

© 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Boschstr. 12, 69469 Weinheim, Germany

All rights reserved (including those of translation into other languages). No part of this book may be reproduced in any form – by photoprinting, microfilm, or any other means – nor transmitted or translated into a machine language without written permission from the publishers. Registered names, trademarks, etc. used in this book, even when not specifically marked as such, are not to be considered unprotected by law.

Print ISBN: 978-3-527-34075-0 ePDF ISBN: 978-3-527-80058-2 ePub ISBN: 978-3-527-80060-5 Mobi ISBN: 978-3-527-80061-2 oBook ISBN: 978-3-527-80059-9

Cover Design Adam Design, Weinheim, Germany Typesetting SPi Global, Chennai, India Printing and Binding

Printed on acid-free paper

Contents

List of Contributors XIX

v

- 1 Introduction 1
- Toshiomi Yoshida
- 1.1 Introduction 1
- 1.2 Enzyme Technology 2
- 1.3 Microbial Process Engineering 2
- 1.3.1 Bioreactor Development 2
- 1.3.2 Measurement and Monitoring *3*
- 1.3.3 Modeling and Control 4
- 1.3.4 Solid-State Fermentation 4
- 1.4 Plant Cell Culture 5
- 1.5 Animal Cell Culture 5
- 1.6 Environmental Bioengineering 6
- 1.7 Composition of the Volume 7
 - References 7

Part I Enzyme Technology 11

2 Enzyme Technology: History and Current Trends 13

Klaus Buchholz and Uwe T. Bornscheuer

- 2.1 The Early Period up to 1890 13
- 2.1.1 Observations and Empirical Results 13
- 2.1.2 Theoretical Approaches 14
- 2.2 The Period from 1890 to 1940 16
- 2.2.1 Scientific Progress 16
- 2.2.2 Theoretical Developments 17
- 2.2.3 Technological Developments 18
- 2.3 A New Biocatalyst Concept Immobilized Enzymes 19
- 2.3.1 Fundamental Research 19
- 2.3.2 Examples of Industrial Development: The Case of Penicillin Amidase
 - (PA) Penicillin Hydrolysis and Derivatives 20

VI Contents

2.3.3	Examples of Industrial Development: The Case of Sugar	
2.4	Isomerization 23	
2.4	Expanding Enzyme Application after the 1950s 24	
2.5	Technology 27	
2.5.1	New Enzymes – A Key to Genetic Engineering 27	
2.5.2	Analytical and Diagnostic Enzymes 29	
2.5.3	Expanding Market of Industrial Enzymes 31	
2.6	Current Strategies for Biocatalyst Search and Tailor Design 32	
2.6.1	Enzyme Discovery from the Metagenome or Protein Databases 32	
2.6.2	Protein Engineering of Enzymes 34	
2.6.3	Enzyme Cascade Reactions 35	
2.6.4	Metabolic Engineering 37	
2.7	Summary and Conclusions 39	
	Acknowledgment 40	
	Abbreviations 40	
	References 40	
3	Molecular Engineering of Enzymes 47	
	Maria Elena Ortiz-Soto and Jürgen Seibel	
3.1	Introduction 47	
3.2	Protein Engineering: An Expanding Toolbox 48	
3.2.1	From Sequence to Fold and Function 49	
3.2.2	Improving Enzyme Properties by Rational Design and Directed	
	Evolution 49	
3.2.3	Designing Smart Libraries 51	
3.2.4	In Vivo Continuous Directed Evolution 54	
3.2.5	Diversification of Enzyme Functionalities by Recombination 55	
3.3	High-Throughput Screening Systems 56	
3.4	Engineered Enzymes for Improved Stability and Asymmetric	
	Catalysis 58	
3.4.1	Stability 58	
3.4.1.1	Cellulases 59	
3.4.1.2	Lipases 60	
3.4.2	Asymmetric Biocatalysis 62	
3.5	De Novo Design of Catalysts: Novel Activities within Common	
	Scaffolds 65	
3.6	Conclusions 69	
	References 69	
4	Biocatalytic Process Development 81	
	John M. Woodley	
4.1	A Structured Approach to Biocatalytic Process Development 83	
4.2	Process Metrics 83	
4.2.1	Reaction Yield 84	

4.2.2	Productivity 85		
4.2.3	Biocatalyst Yield 85		
4.2.4	Product Concentration 86		
4.3	Technologies for Implementation of Biocatalytic Processes 87		
4.3.1	Biocatalyst Engineering 87		
4.3.1.1	Protein and Genetic Engineering 87		
4.3.1.2	Biocatalyst Immobilization 87		
4.3.2	Reaction Engineering 88		
4.3.2.1	Reactant Supply 89		
4.3.2.2	Product Removal 89		
4.3.2.3	Two-Phase Systems 90		
4.4	Industrial Development Examples 91		
4.4.1	Development of a Biocatalytic Route to Atorvastatin (Developed by		
	Codexis Inc., USA) 91		
4.4.2	Development of a Biocatalytic Route to Sitagliptin (Developed by		
	Codexis Inc., USA and Merck and Co., USA) 92		
4.5	Future Outlook 95		
4.6	Concluding Remarks 96		
	References 96		
5	Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized		
	Reactors 99		
	Takeshi Honda, Hiroshi Yamaquchi, and Masaya Miyazaki		
5.1	Introduction 99		
5.2	Fundamental Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization 100		
5.2.1	Enzyme Immobilization by Adsorption 101		
5.2.1.1	Monoliths and Particles 109		
5.2.1.2	Synthetic Polymer Membranes and Papers 109		
5.2.1.3	Adsorption to Channel Walls 109		
5.2.2	Enzyme Immobilization by Entrapment 110		
5.2.2.1	Silica-Based Matrices 111		
5.2.2.2	Non-Silica-based Matrices 117		
5.2.3	Enzyme Immobilization by Affinity Labeling 119		
5.2.3.1	His-Tag/Ni-NTA System 119		
5.2.3.2	GST-Tag/Glutathione System 125		
5.2.3.3	Avidin/Biotin System 125		
5.2.3.4	DNA Hybridization System 126		
5.2.3.5	Other Techniques Using Nucleotides for Enzyme		
	Immobilization 126		
5.2.4	Enzyme Immobilization by Covalent Linking 127		
5.2.4.1	Immobilization to Solid Supports 127		
5.2.4.2	Direct Immobilization to a Channel Wall 142		
5.2.4.3	Enzyme Polymerization 146		
5.2.5	Enzyme Immobilization by Other Techniques Using		
	Organisins 149		

VIII Contents

5.2.6	Application of Immobilized Enzymes in Microfluidics 149		
5.3	Novel Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization 150		
5.3.1	Polyketone Polymer: Enzyme Immobilization by Hydrogen		
	Bonds 151		
5.3.2	Thermoresponsive Hydrogels 151		
5.3.3	Immobilization Methods Using Azide Chemistry 152		
5.3.3.1	Staudinger Ligation 152		
5.3.3.2	Click Chemistry 152		
5.3.4	Graphene-Based Nanomaterial as an Immobilization		
	Support 153		
5.3.5	Immobilization Methods Using Proteins Modified with		
	Solid-Support-Binding Modules 154		
5.4	Conclusions and Future Perspectives 155		
	Abbreviations 156		
	References 157		
	Part II Microbial Process Engineering 167		
6	Bioreactor Development and Process Analytical Technology 169		
	Toshiomi Yoshida		
6.1	Introduction 169		
6.2	Bioreactor Development 170		
6.2.1	Parallel Bioreactor Systems for High-Throughput Processing 171		
6.2.1.1	Microtiter Plate Systems 172		
6.2.1.2	Stirred-Tank Reactor Systems 178		
6.2.1.3	Microfluidic Microbioreactor Systems 184		
6.2.1.4	Bubble Column Systems 188		
6.2.1.5	Comparison of Various Parallel-Use Micro-/Mini-Bioreactor		
	System 189		
6.2.2	Single-Use Disposable Bioreactor Systems 193		
6.2.2.1	Features of Single-Use Bioreactors 194		
6.2.2.2	Sensors and Monitoring 194		
6.2.2.3	Single-Use Bioreactors in Practical Use 195		
6.3	Monitoring and Process Analytical Technology 196		
6.3.1	Monitoring and State Recognition 196		
6.3.1.1	Sensors for Monitoring Bioprocesses 196		
6.3.1.2	Spectrometry 199		
6.3.2	Process Analytical Technology (PAT) 200		
6.3.2.1	PAT Tools 201		
6.3.2.2	PAT Implementations 202		
6.4 Conclusion 203			
0.4	Conclusion 203		
0.4	Conclusion 203 Abbreviations 204		

Contents IX

 Processes 213 Hirshi Shimizu, Chikara Furusawa, Takashi Hirasawa, Katsunori Yoshikawa, Yoshihiro Toya, Tomokazu Shirai, and Fumio Matsuda General Introduction 213 Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214 Introduction 214 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 Introduction 211 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 Tarascriptome of Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 Introduction 223 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 Introduction 227 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazyyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshioni Yoshida Introduction 237 Sa Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazyyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshioni Yoshida	7	Omics Integrated Approach for Matchalis State Applysis of Microhial
 Protesses 213 Hiroshi Shimizu, Chikara Furusawa, Takashi Hirasawa, Katsunori Yoshikawa, Yoshihiro Toya, Tomokazu Shirai, and Fumio Matsuda General Introduction 213 Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214 Introduction 214 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 Introduction 219 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 Introduction 223 Examples of ¹³C-MFA 223 Examples of ¹³C-MFA 223 Examples of ¹³C-MFA 223 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 Introduction 227 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida Introduction 237 Based Sciences 238 Online Measurements 238 Online Measurements 238 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hirosh	/	
 Michi Shimizu, Chikar Parasawa, Pakasi Minasawa, Matsahor Poshikawa, Yoshikiro Toya, Tomokazu Shirai, and Funio Matsuda General Introduction 213 Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214 Introduction 214 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 Introduction 219 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 Introduction 223 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 Introduction 227 Introduction of Specific Growth Rate 228 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida Introduction 237 Gontion 237 Gontoring 238 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiri		Flocesses 215 Hirochi Shimizu Chikara Eurucawa Takashi Hiracawa Katsupori Yoshikawa
 <i>Control Dya</i>, <i>Totolocus Statu</i>, <i>and Participant Mathematical</i> General Introduction 213 Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214 Introduction 214 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 Introduction 219 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 Sau Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 Tanscriptose of Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 Introduction 223 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 Examples of ¹³C-MFA 123 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 Introduction 227 Introduction 227 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 Control of Microbial Processes 237 <i>Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida</i> Introduction 237 Monitoring 238 Online Measurements 238 Control of Microbial Processes 237 <i>Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida</i> Introduction 237 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Ferima		Hiroshi Shimizu, Chikara Furusawa, Takashi Hirasawa, Katsunon Toshikawa, Vochibiro Toya, Tomokazu Shiroi, and Fumio Matsuda
 1.1 General Introduction 213 7.2 Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214 7.2.1 Introduction 214 7.2.2 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 7.2.3 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Ferimation of Specific Rates - 330 	71	Concernal Intro Austicn 212
 1.2 Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214 7.2.1 Introduction 214 7.2.2 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 7.2.3 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 23 	7.1	General Introduction 213
 7.2.1 Introduction 214 7.2.2 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 7.2.3 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.2	Iranscriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses 214
 Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215 7.2.3 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.2.1	Introduction 214 Mismahial Darmanna to Starse Environments and Identification of
 7.2.3 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Shereife Rates 230 	1.2.2	Concerce Conforming Stress Environments and Identification of
 7.2.3 Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering 217 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Stereife Rates 230 	700	Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses 215
 7.3 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Snecific Rates 230 	1.2.3	Obtained by Fredution Engineering 217
 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Fetimation of Specific Rates 230 	7.2	Analysis of Match alia State Decad on Simulation in a Conome Scale
 Model 219 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Fetimation of Specific Rates 230 	/.3	Analysis of Metadolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale
 7.3.1 Introduction 219 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231	7.0.1	Model 219
 7.3.2 Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 230 	7.3.1	Introduction 219
 7.3.3 Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 230 	7.3.2	Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA 219
 Modification 221 7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida Introduction 237 Monitoring 238 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8 Londing 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	/.3.3	Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic
 7.4 "C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231		Modification 221 1^{3} C D = 1 M + 1 H = 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1
 7.4.1 Introduction 223 7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Fetimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.4	-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes 223
 7.4.2 Principles of "C-MFA 223 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.4.1	Introduction 223 \mathbf{D}_{1} : 1_{2} (13 C) MEA 202
 7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225 7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.4.2	Principles of ¹³ C-MFA 223
 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.4.3	Examples of ¹⁵ C-MFA in Microbial Processes 225
 10terance 227 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Figuration of Specific Rates 239 	7.5	Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress
 7.5.1 Introduction 227 7.5.2 Development of a High-Throughput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Fitimation of Specific Rates 239 		Interchenting 227
 7.5.2 Development of a High-Inrougnput Culture System 228 7.5.3 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.5.1	Introduction 227
 7.5.5 Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.5.2	Coloulation of Specific Crowth Data 228
 7.5.4 Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Onder Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.5.5	Calculation of Specific Growth Rate 228
 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.5.4	Analysis of Comprehensive Analysis of feast Cens Under Conditions
 7.5.5 Identification of Genes Conferring Destrable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method 230 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7 F F	of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration 228
 7.6 Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.5.5	Interaction with the Microarray Analysis Method 220
 7.6 Multi-Onlics Analysis and Data Integration 230 7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field 231 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	76	Multi Omice Analysis and Data Integration 220
 Acknowledgments 233 Acknowledgments 233 References 233 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida Introduction 237 Monitoring 238 Monitoring 238 Conline Measurements 238 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	7.0	Future Aspects for Developing the Field 221
 References 233 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates 239 	1.1	Advantage and a set of the set of
 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 		Acknowledgments 255
 8 Control of Microbial Processes 237 Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 		Relefences 255
 <i>Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida</i> 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 	8	Control of Microbial Processes 237
 8.1 Introduction 237 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 	U	Kazuvuki Shimizu Hiroshi Shimizu and Toshiomi Yoshida
 8.2 Monitoring 238 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 	81	Introduction 237
 8.2.1 Online Measurements 238 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 	8.2	Monitoring 238
 8.2.2 Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239 8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239 	8.2.1	Online Measurements 238
8.2.3 Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Pates 239	8.2.2	Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors 239
Estimation of Specific Pates 239	8.2.3	Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online
	3.2.3	Estimation of Specific Rates 239
8.3 Bioprocess Control 242	8.3	Bioprocess Control 242
8.3.1 Control of Fed-Batch Culture 242	8.3.1	Control of Fed-Batch Culture 242

X Contents

8.3.2 8.3.3 8.3.4 8.4 8.4.1 8.4.2 8.5	Online Optimization of Continuous Cultures 244 Cascade Control for Mixed Cultures 246 Supervision and Fault Detection 249 Recent Trends in Monitoring and Control Technologies 250 Sensor Technologies and Analytical Methods 251 Control Technologies 252 Concluding Remarks 253 Abbreviations 254 References 254		
	Part IIIPlant Cell Culture and Engineering259		
9	Contained Molecular Farming Using Plant Cell and Tissue		
	Stefan Schillberg, Nicole Raven, Rainer Fischer, Richard M. Twyman, and		
0.1	Andreus Schlenneyer Molocular Farming Whole Plants and Coll/Tissue Cultures 261		
9.1	Plant Coll and Tissue Culture Platforms 263		
9.2	Coll Sugnongion Cultures 262		
922	Tissue Cultures 264		
923	Light-Dependent Expression Platforms 264		
9.3	Comparison of Whole Plants and In Vitro Culture Platforms 265		
9.4	Technical Advances on the Road to Commercialization 267		
9.4.1	Improving the Quantity of Recombinant Proteins Produced in Cell		
	Suspension Cultures 267		
9.4.2	4.2 Improving the Quality and Consistency of Recombinant Proteins		
	Produced in Cell Suspension Cultures 269		
9.5 Regulatory and Industry Barriers on the Road to			
	Commercialization 271		
9.6	Outlook 273		
	Acknowledgments 275		
	References 275		
10	Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures 283		
10.1	Gregory R. Andrews and Susan C. Roberts		
10.1	Introduction 283		
10.2	Culture Development and Maintenance 286		
10.3	Choice of Culture System 288		
10.4	Engineering Considerations 291		
10.4.1	Cer Deguirements 202		
10.4.2	Gas Requirements 292		
10.4.3	Aggregation 292 Madium Dhaalam, 202		
10.4.4	Nieululii Kneology 293		
10.4.5	Shear Sensitivity 293		
10.5	Dioprocess Parameters 294		

Contents XI

- 10.5.1 Medium Composition and Optimization 294
- Temperature and pH 294 10.5.2
- 10.5.3 Agitation 295
- Aeration 295 10.5.4
- Operational Modes 296 10.6
- 10.7 Bioreactors for Plant Cell Suspensions 297
- Conventional Bioreactors 297 10.7.1
- 10.7.1.1 Stirred-Tank Reactors 297
- Pneumatic Bioreactors 300 10.7.1.2
- 10.7.2 Disposable Bioreactors 301
- 10.8 Downstream Processing 303
- Specialized Metabolite Extraction and Purification 303 10.8.1
- 10.8.2 Recombinant Protein Extraction and Purification 304
- 10.9 Yield Improvement Strategies 306
- Specialized Metabolites and Recombinant Proteins 306 10.9.1
- 10.9.1.1 Cell Immobilization 306
- 10.9.1.2 In Situ Product Removal 306
- Specialized Metabolite Specific Strategies 307 10.9.2
- 10.9.2.1 Elicitation 307
- 10.9.2.2 Metabolic Engineering 308
- 10.9.3 Recombinant-Protein-Specific Strategies 309
- Expression Systems 309 10.9.3.1
- Minimizing Post-Translational Loss of Recombinant Proteins 309 10.9.3.2
- 10.10 Case Studies 310
- Protalix and the ProCellEx[™] Platform 310 10.10.1
- 10.10.1.1 Background 311
- The ProCellEx[®] Platform 311 10.10.1.2
- Future Outlook 312 10.10.1.3
- 10.10.2 Phyton Biotech, Paclitaxel, and Plant Cell Fermentation (PCFTM) 314
- 10.10.2.1 Background 314
- 10.10.2.2 Why Plant Cell Culture? 314
- Plant Cell Fermentation (PCF[™]) 315 10.10.2.3
- 10.10.2.4 PCF[™] Compared to Other Production Platforms 315
- 10.11 Conclusion 315 References 316
- 11 The Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation 327
 - Zhaoyu Kong and Bernard R. Glick
- 11.1 The Problem 327
- Metals and Organics in the Environment 328 11.1.1
- Traditional Clean-up Procedures 328 11.1.2
- 11.2 Defining Phytoremediation and Its Components 329
- 11.3 Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation 330
- 11.3.1 Biodegradative Bacteria 330

XII Contents

11.3.2	Plant-Growth-Promoting Bacteria 333
11.3.2.1	Role of IAA 333
11.3.2.2	Role of Ethylene 335
11.3.2.3	Role of Nitrogen Fixation 336
11.3.2.4	Role of Siderophores 339
11.3.3	Interaction with Mycorrhizae 340
11.4	Examples of Phytoremediation in Action 342
11.5	Summary and Perspectives 343
	References 344

Part IV Animal Cell Cultures 355

12	Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes 357		
	Mugdha Gadgil and Wei-Shou Hu		
12.1	Introduction 357		
12.2	Host Cell 359		
12.2.1	Host Cell Engineering 359		
12.3	Vector Components 360		
12.3.1	Promoter/Enhancer 360		
12.3.2	Intron 362		
12.3.3	Poly-Adenylation Signal 362		
12.3.4	Selection Marker 363		
12.3.5	Secretion Leader Sequence 364		
12.3.6	Components for Plasmid Cloning in E. coli 364		
12.4	Transfection 365		
12.4.1	Method of Transfection 365		
12.4.2	Plasmid Conformation 366		
12.5	Integration of Foreign DNA into Host Chromosome 366		
12.5.1	Site-Specific Integration 367		
12.5.2	Use of cis-Acting DNA Elements 367		
12.6	Amplification 369		
12.7	Single-Cell Cloning 370		
12.7.1	Culture Medium for Single-Cell Cloning 371		
12.7.2	7.2 Automated High-Throughput Screening for High-Produce		
	Clones 372		
12.8	Selecting the Production Clone 373		
12.8.1	Screening Platform 373		
12.8.2	Adaptation 374		
12.8.3	Process and Product Attributes 374		
12.8.4	Scale-Down Model 375		
12.9	Clone Stability 376		
12.10	Conclusion 376		
	Acknowledgments 377		
	References 377		

13	Medium Design, Culture Management, and the PAT
	Initiative 383
	Ziomara P. Gerdtzen
13.1	Historical Perspective on Culture Medium 383
13.2	Cell Growth Environment 384
13.2.1	Natural Cellular Environment 384
13.2.1.1	The Role of Medium 384
13.2.1.2	Medium Design 384
13.3	Media Types 386
13.4	Medium Components 387
13.4.1	Growth-Associated, Unconsumed, and Catalytic Components 388
13.4.1.1	Growth-Associated Components 388
13.4.1.2	Unconsumed Components 388
13.4.1.3	Catalytic Macromolecular Components 388
13.4.2	Water in Media Preparation 388
13.4.3	Sugars and Amino Acids 390
13.4.3.1	Sugars as the Main Carbon Source 390
13.4.3.2	Amino Acids 390
13.4.4	Vitamins, Nucleosides, Fatty Acids, and Lipids 392
13.4.4.1	Vitamins' Role 392
13.4.4.2	Fatty Acids and Lipids 393
13.4.5	Bulk Ions and Trace Elements 395
13.4.6	Non-Nutritional Medium Components 396
13.4.6.1	Phenol Red 396
13.4.6.2	Sodium Bicarbonate Buffer 396
13.4.6.3	Alternative Buffers 397
13.4.6.4	Antioxidants 398
13.4.6.5	Mechanical-Damage-Protective Agents 398
13.4.6.6	Antibiotics 399
13.5	High Molecular Weight and Complex Supplements 400
13.5.1	Serum 400
13.5.1.1	Functions of Serum in Cell Culture Medium 400
13.5.1.2	Disadvantages of Serum in Cell Culture Medium 401
13.5.2	Insulin and Insulin-Like Growth Factors 402
13.5.3	Transferrin 402
13.5.4	Serum Albumin and Other Carrier Proteins 403
13.5.5	Cell Adhesion Molecules 404
13.5.6	Protein Hydrolysates 405
13.5.7	Lipid Supplements 406
13.6	Medium for Industrial Production 407
13.6.1	Medium Design and the PAT Initiative 409
13.7	Conclusions 411
	References 412

Further Reading/Resources 416

XIV Contents

14	Advanced Bioprocess Engineering: Fed-Batch and Perfusion		
	Processes 417		
	Sarika Mehra, Vikas Chandrawanshi, and Kamal Prashad		
14.1	Primary Modes of Bioreactor Operation 417		
14.2	Fed-Batch Mode of Operation 419		
14.2.1	Design of Feed Composition 419		
14.2.2	Feeding Strategies for Fed-Batch Culture 422		
14.2.2.1	Culture Working Volume as Control 423		
14.2.2.2	Concentration of Indicator Metabolite as Control 423		
14.2.2.3	Nutrient Consumption Rate as Control 426		
14.2.2.4	Predicted Growth Rate as Control 427		
14.2.2.5	Culture pH as Control 427		
14.2.2.6	Oxygen Uptake Rate as Control 428		
14.2.3	Mode and Frequency of Feeding 429		
14.2.4	Challenges in Fed-Batch Culture and Future		
	Directions 430		
14.3	Perfusion Mode of Bioreactor Operation 435		
14.3.1	Types of Perfusion Devices 435		
14.3.1.1	Gravity Settlers 435		
14.3.1.2	Filtration 438		
14.3.1.3	Centrifuges 441		
14.3.1.4	Hydrocyclones 443		
14.3.1.5	Acoustic Settlers 444		
14.3.2	Feeding Strategies for Perfusion Cultures 445		
14.3.2.1	Cell-Density-Based Feeding 445		
14.3.2.2	Metabolite-Based Feeding 445		
14.3.3	Challenges in Perfusion Culture and Future Directions 446		
14.4	Use of Disposables in Cell Culture Bioprocesses 447		
14.5 Analytical Methods to Monitor Key Metabolites and			
	Parameters 450		
14.5.1	Enzymatic Assays 450		
14.5.2	Spectroscopy-Based Methods 452		
14.5.3	Chromatography-Based Methods 452		
14.5.4	Microscopy-Based Methods 452		
14.5.5	Electrochemical Methods 453		
14.6	Concluding Remarks 453		
	Nomenclature 455		
	References 456		
	Further Reading/Resources 468		

	Contents			
	Part V Environmental Bioengineering 469			
15	Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater: An Overview about Basic and Advanced Concepts 471 Ivoti K. Kumar. Parag. R. Gogate, and Apiruddha B. Pandit			
15.1	Types of Wastewater 471			
15.2	Biological Treatment 471			
15.3	Wastewater Regulations 473			
15.4	Biological Treatment Processes 473			
15.5	Aerobic Techniques 475			
15.5.1	Mathematical Modeling 475			
15.5.2	Types of Aerobic Treatment 476			
15.5.2.1	Activated Sludge Process (ASP) 476			
15.5.2.2	Trickling Filters 481			
15.5.2.3	Rotating Biological Contactors (RBCs) 483			
15.5.2.4	Submerged Biological Contactors (SBCs) 484			
15.5.2.5	Powdered Activated Carbon Treatment (PACT) Systems 484			
15.5.2.6	Membrane Bioreactors 484			
15.5.2.7	Biological Aerated Filters (BAFs) 485			
15.5.2.8	Hybrid Processes-Integrated Fixed Film Activated Sludge			
	System 486			
15.5.2.9	Use of Ultrasound to Improve the Sludge Characteristics 487			
15.6	Anaerobic Techniques 488			
15.6.1	Types of Anaerobic Treatment Systems 489			
15.6.1.1	Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket (UASB) 489			
15.6.1.2	Anaerobic Baffled Reactors (ABR) 490			
15.6.1.3	Anaerobic Fluidized Bed Reactors 491			
15.6.1.4	Expanded Granule Sludge Blanket (EGSB) Reactor 492			
15.6.1.5	Anaerobic Membrane Reactors 492			
15.6.2	Improvements for Sludge Management 494			
15.7	Aerobic – Anaerobic Processes 495			
15.8	Modified Biological Processes 496			
15.8.1	Cavitation 496			
15.8.2	Fenton Chemistry 500			
15.8.3	Ozonation 501			
15.8.4	Photocatalysis 503			
15.8.5	Overview of Literature Dealing with Combined Processes 505			
15.8.6	A Typical Case Study of Biodegradability Enhancement of Distillery			

Wastewater Using Hydrodynamic Cavitation 507

XVI Contents

15.8.7	Short Case Study of Intensification of Biological Oxidation Using
1588	Summary of Pretreatment Approaches 511
15.9	Overall Conclusions 511
1000	List of Acronyms/Abbreviations 512
	List of Variables and Coefficients 513
	References 514
16	Treatment of Solid Waste 521
	Michael Nelles, Gert Morscheck, Astrid Lemke, and Ayman El Naas
16.1	Biological Treatment of Source Segregated Bio-Waste 522
16.1.1	Composting 522
16.1.1.1	Composting Process 522
16.1.1.2	Composting Technologies 525
16.1.1.3	Compost Use and Quality 531
16.1.1.4	Status of Composting in Europe and Germany 532
16.1.2	Anaerobic Digestion 532
16.1.2.1	Process of Anaerobic Digestion 532
16.1.2.2	AD Technologies 534
16.1.2.3	Digestate Use and Quality 538
16.1.2.4	Status of Anaerobic Digestion in Europe and Germany 538
16.2	Mechanical–Biological Treatment of Mixed Municipal Solid
	Waste 538
16.2.1	MBT Technologies 539
16.2.1.1	MBT – Mechanical–Biological Treatment 539
16.2.1.2	MBS – Mechanical–Biological Stabilization 540
16.2.1.3	MPS – Mechanical–Physical Stabilization 541
16.2.1.4	Status for Germany and Europe 541
16.3	Biological Treatment of Agricultural Waste 542
16.4	Conclusion 542
	References 542
17	Energy Recovery from Organic Waste 545
	Yutaka Nakashimada and Naomichi Nishio
17.1	Advantage of Methane Fermentation for Energy Recovery from
	Organic Matter 545
17.2	Basic Knowledge of Methane Fermentation of Organic Wastes 546
17.3	Conventional Methane Fermentation Process 549
17.4	Advanced Methane Fermentation Processes 551
17.4.1	Methane Fermentation of Organic Wastes with High Salinity 551
17.4.2	Methane Fermentation of Nitrogen-Rich Organic Wastes with High Ammonia 552
17.5	Hydrogen Production from Organic Wastes 555
17.5.1	Hydrogen Production Combining Methane Fermentation 555
17.5.2	Hydrogen Production by Various Anaerobic Bacteria 556

Contents XVII

- 17.5.3 Feasible Substrates for Hydrogen Production 558
- 17.5.4 Bioreactor for High-Rate Hydrogen Production 559
- 17.6 Upgrading of Biogas from Organic Wastes Based on Biological Syngas Platform 561
- 17.6.1 Bioduel Production from Syngas by Acetogens 562
- 17.6.2 Development of Genetic Engineering Tools of Acetogens 563
- 17.7 Conclusions 564 References 565
- **18** Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater 573 Michihiko Ike, Mitsuo Yamashita, and Masashi Kuroda
- 18.1 Microbial Reactions Available for Metal Removal/Recovery 574
- 18.1.1 Bioprecipitation/Biomineralization 575
- 18.1.2 Biovolatilization 577
- 18.1.3 Biosorption 578
- 18.1.4 Bioleaching 581
- 18.2 Selenium Recovery by *Pseudomonas stutzeri* NT-I 583
- 18.2.1 *Pseudomonas stutzeri* NT-I as a Versatile Tool for Selenium Recovery 583
- 18.2.2 Selenium Recovery by Bioprecipitation 585
- 18.2.3 Selenium Recovery by Biovolatilization 586
- 18.3 Future Prospects 587
- 18.3.1 Toward Environmental Conservation and Solutions to Resource Depletion 587
- 18.3.2 Development of Removal and Recovery Strategies for Other Elements 589
- 18.3.3 Potential for Practical Application 589
- 18.4 Conclusions 590 References 590
- 19Sustainable Use of Phosphorus Through Bio-Based
Recycling 597
- Hisao Ohtake
- 19.1 Introduction 597
- 19.2Microbiological Basis598
- 19.2.1 P_i Acquisition in Bacteria 598
- 19.2.2 Bacterial polyP Accumulation 599
- 19.3 Bio-Based P Recycling 600
- 19.3.1 Biological P Removal 600
- 19.3.2 P_i Release from polyP-Rich Sludge 601
- 19.3.3 P_i Recovery from Aqueous Solution 602
- 19.4 Other Options for P Recycling 604
- 19.4.1 Land Application of Biosolids 604
- 19.4.2Animal Manure Management605
- 19.4.3 Biosolubilization of Immobilized P_i 606

XVIII Contents

19.4.4	Industrial P Recycling	606
19.5	Conclusions 607	
	References 609	

Index 613

List of Contributors

Gregory R. Andrews

Worcester Polytechnic Institute Goddard Hall Department of Chemical Engineering 100 Institute Road Worcester MA 01609 USA

Uwe T. Bornscheuer

University of Greifswald Institute of Biochemistry Felix-Hausdorff-Str. 4 17487 Greifswald Germany

Klaus Buchholz

University of Braunschweig Institute for Technical Chemistry Hans-Sommer-Strasse 10 38106 Braunschweig Germany

Vikas Chandrawanshi

Indian Institute of Technology Bombay Department of Chemical Engineering Powai Mumbai 400076 India

Ayman El Naas

University of Rostock Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Department of Waste Management and Material Flow Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6 18059 Rostock Germany

Rainer Fischer Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology IME Forckenbeckstrasse 6 52074 Aachen Germany

and

RWTH Aachen University Institute for Molecular Biotechnology Worringerweg 1 52074 Aachen Germany хіх

XX List of Contributors

Chikara Furusawa

Osaka University Graduate School of Information Science and Technology Department of Bioinformatic Engineering 1-5 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

and

RIKEN Quantitative Biology Center 6-2-3 Furuedai Suita Osaka 565-0874 Japan

Mugdha Gadgil

CSIR-National Chemical Laboratory Chemical Engineering and Process Development Division Dr Homi Bhabha Road Pune Maharashtra 411008 India

Ziomara P. Gerdtzen

University of Chile Centre for Biotechnology and Bioengineering (CeBiB) Department of Chemical Engineering and Biotechnology Beauchef 850 Santiago 8370448 Chile

Bernard R. Glick

University of Waterloo Department of Biology 200 University Avenue West Waterloo ON N2L 3G1 Canada

Parag R. Gogate

Institute of Chemical Technology (Deemed University) Chemical Engineering Department N. P. Road Matunga (East) Mumbai Maharashtra 400019 India

Takashi Hirasawa

Osaka University Graduate School of Information Science and Technology Department of Bioinformatic Engineering 1-5 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

and

Tokyo Institute of Technology Department of Bioengineering 4259 Nagatsuta-cho Midori-ku Yokohama 226-8501 Japan

Takeshi Honda

National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology Advanced Manufacture Research Institute 807-1 Shuku Tosu Saga 841-0052 Japan

and

Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine Department of Pharmacology 1-1-1 Minamikogushi Ube Yamaguchi 755-8505 Japan

Wei-Shou Hu

University of Minnesota Department of Chemical Engineering and Materials Science 421 Washington Ave SE Minneapolis MN 55455 USA

Michihiko Ike

Osaka University Graduate School of Engineering Division of Sustainable Energy and Environmental Engineering 2-1 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

Zhaoyu Kong

Nanchang University School of Life Science 999 Xuefu Avenue Nanchang 330031 China

Jyoti K. Kumar

Institute of Chemical Technology (Deemed University) Chemical Engineering Department N. P. Road Matunga (East) Mumbai Maharashtra 400019 India

Masashi Kuroda

Osaka University Graduate School of Engineering Division of Sustainable Energy and Environmental Engineering 2-1 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

Astrid Lemke

University of Rostock Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Department of Waste Management and Material Flow Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6 18059 Rostock Germany

XXII List of Contributors

Fumio Matsuda

Osaka University Graduate School of Information Science and Technology Department of Bioinformatic Engineering 1-5 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

Sarika Mehra

Indian Institute of Bombay Department of Chemical Engineering Powai Mumbai 400076 India

Masaya Miyazaki

National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology Advanced Manufacture Research Institute 807-1 Shuku Tosu Saga 841-0052 Japan

and

Kyushu University Interdisciplinary Graduate School of Engineering Science Department of Molecular and Material Sciences 6-1 Kasuga-koen Kasuga Fukuoka 816-8580 Japan

Gert Morscheck

University of Rostock Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Department of Waste Management and Material Flow Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6 18059 Rostock Germany

Yutaka Nakashimada

Hiroshima University Graduate School of Advanced Sciences of Matter Department of Molecular Biotechnology 1-3-1 Kagamiyama Higashi-Hiroshima 7398530 Japan

Michael Nelles

University of Rostock Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Department of Waste Management and Material Flow Justus-von-Liebig-Weg 6 18059 Rostock Germany

Naomichi Nishio

Hiroshima University Graduate School of Advanced Sciences of Matter Department of Molecular Biotechnology 1-3-1 Kagamiyama Higashi-Hiroshima 7398530 Japan

Hisao Ohtake

Waseda University Phosphorus Atlas Research Institute 2-2 Wakamatsu Shinjuku Tokyo 162-0056 Japan

Maria Elena Ortiz-Soto

Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg Institut für Organische Chemie Am Hubland 97074 Würzburg Germany

Aniruddha B. Pandit

Institute of Chemical Technology (Deemed University) Chemical Engineering Department N. P. Road Matunga (East) Mumbai Maharashtra 400019 India

Kamal Prashad

Indian Institute of Technology Bombay Department of Chemical Engineering Powai Mumbai 400076 India

Nicole Raven

Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology IME Forckenbeckstrasse 6 52074 Aachen Germany

Susan C. Roberts

Worcester Polytechnic Institute Goddard Hall Department of Chemical Engineering 100 Institute Road Worcester MA 01609 USA

Andreas Schiermeyer

Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology IME Forckenbeckstrasse 6 52074 Aachen Germany

Stefan Schillberg

Fraunhofer Institute for Molecular Biology and Applied Ecology IME Forckenbeckstrasse 6 52074 Aachen Germany

and

Justus-Liebig University Giessen Phytopathology Department Institute for Phytopathology and Applied Zoology Heinrich-Buff-Ring 26-32 35392 Giessen Germany

Jürgen Seibel

Julius-Maximilians-Universität Würzburg Institut für Organische Chemie Am Hubland 97074 Würzburg Germany

XXIV List of Contributors

Hiroshi Shimizu

Osaka University Graduate School of Information Science and Technology Department of Bioinformatic Engineering 1-5 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

Kazuyuki Shimizu

Kyushu Institute of Technology 680-4, Kawazu Iizuka Fukuoka 820-8502 Japan

and

Keio University Institute of Advanced Bioscience 246_2 Mizukami Kakuganji Tsuruoka Yamagata 997-0017 Japan

Tomokazu Shirai

RIKEN Center for Sustainable Resource Science 1-7-22 Suehiro Tsurumi Yokohama Kanagawa 230-0045 Japan

Yoshihiro Toya

Osaka University Graduate School of Information Science and Technology Department of Bioinformatic Engineering 1-5 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

Richard M. Twyman

TRM Ltd. PO Box 463 York YO11 9FJ UK

John M. Woodley

Technical University of Denmark (DTU) Department of Chemical and Biochemical Engineering Soltofts Plads 2800 Lyngby Denmark

Hiroshi Yamaguchi

National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology Advanced Manufacture Research Institute 807-1 Shuku Tosu Saga 841-0052 Japan

and

Tokai University Liberal Arts Education Center Kawayo Minamiaso Kumamoto 869-1404 Japan

Mitsuo Yamashita

Shibaura Institute of Technology Faculty of Engineering Department of Applied Chemistry 3-7-5 Toyosu Koto-ku Tokoyo 135-8548 Japan

Toshiomi Yoshida

Osaka University International Center for Biotechnology 2-1 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

Katsunori Yoshikawa

Osaka University Graduate School of Information Science and Technology Department of Bioinformatic Engineering 1-5 Yamadaoka Suita Osaka 565-0871 Japan

1 Introduction

Toshiomi Yoshida

1.1 Introduction

The European Federation of Biotechnology proposed a definition of biotechnology as "The integration of natural science and organisms, cells, parts thereof and molecular analogs for products and services." The Concise Oxford English Dictionary states "biotechnology is the exploitation of biological processes for industrial and other purposes especially the genetic manipulation of microorganisms for the production of antibiotics, hormone, and so on" [1].

1

Biochemical engineering has developed as a branch of chemical engineering, and deals with the design and construction of unit processes that involve biological molecules or organisms. Biochemical engineering is often taught as a supplementary option to students of chemical engineering or biological engineering courses because of the overlap in the curriculum and similarities in problem-solving techniques used in both professions. Its contribution is widely found in the food, feed, pharmaceutical, and biotechnological industries, and in water treatment plants.

Biological engineering or bioengineering is the application of the concepts, principles, and methods of biology to solve real-world problems using engineering methodologies and also its traditional sensitivity to the cost advantage and practicality. In this context, while traditional engineering applies physical and mathematical sciences to analyze, design, and manufacture inanimate tools, structures, and processes, biological engineering primarily utilizes knowledge of molecular biology to study, investigate, and develop applications of living organisms. In summary, biological engineers principally focus on applying engineering principles and the knowledge of molecular biology to study and enhance biological systems for varied applications.

Referring to the above review and brief discussion, it is proposed to have a section titled "Applied Bioengineering" be included in the Wiley Biotechnology Series. This section will deal with recent progress in all subjects closely related to "engineering and technologies" in the field of biotechnology; widening the coverage beyond conventional biochemical engineering and bioprocess engineering

2 1 Introduction

to include other biology-based engineering disciplines. The topics involved were selected specifically from the perspective of practical applications.

The volume "Applied Bioengineering" comprises five topics: enzyme technology, microbial process engineering, plant cell culture, animal cell culture, and environmental bioengineering. Each topic is figured in several chapters, though with more chapters pertaining to environmental bioengineering. This field has seen an increase in active research as mentioned below because of growing awareness and concern about conservation, remediation, and improvement of the environment.

The later part of this chapter provides a brief overview on the developments in bioengineering, referring to recent highly cited research.

1.2

Enzyme Technology

Recently, several attempts have been made to screen organic-solvent-tolerant enzymes from various microorganisms [2]. The ligninolytic oxidoreductases are being improved utilizing protein engineering by the application of different "omics" technologies. Enzymatic delignification will soon come into practical use in pulp mills [3]. Enzyme stabilization has been attempted using various approaches such as protein engineering, chemical modification, and immobilization [4].

Microbial glucose oxidase has garnered considerable interest because of its wide applications in chemical, pharmaceutical, food, beverage, clinical chemistry, biotechnology, and other industries. Novel applications of glucose oxidase in biosensors have further increased its demand [5]. Numerous oxidative biotransformation studies have demonstrated that enzymes have diverse characteristics and wide range of potential, and established applications [6]. Multienzymatic cascade reactions used in the asymmetric synthesis of chiral alcohols, amines, and amino acids, as well as for C-C bond formation, have been extensively studied [7].

1.3 Microbial Process Engineering

1.3.1

Bioreactor Development

Stirred-tank bioreactors are used in a large variety of bioprocesses because of their high rates of mass and heat transfer and excellent mixing. Theoretical predictions of the volumetric mass transfer coefficient have been recently proposed, and different criteria for bioreactor scale-up have been reported [8].

Miniaturized bioreactor (MBR) systems have made great advances both in function and in performance. The dissolved oxygen transfer performance of submilliliter microbioreactors and 1-10 ml mini-bioreactors has been well examined. MBRs have achieved considerably high $k_{\text{L}}a$ values and offer flexible instrumentation and functionality comparable to that of production systems at high-throughput screening volumes; furthermore, the superior integration of these bioreactors with automated fluid handling systems demonstrates that they allow efficient scale-up [9].

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries face constant pressure to reduce development costs and accelerate process development. A small scale bioreactor system enabling multiple reactions in parallel ($n \ge 20$) with automated sampling would provide significant improvement in development timelines. State-of-the-art equipment that facilitates high-throughput process developments includes shake flasks, microfluidic reactors, microtiter plates, and small-scale stirred reactors [10].

An expert panel organized by the M³C Working Group of the European Section of Biochemical Engineering Science (ESBES) reviewed the prevailing methods of monitoring of MBRs and identified the need for further development [11]. Their recommendations includes combining online analytics such as chromatography or mass spectrometry with bioreactors, preferably using noninvasive sensors such as optical or electronic ones. The sensors to be used online in these bioreactors should be selected on the basis of three criteria: (i) detection limits in relation to analytes, (ii) stability in relation to the testing period, and (iii) the possibility for miniaturization to the volume ranges and dimensions of the microfluidic system applied in the bioreactors. In addition, mathematical models based on soft sensor principles should be exploited to reduce the number of sensors.

1.3.2 Measurement and Monitoring

Biosensors for detection of cellobiose, lactose, and glucose based on various cellobiose dehydrogenases from different fungal producers, which differ with respect to their substrate specificity, optimum pH, electron transfer efficiency, and surface-binding affinity; therefore, promising a wide range of new applications [12].

Infrared sensors are ideal tools for bioprocess monitoring, because they are noninvasive, of no-time-delay, and harmless on the bioprocess itself, and furthermore, simultaneous analyses of several components are possible. Therefore, directly monitoring of substrates, products, metabolites, and the biomass itself is possible [13]. The panel of the M³C Working Group of ESBES recommended the use of soft sensors in bioprocess engineering [14]. In the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) proposed and promoted process analytical technology (PAT) initiative, intending to collaborate with industry to promote the integration of new manufacturing technologies with pharmaceutical production [15]. The

1 Introduction

program aimed to design, develop, and operate processes consistently ensuring a predefined quality at the end of the manufacturing process [15]. An advanced monitoring and control system has been developed, based on different inline, online and at-line measurements for substrates and products. Observation of cell viability by inline measurement of radio frequency impedance and online determination of intracellular recombinant target protein using the reporter protein T-sapphire green fluorescent protein (GFP) could allow real-time monitoring of critical process states [16].

1.3.3

Modeling and Control

Stoichiometric models of cell metabolism have been developed with the use of information about reaction stoichiometry embedded in metabolic networks and the assumption of a pseudo-steady state. Stoichiometric models have been used to estimate the metabolic flux distribution under given circumstances in the cell at some given moment (metabolic flux analysis) and to predict it on the basis of some optimality hypothesis (flux balance analysis). Mechanistic models based on deterministic principles, recently, have been interested in substantially. Gernaey et al. [17] highlighted the utility of models with respect to the selection of variables required for the measurement, control, and process design. In the near future, mechanistic models will play key roles in the development of next-generation fermentation, especially in the frame of multiobjective decision making. One of the key issues in the process engineering of microbial production processes is the control of culture conditions to maximize production. In a repeated batch or fed-batch fermentation, optimizing the trajectory to maximize productivity and yield is desired. For example, temperature profiles for a temperature induction system, based on optimal control theory [18] or on past industrial experience, should be monitored, and then a model predictive control (MPC) system should be designed. Among the methodologies and practical application of bioprocess controls, the online optimized control for continuous culture, cascade control for mixed cultures, and supervision and fault detection have been developed [19].

1.3.4 Solid-State Fermentation

Solid-state fermentation (SSF), which has long been used in fermented foods production, ethanol fermentation, fungi cultivation, etc, is currently considered superior to submerged fermentation for use in modern bioprocessing because of the recent improvements in the design. Mathematical models based on mechanistic equations give insight into how microscale processes like the interaction of growth with intraparticle diffusion of enzymes, hydrolysis products, and oxygen can potentially limit the overall performance of a bioreactor [20]. Bioremediation,

bioleaching, biopulping, and so on, are the major applications of SSF in new bioprocesses. Utilization of agroindustrial residues as substrates in SSF processes open a way for efficient use of under- or unutilized residues. In future, SSF technology will steadily develop if rationalization and standardization continue as per the current trend [21].

1.4 Plant Cell Culture

Switchgrass is a promising natural feedstock for the production of biofuels and other value-added materials from biomass due to its high productivity, low requirements for agricultural inputs, and positive environmental impacts. Pre-treatment of switchgrass is required to improve the yields of fermentable sugars. Depending on the type of pretreatment, glucose yields range from 70% to 90% and xylose yields from 70% to 100% after hydrolysis. Following pretreatment and hydrolysis, ethanol yields range from 72% to 92% of the theoretical maximum [22].

Plant cell factories constitute an alternative source of high-value-added phytochemicals such as the anticancer drug taxol (generic name paclitaxel), biosynthesized in *Taxus* spp. The production of taxol and related taxanes in *Taxus baccata*, (European yew), was investigated using cell suspension culture to develop mass production technology [23]. Antioxidants are an important group of preventive medicinal compounds as well as food additives that prevent the loss of easily oxidizable nutrients. The efficiency of *in vitro* production of antioxidants has been improved by media optimization, biotransformation, elicitation, *Agrobacterium* transformation, and scale-up [24].

1.5 Animal Cell Culture

The gel-like endothelial glycocalyx layer (EGL) that coats the luminal surface of blood vessels has garnered great interest recently. Among its, interesting functions, EGL modulate oncotic forces that regulate the exchange of water in microvessels [25].

Stem cells have emerged as the starting material of choice for bioprocesses to produce cells and tissues to treat degenerative, genetic, and immunological diseases. Fundamentals of bioprocess engineering, including bioreactor design and process control, need to be combined with principles of cellular systems biology to guide the development of next-generation technologies capable of producing cell-based products in a safe, robust, and cost-effective manner [26].

The insect cell baculovirus expression vector system (IC-BEVS) has been shown to be a powerful and convenient system for rapid and easy production of a virus-like protein. A rotavirus-like particle was produced by culturing the IC-BEVS using bioprocess engineering devices [27].

6 1 Introduction

1.6

Environmental Bioengineering

Adsorption techniques are widely used to remove certain classes of pollutants from waters, especially those that are not easily biodegradable (e.g., biosorption of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) onto the cell surface of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* [28], removal of Gryfalan Black RL metal complex dye by fungi [29], and methylene blue remediation by use of agricultural waste [30]). Cyanide removal using biological methods is more cost-effective than that using chemical and physical methods. Several microbial species can effectively degrade cyanide into less toxic products. Biological treatment of cyanide is possible under anaerobic and aerobic conditions [31].

A combined solar photo-Fenton and biological treatment was proposed for the decontamination of surface waters contaminated with pesticides and pharmaceutical wastewater [32, 33]. Currently there are global efforts towards development of water reuse technologies. Advanced oxidation processes (AOPs) with other bioremediation technologies has been developed for the removal of organic pollutants with high chemical stability and/or low biodegradability. Special emphasis is also placed on large-scale combination schemes developed in Mediterranean countries for treatment and reuse of nonbiodegradable wastewater [34]. "Produced water" is the largest waste stream generated in the oil and gas industries. The effect of discharging produced water in the environment has become a serious issue of environmental concern. Major research efforts in the future could focus on optimizing current technologies and combining physicochemical and/or biological methods of treatment [31]. Sewage contains various organic compounds, which should be recycled. The approach involves concentration of municipal effluents on its arrival at the water treatment plant, followed by anaerobic digestion of organics and maximum reuse of its mineral contents as nutrients. Because of the increasing economic and ecological value of the recovered nutrients, this new conceptual design for the treatment of "used water" will become a reality in the next decade [35]. The feasibility of using biological hydrolysis and the acidification for the treatment of different types of municipal sludge, from six major treatment plants located in Denmark, was investigated by batch and semicontinuous experiments. The results showed that fermentation of primary sludge produced greater amount of volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and generated significantly higher yield of COD- and VFAs than fermentation of other sludge types [36].

Bioaugmentation-assisted phytoextraction is a promising method for decontaminating soil containing metals. The system is composed of bacteria mainly plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria, and fungi, mainly arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, associated with hyperaccumulating or non-hyperaccumulating plants. This association was analyzed using a bioprocess engineering approach, and, in general, bioaugmentation increased metal accumulation by shoots [37].

1.7 Composition of the Volume

Chapters in the subsequent part of the volume of "Applied Bioengineering" provide reviews on the selected topics, outlining the progress of current researches supplemented with unique perspectives and meaningful discussions. The volume consists of five sections after the introduction. The first section, on enzyme technology, presents an overview of the history and current trends, followed by detailed discussion on the topics: molecular engineering of enzymes, development of biocatalytic processes, and development of enzymatic reactions in miniaturized reactors. The second section, microbial process engineering, presents an overviews on bioreactor development and process analytical technology, omicsintegrated approach for metabolic state analysis of microbial processes, and control of microbial processes. The third section, on plant culture and engineering, comprises three articles: one on contained molecular farming using plant cell and tissue cultures, one on bioprocess engineering of plant cell culture, and one on the role of bacteria in phytoremediation. The fourth section, on animal cell culture, contains three articles one on cell line development for biomanufacturing processes; medium design, culture management and the PAT initiative; and advanced bioprocess engineering: fed-batch and perfusion processes. Finally, the fifth section, on environmental bioengineering, contains five articles: treatment of industrial and municipal wastewater, treatment of solid waste, energy recovery from organic waste, microbial removal and recovery of metal resources from wastewater, and sustainable use of phosphorus through bio-based recycling.

References

- Smith, J.E. (2009) A concise history of biotechnology – Some key determinants, *Biotechnology – Vol. 1*, UNESCO-EOLSS, pp. 321–360.
- 2 Doukyu, N. and Ogino, H. (2010) Organic solvent-tolerant enzymes. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, **48**, 270–282.
- 3 Martinez, A.T., Ruiz-Duenas, F.J., Martinez, M.J., del Rio, J.C. *et al.* (2009) Enzymatic delignification of plant cell wall: From nature to mill. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **20**, 348–357.
- 4 Iyer, P.V. and Ananthanarayan, L. (2008) Enzyme stability and stabilizationaqueous and non-aqueous environment. *Process Biochem.*, **43**, 1019–1032.
- 5 Bankar, S.B., Bule, M.V., Singhal, R.S., and Ananthanarayan, L. (2009) Glucose oxidase – An overview. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 27, 489–501.

- 6 Burton, S.G. (2003) Oxidizing enzymes as biocatalysts. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 21, 543-549.
- 7 Ricca, E., Brucher, B., and Schrittwieser, J.H. (2011) Multi-enzymatic cascade reactions: Overview and perspectives. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 353, 2239–2262.
- 8 Garcia-Ochoa, F. and Gomez, E. (2009) Bioreactor scale-up and oxygen transfer rate in microbial processes: An overview. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 27, 153–176.
- 9 Kirk, T.V. and Szita, N. (2013) Oxygen transfer characteristics of miniaturized bioreactor systems. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 110, 1005–1019.
- Bareither, R. and Pollard, D. (2011) A review of advanced small-scale parallel bioreactor technology for accelerated process development: Current state and future need. *Biotechnol. Progr.*, 27, 2–14.

- 8 1 Introduction
 - 11 Gernaey, K.V., Baganz, F., Franco-Lara, E., Kensy, F. *et al.* (2012) Monitoring and control of microbioreactors: An expert opinion on development needs. *Biotechnol. J.*, 7, 1308–1314.
 - 12 Ludwig, R., Ortiz, R., Schulz, C., Harreither, W. *et al.* (2013) Cellobiose dehydrogenase modified electrodes: Advances by materials science and biochemical engineering. *Anal. Bioanal.Chem.*, **405**, 3637–3658.
 - 13 Landgrebe, D., Haake, C., Hopfner, T., Beutel, S. *et al.* (2010) On-line infrared spectroscopy for bioprocess monitoring. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 88, 11–22.
 - Luttmann, R., Bracewell, D.G., Cornelissen, G., Gernaey, K.V. *et al.* (2012) Soft sensors in bioprocessing: A status report and recommendations. *Biotechnol. J.*, 7, 1040–1048.
 - 15 Lopes, J.A., Costa, P.F., Alves, T.P., and Menezes, J.C. (2004) Chemometrics in bioprocess engineering: Process analytical technology (PAT) applications. *Chemom. Intell. Lab. Syst.*, 74, 269–275.
 - 16 Kaiser, C., Pototzki, T., Ellert, A., and Luttmann, R. (2008) Applications of PAT-process analytical technology in recombinant protein processes with *Escherichia coli. Eng. Life Sci.*, 8, 132–138.
 - 17 Gernaey, K.V., Lantz, A.P., Tufvesson, P., Woodley, J.M. *et al.* (2010) Application of mechanistic models to fermentation and biocatalysis for next-generation processes. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 28, 348–354.
 - 18 Shimizu, K. and Matsuoka, Y. (2015) Fundamentals of Systems Analysis and Modeling of Biosystems and Metabolism, Hindawi Publishing Co. (Bentham e-Books).
 - 19 Wardani, A.K., Egawa, S., Nagahisa, K., Shimizu, H. Shioya, S. (2006) Robustness of the cascade pH and DO control in a symbiotic nisin production process system of *L. lactis* and *K. marxianus, J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 101, 274–276.
 - 20 Mitchell, D.A., von Meien, O.F., Krieger, N., and Dalsenter, F.D.H. (2004) A review of recent developments in modeling of microbial growth kinetics and intraparticle phenomena in solid-state fermentation. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, **17**, 15–26.
 - 21 Singhania, R.R., Patel, A.K., Soccol, C.R., and Pandey, A. (2009) Recent advances

in solid-state fermentation. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 44, 13–18.

- 22 Keshwani, D.R. and Cheng, J.J. (2009) Switchgrass for bioethanol and other value-added applications: A review. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100, 1515–1523.
- 23 Malik, S., Cusido, R.M., Mirjalili, M.H., Moyano, E. *et al.* (2011) Production of the anticancer drug taxol in *Taxus baccata* suspension cultures: A review. *Process Biochem.*, 46, 23–34.
- 24 Matkowski, A. (2008) Plant in vitro culture for the production of antioxidants – A review. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 26, 548–560.
- 25 Weinbaum, S., Tarbell, J.M., and Damiano, E.R. (2007) The structure and function of the endothelial glycocalyx layer. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng.*, 9, 121–167.
- 26 Kirouac, D.C. and Zandstra, P.W. (2008) The systematic production of cells for cell therapies. *Cell Stem Cell*, 3, 369–381.
- Palomares, L.A. and Ramirez, O.T. (2009) Challenges for the production of viruslike particles in insect cells: The case of rotavirus-like particles. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 45, 158–167.
- 28 Kang, S.-Y., Lee, J.-U., and Kim, K.-W. (2007) Biosorption of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) onto the cell surface of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. Biochem. Eng. J., 36, 54–58.
- 29 Aksu, Z. and Karabayir, G. (2008) Comparison of biosorption properties of different kinds of fungi for the removal of Gryfalan Black RL metal-complex dye. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 99, 7730–7741.
- 30 Rafatullah, M., Sulaiman, O., Hashim, R., and Ahmad, A. (2010) Adsorption of methylene blue on low-cost adsorbents: A review. J. Hazard. Mater., 177, 70–80.
- 31 Fakhru'l-Razi, A., Pendashteh, A., Abdullah, L.C., Biak, D.R.A. *et al.* (2009) Review of technologies for oil and gas produced water treatment. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, **170**, 530–551.
- 32 Zapata, A., Velegraki, T., Sanchez-Perez, J.A., Mantzavinos, D. *et al.* (2009) Solar photo-Fenton treatment of pesticides in water: Effect of iron concentration on degradation and assessment of ecotoxicity and biodegradability. *Appl. Catal., B*, 88, 448–454.
- 33 Sirtori, C., Zapata, A., Oller, I., Gernjak, W. *et al.* (2009) Decontamination industrial pharmaceutical wastewater by combining solar photo-Fenton and biological treatment. *Water Res.*, **43**, 661–668.
- 34 Oller, I., Malato, S., and Sanchez-Perez, J.A. (2011) Combination of advanced oxidation processes and biological treatments for wastewater decontamination A review. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 409, 4141–4166.
- **35** Verstraete, W., Van de Caveye, P., and Diamantis, V. (2009) Maximum

use of resources present in domestic "used water". *Bioresour. Technol.*, **100**, 5537–5545.

- 36 Ucisik, A.S. and Henze, M. (2008) Biological hydrolysis and acidification of sludge under anaerobic conditions. *Water Res.*, 42, 3729–3738.
- 37 Lebeau, T., Braud, A., and Jezequel, K. (2008) Performance of bioaugmentationassisted phytoextraction applied to metal contaminated soils: A review. *Environ. Pollut.*, **153**, 497–522.

Part I Enzyme Technology

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. 11

Klaus Buchholz and Uwe T. Bornscheuer

2.1 The Early Period up to 1890

2.1.1 Observations and Empirical Results

Applied biocatalysis has its roots in ancient Mesopotamia, China, and Japan, in the manufacture of food and alcoholic drinks. Thus, about 3500 BC, brewers in Mesopotamia manufactured beer following established recipes. Without knowing, humans utilized microbial amylases and proteases, in particular for the production of soy-derived foods. In Europe too, applied biocatalysis has a long history. Cheese making has always involved the use of enzymes. Much material on the scientific and technological development has been summarized in articles by Neidleman [1], Sumner and Myrbäck [2], Sumner and Somers [3], Tauber [4], and Buchholz and Poulson [5]. The history of enzyme technology is, of course, an essential part of the history of biotechnology [6–9].

First scientific observations on enzyme activities in the late eighteenth century were by Spallanzani and Scheele (Table 2.1). In 1814, Kirchhoff found that a glutinous component of wheat is capable of converting starch into sugar and dextrin. Then, in 1833, diastase was found to perform this hydrolysis [10]. Its isolation is described, following Payen and Persoz, by Knapp [13]: it is precipitated from a malt extract and can be further purified by repeated dissolution in water and precipitation by the addition of alcohol. Diastase was the dominating object of research throughout the century, with $\sim 10-20\%$ of the publications dealing with it during decades, because of its economic importance (see below).

Claude Bernard was the first to show lipolytic activity in pancreas in 1856 [4], and Dobell [12] found that an extract from pancreas hydrolyzed both fat and starch. Further enzymatic conversions (ferment actions) observed in that early period, summarized in Frankland's list of soluble ferments (1885) and by Sumner and Somers [3], are presented in Table 2.1.

Enzyme	Ferment source	Catalyzed reaction	References
Protease	Gastric juice	Meat liquefaction	Spallanzani (1783) ^{a)}
Tannase	Gall nut	Hydrolysis of tannin	Scheele (1786) ^{b)}
Cyanogen	Plant roots	Substrate: guaiacum	Planche (1810) ^{a)}
Glutin comp.	Wheat	Starch hydrolysis	Kirchhoff (1814) ^{a)}
Emulsin	Bitter almonds	Amygdalin hydrolysis	Robiquet and Boutron (1830) ^a ; Chalard, Liebig and Wöhler (1837) ^{a)}
Diastatic activity	Ptyalin	Starch hydrolysis	Leuchs (1831) ^{a)}
Amylase Sinigrinase	Malt	Starch hydrolysis	Payen and Persoz [10] Faure (1835) ^{a)}
Pepsin		Protein hydrolysis	Schwann (1836) ^{a)}
Trypsin		Protein hydrolysis	Corvisart (1856) ^{a)}
Saccharase	Yeast	Sucrose hydrolysis	Berthelot (1860) ^{a)}
Pectase	Plants	Pectin hydrolysis	Payen [11]
Pancreas		Lipolytic activity	Bernard (1856) ^{b)}
Pancreas extract		Fatand starch hydrolysis	Dobell [12]
Pancreatic ferment	Pancreas	Fat hydrolysis	Frankland (1885)

Table 2.1 Ferments (enzyme activities) known until 1880.

a) From: Sumner and Somers [3].

b) From: Tauber [4].

Technical application of diastase was a major issue in the 1840s and onwards. The treatment of starch by acids or diastase yielded a gummy syrup, essentially dextrins. Notably, French products seemed to have been produced enzymatically, as was obvious by their smell of malt [13]. Sugar-containing dextrin was produced following a process of Payen and Heuzé, by treating 100 parts of starch with 5-8 parts of malt in water at 60-70 °C (Figure 2.1) [11, 14]. This product was used mainly in France in bakeries, where it served as an additive in baking, and for the production of beer, wines, and alcoholic beverages from fruits, all applications with a big market. Lab products were used to produce cheese [13]. Berzelius is cited with details stating that 1 part of lab ferment preparation coagulates 1800 parts of milk.

A remarkable process was developed by Schützenbach in 1823: an acetic acid fermentation process known as "fast acetic acid manufacture" ("Schnellessigfabrikation"). It worked with active acetic acid bacteria (of course, not recognized at that time) immobilized spontaneously on beechwood chips. The process was carried out in vessels made of wood, some 1-2 m wide and 2-4 m high, and was aerated to oxidize the substrate alcohol (Figure 2.2).

2.1.2

Theoretical Approaches

A *theoretical concept* that is valid even today was developed by Berzelius as early as 1835, who acknowledged the first enzymatic actions, notably starch hydrolysis



Figure 2.1 Process for dextrin production, with reaction vessel for starch hydrolysis (a), filtration unit (b), reservoir for intermediate storage (c), concentration unit where water is evaporated to give a concentrated syrup of dextrin solution (d) [11].



Figure 2.2 Acetic acid fermentation using immobilized bacteria. The vessel was equipped with sieve plates in positions D and B. Space A was filled with beech wood chips (on which the bacteria were immobilized). A 6-10% alcohol solution was added from the top to a solution containing 20% acetic acid and beer (containing nutrients). Air for oxidation was introduced through holes in a position above B, and the temperature was maintained at 20-25 °C. The product containing 4-10% acetic acid was continuously removed via position E [15].

by diastase, as a catalytic effect. He interpreted also fermentation as caused by a catalytic force. He postulated that a body by its mere presence could, by affinity to the fermentable substance, cause its rearrangement to the products. About a decade later, the book by Knapp [13] presented, when summarizing approaches published by several authors, a rather distinct and even mysterious concept of the action of ferments (mainly referring to diastase and the work by Payen and Persoz)

speaking of "mighty chemical forces" and the ability, that one part (of the ferment) can transform 2000 parts of starch into sugar, and that "even if one does not know anything of the chemical composition," one might assume a "hypothetical body," a "symbol," and the most strange energy, by which the transformation (of starch) occurs; he assumed that the nitrogen-containing parts (the "Kleber") of the seed are being transformed to a ferment, and that diastase is not a certain substance, but rather a state or form ("Zustand").

Again, a decade later the distinction of *organized* and *unorganized* ferments was developed. Wagner [14] describes two types of ferments that can cause fermentation; one is an organized (obviously living) body, like yeast, and the other a protein-like body, which is in the state of decomposition (a term coined by Liebig; see [8], pp. 20, 21). That segmentation is expressed more precisely by Payen [11]. Fermentation is seen as a contact (catalytic) process of a degradation ("Spaltungs-") or addition process (with water). It can be performed by two substances or bodies:

- A nitrogen-containing organic (*unorganized*) substance, such as protein material undergoing degradation.
- An *organized* body, a lower class plant, or an *infusorium*, such as with alcoholic fermentation.

Probably, the type of effect is the same insofar as the ferment of the second class produces a body of the first class, possibly a big number of singular ferments. In 1877, Kühne termed the first class of substances *enzymes* (in yeast) [16].

2.2 The Period from 1890 to 1940

2.2.1

Scientific Progress

From about 1894 onwards, Emil Fischer investigated in a series of experiments the action of different enzymes using several glycosides and oligosaccharides; the results revealed specificity as one of the key characteristics of enzymes. In 1894, he compared invertin and emulsin. He extracted invertin from yeast, a usual procedure, and showed that it hydrolyzed α -, but not β -methyl-D-glucoside. In contrast, emulsin, a commercial preparation from Merck, hydrolyzed β -, but not α -methyl-D-glucoside [17]. Among a series of tests with different saccharides, he observed that invertin hydrolyzed sucrose and maltose, but not lactose. An extract from a "lactose-yeast," however, was able to hydrolyze lactose but not maltose. These observations are the most essential from a major range of which Fischer derived his famous theory on specificity (see below) (summarized by Fischer [18]).

A few years after Fischer's investigations, Eduard Buchner published a series of papers (Refs [19, 20]; see also review by Florkin [21]), which signaled a breakthrough in fermentation and enzymology. The experiments began in 1893. In his first paper on alcoholic fermentation without yeast cells (1897), Buchner described, in a remarkably short and precise manner, the separation of the (alcoholic) fermentation from the living yeast cells by an extract. He published the experimental details for the preparation of a cell-free press juice from yeast cells, with disruption, filtration under high pressure, and further filtration. He then described the formation of carbon dioxide and alcohol from carbohydrates, sucrose, glucose, fructose, and maltose. No microscopic organisms were present. At elevated temperature, protein was precipitated, the activity reduced, and finally destroyed. From these and further results, Buchner derived essential new insights, both into the nature of alcoholic fermentation and enzymatic activity governing the transformations observed (see Section 2.2.2). In subsequent papers, he communicated further important experiments [22], which also led to immediate objections of other scientists active in the field (see e.g., [23]). These findings (with many more details published by Buchner et al.) deserve special attention since they represent the demarcation of a breakthrough, which reduced all reactions in physiological (or bio-) chemistry to chemistry.

Further findings relevant for the establishment of the chemical nature of enzymatic catalysis and technical application followed shortly thereafter. Croft and Hill performed the first enzymatic synthesis, that of isomaltose, in 1898, allowing a yeast extract (α -glycosidase) to act on a 40% glucose solution [3]. In 1900, Kastle and Loevenhart found that the hydrolysis of fat and other esters by lipases is a reversible reaction and that enzymatic synthesis can occur in a dilute mixture of alcohol and acid [2]. This principle was utilized for the synthesis of numerous glycosides by Fischer and coworkers in 1902.

Bertrand, in 1897, observed that certain enzymes required dialyzable substances to exert catalytic activity. He named these substances "coenzymes." Sörensen pointed out the dependence of enzyme activity on pH in 1909 [3]. An important step entering physico-chemistry, and thereby extending the theoretical basis of enzymology, was the kinetic investigations and their interpretation by Michaelis and Menten. They postulated that enzymatic action is due to the formation of an intermediate compound between the enzyme and the substrate, and they presented a mathematical form that is still used today [2].

The definite establishment of the chemical paradigm was the crystallization of urease by Sumner in 1926, and further enzymes (trypsin, etc.) by Northrup and Kunitz in 1930/1931. In every known case, the pure enzyme turned out to be a protein [2].

2.2.2

Theoretical Developments

Fischer [18] in his work elaborated the essential aspects of enzyme catalysis during the 1890s. The first aspect is specificity. The agents of the living cell (enzymes) are optically active, and therefore one might assume that the yeast cells with their asymmetric agents can utilize only those sugars whose geometry is not too far from that of glucose. From there, Fischer deduced the famous

picture of lock and key; he assumed that the "geometrical form of the (enzyme) molecule concerning its asymmetry, corresponds to that of the natural hexoses" (sugars).

The second aspect refers to the protein nature of enzymes. In 1894, Fischer [18] stated that among the agents that serve the living cell, the proteins are the most important. He was convinced that enzymes are proteins. Controversies on the nature of enzymes and proteins continued for long [5]. Proteins, such as albumin and casein, were included in the group of colloids, which were attested a dynamic state of matter. "...The colloid possesses ENERGIA, ...the probably primary source of the force ... of vitality." Protoplasm was given mystical and even magical properties." To the contrary, Béchamp, also referring to his former work in 1853–1857, had demonstrated that soluble ferments are a basic or original principle (*pure principei immediat*) [24]. But Willstätter, still in 1927, denied that enzymes were proteins [25].

Buchner initiated a new paradigm, which, in strict contrast to that of Pasteur, stated that enzyme catalysis, including complex phenomena like that of alcoholic fermentation, was a chemical process not necessarily linked to the presence and action of living cells. In his first paper, he wrote that he presented the proof that (alcoholic) fermentation does not require the presence of "such a complex apparatus as is the yeast cell." The agent is a soluble substance, without doubt a protein body, which he called *zymase* [19]. Buchner's findings marked a new – biochemical – paradigm leading research and theory on enzymes. It displaced an established paradigm which taught that processes in living organisms – alcoholic fermentation being the most important example – were not of pure chemical nature but required a *vis vitalis*, a vital force. Now, the chemical paradigm, which reduced all reactions in physiology (or bio-)chemistry to the laws of chemistry without further hidden forces, began to play the dominant role. Technical development also got a new scientific basis on which to proceed in a rational way.

2.2.3

Technological Developments

The industrial development of enzymes was very slow initially during the late nineteenth century. An exception was the work of Christian Hansen, who started a company in Copenhagen, Denmark, in 1874, the Chr. Hansen A/S to this day, the first in the industrial market with a standardized enzyme preparation, rennet, for cheese making. Takamine began isolating bacterial amylases in the 1890s, based on "koji" mold cultures. In 1894, Takamine applied for, and was granted, a patent entitled "Process of making diastatic enzyme" (U.S. Patent No. 525,823) on his method of growing mold on bran and using aqueous alcohol to extract amylase, the first patent on a microbial enzyme in the United States, for example, for saccharifying starch for application in distilleries. Takamine licensed his enzyme preparation under the brand name "Taka-diastase." He subsequently founded the International Ferment Company of New York, which later was sold to Miles Laboratories. Early applications and patents on enzymes in the food industry have been collected by Neidleman [1]. Together with Effront, working on enzymes for alcohol production since 1900, Boidin founded the SociétéRapidase (later a part of DSM-Gist-Brocades) in 1920 ([26, p. 6]).

Plant lipases were utilized for the production of fatty acids from oils and fats. It was also found that the reaction is reversible, and an enzymatic synthesis of fat from glycerol and fatty acid was described by Welter in 1911 [27]. For the chill-proofing of beer, proteolytic enzymes have been used successfully since 1911 in the United States [4]. Lintner, as early as 1890, observed that wheat diastase interacts in dough-making. This effect was extensively studied, the addition of malt extract came into practice, and American bakers in 1922 used 30 million lb (13 500 tons) of malt extract valued at US\$2.5 million [4].

In 1907, Röhm patented the application of a mixture of pancreatic extract and ammonium salts as a bating agent [4]. His motivation as a chemist was to find an alternative to the unpleasant bating practice using dung. First experiments with aqueous ammonia were a failure. Since he knew Buchner's work on enzymes, he came to assume that enzymes could be the active component in dung, and looked for sources that were technically feasible. Tests with pancreas were successful, when he compared the results with those obtained with dung, whereas amylase did not work. With this perspective, he founded his company in 1907, which successfully entered the market; also a company in the United States, which later became the Rohm and Haas company, was founded. In 1908, 10 tons of the product - pancreas extract - with the trade name Oropon were sold, followed by 53 and 150 tons in the subsequent years. In 1913, the company worked with 22 chemists, 30 other employees, and 48 workers [28]. Later enzyme preparations were produced by fermentation using Bacillus or Aspergillus sp. [4]. The history of the Röhm company makes obvious that the market for a new product providing technical progress was an important factor, but that the background of scientific knowledge on the principles of enzyme action was equally important, leading experiments to a technically feasible solution. It was, however, only around 1955 that the development of enzyme production gained speed by the growing sales of bacterial amylases and proteases.

2.3 A New Biocatalyst Concept – Immobilized Enzymes

2.3.1 Fundamental Research

One question – which is as old as industrial enzymes – was: "Can enzymes be re-used?" Immobilization represents a key for the economic application of many enzymes. It offers all advantages of classical heterogeneous catalysis. The most obvious reason is the need to reuse enzymes in order to make their application in industrial processes economical. Solutions critically depend on knowledge of

the protein structure. Further aspects are convenient separation for reuse after the reaction by filtration, centrifugation, and so on; and application in continuous processes, in fixed-bed, or fluidized-bed and stirred-tank reactors provided with a filter system for retention. Continuous processes combine the generally simpler technical equipment with the potential for convenient process control, automation, and coordination with upstream and downstream processing, including product recovery and purification.

Around 1950, several groups started to immobilize enzymes on solid supports. After the early work by Micheel and Ewers [29] and Grubhofer and Schleith [30], Manecke [31] recognized the potential of the method for industrial application. and applied for a patent that was granted on his method; however, he could not convince industry, notably, and ironically, the company Bayer, of the importance of his invention. Subsequently, work on enzyme immobilization became an important topic in research, reflected by international conferences, notably the Enzyme Engineering Conferences by the Engineering Foundation, New York [32]; however, the consideration of practical aspects was not yet established, and research results were mostly not appropriate for application in technical processes - such as low active enzyme yield and stability, high costs, poor mechanical stability, poor sedimentation and filtration properties, low yields of product, and so on. This is reflected in a major research project organized by DECHEMA (Frankfurt), with a number of academic research groups as well as scientists of companies participating, which aimed at solutions to aspects of application. The results were published [33, 34], as well as monographs collecting most of the relevant research results both by academic and industrial research (e.g., [35]). Among the pioneer groups providing insight into fundamental aspects and phenomena, including mass transfer and efficiency, was that of Katchalski (see e.g., [36]).

The idea and concept of immobilizing proteins, and notably enzymes, was born in academia, but the breakthrough, however, came with industrial development and application. Thus the first industrial application of immobilized enzymes was in the production of amino acids. Most important, however, until today, are two processes, the hydrolysis of penicillin and the isomerization of glucose [37, Chapter 8].

2.3.2

Examples of Industrial Development: The Case of Penicillin Amidase (PA) – Penicillin Hydrolysis and Derivatives

Enzymatic penicillin hydrolysis by penicillin amidase (also named penicillin acylase, PA) represents a landmark. After Chibata's first modest scale process (amino acid synthesis) [38], it was the first industrially and economically most important process using immobilized biocatalysts.

One priority item in pharmaceutical research was the development of a process for 6-aminopenicillanic acid (6-APA) production, serving for the synthesis of penicillin derivatives escaping resistance (Scheme 2.1).¹ Early in the 1950s, an enzyme had been found that elegantly did the job; it could accomplish the hydrolysis of penicillin in one step without requiring chemicals (other than water and buffer). PAs from different organisms, for example, *Escherichia coli*, were found at different institutions during the mid-1950s [39], including Bayer AG, Germany [40], and early processes were applied in Germany and the United States, however with poor yields [37(pp. 523–531), 41, 42]. However, no solution was obvious to accomplish the reaction on a technical scale, to produce the enzyme, to stabilize it, and to apply it several times, or continuously, and an engineering concept for a process to achieve high yields of 6-APA required for an economic process.

In the 1950s, the development of enzyme-catalyzed processes started in two companies; first, at Beecham Pharma (UK), which had missed out on penicillin but aimed at the development of new penicillin derivatives; and also at Hoechst AG (Germany), a producer of penicillin, who, however, discontinued research on PA and sold the know-how to Bayer (Germany). Screening for PA-producing strains had begun around 1960 at Beecham and Bayer; strain development was performed by conventional mutation of strains and subsequent screening; they applied for patents in 1959, and published their work on the hydrolysis of penicillin G using PA from *E. coli* in 1960 [40, 43].

At that time, all the main producers of penicillin had started to develop enzymatic methods to produce 6-APA from penicillin G and V, using PA from microorganisms other than *E. coli* [37(pp. 523–531), 41, 44]. The enzyme however was very expensive, and thus initially not an economical solution; immobilization was expected to solve the problem.

Among the first groups to develop PA immobilization processes for industrial application by the end of the 1960s and early 1970s were those of G. Schmidt-Kastner, at Bayer AG (Germany), and of M. D. Lilly, University College, London, in close cooperation with Beecham Pharmaceuticals (UK). 6-APA, up to that time, was produced chemically in a tedious process and used to synthesize different semisynthetic penicillins of high added value, such as ampicillin. The straight enzymatic process promised to be much easier and environmentally favorable (as compared to the chemical manufacture).

Here, one example of this development, at Bayer, will be presented in more detail, since it illustrates the achievement of solutions to problems of industrial application of such a process, notably development of an immobilization method for PA suitable for scale-up. This achievement includes the work required to solve

¹ Resistance of pathogens to antibiotics, notably to penicillin, had become a major topic in pharmaceutical research and development, thus the search for derivatives escaping resistance was a priority item. The development of penicillin derivatives, such as amoxicillin – by laborious and complicated chemical steps – enabled medical treatment of resistant strains and a wider range of pathogenic microorganisms. These chemical methods, besides their complexity, required large amounts of toxic and expensive reagents, including solvents to be regenerated, notably for the first step, penicillin hydrolysis to give 6-APA. This step furthermore was cost intensive. Nevertheless, the decision at Bayer for the industrial production of 6-APA was in favor of a chemical process, not the enzyme process, probably due to high cost of the enzyme.

a series of bottlenecks and technical problems of large-scale application, as well as problems of economy. Günter Schmidt-Kastner decided, as head of the biochemical engineering department (Biotechnikum), to develop the enzyme process in preference to the established chemical process. He decided to devote the personal and technical capacities (a new biotechnical pilot plant) required for this task. His decision to develop an enzymatic route implied struggling against the "chemical hierarchy" – the management that relied on chemical synthesis as a superior tool for many decades (Schmidt-Kastner, personal communication). His motives might have been success and lead in experience and R&D performance of the new field. Schmidt-Kastner knew about the scientific work of the Katchalski group, with whom he started a collaboration; he knew Manecke, who had offered his patent on immobilization to Bayer earlier, personally, but not his work and publications (Schmidt-Kastner, personal communication).

The most relevant aspects for the industrial success of the process were (according to Schmidt-Kastner) a PA-producing strain with high efficiency and productivity obtained by classical mutation and screening methods, and an interdisciplinary group including biochemists, microbiologists, polymer chemists, and chemical engineers to establish the know-how in order to solve the problems arising from the previous state of the art. A support (a functional copolymer) had to be designed specifically for covalent binding of proteins, with appropriate properties providing for high binding yields of active enzyme, functional groups, avoiding aggressive reactions but with sufficiently high density and mechanical stability, high internal surface, particle density, and hydrophilic character.



Semisynthetic penicillins or cephalosporins

R	R-6-APA	R-7-ADCA	R-7-ACA
(R)-Phenylglycyl	Ampicillin	Cephalexin	Cephaloglycin
(R)-Hvdroxy-phenylalvcyl	Amoxicillin	Cephadroxil	

Scheme 2.1 Enzymatic and chemical production of semisynthetic penicillins and cephalosporins from the hydrolysis products (6-APA, 7-ACA, 7-ADCA) of β -lactam antibiotics. The by-products phenylacetate and adipate can be recycled in the fermentations. The amounts produced are estimated from literature data [45]. Patents by Bayer (which filed some nine patents in 1972 and 1973 on immobilized PA) refer to known literature highlighting the shortcomings – common in academic development [46, 47]. Catalyst design is given in detail, including excellent binding yields (up to 92% of active enzyme), with high specific activities, high stability (producing more than 30 batches), and yield of reaction product (91% of PA) – much better than the data from the literature at that time. The immobilized enzyme system allowed scale-up over several dimensions, up to industrial reactor scale (several cubic meters), exhibiting low abrasion in such stirred-tank reactors.

The immobilization procedure is given in the patents, along with the ratio of protein and the polymer carrier, temperature, pH, buffer, ionic strength, and reaction time [47]. However, several specific results were kept secret, such as the distribution of the enzyme inside the carrier, providing for enhanced efficiency of the biocatalyst (compare for parallel developments published by the group of Lilly and Buchholz [48, 49]). The results reflect the performance required in a successful industrial process. Most importantly, the costs for the biocatalyst finally were marginal compared to the overall cost of the process (Scheme 2.1).

Production of 6-APA by PA began in 1972 in the Biotechnikum (pilot plant) of Bayer, in a scale of 1000 l up to 3000 l. Production was transferred subsequently to the plant with production in three reactors, in the 10 m³ scale, with several batches per day of 6-APA. The product was also manufactured for another antibiotics producer (Schmidt-Kastner, personal communication).

The development represents, even today, high-grade state of the art. The second important development was by Lilly and his group (at the University College London), working with PA from *E. coli* and developing an immobilized biocatalyst as well as process technology (see e.g., [49]), in close cooperation with Beecham; process scale-up was undertaken in the late 1970s.² Today, the production of 6-APA is over 10 000 tpa (tons per annum) and that of 7-ACA some 4000 tpa, and semisynthetic penicillins and cephalosporins represent a market value of over US\$20 billion per annum [37, p. 525].³

2.3.3

Examples of Industrial Development: The Case of Sugar Isomerization

The largest process with immobilized enzymes with respect to volume is that with glucose isomerase. The first commercial enzymatic production of high-fructose corn syrups (HFCS, with 53% glucose, 42% fructose, by isomerization of a

² Development with immobilized PA comprised stirred-tank cascades, but application was restricted to batch stirred tanks. Many graduates (including Carleysmith, who contributed to catalyst design) went to Beecham to continue work on the industrial process. The group of Lilly represented, unconventional in academia at the time, an integrated group (biochemistry, biochemical engineering, including downstream processing) in the early 1970s. The idea was possibly stimulated by an MIT group (Cooney, Cambridge, MA, USA) (Fish, personal communication).

³ The development of the PA process also shows how much industrial interest has stimulated and encouraged fundamental work, including recombinant technology, as is obvious from an increasing number of papers (over 600) published subsequently on the subject. Remarkably, work on recombinant PA did not meet the interest of the first companies active in the field (see Section 2.5).

glucose syrup, with enhanced sweetness) took place in Japan in 1969 (Takasaki), however with limited success. The sky-rocking sucrose price in 1973–1975 contributed to the interest in HFCS, and consequently immobilized glucose isomerase, dramatically. Companies like Novo Industri (now Novozymes, AS, DK) and Gist-Brocades (NL; now DSM) developed more stable enzyme products, which were cheaper and easy to use. Resources were spent on optimizing the production of glucose isomerase, its immobilization, and the engineering of the processes [50]. As a result, productivities of the commercial process increased from ~500 kg HFCS kg⁻¹ immobilized enzyme product (1975) to ~20 000 kg kg⁻¹ (2003). Currently about 12 million tpa of HFCS is produced worldwide [37, Section 8.4].

2.4

Expanding Enzyme Application after the 1950s

During the late 1960s, with the development of detergent proteases, the use of enzymes increased dramatically. At the same time, an enzyme process to produce dextrose using glucoamylase was introduced for starch processing.

Non-immobilized (soluble) enzymes continue to dominate technical applications in economic terms. The areas are

 food manufacturing, with starch hydrolysis (Figure 2.3), and further processing (over 15 million tpa), bread, cheese, fruit juice manufacture, and so on (estimated at 40–45% of enzyme sales)



Figure 2.3 Market for enzymes used as biocatalysts for different purposes 2010 (a), and the increase in the application of enzymes reflected in the number of employees in the industry producing enzymes for biocatalytic purposes and their worldwide sales since 1970 (b). Number of Novozymes employees that has about 50% of the world market for such enzymes (squares) and value of their worldwide sales (filled circles) are shown (Novozymes yearly reports, last one from 2010). The value of the world production of technical enzymes is much larger than shown in (a), as many companies that use enzymes as biocatalysts produce them in-house in order to have a safe and stable enzyme supply and/or protect their proprietary knowledge.

- detergent formulations with proteases, lipases, and cellulases (35-40%)
- bioethanol production based on starch (beverage and fuel ethanol ~42 million m³ per year) [37, Chapter 12].

They represent the most important areas with respect to volume and turnover. Application has extended into the areas of paper and pulp, textile manufacture, degumming of oil, and many others. One-step reactions and hydrolytic enzymes still are dominating. They are often offered at low price $(5-20 \ \text{e/kg} \text{ or } \ \text{e/l} \text{ of concentrate, respectively})$. The hydrolysis of high-molecular-weight, insoluble, or adsorbed substrates proceeds efficiently with soluble enzymes only.

• Immobilized biocatalysts play an eminent role, with two of very large volume and value, as has been described previously: glucose isomerase, and penicillin amidase. They have been established even on a large scale for the manufacture of basic chemicals and acrylamide by immobilized nitrilase (400 000 tpa) [37, Chapter 8, 51].

Today, more than 15 processes of major importance are on stream, and several hundred processes exist for further special applications. Selected examples of industrial application are shown in Table 2.2, ranging from a production scale of several million to some hundred tons per year, however with high added value.

The growth of applied biocatalysis has been remarkable in recent years. Thus the turnover of the enzyme division of Novo Industri (DK), the leading enzyme manufacturer, did not exceed \$1 million annually until 1965. By 1969, within only 4 years, Novo's enzyme turnover exceeded US\$50 million annually, and in 1997 Novo Nordisk's enzyme division (today Novozymes AS) had a turnover of ~US\$650 million. Data on enzyme sales from different sources are illustrated in Figure 2.3. A nearly exponential increase over three orders of magnitude in 35 years is evident [37, Chapter 1]. Total sales were €2.5 billion in 2010; however, the value of the world production of technical enzymes is considerably larger, since many companies that use enzymes as biocatalysts produce them in-house in order to have a safe and stable enzyme supply and/or to protect their proprietary knowledge.

One development, with fashions following up and decrease of energy prices, were *Cellulases* – a career beginning in the 1950s, with several boom cycles since the 1970s following the first oil crisis. They represent the key to alcohol from lignocellulosic material, which offers a huge potential for biofuel manufacture, providing new raw material sources, without competing with food production, and the option for considerably reduced greenhouse gas emissions. Research on enzymatic cellulose degradation has been pursued with varying intensity during recent decades. The pioneer was Elwin T. Reese, who investigated during the early 1950s the deterioration of cotton tents at the U.S. Army Laboratories during World War II. He identified fungi of the genus *Trichoderma* that produced major amounts of cellulases, potent in hydrolyzing cellulose to glucose, including one, which was then named *Trichoderma reesei*. Reese was joined in 1956 by Mary Mandels, and the focus of cellulase research changed from preventing hydrolysis to enhancing

Market share ^{b)}	Enzyme	Purpose, application in solution	Membrane systems	Immobilized systems
	Hydrolases			
Detergents: about 30%	Proteases	Detergents		
	Cellulases	Detergents		
	Lipases	Textile, oil		
Food (total): 40-45%				
	Rennin, chymosin <i>Glycosidases</i>	Cheese manufacture		
(Starch: 11–15%) ^{c)}	Amylases, amyloglucosidases	Starch hydrolysis, biofuel production, detergents, baking, brewing		(Dextrin hydrolysis)
	Cellulases	Pulp and paper manufacture, textiles, biofuels		
	Xylanases,	Juice manufacture, feed		
	ß-glucanases, pectinases ^{d)}	processing		
	Lactase	Milk products		Lactose hydrolysis
	Esterases			
	Acylases		Amino acid synthesis	Amino acid synthesis
	Penicillin amidase			Penicillin hydrolysis/synthesis
	Oxidoreductases			
	Glucose oxidase	Drinks manufacture Analytics		Glucose analyzer
	Lipoxygenase	Baking		
	Transferases			
	Aminotransferase			Amino acid manufacture
	Cyclodextrin			Cyclodextrin
	transferase			manufacture
	Isomerases			
(12%) ^{c)}	Glucose isomerase			Manufacture of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS)
2500 million € ^{e)}	<i>Total turnover</i> Worldwide			

Table 2.2Industrial applications of enzymes: major selected areas [37, Chapter 7] –Additional sector: diagnostic enzymes^{a)}.

a) Diagnostic enzymes; purpose, application: analysis of metabolites in medical care. Market estimated at over 10 billion €.

b) Technical enzymes, worldwide, estimates.

c) Included in food.

d) Including other activities.

e) 2010; however, the value of the world production of technical enzymes is much larger, since many companies that use enzymes as biocatalysts produce them in house in order to have a safe and stable enzyme supply and/or protect their proprietary knowledge.

it for the production of glucose. Systematic classification and characterization, as well as early research on reaction and synergism of cellulases, was pioneered by the group of Henrissat since 1983 [52]. Among the early reviews and papers concerning the kinetics and processing are those of Ladisch et al. [53], Ghose [54], and Buchholz et al. [55]. Early advanced concepts were to be forgotten, such as simultaneous cellulose hydrolysis and ethanol formation [56], and engineering concepts, for example, a counter-current trickle bed tubular reactor [57]. Subsequent insights made new approaches possible, and necessary, and provided more advanced concepts for better efficiency and much lower cost [52]. An overview of the recent development is given by Bornscheuer et al. [52]. With respect to application, a range of pilot studies, demonstration, and/or commercial production facilities have been announced in recent years; however, only a few have been in operation on a relevant scale, for example, by POET (USA) and Iogen Corporation (Canada) which has been operating the first demonstration facility in Ottawa (Canada) since 2004, by Renmatrix, Inbicon, in Denmark, and Abengoa in Spain. Among the first commercial plants are Chemtex's plant in Italy, and the Beta Renewables biorefinery in Crescentino, with a capacity of 75 000 m³ per year, using enzymes from Novozymes. However, despite these recent innovations, "There is an old joke in the energy business that advanced biofuels are the fuel of the future, and always will be." (The New York Times International/SZ SüddeutscheZeitung, May 2, 2014, p. 8).

2.5 Recombinant Technology – A New Era in Biocatalysis and Enzyme Technology

Most relevant for enzyme research and technology were two basic accomplishments: exploring and understanding the protein structure, and the establishment of nucleic acids as hereditary units, the resolution of their structure and function as carriers of biological information. Knowledge of the protein structure is critical for application in industrial processes, notably immobilization. Genetic engineering furthermore provides the key tool to improve the properties required for enzymes in industrial catalysis, such as appropriate stability.

2.5.1

New Enzymes - A Key to Genetic Engineering

Genetic engineering, along with recombinant techniques, has played a major role in extending the field of biocatalysis since the 1980s. It was the discovery of restriction enzymes in the second half of the 1970s, as well as the synthesis of oligonucleotides, in about 1970, that promoted dynamics in the field, including technological development, which in turn stimulated basic research. Restriction enzymes made it possible to cut genes at defined positions and transfer them, by appropriate methods, into other organisms, for example, for production of the respective proteins in large-scale fermenters, or for the construction

of recombinant or newly synthesized genes exhibiting modified properties expressed in the proteins, notably enzymes, which they encode for (see [8, Section 7]; [58, Sections 1.4 and 1.5]).

The discovery of DNA polymerases, restriction endonucleases, and further enzymes that replicate, break, repair, and recombine DNA formed the basis of recombinant DNA technologies. Kornberg, in 1955, discovered an enzyme of *E. coli* that could replicate DNA from any microbial, plant, or animal source. He later found further replication enzymes and characterized them. The splicing techniques for generating recombinant DNA use enzymes that cut, fill, and seal breaks in DNA [59, pp. 10, 25, 27, 180].

Arber, and Smith and Wilcox, during the late 1960s, reported that restriction enzymes degraded DNA at particular nucleotide sequences. In 1971, Boyer discovered *Eco*RI, which cleaves DNA site-specifically [60]. In subsequent experiments, it was found that cleavage of duplex DNA by *Eco*RI generates fragments that have complementary cohesive termini, "sticky" DNA ends, to allow for enzymatic joining of DNA molecules, a finding published by three groups in 1972. Boyer had seen at once that it would be a much more precise operating tool for use of plasmid construction, notably for Cohen's early plasmids. Boyer offered it to Berg and Cohen, with whom he immediately began to cooperate, and to many others. By March 1973, Boyer and Cohen had demonstrated the feasibility of the DNA cloning approach they had outlined a few months earlier [61, 62, p. 649]. Subsequently, many different restriction enzymes were found that cut DNA molecules at different places.

A prerequisite for cloning was the availability of such pure, well-characterized enzymes (collected by Collins, [58, Section 1.5]). Important were restriction endonucleases (notably *Eco*RI), further DNA ligases (for joining DNA fragments with paired cohesive ends), DNA polymerase I (for efficient DNA synthesis on a template (by Kornberg *et al.* [63]), and reverse transcriptase (for synthesis of DNA from mRNA [64, 65]. A considerable number of these and further enzymes have become available commercially since the 1980s (see following section).

A new tool, CRISPR, for genome editing of remarkable precision has been invented (CRISPR means clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats and the associated Cas9 enzyme, Cas9 for CRISPR-associated protein9). The technique is based on the research and development of two scientists, Jennifer Doudna, University of California, Berkeley (USA), and Emmanuelle Charpentier, at that time at the Umea University, Uppsala (S), who in 2012 developed CRISPR/Cas9.

"The result has been an explosion in research and commercial use." The essentials of this discovery are twofold, the precise direction of the enzyme complex to the position to be split, by short guide RNA which can be readily synthesized, and the general ability to hydrolyze DNA at any selected position. The guide RNA can be paired with locations in any genomic DNA for use of CRISPR as an editing tool, including animal and human DNA. The latest developments in this new enzymatic tool for *in vivo* genetic engineering represent a great increase in the ability to accurately manipulate genetic material by DNA replacement (recombination) directly in living cells or whole organisms, efficiently and with little or no unwanted genetic side effects. If the cells edited are stem cells, the edit will persist, and if the cell is a somatic, the edit will last only as long as that cell survives. As an example, one company aims at creating anticancer cell therapies [66].

This technology is expected to revolutionize much of modern medicine and biotechnology in the near future. One innovative example can be seen in the work of, for example, George Church's group, in which this new method was used to destroy 69 retroviral copies in the genome of a pig in a single experiment. This is the first step to generate pigs, as potential organ donors, which are free of retroviruses that might be harmful to humans [58].

Based on this development, recently a remarkable series of new companies, four within 4 years, have been founded in order to explore this new technology for genome editing tools of remarkable precision, two with the inventors Doudna and Charpentier. These companies created an investment of \$345 million within that short time. However, some have raised ethical concerns with respect to germline alterations (as opposed to somatic tissue alterations) [66, 67, 68].

2.5.2

Analytical and Diagnostic Enzymes

Basic findings for clinical enzymology at the beginning of the twentieth century were the detection of activities of serum amylase in patients with pancreas diseases and phosphatases and cholinesterase in patients with prostate cancer and liver diseases, respectively. During 1954–1956, the clinical significance of alanine and aspartate aminotransferases and lactate dehydrogenase for liver deficiencies and heart attack were reported, followed by others, such as creatine kinase and γ -glutamyltransferase a few years later. The measurement of enzyme activities as well as the development of standardized test methods and biochemical reagents and their use in medical laboratories became increasingly important in those years [69, pp. 209–211].

In Germany, gene technology was difficult to establish in the 1970s and early 1980s due to political limitations and the conservative strategies of the big chemical companies (the case of insulin in Hoechst). In contrast to the conservative strategies of the big chemical companies, Boehringer Mannheim GmbH (Germany) established biomolecular and recombinant technologies in Tutzing, from 1977 onward. Galactose dehydrogenase for food analysis and α -galactosidase for application in the sugar industry (hydrolysis of the trisaccharide raffinose in molasses) were cloned from 1979 onward, resulting in higher yields, as well as higher purity and quality, and in 1982 a series of recombinant enzymes for food analysis were introduced [70]. When a leading scientist asked Herb Boyer in 1979, at a meeting in Berlin, how to clone bacterial enzymes, his answer was to use the – at that time – "super high tech" way using the protein sequence, oligonucleotide synthesis, and hybridization for fishing of the gene – which is routine today. In 1980, cloning of creatinase, the most important parameter for kidney analysis, was started, which had been obtained in low amounts and at

high price from *Pseudomonas*; it was then obtained in *E. coli* with 50% yield of the total protein, and introduced in 1985 [71, 72].

The t-PA (tissue plasminogen activator) – the product expected to give a new endogene human protein, a much more efficient thrombolytic for treatment of cardial attacks) – story resembles a thriller: in 1983 Genentech had announced the successful cloning of the gene, followed by a race for the best expression yields – with Wall street ups and downs, with failure of approval by the FDA first, then approval in 1987, great initial sales, followed by disillusion due to unrealistic prices. Starting 3 years later than Genentech, Boehringer Mannheim succeeded, with others, in a better product with superior quality and much lower cost. By 1988, Boehringer Mannheim had introduced some 90 commercial recombinant biochemical products, including analytical and restriction enzymes and antibodies [71]. In 1995, Roche Diagnostics offered 200 recombinant products (Hoffman-La Roche AG – short: Roche – had taken over Boehringer Mannheim GmbH) [69]. The market for diagnostics is currently dominated by Roche and Abbot, the sales by Roche in this sector were €8.6 billion in 2013 (CHEManager 7–8/2014, p. 3).

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) has been called the revolutionary molecular biology method of the twentieth century, enabling the amplification of tiny amounts of DNA by as much as a billion-fold within a short or reasonable time [59, pp. 236–241, 69, p. 280]. The principle of PCR was conceived in 1983 by Kary Mullis, while working for Cetus Corporation, California, "during a late evening, when driving, together with his girl friend, on a California Highway through the mountains, by combining conventional, but independent ideas to that process which he called later the PCR, all when a tropical flavor was in the air" [73]. In 1985, a patent for PCR was granted to Mullis and assigned to Cetus Corporation. Despite initial problems, for example, with contaminations, and initially high expenditure of time, the first commercial test was introduced in 1990, and tests for the HIV-1provirus and Chlamydia trachomatis, a bacterium transferred by sexual contact, were introduced in 1992 (by Roche with the trade name Amplicor). For immediate application of the technique to the diagnosis of the disease, a license was granted by Cetus to Roche AG [69]. The breakthrough was achieved in subsequent years, with different and multiple applications; among them are tests for hepatitis C virus, hepatitis B, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, and numerous others. Most important were tests for the confirmation of fatherhood, and for elucidation in criminal cases, by testing for DNA in preserved traces of blood, or in human history from a fossilized prehistoric creature. PCR is moreover well established in genetics, basic studies on evolution, on inherited disease, and other biological sciences, as well as in biotechnology [59, pp. 236–241, 69, pp. 280–287, 337].

An additional hot story reported by Kornberg was discussed at a trial in the U.S. District Court in San Francisco where Du Pont challenged the Cetus patent. The group of Kornberg had discovered and characterized DNA polymerase over the preceding decade; this and other prior findings were argued against the invention of PCR. The case involved a billion-dollar market at stake, where Cetus finally

was the winner. Chiron subsequently purchased Cetus and sold the PCR patent portfolio to Roche for \$300 million [59, pp. 236–241].

2.5.3 Expanding Market of Industrial Enzymes

With recombinant technologies, a boost for enzymes occurred, from the 1980s onward, extending the range of enzymes available. The new techniques considerably improved yields, lowered prices, and markedly extended applications, with modified and/or improved selectivity, effectiveness, and stability (both at elevated temperatures and pH). Boehringer Mannheim GmbH (Germany) had produced the first recombinant enzyme, α -galactosidase, in the industrial scale (10 m³ fermenter) as early as 1982 [71, 74, 75]. In 1980, genetic engineering of amylase production was a test case at Novo for food enzymes, going to the approval process, and finally marketing in 1984. Over 50 % of market share for recombinant enzymes was reached in 1992 (Poulsen, personal communication).

Work on recombinant penicillin G amidase (PA), one of the most important industrial enzymes (see above), was initiated by F. Wagner in cooperation with H. Mayer and J. Collins. The group cloned an E. coli strain that overexpressed PA at a level much higher than publicly known strains [76], but not much exceeding that of industrial strains. The enzyme was produced constitutively, in contrast to conventional strains. Unexpected results were insights in the autocatalytic processing of the enzyme after expression ([37, Chapter 12.3, 77]). Results were first presented at the Enzyme Engineering Conference, Henniker (New Hampshire, USA) 1979 [76]. Discussions with several companies had taken place in order to check their interest, thus with Genentech and Pfizer before 1979. Remarkably, most of the companies with established projects on PA were not interested. Industrial development with the new strain would have required new scale-up with unknown results, notably with respect to stability and product yield (Schmidt-Kastner, personal communication). A cooperation was, however, established with BiochemieKundl (Austria), which utilized the strain for the hydrolysis of penicillin G, which was a by-product (with 10%) in their established process with penicillin V as the main component (hydrolysis of both penicillins yields the same product, penicillanic acid) (Mayer, personal communication).

Important factors for the success of recombinant enzymes were the following: the productivities and/or yields improved by factors of up to 100, and prices for recombinant enzymes now typically lower by a factor of 10 as compared to traditional (non-recombinant) enzymes. Thus the ratio of the amount of recombinant and wild-type microorganism, respectively (*E. coli* or yeast), required for the production of an enzyme is in the range of 1:25. The time required for the scale-up procedure for recombinant detergent enzymes is in the range of 1 year (traditionally 4 years) and for food enzymes 1.5 years (traditionally 6–8 years; Poulsen, personal communication). Examples for recombinant enzymes used in major industrial processes comprise amylases, glucoamylases, and glucose isomerases, the protease subtilisin used in washing powders, and glutarylamidase and PA

for the hydrolysis and synthesis of ß-lactam antibiotics. A range of successful modifications have been summarized by Bommarius and Riebel [78] and by Buchholz *et al.* [37]. Thus thermal stability could be improved significantly by site-directed and random mutagenesis as well as by directed evolution (see below) in amylases and glucose isomerase. Thermostable amylases from hyperthermophilic microorganisms are active even up to 130 °C and are applied industrially in the range 105-110 °C during starch processing. Other important improvements concern the shift in the pH application range, which is relevant in starch processing by amylases and glucoamylases.

2.6

Current Strategies for Biocatalyst Search and Tailor Design

2.6.1

Enzyme Discovery from the Metagenome or Protein Databases

Extending the range of enzymes for application as well as the search for new solutions in synthesis, notably of chiral compounds, has been a continuing challenge. The traditional method to identify new enzymes for such purposes is based on screening of, for example, soil samples or strain collections by enrichment culture. many impressive examples of which can be found in the literature [79]. Unfortunately, only a tiny fraction of the biodiversity can be accessed by this means using common cultivation technology. Indeed, the number of culturable microorganisms from a sample has been estimated to 0.001-1% depending on their origin [80]. In turn, more than 99% of the biodiversity escaped our efforts to identify them for biocatalytic applications. After the 1990s, two new strategies have been developed to include the plethora of "non-culturable" biodiversity in biocatalysis: (i) the metagenome approach [81, 82] and (ii) sequence-based discovery. Here, the enormous progress in sequencing technology has led to an exponential increase in the number of sequence data (currently ~40 million sequences in the UniProt database). For instance, the metagenome sequencing of just the biological diversity found in the Sargasso sea [83] and in the Global Ocean Survey project [84] identified 7.3 million new gene sequences, including 1700 new protein families. This rich source of information can be considered as a gold mine, as these genes encode for a plethora of novel and mostly unexplored enzymes useful for biocatalysis for the production of fine chemicals and pharmaceutical building blocks or metabolic engineering of new pathways to produce bulk chemicals or biofuels. In the metagenome approach, the entire genomic DNA from uncultivated microbial consortia (i.e., soil samples) is directly extracted, cloned, and expressed. Next, distinct enzymatic activities are identified by suitable assay methods [85, 86]. The major advantage of this approach is that a large number of new biocatalysts can be found. Phylogenetic analyses have revealed that new subclasses of enzymes can be identified that show a very broad evolutionary diversity, and thus the chance to identify biocatalysts with unique properties is substantially increased. In addition, the enzymes identified are already expressed by recombinant methods and thus in principle available at a large scale. One impressive example was the discovery of >130 novel nitrilases from more than 600 biotopespecific environmental DNA libraries [87] by Diversa Inc. (San Diego, USA), as compared to less than 20 nitrilases known so far, which were isolated by classical cultivation methods. The application of these novel nitrilases in biocatalysis revealed that 27 enzymes afforded mandelic acid in >90% ee in a dynamic kinetic resolution and one nitrilase afforded (R)-mandelic acid in 86% yield and 98% ee. In another example, a nitrilase from this discovery was used to make (R)-4-cyano-3hydroxybutyric acid from 3-hydroxyglutaronitrile, which served as building block for atorvastatin, a major drug sold as Lipitor [88]. The wild-type enzyme was then improved by directed evolution [89], and the process using 3 M substrate $(300 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1})$ was up-scaled by researchers from Dow Chemicals to afford the chiral building block in 98.5% ee in 82% isolated yield [90]. In a more recent contribution, the company BRAINAG (Zwingenberg, Germany) identified a surprisingly large molecular diversity for the well-known serine protease from Bacillus subtilis in Carlsberg [91]. In only four soil samples they were able to find 94 sequences of this protease bearing 38 mutations, equivalent to 2-8 amino acid exchanges per variant. Fifty-one unique protein variants could be functionally expressed in Bacillus subtilis, which also differed in their functionality. Hence, their discovery of coexisting gene variants is a potent source for novel enzyme variants.

In case a novel protein sequence is discovered by the metagenome approach or from genome sequencing, the annotation of a protein function is performed automatically and consequently can lead to misleading interpretations. In a recent example, we took advantage of these errors while trying to identify (R)-selective amine transaminases (ATA) for which no protein sequence was reported in the literature at the time of our study. ATA are pyridoxal-5'-phosphate (PLP)-dependent enzymes catalyzing the synthesis of chiral amines from ketones (in contrast to amino acid transaminases that convert α -keto acid to α -amino acids), and only (S)-selective ATA protein sequences were known at that time. Using a sophisticated search algorithm - based on distinct amino acid motifs of known amino acid transaminases – an alignment of >5000 protein sequences from public database of PLP-dependent transaminases identified 21 new protein sequences (equivalent to a hit rate of 0.5%) [92]. For 17 proteins, it could be confirmed that they all were true ATAs having the predicted (R)-enantio preference and these were then used in the asymmetric synthesis of a set of 12 chiral (*R*)-amines [93]. Another (still only scarcely explored) source for novel enzymes is the Brookhaven protein structure database (www.pdb.org), which contains numerous proteins whose the 3D structure has been deposited but where the proteins were never biochemically characterized. The advantage of this strategy is that the protein structure is known and hence subsequent protein engineering by rational design is substantially facilitated; the disadvantage is that neither the substrates nor suitable reaction conditions are known in such a case and need to be elucidated. Using this approach, we recently identified four (S)-selective ATA in the Protein Database (PDB) and could functionally assign them by biochemical characterization using

a cocktail of potential amino donors and acceptors to identify suitable substrate pairs and by performing the enzymatic reactions at different pH values [94, 95].

2.6.2

Protein Engineering of Enzymes

Once the enzymes are identified for a given application, they usually need to be optimized to meet the requirements of a given process. Protein engineering targets include improved stability at high temperature, at extreme pH, as well as in unconventional media such as organic solvents and at high substrate loadings. Further aims are altered specific activity, selectivity, and broadened substrate scope. For this, two major strategies for the improvement of an enzyme on the amino acid sequence level can be followed: (i) rational protein design, which requires the availability of the three-dimensional structure (or a homology model) necessary to identify type and position for the introduction of appropriate amino acid changes by site-directed mutagenesis, or (ii) directed evolution [96]. Directed evolution emerged in the mid-1990s (also called in vitro or molecular evolution) and essentially comprises two steps: first, random mutagenesis of the gene(s) encoding the enzyme(s), and second identification of desired biocatalyst variants within these mutant libraries by screening or selection. Prerequisites for in vitro evolution are the availability of the gene(s) encoding the enzyme(s) of interest, a suitable (usually microbial) expression system, an effective method to create mutant libraries, and a suitable screening or selection system. Many detailed protocols for this are available from books [85, 97, 98], and updates are given in reviews [99, 100]. These modern tools for protein engineering helped solve the various issues related to the application of enzymes, which have been summarized in a recent review [101] covering more than 40 examples in which enzymes were improved by protein engineering to make pharmaceutical intermediates on a large scale. As stated in that review, one can summarize the major technological achievements made in the last decade: "in the past, an enzyme-based process was designed around the limitations of the enzyme; today, the enzyme is engineered to fit the process specifications."

Probably the most impressive recent example of successful protein engineering is the expansion of the substrate scope of the transaminase ATA-117 to accept ketones with two bulky substituents, as shown in a joint project by Codexis Inc. (Redwood City, USA) and Merck & Co (Rahway, USA) to make the antidiabetic drug sitagliptin (Scheme 2.2). Starting from ATA-117, a close homologue of the wild-type enzyme, which had no detectable activity on the substrate, the first variant provided very low activity (0.2% conversion of $2 g l^{-1}$ substrate using $10 g l^{-1}$ enzyme) towards prositagliptin; the final variant having a ~40 000-fold increased activity converts $200 g l^{-1}$ ketone to sitagliptin with 99.95% ee at 92% yield [102]. The biocatalytic process not only reduced the total wastage and eliminated all transition metals but also increased the overall yield and the productivity (kilogram per liter per day) by 53% compared to the metal-catalyzed process [103]. This chemical process for asymmetric hydrogenation using a transition-metal catalyst



Scheme 2.2 An engineered amine transaminase could replace the earlier chemical process in the large-scale production of the drug sitagliptin [102, 103].

was developed earlier at Merck & Co. The enzyme engineering started with a small ketone substrate, created more space in the active site, and used increasingly larger ketones.

2.6.3 Enzyme Cascade Reactions

Enzymatic cascade reactions are comprised of several consecutive biocatalytic steps toward the final product. Advantages are that no intermittent product isolation is required, unstable intermediates are directly further converted, reversible reactions can be driven to completion, inhibition is reduced or eliminated, investment costs can be lower, wastage is considerably reduced, and higher overall yields can be achieved. This requires, however, the availability of suitable enzymes having similar pH and temperature profiles and preferentially also similar specific activities and stabilities. Usually, the enzymes are recombinantly expressed and used either as whole cell systems or as crude cell extracts for which it must be ensured that no undesired enzyme activities are present from the host's background. Recent reviews provide excellent overviews about the status of this field [104-108], so only a few selected examples are covered below.

One important area is the synthesis of α,ω -dicarboxylic acids, ω -hydroxycarboxylic acids, or ω -aminocarboxylic acids, as these are important starting materials for the synthesis of a variety of chemical products and intermediates such as nylons and other polyamides, polyesters, resins, hot-melt adhesives, powder coatings, corrosion inhibitors, lubricants, plasticizers, greases, and perfumes. For instance, several tens of thousands of tons of sebacic acid (1,10-decanedioic acid), which is produced from ricinoleic acid, is used annually for the preparation of Nylon-6,10. The majority of dicarboxylic acids are made from petrochemical feedstock or fatty acids via chemical routes, although whole-cell biotransformation routes for the preparation of dicarboxylic acids and their precursors ω -hydroxycarboxylic acids have been also reported [109]. For instance, sebacic and azelaic acids can be produced via fermentation of *Candida tropicalis* [110]. However, petrochemical feedstock such as decane and nonane, respectively, are used here as starting materials. Further, the diversity of the products is limited by the availability of the reactants used and the range of

intermediates accepted by the metabolic pathways present in the microorganism C. tropicalis. Recently, a biocatalytic cascade to produce α, ω -dicarboxylic acids and ω-hydroxycarboxylic acids from renewable fatty acids obtained from vegetable oils (e.g., oleic acid, ricinoleic acid) [111, 112] was described. The cascade starts by hydration of the internal double bond of the fatty acid by oleate hydratase followed by enzymatic oxidation of the hydroxyl group to the ketone by an alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH). Based on our earlier discovery that certain Baeyer-Villiger monooxygenases (BVMO) show distinct regioselectivity in the formation of esters from ketones, two different BVMOs could be used for the oxidation of the ketone into the two regioisomeric esters: the enzyme from *Pseudomonas putida* provides access to ω -hydroxy fatty acids, whereas the BVMO from Pseudomonas fluorescens leads to the formation of an ester. Finally, esterase-catalyzed hydrolysis yields the α,ω -dicarboxylic acid (Scheme 2.3). This made the cascade reaction much more versatile, as two different target products can be easily produced as demonstrated for a variety of fatty acids as starting materials. However, this process has not yet been commercialized. All enzymes could be functionally expressed in E. coli, and the biocatalysis was performed using crude cell extracts [111].



Scheme 2.3 An enzyme cascade reaction to convert unsaturated fatty acids such as oleic acid into ω -hydroxycarboxylic acids or dicarboxylic acids. Cofactors are not shown for clarity [111, 112].

More recently, this enzyme cascade was further extended to yield ω -amino carboxylic acids serving as precursors for polyamide synthesis. For this, the ω -hydroxy carboxylic acid is first oxidized to the corresponding aldehyde using an ADH followed by the formation of the ω -amino carboxylic acid using an ATA [112]. Related concepts have been proposed by other groups: Schrewe *et al.* started directly from fatty acids and used an alkane monooxygenase in a recombinant *E. coli* strain to introduce the terminal aldehyde function,

which is then converted to the amine by an ATA [113]. This process is currently performed on pilot scale to make ω -aminolauric acid. As an alternative, Otte *et al.* described the use of a lipoxygenase and a hydroperoxide lyase to convert linoleic acid into 9-oxononanoic acid or the corresponding ω -aminocarboxylic acid [114]. However, best results were attained when the two enzymes were used in a successive rather than in a one-pot manner. Very recently, we have described a cascade reaction in which cyclohexanol is oxidized to cyclohexanone and then transformed into ε -caprolactone using a mutant of the cyclohexanone monooxygenase from Acinetobacter calcoaceticus (expressed in E. coli). To overcome severe product inhibition, the lactone could be directly oligomerized in an aqueous phase owing to the unique acyltransferase activity of lipase A from Candida antarctica. This allowed the conversion of 200 mM substrate quantitatively into the easy-to-separate oligomer [115] (Scheme 2.4), which then can be used to make the polymer. In parallel, the Kroutil group reported the synthesis of 6-amino-hexanoic acid, a precursor for Nylon 6, also using ε -caprolactone as key intermediate. Here, the lactone was first converted into 6-hydroxy-hexanoic acid methylester using horse liver esterase (HLE) followed by oxidation with a dehydrogenase to the aldehyde and finally transformation into the ω-amine using a transaminase [116] (Scheme 2.4).



Scheme 2.4 Enzyme cascade reactions to afford ε -caprolactone oligomers (top right, [115]) or 6-amino-hexanoic acid (bottom right, [116]), a Nylon 6 precursor, starting from cyclohexanol. In all cases, the required enzymes were recombinantly expressed in

E. coli and whole cell extracts or lyophilized cells were used. ADH: alcohol dehydrogenase, CHMO: cyclohexanone monooxygenase, CAL-A: lipase A from *C. antarctica*, HLE: horse liver esterase, ATA: amine transaminase.

2.6.4 Metabolic Engineering

Although there is a long history of the use of certain yeasts or fungi to produce triglycerides as the so-called single cell oils (SCO or microbial lipids), the strains studied often accumulated high amounts of lipids only in the presence of a large excess of the carbon source and under nitrogen limitation [109, 117]. Nevertheless, microbial biotransformations are especially useful for multistep conversion of triglycerides, fatty acids, or alkanes and the *de novo* synthesis of lipid products. Modern metabolic engineering and synthetic biology tools now allow the creation of recombinant microorganisms designed to synthesize a

broad set of useful compounds [118]. As pointed out previously, these concepts especially take advantage of the huge number of genome and protein sequences available in public databases, and this vast source of information enables the identification of novel enzymes with distinct function and selectivity required for tailoring biosynthetic pathways. Numerous examples for successful metabolic engineering can be found in literature, with the microbial synthesis of 1,3-propane diol as one of the first successful large-scale productions [119]. In addition to this diol for polymer synthesis, also the metabolic engineering of *E. coli* to produce 1,4-butane diol at up to $18 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ has been reported [120]. Also, the improvement of the production of amino acids such as Glu, Lys, or Ser using engineered *Corynebacterium glutamicum* strains has been reported [121].

More recently, scientists at DuPont (Wilmington, USA) have established a pathway to produce eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) in the oleaginous yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* [122]. This provides an alternative supply of this important ω 3-PUFA (poly unsaturated fatty acid) simply by fermentation instead of extraction from fish oil or other less abundant sources. The engineered strain produces EPA at 15% cell dry weight, and within the lipid fraction EPA accounts to 56.6% of the total fatty acids, which contained only 5% saturated fatty acids. Key to success was the introduction of nine different chimeric genes into the yeast and, of these, a Δ 17-desaturase showing high activity in the conversion of arachidonic acid into EPA was the most important. Only a mutation of the peroxisome biogenesis gene *PEX10* resulted, however, in the extremely high EPA titers observed with the final production strain [122].

Artemisinin is believed to be the most potent drug against malaria. This natural compound is produced by the plant *Artemisia annua*, but this natural resource does not provide sufficient amounts of the drug to treat the many million people affected by malaria. The chemical total synthesis is highly complicated, requires numerous steps, and results in low overall yields. Researchers of the Keasling group have thus developed a highly impressive metabolic engineering approach to establish the biosynthetic pathway to the advanced intermediate artemisinic acid in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Scheme 2.5). The current fermentation



Scheme 2.5 Artemisinic acid (box) production pathway in an engineered *S. cerevisiae* strain [123]. The last step to the final product artemisinin is performed chemically. IPP, isopentyl diphosphate; DMAPP, dimethylallyl diphosphate; FPP, farnesyl diphosphate.

process yields titers of $25 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ of artemisinic acid, which is then converted in an efficient and scalable chemical process to artemisinin [123, 124].

These examples demonstrate that metabolic engineering has become mature and enables cost-competitive production of compounds, which had been so far only accessible from natural sources.

2.7 Summary and Conclusions

In early scientific approaches enzymes long remained mysterious things; nevertheless, Berzelius introduced the rational concept of catalysis including enzyme reactions. In early pioneering work, Payen and Persoz isolated and characterized diastase, and established the first industrial enzyme process for starch hydrolysis to produce dextrins in the 1830s. Despite the unknown chemical nature, and even mysterious properties assigned to enzymes and proteins, further practical applications were invented and introduced, for example, Hansen's company producing rennet for cheese making and Takamine being assigned a patent for microbial amylases, applied for starch hydrolysis during the late nineteenth century.

Emil Fischer, from the 1890s onward, investigated in highly sophisticated experiments the stereospecificity of enzymes, and he promoted the assumption of their protein nature. Nevertheless, their chemical and structural nature were subjects of controversial debates until Buchner (during the 1890s) ended the mysteries of "vital forces" and laid the foundations of biochemistry. But even after Sumner's crystallization of urease in 1926, it took years for the acceptance of the protein nature of enzymes.

Even so, technical application expanded, notably for food and beer manufacture. Röhm, who was aware of Buchner's work, pioneered the application of enzymes as a bating agent in 1907, based on a strong market pull in Germany and the United States, and later introduced enzymes for detergent preparations.

The final breakthrough for understanding mechanisms and structure was the X-ray diffraction pattern of crystalline pepsin in 1934, followed by the structural analysis of several enzymes in the 1950s. It provided the basis for a new breakthrough for extended enzyme application, namely immobilization, which was invented at the universities around 1950. Some 20 years later, around 1970, the Bayer and Beecham companies developed the immobilization of PA for the production of 6-APA, and semisynthetic penicillins; it was followed by other highly important processes, such as glucose isomerization.

The continuous interplay between scientific insight, practical application, and economics is obvious with the development of recombinant technologies. They were established using restriction enzymes, which were critical to this technology. In turn, it was these methods that opened the way to the much improved and extended production of enzymes at significantly lower prices. Further, they allowed the design of enzymes by rational approaches or by directed evolution for scientific insight at the molecular level, and for improved properties, such

as process stability and stereoselectivity. This further boosted the application of biocatalysts into new markets, such as the synthesis of advanced pharmaceutical intermediates and many other compounds. Modern biotechnological tools such as metabolic engineering and synthetic biology go a step further and successfully combine many enzymes to make non-natural compounds in a microbial host organism. The significant achievements made here in the last two decades not only allow us to tailor design entire pathways but also, especially, reduce development times substantially.

The role of scientific progress, pioneering technical developments, and economics is obvious from early processes to the remarkable expansion of modern enzyme technology, and the exponential growth of their application since 1950.

Acknowledgment

We are grateful to Ulrich Behrendt (former Roche) for information concerning diagnostic enzymes.

Abbreviations

6-APA	6-aminopenicillanic acid
GBF	Gesellschaft für Biotechnologische Forschung, Braunschweig
	(Germany) (today HZI, Helmholz-Zentrum für Infektionsforschung)
PA	penicillin amidase (also penicillin acylase)
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
t-PA	tissue plasminogen activator

References

- Neidleman, S.L. (1991) Enzymes in the food industry – A backward glance. *Food Technol.*, 45, 88–91.
- 2 Sumner, J.B. and Myrbäck, K. (1950) *The Enzymes*, Academic Press, New York, vol. 1, pp. 1–27.
- 3 Sumner, J.B. and Somers, G.F. (1953) Chemistry and Methods of Enzymes, Academic Press, New York.
- 4 Tauber, H. (1949) *The Chemistry and Technology of Enzymes*, Wiley, New York.
- 5 Buchholz, K. and Poulson, P.B. (2000) Introduction, History, in Applied Biocatalysis (eds A. Straathof and P. Adlercreutz) Harwood Academic Publishers, Amsterdam.

- 6 Buchholz, K. and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2005) Highlights in biocatalysis – Historical landmarks and current trends. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 5, 309–323.
- 7 Buchholz, K. and Collins, J. (2013) The roots – A short history of industrial microbiology and biotechnology. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **97**, 3747–3762.
- 8 Buchholz, K. and Collins, J. (2010) Concepts in Biotechnology History, Science and Business, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- 9 Bud, R. (1994) The Uses of Life: A History of Biotechnology, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- 10 Payen, A. and Persoz, J.F. (1833) Mémoire sur la diastase, les principaux produits de ses réactions, et leurs

applications aux arts industriels. *Ann. Chim. Phys. 2me. Série*, **53**, 73–92.

- 11 Payen, A. (1874) in Handbuch der technischen Chemie. Nach A. Payens Chimie industrielle (eds F. Stohmann and C. Engler) Vol. II, Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart.
- 12 Dobell, M.H. (1869) Action du pancréas sur les graisses ei sur l'amidon. *Bull.* Soc. Chim. Paris, 506.
- 13 Knapp, F. (1847) Lehrbuch der chemischen Technologie Vol. 2, F. Vieweg und Sohn, Braunschweig.
- 14 Wagner, R. (1857) *Die chemischeTechnologie*, O. Wiegand, Leipzig.
- 15 Ost, H. (1900) Lehrbuch der Chemischen Technologie, Gebrüder Jännecke, Hannover.
- 16 Kühne, W. (1877) Ueber das Verhalten verschiedener organisierter und sog Ungeformter Fermente. (On the behaviour of different organized and so-called unformed ferments). *Verhandlungen des Naturhistorische-Medicinischen Vereins*, 1, 190.
- 17 Fischer, E. (1894) Einfluss der Konfiguration auf die Wirkung der Enzyme I. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 27, 2985.
- 18 Fischer, E. (1909) Einfluß der Konfiguration auf die Wirkung der Enzyme. Untersuchungen über Kohlenhydrate und Fermente, Springer, Berlin.
- Buchner, E. (1897) Alkoholische G\u00e4rung ohne Hefezellen. *Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges.*, 30, 117–124.
- 20 Buchner, E. (1898) Über zellfreie Gährung. Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 31, 568–574.
- 21 Florkin, M. (1975) The discovery of cell free fermentation, in A History of Biochemistry, Comprehensive Biochemistry Vol. 31 (eds M. Florkin and E.M. Stolz), Elsevier Scientific Publishing Company, Amsterdam, pp. 23–37.
- 22 Buchner, E. and Rapp, R. (1898) Alkoholische G\u00e4hrung ohne Hefezellen. *Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges.*, **31**, 209–217; 1084–1090; 1090–1094.
- 23 Neumeister, R. (1897) Bemerkungen zu Eduard Buchner's Mittheilungen über "Zymase". Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges., 30, 2963–2966.
- 24 Bechamp (1897) Extrait des proces-Verbaux. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr., 17, 769.

- 25 Fruton, J.S. (1979) *Early Theories of Protein Structure*, New York Academy of Sciences, New York.
- 26 Uhlig, H. (1991) *Enzyme arbeiten für uns*, Hanser Verlag Munich.
- 27 Ullmann, F. (1914) *Enzyklopädie der technischen Chemie Vol. 5*, Urban und Schwarzenberg, Berlin.
- 28 Trommsdorf, E. (1976) Dr. Otto Röhm – Chemiker und Unternehmer, Econ, Düsseldorf.
- 29 Micheel, F. and Ewers, J. (1949) Synthese von Verbindungen der Cellulose mit Eiweißstoffen. *Makromol. Chem.*, 3, 200–249.
- 30 Grubhofer, N. and Schleith, L. (1953) Modifizierte Ionenaustauscher als spezifische Adsorbentien. *Naturwis-senschaften*, 40, 508.
- 31 Manecke, G. and Gillert, K.-E. (1955) Serologisch spezifische Adsorbentien. Naturwissenschaften, 42, 212–213.
- **32** Weetall, H.H. and Royer, G.P. (eds) (1976), Enzyme Engineering. Plenum Press, New York.
- 33 Buchholz, K. (1979) in *Characterization of Immobilized Biocatalysts in* DECHEMA Monograph *Vol.* 84 (ed. K. Buchholz), Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp. 1–48.
- 34 Buchholz, K. and Klein, J. (1987) Characterization of immobilized biocatalysts, in *Methods in Enzymology Vol. 135* (ed. K. Mosbach), Academic Press, New York, pp. 3–21.
- 35 Mosbach, K. (ed.) (1987) Immobilized Cells and Enzymes, Part B Vol. 135, Academic Press, New York.
- 36 Silman, I.H. and Katchalski, E. (1966) Water-insoluble derivatives of enzymes, antigens, and antibodies. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 35, 873–908.
- 37 Buchholz, K., Kasche, V., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2012) *Biocatalysts and Enzyme Technology*, 2nd edn, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- 38 Tosa, T., Mori, T., Fusa, N., and Chibata, I. (1969) Studies on continuous enzyme reactions. *Agric. Biol. Chem.*, 33, 1047–1056.
- 39 Sakaguchi, K. and Murao, S. (1950) A new enzyme, penicillin-amidase. *Nippon Nogei Kagaku Kaishi*, 23, 411.

- 42 2 Enzyme Technology: History and Current Trends
 - 40 Kaufmann, W. and Bauer, K. (1960) Enzymatische Spaltung und Resynthese von Penicillin. *Naturwissenschaften*, 47, 474–475.
 - 41 Bud, R. (2007) *Penicillin: Triumph and Tragedy*, Oxford University Press.
 - 42 Kaufmann, W. and Bauer, K. (1959) Verfahren zur Herstellung von 6-Aminopenicillansäure. Germany Patent DE1111778, Bayer AG.
 - 43 Rolinson, G.N., Batchelor, F.R., Butterworth, D., Cameron-Wood, J., Cole, M., Eustace, G.C., Hart, M.V., Richards, M., and Chain, E.B. (1960) Formation of 6-aminopenicillanic acid from penicillin by enzymatic hydrolysis. *Nature*, 187, 236–237.
 - 44 Huang, H.T., Seto, T.A., and Shull, G.M. (1963) Distribution and substrate specificity of benzylpenicillin acylase. *Appl. Microbiol.*, 11, 1–6.
 - 45 Bruggink, A. (2001) Synthetics of β-Lactam Antibiotics, Kluwer Academic Publ., Dordrecht.
 - 46 Hüper, F. (1973) Immobilized penicillin acylase. German Patent DE2157972, Bayer AG.
 - Hüper, F., Rauenbusch, E., Schmidt-Kastner, G., and Bömer, B. (1972) Neue wasserunlösliche Proteinpräparate. German Patent DE2215687, Bayer AG.
 - 48 Borchert, A. and Buchholz, K. (1984) Improved biocatalyst effectiveness by controlled immobilization of enzymes. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 26, 727–736.
 - 49 Carleysmith, S.W., Dunnill, P., and Lilly, M.D. (1980) Kinetic behavior of immobilized penicillin acylase. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 22, 735–756.
 - 50 Poulsen, P.B. (1984) Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews Vol. 1, Intercept Inc., Newcastle upon Tyne.
 - 51 Liese, A., Seelbach, K., and Wandrey, C. (eds) (2006) *Industrial Biotransformations*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
 - 52 Bornscheuer, U.T., Buchholz, K., and Seibel, J. (2014) Enzymatic degradation of (ligno-)celluloses. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 53, 10876–10893.
 - Ladisch, M.R., Dale, B.E., and Tsao, G.T. (1983) Symposium on fuels and chemicals from biomass. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 25, 1–2.

- 54 Ghose, T.K. (1987) Measurement of cellulase activities. *Pure Appl. Chem.*, 59, 257–268.
- 55 Buchholz, K., Rapp, P., and Zadrazil, F. (1984) Methods of enzymatic analysis, in *Methods of Enzymatic Analysis* (ed. H.-U. Bergmeyer), Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp. 178–188.
- 56 Cooney, C.L., Wang, D.I.C., Wang, S., Gordon, J., and Jiminez, M. (1987) Simultaneous cellulose hydrolysis and ethanol production by a cellulolytic anaerobic bacterium. *Biotechnol. Bioeng. Symp.*, 8, 49.
- 57 Buchholz, K., Puls, J., Gödelmann, B., and Dietrichs, H.V. (1980/1981) Hydrolysis of cellulosic wastes. *Process Biochem.*, Dec./Jan., 37–43.
- 58 Demain, A.L., Vandamme, E., Collins, J., and Buchholz, K. (2016/2017) History of industrial biotechnology, in: *Wiley Biotechnology Series Vol. 1* (eds S. Lee, J. Nielsen, and G. Stephanopoulos), Wiley, New York.
- **59** Kornberg, A. (1995) *The Golden Helix,* University Science Books, Sausalito.
- 60 Hedgpeth, J., Goodman, H.M., and Boyer, H.W. (1972) DNA nucleotide sequence restricted by the RI endonuclease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 69, 3448–3452.
- 61 Cohen, S.N. (2013) DNA cloning: A personal view after 40 years. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **110**, 15521–15529.
- 62 Lear, J. (1978) *Recombinant DNA: The Untold Story*, Crown Publishers, New York.
- 63 Kornberg, A., Lehman, I.R., Bessman, M.J., and Simms, E.J. (1956) Enzymic synthesis of deoxyribonucleic acid, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.*, 21, 197–198.
- 64 Baltimore, D. (1970) RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of RNA tumour viruses. *Nature*, 226, 1209–1211.
- 65 Temin, H.M. and Mizutani, S. (1970) RNA-dependent DNA polymerase in virions of Rous sarcoma virus. *Nature*, 226, 1211–1213.
- 66 Thayer, A.M. (2015) Genome editing writ large. *Chem. Eng. News* September 7, 14–20.

- 67 C&EN (2015) CRIPR/Cas9 gene editing. *Chem. Eng. News* Supplement, September 2015, 26.
- 68 Erickson, B.E. (2015) Altering the Code of Life. *Chem. Eng. News* June 29, 20, 21.
- 69 Roche (2003) *Communication, Roche Diagnostics.*
- 70 Buckel, P. and Zehelein, E. (1981) Expression of *Pseudomonas fluoresdens* D-galactose dehydogenase in *E. coli. Gene*, 16, 149–155.
- 71 Buckel, P. (1989) Zwölf Jahre Gentechnik bei Boehringer Mannheim. Boehringer Mannheim Kreis, 4–17.
- 72 Schumacher, G., Hilscher, W., Möllering, H., Seidel, J., and Buckel, P. (1989) Enzymatische Analyse in der klinischen Diagnostik. *Biotech. Forum*, 6, 14–18.
- 73 Mullis, K.B. (1990) The unusual origin of the polymerase chain reaction. *Sci. Am.*, 262, 56–61.
- 74 Böck, A., Wirth, R., Schmid, G., Schumacher, G., Lang, G., and Buckel, P. (1983) The penicillin acylase from *Escherichia coli* ATCC 11105 consists of two dissimilar subunits. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, 20, 135–139.
- 75 Mattes, R. and Beaucamp, K. (1983) DNA-Neukombination: eine praktische Anwendung in der Zuckerindustrie. *Chem. Unserer Zeit*, 17, 54–58.
- 76 Mayer, H., Collins, J., and Wagner, F. (1980) Cloning of the penicillin G-acylase gene of *Escherichia coli* ATCC 11105 on multicopy plasmids, in *Enzyme Engineering* (eds H.H. Weetall and G.P. Royer), Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 61–69.
- 77 Bruns, W., Hoppe, J., Tsai, H., Brüning, H.J., Maywald, F., Collins, J., and Mayer, H. (1985) Structure of penicillin acylase gene from *Escherichia coli*: A periplasmic enzyme that undergoes multiple proteolytic processing. *J. Mol. Appl. Genetics*, **3**, 36–44.
- 78 Bommarius, A.S. and Riebel, B.R. (2004) *Biocatalysis*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- 79 Ogawa, J. and Shimizu, S. (2002) Industrial microbial enzymes: Their discovery by screening and use in large-scale production of useful chemicals in Japan. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **13**, 367–375.

- 80 Lorenz, P., Liebeton, K., Niehaus, F., and Eck, J. (2002) Screening for noval enzymes for biocatalytic processes: Accessing the metagenome as a resource of noval functional sequence space. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 13, 572–577.
- 81 Handelsman, J. (2005) Sorting out metagenomes. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 23, 38–39.
- 82 Lorenz, P. and Eck, J. (2005) Metagenomics and industrial applications. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, 3, 510–516.
- 83 Venter, J.C., Remington, K., Heidelberg, J.F., Halpern, A.L., Rusch, D., Eisen, J.A., Wu, D., Paulsen, I., Nelson, K.E., Nelson, W., Fouts, D.E., Levy, S., Knap, A.H., Lomas, M.W., Nealson, K., White, O., Peterson, J., Hoffman, J., Parsons, R., Baden-Tillson, H., Pfannkoch, C., Rogers, Y., and Smith, H.O. (2004) Environmental genome shotgun sequencing of the sargasso sea. *Science*, **304**, 66–74.
- 84 Rusch, D.B., Halpern, A.L., Sutton, G., Heidelberg, K.B., Williamson, S., Yooseph, S., Wu, D., Eisen, J.A., Hoffman, J.M., Remington, K., Beeson, K., Tran, B., Smith, H., Baden-Tillson, H., Stewart, C., Thorpe, J., Freeman, J., Andrews-Pfannkoch, C., Venter, J.E., Li, K., Kravitz, S., Heidelberg, J.F., Utterback, T., Rogers, Y.H., Falcon, L.I., Souza, V., Bonilla-Rosso, G., Eguiarte, L.E., Karl, D.M., Sathyendranath, S., Platt, T., Bermingham, E., Gallardo, V., Tamayo-Castillo, G., Ferrari, M.R., Strausberg, R.L., Nealson, K., Friedman, R., Frazier, M., and Venter, J.C. (2007) The Sorcerer II Global Ocean Sampling expedition: Northwest Atlantic through eastern tropical Pacific. PLoS Biol., 5, e77.
- 85 Arnold, F.H. and Georgiou, G. (eds) (2003) Directed Enzyme Evolution: Screening and Selection Methods, Vol. 230, Humana Press, Totawa.
- 86 Reymond, J.L. (ed.) (2005) *Enzyme* Assays, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- 87 Robertson, D.E., Chaplin, J.A., DeSantis, G., Podar, M., Madden, M., Chi, E., Richardson, T., Milan, A., Miller, M., Weiner, D.P., Wong, K., McQuaid, J., Farwell, B., Preston, L.A., Tan, X., Snead, M.A., Keller, M., Mathur, E.,

Kretz, P.L., Burk, M.J., and Short, J.M. (2004) Exploring nitrilase sequence space for enantioselective catalysis. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **70**, 2429–2436.

- 88 DeSantis, G., Wong, K., Farwell, B., Chatman, K., Zhu, Z., Tomlinson, G., Huang, H., Tan, X., Bibbs, L., Chen, P., Kretz, K., and Burk, M.J. (2003) Creation of a productive, highly enantioselective nitrilase through gene site saturation mutagenesis (GSSM). J. Am. Chem. Soc., 125, 11476–11477.
- 89 DeSantis, G., Zhu, Z., Greenberg, W.A., Wong, K., Chaplin, J., Hanson, S.R., Farwell, B., Nicholson, L.W., Rand, C.L., Weiner, D.P., Robertson, D.E., and Burk, M.J. (2002) An enzyme library approach to biocatalysis: Development of nitrilases for enantioselective production of carboxylic acid derivatives. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **124**, 9024–9025.
- 90 Bergeron, S., Chaplin, D.A., Edwards, J.H., Ellis, B.S.W., Hill, C.L., Holt-Tiffin, K., Knight, J.R., Mahoney, T., Osborne, A.P., and Ruecroft, G. (2006) Nitrilasecatalysed desymmetrisation of 3hydroxyglutaronitrile: Preparation of a statin side-chain intermediate. Org. Process Res. Dev., 10, 661–665.
- 91 Gabor, E., Niehaus, F., Aehle, W., and Eck, J. (2012) Zooming in on metagenomics: Molecular microdiversity of Subtilisin Carlsberg in soil. *J. Mol. Biol.*, 418, 16–20.
- 92 Höhne, M., Schätzle, S., Jochens, H., Robins, K., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2010) Rational assignment of key motifs for function guides *in silico* enzyme identification. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, 6, 807–813.
- **93** Schätzle, S., Steffen-Munsberg, F., Thotowi, M., Höhne, M., Robins, K., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2011) Enzymatic asymmetric synthesis of enantiomerically pure aliphatic, aromatic and arylaliphatic amines with (*R*)-selective amine transaminases. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, **353**, 2439–2445.
- 94 Steffen-Munsberg, F., Vickers, C., Thontowi, A., Schätzle, S., Meinhardt, T., Svedendahl Humble, M., Land, H., Berglund, P., Bornscheuer, U.T., and Höhne, M. (2012a) Revealing the

structural basis of promiscuous amine transaminase activity. *ChemCatChem*, **5**, 154–157.

- 95 Steffen-Munsberg, F., Vickers, C., Thontowi, A., Schätzle, S., Tumlirsch, T., Svedendahl Humble, M., Land, H., Berglund, P., Bornscheuer, U.T., and Höhne, M. (2012) Connecting unexplored protein crystal structures to enzymatic function. *ChemCatChem*, 5, 150–153.
- 96 Bornscheuer, U.T. and Pohl, M. (2001) Improved biocatalysts by directed evolution and rational protein design. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, 5, 137–143.
- 97 Arnold, F.H. and Georgiou, G. (eds) (2003) Directed Evolution Library Creation: Methods and Protocols, Vol. 231, Humana Press, Totawa.
- 98 Brakmann, S. and Schwienhorst, A. (eds) (2004) Evolutionary Methods in Biotechnology: Clever Tricks for Directed Evolution, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- 99 Davids, T., Schmidt, M., Böttcher, D., and Bornscheuer, U. (2013) Strategies for the discovery and engineering of enzymes for biocatalysis. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, 17, 215–220.
- 100 Reetz, M.T. (2011) Laboratory evolution of stereoselective enzymes: A prolific source of catalysts for asymmetric reactions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, **50**, 138–174.
- 101 Bornscheuer, U.T., Huisman, G.W., Kazlauskas, R.J., Lutz, S., Moore, J.C., and Robins, K. (2012) Engineering the third wave of biocatalysis. *Nature*, 485, 185–194.
- 102 Savile, C.K., Janey, J.M., Mundorff, E.C., Moore, J.C., Tam, S., Jarvis, W.R., Colbeck, J.C., Krebber, A., Fleitz, F.J., Brands, J., Devine, P.N., Huisman, G.W., and Hughes, G.J. (2010) Biocatalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral amines from ketones applied to sitagliptin manufacture. *Science*, **329**, 305–309.
- 103 Desai, A.A. (2011) Sitagliptin manufacture: A compelling tale of green chemistry, process intensification, and industrial asymmetric catalysis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, **50**, 1974–1976.
- 104 Garcia-Junceda, E. (ed.) (2008) *Multi-Step Enzyme Catalysis*, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- 105 Köhler, V. and Turner, N. (2015) Artificial concurrent catalytic processes involving enzymes. *Chem. Commun.*, 51, 450–464.
- 106 Muschiol, J., Peters, C., Oberleitner, N., Mihovilovic, M.D., Bornscheuer, U.T., and Rudroff, F. (2015) Cascade catalysis – Strategies and challenges en route to preparative synthetic biology. *Chem. Commun.* 51, 5798–5811. doi: 10.1039/C1034CC08752F
- 107 Oroz-Guinea, I. and Garcia-Junceda, E. (2013) Enzyme catalysed tandem reactions. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, 17, 236–249.
- 108 Ricca, E., Brucher, B., and Schrittwieser, J.H. (2011) Multi-enzymatic cascade reactions: Overview and perspectives. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 353, 2239–2262.
- 109 Schörken, U. and Kempers, P. (2009) Lipid biotechnology: Industrially relevant production processes. *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol.*, 111, 627–645.
- 110 Kroha, K. (2004) Industrial biotechnology provides opportunities for commercial production of new long-chain dibasic acids. *Inform*, **15**, 568–571.
- 111 Song, J.W., Jeon, E.Y., Song, D.H., Jang, H.Y., Bornscheuer, U.T., Oh, D.K., and Park, J.B. (2013) Multistep enzymatic synthesis of long-chain α,ω-dicarboxylic and ω-hydroxycarboxylic acids from renewable fatty acids and plant oils. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, **52**, 2534–2537.
- 112 Song, J.W., Lee, J.H., Bornscheuer, U.T., and Park, J.B. (2014) Microbial synthesis of medium chain α,ω-dicarboxylic acids and ω-aminocarboxylic acids from renewable long chain fatty acids. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, **356**, 1782–1788.
- 113 Schrewe, N.L., Bühler, B., and Schmid, A. (2013) Direct terminal alkylaminofunctionalization via multistep biocatalysis in one recombinant wholecell catalyst. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 355, 1693–1697.
- 114 Otte, K.B., Kirtz, M., Nestl, B.M., and Hauer, B. (2013) Synthesis of 9oxononanoic acid, a precursor for biopolymers. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 6, 2149–2156.
- 115 Schmidt, S., Scherkus, C., Muschiol, J., Menyes, U., Winkler, T., Hummel, W., Gröger, H., Liese, A., Herz, H.-G., and

Bornscheuer, U.T. (2015) An enzyme cascade synthesis of ε -caprolactone and its oligomers. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* doi: 10.1002/anie.201410633

- Sattler, J.H., Fuchs, M., Mutti, F.G., Grischek, B., Engel, P., Pfeffer, J., Woodley, J.M., and Kroutil, W. (2014) Introducing an *in situ* capping strategy in systems biocatalysis to access 6-aminohexanoic acid. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 53, 14153–14157.
- 117 Ratledge, C. and Cohen, Z. (2008) Microbial and algal oils: Do they have a future for biodiesel or as commodity oils? *Lipid Technol.*, 20, 155–160.
- 118 Bornscheuer, U.T. (2011) Can synthetic biology/metabolic engineering contribute to the microbial production of triglycerides and oleochemicals? *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol.*, 113, 1075–1076.
- 119 Nakamura, C.E. and Whited, G.M. (2003) Metabolic engineering for the microbial production of 1,3-propanediol. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 14, 454–459.
- Yim, H., Haselbeck, R., Niu, W., Pujol-Baxley, C., Burgard, A., Boldt, J., Khandurina, J., Trawick, J.D., Osterhout, R.E., Stephen, R., Estadilla, J., Teisan, S., Schreyer, H.B., Andrae, S., Yang, T.H., Lee, S.Y., Burk, M.J., and Van Dien, S. (2011) Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for direct production of 1,4-butanediol. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, 7, 445-452.
- 121 Sahm, H., Eggeling, L., and de Graaf, A.A. (2000) Pathway analysis and metabolic engineering in *Corynebacterium glutamicum. Biol. Chem.*, 381, 899–910.
- Xue, Z., Sharpe, P.L., Hong, S.P., Yadav, N.S., Xie, D., Short, D.R., Damude, H.G., Rupert, R.A., Seip, J.E., Wang, J., Pollak, D.W., Bostick, M.W., Bosak, M.D., Macool, D.J., Hollerbach, D.H., Zhang, H., Arcilla, D.M., Bledsoe, S.A., Croker, K., McCord, E.F., Tyreus,

46 2 Enzyme Technology: History and Current Trends

B.D., Jackson, E.N., and Zhu, Q. (2013) Production of omega-3 eicosapentaenoic acid by metabolic engineering of *Yarrowia lipolytica. Nat. Biotechnol.*, **31**, 734–740.

123 Paddon, C.J., Westfall, P.J., Pitera, D.J., Benjamin, K., Fisher, K., McPhee, D., Leavell, M.D., Tai, A., Main, A., Eng, D., Polichuk, D.R., Teoh, K.H., Reed, D.W., Treynor, T., Lenihan, J., Fleck, M., Bajad, S., Dang, G., Dengrove, D., Diola, D., Dorin, G., Ellens, K.W., Fickes, S., Galazzo, J., Gaucher, S.P., Geistlinger, T., Henry, R., Hepp, M., Horning, T., Iqbal, T., Jiang, H., Kizer, L., Lieu, B., Melis, D., Moss, N., Regentin, R., Secrest, S., Tsuruta, H., Vazquez, R., Westblade, L.F., Xu, L., Yu, M., Zhang, Y., Zhao, L., Lievense, J., Covello, P.S., Keasling, J.D., Reiling, K.K., Renninger, N.S., and Newman, J.D. (2013) Highlevel semi-synthetic production of the potent antimalarial artemisinin. *Nature*, **496**, 528–532.

- 124 Ro, D.K., Paradise, E.M., Ouellet, M., Fisher, K.J., Newman, K.L., Ndungu, J.M., Ho, K.A., Eachus, R.A., Ham, T.S., Kirby, J., Chang, M.C., Withers, S.T., Shiba, Y., Sarpong, R., and Keasling, J.D. (2006) Production of the antimalarial drug precursor artemisinic acid in engineered yeast. *Nature*, 440, 940–943.
- 125 Cooney, C.L., Wang, D.I.C., Wang, S.D., Gordon, J., and Jiminez, M. (1978). Simultaneous cellulose hydrolysis and ethanol production by a cellulolytic anaerobic bacterium. *Biotechnol. Bioeng. Symp. 8.*

Maria Elena Ortiz-Soto and Jürgen Seibel

3.1 Introduction

More than a half-century has passed by since the tertiary structure of the first protein was unveiled. In 1958, Kendrew *et al.* obtained the three-dimensional (3D) model of the sperm whale myoglobin by X-ray diffraction [1]: the extraordinary journey into the protein's structure–function relationship had begun.

Up to now, more than 600 genomes of cellular organisms have been fully sequenced, which represents more than 5 million protein sequences added to public databases [2], and structural genomics projects accumulate an increasing number of protein structures. At the time of writing this chapter, more than 100 000 protein structures have been deposited in the Protein Data Bank (http:// www.rcsb.org/pdb/home/home.do) and ~53% correspond to proteins with enzymatic activity. Proteins' 3D structures become relevant since they provide fundamental insights not only into protein functions but also into their evolutionary relationships, improving in this way our understanding of how structure and function relate to each other. Unfortunately, only the structure of less than 1% of known sequences has been elucidated either by X-ray crystallography or nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) techniques [2], and protein structure determination is still considered as a challenging, expensive, and time-consuming task. Therefore, over the last decades several disciplines have converged attempting to improve the predictive tools that may finally lead to the finding of the Holy Grail of structural chemical biology, namely the accurate prediction of structure and function from an amino acid sequence, although such goal may still be far from being met [3].

Understanding the molecular bases that govern protein structure and how structure associates with function is of highest importance for the design of better and novel proteins that are required to expand the range of enzyme-based biotechnological and biocatalytic processes [4, 5].

Enzymes are currently applied in paper and textile manufacturing, food and beverage production [6], diagnosis, cleaning [7], and the synthesis of biological

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

active compounds and fine chemicals [8]. However, the scope for potential applications is enormous, and engineered enzymes may find application in fields such as functional biohybrid nanomaterials and the catalysis of non-natural reactions [9, 10].

The advantages offered by enzymes over their chemical counterparts are well known; however, the widespread use of enzymes in the synthesis of organic compounds is still prevented by insufficient substrate specificity, a limited substrate range, lack of enantio-selectivity, low catalytic activity, low thermal stability, and limited tolerance to organic solvents [11]. While the performance of an enzyme under mild or harsh conditions is dependent on the particular case, natural biocatalysts are often not suitable for chemical transformations that are interesting for biotechnological applications without undergoing redesign at different levels. Furthermore, there are several reactions for which no enzymatic synthesis has yet been reported. Engineered enzymes are then relevant for enzyme-based synthetic processes aiming to obtain faster and more stable biocatalysts either to compete with already established chemical transformations or to achieve efficient synthesis of molecules that are difficult to produce by other means. Molecular evolution has shown that modifying the amino acid sequence of a protein through mutation or/and recombination may result in new folds and/or functions [12]. Thus, over the last years a number of methods have been developed to generate protein variability, along with improved computational tools focused on protein design and analysis. This chapter aims to provide an overview of the different approaches for the design, redesign, and identification of enzymes with improved or new functionalities. Among the vast number of enzymes that have been improved over the last years, we chose industrially relevant biocatalysts such as lipases, cellulases, and the cytochrome P450 to demonstrate the applicability of different protein engineering approaches.

3.2

Protein Engineering: An Expanding Toolbox

Enzymes are attractive biocatalysts because of their inherent properties such as reaction, substrate, and regio and stereo specificity. Although enzymes are highly selective regarding their catalyzed reaction and the type of substrate they recognize, secondary (often inefficient) or barely related reactions may also take place because of the reactive nature of their catalytic sites [13, 14]. Secondary reactions are frequently sought as the starting point to develop enzymes with improved activity toward non-native substrates and are considered a key feature for evolvability [14–16], as exemplified by the evolution of a weak, promiscuous lactonase into an extremely efficient organophosphate hydrolase [17] and the 200-fold improved chlorohydrolase activity of a melamine deaminase [16, 18].

Catalytic activity may also emerge from noncatalytic protein scaffolds, and new functions have been created combining *in silico* design and laboratory evolution. The synthesis of sitagliptin (an antihyperglycemic drug) in the gram scale involving a transaminase bearing 27 mutations is a remarkable example of such a strategy. Under optimal conditions, $200 \, g \, l^{-1}$ prositagliptin ketone is converted to sitagliptin of >99.95% ee, which exceeds by 10-13% the overall yield and by 53% the productivity of the rhodium-catalyzed process, with a concomitant 19% reduction in the total generated waste [19]. Over the last years, a number of methods have been developed aiming to expand the enzyme's functional range, along with computational tools focused on protein design and analysis. Some of these approaches will be described in the next sections.

3.2.1

From Sequence to Fold and Function

Assigning function to proteins from their sequence is still a challenge in the post-genomic era. Genomic and metagenomics projects deliver a vast amount of information as a resut of the fast development of high-throughput sequencing technologies; however, biochemical characterization of proteins and elucidation of their 3D structure generally proceed slower than the release of new protein sequences. Bioinformatics tools are frequently used in parallel to experimental methods for the prediction of protein structure, function, and target positions for mutagenesis ("hotspots"), the most common approaches being those based on sequence and structural similarity.

Bioinformatics tools aim to annotate function to genes and their products based on sequence homology and non-homology methods. FASTA [20] and the Basic Local Alignment and Search Tool (BLAST) [21], for instance, identify local similarity between homologous sequences from nucleotide and protein databases. However, assigning function to newly sequenced proteins that do not share apparent sequence or structural similarity with already characterized ones requires methods that use local structure similarity or distantly related proteins [22–24].

Structure prediction methods provide valuable information for proteins whose structures are not available. Homology modeling is currently the most accurate approach for obtaining all-atom models of proteins with unknown 3D structure. According to the last biannual Critical Assessment of Protein Structure Prediction (CASP) evaluation, some of the platforms that generate reliable protein models are Iterative Threading ASSEmbly Refinement (I-TASSER) [25], Protein Homology/AnalogY Recognition Engine (PHYRE2) [26], Rosetta [27], IntFOLD [28], and SWISS-MODEL [29]. Rosetta was originally developed for *de novo* structure prediction and, along with other programs, can be used to predict the structure of proteins that do not have a known structural homologue or when determination of their 3D structure is challenging, which is the case of transmembrane proteins, for instance [30].

3.2.2

Improving Enzyme Properties by Rational Design and Directed Evolution

Protein engineering has proven successful in altering the properties of enzymes either through rational design or directed evolution. Rational design relies on

structure- and usually mechanistic-guided predictions about the mutations that may be needed to modify a given enzyme property. In the absence of structural information, such analyses are based on homology models. Although changes at specific positions are easily introduced at the DNA level by site-directed mutagenesis, they may result in protein variants that exhibit the sought property but also show deleterious effects on the enzyme activity or stability. In those cases, the change at one position may require additional fine-tuning at other position(s) to compensate for the loss in activity, substrate affinity, or stability derived from the first mutation. Unfortunately, prediction of additive and/or cooperative effects resulting from simultaneous changes at two or more positions is still difficult. Despite these limitations, the successful design of an impressive number of enzymes through rational approaches is well documented, and some computational tools that allow prediction of, for instance, stabilizing mutations are continuously being developed, evaluated, and improved [31-34].

It may take more than a few changes either to significantly enhance an enzyme's performance or to evolve an enzyme into a non-native function. In this context, directed evolution emerges as a robust method to create enzymes with improved or novel functionalities by mimicking natural selection. In directed evolution experiments, DNA libraries of variants are produced by iterative cycles of diversity generation. The gene of the most improved variant (best hit) of one round is then used as a template for subsequent rounds of mutagenesis, expression, and screening for the sought properties [35, 36], that is, specificity [37-41], activity [42-44], and stability [45-50]. To date, rational and semirational approaches have been followed in directed evolution experiments making use of methods such as error-prone polymerase chain reaction (epPCR), DNA recombination, saturation mutagenesis, and variations of these techniques [51].

Random mutagenesis generates variability by randomly introducing changes over the whole gene, and does not require any prior structural knowledge of the target protein. It has been traditionally used to generate large libraries by methods involving epPCR [52–55] and the use of mutator strains and chemical mutagens [56]. However, random mutagenesis has significant drawbacks, some of them being the mutational and codon bias affecting the composition of the library, the number of deleterious/neutral mutations that are introduced by this technique, and the screening workload. The frequency of beneficial mutations introduced by random mutagenesis is in the order of 10^{-3} , whereas deleterious mutations account about 30% of all mutations [3].

It is imperative to navigate the protein sequence space (the number of variations of that sequence that can possibly exist) efficiently, as the huge number of possible variations that can be generated is often impossible to sample thoroughly. For instance, for a rather small protein of 300 amino acids (considering it only contains the 20 canonical amino acids), the number of combinations that can possibly exist is $\sim 16 \times 10^6$ for only two substitutions [57]. When high-throughput screening is not possible, random approaches may be inefficient.

The number of variants to be screened grows exponentially with the number of modified positions, and very often only a small fraction of the theoretical protein

sequence can be sampled in directed evolution experiments [36]. To circumvent this drawback, different strategies have been proposed to generate "smart" or "focused" libraries over the last years. Semirational and rational approaches aim to improve the libraries' quality (a high frequency of improved enzyme variants and a high degree of improvement of the sought parameter) and variability and to minimize the screening efforts [51]. Semirational or rational design is often assisted by *in silico* analyses to identify a restricted number of "hotspots" to be modified. Algorithms integrating evolutionary, structural, thermodynamic, and functional data have been developed aiming to localize potential "hotspots" and to predict the effects of such changes on the enzyme parameters. Computational toolboxes and molecular methods developed to create focused libraries will be described in the next sections.

3.2.3 Designing Smart Libraries

Saturation mutagenesis is a method that allows the creation of focused libraries by randomizing amino acids at one position or simultaneously at two or more positions in a protein, reducing by this means the sequence space to be explored and the screening efforts [35].

Iterative saturation mutagenesis (ISM) is an approach that combines rational design and combinatorial randomization by focusing on regions or positions that may have an effect on the sought catalytic property. Libraries are designed by randomizing each chosen region (multi-residue sites) or position independently from the other sites. Residues may be mutated by all the standard amino acids (NNK codon degeneracy that involves 32 codons, N: adenine/cytosine/guanine/thymine; K: guanine/thymine) or by a defined amino acid set with desired characteristics (i.e., NDT codon degeneracy that involves 12 codons, D: adenine/guanine/thymine; T: thymine) [51, 58]. The best hit of a given library is then used as a template for another round of saturation mutagenesis at the other chosen sites, and so on. The iterative process continues until the variant with the improved property arises [35, 59]. This approach maximizes the probability of finding improved mutants due to the additive and/or cooperative effects that can be introduced by new mutations in a defined region [26]. SwiftLib is an algorithm reported recently for codon degeneracy optimization while keeping the size of the library within a diversity limit [60].

Selection of the residues to be randomized will depend on the aimed catalytic property. The B-factor iterative test (B-FIT), for instance, can be applied to improve thermostability, thermoresistance to undesired aggregation, or robustness toward hostile organic solvents by targeting highly flexible regions. The approach is based on the B-factor values from a crystallographic structure: the more flexible a region is, the larger will be the B-factor values. Residues characterized by the highest B-factors are chosen for mutagenesis, and the enzyme is then subjected to several rounds of ISM [61, 62].

Framework for Rapid Enzyme Stabilization by Computational Libraries (FRESCO) is another computational-aided approach that predicts a large number of single stabilizing mutations. FRESCO uses the software packages FoldX [33] and Rosettaddg [63] to predict the relative changes in folding free energy $\Delta\Delta G^{\text{Fold}}$ resulting from point mutations and the 3D structures of the corresponding enzyme variants. The Dynamic Disulfide Discovery tool designs disulfide bonds, and the process is followed by *in silico* screening to remove chemically unreasonable mutations and to select the best variants. The best hits are expressed and characterized, and the most stabilizing mutations are combined to obtain highly thermostable enzymes [64]. This process considerably reduces the number of mutants to be experimentally screened, as demonstrated in the stabilization of a limonene epoxide hydrolase [64] and a haloalkane dehalogenase [65], which exhibit >250-fold and 200-fold longer half-lives than the parental enzymes, respectively.

Prediction of Protein Mutant Stability Changes (PoPMuSiC) [31] and the Cologne University Protein Stability Analysis Tool (CUPSAT) [34] are *in silico* methods that allow predictions of the stability free energy changes resulting from single point mutations in proteins on the basis of their 3D structures. PoPMuSiC predicts stability in globular proteins by using a linear combination of statistical potentials whose coefficients depend on the solvent accessibility of the mutated residues. It has been used to identify mutations that stabilize enzymes such as pyruvate formate lyase and feruloyl esterase, as well as other proteins without enzymatic function [31, 66, 67]. CUPSAT uses structural-environment-specific atom potentials and torsion angle potentials to predict the difference in free energy of unfolding between the wild type and the variants and provides information about changes in protein stability derived from 19 possible amino acid substitutions at specific positions [37].

Another powerful and widely used method to enhance the stability of biocatalysts is the data-driven construction of synthetic consensus genes, which does not require any knowledge of structural information [68]. The so-called consensus approach is based on statistical information from homologous sequence alignments and identifies and substitutes specific amino acids at given positions by the most prevalent ones in the consensus. It is thought that consensus mutations are a reversion to ancestral amino acid residues [69], and the rationale behind the method is the assumption that a high frequency of some amino acids at a given position in a multiple alignment correlates with a higher stability, so that a synthetic protein having the most frequent residue at each position should exhibit maximum stability [70]. This method has been successfully applied to improve the stability of several proteins either alone or in combination with other strategies, and its success depends on the phylogenetic diversity of the analyzed sequence data [70–73].

Methods combining computational design and bioinformatics have been applied to control enzyme selectivity and to modify substrate scope, that is, CAST [74], HotSpot Wizard [75], CASCO [76] (Figure 3.1), IPRO [77], and 3DM [78]. The Combinatorial Active-Site Saturation Test (CAST) requires



Figure 3.1 The CASCO approach for designing enantioselective enzymes. Two rounds of *in silico* screening HTMI-MD simulations are included to reduce the occurrence of variants with low-energy structures that allow undesired substrate orientations (see also [76]).

structural 3D information of the target enzyme and can be applied to change stereo/regioselectivity or to modify the substrate scope. It searches for synergistic effects by simultaneously randomizing sets of two or three spatially close amino acids at the catalytic center simultaneously, which generates variants with different combinations of amino acids [74, 79–82].

HotSpot Wizard [75] is a user-friendly bioinformatics tool developed to predict key positions that may influence substrate specificity, activity, or enantioselectivity of enzymes. It is based on structural and evolutionary information obtained from different enzyme, protein, and genome databases, and uses some bioinformatics tools such as CASTp, CAVER (a software tool used for the identification of tunnels and channels in biomolecules [83, 84]), BLAST, and Rate4Site. HotSpot Wizard targets the residues within the active site and those shaping the access tunnels, providing a list of hotspot residues ranked by mutability [75, 85, 86].

CAtalytic Selectivity by COmputational design (CASCO) is a computationalbased strategy to design small mutant libraries for enantioselective enzymes, and was recently published [76]. The method uses the RosettaDesign software and high-throughput molecular dynamic simulations to identify and evaluate the mutations needed to create an active site in which the substrate may bind in the correct orientation to selectively produce only one enantiomer. High-throughput–multiple independent MD (HTMI-MD) simulations screen *in silico* for variants with low-energy structures that allow undesired substrate

orientations and reduce their occurrence. The reactivity and selectivity of the pro-*RR* and pro-*SS* attack are predicted and quantified by using geometric criteria for conformations that approach the transition state structure (near attack conformations, NACs) (Figure 3.1). When applied to identify enantioselective epoxide hydrolases, only 37 variants were experimentally analyzed due to the previous *in silico* screening, which accelerated the discovery of improved variants.

The Iterative Protein Redesign and Optimization (IPRO) approach uses energybased scoring functions to identify mutations in the parental sequences for the redesign of combinatorial protein libraries [77]. Several computational tools made use of the basic IPRO workflow, thus the IPRO suite was developed to share a common modular core of code that allows full integration of such protein engineering methods under a single interface [87]. The suite contains computational tools for the design of binding sites into existing scaffolds [88], novel regions for antigen-binding affinity [89], and improved enzymatic activity [90], as well as a database for antibody structure prediction and a Mutator program for predicting the properties of specific protein mutants [87].

The amount of data submitted to protein, enzyme, genome, and other databases is continuously growing, so software packages that help to handle and analyze such large amounts of information are needed. The bioinformatics tool 3DM (Bio-Prodict), for instance, integrates, and organizes information retrieved from heterogeneous databases allowing pin-point conservation and correlated mutations associated to specific subgroups within a superfamily. 3DM superfamilies group structures with a common structural fold. Since 3DM performs structure-based sequence alignments, it allows the comparison of proteins with sequence identity as low as ~8% [91]. Within this platform, the correlated mutation tool analyzes the coevolution of residues at different positions and creates networks of functionally related residues to be mutated in a coordinated manner [78]. The analysis and use of data retrieved from structure-based alignments restricts the protein sequence space and facilitates the design of short and smart libraries. 3DM has been used to enhance activity, enantioselectivity, and thermostability of different enzymes [92] such as sucrose phosphorylases [93], transaminases [94], and esterases [95-98]. An overview of computational tools that can be utilized for identification and prediction of hotspots is provided elsewhere [99].

3.2.4

In Vivo Continuous Directed Evolution

Continuous direct evolution allows a broader exploration of the sequence space in considerably less time than traditional evolution techniques [100]. A few years ago, Liu's group developed a Phage-Assisted Continuous Evolution (PACE) system that enables the evolution of the T7 RNA polymerase in *Escherichia coli* with minimal human intervention [101]. This system integrates replication, mutation, translation, and selection in a continuous and uninterrupted cycle [100, 102]. The method has also been applied for evolution of proteases [102] and has been modified to allow negative selection [103]. Although PACE results in more than 100 theoretical rounds of evolution per week [101], its application is restricted to proteins related to expression. A review by Badran and Liu covering *in vivo* continuous directed evolution in different systems such as bacterial and eukaryotic cells discusses the advantages, drawbacks, and applicability of these methods [100].

3.2.5

Diversification of Enzyme Functionalities by Recombination

In contrast to site-directed and random mutagenesis, genome rearrangements by recombination and fusion generate hybrid proteins by combining secondary structural elements, which produce enzymes with a range of properties that may or may not be shared by the parents [104]. Engineering chimeric proteins in the laboratory is possible by mimicking natural evolution either by homologous [105, 106] or *illegitimate* recombination [12]. While the former involves closely related sequences, the latter includes nonhomologous or very distant sequences and is supported by model-building and computational design methodologies. An example of how recombination can be used to synthesize custom molecules is provided by modular polyketide synthases (PKS) [107]. A recent paper by Chemler *et al.* [106] describes the generation of functional chimeric forms of large multifunctional PKS enzymes, which were applied in the synthesis of tailor-made macrolactones and macrolides. Although some of the chimeric modular constructs were unstable, there are currently some available approaches that could be applied to improve further designs.

The number of unfolded and nonfunctional chimeras in a library may be reduced by minimizing the level of structural disruption, which is possible by choosing the crossover sections (recombination sites) [108]. Computational programs, such as SCHEMA [109–113] and the recently published Mutagenic Organized Recombination Process by Homologous IN vivo Grouping (MORPHING) [114], can be used to improve the design of functional protein chimeras.

MORPHING is a random domain mutagenesis/recombination method for segments of less than 30 amino acids. While *E. coli* is the most common host for molecular biology experiments, MORPHING takes advantage of the high frequency of homologous recombination in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, allowing a one-pot construction of mutant libraries. Using this method, libraries can be prepared with different mutational loads and can be assembled into the remaining unaltered DNA regions *in vivo* with high fidelity. This strategy has been used for evolution of peroxidases, peroxygenases, and an aryl-alcohol oxidase [114–116].

Another strategy to alter functional properties is circular permutation in which the amino and carboxyl termini of a protein are covalently linked by a peptide linker and new termini are relocated in the protein structure by disruption of a peptide bond [117-120].

A different approach for the rational design of protein chimeras was proposed by the Höcker lab, which is based on a combinatorial assembly of small, intrinsically

stable structural subunits (the smallest stable blocks domains are built of) [121]. The group has developed several folded and functional proteins, which highlights the potential of recombining natural protein subunits with unique properties to create new scaffolds for enzyme design [121-123].

3.3 High-Throughput Screening Systems

Having an appropriate screening methodology is still the bottleneck of direct evolution experiments, although novel and improved methods that explore a higher number of variants have been reported over the last years, for example, microfluidic and flow cytometry screening formats. With such approaches, it is possible to analyze up to 64 million variants (from six fully randomized amino acids) generated by targeted mutagenesis, which is sufficient to considerably change enzyme properties such as activity and selectivity by reshaping the catalytic pocket [124]. Methods based on flow cytometry, such as fluorescence-activated droplet sorting (FADS) [125] and fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS), have been extensively used for screening in directed evolution experiments. They rely on the transduction of a given biological property into quantifiable fluorescent signals by using different proteins, dyes, or probes. Hence, mixtures of samples can thus be sorted according their fluorescence output signal.

Two libraries of mutants of the horseradish peroxidase (HRP) were generated by epPCR and active-site-targeted saturation mutagenesis starting from the wildtype *HRP* gene that was C-terminally fused to the *Aga2* gene. The fusion allowed surface display of the HRP in yeast. Upon transformation of the libraries, single yeast cells and a nonfluorescent substrate were co-encapsulated in emulsion droplets and screened by FADS at the rate of thousands per second. The most active clones from the first generation were mutated again to create a new library of ~10⁷ variants, finding a mutant 12 times faster than the wild type. In general, ~10⁸ individual HRP reactions were screened in only 10 h, using <150 µl of total reagent volume, which was 1000-fold faster than robotic based-screening systems and 1 million times cheaper [126].

Recently, a screening method based on the detection of improved phosphotriesterase mutants from a library containing 5×10^5 epPCR generated clones was reported. Single cell compartmentalization (gel-shell beads, GSBs) was followed by FACS-based screening and selection of ~10⁷ GSBs beads per hour [127]. Briefly, single *E. coli* cells bearing the expressed phosphotriesterase and its encoding plasmid are trapped into water-in-oil emulsion droplets (Figure 3.2a,b). The aqueous solution contains agarose and polyanion alginate, so that a solid bead forms inside the droplet when the temperature is dropped from 30 °C to 4 °C. Droplets also contain the phosphotriesterase substrate and a lysis agent. Once the cells are lysed, the released enzyme reacts with the substrate at 30 °C and subsequently the enzyme is heat-inactivated at 90 °C (Figure 3.2c). After de-emulsification of the system in the presence of the polycation PAH, the



Figure 3.2 Directed evolution in biomimetic gel-shell beads (GSBs). Single E. coli cells expressing the phosphotriesterase (a) are trapped into water-in-oil emulsion droplets that contain the phosphotriesterase substrate and a lysis agent (b). The enzyme reacts (if active) with the substrate at 30°C, releasing a fluorescent product (c). After deemulsification, the GBSs are formed retaining

the enzyme, its encoding plasmid, and the reaction product (d). GBSs are sorted by fluorescence based on the variants' activity (e), and the phosphotriesterase encoding plasmid is recovered after removal of the polyelectrolyte shell by raising the pH (f). Isolated variants are characterized or subjected to further rounds of evolution.

polyanion alginate diffuses at the opposite direction to PAH and a polyelectrolyte complex surrounding the agarose beads is formed. GSBs retain the enzyme, its encoding plasmid, and the reaction fluorescent product, which allows enzyme variants to be selected by FACS based on their activity (Figure 3.2d-f) [127].

A protein-function-independent screening system (not based on activity or specific binding) named Hot-CoFi was applied to 10 proteins having different melting

temperatures and functions, aiming at the identification of more thermostable variants [128]. Hot-CoFi identifies temperature-induced aggregation and unfolding of overexpressed proteins inside the cell. Transformed libraries are plated, and after growth the colonies are transferred to a filter membrane and incubated onto plates containing the inducer for protein expression. Following expression, the plates are incubated at different temperatures $(20-80 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ and the colonies lysed afterwards. The filter membrane allows diffusion of soluble protein onto a nitrocellulose membrane, enabling its detection using a HisProbe-HRP, which specifically detects his-tagged proteins, with strong signals correlating with high solubility. Ninety five percent of the selected clones showed improved stability after one round of mutagenesis, with median stabilization of 9 °C (thermostability was improved by 26.6 °C for the best mutant). Hot-CoFi allows evolution in parallel of several targets with a throughput of up to 100 000 clones per experiment and may be applicable to any protein expressed in colony-forming microorganisms.

Many high-throughput screening methods for catalytic asymmetric synthesis have also been published, such as solid-phase assays [129] and mass spectrometry-based methods [130].

3.4

Engineered Enzymes for Improved Stability and Asymmetric Catalysis

Molecular biology has been successfully applied in the case of a number of enzymes aiming for activity, specificity, and stability improvements with remarkable results in some cases. The thermal and solvent stability of the carbonic anhydrase from *Desulfovibrio vulgaris*, for instance, was dramatically improved by directed evolution, rendering variants that exhibit 4 000 000-fold stability improvement over the parental enzyme, finding thus potential application in industrial carbon capture processes [131]. Among the vast number of enzymes that have been improved over the last years, we chose industrially relevant biocatalysts such as lipases, cellulases, and the monooxygenase cytochrome P450 to demonstrate the applicability of the protein engineering approaches mentioned above.

3.4.1 Stability

Enzyme stability and resistance to organic solvents are two of the most significant parameters to take into consideration when tailoring an enzyme for industrial application or bioremediation. Furthermore, thermostability is usually a desirable parameter in directed evolution experiments since it correlates with mutational robustness [132]. Operating enzymes at high temperatures offers many advantages in bioconversion processes, such as faster reaction rates, higher substrate solubility, increased solvent miscibility, lower solution viscosity, and reduced risk of system contamination [133]. Methods for stabilization include insertion of protein domains into stable scaffolds [134], stabilization of flexible regions, consensus-based approaches, introduction of stabilizing mutations in regions that initiate unfolding, and identification and modification of the active site access tunnels [84].

Cellulases and lipases are two of the most widely used groups of enzymes in biotechnological transformations for which thermal stability is often a requirement. In this section, some examples involving these enzymes are presented.

3.4.1.1 Cellulases

Lignocellulosic materials have a huge potential for the production of biofuels and other biomolecules from nonedible renewable sources. Despite current drawbacks related to the costs, high energy input, and harsh pretreatments required to break down the complex structure of the cell-wall polymers before enzymatic conversion of the substrate into fermentable sugars [135], ethanol production from lignocellulosic materials offers an opportunity to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 90% compared to gasoline [136]. Enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose involves the synergistic action of three main activities: chain-endcleaving cellobiohydrolases (CBH), internal chain cleaving endoglucanases, and β -glucosidases, which hydrolyze soluble short-chain glucooligosaccharides to glucose [136]. To be applied under non-natural industrial environments, these enzymes have to be modified such that their activity and stability meet the process requirements [137]. Thermostability of Cel8A, an endoglucanase produced by the anaerobic thermophilic bacterium Clostridium thermocellum, was enhanced via the consensus approach. A library combining multiple consensus mutations in different combinations was designed following the alignment of sequences from mesophilic bacteria sharing 30%-60% identity. The variant G283P showed an increase in melting temperature (T_m) of 3.5 °C [71]. Introducing this change to a previously reported triple mutant [68] increased the half-life of the enzyme by 14-fold at 85 °C.

In a different approach, the regions that initiate the partial unfolding ("weak spots") of the endoglucanase Cel7B from *Trichoderma reesei* were identified by molecular dynamics (MD) simulation [138]. Local melting temperature was assigned to individual residue pairs, and a total of eight disulfide bonds were designed in the selected regions (lower T_m), all of them enhancing the endoglucanase thermostability. Disulfide bonds enhance the kinetic stability of a protein by increasing the activation energy barrier of unfolding and can also enhance stability by decreasing the entropy of the unfolded state [133]. The best variant showed a T_{50} (the temperature at which 50% of the activity is lost) of 62.8 °C, compared to 54.6 °C of the wild type [138].

Recently, Arnold's group created a highly thermostable endoglucanase derived from a class II endoglucanase Cel5A by combining 16 stabilizing mutations that were identified by using the consensus approach, chimeragenesis (homologous recombination), and various structure-based computational methods. The variant has an optimal temperature 17 °C higher than that of the wild-type enzyme [72]. A synergistic mixture of this enzyme and the engineered thermostable variants of

the fungal CBHs Cel6A and Cel7A [72, 73] hydrolyzes cellulose at 70 °C to produce 3 times more total sugar than the best mixture of the wild-type enzymes at its optimum temperature (60 °C).

FoldX and the consensus approach were used to identify individual mutations present in five homologous fungal CBH I (Cel7A) cellulases that were used as parents to generate stable chimeras by SCHEMA structure guided recombination [73]. FoldX evaluates the effect of a mutation on protein stability ($\Delta\Delta G_{FoldX}$) based on its high-resolution 3D structure using an atomic force field with empirically determined coefficients [33]. The most thermostable chimera has a T_m that is 9.28 °C higher than that of the most stable parent (*Talaromyces emersonii*), which resulted in a 10.8 °C increased optimal temperature and a 50% increased total sugar production from crystalline cellulose.

The β -glucosidase A from *Bacillus polymyxa* was stabilized by introducing ion pairs that were computationally and experimentally designed. The best variant has a $T_{\rm m}$ 15.7 °C higher than that of the mesophilic wild-type enzyme [139].

Xylanases also contribute to the biodegradation of lignocellulosic biomass and are used in biofuels production, as well as in other industrial processes such as pulp bleaching and baking. Based on a 3D model, PoPMuSic was used to identify potential hotspots to stabilize a xylanase from *Aspergillus niger*, and the most flexible region (the first 87 residues of the protein) was randomized by epPCR. Five single variants exhibited higher thermostability, thus these positions were targeted for stepwise ISM evolution. A quintuple mutant showed a 30-fold increase in half-life at 60 °C, and its T_m increased by 17.4 °C due to the mutations' synergistic effects [140]. The thermal stability of other xylanases has also been improved up to 10 times by using a combination of computational tools [141].

3.4.1.2 Lipases

Lipases are members of the α/β -hydrolase fold superfamily and constitute one of the most important groups of enzymes for industrial applications. They catalyze the hydrolysis of long-chain triglycerides at the interface between substrate and water and are used in the food, pharmaceutical, chemical, and detergent industries. *Rhizopus* lipases are widely used in the food industry but they are generally produced by mesophilic organisms and exhibit low thermal stability. The stability of *Rhizopus chinensis* lipase (RCL) was improved after two rounds of epPCR followed by two rounds of DNA shuffling. The mutant library was constructed in *Pichia pastoris* based on the formation of a recombination cassette *in vivo*. The most thermostable variant has a T_m that is 22 °C higher than the parental enzyme and 46 and 23 times longer half-lives at 60 °C and 65 °C, respectively [142]. In a different approach, RCL was stabilized via disulfide bond design at the hinge region of the lid domain based on predictions supported by the "Disulfide by Design" algorithm and a 3D structural model. The variant's half-life increased 11-fold at 60 °C and its T_m by 7 °C [143].

Two hyperthermophilic lipases were designed by recombination of distant sequences from three enzymes that belong to different families within the same superfamily (α/β -hydrolase). The strategy focused on structural modules instead

of flexible loops between domains. The hyperthermophilic carboxylesterase AFEST from *Archaeoglobus fulgidus*, the hyperthermophilic peptidase apAPH from *Aeropyrum pernix* K1, and the mesophilic lipase Lip1 from *Candida rugosa*, which share sequence identities of less than 21%, were used as parental enzymes to create LAf and LAp, the chimeric versions of a lipase/esterase and a lipase/peptidase, respectively. The crossover sections were identified by using the MEME server and the PROMOTIF program. Both chimeras exhibited more than 100-fold increased thermostability at 50 °C when compared to the mesophilic lipase [144].

Candida antarctica lipase B (CalB) is one of the most widely used enzymes in biocatalytic processes. CalB saturation mutagenesis libraries were created for six residues located within 10 Å of its catalytic serine (Figure 3.3) that show high B-factor values and screened for thermostability. L278M and D223G showed higher thermal stability, and therefore the variant L278M was used as a template for ISM at the other five positions. The double mutant L278M/D223G showed the highest thermostability, and ISM at the other four positions did not result in further stabilization. Seven additional residues with the highest B-factor values were also chosen for iterative ISM without any apparent thermostability improvement (Figure 3.3). Analysis of the 3D structure of the double mutant and molecular dynamic MD simulations showed that mutations D223G/L278M increased the active site rigidity, which resulted in a 13-fold increase in half-life at 48 °C and a 12 °C higher T_{50} (after 15 min heat treatment) without affecting the enzyme catalytic efficiency. L278M, D223G, and D223G/L278M also showed better chemical stability than the wild type against urea inactivation. Interestingly, the variants A281F and I285F showed a fivefold activity increase compared to wild-type CalB [145].

Directed evolution has been also used to improve enzymes' stability against pH and solvents. For instance, lipases are promising biocatalysts for biodiesel production by transesterification of triacylglyerol with methanol, but show low tolerance



Figure 3.3 CalB residues selected for iterative saturation mutagenesis (ISM).

to high methanol concentration. A variant of the lipase from Proteus mirabilis with a newly introduced disulfide bond was used as a template to create a library by epPCR. After three rounds of random mutagenesis combined with site-directed recombination, a variant that exhibited 30-fold increased thermal stability was identified. When immobilized, the variant showed improved longevity over several cycles of diesel production when compared to both the parental enzyme and the industrially used Brukholderia cepacia lipase [146].

3.4.2

Asymmetric Biocatalysis

The conversion of an achiral substrate into a chiral product favoring the formation of one of the stereoisomers (asymmetric catalysis) [147] has a preponderant role in synthetic organic chemistry for the production of fine chemicals and chiral pharmaceuticals intermediates.

Aiming to obtain maximum benefit from the use of enzymes in organic synthesis, Turner and O'Reilly proposed the concept of "biocatalytic retrosynthesis," in which the target molecules are disconnected into smaller building blocks based on (i) the availability of biocatalysts, chemical catalysts, and reagents for the bonding forming steps and (ii) the feasibility of enzymatic synthesis of the identified building blocks [148]. The chemoenzymatic synthesis of perindopril (angiotensin 1-conversion enzyme inhibitor) and atorvastatin (Lipitor, a cholesterol-lowering drug with annual sales exceeding \$10 billion), which includes engineered enzymes, illustrates this concept. Therefore, engineered biocatalysts are ideal candidates both for the production of final products and the synthesis of individual synthons to be later incorporated into new enzymatic or chemoenzymatic synthetic routes. Modified enzymes have been applied for asymmetric synthesis, kinetic resolution of racemates, and desymmetrization of prostereogenic compounds [149].

Regio- and stereoselective hydroxylation at a non-activated carbon atom still remains a challenge in classical chemistry, and there are numerous reactions in organic synthesis that cannot be performed by natural enzymes, that is, the isoelectronic carbine transfer to olefins (C-C bond forming reaction) or intramolecular C-H amination [150-153]. Engineered monooxygenases such as cytochrome P450 are now able to perform such reactions, while the native enzymes often show a limited substrate range and poor regio- and stereoselectivity [150]. Cytochrome P450 enzymes catalyze oxidative transformations such as hydroxylation, epoxidation, oxidative ring coupling, heteroatom release, and heteroatom oxygenation [152], and are one of the most engineered systems for asymmetric synthesis [151]. P450-BM3 was modified by CASTing/ISM to achieve regio- and enantioselectivity in the oxidative hydroxylation of cyclohexene-1-carboxylic acid methyl ester 1 (Scheme 3.1a) [154]. Twenty-four residues at and near the active site were chosen for saturation mutagenesis, and the best variant was used as a template in ISM experiments randomizing 3 of the 24 selected residues. While wild-type





selective subterminal hydroxylation of alkanes. (d) P450-BM3 (A74G/L188Q) llylic hydroxylation of ω -alkenoic acids and esters.

P450-BM3 is 84% regioselective for the allylic 3-position with 34% enantioselectivity in favor of the *R* alcohol, several variants showed >95% ee (*R* or *S*, **2**).

P450pyr hydroxylase from *Sphingomonas* sp. HXN-200, which requires ferredoxin (Fdx) and ferredoxin reductase (FdR) for electron transfer, was modified by following a similar strategy. Twenty residues were subjected to saturation mutagenesis and the best mutant was used as template for the next round of evolution by randomizing the other positions. A triple variant reached \geq 98% ee in the hydroxylation of *N*-benzyl pyrrolidine **3** to produce (*S*)-*N*-benzyl 3-hydroxypyrrolidine **4** using molecular oxygen as a green oxidant (Scheme 3.1b) and showed nearly the same catalytic efficiency as wild-type P450pyr [151]. The native enzyme produces **4**, which is a useful pharmaceutical intermediate, with only 53% ee.

ISM was also applied to evolve P450pyr for the sub-terminal hydroxylation of *n*octane **5** and propylbenzene **6** (Scheme 3.1c) [150]. The products (*S*)-2-octanol (7) and (*S*)-1-phenyl-2-propanol **8** are useful as inhibitors of a lipoprotein-associated phospholipase (treatment of heart disease) and as an intermediate in the preparation of amphetamine. A variant bearing six mutations, which was created after six rounds of evolution, showed >99% sub-terminal selectivity and synthesized (*S*)-2-octanol with 98% ee. This was the first enzyme reported to show highly selective alkane hydroxylation. Another multiple mutant exhibited 98% sub-terminal selectivity for the synthesis of **8** with 95% ee.

In another remarkable example, libraries of P450-BM3 carrying mutations at five positions within the active site were constructed. Three of these positions were subjected to saturation mutagenesis [155]. A double mutant catalyzes allylic hydroxylation of ω -alkenoic acids and their esters (**9** and **10**) to synthesize *S*- ω -2-hydroxy- ω -alkenoic products (**11** and **12**) (Scheme 3.1d), which are building blocks for the synthesis of biologically active compounds, with unprecedented enantioselectivity of up to >99% ee.

P450 catalysts have also been successfully evolved for the hydroxylation of molecules such as artemisinin [156], testosterone [157, 158], 1-tetralones [159], and erythromycin intermediates [160]. In two excellent pieces of work, P450 was modified to catalyze the enantioselective intermolecular nitrene transfer to olefines to produce aziridines [153] and the diastereo- and enantioselective cyclopropanation of styrenes from diazoester reagents via putative carbine transfer [152, 161]; both are synthetically important reactions with no natural biological counterpart. A comprehensive look at P450 evolution and engineering for catalysis of natural and non-natural chemistry is provided elsewhere [10, 162].

Besides P450 catalysts, a number of other engineered enzymes have been applied in the production of enantiomerically pure compounds with impressive results, for example, epoxide hydrolases [163], amine dehydrogenases [81], monooxygenases [164], transketolases [82], lactonases [17], phosphotriesterases [41] phenylalanine ammonia lyases [165], imine reductases [166], lipases[40], and transaminases [94]. Variants of the amine monooxidases have been used in the synthesis of pharmaceutical building blocks and alkaloid natural products on a preparative scale [167–169]. Transaminases are an important biocatalytic tool in the production of chiral amines precursors such as those involved in the synthesis

of sitagliptin (antihyperglycemic drug for the treatment of diabetes), dilevalol (antihypertensive), and (*S*)-rivastigmine (used for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease) [19, 94]. A recent review by O'Reilly and Turner provides an overview of this topic [170].

3.5 *De Novo* Design of Catalysts: Novel Activities within Common Scaffolds

There are several reactions for which no enzymatic synthesis has yet been reported. Efficient design of tailored activities remains a challenging test for the current understanding of how proteins fold and function and defies current knowledge of enzyme catalysis [171, 172].

Over the last two decades, different protein structural elements were designed with increasing accuracy owing to the development of better molecular and computational tools [173–175]. The next challenge was the design of enzymes that were able to catalyze new reactions. Enzymatic catalysis requires protein binding sites able to accommodate the substrates in productive orientation, stabilize the transition state, and finally release the products, enabling in this way the enzyme for a new catalytic cycle [176]. Rosetta is a set of computational tools that has been successfully used for protein – structure and protein – protein complex prediction as well as for protein design [177] (Figure 3.4). Experimentally generated data (often from protein engineering and structural experiments) provides feedback to computational protein design and contributes to the identification of sequence features that may have not been covered by computational approaches alone.

Kemp elimination, a model reaction for proton transfer from carbon (Scheme 3.2), is a well-studied reaction for which several attempts to generate an enzymelike catalyzed reaction have been reported. Quantum mechanics and the Rosetta software were used to generate the first computationally designed enzymes for Kemp elimination and retro-aldolase activity (Scheme 3.3) [172, 178]. Later on, other enzymes able to catalyze Kemp elimination as well as other reactions were created and their performance improved by directed evolution. Turnover numbers of the Kemp-elimination-catalyzing enzymes using 5-nitrobenzisoxazole **14** as substrate were enhanced from <1 to $700 \, \text{s}^{-1}$, a value higher than that of some natural enzymes and the highest Kemp elimination activity reported for a computationally designed enzyme so far [180–182].

The catalytic efficiency of the artificial retro-aldolase, which was reported to be the most challenging *de novo* designed enzyme from the mechanistic point of view, was improved from 0.02 to $850 \,\mu^{-1} \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ for the synthesis of acetone 17 from 4-hydroxy-4-(6-methoxy-2-naphthyl)-2-butanone 16. The catalytic efficiency of the most active variant is close to that of some natural enzymes, and the turnover number is higher than that of the commercially available aldolase antibody 38C2 $(170 \times 10^3 \,\mathrm{and}\, 12 \times 10^3 \,\mathrm{s}^{-1}$ respectively) [42, 178, 183].

The cycloaddition between a conjugated diene **18** and an alkene **19** to form a substituted cyclohexene system **20** is known as the Diels-Alder reaction



Figure 3.4 General scheme for computational enzyme design using Rosetta. (a) A target reaction and its reaction mechanism are chosen; (b) key intermediates and the transition state (TS) are modeled in the context of a given binding pocket; (c) models are overlaid based on the protein functional group positions to create an idealized active site that can accommodate each state (namely substrates, TS and product); (d) active site models (theozymes) are computed with catalytic residues placed around the optimal geometry for the composite TS. Large ensembles of different conformations of these composite active sites are generated by varying the degrees of freedom of the composite TS, the orientation of the catalytic side chains regarding the composite TS, and the internal conformation of the catalytic side chains; (e) protein backbone positions able to hold such an idealized active site are searched among high-resolution crystal structures with ligand-binding pockets. Matches are optimized, including neighbor residues shaping the binding pocket; (f) best ranked designs are chosen for experimental validation [171, 172, 178, 179].



Scheme 3.2 Kemp elimination.



Scheme 3.3 Retro-aldol reaction. The retroaldol reaction is initiated by a nucleophilic lysine, which forms with the substrate 16 a covalent enzyme-substrate imine complex.

Fragmentation is followed by deprotonation of the hydroxyl group with a base, and the imine is then hydrolyzed to yield **17**.

(Scheme 3.4) and is considered one of the most versatile organic transformations for the synthesis of a range of products such as therapeutic agents and several kinds of synthetic materials [184]. Although several modified antibodies [184] and RNA [185] were reported to catalyze Diels – Alder reactions, natural enzymes able to catalyze such transformations are unknown. Following computational refinement and laboratory evolution, the catalytic efficiency of the best artificial Diels – Alderase was improved by ~9000-fold compared to the first designed enzyme for the reaction between E-4-carboxybenzyl-1,3-butadiene-1-carbamate and N,N-dimethylacrylamide [179, 186, 187].



Scheme 3.4 Diels-Alder reaction. Diene (18) and dienophile (19) undergo a pericyclic [4 + 2] cycloaddition to form a chiral cyclohexene ring (20).

Some enzymes with potential medical and therapeutic application were also computationally designed. Organophosphates (OPs) are nerve agents that continue to concern military personnel and civilians as potential battlefield and terrorist threats [188]. OPs, which exert biological action by covalently binding a serine residue in the catalytic site and inactivating acetylcholinesterase (AChE), are used in agriculture and have been associated with several cases of intentional and accidental misuse. The OPs known as G-agents (cyclosarin **21**, tabun **22**, sarin **23**, and soman **24**) (Scheme 3.5) are among the most toxic chemical warfare agents [189]. An enzyme for OP hydrolysis was designed within the zinc-containing mouse adenosine deaminase scaffold using the Rosetta software. After directed evolution, the best variant showed a 2440-fold increase in activity compared to the originally designed enzyme.



Scheme 3.5 Chemical structures of the G-type nerve agents.

Although some computationally designed enzymes exhibit real catalytic efficiencies that are close to those of natural enzymes, such activities are usually the result of additional adjustments and refinements at the active sites by laboratory evolution, since a precise design is still beyond the current capabilities of computational methods [182]. Continuous feedback between theoretical and experimental work is imperative to improve the prediction capacities in the future [176, 178]. The reader is referred elsewhere for detailed reviews on computational protein design [27, 190].

3.6 Conclusions

Altering substrate specificity as well as enantioselectivity and regioselectivity is a long-standing goal in protein engineering.

Here we reviewed different approaches for the design, redesign, and identification of enzymes with improved or new functionalities, which include molecular, computational, and combinatorial methods as well as wet-lab screening. Laboratory evolution has shown to be the most successful approach to access better biocatalysts, although many lessons remain to be learned from natural evolution.

The production of molecules for which no biological catalyst is known or those that are produced inefficiently by naturally occurring enzymes represents even a bigger challenge. A combination of computational design and directed evolution has given place to a new generation of enzymes able to catalyze reactions for which no enzymatic synthesis had been reported. These artificial enzymes exhibit better catalytic efficiencies than those from previous designs, which opens the door to a more amenable synthesis of difficult compounds. Although structural biology is still far from getting the final answer to some critical interrogations and faces computational and experimental challenges, the design of new folds and functions from scratch opens new ways to explore functions that have not yet been observed in nature.

References

- Kendrew, J.C., Bodo, G., Dintzis, H.M., Parrish, R.G., Wyckoff, H., and Phillips, D.C. (1958) A three-dimensional model of the myoglobin molecule obtained by X-ray analysis. *Nature*, **181** (4610), 662–666.
- 2 Lee, D., Redfern, O., and Orengo, C. (2007) Predicting protein function from sequence and structure. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, 8 (12), 995–1005.
- 3 Goldsmith, M. and Tawfik, D.S. (2013Vol. 523) Enzyme engineering by targeted libraries, Chapter 12, in *Methods Enzymol* (ed. E.K. Amy), Academic Press, pp. 257–283.
- 4 Lippow, S.M. and Tidor, B. (2007) Progress in computational protein design. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 18 (4), 305-311.
- 5 Liu, T., Horst, J.A., and Samudrala, R. (2009) A novel method for predicting and using distance constraints of high accuracy for refining protein structure prediction. *Proteins*, 77 (1), 220–234.

- 6 Fraatz, M.A., Ruhl, M., and Zorn, H. (2014) Food and feed enzymes. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol., 143, 229–56.
- 7 Vojcic, L., Pitzler, C., Korfer, G., Jakob, F., Ronny, M., Maurer, K.H., and Schwaneberg, U. (2015) Advances in protease engineering for laundry detergents. *N. Biotechnol.*, **32** (6), 629–634.
- 8 Bornscheuer, U.T., Huisman, G.W., Kazlauskas, R.J., Lutz, S., Moore, J.C., and Robins, K. (2012) Engineering the third wave of biocatalysis. *Nature*, 485 (7397), 185–194.
- 9 Soto, C.M. and Ratna, B.R. (2010) Virus hybrids as nanomaterials for biotechnology. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **21** (4), 426–438.
- Hyster, T.K. and Arnold, F.H. (2015) P450(BM3)-axial mutations: A gateway to non-natural reactivity. *Isr. J. Chem.*, 55 (1), 14–20.
- 11 Lee, S.C., Kim, J.H., and Kim, H.S. (2010) Design and evolution of biocatalysts. *Curr. Org. Chem.*, **14** (17), 1894–1901.

- 70 3 Molecular Engineering of Enzymes
 - 12 Farías-Rico, J.A. and Höcker, B. (2013Vol. 523) Design of chimeric proteins by combination of subdomainsized fragments, Chapter 18, in *Methods Enzymol* (ed. E.K. Amy), Academic Press, pp. 389–405.
 - 13 Khersonsky, O. and Tawfik, D.S. (2010) Enzyme promiscuity: A mechanistic and evolutionary perspective. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, 79, 471–505.
 - Pandya, C., Farelli, J.D., Dunaway-Mariano, D., and Allen, K.N. (2014) Enzyme promiscuity: Engine of evolutionary innovation. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 289 (44), 30229–30236.
 - 15 Steinkellner, G., Gruber, C.C., Pavkov-Keller, T., Binter, A., Steiner, K., Winkler, C., Lyskowski, A., Schwamberger, O., Oberer, M., Schwab, H., Faber, K., Macheroux, P., and Gruber, K. (2014) Identification of promiscuous ene-reductase activity by mining structural databases using active site constellations. *Nat. Commun.*, 5, 4150. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5150.
 - 16 Renata, H., Wang, Z.J., and Arnold, F.H. (2015) Expanding the enzyme universe: Accessing non-natural reactions by mechanism-guided directed evolution. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 54 (11), 3351–3367.
 - 17 Meier, M.M., Rajendran, C., Malisi, C., Fox, N.G., Xu, C.F., Schlee, S., Barondeau, D.P., Hocker, B., Sterner, R., and Raushel, F.M. (2013) Molecular engineering of organophosphate hydrolysis activity from a weak promiscuous lactonase template. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 135 (31), 11670–11677.
 - 18 Noor, S., Taylor, M.C., Russell, R.J., Jermiin, L.S., Jackson, C.J., Oakeshott, J.G., and Scott, C. (2012) Intramolecular epistasis and the evolution of a new enzymatic function. *PLoS One*, 7 (6), e39822. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0039822.
 - 19 Savile, C.K., Janey, J.M., Mundorff, E.C., Moore, J.C., Tam, S., Jarvis, W.R., Colbeck, J.C., Krebber, A., Fleitz, F.J., Brands, J., Devine, P.N., Huisman, G.W., and Hughes, G.J. (2010) Biocatalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral amines from ketones applied to sitagliptin manufacture. *Science*, **329** (5989), 305–309.

- 20 McWilliam, H., Li, W.Z., Uludag, M., Squizzato, S., Park, Y.M., Buso, N., Cowley, A.P., and Lopez, R. (2013) Analysis tool web services from the EMBL-EBI. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **41** (W1), W597-W600.
- 21 Camacho, C., Coulouris, G., Avagyan, V., Ma, N., Papadopoulos, J., Bealer, K., and Madden, T.L. (2009) BLAST plus: Architecture and applications. *BMC Bioinform.*, **10**, 421. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-10-421.
- 22 Sael, L., Chitale, M., and Kihara, D. (2012) Structure- and sequence-based function prediction for non-homologous proteins. *J. Struct. Funct. Genomics*, 13 (2), 111–23.
- 23 Chikhi, R., Sael, L., and Kihara, D. (2010) Real-time ligand binding pocket database search using local surface descriptors. *Proteins*, **78** (9), 2007–2028.
- 24 Sael, L. and Kihara, D. (2012) Constructing patch-based ligand-binding pocket database for predicting function of proteins. *BMC Bioinform.*, **13**, S7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-13-S2-S7.
- 25 Yang, J., Yan, R., Roy, A., Xu, D., Poisson, J., and Zhang, Y. (2014) The I-TASSER suite: Protein structure and function prediction. *Nat Methods*, **12** (1), 7–8.
- 26 Kelley, L.A. and Sternberg, M.J.E. (2009) Protein structure prediction on the web: A case study using the Phyre server. *Nat. Protoc.*, 4 (3), 363–371.
- 27 Kiss, G., Celebi-Olcum, N., Moretti, R., Baker, D., and Houk, K.N. (2013) Computational enzyme design. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., 52 (22), 5700-5725.
- 28 McGuffin, L.J., Atkins, J.D., Salehe, B.R., Shuid, A.N., and Roche, D.B. (2015) IntFOLD: An integrated server for modelling protein structures and functions from amino acid sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **43** (W1), W169–W173.
- 29 Biasini, M., Bienert, S., Waterhouse, A., Arnold, K., Studer, G., Schmidt, T., Kiefer, F., Cassarino, T.G., Bertoni, M., Bordoli, L., and Schwede, T. (2014) SWISS-MODEL: Modelling protein tertiary and quaternary structure using evolutionary information. *Nucleic*

Acids Res., 42 (Web Server issue), W252-W258.

- 30 Hayat, S., Sander, C., Marks, D.S., and Elofsson, A. (2015) All-atom 3D structure prediction of transmembrane β-barrel proteins from sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **112** (17), 5413–5418.
- 31 Dehouck, Y., Kwasigroch, J.M., Gilis, D., and Rooman, M. (2011) PoPMuSiC 2.1: A web server for the estimation of protein stability changes upon mutation and sequence optimality. *BMC Bioinform.*, **12**, 151. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-12-151.
- Gilis, D. and Rooman, M. (2000) PoP-MuSiC, an algorithm for predicting protein mutant stability changes. Application to prion proteins. *Protein Eng.*, 13 (12), 849–856.
- 33 Guerois, R., Nielsen, J.E., and Serrano, L. (2002) Predicting changes in the stability of proteins and protein complexes: A study of more than 1000 mutations. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **320** (2), 369–387.
- 34 Parthiban, V., Gromiha, M.M., and Schomburg, D. (2006) CUPSAT: Prediction of protein stability upon point mutations. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 34, W239–W242.
- 35 Reetz, M.T. and Carballeira, J.D. (2007) Iterative saturation mutagenesis (ISM) for rapid directed evolution of functional enzymes. *Nat. Protoc.*, 2 (4), 891–903.
- 36 Shivange, A.V., Marienhagen, J., Mundhada, H., Schenk, A., and Schwaneberg, U. (2009) Advances in generating functional diversity for directed protein evolution. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, 13 (1), 19–25.
- 37 Sun, S., Zhang, W., Mannervik, B., and Andersson, D.I. (2013) Evolution of broad spectrum β-lactam resistance in an engineered metallo-β-lactamase. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 288 (4), 2314–2324.
- 38 Lan, T., Wang, X.R., and Zeng, Q.Y. (2013) Structural and functional evolution of positively selected sites in pine glutathione *S*-transferase enzyme family. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 288 (34), 24441–24451.
- 39 Tokuriki, N., Jackson, C.J., Afriat-Jurnou, L., Wyganowski, K.T., Tang, R., and Tawfik, D.S. (2012)

Diminishing returns and tradeoffs constrain the laboratory optimization of an enzyme. *Nat. Commun.*, **3**, 1257.

- 40 Wu, Q., Soni, P., and Reetz, M.T. (2013) Laboratory evolution of enantiocomplementary *Candida antarctica* lipase B mutants with broad substrate scope. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 135 (5), 1872–1881.
- 41 Bigley, A.N., Xu, C.F., Henderson, T.J., Harvey, S.P., and Raushel, F.M. (2013) Enzymatic neutralization of the chemical warfare agent VX: Evolution of phosphotriesterase for phosphorothiolate hydrolysis. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 135 (28), 10426–10432.
- 42 Giger, L., Caner, S., Obexer, R., Kast, P., Baker, D., Ban, N., and Hilvert, D. (2013) Evolution of a designed retroaldolase leads to complete active site remodeling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, **9** (8), 494–498.
- 43 Baxter, S., Royer, S., Grogan, G., Brown, F., Holt-Tiffin, K.E., Taylor, I.N., Fotheringham, I.G., and Campopiano, D.J. (2012) An improved racemase/acylase biotransformation for the preparation of enantiomerically pure amino acids. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 134 (47), 19310–19313.
- 44 Chen, I., Dorr, B.M., and Liu, D.R. (2011) A general strategy for the evolution of bond-forming enzymes using yeast display. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, **108** (28), 11399–11404.
- 45 Schallmey, M., Floor, R.J., Hauer, B., Breuer, M., Jekel, P.A., Wijma, H.J., Dijkstra, B.W., and Janssen, D.B. (2013) Biocatalytic and structural properties of a highly engineered halohydrin dehalogenase. *Chembiochem*, **14** (7), 870–81.
- 46 Martinez, R., Jakob, F., Tu, R., Siegert, P., Maurer, K.H., and Schwaneberg, U. (2013) Increasing activity and thermal resistance of *Bacillus gibsonii* alkaline protease (BgAP) by directed evolution. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **110** (3), 711–720.
- 47 Wang, C., Huang, R., He, B., and Du, Q. (2012) Improving the thermostability of alpha-amylase by combinatorial coevolving-site saturation mutagenesis. *BMC Bioinform.*, **13**, 263.

- 72 3 Molecular Engineering of Enzymes
 - 48 Garcia-Ruiz, E., Gonzalez-Perez, D., Ruiz-Duenas, F.J., Martinez, A.T., and Alcalde, M. (2012) Directed evolution of a temperature-, peroxide- and alkaline pH-tolerant versatile peroxidase. *Biochem. J.*, 441 (1), 487–498.
 - 49 Gumulya, Y. and Reetz, M.T. (2011) Enhancing the thermal robustness of an enzyme by directed evolution: Least favorable starting points and inferior mutants can map superior evolutionary pathways. *Chembiochem*, **12** (16), 2502–2510.
 - 50 Reetz, M.T., Soni, P., Fernandez, L., Gumulya, Y., and Carballeira, J.D. (2010) Increasing the stability of an enzyme toward hostile organic solvents by directed evolution based on iterative saturation mutagenesis using the B-FIT method. *Chem. Commun.*, **46** (45), 8657–8658.
 - 51 Reetz, M.T., Kahakeaw, D., and Lohmer, R. (2008) Addressing the numbers problem in directed evolution. *Chembiochem*, **9** (11), 1797–1804.
 - 52 Tondervik, A., Klinkenberg, G., Aarstad, O.A., Drablos, F., Ertesvag, H., Ellingsen, T.E., Skjak-Braek, G., Valla, S., and Sletta, H. (2010) Isolation of mutant alginate lyases with cleavage specificity for di-guluronic acid linkages. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 285 (46), 35284–35292.
 - 53 Telke, A.A., Zhuang, N., Ghatge, S.S., Lee, S.H., Shah, A.A., Khan, H., Um, Y., Shin, H.D., Chung, Y.R., Lee, K.H., and Kim, S.W. (2013) Engineering of family-5 glycoside hydrolase (Cel5A) from an uncultured bacterium for efficient hydrolysis of cellulosic substrates. *PLoS One*, 8 (6), e65727. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065727.
 - 54 Boulain, J.C., Dassa, J., Mesta, L., Savatier, A., Costa, N., Muller, B.H., L"ostis, G., Stura, E.A., Troesch, A., and Ducancel, F. (2013) Mutants with higher stability and specific activity from a single thermosensitive variant of T7 RNA polymerase. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, 26 (11), 725–734.
 - 55 Ben Mabrouk, S., Ayadi, D.Z., Ben Hlima, H., and Bejar, S. (2013) Thermostability improvement of maltogenic amylase MAUS149 by error prone PCR. J. Biotechnol., 168 (4), 601–606.

- 56 Alexander, D.L., Lilly, J., Hernandez, J., Romsdahl, J., Troll, C.J., and Camps, M. (2014) Random mutagenesis by error-prone pol plasmid replication in *Escherichia coli. Methods Mol. Biol.*, 1179, 31–44.
- 57 Currin, A., Swainston, N., Day, P.J., and Kell, D.B. (2015) Synthetic biology for the directed evolution of protein biocatalysts: Navigating sequence space intelligently. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, **44** (5), 1172–1239.
- 58 Agudo, R., Roiban, G.D., and Reetz, M.T. (2013) Induced axial chirality in biocatalytic asymmetric ketone reduction. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 135 (5), 1665–1668.
- 59 Acevedo-Rocha, C.G., Hoebenreich, S., and Reetz, M.T. (2014) Iterative saturation mutagenesis: A powerful approach to engineer proteins by systematically simulating Darwinian evolution. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, **1179**, 103–128.
- 60 Jacobs, T.M., Yumerefendi, H., Kuhlman, B., and Leaver-Fay, A. (2015) SwiftLib: Rapid degenerate-codon-library optimization through dynamic programming. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 43 (5), e34. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1323.
- 61 Reetz, M.T., Carballeira, J.D., and Vogel, A. (2006) Iterative saturation mutagenesis on the basis of B factors as a strategy for increasing protein thermostability. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 45 (46), 7745–7751.
- 62 Wen, S., Tan, T.W., and Zhao, H.M. (2012) Improving the thermostability of lipase Lip2 from Yarrowia lipolytica. *J. Biotechnol.*, 164 (2), 248–253.
- **63** Kellogg, E.H., Leaver-Fay, A., and Baker, D. (2011) Role of conformational sampling in computing mutation-induced changes in protein structure and stability. *Proteins*, **79** (3), 830–838.
- 64 Wijma, H.J., Floor, R.J., Jekel, P.A., Baker, D., Marrink, S.J., and Janssen, D.B. (2014) Computationally designed libraries for rapid enzyme stabilization. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, 27 (2), 49–58.
- 65 Floor, R.J., Wijma, H.J., Colpa, D.I., Ramos-Silva, A., Jekel, P.A., Szymanski, W., Feringa, B.L., Marrink, S.J., and Janssen, D.B. (2014) Computational library design for increasing haloalkane

dehalogenase stability. *Chembiochem*, **15** (11), 1659–1671.

- 66 Jacquier, H., Birgy, A., Le Nagard, H., Mechulam, Y., Schmitt, E., Glodt, J., Bercot, B., Petit, E., Poulain, J., Barnaud, G., Gros, P.A., and Tenaillon, O. (2013) Capturing the mutational landscape of the beta-lactamase TEM-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **110** (32), 13067–13072.
- 67 Zhang, S.B. and Wu, Z.L. (2011) Identification of amino acid residues responsible for increased thermostability of feruloyl esterase A from *Aspergillus niger* using the PoPMuSiC algorithm. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **102** (2), 2093–2096.
- 68 Anbar, M., Lamed, R., and Bayer, E.A. (2010) Thermostability enhancement of *Clostridium thermocellum* cellulosomal endoglucanase Cel8A by a single glycine substitution. *Chemcatchem*, 2 (8), 997–1003.
- 69 Mesa-Torres, N., Yunta, C., Fabelo-Rosa, I., Gonzalez-Rubio, J.M., Sanchez-Ruiz, J.M., Salido, E., Albert, A., and Pey, A.L. (2014) The consensus-based approach for gene/enzyme replacement therapies and crystallization strategies: The case of human alanine-glyoxylate aminotransferase. *Biochem. J.*, 462 (3), 453–463.
- 70 Jackel, C., Bloom, J.D., Kast, P., Arnold, F.H., and Hilvert, D. (2010) Consensus protein design without phylogenetic bias. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **399** (4), 541–546.
- 71 Anbar, M., Gul, O., Lamed, R., Sezerman, U.O., and Bayer, E.A. (2012) Improved thermostability of *Clostridium thermocellum* endoglucanase Cel8A by using consensus-guided mutagenesis. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **78** (9), 3458–3464.
- 72 Trudeau, D.L., Lee, T.M., and Arnold, F.H. (2014) Engineered thermostable fungal cellulases exhibit efficient synergistic cellulose hydrolysis at elevated temperatures. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **111** (12), 2390–2397.
- 73 Komor, R.S., Romero, P.A., Xie, C.B., and Arnold, F.H. (2012) Highly thermostable fungal cellobiohydrolase I (Cel7A) engineered using predictive methods. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, 25 (12), 827–833.

- 74 Reetz, M.T., Bocola, M., Carballeira, J.D., Zha, D., and Vogel, A. (2005)
 Expanding the range of substrate acceptance of enzymes: Combinatorial active-site saturation test. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 44 (27), 4192–4196.
- 75 Pavelka, A., Chovancova, E., and Damborsky, J. (2009) HotSpot Wizard: A web server for identification of hot spots in protein engineering. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **37**, W376–W383.
- 76 Wijma, H.J., Floor, R.J., Bjelic, S., Marrink, S.J., Baker, D., and Janssen, D.B. (2015) Enantioselective enzymes by computational design and in silico screening. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 54 (12), 3726–3730.
- 77 Saraf, M.C., Moore, G.L., Goodey, N.M., Cao, V.Y., Benkovic, S.J., and Maranas, C.D. (2006) IPRO: An iterative computational protein library redesign and optimization procedure. *Biophys. J.*, **90** (11), 4167–4180.
- 78 Kuipers, R.K.P., Joosten, H.J., Verwiel, E., Paans, S., Akerboom, J., van der Oost, J., Leferink, N.G.H., van Berkel, W.J.H., Vriend, G., and Schaap, P.J. (2009) Correlated mutation analyses on super-family alignments reveal functionally important residues. *Proteins*, 76 (3), 608–616.
- 79 Tang, L., Zhu, X., Zheng, H., Jiang, R., and Majeric Elenkov, M. (2012) Key residues for controlling enantioselectivity of Halohydrin dehalogenase from *Arthrobacter* sp. strain AD2, revealed by structure-guided directed evolution. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **78** (8), 2631–2637.
- 80 Raj, H., Szymanski, W., de Villiers, J., Rozeboom, H.J., Veetil, V.P., Reis, C.R., de Villiers, M., Dekker, F.J., de Wildeman, S., Quax, W.J., Thunnissen, A.M.W.H., Feringa, B.L., Janssen, D.B., and Poelarends, G.J. (2012) Engineering methylaspartate ammonia lyase for the asymmetric synthesis of unnatural amino acids. *Nat. Chem.*, 4 (6), 478–484.
- 81 Abrahamson, M.J., Vazquez-Figueroa, E., Woodall, N.B., Moore, J.C., and Bommarius, A.S. (2012) Development of an amine dehydrogenase for synthesis

of chiral amines. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., **51** (16), 3969–3972.

- 82 Yi, D., Saravanan, T., Devamani, T., Charmantray, F., Hecquet, L., and Fessner, W.D. (2015) A thermostable transketolase evolved for aliphatic aldehyde acceptors. *Chem. Commun.*, 51 (3), 480–483.
- 83 Chovancova, E., Pavelka, A., Benes, P., Strnad, O., Brezovsky, J., Kozlikova, B., Gora, A., Sustr, V., Klvana, M., Medek, P., Biedermannova, L., Sochor, J., and Damborsky, J. (2012) CAVER 3.0: A tool for the analysis of transport pathways in dynamic protein structures. *PLoS Comput. Biol.*, 8 (10), e1002708. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002708.
- 84 Koudelakova, T., Chaloupkova, R., Brezovsky, J., Prokop, Z., Sebestova, E., Hesseler, M., Khabiri, M., Plevaka, M., Kulik, D., Smatanova, I.K., Rezacova, P., Ettrich, R., Bornscheuer, U.T., and Damborsky, J. (2013) Engineering enzyme stability and resistance to an organic cosolvent by modification of residues in the access tunnel. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, **52** (7), 1959–1963.
- 85 Bernath-Levin, K., Shainsky, J., Sigawi, L., and Fishman, A. (2014) Directed evolution of nitrobenzene dioxygenase for the synthesis of the antioxidant hydroxytyrosol. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **98** (11), 4975–4985.
- 86 Pavlova, M., Klvana, M., Prokop, Z., Chaloupkova, R., Banas, P., Otyepka, M., Wade, R.C., Tsuda, M., Nagata, Y., and Damborsky, J. (2009) Redesigning dehalogenase access tunnels as a strategy for degrading an anthropogenic substrate. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, 5 (10), 727–733.
- Pantazes, R.J., Grisewood, M.J., Li, T., Gifford, N.P., and Maranas, C.D. (2015) The iterative protein redesign and optimization (IPRO) suite of programs. *J. Comput. Chem.*, **36** (4), 251–263.
- 88 Fazelinia, H., Cirino, P.C., and Maranas, C.D. (2009) OptGraft: A computational procedure for transferring a binding site onto an existing protein scaffold. *Protein Sci.*, 18 (1), 180–195.
- 89 Pantazes, R.J. and Maranas, C.D. (2010) OptCDR: A general computational

method for the design of antibody complementarity determining regions for targeted epitope binding. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, **23** (11), 849–858.

- 90 Grisewood, M.J., Gifford, N.P., Pantazes, R.J., Li, Y., Cirino, P.C., Janik, M.J., and Maranas, C.D. (2013) OptZyme: Computational enzyme redesign using transition state analogues. *PLoS One*, 8 (10), e75358. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.
- 91 Nobili, A., Tao, Y.F., Pavlidis, I.V., van den Bergh, T., Joosten, H.J., Tan, T.W., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2015) Simultaneous use of in silico design and a correlated mutation network as a tool to efficiently guide enzyme engineering. *Chembiochem*, **16** (5), 805–810.
- 92 Kourist, R., Jochens, H., Bartsch, S., Kuipers, R., Padhi, S.K., Gall, M., Bottcher, D., Joosten, H.J., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2010) The alpha/beta-hydrolase fold 3DM database (ABHDB) as a tool for protein engineering. *Chembiochem*, **11** (12), 1635–1643.
- **93** Cerdobbel, A., De Winter, K., Aerts, D., Kuipers, R., Joosten, H.J., Soetaert, W., and Desmet, T. (2011) Increasing the thermostability of sucrose phosphorylase by a combination of sequence- and structure-based mutagenesis. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, **24** (11), 829–834.
- 94 Skalden, L., Peters, C., Dickerhoff, J., Nobili, A., Joosten, H.J., Weisz, K., Hohne, M., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2015) Two subtle amino acid changes in a transaminase substantially enhance or invert enantiopreference in cascade syntheses. *Chembiochem*, **16** (7), 1041–1045.
- 95 Jochens, H., Aerts, D., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2010) Thermostabilization of an esterase by alignment-guided focussed directed evolution. *Protein Eng. Des. Sel.*, 23 (12), 903–909.
- 96 Jochens, H. and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2010) Natural diversity to guide focused directed evolution. *Chembiochem*, **11** (13), 1861–1866.
- 97 Nobili, A., Gall, M.G., Pavlidis, I.V., Thompson, M.L., Schmidt, M., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2013) Use of ""mall but smart' libraries to enhance the enantioselectivity of an esterase from

Bacillus stearothermophilus towards tetrahydrofuran-3-yl acetate. FEBS J., 280 (13), 3084-3093.

- 98 Nobili, A., Tao, Y., Pavlidis, I.V., van den Bergh, T., Joosten, H.-J., Tan, T., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2015) Simultaneous use of in silico design and a correlated mutation network as a tool to efficiently guide enzyme engineering. Chembiochem, 16 (5), 805-810.
- 99 Sebestova, E., Bendl, J., Brezovsky, J., and Damborsky, J. (2014Vol. 1179) Computational tools for designing smart 110 Heinzelman, P., Romero, P.A., and libraries, in Directed Evolution Library Creation (eds E.M.J. Gillam, J.N. Copp, and D. Ackerley), Springer, New York, pp. 291-314.
- 100 Badran, A.H. and Liu, D.R. (2015) In vivo continuous directed evolution. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 24, 1-10.
- 101 Esvelt, K.M., Carlson, J.C., and Liu, D.R. (2011) A system for the continuous directed evolution of biomolecules. Nature, 472 (7344), 499-503.
- 102 Dickinson, B.C., Packer, M.S., Badran, A.H., and Liu, D.R. (2014) A system for the continuous directed evolution of proteases rapidly reveals drug-resistance mutations. Nat. Commun., 5, 5352. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6352.
- 103 Carlson, J.C., Badran, A.H., Guggiana-Nilo, D.A., and Liu, D.R. (2014) Negative selection and stringency modulation in phage-assisted continuous evolution. Nat. Chem. Biol., 10 (3), 216 - 222
- 104 Trudeau, D.L., Smith, M.A., and Arnold, F.H. (2013) Innovation by homologous recombination. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 17 (6), 902-909.
- 105 Stemmer, W.P. (1994) Rapid evolution of a protein in vitro by DNA shuffling. Nature, 370 (6488), 389-391.
- 106 Chemler, J.A., Tripathi, A., Hansen, D.A., O'Neil-Johnson, M., Williams, R.B., Starks, C., Park, S.R., and Sherman, D.H. (2015) Evolution of efficient modular polyketide synthases by homologous recombination. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 137 (33), 10603-10609.
- 107 Poust, S., Hagen, A., Katz, L., and Keasling, J.D. (2014) Narrowing the gap between the promise and reality of

polyketide synthases as a synthetic biology platform. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 30, 32-39.

- 108 Romero, P.A. and Arnold, F.H. (2012) Random field model reveals structure of the protein recombinational landscape. PLoS Comput. Biol., 8 (10).
- 109 Voigt, C.A., Martinez, C., Wang, Z.G., Mayo, S.L., and Arnold, F.H. (2002) Protein building blocks preserved by recombination. Nat. Struct. Biol., 9 (7), 553-558.
- Arnold, F.H. (2013) Efficient sampling of SCHEMA chimera families to identify useful sequence elements. Methods Enzymol., 523, 351-368.
- 111 Heinzelman, P., Snow, C.D., Smith, M.A., Yu, X.L., Kannan, A., Boulware, K., Villalobos, A., Govindarajan, S., Minshull, J., and Arnold, F.H. (2009) SCHEMA recombination of a fungal cellulase uncovers a single mutation that contributes markedly to stability. J. Biol. Chem., 284 (39), 26229-26233.
- 112 Heinzelman, P., Snow, C.D., Wu, I., Nguyen, C., Villalobos, A., Govindarajan, S., Minshull, J., and Arnold, F.H. (2009) A family of thermostable fungal cellulases created by structure-guided recombination. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 106 (14), 5610-5615.
- 113 Romero, P.A., Stone, E., Lamb, C., Chantranupong, L., Krause, A., Miklos, A.E., Hughes, R.A., Fechtel, B., Ellington, A.D., Arnold, F.H., and Georgiou, G. (2012) SCHEMA-designed variants of human arginase I and II reveal sequence elements important to stability and catalysis. ACS Synth Biol, 1 (6), 221 - 228.
- 114 Gonzalez-Perez, D., Molina-Espeja, P., Garcia-Ruiz, E., and Alcalde, M. (2014) Mutagenic organized recombination process by homologous in vivo grouping (MORPHING) for directed enzyme evolution. PLoS One, 9 (3), e90919. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.
- 115 Gonzalez-Perez, D., Garcia-Ruiz, E., Ruiz-Duenas, F.J., Martinez, A.T., and Alcalde, M. (2014) Structural determinants of oxidative stabilization in an

evolved versatile peroxidase. ACS Catal, 4 (11), 3891-3901.

- 116 Viña-Gonzalez, J., Gonzalez-Perez, D., Ferreira, P., Martinez, A.T., and Alcalde, M. (2015) Focused directed evolution of aryl-alcohol oxidase in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by using chimeric signal peptides. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **81** (18), 6451–6462.
- 117 Guntas, G., Kanwar, M., and Ostermeier, M. (2012) Circular permutation in the omega-loop of TEM-1 beta-lactamase results in improved activity and altered substrate specificity. *PLoS One*, 7 (4), e35998. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.
- 118 Daugherty, A.B., Govindarajan, S., and Lutz, S. (2013) Improved biocatalysts from a synthetic circular permutation library of the flavin-dependent oxidoreductase old yellow enzyme. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 135 (38), 14425–14432.
- Sperl, J.M., Rohweder, B., Rajendran, C., and Sterner, R. (2013) Establishing catalytic activity on an artificial (beta alpha)(8)-barrel protein designed from identical half-barrels. *FEBS Lett.*, **587** (17), 2798–2805.
- Tyurin, A.A., Sadovskaya, N.S., Nikiforova, K.R., Mustafaev, O.N., Komakhin, R.A., Fadeev, V.S., and Goldenkova-Pavlova, I.V. (2015) *Clostridium thermocellum* thermostable lichenase with circular permutations and modifications in the N-terminal region retains its activity and thermostability. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-Proteins and Proteomics*, 1854 (1), 10–19.
- 121 Eisenbeis, S., Proffitt, W., Coles, M., Truffault, V., Shanmugaratnam, S., Meiler, J., and Hocker, B. (2012) Potential of fragment recombination for rational design of proteins. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **134** (9), 4019–4022.
- 122 Hocker, B. (2014) Design of proteins from smaller fragments - learning from evolution. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.*, 27, 56–62.
- 123 Claren, J., Malisi, C., Hocker, B., and Sterner, R. (2009) Establishing wild-type levels of catalytic activity on natural and artificial (beta alpha)(8)-barrel protein

scaffolds. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 106 (10), 3704–3709.

- 124 Ruff, A.J., Dennig, A., and Schwaneberg, U. (2013) To get what we aim forprogress in diversity generation methods. *FEBS J.*, 280 (13), 2961–2978.
- Baret, J.C., Miller, O.J., Taly, V., Ryckelynck, M., El-Harrak, A., Frenz, L., Rick, C., Samuels, M.L., Hutchison, J.B., Agresti, J.J., Link, D.R., Weitz, D.A., and Griffiths, A.D. (2009) Fluorescenceactivated droplet sorting (FADS): Efficient microfluidic cell sorting based on enzymatic activity. *Lab Chip*, 9 (13), 1850–1858.
- 126 Agresti, J.J., Antipov, E., Abate, A.R., Ahn, K., Rowat, A.C., Baret, J.C., Marquez, M., Klibanov, A.M., Griffiths, A.D., and Weitz, D.A. (2010) Ultrahighthroughput screening in drop-based microfluidics for directed evolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 107 (9), 4004–4009.
- 127 Fischlechner, M., Schaerli, Y., Mohamed, M.F., Patil, S., Abell, C., and Hollfelder, F. (2014) Evolution of enzyme catalysts caged in biomimetic gel-shell beads. *Nat. Chem.*, 6 (9), 791–796.
- 128 Asial, I., Cheng, Y.X., Engman, H., Dollhopf, M., Wu, B.H., Nordlund, P., and Cornvik, T. (2013) Engineering protein thermostability using a generic activity-independent biophysical screen inside the cell. *Nat. Commun.*, 4, 2901. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3901.
- 129 Weiss, M.S., Pavlidis, I.V., Vickers, C., Hohne, M., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2014) Glycine oxidase based high-throughput solid-phase assay for substrate profiling and directed evolution of (*R*)- and (*S*)-selective amine transaminases. *Anal. Chem.*, 86 (23), 11847–11853.
- 130 Chen, Y.Z., Tang, W.L., Mou, J., and Li, Z. (2010) High-throughput method for determining the enantioselectivity of enzyme-catalyzed hydroxylations based on mass spectrometry. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, **49** (31), 5278–5283.
- 131 Alvizo, O., Nguyen, L.J., Savile, C.K., Bresson, J.A., Lakhapatri, S.L., Solis, E.O.P., Fox, R.J., Broering, J.M., Benoit, M.R., Zimmerman, S.A., Novick, S.J., Liang, J., and Lalonde, J.J. (2014)

Directed evolution of an ultrastable carbonic anhydrase for highly efficient carbon capture from flue gas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **111** (46), 16436–16441.

- 132 Bloom, J.D., Labthavikul, S.T., Otey, C.R., and Arnold, F.H. (2006) Protein stability promotes evolvability. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 103 (15), 5869–5874.
- 133 Liszka, M.J., Clark, M.E., Schneider, E., and Clark, D.S. (2012) Nature versus nurture: Developing enzymes that function under extreme conditions. *Annu. Rev. Chem. Biomol. Eng.*, 3, 77–102.
- 134 Cunha, E.S., Hatem, C.L., and Barrick, D. (2013) Insertion of endocellulase catalytic domains into thermostable consensus ankyrin scaffolds: Effects on stability and cellulolytic activity. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **79** (21), 6684–6696.
- 135 Hadar, Y. (2013) Sources for lignocellulosic raw materials for the production of ethanol, in *Lignocellulose Conversion* (ed. V. Faraco), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 21–38.
- 136 Bornscheuer, U., Buchholz, K., and Seibel, J. (2014) Enzymatic degradation of (ligno) cellulose. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 53 (41), 10876–10893.
- 137 Alcalde, M. (2015) Engineering the ligninolytic enzyme consortium. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 33 (3), 155–162.
- 138 Zhang, S.J., Wang, Y.F., Song, X.F., Hong, J.B., Zhang, Y., and Yao, L.S. (2014) Improving *Trichoderma reesei* Cel7B thermostability by targeting the weak spots. *J. Chem. Inf. Model.*, 54 (10), 2826–2833.
- 139 Lee, C.W., Wang, H.J., Hwang, J.K., and Tseng, C.P. (2014) Protein thermal stability enhancement by designing salt bridges: A combined computational and experimental study. *PLoS One*, 9 (11), e112751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.
- 140 Song, L., Tsang, A., and Sylvestre, M. (2015) Engineering a thermostable fungal GH10 xylanase, importance of N-terminal amino acids. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **112** (6), 1081–1091.
- 141 Wang, K., Luo, H.Y., Tian, J., Turunen, O., Huang, H.Q., Shi, P.J., Hua, H.F., Wang, C.H., Wang, S.H., and Yao,

B. (2014) Thermostability improvement of a *Streptomyces xylanase* by introducing proline and glutamic acid residues. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **80** (7), 2158–2165.

- 142 Yu, X.W., Wang, R., Zhang, M., Xu, Y., and Xiao, R. (2012) Enhanced thermostability of a *Rhizopus chinensis* lipase by in vivo recombination in *Pichia pastoris. Microb. Cell Fact.*, 11, 102. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-11-102.
- 143 Yu, X.W., Tan, N.J., Xiao, R., and Xu, Y. (2012) Engineering a disulfide bond in the lid hinge region of *Rhizopus chinensis* lipase: Increased thermostability and altered acyl chain length specificity. *PLoS One*, 7 (10), e46388. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.
- 144 Zhou, X., Gao, L., Yang, G., Liu, D., Bai, A., Li, B., Deng, Z., and Feng, Y. (2015) Design of hyperthermophilic lipase chimeras by key motif-directed recombination. *Chembiochem*, 16 (3), 455–462.
- 145 Xie, Y., An, J., Yang, G.Y., Wu, G., Zhang, Y., Cui, L., and Feng, Y. (2014) Enhanced enzyme kinetic stability by increasing rigidity within the active site. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 289 (11), 7994–8006.
- 146 Korman, T.P., Sahachartsiri, B., Charbonneau, D.M., Huang, G.L., Beauregard, M., and Bowie, J.U. (2013) Dieselzymes: Development of a stable and methanol tolerant lipase for biodiesel production by directed evolution. *Biotechnol. Biofuels*, 6, 70. doi: 10.1186/1754-6834-6-70.
- 147 Reetz, M.T. (2011) Laboratory evolution of stereoselective enzymes: A prolific source of catalysts for asymmetric reactions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 50 (1), 138–174.
- 148 Turner, N.J. and O"eilly, E. (2013) Biocatalytic retrosynthesis. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, 9 (5), 285–288.
- 149 Schliessmann, A., Hidalgo, A., Berenguer, J., and Bornscheuer, U.T. (2009) Increased enantioselectivity by engineering bottleneck mutants in an esterase from Pseudomonas fluorescens. *Chembiochem*, 10 (18), 2920–2923.
- 150 Yang, Y., Liu, J., and Li, Z. (2014) Engineering of P450pyr hydroxylase for the highly regio- and enantioselective

subterminal hydroxylation of alkanes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, **53** (12), 3120-3124.

- 151 Pham, S.Q., Pompidor, G., Liu, J., Li, X.D., and Li, Z. (2012) Evolving P450pyr hydroxylase for highly enantioselective hydroxylation at non- activated carbon atom. *Chem. Commun.*, **48** (38), 4618–4620.
- 152 Coelho, P.S., Brustad, E.M., Kannan, A., and Arnold, F.H. (2013) Olefin cyclopropanation via carbene transfer catalyzed by engineered cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Science*, **339** (6117), 307–310.
- 153 Farwell, C.C., Zhang, R.K., McIntosh, J.A., Hyster, T.K., and Arnold, F.H. (2015) Enantioselective enzymecatalyzed aziridination enabled by active-site evolution of a cytochrome P450. ACS Centr. Sci., 1 (2), 89–93.
- 154 Agudo, R., Roiban, G.D., and Reetz, M.T. (2012) Achieving regio- and enantioselectivity of P450-catalyzed oxidative CH activation of small functionalized molecules by structure-guided directed evolution. *Chembiochem*, **13** (10), 1465–1473.
- 155 Neufeld, K., Henssen, B., and Pietruszka, J. (2014) Enantioselective allylic hydroxylation of omegaalkenoic acids and esters by P450 BM3 monooxygenase. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 53 (48), 13253–13257.
- 156 Zhang, K.D., Shafer, B.M., Demars, M.D., Stern, H.A., and Fasan, R. (2012) Controlled oxidation of remote sp(3) C-H bonds in artemisinin via P450 catalysts with fine-tuned regio- and stereoselectivity. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 134 (45), 18695–18704.
- 157 Geier, M., Braun, A., Fladischer, P., Stepniak, P., Rudroff, F., Hametner, C., Mihovilovic, M.D., and Glieder, A. (2013) Double site saturation mutagenesis of the human cytochrome P450 2D6 results in regioselective steroid hydroxylation. *FEBS J.*, **280** (13), 3094–3108.
- 158 Kille, S., Zilly, F.E., Acevedo, J.P., and Reetz, M.T. (2011) Regio- and stereoselectivity of P450-catalysed hydroxylation of steroids controlled by laboratory evolution. *Nat. Chem.*, **3** (9), 738–743.

- 159 Roiban, G.D., Agudo, R., Ilie, A., Lonsdale, R., and Reetz, M.T. (2014) CH-activating oxidative hydroxylation of 1-tetralones and related compounds with high regio- and stereoselectivity. *Chem. Commun.*, **50** (92), 14310–14313.
- Montemiglio, L.C., Macone, A., Ardiccioni, C., Avella, G., Vallone, B., and Savino, C. (2013) Redirecting P450 EryK specificity by rational sitedirected mutagenesis. *Biochemistry*, 52 (21), 3678–3687.
- 161 Coelho, P.S., Wang, Z.J., Ener, M.E., Baril, S.A., Kannan, A., Arnold, F.H., and Brustad, E.M. (2013) A serinesubstituted P450 catalyzes highly efficient carbene transfer to olefins in vivo. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, **9** (8), 485–487.
- 162 McIntosh, J.A., Farwell, C.C., and Arnold, F.H. (2014) Expanding P450 catalytic reaction space through evolution and engineering. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, 19, 126–134.
- 163 Kong, X.D., Ma, Q., Zhou, J.H., Zeng, B.B., and Xu, J.H. (2014) A smart library of epoxide hydrolase variants and the top hits for synthesis of (S)-beta-blocker precursors. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 53 (26), 6641–6644.
- 164 Zhang, Z.G., Lonsdale, R., Sanchis, J., and Reetz, M.T. (2014) Extreme synergistic mutational effects in the directed evolution of a Baeyer–Villiger monooxygenase as catalyst for asymmetric sulfoxidation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 136 (49), 17262–17272.
- 165 Parmeggiani, F., Lovelock, S.L., Weise, N.J., Ahmed, S.T., and Turner, N.J. (2015) Synthesis of D- and Lphenylalanine derivatives by phenylalanine ammonia lyases: A multienzymatic cascade process. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.*, 54 (15), 4608–4611.
- Hussain, S., Leipold, F., Man, H., Wells, E., France, S.P., Mulholland, K.R., Grogan, G., and Turner, N.J. (2015) An (*R*)-imine reductase biocatalyst for the asymmetric reduction of cyclic imines. *Chemcatchem*, 7 (4), 579–583.
- 167 Ghislieri, D., Green, A.P., Pontini, M., Willies, S.C., Rowles, I., Frank, A., Grogan, G., and Turner, N.J. (2013) Engineering an enantioselective amine

oxidase for the synthesis of pharmaceutical building blocks and alkaloid natural products. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 135 177 Simons, K.T., Bonneau, R., Ruczinski, I., (29), 10863-10869.

- 168 Ghislieri, D., Houghton, D., Green, A.P., Willies, S.C., and Turner, N.I. (2013) Monoamine oxidase (MAO-N) catalyzed deracemization of tetrahydrobeta-carbolines: Substrate dependent switch in enantioselectivity. ACS Catal, 3 (12), 2869-2872.
- 169 O"eilly, E., Iglesias, C., Ghislieri, D., Hopwood, J., Galman, J.L., Lloyd, R.C., and Turner, N.J. (2014) A regio- and stereoselective ω transaminase/monoamine oxidase cascade for the synthesis of chiral 2,5-disubstituted pyrrolidines. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl., 126 (9), 2479-2482.
- 170 O'Reilly, E. and Turner, N.J. (2015) Enzymatic cascades for the regioand stereoselective synthesis of chiral amines. Perspectives in Science, 4, 55 - 61.
- 171 Nanda, V. and Koder, R.L. (2010) Designing artificial enzymes by intuition and computation. Nat. Chem., 2 (1), 15-24.
- 172 Rothlisberger, D., Khersonsky, O., Wollacott, A.M., Jiang, L., DeChancie, J., Betker, J., Gallaher, J.L., Althoff, E.A., Zanghellini, A., Dym, O., Albeck, S., Houk, K.N., Tawfik, D.S., and Baker, D. (2008) Kemp elimination catalysts by computational enzyme design. Nature, 453 (7192), 190-195.
- 173 Dahiyat, B.I. and Mayo, S.L. (1997) De novo protein design: Fully automated sequence selection. Science, 278 (5335), 82 - 87.
- 174 Kuhlman, B., Dantas, G., Ireton, G.C., Varani, G., Stoddard, B.L., and Baker, D. (2003) Design of a novel globular protein fold with atomic-level accuracy. Science, 302 (5649), 1364-1368.
- 175 Hu, X.Z., Wang, H.C., Ke, H.M., and Kuhlman, B. (2007) High-resolution design of a protein loop. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 104 (45), 17668-17673.
- 176 Baker, D. (2010) An exciting but challenging road ahead for computational

enzyme design. Protein Sci., 19 (10), 1817-1819.

- and Baker, D. (1999) Ab initio protein structure prediction of CASP III targets using ROSETTA. Proteins, Suppl 3, 171-176.
- 178 Jiang, L., Althoff, E.A., Clemente, F.R., Doyle, L., Rothlisberger, D., Zanghellini, A., Gallaher, J.L., Betker, J.L., Tanaka, F., Barbas, C.F., Hilvert, D., Houk, K.N., Stoddard, B.L., and Baker, D. (2008) De novo computational design of retroaldol enzymes. Science, 319 (5868), 1387-1391.
- 179 Siegel, J.B., Zanghellini, A., Lovick, H.M., Kiss, G., Lambert, A.R., Clair, J.L.S., Gallaher, J.L., Hilvert, D., Gelb, M.H., Stoddard, B.L., Houk, K.N., Michael, F.E., and Baker, D. (2010) Computational design of an enzyme catalyst for a stereoselective bimolecular Diels-Alder reaction. Science, 329 (5989), 309-313.
- 180 Privett, H.K., Kiss, G., Lee, T.M., Blomberg, R., Chica, R.A., Thomas, L.M., Hilvert, D., Houk, K.N., and Mayo, S.L. (2012) Iterative approach to computational enzyme design. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 109 (10), 3790 - 3795.
- 181 Khersonsky, O., Kiss, G., Rothlisberger, D., Dym, O., Albeck, S., Houk, K.N., Baker, D., and Tawfik, D.S. (2012) Bridging the gaps in design methodologies by evolutionary optimization of the stability and proficiency of designed Kemp eliminase KE59. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 109 (26), 10358-10363.
- 182 Blomberg, R., Kries, H., Pinkas, D.M., Mittl, P.R.E., Grutter, M.G., Privett, H.K., Mayo, S.L., and Hilvert, D. (2013) Precision is essential for efficient catalysis in an evolved Kemp eliminase. Nature, 503 (7476), 418-421.
- 183 Althoff, E.A., Wang, L., Jiang, L., Giger, L., Lassila, J.K., Wang, Z.Z., Smith, M., Hari, S., Kast, P., Herschlag, D., Hilvert, D., and Baker, D. (2012) Robust design and optimization of retroaldol enzymes. Protein Sci., 21 (5), 717-726.

- 80 3 Molecular Engineering of Enzymes
 - 184 Hilvert, D., Hill, K.W., Nared, K.D., and Auditor, M.T.M. (1989) Antibody catalysis of a Diels-Alder reaction. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 111 (26), 9261–9262.
 - 185 Tarasow, T.M., Tarasow, S.L., and Eaton, B.E. (1997) RNA-catalysed carbon-carbon bond formation. *Nature*, 389 (6646), 54–57.
 - 186 Eiben, C.B., Siegel, J.B., Bale, J.B., Cooper, S., Khatib, F., Shen, B.W., Players, F., Stoddard, B.L., Popovic, Z., and Baker, D. (2012) Increased Diels–Alderase activity through backbone remodeling guided by Foldit players. *Nat. Biotech.*, **30** (2), 190–192.
 - 187 Preiswerk, N., Beck, T., Schulz, J.D., Milovnik, P., Mayer, C., Siegel, J.B., Baker, D., and Hilvert, D. (2014) Impact

of scaffold rigidity on the design and evolution of an artificial Diels-Alderase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **111** (22), 8013–8018.

- 188 Weissman, B. and Raveh, L. (2011) Multifunctional drugs as novel antidotes for organophosphates'poisoning. *Toxicology*, 290 (2–3), 149–155.
- 189 Holstege, C.P., Kirk, M., and Sidell, F.R. (1997) Chemical warfare – Nerve agent poisoning. *Critical Care Clinics*, 13 (4), 923–942.
- 190 Zanghellini, A. (2014) De novo computational enzyme design. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 29, 132–138.
4 Biocatalytic Process Development

John M. Woodley

Biocatalysis uses the power of enzymes to catalyze chemical conversions. The biocatalyst itself can potentially be used in several different formats, including isolated enzyme, immobilized enzyme, or contained within microbial cells. The enzymes can be used individually or as part of a network or pathway, in parallel or sequentially. Despite the many options, the process concept itself is, nevertheless, relatively simple, as shown in Figure 4.1.

Today, several hundred application examples of biocatalysis can be found in numerous industrial chemical sectors, and the rationale used for its introduction depends on the product value in a given sector (Table 4.1). The majority (by number) of processes implemented to date have focused on the pharmaceutical sector, in large part due to the high turnover of target molecules, as a result of high attrition rates and patent-limited lifetimes, as well as the complex nature of the synthetic routes and the target molecules [1]. Many of the target molecules contain multiple chiral centers, where biocatalytic conversion is particularly well suited. Nevertheless, today biocatalytic synthesis has developed to such an extent that many new opportunities are forthcoming [2], and examples can increasingly be found in the fine chemicals sector (in particular flavors and fragrances).

The transfer of a given biocatalytic reaction from a synthetically valuable laboratory tool into a commercially viable industrial process requires process development, scale-up, and process implementation to be carried out in an effective and systematic manner. Compared to chemical processes, there has, to date, been relatively little attention given to this aspect of biocatalysis [3]. Additionally, the required process development and scale-up need to be carried out within a regulatory and economic context appropriate for the given product and market. In this chapter, a systematic approach to biocatalytic process development will be discussed, and two examples are used to illustrate the methods and tools employed.

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.



Figure 4.1 General biocatalytic process using (immobilized) enzymes for the production of chemicals.

 Table 4.1
 Rationale for introduction of biocatalytic processes.

Industry sector	Rationale for introduction of biocatalysis
Pharmaceuticals	• Eliminate protection and deprotection steps in syntheses
	• Synthesis of optically pure molecules containing multiple chiral centers
Fine chemicals	 Replacement of hazardous and difficult syntheses
	• "Natural" syntheses
Bulk chemicals	• Use of alternative "greener" feedstock
	• Add value to existing syntheses by forward and backward integration

4.1 A Structured Approach to Biocatalytic Process Development

The implementation of any new process in industry is, of course, first and foremost dependent upon a suitable economic return on investment. This means that even at an early stage of process development it is essential to consider the costs of potential manufacturing. Clearly, this is also necessary to consider when implementing a new biocatalytic process and can be used to establish a first basis for scalability. However, for biocatalytic processes, the conditions used in a manufacturing plant (e.g., high concentrations of reagents in the molar range) are far from those found in nature (e.g., low concentrations of reagents in the micromolar range). This is not surprising since enzymes and microbial cells have evolved to operate very efficiently at low concentrations. The consequence is that for any new biocatalytic process it is necessary to develop the biocatalyst and adapt the process such that they are matched to the requirements of the relevant industry sector. This means that not only must the potential manufacturing cost of a product be considered but also the cost of biocatalyst and process development must be taken into account. Indeed, it is highly advantageous at an early stage to consider whether such extensive development can even be justified. In some industry sectors, the timeline required to deliver the product may also determine the outcome of such a decision. One of the challenges of assessing potential development and manufacturing costs at an early stage is that an estimate of the potential for process improvement needs to be made, and for biocatalytic processes this is particularly difficult because not only are process technologies available to improve the process (and overcome biocatalyst limitations) but also a vast array of biological techniques for improvement of the biocatalyst exist. Improvements to the biocatalyst can be very substantial, making an estimate of the potential improvement difficult. For example, genetic engineering (involving improved expression of the enzyme of interest or changing the host organism) as well as protein engineering (involving improved properties to better match application conditions) offers the opportunity to improve the biocatalyst and its associated production process. This implies also that an assessment of the feasibility of a potential biocatalytic route is more about assessing the feasibility of development than manufacturing itself. In addition to the particular focus on biocatalyst modification and improvement, there are some basic economic requirements that also need to be met to enable implementation.

4.2 Process Metrics

The economic requirements are best described in terms of process metrics, and can very helpfully be used to provide targets to meet given economic demands. In this way, the metrics can be used either to exclude a route from further consideration or help define a suitable development strategy. A potential development 84 4 Biocatalytic Process Development



Figure 4.2 Proposed methodology for the systematic development of biocatalytic processes.

methodology is outlined in Figure 4.2. The metrics are determined by the main economic and cost drivers and will be described in the following sections.

4.2.1 Reaction Yield

In order that the process itself is economically feasible, it is a primary requirement that the reaction step itself adds value to the starting material. The simplest way to calculate this is to ensure that the value of the product exceeds the value of the feedstock and other raw materials and reagents. However, while this is a necessary condition, it is not sufficient because the value added by the reaction is also dependent of the reaction yield (mass product/mass reactant). This implies that the first process metric should be the reaction yield. For lower value products, where the cost of a process is often driven by the cost of the reactant (up to 70% of the production cost of the product), the yield needs to be high enough to achieve an economical process. For higher value products (e.g., pharmaceuticals), the required value of the reaction yield will be determined by the downstream product recovery requirements. In some cases, the reaction yield will be determined by the thermodynamic equilibrium, emphasizing also the importance of determining this, especially under the conditions to be used in the process. The value added by the reaction will ultimately determine the minimum value for the contribution of the biocatalyst, reactor, and downstream processing.

4.2.2 Productivity

The space-time vield (gram of product/liter of the reactor/hour of operation), often referred to as the "productivity," in combination with knowledge of the required demand for a given product (per time) will give information about the required plant capacity. Frequently it is necessary to place biocatalytic processes in an existing plant, since building a dedicated purpose-built plant is hard to justify. Nevertheless, knowledge about the productivity is of vital importance in assessing a given conversion, since it will form a first basis for knowledge of plant sizing. For reactions not using growing cells, the space-time yield can always be increased by adding more biocatalyst. Although reactor capacity may be a limiting factor (especially with immobilized enzymes), more important is that the biocatalyst yield (see below) will often be compromised when using very high biocatalyst concentrations. In such cases, calculation of the space-time yield can give a target for specific activity. For biocatalytic conversions using growing whole cells, the space-time yield cannot be increased by adding more biocatalyst. For this reason, it is a primary measure of the effectiveness of such a system and an essential metric (typically values over $2 g l^{-1} h^{-1}$ are required).

4.2.3 Biocatalyst Yield

An essential issue in the evaluation of a new biocatalytic process concerns the cost of the biocatalyst [4]. Despite the enormous improvements in fermentation technology, coupled with improved expression as a result of recombinant DNA technology, it is nevertheless essential to assess the cost contribution of the biocatalyst to the product. Measuring the biocatalyst yield over the whole operational lifetime of the catalyst will give the biocatalyst yield (gram of product produced/gram of biocatalyst added). The necessity to measure this value over the whole lifetime of the biocatalyst clearly makes practical measurement and estimation difficult. However, this is important because expensive biocatalysts (i.e., enzymes requiring recovery and isolation following fermentation, linked with immobilization) will require recycling in order to make a low enough contribution to the overall cost of making a given product. No matter what the format of the biocatalyst, development is required in order to express sufficient activity for a given reaction.

Larger markets will justify more development, reducing the cost of biocatalyst production. Since the biocatalyst is contributing as a catalytic entity alone, its cost should be evaluated in relation to the value of the product (and more accurately the cost difference between the product and the reactant). Hence, knowledge about the specific activity of a biocatalyst is insufficient. Stability (the dynamic change of

86 4 Biocatalytic Process Development

Industrial sector	Product value (\$ kg ⁻¹)	Biocatalyst yield ^{a)} (g g ⁻¹)	Product concentration ^{b)} (g l ⁻¹)
High value (e.g., pharmaceuticals)	1 000	50	100
Medium value (e.g., flavors)	100	500	200
Low value (e.g., biofuels)	1	10 000	400

 Table 4.2 Examples of appropriate biocatalyst yield and product concentration for scalable processes in different industrial sectors.

a) Values here are given for immobilized enzymes.

b) Precise values will depend upon the ease of product separation from other compounds leaving the reactor.

rate with respect to time on account of denaturation) must also be known. Determination of specific activity and stability in a single batch can give the amount of product that can be produced for a given charge of biocatalyst. Clearly, it is also necessary to account for enzyme recovery or immobilization, depending upon the biocatalyst format. Based upon acceptable contributions to the final product cost, it is possible to calculate a reasonable biocatalyst yield (gram of product/gram of biocatalyst) for a given product class. Some examples are given in Table 4.2. Such information is invaluable to obtain since it gives a target for biocatalyst specific activity and stability.

This information also allows an estimation of the total amount of biocatalyst required for a given application, and also, even more critically, the fraction of total enzyme (required to achieve the necessary biocatalyst yield) for a single batch. Interestingly, if the cost of biocatalyst in a single batch is very high (implying multiple recycles to give a low enough biocatalyst yield for the overall process), it becomes important to consider the risks that might be entailed by loss of that batch, due to a processing problem. For example, if there is a risk of mistakenly overfeeding an inhibitory reactant to the biocatalyst in the first batch, it could make it hard to justify the use of an immobilized enzyme, where multiple reuses (recycles) would be required.

4.2.4

Product Concentration

The product concentration leaving the reactor will determine the scale of the downstream process, which will be sized according to the recovery of a given mass of product from a given reactor volume. In general, since biocatalytic reactions are carried out at ambient temperature, the energy required to evaporate water is significant. Hence a high concentration leaving the reactor is required, depending

upon the value of the product. As discussed previously, such conditions are far from the natural environment of biocatalysts, making this a particularly important development target. The precise values are, of course, dependent upon the ease of separation of the product from the other compounds (unreacted reactant(s) and by-products) leaving the reactor. See Table 4.2 for example values.

4.3 Technologies for Implementation of Biocatalytic Processes

The development of a biocatalytic process is an essential stage in implementation and scale-up, and the main aim is to obtain the target values of the process metrics described earlier in this chapter. A number of technologies are available to achieve this objective. The investment each requires, and the gains in terms of productivity, have still not been fully benchmarked, but the technologies mentioned have all been implemented in large-scale processes using biocatalysis.

4.3.1 Biocatalyst Engineering

Biocatalyst engineering is the part of process development, which is different from conventional chemical process development. For this reason, it has often been left as an afterthought when in reality it can be on the rate-limiting path to process implementation and should therefore be implemented as early in process development as it is known to be useful.

4.3.1.1 Protein and Genetic Engineering

Biocatalyst engineering involving either protein engineering or modification to the host organism containing the biocatalyst is enormously powerful. Indeed, many excellent reviews cover the field [5-14]. Although most are focused on alteration of selectivity, reaction rate, and substrate scope, this is of course the first step in implementing a new process. The field is developing a whole range of technologies including the introduction of more computer-based and semirational approaches [15]. In the context of this chapter, it is interesting also to see that a start has been made to biocatalyst modifications focused on process needs [16, 17].

4.3.1.2 Biocatalyst Immobilization

While an isolated enzyme-catalyzed reaction is easier to implement than a wholecell-catalyzed reaction due to its simplicity, the trade-off is higher upstream cost, and therefore reuse of the enzyme is often necessary (potentially via immobilization) to keep costs down. As a rule of thumb, the crudest possible form of the enzyme acceptable to maintain product quality should be used [18, 19].

Immobilization is often the key to improving the operational performance of an enzyme [20, 21]. Especially for use in a dry medium, such as an organic solvent,

88 4 Biocatalytic Process Development

it is difficult to use biocatalysts without immobilization or cross-linking since the enzymes are prone to aggregation. Other potential benefits of immobilization are enhanced stability, the possibility of use in a packed-bed (or even fluidized-bed) reactor, and prevention of protein contamination in the product stream [22]. Fast and easy separation of the biocatalyst from the reaction medium is sometimes a key factor for enzymatic resolutions where the reaction has to be stopped at a certain conversion in order to preserve high enantiomeric excess (ee) of the product. Simpler downstream processing and easy biocatalyst recovery for immobilized enzymes also lead to an improved process economy, which may be essential for developing a competitive process. Enzyme immobilization is a particularly important intensification method for obtaining adequate biocatalyst yield. In principle, improvements in activity, stability, and selectivity are potentially possible [23, 24], although improved stability and separation are the usual arguments for immobilization. A general method of immobilization, that can be applied to any enzyme, is not available, and therefore the typical approach is by trial and error. Efficient immobilization protocols should take into account the physicochemical properties of the carrier (or matrix) as well as the enzyme to obtain the best compromise between stability, activity, handling, and cost (see Refs [25, 26] for comprehensive reviews). For large-scale production of the biocatalyst, the procedures should be quick, robust, scalable, and reproducible and the enzyme should be stable during each step.

4.3.2

Reaction Engineering

Reaction engineering refers to the ability to alter conditions in the reaction such that optimal use can be made of the biocatalyst and reactant, which in many cases help achieve the required metrics to enable implementation. The concentration of biocatalyst and reactants to be used is of course dependent upon the kinetics and thermodynamics of a given reaction. For many reactions, the choice of media to be used also makes a very important difference to the reaction performance. It has become well established that addition of an organic solvent to an otherwise aqueous medium can have a great effect in biocatalytic reactions. While an aqueous solution is highly compatible with the natural environment of most enzymes, poorly water soluble compounds will not be converted effectively – meaning limited product concentration (and expensive downstream processing). Many attempts have been made to overcome the solubility limitation by the addition of water-miscible organic solvents, but these tend to strip essential water from the enzyme, resulting in a loss of activity. For reactions that are thermodynamically unfavorable in water (such as esterifications), it can be advantageous to run the reactions in neat water-immiscible organic solvents. This also enables enzymes to be immobilized simply by adsorption. Nevertheless, without immobilization, aggregation is frequently a problem, as mentioned previously. Finally, aqueous - organic biphasic mixtures can be used, which from an industrial perspective are particularly interesting, although a balance is required between

the necessary mixing to afford good mass transfer and subsequent separation to recover the product from one or the other phase and allow recycle of the organic solvent. Potentially, enzyme denaturation at the liquid–liquid interface can be a challenge also, although it can be overcome by immobilization. In all cases, a rational basis for organic solvent selection remains a significant challenge. Today, other suggested and successfully tested biocatalytic reaction media such a supercritical (sc)CO₂, ionic liquids, and all gas-phase reactions remain primarily for application in the laboratory, rather than at a large scale.

A variety of technologies can be introduced with the general objective of controlling the reactant and product concentration. All involve changes to the reactor operation, to ensure the local conditions for the biocatalyst are kept as optimal as possible, while the overall process fulfills the necessary process metrics, as previously discussed.

4.3.2.1 Reactant Supply

In cases where the reactant is inhibitory or toxic to the biocatalyst, it is necessary either to engineer tolerance to the reactant into the biocatalyst or to avoid the issue. The latter approach is the most common and can be achieved simply by feeding the reactant to the reactor to limit its concentration in solution. The maximum feed concentration will determine the maximum achievable product concentration. The maximum feed concentration will be limited by the water solubility of the compound, meaning more water-soluble compounds can always be fed. Those with limited water solubility can be "fed" via a second phase, either an organic (water immiscible) solvent or alternatively a porous resin.

4.3.2.2 Product Removal

Throughout the development of a process, it is essential to examine not only the enzymatic reaction but also the preceding and following reaction steps as well as the necessary separation steps. Changes to pH, temperature, pressure, and solvent should be minimized. However, the need to address the problems of inhibitory or toxic products is so common that it deserves special mention here. The common approach is to use *in situ* product removal (ISPR) (see e.g., [27-30]), where the product is removed from the reaction mixture during conversion. ISPR has been widely reported and studied, although more in-depth engineering studies are still required to provide guidelines for implementation. The basic concept as implemented in industrial processes uses a recycle loop in which biocatalyst is retained in the reactor (Figure 4.3).

The loop passes through an ISPR unit in which product is selectively removed. Common operations for the removal include the use of water-immiscible organic solvents and also resins, and some details are given in the following. The system can also be linked to chromatography for products that justify the cost [31]. In principle, ISPR can also be used to shift the equilibrium of a thermodynamically unfavorable reaction by means of selectively removing product over the substrate. Using carbonyl reductases [32] this has proved very effective, but clearly it will not work in all cases. 4 Biocatalytic Process Development

90





4.3.2.3 Two-Phase Systems

As discussed previously, the addition of an organic water-miscible solvent can help solubilize poorly water soluble compounds. However, the solubility increases are limited, and the water-miscible solvents are often harmful to the enzymes. In other cases, two-liquid phase biocatalysis (TLPB) may be used to enhance solubility. In addition, an established way to run some batch processes with biocatalysts is to avoid the toxic and inhibitory concentrations by supplying the reactant via a second (water-immiscible) liquid phase. In this case, the solvent acts as a reservoir. Using such technology, order of magnitude improvements in product concentration can be achieved. In general, conventional equipment can be used, although the extent of mixing and subsequent phase separation is critical. Extra parameters to be evaluated are the phase ratio of the two liquid phases, mass transfer, and the partition of the substrate and product between the phases. It remains difficult to select the organic solvent – and this is a subject of ongoing research – although much has been learnt for whole-cell biotransformation studies [33]. Several processes have been scaled up using this technology, and indeed the use of two-liquid phase systems is a common method of ISPR [34], although kinetics and selectivity need to be evaluated in each case [35]. Emulsification can also be a problem, although the use of membrane technology is an interesting potential solution [36].

An alternative two-phase system to addition of water-immiscible organic solvents is to introduce a porous resin to supply the reactant or to remove the product [37]. Such an approach has several advantages because it avoids the difficulties of organic solvent selection (both from an environmental perspective and the problems frequently faced by enzyme in contact with organic solvents). Similar parameters need to be investigated to organic solvent TLPB methods, but it is clear that the capacity of the resin is particularly important. Indeed, the option

of a recycle stream containing the resin to simultaneously supply the reactant and remove the product looks particularly attractive. A few processes have been scaled up using this technology [38].

4.4 Industrial Development Examples

In the following section, two examples of process development for industrial biocatalytic processes are presented, both in the pharmaceutical sector. They have been chosen to illustrate the integration required between process and biocatalyst development. The examples are presented in order of increasing complexity.

4.4.1

Development of a Biocatalytic Route to Atorvastatin (Developed by Codexis Inc., USA)

Background

Atorvastatin is the active ingredient in the drug Lipitor[®], which is a cholesterol-lowering drug. It is one of the largest selling drugs of all time; for example, in 2010 the annual sales exceeded USD10 billion. The molecule contains two chiral centers and therefore biocatalytic routes have always been of interest to help synthesize the product in an efficient way. This, coupled with the high demand for the drug, makes it a particularly interesting process development case. Early work to synthesize Atorvastatin by biocatalytic methods focused on kinetic resolutions using whole cells as well as chemoenzymatic routes using nitrilases and lipases. Nevertheless, these routes failed to meet the requirements for a scalable, commercial process, and were therefore not implemented. At Codexis Inc. (Redwood City, CA, USA), scientists began work on another route, using a ketoreductase (KRED), linked with glucose dehydrogenase (GDH) to recycle the NADPH, followed in a second enzymatic step, by use of an halohydrin dehalogenase (HHDH).

• Step 1: Engineer improvements in enzyme activity (GDH, KRED)

Having identified a suitable route (see Scheme 4.1; details can be found in [39] and two patents to Codexis: US 7,125,693 and US 7,132,267), initial experiments were carried out with the two reactions separately.

In the first reaction, while the selectivity was found to be suitably high (ee > 99.5%), the reaction rate was very low, implying a large amount of enzyme was required. Both the KRED and GDH protein were improved using several rounds of DNA shuffling. GDH activity was improved 13-fold, and KRED activity 7-fold. This meant that less enzyme could be used, resulting not only in a better biocatalyst yield (gram of product/gram of biocatalyst), but also in improvements for the downstream product recovery. The GDH recycle reaction produced gluconate, implying the pH would drop unless neutralized, and this therefore demanded the use of a stirred-tank reactor with pH measurement and control.

91

92 4 Biocatalytic Process Development



Scheme 4.1 Biocatalytic synthesis of atorvastatin.

Table 4.3 Process metrics for biocatalytic atorvastatin process.

Metric	Laboratory	Process
Space – time yield $(g l^{-1} h^{-1})$ Biocatalyst yield $(g g^{-1})$	3.3	20
Product concentration (gl^{-1})	85	152

Data derived from Ma et al. [39].

• Step 2: Engineer improvement in enzyme activity and stability (HHDH) In the subsequent step, HHDH was used. In initial experiments, the activity and stability were found to be low, and this was improved via DNA shuffling.

• Step 3: Engineer out product inhibition (HHDH) A particular feature of the kinetics of the HHDH reaction is strong product inhibition. Although attempts were made to overcome this by ISPR, ultimately a better solution in this case was found by improving the enzyme. The activity was increased 2500-fold over the wild type.

• Step 4: Implementation

Today, the process is run at a large scale with process metrics as indicated in Table 4.3.

4.4.2

Development of a Biocatalytic Route to Sitagliptin (Developed by Codexis Inc., USA and Merck and Co., USA)

Background

Sitagliptin is an anti-diabetic compound, and as the phosphate salt it is the active ingredient in a pharmaceutical product marketed as JanuviaTM



Scheme 4.2 Biocatalytic synthesis of sitagliptin.

by Merck and Co. (Rahway, NJ, USA). It is a highly complicated molecule and for some time was manufactured using asymmetric hydrogenation of an enamine. The reaction takes place at high pressure (17 bar) using a rhodium-based chiral catalyst [40]. However, the application of pressure and the use of the metal-based catalyst, potentially contaminating the product, are not ideal. Likewise, the stereoselectivity is limited. For these reasons, scientists at Merck and Co. (Rahway, NJ, USA) considered using an aminotransferase (ω -transaminase) to asymmetrically synthesize the chiral center with a suitable amine donor (see Scheme 4.2).

• Step 1: Engineer enzyme activity for a new substrate

Although in the last decade there has been significant research focus on the application of ω -transaminases [41–44], the molecule to be converted to synthesize sitagliptin was without precedent, given the size of the large substituent adjacent to the ketone. Hence, initially *in silico* design techniques were applied to provide a suitable starting point to engineer the enzyme. Using substrate walking (in which the substrate is altered in steps, so as to allow the enzyme to be altered and screened in stages), the large binding pocket of the enzyme was altered and subsequently evolved for activity. This enabled a 75-fold improvement of activity on the first mutated enzyme. This provided the starting point for fine-tuning the enzyme and is the basis of the data given in Table 4.4.

Metric	Laboratory ^{a)}	Process ^{b)}
Space – time yield $(g l^{-1} h^{-1})$	0.033	12
Biocatalyst yield (gg^{-1}) Product concentration (gl^{-1})	0.08 0.8	5.3-6.6 160

 Table 4.4
 Example process metrics for biocatalytic sitagliptin process.

Derived from Refs [45, 46].

 a) Data for the laboratory benchmark were taken from the point at which activity was detected and tuning began – meaning the variant from the Round 2 as detailed in Table 1 of Savile *et al.* [45].

b) Process with immobilized enzyme.

94 4 Biocatalytic Process Development

• Step 2: Engineer the enzyme for industrial reaction conditions

Although an active enzyme was created, it could only work at concentrations of $2 g l^{-1}$, clearly too low for commercial operation of a reactor. The problem was made worse since the water solubility of the compound was low, and therefore various solvents were assessed. Both methanol and DMSO proved effective solvents. In addition, the equilibrium of the reaction needed to be pushed toward the product, meaning an excess of the amine donor was required [47]. Indeed, despite the reasonable thermodynamic favorability of this reaction, still 1 molar concentration (fourfold excess) of amine donor was required. Since Isopropylamine (IPA) is converted to acetone during the reaction, clearly the enzyme must also be tolerant to high concentrations of acetone. In an evolution program, the enzyme tolerance was improved to convert substrate concentrations from 2 to $100 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$, IPA from 0.5 to 1 M, DMSO from 5% to 50%, pH from 7.5 to 8.5, and temperature from 22 to 45 °C. A selectivity of >99.99% was achieved. Simultaneous optimization included improving the stability and expression levels in *Escherichia coli* so as to reduce the biocatalyst cost. The optimal process at this point converted 200 g l^{-1} with >99.5% conversion at 92% yield with 6 g l^{-1} enzyme in 50% DMSO. Compared to the rhodium-based process, this gives at 10-13% increase in yield, 53% increase in space-time yield $(gl^{-1}h^{-1})$, and 19% reduction in total waste. Additionally, the process can operate in a nonspecialized plant at ambient pressure.

• Step 3: Introduction of immobilized enzyme process

In a further development [46], a second generation of biocatalytic process has been developed to operate in a neat organic solvent using immobilized ω -transaminase, to afford further benefits to the product recovery and potentially allow continuous operation. Indeed, operation could be now achieved for 200 h, which means that the biocatalyst yield was improved to manageable levels. This is important for the final implemented industrial process.

• Step 4: Process implementation

Today, the process is implemented at a large scale. Examples of the process metrics are given in Table 4.4. In this rather special case, it is hard to give a starting point, but a defined point has been identified based on the point at which tuning of the enzyme was started (Step 2 above). Likewise, an example of the process metrics is given to illustrate what is achievable. This still requires fine-tuning for the final implementation to balance the individual metrics based on process economics. It is perhaps worth mentioning that space – time yields based on initial rates alone are not accurate because the real space – time yield should be determined over the entire reaction time, since this is the time the reactor is occupied. Likewise, a direct comparison of the metrics for the laboratory and process should be treated with care, since a different format of biocatalyst was used whereas for true comparison immobilized enzyme loading data would also be required.

4.5 Future Outlook

The metrics discussed earlier are not often reported in the scientific literature, and it requires effort to develop fed-batch, continuous, or recycle-based processes, all of which require significant experimental work. Hence, achieving the metrics requires process intensification prior to scaling up. This is a basic philosophy to help develop the process with greater reliability. The philosophy of implementation proposed in this chapter is that intensification of the process should take priority over scaling up. Nevertheless, the subsequent scaling up needs to address issues such a mass transfer (liquid-liquid or gas-liquid) as well as mixing. The increased mixing time due to the increase in scale can bring limitations for addition of reagents and control of pH (via acid or alkali for neutralization) in many systems. Mixing requires attention, and in recent years alternative mixing concepts such as the rotary jet head system have been applied with success [48]. Reactants will most normally be added in the batch mode at the start of the reaction. However, in cases where the solubility is limited, alternative methods must be used. Reactants can also be used above saturation concentration in the form of a slurry reactor or a two-liquid phase reactor. In other cases, if the reactants are toxic or inhibitory, it may be essential to feed the reactant to the reactor, which can be done directly (if the solubility in the reaction medium is high) or via another phase (water-immiscible organic solvent or porous resin).

Clearly, for many reactions it is essential to intensify a reaction or process in order that it can be applied in an industrial context. This is not surprising given that the conditions required in a biocatalytic reactor are very different to those found in nature. Protein engineering offers the engineer involved in scale-up and implementation of a biocatalytic process fantastic opportunities [17]. Although we may search for the ideal biocatalyst [49], in reality it is a combined effort of protein and process engineering that is required to achieve successful industrial implementation. The approach discussed here can be complemented by protein and enzyme engineering efforts. Indeed, in reality it is the integration of these (process and biological) technologies together that leads to the most effective solution for development. Several studies have already shown the integration of multiple technologies to achieve the required degree of intensification [50]. For instance, in the synthesis of optically pure chiral amines using ω-transaminases, protein engineering, reaction engineering, and process engineering were all used to significant effect in the final industrial process for the synthesis of sitagliptin [45, 46], and likewise in other industrial work using ω -transaminase for the synthesis of a JAK2 kinase inhibitor [51].

The methodology proposed here is to initially set targets, characterize, then compare the difference to develop a strategy for different technologies involving biocatalyst engineering, reaction engineering, and finally process engineering. In a recent review, the approach was further outlined and the integration emphasized [52].

96 4

4 Biocatalytic Process Development

4.6

Concluding Remarks

The implementation and development of new biocatalytic processes require considerable investment in a variety of technologies from ISPR to protein engineering. Nevertheless, it is clear that as knowledge is built in each of these areas (in particular to identify limits for application) and a suitable methodology for implementation is built, the necessary tools will become available. This will be important not only to implement single-step biocatalytic reactions but, in the future, also to address multistep biocatalytic reactions (both multi-enzymatic and chemoenzymatic) such that processes can be designed (both by engineers and chemists) in such a way as to capitalize upon the best features of both conventional and biological catalysis.

References

- 1 Davies, I.W. and Welch, C.J. (2009) Science, **325**, 701.
- 2 Wohlgemuth, R. (2010) *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **21**, 713.
- 3 Tufvesson, P., Lima-Ramos, J., Al-Haque, N., Gernaey, K.V., and Woodley, J.M. (2013) Org. Process Res. Dev., 17, 1233.
- 4 Tufvesson, P., Lima-Ramos, J., Nordblad, M., and Woodley, J.M. (2011a) Org. Process Res. Dev., 15, 266.
- 5 Arnold, F.H. (2001) Nature, 409, 253.
- 6 Bommarius, A.S., Blum, J.K., and Abrahamson, M.J. (2011) Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 15, 194.
- 7 Bornscheuer, U.T., Huisman, G.W., Kazlauskas, R.J., Lutz, S., Moore, J.C., and Robins, K. (2012) *Nature*, 485, 185.
- 8 Chen, R. (2001) *Trends Biotechnol.*, 18, 13.
- 9 Cobb, R.E., Chao, R., and Zhao, H. (2013) AlChE J., 59, 1432.
- 10 Jäckel, C. and Hilvert, D. (2010) Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 21, 753.
- 11 Li, Y. and Cirono, P.C. (2014) Biotechnol. Bioeng., 111, 1273.
- 12 Strohmeier, G.A., Pichler, H., May, O., and Gruber-Khadjawi, M. (2011) *Chem. Rev.*, **111**, 4141.
- 13 Turner, N.J. (2003) *Trends Biotechnol.*, 21, 474.
- 14 Turner, N.J. (2009) Nat. Chem. Biol., 5, 567.
- Lutz, S. (2010) Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 21, 734.

- 16 Huisman, G.W., Liang, J., and Krebber, A. (2010) Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 14, 122.
- 17 Woodley, J.M. (2013) Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 17, 310.
- 18 Liese, A. and Hilterhaus, L. (2013) Chem. Soc. Rev., 42, 6236.
- Pollard, D.J. and Woodley, J.M. (2007) Trends Biotechnol., 25, 66.
- 20 DiCosimo, R., McAuliffe, J., Poulose, A.J., and Bohlmann, G. (2013) *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 42, 6437.
- Sheldon, R.A. (2007) Adv. Synth. Catal., 349, 1289.
- 22 Bornscheuer, U.T. (2003) Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 43, 3336.
- 23 Mateo, C., Palomo, J.M., Fernandez-Lorente, G., Guisan, J.M., and Fenandez-Lafuente, R. (2007) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 40, 1451.
- 24 Rodrigues, R.C., Berenguer-Murcia, A., and Fernandez-Lafuente, R. (2011) Adv. Synth. Catal., 353, 2216.
- 25 Cao, L., van Langen, L., and Sheldon, R. (2003) *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 14, 387.
- 26 Hanefeld, U., Gardossi, L., and Magner, E. (2009) *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 38, 453.
- 27 Chauhan, R.P. and Woodley, J.M. (1997) *Chem. Tech.*, 27, 26.
- 28 Lye, G.J. and Woodley, J.M. (1999) *Trends Biotechnol.*, 17, 395.
- 29 Van Hecke, W., Kaur, G., and DE Wever, H. (2014) *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 32, 1245.

- 30 Woodley, J.M., Bisschops, M., Straathof, A.J.J., and Ottens, M. (2008) J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 83, 121.
- 31 Wagner, N., Fuereder, M., Bosshart, A., Panke, S., and Bechtold, M. (2012) Org. Process Res. Dev., 16, 323.
- 32 Calvin, S.J., Mangan, D., Miskelly, I., Moody, T.S., and Stevenson, P.J. (2012) Org. Process Res. Dev., 16, 82.
- Straathof, A.J.J. (2003) *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 19, 755.
- 34 Woodley, J.M. and Lilly, M.D. (1990) Chem. Eng. Sci., 45, 2391.
- 35 Woodley, J.M., Brazier, A.J., and Lilly, M.D. (1991) *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 37, 133.
- **36** Schroen, C.G.P.H. and Woodley, J.M. (1997) *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **13**, 276.
- 37 Kim, P.-Y., Pollard, D.J., and Woodley, J.M. (2001) *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 23, 74.
- 38 Vicenzi, J.T., Zmijewski, M.J., Reinhard, M.R., Landen, B.E., Muth, W., and Marler, P.G. (1997) *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 20, 494.
- 39 Ma, S.K., Gruber, J., Davis, C., Newman, L., Gray, D., Wang, A., Grate, J., Huisman, G.W., and Sheldon, R.A. (2010) *Green Chem.*, 12, 81.
- 40 Hansen, K.B., Hsiao, Y., Xu, F., Rivera, N., Clausen, A., Kubryk, M., Krska, S., Rosner, T., Simmons, B., Balsells, J., Ikemoto, N., Sun, Y., Spindler, F., Malan, C., Gradowski, E.J.J., and Armstrong, J.D. III, (2009) J. Am. Chem. Soc., 131, 8798.
- 41 Seo, J.-H., Kyung, D., Joo, K., Lee, J., and Kim, B.-G. (2010) *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 108, 253.

- 42 Truppo, M.D., Rozzell, J.D., Moore, J.C., and Turner, N.J. (2009) Org. Biomol. Chem., 7, 395.
- 43 Truppo, M.D., Rozell, J.D., and Turner, N.J. (2010) Org. Process Res. Dev., 14, 234.
- 44 Tufvesson, P., Lima-Ramos, J., Jensen, J.S., Al-Haque, N., Neto, W., and Woodley, J.M. (2011b) *Biotechnol. Bio*eng., **108**, 1479.
- 45 Savile, C.K., Janey, J.M., Mundorff, E.C., Moore, J.C., Tam, S., Jarvis, W.R., Colbeck, J.C., Krebber, A., Fleitz, F.J., Brands, J., Devine, P.N., Huisman, G.W., and Hughes, G.J. (2010) *Science*, **329**, 305.
- 46 Truppo, M.D., Strotman, H., and Hughes, G. (2012) *ChemCatChem*, 4, 1071.
- 47 Casimjee, K.E., Branneby, C., Abedi, V., Wells, A., and Berglund, P. (2010) *Chem. Commun.*, 46, 5569.
- 48 Hua, L., Nordkvist, M., Nielsen, P.M., and Villadsen, J. (2006) *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 97, 842.
- 49 Burton, S.G., Cowan, D.A., and Woodley, J.M. (2002) *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 20, 37.
- 50 Brenna, E., Gatti, F.G., Monti, D., Parmeggiani, F., and Sacchetti, A. (2012) *Chem. Commun.*, 48, 79.
- 51 Frodsham, L., Golden, M., Hand, S., Kenworth, M.N., Klauber, D.J., Leslie, K., Macleod, C., Meadows, R.E., Mulholland, K.R., Reilly, J., Squire, C., Tomasi, S., Watt, D., and Wells, A.S. (2013) Org. Process Res. Dev., 17, 1123.
- 52 Lima-Ramos, J., Neto, W., and Woodley, J.M. (2014) *Top. Catal.*, 57, 301.

5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

Takeshi Honda, Hiroshi Yamaguchi, and Masaya Miyazaki

5.1 Introduction

Enzymatic reactions proceed with high regio and stereoselectivity. In general, enzymatic processes generate less waste than conventional chemical synthetic processes and provide products of high purity. Therefore, during the last two decades, the application of enzymes has been continuously increasing across various industries. For industrial use, the catalytic and biophysical properties of enzymes, such as catalytic efficiency, substrate specificity, and stability, need to be improved. A variety of approaches, such as screening of enzymes from natural sources or random mutations, have been attempted for these purposes [1].

Modern protein engineering techniques have improved the catalytic and biophysical properties of some enzymes. However, many enzymes that have a great deal of potential in industry require a higher level of improvement for industrial use. In addition, enzymes often lack operational and storage stability. Because enzymes are proteins with unique conformations (three-dimensional structure), which are required for their catalytic activity, they can easily be denatured at high temperature and in organic solvents. The stability of enzymes in organic solvents and enhancing the thermostability are usually considered in an industrial process. Moreover, the enzymes require to be efficiently separated from other molecules such as the products in the reaction system. The ability to recover and reuse enzymes is also important in industry.

To overcome these obstacles, the immobilization of enzymes has been studied [2]. Immobilized enzymes provide several advantages for the use as catalysts in industry. A high concentration of enzymes can be immobilized on the substrates, resulting in a high enzyme to substrate ratio, thus allowing the immobilized enzyme reactor to perform rapid catalytic reactions. Furthermore, enzymes that are immobilized on the substrate walls or surfaces of microparticles can be isolated and removed easily from the reaction systems. Moreover, in comparison to free enzymes in solution, immobilized enzymes are reportedly stable and highly

100 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

resistant to environmental changes such as high temperatures or organic solvents. The enzymes are also reusable.

Recently, a variety of enzyme-immobilized reactors have been developed for highly efficient catalytic reactions [3]. The immobilized enzyme can be packed into microchannels in a microfluidic device. The combination of immobilized enzymes with microfluidics provides several advantages, such as the realization of automated and high-throughput catalytic systems. Enzymatic reactors can be classified into two types: chip-type reactors and microtube-type reactors. Chip-type reactors offer several advantages, including easy control of microfluidic reactions and the integration of many processes into one reaction device. The manufacturing processes of chip-type reactors are adaptations mainly from the microelectronics industry. Dry- or wet-etching processes have been used for creating microchannels on silicon or glass plates. Polymer-based materials can be used for the preparation of enzyme reactors because enzyme reactions are often performed in aqueous solutions. Poly(dimethyl siloxane) (PDMS), poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), polycarbonate, polystyrene, poly(ethylene terephthalate), poly(ether ether ketone), and polytetrafluoroethylene (known by the name of Teflon[®]) have been used for preparation of the devices. Various microchannel shapes have been developed in chip-type reactors, which could be processed by photolithography, soft lithography, injection molding, embossing and micromachining with laser, or microdrilling. A combined process of lithography, electrochemical technology, and molding has also been used for the production of reactors.

The key processes in enzymatic reactions are molecular mixing and separation. The large liquid interface-to-volume ratio in microscale reactors generates rapid mass transfer, which enables efficient molecular mixing and separation in enzymatic microreactors [4]. Miniaturized structures in microreactors provide excellent controllability in the formation of turbulent and laminar flows; as such, they are utilized for rapid mixing and *in situ* product removal/extraction in enzymatic reactions. A detailed discussion is beyond the scope of this chapter, but we refer readers to some excellent reviews [5-10].

In this chapter, we will introduce the immobilization of enzymes for application in a variety of fields, including industrial applications. The following section focuses on the fundamental techniques of immobilized enzymes, novel and interesting immobilization techniques, and their applications, including miniaturization of reactors. As the field of immobilized enzyme systems is extensive, each section presents an introductory overview of ongoing research.

5.2

Fundamental Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization

Enzyme immobilization technologies have been applied to various enzymatic transformation systems. The immobilized catalyst in the reaction systems allows



Figure 5.1 Enzyme immobilization techniques.

easy separation of the catalyst and product, resulting in simplified microfluidic handling. Therefore, enormous effort has been directed toward the development of enzyme immobilization methods and utilization of enzymatic reactors.

Enzyme immobilization can be achieved by covalent linking, affinity labeling, physical adsorption, enzyme polymerization, and entrapment (Figure 5.1). Enzyme polymerization, which covalently connects enzymes to each other with a cross-linker, can be partly categorized as covalent linking. It enables the formation of miniature structures made of the polymerized enzymes in a reactor. To prepare immobilized enzymes, they are attached to solid materials, such as microspheres/beads, membranes, fibers, monoliths, or microchannel/capillary walls. In this section, recent trends in the development of enzyme immobilizing methods are discussed comprehensively.

5.2.1

Enzyme Immobilization by Adsorption

Adsorption is the simplest method for enzyme immobilization, involving reversible surface interactions between the enzyme and the support material. Adsorption is achieved by incubating enzymes with support materials under suitable conditions, including pH and ionic strength. Enzyme immobilization using the adsorption technique has a number of disadvantages, such as steric hindrance by the support, nonspecific bonding, overloading on the support, contamination of the product, and leakage of the enzymes from the carriers owing to the weak interaction between the enzyme and the carrier, which can be destroyed by desorption forces such as high ionic strength and pH. Therefore, a number of variations to counter these drawbacks have been developed, including adsorption-cross-linking, modification-adsorption, adsorption-coating, and selective adsorption-covalent attachment. A detailed discussion of these variations is presented in the book by Cao and Schmid [11]. Enzyme adsorption is carried out on a solid support, including the channel wall, monolith, particle, and membrane. Table 5.1 presents a summary of enzyme immobilization methods using the adsorption technique.

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Borosilicate tube with micro-bores	Lipase	Channel wall	TEOS	A microreactor, which is a borosilicate tube containing six bores 200 µm in inner diameter, was coated with mesoporous silica film (a thickness of less than 100 nm) prepared by TEOS sol-gel technique on the inner wall. The enzyme was immobilized on the film by passive	[12]
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Channel wall	GPTES, iminodiacetic acid, copper ion	The inner surface of capillary was functionalized with chelator-silane that was prepared by covalent bonding between the epoxy group of GPTES and iminodiacetic acid as the chelator. The enzyme was adsorbed on the capillary	[13]
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Channel wall	MAPTS, TMOS, poly(diallyldimethyl- ammonium chloride) (PDDA)	TMOS sol – gel polymerization or the presence of PDDA was performed in the capillary whose surface was functionalized with MAPTS, followed by assembly of trypsin onto the positively charged surface through electrostatic adsorption	[14]

Table 5.1 Adsorption techniques for enzyme-immobilized microreactor preparation.

allyldimethyl- prepared by electrostatical assembly uium chloride) based on a layer-by-layer technique using PDDA and β-zeolite nanocryst on the channel walls of PET-microch
The enzyme was adsorbed to the nano-zeolite network lexadimethrine The preparation of the enzyme- immobilized capillary includes the following steps: coating with positive charged hexadimethrine on the capil inner surface, immobilization of the enzyme to the capillary surface throu electrostatic interaction, and subsequ coating with hexadimethrine to cove
The enzyme was adsorbed to nano-zeolite network
on the channel walls of PET-micr

(Continued)	
Table 5.1	

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Glass microchip	Glucose oxidase, choline oxidase	Monolith	TMOS, MTES, polyethylenimine (PEI)	The silica monoliths were prepared from TMOS and MTES using a sol-gel method in a microchannel, followed by adsorption of PEI to the monolith. Enzymes were immobilized on the PEI-coated monolith through electronegative enzymes and	[18]
Glass microchip	Glucose oxidase	Monolith	MAPTES, <i>N-</i> isopropylacrylamide (IPAA), <i>N,N-</i> methylene-bis- arylamide (MBA), 2-hydroxy-2- methylpropiophenone (HMP)	The microchannel wall was coated with MAPTES, followed by photopolymerization of IPAA (monomer), MBA (cross-linker), and HMP (photoinitiator) in the microchannels to form poly- <i>N</i> -isopropylacrylamide (PNIPAAm)-monolith with 3D macroporous framework. PNIPAAm-integrated glass microchip was heated at 37 °C to maintain the hydrophobic status of PNIPAAm, followed by adsorption of enzyme to the monolith via hydrophobic interaction	[19]

[20]	[21]	[22]	(continued
An NC membrane dissolved in acetone/propanol was spotted on the surface of a glass slide modified with octadecyltrichlorosilane, followed by reconstitution of the NC membrane by air-drying. The enzyme was adsorbed on the membrane, and PDMS chip with a microchannel was manually assembled on the glass slide using the NC membrane	A porous PVDF membrane was sandwiched between two PDMS-based chips with the microchannels facing the membrane. The enzyme was adsorbed onto the surface of the membrane by continuous flow	A PE-based plate with a microchannel was sandwiched between two PVDF-membranes. Cationic and anionic exchange membranes were contiguously located outside of the PVDF membranes. The bound membranes were sandwiched between polymer layers with buffer-flow channels. Enzymes were immobilized on the surface of PVDF membranes by electric field orientation in a continuous flow-through chamber	
Nitrocellulose (NC), octadecyltrichlorosi- lane	Poly(vinylidine fluoride) (PVDF)	Poly(vinylidine fluoride) (PVDF), ion- exchange-membranes	
Membrane	Membrane	Membrane	
β-Galactosidase	Trypsin	Trypsin, chymotrypsin	
Glass/PDMS microchip	PDMS microchip	PE microchip	

(pəi

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Beads	HILIC microsphere	An enzymatic microreactor was prepared by an enzyme dynamically immobilized on a HILLC (hydrophilic interaction liquid chromatography) matrix, followed by packing the enzyme – HILLC	[23]
PDMS microchip	Acetylcholines- terase	Magnetic particle	Graphene oxide (GO)–Fe ₃ O ₄ magnetic nanocomposites (MNCs)	The enzyme was immobilized to GO/Fe ₃ O ₄ -MNCs through passive adsorption, and then enzyme-immobilized GO/Fe ₃ O ₄ -MNCs were packed into the channel of PDMS microchin by bermanent magnets	[24]
PDMS microchip	Lipase	Nanoparticle	Folded-sheet mesoporous materials (FSM4 and FSM7; pore diameters of 4 and 7 nm, respectively)	The enzyme was adsorbed/encapsulated by the silica-based FSM4 and FSM7 nanoparticles. The enzyme-FSM was immobilized on PDMS microchannel by polymerization of a PDMS prepolymer laver	[25]
Fused-silica capillary	Asparaginase	Nanoparticle	Gold nanoparicles (AuNPs), MPTMS	The enyme was immobilized on AuNPs through passive adsorption. The inner wall of a fused-silica capillary was modified with MPTMS by sol-gel technique, followed by immobilization of enzyme-attached AuNPs on the free thiol-functionalized inner surface of the capillary	[26]

Table 5.1 (Continued)

106 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

Fused-silica capillary	Adenosine deaminase,	Nanoparticle	Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs),	Multiple enzymes were simultaneously immobilized on AuNPs through passive	[27]
	xanthine oxidase		polyethylenimine (PEI)	adsorption. A capillary surface was coated with positively charged PEI	
				through electrostatic interaction, followed by immobilization of negatively	
				charged enzyme-AuNPs on the positively	
				charged capillary inner wall	
Fused-silica capillary	α-Glucosidase	Monolith	MAPTS, ethylene	The poly(GMA-co-EDMA) monolith was	[28]
		nanoparticle	dimethacrylate	formed by polymerization of EDMA,	
			(EDMA), glycidyl	GMA, and ABMP in a capillary whose	
			methacrylate (GMA),	surface was functionalized with MAPTS.	
			2,2-azobis(2-	The resulting epoxide-modified monolith	
			methylpropionitrile)	was functionalized with cysteamine to	
			(ABMP), cysteamine,	introduce a thiol group, followed by	
			gold nanoparticles	modification with gold nanoparticles	
				(AuNPs) through coordinate bonding	
				with the thiol–Au. The enzyme was	
				immobilized on AuNPs through passive	
				adsorption	
PET microchip	Trypsin	Channel wall	Poly(diallyl dimethyl	The channel surface coating was assembled	[29]
			ammonium chloride)	via a layer-by-layer electrostatic binding	
			(PDDA), gold	of PDDA and gold nanoparticles. The	
			nanoparticle	enzyme was adsorbed in the two-bilayer	
				assembly	

(continued)

5.2 Fundamental Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization **107**

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Microfluidic paper-based analytical device (μΡΑD)	Lactate dehydro- genase, diaphorase	Channel wall	Chromatography paper	A µPAD was prepared by the following steps: printing of a microchannel pattern on a chromatography paper using hydrophobic solid ink on a wax printer to form the paper-based microchannel surrounded by the hydrophobic ink walls, followed by adsorption of two enzymes by spotting their solutions as a circle on a channel line, which are located apart from one another	[30]
PDMS, poly(dimethyl siloxau aminopropyl)carbodiimide; tetramethoxylsilane; GPTES trimethoxysilane; MPTMS, i	ıe); PMMA, poly(meth NHS, N-hydroxysuccir , y-glycidoxypropyltrin 5-mercaptopropyl-trim	yl methacrylate); PS, j imide; APTES, 3-(am nethoxysilane; PEI, po iethoxysilane.	polystyrene; PET, poly(ethyle inopropyl)triethoxysilane; M lyethyleneimine; PTFE, <i>polyt</i>	re terephthalate); EDC, 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyl EES, methyltriethoxysilan; TEOS, tetraethoxysilane strafluoroethylene; MAPTS, g-methacryloxypropyl	e; TMOS,

Table 5.1 (Continued)

108 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

5.2.1.1 Monoliths and Particles

He *et al.* reported the polyethyleneimine (PEI)-coated silica-monolithic grass microchip [18]. Glucose oxidase and choline oxidase were immobilized on the PEI layer through electrostatic adsorption between electronegative enzymes and electropositive PEI polymer.

Liang *et al.* developed a graphene oxide (GO)/magnetite nanocomposite-based on-chip enzymatic microreactor [24]. Nanoparticles (NPs) of magnetic iron oxide such as magnetite γ -Fe₂O₃ and magnetite Fe₃O₄ show not only a powerful magnetic force but also low toxicity and biocompatibility in physiological environments. They inferred that the introduction of Fe₃O₄ NPs into graphene could combine the high adsorption capacity of graphene and the manipulation convenience of the magnetic materials, which is favorable for further immobilization of the enzyme and easy retrieval and separation of graphene from the dispersion.

The use of folded-sheet mesoporous materials (FSM) as an enzymeimmobilized support was described by Matsuura *et al.* [25]. FSM is a silica-based particle with controlled pore size and a uniform pore structure. The developed microchip with enzyme-adsorbed FSM enabled the evaluation of the effect of pore size on the reaction efficiency of the enzyme microreactor.

Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) have often been used as a support material for passive adsorption of the enzyme in reactor systems. Enzyme-adsorbed AuNPs have been immobilized in reactors using the following approaches: AuNPs were coordinatively bonded to thiol groups functionalized on a capillary surface [26]; negatively charged enzyme-adsorbed AuNPs were immobilized on a positively charged PEI-coated capillary surface through electrostatic interactions [27]; AuNPs were attached to a copolymer monolith possessing thiol groups through coordinative Au-thiol bonding [26]; and AuNPs were adsorbed on the layer of poly(diallyl dimethyl ammonium chloride) assembled on a microchannel surface [29].

5.2.1.2 Synthetic Polymer Membranes and Papers

Nitrocellulose (NC) and poly(vinylidene fluoride) (PVDF) can strongly adsorb proteins. NC and PVDF membranes have been heavily used in biotechnological processes for protein capture such as western blot. Several groups have developed enzyme microreactors in which NC or PVDF membranes have been grafted for enzyme immobilization [20-22, 31].

Ferrer *et al.* developed a microfluidic paper-based analytical device (μ PAD) wherein two enzymes are arranged on the "paper-based" microchannel. The two enzymes were adsorbed in the microchannel by spotting the enzyme solutions at the disk-shaped area on a paper-channel line. This device is inexpensive and easy to fabricate and effects the reaction based solely on buffer capillary action [30] (Figure 5.2). There have been considerable efforts to speed up the development of a μ PAD system for diagnostics [32].

5.2.1.3 Adsorption to Channel Walls

Kataoka *et al.* described direct adsorption of lipase on a mesoporous silica film that was coated on the microchannel inner wall [12]. A similar approach was also

110 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors



Figure 5.2 (a) Schematic representation of the double microreactor μ PAD. The figure shows an eight-channel double microreactor μ PAD. Diaphorase (DI), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and the sample are spotted on the μ PAD prior to analysis. (b) Photograph of the double microreactor μ PAD using a range (0.0, 0.5, 0.8, 1.2, 1.6, and 2.0 mM) of concentrations of resazurin. Running buffer is 0.2 mM Tris at pH 7.4. (From [30] with permission ©2008 American Chemical Society.)

reported in which the enzyme was directly adsorbed on the copper-functionalized surface of a capillary [13].

Enzyme immobilization based on layer-by-layer (LBL) assembly technology has been developed by several groups. The LBL structure on a microchannel surface was prepared from various charged polymers such as hexadimethrine [16], poly(diallyldimethylammonium chloride) (PDDA)/silica sol-gel matrix [14], PDDA/ β -zeolite nanocrystals [15], and chitosan/hyaluronic acid [17]. Trypsin and tyrosinase were strongly and efficiently immobilized on the LBLs assembled on the microchannel surfaces through passive adsorption (Figure 5.3).

5.2.2

Enzyme Immobilization by Entrapment

Another approach for the immobilization of enzymes is entrapment, which consists in physically trapping enzymes into a film, polymer coating, gel, or monolith, or by microencapsulation [33]. The method involves a physical step, namely confining enzymes within the lattices of polymerized gels. This allows the free diffusion of low-molecular-weight substrates and reaction products. During the process, the enzymes are incorporated into a matrix network. The usual method is to polymerize the hydrophilic polymer and/or silica sol-gel matrix in an aqueous solution of the enzyme. This method basically contains no



Figure 5.3 Schematic representation of the immobilized capillary enzyme reactor prepared by the layer-by-layer assembly. (From [16] with permission ©2013 Elsevier.)

covalent linkage between the enzyme and the polymer matrix, avoiding enzyme inactivation often caused by chemical modifications. Other advantages of this immobilization technique include the extremely large surface area between the substrate and the enzyme, within a relatively small volume, and the real possibility of simultaneous immobilization [34]. Table 5.2 presents a summary of enzyme immobilization methods using the entrapment technique.

5.2.2.1 Silica-Based Matrices

Simple entrapment in silica sol-gel monolithic supports, which were prepared by polymerization of tetramethoxysilane or by photopolymerization of methacryloxypropyl trimethoxysilane, was reported for the preparation of protease-immobilized microchips or capillaries [35, 36]. Enzymes are immobilized in the silica sol-gel matrix with a stable gel network through a Si-O-Si bridge by tethering to the silanol groups. Qu *et al.* developed a PMMA microreactor with trypsin-entrapped tetraethoxysilane (TEOS) polymer, wherein the TEOS sol-gel polymer was tethered to the microchannel surface that was coated with silanol-grafted polyacrylate [41] (Figure 5.4). TEOS polymerization was performed in the presence of the enzyme and polyethylene glycol (PEG). In a similar fashion, the developed enzyme-entrapped silica matrices were often assisted by hydrophilic and biocompatible polymers such as PEG [39, 40], polyethylene oxide (corresponding to PEG with long chains) [38], and dextrin [37]. Such

reparation.
nicroreactor p
mobilized m
enzyme-im
nniques for
trapment tech
ole 5.2 Ent

Table 5.2 Entrapment tec	hniques for enzyme	e-immobilized mi	croreactor preparation.		
Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PMMA microchip	Trypsin	Monolith	TMOS	The enzyme was entrapped in silica-sol–gel monolithic support by <i>in situ</i> polymerization of TMOS in the presence of enzyme in a sample reservoir of the PMMA chin	[35]
Fused-silica capillary	Pepsin A	Monolith	MAPTS, TMOS	A foundational sol-gel monolith was prepared by photopolymerization of MAPTS in a limited section of a capillary. The enzyme was immobilized by coating of enzyme-entrapped TMOS sol-gel polymer on the foundational monolith surface	[36]
Poly(ether ether ketone) (PEEK) capillary	Protease P	Monolith	MTES, TMOS, dextrin	The enzyme was entrapped in silica monolith by <i>in situ</i> The enzyme was entrapped in silica monolith by <i>in situ</i> sol-gel polymerization of TMOS and MTES in PEEK capillaries. The sol-gel matrix was also doped with dextrin to prevent shrinkage of the gel	[37]
Glass microchip	Glucose 6-phosphate dehydroge- nase, cellulase	Monolith	Ehtyleneglycol modified silane (EGMS), TEOS, polyethylene oxide (PEO)	The silica monolith in microchannels was prepared by the following two-steps. A homogenous silane-precursor sol solution was prepared by hydrolysis of TEOS or EGMS, followed by addition of enzyme and PEO into the sol. The mixture was sufficiently polymerized into the microchannels, resulting in formation of enzyme-entrapped monolith in the microchannels	[38]

112 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

_	_	_	tinued)
[39	[40	[41	noc)
The microchannel surface was hydrolyzed with aqueous NaOH in order to convert ester groups of PET to free hydroxyl or carboxyl groups. Silica sol–gel polymer, which was prepared from the reaction mixture of TEOS and PEG, was linked to the converted functional groups on the microchannel surface, and then an additional polymerization of TEOS containing enzyme was performed to entrap the enzyme in the silicamonolith in the PET microchannels	The microchannel surface was modified with zeolite nanoparticles, called silicalite-1, to introduce the silanol groups on the surface by a dynamic coating method. Silica sol-gel polymer, which was prepared from the reaction mixture of TEOS and PEG, was linked to the silanol groups on the microchannel surface. The enzyme was mixed in the sol-gel solution, resulting in immobilization of trypsin in the silica sol-gel matrix with a stable gel network through a Si-O-Si bridge via tethering to the silanol groups	The microchannel surface was coated with a copolymer of BMA/MAPTS. A silica sol-gel polymer, which was prepared from the reaction mixture of TEOS with PEG, was linked to the silanol groups of the co-polymer on the channel surface, followed by additional TEOS-polymerization containing enzyme to entrap the enzyme in the sol-gel matrix on the channel surfaces	
Sodium hydroxide, TEOS, PEG	Zeolite nanoparticle, TMOS, PEG	Butyl methacrylate (BMA), y-methyl- acryloxypropyltri- methoxysilane (MAPTS), TMOS, PEG	
Channel wall	Channel wall	Channel wall	
Trypsin	Trypsin	Trypsin	
PET microchip	PMMA microchip	PMMA microchip	

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PDMS microchip	Hydroxylamino- benzene mutase, soybean peroxidase	Beads	Silaffin-derived R5-peptide, TMOS	Enzymes were mixed with silaffin-derived R5 peptide, that facilitates the formation of siliceous nanostructures. Biosilicification and enzyme entrapment simultaneously occur by addition of TMOS into the mixture of R5-peptide and enzyme. The enzyme-immobilized biosilica particles were packed in the microchannels of a PDMS-based microchip	[42]
Silicon microchip	β-Galactosidase	Channel wall	1,1,3,3-Tetramethyl- disiloxane (TMDSO)	Organosilicon films of plasma-polymerized TMDSO (ppTMDSO) were deposited on the surface of microreactor substrate as carrier matrix by "cold remote plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition" technique. The enzyme was entrapped in the growing organosilicon polymer network by polymerization of TMDSO in the presence of enzyme, or by overcoating of additional ppTMDSO layer on the enzyme-preadsorbed ppTMDSO layer on the	[43]
PDMS microchip	Trypsin	Channel wall	Alumina, titania	Alumina or titania sol–gel polymerization in the presence of enzyme was performed on the PDMS microchip with a plasma-oxidized surface, resulting in entrapment of enzyme in the sol–gel matrix	[44]

Table 5.2 (Continued)

MAPTS, acry bis-acrylar poly(acryli PEG Ethylene glyc diacrylate (Gel Beads	idase,	network formed by addition of CaCl ₂ solution, network formed by addition of CaCl ₂ solution, formation of a thin layer of chitosan on the calcium alginate layer, and coating with PEI to make the thin layer stable	idase Gel MAPTS, acrylamide, The channel surface was functionalized with MAPTS to [46] bis-acrylamide, enable covalent binding of the gel to the surface. The poly(acrylic acid), enzyme was entrapped in a polyacrylamide gel-based PEG monolith by <i>in situ</i> polymerization of the reagent mixture containing acrylamide, bis-acrylamide, poly(acrylic acid), PEG, and enzyme	Beads Ethylene glycol PEG-based hydrogel microstructures were fabricated [47] tase, diacrylate (PEGDA) inside PDMS microchannels using UV initiated [47] tase, free-radical crosslinking of the PEGDA. The hydrogel patterns were dependent on the shapes of photomask. Enzymes were incorporated into the hydrogel by photopolymerization of the reaction mixture supplemented with enzyme	(continued)
Glucose oxidase Gel Alkaline Beads phosphatase, urease	Glucose oxidase Alkaline phosphatase, urease			Fused-silica capillary, Glass microchip	PDMS microchip	

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Adsorption materials and reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PDMS microchip	Glucose oxidase, horseradish peroxidase	Beads	4-Hydroxybuthyl acrylate (HBA), acrylic acid, ethylene glycol dimethacrylate (PEGDA), 2,2-dimethoxy-2- phenyl-	Enzyme-encapsulated polymeric microparticles were prepared by <i>in situ</i> photo-polymerization in a continuous flow of a water-immiscible fluid. The polymerizable hydrogel solution, including HBA, acrylic acid, PEGDA, and DMPA, uniformly mixed with enzyme was shaped as microdroplets surrounded with immiscible non-polymerizable sheath fluid (mineral oil) and polymerized by	[48]
PTFE microchip	Protease	Monolith	acetonphenone (DMPA) Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA)	continuous UV exposure in the PDMS-microchannels The procedure for encapsulation of protease in aqueous PVA matrix includes the following steps: loading the PVA solution mixed with enzyme into the channel of PTFE microchip reactor, cooling to –40 °C, and freeze-drying under vacuum	[49]

Table 5.2 (Continued)

aminopropyl)carbodiimide; NHS, N-hydroxysuccinimide; APTES, 3-(aminopropyl)triethoxysilane; MTES, methyltriethoxysilan; TEOS, tetraethoxysilane; TMOS, tetramethoxylsilane; GPTES, y-glycidoxypropyltrimethoxysilane; PEI, polyethyleneimine; PTFE, polytetrafluoroethylene; MAPTS, g-methacryloxypropyl trimethoxysilane; MPTMS, 3-mercaptopropyl-trimethoxysilane.

116 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors


Figure 5.4 Process of functional PMMA surface modification followed by enzyme immobilization using silica sol-gel entrapment. (From [41] with permission ©2004 American Chemical Society.)

polymers are known to have a favorable effect on the stability of the enzymes. Naik *et al.* developed an interesting method for enzyme entrapment in a silicabased matrix using biosilicification [42]. The authors demonstrated that the biosilicification reaction could serve as an alternative method for the entrapment of enzymes using more biologically compatible reaction conditions and applied it to the entrapment of a variety of enzymes.

A novel and facile method for enzyme immobilization using an organosilicon thin film was developed by Elagli *et al.* Organosilicon thin films deposited by remote plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (RPECVD) system have been used in various applications including protein immobilization [43, 50]. Cold plasma polymerization by RPECVD enabled the deposition of 1,1,3,3tetramethyldisiloxane (TMDSO) monomer containing an enzyme on the substrate, resulting in the stable formation of enzyme-entrapped organosilicon film. β -Galactosidase was entrapped in the growing polymer network of the plasma-polymerized TMDSO (ppTMDSO) as carrier matrix or was coated by the ppTMDSO layer [51].

5.2.2.2 Non-Silica-based Matrices

Alumina and titania are metallic-oxide-based biocompatible materials and are able to form sol-gel polymers in a manner similar to silica sol-gel. Microchips with trypsin-entrapping metallic oxide sol-gel matrices have been developed to provide stable and efficient proteolysis in a biocompatible microenvironment [44, 52] (Figure 5.5).

Min *et al.* described an enzyme immobilization method combining electrostatic interaction and film overlay [45]. A complex of acetylcholinesterase (AChE) and the negatively charged alginate polymer was electrostatically adsorbed on the positively charged PEI-coated capillary surface, followed by entrapment of AChE through the formation of a chitosan thin film over the adsorbed enzyme.

Several groups have applied acrylic polymer-based hydrogels as support materials for enzyme entrapment. Mersal *et al.* developed a one-step procedure for enzyme entrapment in a polyacrylamide gel-based monolithic capillary [46].



Figure 5.5 Process of forming enzyme-encapsulated sol-gel inside microchannel of PDMS functionalized by oxidation in oxygen plasma. (From [44] with permission ©2004 American Chemical Society.)

Enzyme entrapment was achieved by *in situ* polymerization in the presence of the enzyme, poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG), and negatively charged poly(acrylic acid). The authors optimized the composition of the polymers to maintain the enzymatic activity and to prevent the formation of bubbles and allow liquid transportation by electroosmotic flow.

Particle dispersion- and shape-controlled hydrogel microstructures, in which enzymes were entrapped for enzymatic microreactions, were prepared by UV-initiated cross-linking of PEG diacrylate in continuous microfluids [47, 48].

Aqueous polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) solutions are well known to form a "cryogel", which is a hydrogel formed upon freezing. Proteins are automatically entrapped in the PVA matrix by freeze-drying a PVA solution mixed with the protein. Therefore, PVA cryogels were successfully applied to the immobilization and/or encapsulation of biomaterials [53]. This simple method was applied to protease- and α -amylase-immobilized microreactors [49, 54] (Figure 5.6).

Immobilized lipase is a commonly used biocatalyst in organic synthesis in microreaction systems [55]. Using immobilized lipase on a polymer support allowed the enzymatic resolution of a key intermediate for the synthesis of odanacatib, which is a potent and selective cathepsin K inhibitor currently being evaluated in clinical trials [56]. The immobilized lipase was more active and 15 times more stable than the free enzyme. This permitted a continuous dynamic kinetic resolution process that was significantly less expensive than the original batch process, and with a threefold reduction in the E-factor of the process [56].



Figure 5.6 SEM images of bulk freeze-dried foams. (a) Specimen prepared in copper sample holder, slow cooling. (b) Copper sample holder, rapid cooling. (c) PTFE sample holder,

slow cooling. (d) PTFE sample holder, rapid cooling. (From [54] with permission @2014 Elsevier B.V.)

5.2.3

Enzyme Immobilization by Affinity Labeling

Noncovalent biological interactions such as His-tag/nickel ion-coordinated nitrilotriacetic acid (Ni-NTA), biotin/avidin, glutathione *S*-transferase (GST)/ glutathione, and hybridization of complementary DNA strands show high binding affinity and specificity. These interaction systems have been essential in techniques for various biotechnological processes because they enable highly specific and orientational enzyme immobilization, reversible/repeatable immobilizations, and avoidance of enzyme inactivation. Therefore, affinity labeling systems have been used for the preparation of enzymatic reactors. Table 5.3 presents a summary of enzyme immobilization methods using affinity labeling.

5.2.3.1 His-Tag/Ni-NTA System

The simple preparation of an enzyme reactor utilizing a His-tag/Ni-NTA system was reported by Miyazaki *et al.* and Matosevic *et al.*, wherein the His-tagged enzymes were immobilized to Ni-NTA introduced on the capillary inner walls modified with silane reagents [57, 70]. The commercially available Ni-NTA-conjugated agarose beads have been utilized by several groups by simply packing them in microreactors [58, 59, 71]. Muñoz *et al.* developed a glass microchip possessing Ni-NTA agarose beads trapped on the PEI/dextran sulfate LBL deposit

Medium	Enzyme	Support materials	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Fused-silica capillary	Lactic dehydrogenase	Channel wall	APTES, MTES, NTA, carbodiimide/NHS	The inner wall surface of fused-silica capillary was functionalized with amino groups by sol-gel technique utilizing APTES and MTES, followed by coupling NTA as a chelator of Ni ion using the carbodiimide/NHS technique. Histidine-tagged enzyme was immobilized to Ni-chelating NTA group	[57]
PDMS microchip	Kromycin hydroxylase	Ni-NTA-modified magnetic agarose beads	Commercially available beads	on the capillary surface Ni-NTA magnetic agarose beads were packed into the microchannel of PDMS microchip. Histidine-tagged enzyme was immobilized onto the beads using His-Packit-NTA binding	[58]
Fluorinated ethylene propylene (FEP) microtube	Transketolase, transaminase	Ni-NTA-modified agarose beads	Commercially available beads	Ni-NTA agarose beads were packed into a FEP-microtube. Histidine-tagged enzymes were immobilized onto the beads using His-tag/Ni-NTA hinding	[59]
PASS <i>flow</i> (polymer-assisted solution phase synthesis under flow conditions) microreactor	Benzaldehyde liase, <i>p</i> -nitrobenzyl esterase	Polymer beads	Poly(vinyl benzyl chloride), divinyl benzene, <i>N-</i> vinylpyrrolidinone, NTA	Polymer beads with high polarity were prepared by cross-linking of poly(vinyl benzyl chloride), divinyl benzene, and <i>N</i> -vinylpyrrolidinone. The beads introduced tyrosine- or lysine-based NTA group attached histidine-tagged enzymes using His-tag/Ni-NTA binding. The enzyme-immobilized beads were nacked inside a PASS <i>flow</i> microreactor	[60]

Table 5.3 Affinity labeling techniques for enzyme immobilized microreactor preparation.

Glass-microchip	Diacylglycerol acyl transferase	Ni-NTA-modified agarose beads	APTES, PEI, crotonaldehyde, dextran sulfate	The enzyme-immmobilization process includes the [61] following steps: functionalization with APTES on the channel surfaces of glass-microchip, coating with PEI, activation of the channel surface using crotonaldehyde (propionaldehyde), re-coating with PEI and cross-linking between amino and aldehyde groups, attachment of polyanionic dextran sulfate on the PEI-layered channel surface through electrostatic interaction, additional coating of Ni-NTA-functionalized agarose beads on the layer-by-layer deposition, and immobilization of His-tagged enzyme to the beads through His-tagged enzyme to the beads
PDMS microchip	Glucose oxidase, horseradish peroxidase	Streptavidin- modified beads	Commercially available beads	Biotin-labeled enzymes were conjugated onto [62] microbeads coated with streptavidin. These microbeads were subsequently packed into each of the two discreet reaction zones of a PDMS microchip with weirs for retaining the beads
PDMS-microchip	β-Galactosidase, glucose oxidase, horseradish peroxidase	Channel wall	Polymeric amine, glutaraldehyde, heparin, avidin, biotin-polyethylene glycol spacer-succinimide	The channel surface of a PDMS microchip was coated [63] with avidin-attached multilayers prepared by the following steps: coating with polymeric amine, crosslinking by glutaraldehyde, coating with heparin, crosslinking by glutaraldehyde, coating with heparin, and attachment of avidin. Enzymes conjugated with biotin by biotinyl reagent (biotin –biotin-polyethylene glycol spacer – succinimide) were immobilized to the avidin-modified surface of the microchannel

5.2 Fundamental Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization 121

(continued)

Continued)	
le 5.3	

Table 5.3 (Continued					
Medium	Enzyme	Support materials	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PDMS-glass microchip	Alkaline phosphatase, glucose oxidase, horseradish peroxidase	Channel wall	Fibrinogen, biotin-4-fluorescein	Plasma-oxidized channel surfaces of a PDMS glass microchip were coated with fibrinogen as passivating protein. Biotin-4-fluorescein (B4F) was adsorbed on the fibrinogen thin layer, followed by photo-attachment of B4F to fibrinogen by Ar/Kr laser beam. Streptavidin-linked enzymes were immobilized on the channel surface through avidin/biotin binding	[64]
PDMS microchip	Alkaline phosphatase, glucose oxidase, horseradish peroxidase	Channel wall	 1, 2-Dilauroyl-sn-glycero- 3-phosphocholine (DLPC), 1, 2-dipalmitoyl-sn- glycero-3- phosphoethanolamine- N-(7-nitro-2-1, 3- benzozadiazol-4-yl) (NBD-Cap-PE), 1, 2-dipalmitoyl-sn- glycero-3- phosphoethanolamine- N-biotin (N-biotinyl-Cap-PE) 	Phospholipid small unifamellar vesicles (SUVs) were prepared from DLPC, NBD-Cap-PE, and N-biotinyl-Cap-PE. SUVs were flowed through the channels of PDMS microchip oxidized by oxygen plasma treatment, or borosilicate-based capillary, resulting in fusion of SUVs onto the channel surfaces and formation of single planner supported membranes containing biotinylated lipid. Avidin-conjugated enzymes were immobilized on the membrane-coated channel surface through avidin/biotin binding	[65]

ısed-silica capillary	Peptide-N-	Monolith	Glycidyl methacrylate	Glutathione-modified monolithic capillary was [66]	
	glycosidase		(GMA), ethylene	prepared by the following steps: coating of GMATES	
	F		dimethacrylate	sol–gel polymer on the inner surface of a capillary,	
			(EDMA), 2,2'-	formation of a co-polymer monolith using a	
			azobisisobutyronitrile	polymerization of GMA, EDMA, and AIBN,	
			(AIBN), ammonium	amination of the poly(GMA-co-EDMA) monolith by	
			hydroxide,	ammonium hydroxide, introduction of an iodoacetyl	
			succinimidyl-6-	group using amino-reactive SIAH to the monolith,	
			[(iodoacetyl)amino]	and covalent attachment of glutathione to the	
			hexanoate (SIAH),	monolith using a thiol/iodoacetate reaction.	
			glutathione	GST-fusion enzyme was immobilized to the	
				monolith through the glutathione/GST binding	
DMS/glass-	Horseradish	Channel wall	APTES, disuccinimidyl-	A microchip was prepared from a PDMS substrate [67]	
microchip	peroxidase		glutarate,	containing microfluidic channels and a glass slide	
	(HRP)		amino-modified	bearing the DNA microarray. The process for	
			oligonucleotide,	immobilizing oligonucleotides for capturing a target	
			thiol-modified	DNA on the glass surface includes the following	
			oligonucleotide,	steps: amination of the glass surface with APTES,	
			sulfo-succinimidyl-4-	generating the amino-reactive surface by	
			(N-maleimidomethyl)-	disuccinimidylglutarate, and covalent attachment of	
			cyclohexan-1-	5' amino-modified capture oligonucleotide on the	
			carboxylate	active surface. HRP was conjugated with a "target"	
			(sSMCC)	oligonucleotide thiolated at the 5′-terminus by	
				covalent cross-linking using sSMCC as a	
				hetero-bifunctional cross-linker. Alternatively, a	
				conjugated HRP-oligonucleotide was prepared by	
				reconstitution of apo-HRP (HRP without heme) with	
				a heme group-modified oligonucleotide.	

(continued)

Medium	Enzyme	Support materials	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
				The HRP-oligonucleotide was immobilized on the channel surface by hybridization of the enzyme-conjugated "target" oligonucleotide and its complementary "capture" oligonucleotide on the channel surface	
Fused-silica capillary	Lipase B, horseradish peroxidase, glucose oxidase	Channel wall	2,2,2-Trifluoroethyl undec-10-enoate (TFEE), amino-modified oligonucleotide, azide-modified enzyme, alkyne-modified oligonucleotide	The fused silica capillaries were covalently coated with TFEE by UV irradiation. "The capture" oligonucleotide modified amino group at the 5'-terminus was attached to the capillary wall through amine-reactive trifluoroethanol group on the capillary inner surface. Azide group-functionalized enzymes were covalent linked to 5'-acetylene- modified "target" oligonucleotides by copper-catalyzed alkyne-azide cycloadditions (Click reaction). Enzymes were immobilized on the capillary surface by the complementary hybridization of the enzyme-conjugated target-oligonucleotide and the capture oligonucleotide	[68]
Poly(ether ether ketone) (PEEK) microcolumn	Chymotrypsin	Channel wall	APTES, glutaraldehyde, amino-modified aptamer specific to enzyme	Amino-modified silica beads were treated with glutaraldehyde, resulting in introduction of aldehyde groups on the surface of the beads. ADNA aptamer specific to chymotrypsin, which had a modified amino group at the <i>5'</i> -terminus, was immobilized on the silica beads through Schiff's base reaction, followed by packing of aptamer-modified silica beads into a PEEK microcolumn	[69]

NTA, N-(5-amino-1-carboxypentyl)iminodiacetic acid; GST, glutathione-S-transferase.

124 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

Table 5.3 (Continued)

on a microchannel surface [61]. Drager *et al.* prepared an enzyme-immobilizing support from a Merrifield resin having NTA groups that were synthesized based on tyrosine or lysine [60].

5.2.3.2 GST-Tag/Glutathione System

Proteins fused with GST (i.e., GST-tagged proteins) often have higher specificity and solubility than His-tagged proteins. A glutathione-modified monolithic capillary was developed by Krenkova *et al.* [66]. Glutathione was covalently attached to the polymer monolith with the iodoacetyl group using a thiol/iodoacetate reaction. The GST-fused enzyme was immobilized on the polymer monolith through glutathione/GST binding.

5.2.3.3 Avidin/Biotin System

Rusmini *et al.* inferred that the His-tag/Ni-NTA interaction is relatively weak $(K_d = \sim 10^{-6} \text{ M})$ and not too specific, thus a gradual loss of the enzyme is a considerable risk [72]. The avidin/biotin system is the strongest noncovalent biological interaction known $(K_d = \sim 10^{-14} \text{ M})$, and is one of the most widely used affinity pairs owing to the high affinity and specificity of the interaction. A simple immobilization method using streptavidin-coated microbeads was developed for a sequential enzymatic reaction by two enzymes [62, 73]. Seong *et al.* conjugated biotin-labeled glucose oxidase and horseradish peroxidase onto streptavidin-coated microbeads. These microbeads were subsequently packed into each of the two discreet reaction zones. Boehm *et al.* attached biotin-labeled enzymes to the avidin-modified microchannel surface of a PDMS microchip [63].

An interesting biotin attachment method for patterning avidin-linked enzymes inside microchannels was developed by Holden *et al.* [64]. Biotin-4-fluorescein was photo-attached to the fibrinogen thin layer coated on the microchannel using a laser beam. Streptavidin-linked enzymes such as glucose oxidase, horseradish peroxidase, and alkaline phosphatase were immobilized on the microchannel surface at the laser-illuminated site through avidin/biotin binding. Furthermore, the authors demonstrated that fibrinogen was more suitable for a passivating the thin-film coating than lysozyme, bovine serum albumin (BSA), and immunoglobulin G. The fibrinogen coating generated the greatest density of specifically bound streptavidin molecules and the lowest nonspecific adsorption (Figure 5.7).

A unique technique using phospholipid small unilamellar vesicles (SUVs) was developed to functionalize a microchannel surface with biotin [65]. The contact of the phospholipid vesicles with the surfaces of the plasma-oxidized PDMS and borosilicate substrates triggers the vesicle fusion, resulting in the formation of a single planer supported membrane on the substrate surfaces [65]. Biotinylation of the microchannel surface for immobilization of avidin-conjugated enzymes was achieved by using SUVs doped with biotinylated phosphatidylethanolamine.



Figure 5.7 Schematic diagram of the photoimmobilization process. Enzyme patches are formed on the top and bottom of a microchannel using the following procedure. (1) Passivation of the surface with a fibrinogen monolayer is followed by (2) biotin-4-fluorescein surface attachment. This

is accomplished by photobleaching with 488-nm laser light. (3) Next, the binding of streptavidin-linked enzymes can be exploited to immobilize catalysts and (4) to monitor reaction processes on-chip. (From [64] with permission ©2004, American Chemical Society.)

5.2.3.4 DNA Hybridization System

DNA/RNA oligonucleotides hybridize to its complementary strands with high specificity and affinity ($K_d = 10^{-7} - 10^{-9}$ M in a 21-base oligonucleotide with a random sequence) [74]. The unique molecular recognition property has led to several researchers attempting to convert DNA microarrays into protein arrays using a DNA-directed immobilization strategy [75]. Schröder *et al.* also applied the DNA recognition property to the addressable enzyme immobilization for multiple enzymatic cascade reaction in a continuous flow reactor [67]. A "target" oligonucleotide and its complementary "capture" oligonucleotide were covalently attached to an enzyme and a microchannel surface, respectively. The captured DNA microarray surface inside the microfluidic channels was configured through conventional spotting, and the resulting DNA patches could be conveniently addressed with enzymes containing complementary target DNA tags. Vong *et al.* also described a DNA-based method for dynamic positional enzyme immobilization inside silica microchannels [68].

5.2.3.5 Other Techniques Using Nucleotides for Enzyme Immobilization

An alternative oligonucleotide-based method was reported by Xiao *et al.* They applied a DNA aptamer, which is a 40-mer oligonucleotide that shows highly specific recognition and binding to the target molecule [69]. Enzyme immobilization was achieved by packing microbeads that are modified with a DNA aptamer specific to chymotrypsin in the microreactor.

5.2.4 Enzyme Immobilization by Covalent Linking

This technique of immobilization involves the formation of a covalent bond between the enzyme and the support material. Covalent bonds usually provide the strongest linkages between the enzyme and the carrier. Leakage of enzyme is often minimized with covalently bound immobilized enzymes. Moreover, immobilization of proteolytic enzymes on solid supports eliminates unwanted enzyme autodigestion and interfering fragments, and an extremely high local concentration of proteolytic enzymes provides rapid catalytic turnover. Table 5.4 presents a summary of enzyme immobilization methods using covalent linking.

5.2.4.1 Immobilization to Solid Supports

Various enzyme reactors have been prepared by packing enzyme-immobilized solid supports such as monoliths, beads, fibers, and nanotubes into microchannels or capillaries. An optimal support should be structurally stable, be chemically inert, and present a very large, solvent-accessible surface area. It should also offer low resistance to fluid flow and the ability to be patterned within microdevices.

Immobilization to Embedded Monolith Almost all polymer monoliths used as enzyme-immobilizing supports in reactors have been prepared by *in situ* polymerization in the microchannels and capillaries. The functionalization of monolith supports for enzyme attachment is mainly done by two methods: polymerization of monomer molecules possessing functional groups that enable enzyme immobilization, or generation of such functional groups by additional chemical treatment after monolith formation in the microreactors.

Several groups have reported enzyme microreactors with inorganic and organic hybrid silica monoliths such as silica sol-gel polymers containing fatty amine, PEG, and poly(glycidyl methacrylate-*co*-acrylamide-*co*-ethylene glycol dimethacrylate). As examples of the former, PEG-based hydrophilic monoliths containing the amino-reactive succinimide groups were prepared using *N*-acryloxysuccinimide as the active monomer to form trypsin-immobilized support in a microchip and a capillary [98, 99]. Also, Peterson *et al.* utilized a polymer possessing azlactone groups for the preparation of trypsin-immobilized monoliths in a capillary [100]. The azlactone group is reactive toward amino and thiol groups of enzymes.

Silica-containing monoliths are tightly packed in glass- and/or PDMS-based reactors through covalent linkage of the monolith to the microchannel surfaces. Anuar *et al.* employed a hybrid monolithic capillary prepared by a simple mixing of PEG and tetraethoxysilane [101]. The embedded monolith was functionalized with 3-aminopropyl triethoxysilane (APTES), and then lipase was covalently linked to the monolith through Schiff's base reaction using glutaraldehyde. Similarly, in order to immobilize enzymes, the hybrid monoliths formed in the microreactors were functionalized by additional modifications by glutaraldehyde [102–104] and trimethoxysilyl butyraldehyde [105]. Lin *et al.* developed

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PMMA microchip	Trypsin	Channel wall	EDC, NHS	Carboxylic acid termini were yielded on the surface of PMMA microchannels by exposure to UV light. Trypsin was covalently bound to the carboxyl groups	[76]
UV-activated PS microchip	Trypsin	Channel wall	Glutaraldehyde	PS substrate sheets were irradiated with UV through a microchannel-designed photomask, resulting in the generation of carboxylic acid termini on the PS sheet surface. The carboxyl groups were activated by EDC, and then aminated with ethylenediamine. An aldehyde-functionalized PS sheet was obtained by reacting glutaraldehyde with amino groups. The erzyme was covalently bound to the PS sheet surface	[22]
Hydrolyzed Nylon microtube	Carbonic anhydrase II	Channel wall	Glutaraldehyde	using a scrutt's pase reaction Hydrolysis of the inner surface of a nylon microtube with HCl to generate amino groups on the surface, aldehyde-functionalization of the surface by glutaraldehyde, covalent linkage of chitosan to the aldehyde groups, reactivation of the surface by attachment of glutaraldehyde to the coated chitosan, and coupling of the enzyme on the Nylon surface	[28]
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Channel wall	APTES, glutaraldehyde	The inner wall surface of a fused-silica capillary was functionalized with APTES, followed by introduction of aldehyde groups with glutaraldehyde. The enzyme was covalently linked to the aldehyde group of the capillary surface	[62]

Table 5.4 Covalent linking techniques for enzyme immobilized microreactor preparation.

128 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

ar-pased protonuc crystat [201] vith APTES, followed by oups using e was covalently linked to hannel surface	ed-silica capillary was [81] groups by sol–gel and MTES, followed by the EDC/NHS technique	rred by curing [82] genic silicic acid as a the introduction of rochannel wall. The analized with APTES, dehyde to the amino gel polymer. Enzymes d on the channel surface s	lked to the aldehyde [83] fused-silica capillary . The aldehyde group was he epoxide group and groups	(continued)
fibers were functionalized v introduction of aldehyde gr glutaraldehyde. The enzym the aldehyde group of the c	The inner wall surface of a fus functionalized with amino technique utilizing APTES coupling the enzyme using	A PDMS microchip was prep- dimethylsiloxane with pyro supplement, which enables hydroxyl groups on the mic channel surface was functic followed by linking glutaral groups of the APTES-sol-e were covalently immobilize through the aldehyde group	The enzyme was covalently lin group of the wall surface of functionalized with GPTES generated by hydrolysis of t oxidation of the hydroxide.	
glutaraldehyde	APTES, MTES, EDC, NHS	APTES, glutaraldehyde	GPTES	
	Channel wall	Channel wall	Channel wall	
- - -	Lipase	Thermophilic β-glycosidase	Pepsin A	
photonic crystal fibers	Fused-silica capillary	Silicic acid- supplemented PDMS microchip	Fused-silica capillary	

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Plasma-oxidized PDMS microchip	Urease	Channel wall	APTES, carbodiimide, NHS, cysteamine, 3-nitro-2- pyridinesulfenyl chloride (Npys-Cl)	The plasma-oxidized channel surface of a PDMS microchip was coated with APTES by sol-gel technique, followed by carboxylation of the aminated surface by treatment with succinic anhydride. Urease was covalently linked to carboxyl groups of the channel surface using the carbodiimide/NHS technique. For enzyme immobilization through the disulfide bond, cysteamine was reacted with the activated carboxyl group of the channel surface by carbodiimide/NHS, followed by activation of the incorporated thiol groups on the channel surface by treating with Npys-CI. The thiol groups of the enzyme were immobilized on the channel surface through disulfide bond between the enzyme-thiol and the arrive thiol of the channel surface	[84]
Fused-silica capillary	Pepsin	Channel wall	APTES, MTES, dextran, EDC/NHS	The inner wall surface of a fused-silica capillary was functionalized with APTES, followed by coupling carboxyl-modified dextran and additional amino-modified dextran using the EDC/NHS technique. The enzyme was covalently linked to EDC-activated carboxyl group of dextran nolymerized on the canillary surface	[85]
Glass microchip	Soybean peroxidase	Channel wall	APTES, poly(maleic anhydride-alt-α- olefin) (PMA)	The microchannel surface of glass microchip was functionalized with amino groups by sol-gel polymerization of APTES. The amino-functionalized surfaces were coated with PMA, followed by immobilization of enzyme. Maleic anhydride groups enable the PMA matrix to covalently link to amino groups of the channel surface and enzyme	[86]

Table 5.4 (Continued)

azyme oup of	coated [88] GMA, r tttached . The ps on ps and	[68]	um [90] zed with groups tly urface.	(continued)
functionalized with APTES, followed by photo-initiated polymerization of ABS. The er was immobilized through the succinimide gro ABS	The inner surface of a fused-silica capillary was, with APTES sol-gel polymer. The mixture of EDMA, and ACA was polymerized inside the capillary, resulting in formation of co-polyme monolith of poly(GMA-co-EDMA) that was a to methacrylate group of the capillary surface enzyme was immobilized to the glycidyl group the monolith by coupling of the epoxide group amine groups of enzymes	Covalent attachment of the enzyme onto the microchannel walls via a dendrimeric linker. Immobilization of PAMAM-dendrimers was performed after the APTES-functionalized microchannel surface had been activated with glutaraldehyde	A stainless steel microchip, which has <i>y</i> -alumin oxide-coated microchannels, was functionaliz APTES, followed by introduction of aldehyde with glutaraldehyde. The enzyme was covalen linked to the aldehyde group of the channel st	
azidobenzoyloxy)- succinimide (ABS)	APTES, glycidyl methacrylate (GMA), ethylene dimethacrylate (EDMA), 4,4'-azobis(4- cyanovaleric acid) (ACA)	APTES, glutaraldehyde, polyamidoamine- dendrimers (PAMAM generation 5 dendrimers)	APTES, glutaraldehyde	
	Channel wall	Channel wall	Channel wall	
	Lipase	Thermophilic β-glycosidase	β-Glucosidase	
capillary	Fused-silica capillary	Silicic acid- supplemented PDMS microchip	Alumina-coated stainless steel microchip	

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Hydrated ceramics microchip	Urease	Channel wall	APTES, glutaraldehyde	Hydroxyl groups were yielded on the surface of LTCC (low temperature co-fired ceramics) microchannels by hydration with a powerful etching solution (HNO ₃ /H ₂ O ₂), followed by silanization of the hydrated surface with APTES. The aminated surface was functionalized with aldehyde groups using glutaraldehyde. The enzyme was covalently attached to the aldehyde groups on the channel surface through the formation of a Schiff's hase	[91]
PMMA-microchip	Trypsin	Channel wall	TEOS, graphene oxide GO), EDC, NHS	The channels of PMMA-microchip were coated with a layer of hydrophilic silica using an <i>in situ</i> hydrolysis of TEOS. GO mixed with TEOS-sol was loaded into the silica-coated channels and polymerized, resulting in a coating of GO – silica composite on the channel surface. The enzyme was covalently linked to the carboxy group of GO using the EDC/NHS technique	[92]
PDMS-microchip	Trypsin	Channel wall	Poly(acrylic acid) (PAA), EDC, NHS	PAA polymer was graft-polymerized onto the surface of PDMS microchannel by UV exposure. The enzyme was covalently bound to carboxyl groups of the PAA using the activation reasonts: FDC and NHS.	[93]
Hydrolyzed PMMA microchip	Glucose oxidase	Channel wall	Sodium hydroxide, PEI, glutaraldehyde	The channel walls of a PMMA microchip were heated and treated with sodium hydroxide solution to hydrolyze the ester groups from the surface of the PMMA, followed by adhesion of PEI on the carboxyl-group-generating channel surface through electrostatic interaction. The enzyme and glutaraldehyde were loaded into the PEI-coated channels, resulting in a covalent linkage of oxidase to PEI through a Schiff's base reaction with glutaraldehyde	[94]

Table 5.4 (Continued)

PC microchip	Alkaline	Channel wall	PEI,	The channel walls of a PC microchip were adsorbed	[95]
I	phosphatase		poly(ethylene	with PEI. The enzyme was immobilized to the surface	
			glycol) diglycidyl	by covalent crosslinking between the enzyme and the	
			ether (PEGDE),	PEI using PEGDE, homo-bifunctional crosslinker, or	
			carbodiimide	by direct binding between PEI and the	
				carbodiimide-activated enzyme	
Au-electrode-	Cholesterol	Au-electrode	Thioglycolic acid	TGA was coated as a self-assembled monolayer (SAM)	[96]
integrated glass	oxidase	in channel	(TGA), EDC	on the gold (Au) electrode in a microsensor chip	
microchip				through coordinate bonding of thiol-Au, followed by	
				activation of carboxylic group of TGA-SAMs by	
				EDC. The enzyme was immobilized onto the	
				amino-reactive SAM through the amide bond	
				formation between TGA-SAM and the enzyme	
Silicon/PTFE/glass	β -Galactosidase	Channel wall	Silica-based	Silica-based nanospring mats (60-μm thick) were	[26]
microchip			nanospring,	functionalized with amino groups by sol–gel	
			APTES,	polymerization of APTES, followed by modification	
			N-succinimidyl-	with SPDP in order to introduce thiol-reactive	
			3-(2-	pyridyl disulfide (PDS) groups. The active	
			pyridyldithio)-	nanosprings were treated with dithiothreitol,	
			propionate	resulting in generation of free thiol groups on the	
			(SPDP),	nanospring surface. The PDS-modified enzyme was	
			dithiothreitol	immobilized by covalent disulfide linkages with the	
				surface of nanosprings. The enzyme-coated	
				nanospring mat was placed into a microchannel, with	
				the mat partially occluding the channel	

(continued)

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Glass microchip	Trypsin	Monolith	Poly(ethylene glycol) diacrylate (PEGdA), <i>N</i> - acryloxysuccinimide	A hydrophilic monolithic support was prepared in glass-microchannels by photopolymerization using PEGdA as hydrophilic crosslinker and AS as active monomer. The enzyme was covalently linked to the	[98]
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Monolith	Acrylamide, <i>N-</i> acryloxysuccinimide (AS), ethylene dimethacrylate (EDMA)	Succinimide-suctivated monolith in a succinimate groups capillary was prepared by in situ polymerization of acrylamide, <i>AS</i> and EDMA in the presence of a dodecanol/cyclohexanol mixture, which enables the formation of porogenic structures in the monolith.	[66]
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Monolith	2-Vinyl-4,4- dimethyl azlactone, ethylene dimethacrylate, acrvlamide	Trypsin was immobilized by covalent bonding of the amine and thiol groups of the enzyme with the azlactone groups on porous monoliths, which formed by polymerization of 2-vinyl-4,4-dimethyl azlactone, ethylene dimethacrylate and acrylamide in a capillary	[100]
Fused-silica capillary	Lipase	Monolith	TEOS, PEG, APTES, glutaraldehyde	A monolith prepared by simple mixing of PEG and TEOS in a fused-silica capillary was functionalized with APTES, and then lipase was covalently linked to the monolith using a Schiff's base reaction with glutaraldehyde	[101]

Table 5.4 (Continued)

			ntinued)
[102]	[103]	[104]	(<i>co</i>
Poly(glycidyl methacrylate-co-ethylene dimethacrylate) (poly-GMA-EDA) monolith was prepared by in situ polymerization of GMA and EDMA in a capillary that was functionalized with MAPTS on the inner surface. The process for immobilizing the enzyme to the monolith includes the following steps: amination of the monolith with ammonium hydroxide, activation by glutaraldehyde, and linking trypsin to the aldehyde group of the monolith	An inorganic and organic hybrid silica monolith was prepared with TEOS, APTES, and cetyltrimethyl ammonium bromide in a fused-silica capillary. The enzyme was covalently linked to the amino groups of the monolith through the intermediary of glutaraldehyde	Poly(glycidyl methacrylate-co-acrylamide-co-ethylene glycol dimethacrylate) monolith was formed in a fused-silica capillary, functionalized with MAPTS on the surface by in situ polymerization of EGDMA, acrylamide and GMA. The enzyme immobilization process includes the following steps: amination of the grafted glycidyl groups on the monolith with ammonium hydroxide, covalent linkage of glutaraldehyde to the amino groups and binding of enzyme through the aldehyde groups	
glycidyl methacrylate (GMA), ethylene dimethacrylate (EDMA), MAPTS, ammonium hydroxide, glutaraldehyde,	TEOS, APTES, cetyltrimethyl ammonium, glutaraldehyde	Ethyleneglycol dimethacrylate (EGDMA), acrylamide, glycidyl methacrylate (GMA), MAPTS, ammonium hydroxide, glutaraldehyde	
Monolith	Monolith	Monolith	
Trypsin	Trypsin	Trypsin	
Fused-silica capillary	Fused-silica capillary	Fused-silica capillary	

5.2 Fundamental Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization 135

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
Fused-silica capillary	Trypsin	Monolith	PSG-PEG, MAPTS, trimethoxysilyl- butyraldehyde (TMSBA)	MAPTS-sol – gel monolith incorporated with PEG was prepared by photo-polymerization in a capillary, followed by functionalization with TMSBA. The enzyme was attached to the aldehyde-activated monolith	[105]
Fused-silica capillary	V8 protease	Monolith	Butyl acrylate, Butyl acrylate, 1,3-butanediol diacrylate (BDA), MAPTS, 2-acrylamido-2- methyl-1- propane sulfonic acid (AMPSA), benzoin methyl ether (BME), car- bonyldiimidazole	Tandem enzyme-immobilized capillary was prepared by the following steps: preparation of monolithic support in a fused-silica capillary by <i>in situ</i> photo-polymerization of butyl acrylate, BDA, MAPTS, AMPSA, and BME (photo-initiator), additional photo-graft polymerization with glycidyl methacrylate at one limited area of the monolith by masking the other area during exposure, and immobilization of an enzyme to the glycidyl group with carbonyldimidazole. Enzymes were sequentially immobilized by repeating the photografting and immobilization steps on separate sections of the	[106]
PDMS microchip	Trypsin	Magnetic beads	EDC, sulfo-NHS (<i>N</i> -hydroxy- sulfosuccinimide), carbodiimide, 2,4,6-trichloro- 1,3,5-triazine	monouth Magnetic particles differentially coated with various polymers, which were covalently attached with enzyme, were packed in a PDMS-based microchip.	[107]

Table 5.4 (Continued)

Glass microchip	Trypsin	Nanoparticles	Glutaraldehyde	Aldehyde-functionalized magnetic nanoparticles were prepared by treating the amine-functionalized magnetic nanoparticles with glutaraldehyde. The nanoparticles were covalently attached with trypsin through the aldehyde groups. The enzyme particles were packed onto the glass microchip by a strong magnetic field	[108]
PDMS microchip	Proteinase-K	Carboxyl- modified polystyrene- magnetic beads	EDC, NHS	The enzyme was covalently attached with carboxyl group-functionalized polystyrene-coated magnetic beads by the EDC/NHS technique. The enzyme-grafted beads were packed inside a PDMS microchannel using a magnetic field	[109]
Adhesive PMMA microchip	Pepsin	Agarose beads	Commercially available pepsin beads	Pepsin-immobilized agarose beads were adhered onto the adhesive PMMA surface, which was functionalized using dichloromethane in a microchannel	[110]
Glass tube	L-allo- threonine aldolase	Eupergit beads	Ethylenediamine, glutaraldehyde	Direct method: the enzyme was mixed with Eupergit, resulting in covalent linking of enzyme-amino group to Eupergit-epoxy group. Indirect method: amination of Eupergit with ethylenediamine, activation by glutaraldehyde, and linking enzyme to aldehyde group of the activated Eupergit	[111]
PMMA microchip	Trypsin	Glass-fibers	Chitosan, glutaraldehyde	Fiberglass bundles were sandwiched between a PMMA cover plate and a PMMA hase plate, resulting in packing of the bundles into a microchannel of the PMMA chip. The glass fibers were coated with positively charged chitosan through physical adsorption. The chitosan was functionalized with aldehyde groups by treating with glutaraldehyde, followed by attachment of the enzyme to the aldehyde groups	[112]

(continued)

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PDMS microchip PTFE/indium tin oxide-coated glass microchip	β-Galactosidase Trypsin, pepsin	Carboxylated multi- walled carbon nanotubes (MWNTs), single- walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) (SWNTs) cylindrical agarose discs	EDC, glutaraldehyde, oligonucleotide Glycidol (2,3- epoxypropanol), sodium periodate	MWNTs microreactor: MWNTs were oxidized by H ₂ SO ₄ /HNO ₃ , resulting in the formation of high-density carboxylic acid groups on the surface of the MWNTs. The carboxylated MWNTs, β -galactosidase, and the aminated surface of PDMS microchannels were covalently linked by an EDC coupling reaction. SWNTs microreactor: aldehyde groups were introduced on the PDMS microchannel walls by glutaraldehyde. SWNTs were wrapped with 15-mer oligonucleotide, in order to functionalize with amine groups. The aminated SWNTs and enzyme were covalently linked by EDC coupling. The enzyme-bound SWNTs were immobilized on the surface of the PDMS microchannels through aldehyde groups Preformed agarose discs were functionalized with glyoxyl group using glycidol (2,3-epoxypropanol), followed by oxidation with sodium periodate to form aldehyde groups. The enzyme was covalently linked to on the aldehyde group of agarose via Schiff's base reaction	[113]
PDMS, polydimethylsilo N-hydroxysuccinimide; / y-glycidoxypropyltrimeth 3-mercaptopropyl-trimet	xane; PMMA, polym APTES, 3-(aminoproj noxysilane; PEI, polye thoxysilane.	ethyl methacrylate pyl)triethoxysilane; thyleneimine; PTF	; PS, polystyrene; EDC ; MTES, methyltrietho 'E, polytetrafluoroethy	, 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyl aminopropyl)carbodiimide; NHS, kysilan; TEOS, tetraethoxysilane; TMOS, tetramethoxylsilane; iene; MAPTS, g-methacryloxypropyl trimethoxysilane; MPTM	GPTES, S,

Table 5.4 (Continued)

I.



Figure 5.8 Scheme for the preparation of enzyme reactors with two proteases. (a) Empty Teflon-coated capillary (100 μ m id/365 μ m od). (b) Fabrication of the monolith column. (c) One section of monolith photografted with glycidyl methacrylate (GMA) by masking the other section during exposure. (d) Trypsin immobilized onto the GMA grafted monolith. (e) The second section of monolith photografted with GMA. (f) V-8 protease (Glu-C) immobilized onto the second GMA grafted monolith. (From [106] with permission ©2009, John Wiley and Sons.)

a tandem-type dual-enzyme-immobilized capillary using a glycidyl groupcontaining hybrid monolith. The amino groups of the enzyme were activated by carbonyldiimidazole and immobilized through the reaction with glycidyl groups of the monoliths [106] (Figure 5.8).

Immobilization to Beads (Micro/Nanoparticles and Nanotubes) Magnetic beads have been often used as solid support for covalently linked enzymes, which could be easily packed at the desired positions in the microchannel using a magnetic field. Aldehyde-modified magnetic NPs that were prepared by treating the amine-functionalized NPs with glutaraldehyde were developed as a glass microchip for trypsin digestion [108]. Direct attachment of the enzyme on the surface of the magnetic beads was achieved by activation of the carboxyl-functionalized beads using the carbodiimide technique [109, 115]. This immobilization method was

adapted for the preparation of a replaceable dual-enzyme capillary microreactor [116].

Tibhe *et al.* developed an enzymatic microreactor using Eupergit[®] oxirane acrylic beads, which provide a rapid and simple support for protein immobilization [111]. Eupergit has a high density of epoxy groups that can covalently link to the nucleophilic groups of the protein, such as amino, hydroxyl, and thiol groups, without any additional reagents. Therefore, Eupergit enables efficient enzyme immobilization because of the multipoint attachment of the enzyme.

A simple method for the fixation of nonmagnetic beads on a microchannel was reported by Liuni *et al.* They showed the adhesion of pepsin-immobilized agarose beads onto the PMMA surface, which was adhesive owing to treatment with dichloromethane in a microchannel [110]. Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are of interest to many researchers because of their high tensile strength, high resilience, flexibility, and other unique structural, mechanical, electrical, and physicochemical properties [117]. The use of two types of CNTs, namely single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) and multiwalled carbon nanotubes (MWNTs), in a PDMS microchip for enzyme immobilization was described by Song *et al.* [113]. To introduce the functional group on the CNTs and increase the water solubility, the SWNTs were wrapped with DNA and the MWNTs were oxidized by strong oxidants. Such modifications enabled the generation of a high density of carboxylic groups on the MWNTs and amino groups on SWNTs (Figure 5.9).

Immobilization to Other Supports A stainless steel microchip with alumina-coated microchannels was developed as an enzyme-immobilized microreactor [90]. Alumina (γ -aluminum oxide) is attachable with silane coupling reagents. Therefore, β -glucosidase was immobilized on a layer of alumina (γ -aluminum oxide) modified with APTES using glutaraldehyde.

Malecha *et al.* developed ceramic-based enzyme-immobilized reactors [91]. Modern low-temperature cofired ceramic (LTCC) technology is much cheaper



Figure 5.9 Scheme of β -galactosidase immobilization on a microchannel surface. (a) Glutaraldehyde (GA)-microreactor. (b) MWNTs-microreactor. (c) SWNTs-DNA-microreactor. (From [113] with permission ©2012 Elsevier B.V.)

than silicon/glass technology, and the process of developing a new device is much easier and faster. The LTCC material is more chemical- and temperature-resistant than silicon and polymers. Hydration of the ceramics enables the generation of hydroxyl groups linkable to APTES [91].

Non-silica methods have been developed by several groups, wherein the wall surfaces of microchannels and capillaries were covalently coated with the functionalized synthetic polymers. Wu *et al.* utilized poly(acrylic acid) graft-polymerized onto the surface of a PDMS microchannel [93]. Cerdeira *et al.* reported PEI-mediated enzyme immobilization in a PMMA microchip. Glucose oxidase was immobilized by cross-linking the carboxylated PMMA surface, the surface-coated PEI, and the enzymes using a glutaraldehyde cross-linker [94].

As a surface-modification method using non-polymer molecules, Rahman *et al.* proposed a method for enzyme immobilization mediated by self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) with a functional group [96]. Cholesterol oxidase was covalently attached to thioglycolic acid SAM coated on the gold (Au)-electrode in a microchip using the 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyl aminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC)/NHS (*N*-hydroxysuccinimide) technique, which is discussed in Section 5.2.4.2.

A study by Schilke *et al.* demonstrated the application of nanosprings as novel and highly efficient carriers for immobilized enzymes in microreactors [97] (Figure 5.10). Nanosprings are formed from helical silicon dioxide, which can be grown by a chemical vapor deposition process on a wide variety of surfaces.



Figure 5.10 Morphology of silicon dioxide nanosprings before (top) and after (bottom) vapor-phase silanization with APTES. (From [97] with permission ©2010 John Wiley and Sons.)

The unique properties of nanosprings are their mechanical flexibility and ability to store potential energy when stretched or compressed, which enables low brittleness and resistance to fluid flow [118].

Silica-based nanospring mats grown on the gold-coated area of a silicon wafer were functionalized with APTES, followed by the introduction of free thiol groups through the amino groups on the nanospring surface. β -Galactosidase modified with a thiol-reactive pyridyl disulfide group was immobilized through covalent disulfide linkages with the surface of nanosprings. The enzymecoated nanospring mat was placed into a microchannel, with the mat partially occluding the channel. A similar method was adapted for the preparation of a threonine aldolase-immobilized microreactor by Fu *et al.*, in which 3-mercaptopropyltrimethoxysilane was used instead of APTES [119].

5.2.4.2 Direct Immobilization to a Channel Wall

The simplest approach for immobilization is direct attachment of the enzyme to the "wall" itself of the microchannel or the capillary. The direct wall modification with enzymes was achieved by generating functional groups on the channel surface of the polymer-based microreactors using UV irradiation or chemical hydrolysis methods [76–78].

A variety of surface coating methods have been developed for enzyme immobilization on the inner wall of microchannels and capillaries. Silanization of the channel surface by sol–gel polymerization is the most commonly used technique for the preparation of microreactors made of silanol-containing materials such as glass and PDMS (Figure 5.11). In particular, the use of APTES is convenient



Figure 5.11 Functional silanization techniques.

for introducing a functional group (amino group) on the channel surface as a base for surface modification. Enzymes have been immobilized to the aminofunctionalized surface of microchannels and capillaries using activation reagents. The combination of *N*-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) and a carbodiimide reagent, such as EDC, has been used for the formation of an amide bond between the carboxyl group of the enzyme and the amino group of the microchannel surface [81]. Glutaraldehyde is frequently used for enzyme immobilization as an aminereactive homo-bifunctional cross-linker. Cross-linking of the enzyme's amino group and the surface amino group of the microchannel wall by glutaraldehyde using a Schiff's base reaction has been reported as a simple enzyme-immobilizing technique [79, 82]. This method has been applied to the preparation of an enzyme microreactor utilizing photonic crystal fibers [80, 120]. This fiber has a micro structured arrangement of air channels within a flexible acrylate polymer-coated silica tube (Figure 5.12).

Tang *et al.* reported the carboxylation of PDMS surface aminated using APTES sol–gel by treatment with succinic anhydride. Immobilization was achieved through bonding between the amino group of urease and carboxyl group on the microchannel surface by using the EDC/NHS technique [84]. An alternative simple method using γ -glycidoxypropyltrimethoxysilane (GPTES) was proposed by Krenkova *et al.* GPTES could generate aldehyde groups for enzyme immobilization by hydrolysis/oxidation of glycidoxy groups [83].



Products

Figure 5.12 (a) Schematic setup of the flow-through silica microstructured optical fiber (SMOF) microreactor. (b) SEM image of a cross-section of the SMOF microreactor. (c) Micrograph of the SMOF microreactor. (From [80] with permission ©2010 Elsevier B.V.)

Medium	Enzyme	Support	Linking reagents	Immobilization procedure	References
PTFE tube	α-Chymotrypsin	Channel wall	Glutaraldehyde, paraformalde- hyde	The enzyme was immobilized onto the internal surface of the PTFE tube by forming an enzyme-polymerized membrane through crosslinking enzymes between each other with glutaraldehyde and	[121]
PTFE tube	Acylase	Channel wall	Poly-L-lysine, glutaraldehyde, paraformalde- hyde	The enzyme was immobilized onto the internal surface of the PTFE tube by forming an enzyme-polymerized membrane through crosslinking enzymes and poly- L-lysine as a support polymer with glutaraldehyde and naraformaldehyde	[122]
Fused-silica capillary	Aminoacylase	Controlled pore glass particles	Formaldehyde	L-Aminoacylases precipitated with ammonium sulfate were crosslinked using formaldehyde. The crosslinking enzyme aggregates were combined with controlled pore glass particles and then packed in capillary reactors and tranbed by a silica frit	[123]
Fused-silica capillary	γ-Lactamase	Controlled pore glass narticles	Formaldehyde	Dried cross/indeed enzyme provide the construction of the construction of the controlled pore glass, followed by packing the mixture into capillary tubes with a frit at one end	[124]
Fused-silica capillary	Chymotr ypsin	Channel wall	APTES, glutaraldehyde	A capillary inner surface was functionalized with APTES, followed by introduction of aldehyde groups with glutaraldehyde. The enzyme was covalently linked to the aldehyde group on the channel surface. The sequence of the aldehyde functionalization and then enzyme linkage was repeated three times, resulting in the formation of a heterogeneous solid material made of crosslinked enzyme polymer on the	[125]

channel surface

Table 5.5 Enzyme polymerization techniques for enzyme-immobilized microreactor preparation.

144 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

PDMS microchip	Choline oxidase	Gold/silicon	Cystamine,	The procedure of enzyme immobilization includes the	[126]
	(ChOx),	electrode	poly(L-lysine),	following steps: (i) ChOx immobilization: fabrication	
	acetylcholine	in	glutaraldehyde,	of a self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of cystamine	
	esterase	microchan-	aldehyde-	on the micropatterned gold/silicon electrode in a	
	(AChE)	nel,	modified	channel of a PDMS microchip, mixing of ChOx,	
		magnetic	dendrimers	poly(L-lysine) (PLL), and glutaraldehyde, injection of	
		microparti-		the mixture into the microchannel to crosslink	
		cles		ChOx/PLL/SAM surface using a Schiff's base reaction	
				between the aldehyde groups and amine groups from	
				SAM, PLL, and ChOx. (ii) AChE immobilization:	
				AChE was conjugated to magnetic microparticles	
				(MPs) coated with aldehyde-group-terminated	
				dendrimers through a Schiff's base reaction.	
				Subsequently, AChE-modified MPs were deposited	
				on the ChOx-immobilized electrode using a magnet	
PDMS microchip	Horseradish	Agarose gel	Ure2 prion	Enzyme modified with amyloid fibril-forming module	[127]
	peroxidase,		domain fused to	were prepared by self-assembly of chimeric enzyme	
	alkaline		enzyme	fused with Ure2 prion domain. The enzyme-	
	phosphatase			polymeric fibrils were immobilized in the agarose	
				gel-packed channels of a PDMS microchip by	
				stacking the fibrils on the agarose interface	

5.2.4.3 Enzyme Polymerization

An enzyme polymerization method that covalently connects enzymes to each other by using a cross-linker, partly categorized as covalent linking, enables the formation of miniature structures made of the polymerized enzymes in a reactor.

Enzyme immobilization methods depend on the formation of enzymatic microstructures by the polymerization of enzyme molecules. The enzymatic microstructures basically do not require any solid supports and are composed of highly condensed enzyme molecules. Table 5.5 presents a summary of enzyme immobilization methods using enzyme polymerization.

Our group has developed a facile and inexpensive preparation method for an enzyme-immobilized reactor using the enzyme cross-linking reaction [121]. The immobilization of enzymes can be achieved by the formation of an enzyme-polymeric membrane on the inner wall of a PTFE tube through cross-linking polymerization in laminar flow [121] (Figure 5.13). The formation of a protein-based cylindrical microstructure is unique to microfluidic systems. The enzyme-polymerized membrane was based on a cross-linked enzyme aggregate (CLEA) prepared by using a cross-linker with aldehyde groups, which react with the amino groups of the enzyme. Preparation of a CLEA-based enzyme microreactor (CEM) using electronegative enzymes is not possible because of the relative scarcity of amino groups, which results in inefficient formation of CLEA. To expand the generality of CEM preparation, we developed an improved method using poly-L-lysine (poly-Lys) as an aggregation booster/adjunct for the effective polymerization of electronegative enzymes [122] (Figure 5.14). The CEM preparation could be expanded to microreactors with a broad range of functional proteins. Utilizing this method, several enzymatic microfluidic systems have been developed [128-131].

Ghafourifar *et al.* developed a microreactor with chymotrypsin-CLEA that covalently attaches on the surface of amine-functionalized fused-silica capillaries [125]. Modified CLEA-based microreactors have been reported in which packed aminoacylase- or γ -lactamase-CLEA have been combined with pore-glass particles [123, 124]. Han *et al.* have described a CLEA-based bienzyme microchip





tube, which forms on the inner wall of the tube. (c) Possible mechanism of polymerization process of enzyme and cross-linker reagent in a microchannel. (From [121] with permission ©2005 Royal Society of Chemistry.)



Figure 5.14 Schematic illustration of the procedure used to prepare an acylase-CEM (top). The cross-linking polymerization was performed in a concentric laminar flow. A silica capillary was fitted to the outer diameter of the T-shaped connector by attaching to a PTFE tube using heat-shrink tubing. The capillary was set in the connector located at the concentric position of the CEM tube. The cross-linker solution was supplied to the substrate PTFE tube through the silica capillary, corresponding to a central stream

in the concentric laminar flow. A solution of acylase-poly-Lys mixture was poured from the other inlet of the T-shaped connector, and formed an outer stream of the laminar flow. Charge-coupled device (CCD) images (bottom) of cylindrical enzyme-membrane (dry state) exposed from the PTFE tube, which forms on the inner wall of the tube and a sectional view of the obtained CEM. (From [122] with permission ©2006, John Wiley and Sons.)

[126]. The bio-electrocatalytic microreactor has the two distinct interlaced enzyme systems that were immobilized by cross-linking and beads modification. Choline oxidase (ChOx), the signaling redox enzyme, was polymerized with poly-Lys through cross-linking and then attached on the electrode surface. AChE conjugated to magnetic microparticles was deposited in proximity to the ChOx electrode surface to obtain a strong electrochemical signal from the AChE/ChOx reaction.

Peptides composed of <10 amino acid residues are of interest because they can be utilized either as a therapeutic or as a prodrug [132]. Therefore, chemo-enzymatic peptide synthesis is a potentially cost-efficient technology for the synthesis of short and medium-sized peptides. However, there are still some limitations in synthesizing challenging peptides (e.g., peptides containing sterically demanding acyl donors, non-proteinogenic amino acids, or proline

residues). Recently, immobilized proteases such as lipase-CLEA- and alcalase[®]-CLEA-mediated peptide synthesis have been reported [133]. In that case, special ester moieties were used that are specifically recognized by the enzyme (e.g., guanidinophenyl, carboxamidomethyl, or trifluoroethyl (Tfe) esters). The carboxamidomethyl and Tfe esters are very useful for alcalase[®]-CLEA mediated peptide synthesis using sterically demanding and non-proteinogenic acyl donors as well as poor nucleophiles, and combinations thereof. In addition, these esters, which are difficult to synthesize chemically, can be efficiently synthesized by using lipase-CLEA or alcalase[®]-CLEA. In turn, ester synthesis by lipase-CLEA and subsequent peptide synthesis by alcalase[®]-CLEA can be performed simultaneously using a two-enzyme, one-pot approach (Scheme 5.1).

L-3,4-Dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA) is the drug of choice for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Tyrosinase-CLEA was used as the catalyst for the production of L-DOPA from L-tyrosine (Scheme 5.2) [134]. Using tyrosinase-CLEA, a conversion of 53% was obtained after 2 h with a productivity of 209 mg l⁻¹ h⁻¹, which is much superior to other batch processes catalyzed by the enzyme immobilized with traditional carrier-bound immobilization methods. The effects of pH, temperature, and L-ascorbic acid as the reducing agent on the L-DOPA production were examined to improve the production yield. In the continuous synthetic processes carried out in a continuously stirred tank reactor and a packed-bed reactor, a productivity of 103 and 49 mg l⁻¹ h⁻¹ was obtained, respectively. The operational stability of the tyrosinase-CLEA could be improved by entrapment into calcium alginate gels. The CLEA/alginate beads in the continuously stirred tank reactor achieved a long life time of >104 h, producing L-DOPA with a productivity of 57 mg l⁻¹ h⁻¹.



Scheme 5.1 Simultaneous esterification and peptide synthesis using a two-enzyme, one-pot approach.



Scheme 5.2 Synthesis of L-DOPA from L-tyrosine by tyrosinase-CLEA.

A unique enzyme polymerization method for enzyme immobilization was developed by Zhou *et al.* [127], which utilizes an enzyme modified with an amyloid fibril-forming module. This method is different from traditional technique such as adsorption, covalent attachment of enzymes to carriers, entrapment, and chemical cross-linking. Ure2 protein has the ability to form amyloid fibrils through its own N-terminal domain, the prion domain, and the fibrils propagate in a manner analogous to mammalian prions [135]. The extraordinary stability and tunable assembly of amyloid fibrils make them attractive targets as nanomaterials. Zhou *et al.* applied the prion domain-fused enzyme to an enzymatic microreactor and showed that the prion domain is an ideal scaffold for the immobilization of active enzymes in enzymatic reactor systems [127].

5.2.5

Enzyme Immobilization by Other Techniques Using Organisms

A cell is a protein production plant. Cells expressing enzymes of interest are able to act as biocatalysts. Therefore, various cell-integrated bioreactors, including microreactors, have been developed. Immobilization of the cells is one of the techniques used to improve the productivity of the bioreactors. Adherent cells that possess a functionality that adheres onto a suitable solid support enable facile immobilization of the cells in bioreactors. Akay *et al.* developed microreactors with immobilized bacteria using PolyHIPE polymer as a monolithic support for cell attachment [136]. Several groups have applied covalent coupling for immobilizing the cells on the surfaces of solid supports, including the inner walls of microreactors and microbeads in miniaturized reactors [137–140].

5.2.6

Application of Immobilized Enzymes in Microfluidics

The advantages of enzymes in industries are pertinent when combined with microfluidics. Microfluidic systems are employed to provide an integrated environment in which sample preparation and fluid control measurement take place in a confined space with volumes in the nanoliter to milliliter range [141]. In addition, they offer the possibility to be used with automation systems in industry. When combining enzymes with microfluidic systems, enzymes can be integrated into the system by immobilization techniques on supporting surfaces such as microfluidic channels or microparticles, as described previously. A variety of methods ranging from simple adsorption to covalent binding or bio-affinity binding are available. All of them have their advantages and drawbacks, depending on the specific application.

Caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) is a rare natural ingredient with several biological activities, but the industrial production of CAPE using lipase-catalyzed esterification of caffeic acid and 2-phenylethanol in organic solvents and ionic liquids is hindered by low substrate concentrations and a long reaction time [142]. A novel continuous flow enzymatic synthesis of CAPE in an ionic liquid using a



Scheme 5.3 Synthesis of CAPE using lipase-catalyzed esterification of caffeic acid and 2-phenylethanol.

packed-bed microreactor has been reported (Scheme 5.3) [143]. Novozyme 435[®], which is a commercially available immobilized lipase, was used in the microreactor. Under the optimum conditions, a 93% CAPE yield was achieved in 2.5 h using an immobilized lipase microreactor, compared with 24 h using a batch reactor. The reuse of Novozyme 435[®] for 20 cycles and continuous reaction for 9 days did not result in any decrease in activity.

Continuous-flow, lipase-catalyzed, ring-opening polymerization of ε -caprolactone to polycaprolactone in a microreactor has been reported [144]. Although similar polymerization reactions by free protease have been studied well, this is the first report of a solid-supported, enzyme-catalyzed polymerization reaction in the continuous mode. Lipase was immobilized on macroporous poly(methyl methacrylate). A microreactor was designed to perform these heterogeneous reactions in the continuous mode in organic media at elevated temperatures. Faster polymerization and higher molecular mass were achieved using microreactors compared to using batch reactors. Although this study focused on polymerization reactions, it is evident that similar microreactor-based platforms can readily be extended to other enzyme-based systems in industries.

Biosynthesis of a variety of important compounds has been achieved by multi-enzymatic processes. Recently, a flow microreactor with a three-step enzyme pathway was developed as a reference platform for *in vitro* synthetic biology [63]. Biotin-modified enzymes, namely β -galactosidase, glucose oxidase, and horseradish peroxidase, were individually immobilized on streptavidincoated microbeads. A packed-bed microreactor was shown to be optimal for enzyme compartmentalization. The specific substrate conversion efficiency could significantly be improved by an optimized parameter set. Thus, the designed microreactor provides a platform to explore new *in vitro* synthetic biology solutions for industrial biosynthesis.

5.3

Novel Techniques for Enzyme Immobilization

In addition to the fundamental techniques for enzyme immobilization that were described in Section 5.2, several new techniques have been reported recently. In this section, we introduce recent examples of enzyme mobilization using various methods, including noncovalent and covalent linking methods. These new techniques may provide a variety of bioreactor designs.

5.3.1 Polyketone Polymer: Enzyme Immobilization by Hydrogen Bonds

A polyketone polymer has been reported as a new support for direct enzyme immobilization [145]. The polyketone polymer, prepared by the copolymerization of ethene and carbon monoxide, was utilized for the immobilization of three different enzymes, namely one peroxidase and two amine oxidases. The immobilization procedure was carried out in diluted buffer, at pH 7.0 and 3 °C, by gently mixing the proteins with the polymer. A large number of hydrogen bonds between the carbonyl groups of the polymer and the -NH groups of the polypeptidic chain were formed. Therefore, this technique represents an easy immobilization procedure because bifunctional reagents were not required as a cross-linker. High immobilization yields were obtained for peroxidase and two different types of amine oxidases. The apparent concentration of the immobilized enzyme on the polyketone was $>2.36 \text{ mg ml}^{-1}$ [145]. Moreover, activity measurements demonstrated that immobilized amine oxidase from lentil seedlings totally retained the catalytic characteristics of the free enzyme. A slight increase in the K_m value was observed, suggesting that restricted mobility of the linked enzyme also occurred. The peroxidase-immobilized polymer was used as an active packed bed of an enzymatic reactor for continuous-flow conversion and flow-injection analysis. Furthermore, the immobilized enzymes retained their catalytic activity for several months.

5.3.2 Thermoresponsive Hydrogels

Environmentally responsive hydrogels, which have the ability to turn from solution to gel under specific conditions, have been applied for enzyme immobilization. Thermoresponsive hydrogels transition from solution to gel upon a change in temperature [146]. Typically, aqueous solutions of hydrogels used in enzyme immobilization are liquid at ambient temperature and a gel at physiological temperature. Poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogel has been widely studied in biochemical applications [146]. This polymer is biocompatible and exhibits a sharp phase transition. The lower critical solution temperature (LCST) of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) is about 32 °C [147]. Below the LCST, the polymer assumes a flexible state and dissolves in aqueous solutions. In contrast, it becomes hydrophobic above the LCST and the polymer chains seem to collapse prior to aggregation (insoluble form) [148]. Because the transformation of the polymer or pH), the catalytic activities of the entrapped enzymes are retained because there are no conformational changes when the hydrogels are formed [146].

Laccase was immobilized on a conductive support prepared by attaching the poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogel to an indium-tin oxide electrode [149]. The entrapped laccase in the gel matrix remained enzymatically active longer than in the solution. The laccase enzymatic activity in the gel matrix depended on the

reaction temperature. Reversible swelling/shrinking of the matrix was studied at 30 and 35 °C (around the LCST). Shrinking of the gel at higher temperature considerably decreased the efficiency of the catalytic reaction; however, it did not lead to irreversible changes in the enzyme conformation. At temperatures below LCST, the catalytic properties of the electrode were fully restored.

The thermal properties of a copolymer composed of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) and different amounts of polyethylene oxide were studied in a buffer solution [150]. The number of polyethylene oxide grafts affected the LCST and viscosity of the solutions. Because enzymatic activity depends on an optimum temperature, the ability to control the LCST of the support material may be advantageous for the immobilization of different enzymes.

5.3.3

Immobilization Methods Using Azide Chemistry

Classical covalent immobilization methods utilize amino groups, carboxyl groups, or thiol groups that expose the enzyme surface. These methods are not site-specific chemical reactions. Recently, site-specific (selective) immobilization methods have been developed and carried out under mild physical conditions. Among them, the chemical reaction using azide compounds is of wide interest for the immobilization of biomolecules including enzymes [151].

5.3.3.1 Staudinger Ligation

The reaction between an azide with a phosphinothioester forms a stable amide bond [152]. This reaction is known as a traceless version of Staudinger ligation [153, 154]. Recently, Staudinger ligation was applied for enzyme immobilization [155]. An azido group was installed at the C-terminus of ribonuclease by using the method of expressed protein ligation and a synthetic bifunctional reagent. This azido protein was immobilized by Staudinger ligation to a phosphinothioesterdisplaying SAM on a gold surface. Immobilization proceeded rapidly and selectively via the azido group. The immobilized enzyme retained its catalytic activity and was able to bind to its natural ligand [155]. Although the method involves the introduction of an azide moiety on the enzyme of interest, this method results in site-specific immobilization in high yield at room temperature in an aqueous solution or an organic solution containing water.

5.3.3.2 Click Chemistry

The copper(I)-catalyzed 1,2,3-triazole-forming reaction between azides and terminal alkynes is called Click chemistry [156, 157]. Click chemistry has been used not only for enzyme immobilization but also for a variety of applications to enable the attachment of biomolecules bearing either the azide group or alkyne group with various fluorophores, polymers, or other biochemical compounds. A large number of its application can be found in nearly all areas of modern chemistry from drug discovery to materials science [157].
Another related cross-linking reactions is photoclick chemistry, whereby the formation of pyrazoline between tetrazoles and alkenes is carried out by UV irradiation. In the first literature report on photoclick chemistry [158], the selective functionalization of O-allyl-tyrosine was genetically encoded in a Z-domain protein in *Escherichia coli*. The obtained *E. coli* that expressed mutant Z-domains was suspended in a buffer containing a tetrazole compound. The bacterial cell suspensions were irradiated with light at 302 nm for 4 min, indicating that the cross-linking reaction was carried out in living bacteria cells. This reaction procedure was simple and nontoxic to *E. coli* cells, with only tetrazole and photons required as external reagents. The same research group also reported a p-(2-tetrazole)phenylalanine-containing protein for photoclick reactions [159]. Although these interesting methods have not been applied for enzyme immobilization yet, further development will allow the preparation of novel bioreactors.

5.3.4

Graphene-Based Nanomaterial as an Immobilization Support

More recent studies have reported that graphene-based nanomaterials are suitable for use in various applications, including enzyme immobilization [160]. The large surface area and exceptional physicochemical properties of grapheneor GO-based nanomaterials create an ideal immobilization support for enzymes. Graphene-based nanomaterials interact with enzymes mostly through physicochemical properties such as electrostatic interactions or hydrophobic interactions [160]. GO is one of the most widely studied materials because of its unique structural features and chemical, electrical, and mechanical properties [160, 161] and has been applied in many fields [160–162]. GO can be grafted with desirable functional groups such as epoxide and carboxylic and hydroxyl groups [160]. These functional groups provide a negative surface charge to the materials [162]. Enzymes can be immobilized on GO through covalent or noncovalent binding using the functional groups on the GO surface [160].

Early studies on the binding of enzymes to GO have reported that enzyme immobilization on the GO surface could take place readily without the use of any cross-linking reagents or additional surface modification. The binding of peroxidase or lysozyme as model enzymes to GO is mainly through electrostatic interaction [163]. However, electrostatic interactions as the driving force for enzyme binding to GO severely affected the catalytic activity owing to the conformational change of the enzyme induced by its binding to GO [163]. In similar results, significant structural changes often lead to lower catalytic activity [164, 165]. It is known that multiple interactions between the immobilization substrate and the enzyme molecule could change the enzyme conformation [166]. These immobilization studies suggest that the effect of graphene-based nanomaterials on the catalytic activity and conformation of the enzyme is difficult to predict and

154 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

depends on the nature of the enzyme (hydrophobicity, hydrophilicity, tertiary structure, or quaternary structure). Therefore, to retain the conformation and catalytic activity of the enzyme, the number and properties of the functional groups on the GO surface must be optimized.

To improve the catalytic activity of immobilized enzymes on a GO surface, a chemically reduced graphene oxide (CRGO) was utilized for immobilization of peroxidase and oxalate oxidase [167]. The enzymes can bind on the CRGO surface directly with 10 times the enzyme loading capacity of GO. In this case, hydrophobic interactions play a major role [168]. Interestingly, immobilized enzymes on CRGO exhibited higher catalytic activity and stability than those on GO. The results indicate that CRGO is a potential substrate for efficient enzyme immobilization. Similar results on improved catalytic activity of immobilized enzymes were also observed for the interaction of hydrolases with amine-functionalized GO [168]. Enzymes were covalently immobilized on GO using glutaraldehyde as a cross-linking reagent between the enzyme and amino groups on GO. The covalently immobilized enzymes exhibited comparable or even higher catalytic activity compared to the enzymes that were prepared by electrostatic interaction [168]. More recent reports suggest that covalently immobilized lipase shows high thermal and solvent stability [169, 170]. Enhanced thermal stability and solvent tolerance of the immobilized enzyme on graphene-based materials will be useful for industrial-scale use.

The application of immobilized enzyme systems for the degradation of pollutants and wastewater treatment has been reported. The removal of phenolic compounds from aqueous solution using GO-immobilized horseradish peroxidase was explored with seven phenolic compounds as model substrates [171]. The GO immobilized horseradish peroxidase exhibited high removal efficiency of several phenolic compounds in comparison to the free enzyme, especially for 2,4-dimetheoxyphenol and 2-chlorphenol, the latter being a major component of industrial wastewater.

5.3.5

Immobilization Methods Using Proteins Modified with Solid-Support-Binding Modules

Silica is one of the most frequently used support materials for enzyme immobilization in a wide range of biotechnological and biomedical analytical applications. However, the unmodified silica surface is unsuitable for attachment of proteins because it induces denaturation of the proteins. Bolivar *et al.* developed a novel and facile method for the direct immobilization of enzymes on an underivatized silica surface [172]. They prepared chimeras of target enzymes, which possess a small module that binds efficiently and tightly to solid silica at physiological pH conditions. The module, called Z_{basic2} , forms a three- α -helix bundle mini-protein of 7 kDa size that exposes clustered positive charges from multiple arginine residues on one side.

5.4 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Immobilized enzymes are more robust and more resistant to environmental changes such as reaction temperature and organic solvents than free enzymes in solution. The storage stability depends on the immobilization method. In addition, immobilization results in heterogeneity of the catalyst. This heterogeneity enables ease of separation of both the enzyme and the product, as well as reuse of the enzymes. Thus, applications of immobilized enzymes are of wide interest across various industries.

Immobilization techniques have been successfully applied to a broad range of enzymes. Enzymes that catalyze hydrolysis reaction, such as lipases and proteases, have been widely applied in industrial processing. However, there are many useful enzymes that catalyze other important reaction in cells and/or organs that have yet to be applied in industry. In most cases, enzyme activity needs to improve the catalytic performance and enantio- and/or regioselectivity. For such a purpose, modifications of enzyme molecules are essential tool to obtain better catalytic activity. The current trend in protein engineering based on directed evolution, combined with computational algorithms such as ProSAR [173], may overcome these obstacles. Directed evolution with ProSAR was used in the development of ketoredactase and *R*-selective transamidase to enhance the catalytic activity and enantioselectivity [174, 175]. These studies show that the combination of different technologies is a promising approach and could improve the results of current enzyme immobilization techniques.

Oxidation and reduction are two of the most important chemical reactions in chemical and pharmaceutical industries; the development of immobilized enzymes with redox activity is still in its primitive stage. Most oxidoreductases need a coenzyme, such as NADH or NADPH, for their catalytic activities. This is a serious drawback because coenzymes increase the cost of processing. To reduce the cost caused by coenzymes, efforts to establish a co-immobilization technique of enzyme and coenzyme, or a regeneration technique of the coenzyme, are under way. Recently, the regeneration of NADH in a microreactor by alcohol dehydrogenase immobilized on magnetic NPs has been reported [176]. Like multiple enzymatic steps such as oxidoreductase and alcohol dehydrogenase, the combination of the different immobilized enzymes in a microreactor sytem could provide good results for industrial use.

There are still obstacles that need to be overcome for the development of useful immobilized enzymes as biocatalysts. As noted in this chapter, miniaturized reactors are useful for the development of novel enzymatic reaction technique. With the developed new technologies, immobilized enzymes will see more industrial applications.

156 *5* Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

Abbreviations

AChE	acetylcholinesterase
APTES	3-aminopropyl triethoxysilane
AuNPs	gold nanoparticles
CAPE	caffeic acid phenethyl ester
CEM	CLEA-based enzyme microreactor
ChOx	choline oxidase
CLEA	cross-linked enzyme aggregate
CNTs	carbon nanotubes
CRGO	chemically reduced graphene oxide
l-DOPA	L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine
EDC	1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyl aminopropyl)carbodiimide
FSM	folded-sheet mesoporous materials
GO	graphene oxide
GPTES	γ-glycidoxypropyltrimethoxysilane
GST	glutathione S-transferase
LBL	layer-by-layer
LCST	lower critical solution temperature
LTCC	low-temperature co-fired ceramics
MWNT	multi-walled carbon nanotube
NC	nitrocellulose
NHS	N-hydroxysuccinimide
Ni-NTA	nickel ion-coordinated nitrilotriacetic acid
NPs	nanoparticles
μPAD	microfluidic paper-based analytical device
PDDA	polycarbonate polydiallyldimethylammonium chloride
PDMS	polydimethylsiloxane
PEI	polyethyleneimine
PEG	polyethylene glycol
PMMA	polymethyl methacrylate
ppTMDSO	plasma-polymerized tetramethyldisiloxane
PVA	polyvinyl alcohol
PVDF	polyvinylidene fluoride
RPECVD	remote plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition
SAM	self-assembled monolayer
SUVs	small unilamellar vesicles
SWNT	single-walled carbon nanotube
TEOS	tetraethoxysilane
Tfe	trifluoroethyl
TMDSO	1,1,3,3-tetramethyldisiloxane

References

- Elleuche, S., Schröder, C., Sahm, K., and Antranikian, G. (2014) Extremozymes-biocatalysts with unique properties from extremophilic microorganisms. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 29, 116–123.
- 2 Sheldon, R.A. (2007) Enzyme immobilization: The quest for optimum performance. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 349, 1289–1307.
- 3 Miyazaki, M., Portia Nagata, M., Honda, T., and Yamaguchi, H. (2013) Bioorganic and biocatalytic reactions, in *Microreactors in Organic Synthesis and Catalysis*, 2nd edn (ed. T. Wirth), John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 289–371.
- 4 Barrow, D., Taylor, S., Morgan, A., and Giles, L. (2013) Properties and use of microreactors, in *Microreactors in Organic Synthesis and Catalysis*, 2nd edn (ed. T. Wirth), John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 1–33.
- 5 Bolivar, J.M., Wiesbauer, J., and Nidetzky, B. (2011) Biotransformations in microstructured reactors: More than flowing with the stream? *Trends Biotechnol.*, 29, 333–342.
- Marques, M.P.C. and Fernandes, P. (2011) Microfluidic devices: Useful tools for bioprocess intensification. *Molecules*, 16, 8368-8401.
- 7 Bolivar, J.M. and Nidetzky, B. (2013) Multiphase biotransformations in microstructured reactors: Opportunities for biocatalytic process intensification and smart flow processing. *Green Process. Synth.*, 2, 541–559.
- 8 Krühne, U., Heintz, S., Ringborg, R., Rosinha, I.P. *et al.* (2014) Biocatalytic process development using microfluidic miniaturized systems. *Green Process. Synth.*, **3**, 23–31.
- 9 Žnidaršic-Plazl, P. (2014) Enzymatic microreactors utilizing non-aqueous media. *Chim. Oggi: Chem. Today*, 32, 54–61.
- 10 Wohlgemuth, R., Plazl, P., Žnidaršic-Plazl, P., Gernaey, K.V. *et al.* (2015) Microscale technology and biocatalytic processes: Opportunities and challenges for synthesis. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **33**, 302–314.

- 11 Cao, L. and Schmid, R.D. (2005) Carrier-Bound Immobilized Enzymes: Principles, Applications and Design, John Wiley & Sons, Weinheim.
- 12 Kataoka, S., Endo, A., Oyama, M., and Ohmori, T. (2009) Enzymatic reactions inside a microreactor with a mesoporous silica catalyst support layer. *Appl. Catal., A*, **359**, 108–112.
- 13 Guo, Z., Xu, S., Lei, Z., Zou, H. *et al.* (2003) Immobilized metal-ion chelating capillary microreactor for peptide mapping analysis of proteins by matrix assisted laser desorption/ionizationtime of flight-mass spectrometry. *Electrophoresis*, 24, 3633–3639.
- 14 Xu, X., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Liu, B. et al. (2008) Trypsin entrapped in poly(diallyldimethylammonium chloride) silica sol-gel microreactor coupled to matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.*, 22, 1257–1264.
- 15 Ji, J., Zhang, Y., Zhou, X., Kong, J. et al. (2008) Enhanced protein digestion through the confinement of nanozeoliteassembled microchip reactors. Anal. Chem., 80, 2457–2463.
- 16 Jiang, T.F., Liang, T.T., Wang, Y.H., Zhang, W.H. *et al.* (2013) Immobilized capillary tyrosinase microreactor for inhibitor screening in natural extracts by capillary electrophoresis. *J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal.*, 84, 36–40.
- 17 Liu, Y., Lu, H., Zhong, W., Song, P. et al. (2006) Multilayer-assembled microchip for enzyme immobilization as reactor toward low-level protein identification. *Anal. Chem.*, **78**, 801–808.
- 18 He, P., Greenway, G., and Haswell, S.J. (2010) Development of enzyme immobilized monolith micro-reactors integrated with microfluidic electrochemical cell for the evaluation of enzyme kinetics. *Microfluid. Nanofluid.*, 8, 565–573.
- 19 Xiong, M., Gu, B., Zhang, J.D., Xu, J.J. et al. (2013) Glucose microfluidic biosensors based on reversible enzyme immobilization on photopatterned stimuli-responsive polymer. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, 50, 229–234.

- 158 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors
 - 20 Park, S.-S., Joo, H.-S., Cho, S.I., Kim, M.-S. *et al.* (2003) Multi-step reactions on microchip platform using nitrocellulose membrane reactor. *Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng.*, 8, 257–262.
 - 21 Gao, J., Xu, J., Locascio, L.E., and Lee, C.S. (2001) Integrated microfluidic system enabling protein digestion, peptide separation and protein identification. *Anal. Chem.*, **73**, 2648–2655.
 - 22 Zhou, Y., Yi, T., Park, S.-S., Chadwick, W. *et al.* (2011) Rapid and enhanced proteolytic digestion using electric-fieldoriented enzyme reactor. *J. Proteomics*, 74, 1030–1035.
 - 23 Wang, S.S., Li, Q., Lu, X.F., Liu, T. *et al.* (2010) Preparation and evaluation of an enzymatic microreactor based on HILIC matrix for digestion and identification of proteins. *Chin. Sci. Bull.*, 55, 910–914.
 - 24 Liang, R.-P., Wang, X.-N., Liu, C.-M., Meng, X.-Y. *et al.* (2013) Construction of graphene oxide magnetic nanocomposites-based on-chip enzymatic microreactor for ultrasensitive pesticide detection. *J. Chromatogr. A*, 1315, 28–35.
 - 25 Matsuura, S., Ishii, R., Itoh, T., Hamakawa, S. *et al.* (2011) Immobilization of enzyme-encapsulated nanoporous material in a microreactor and reaction analysis. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 167, 744–749.
 - 26 Qiao, J., Qi, L., Yan, H., Li, Y. et al. (2013) Microchip CE-LIF method for the hydrolysis of L-glutamine by using L-asparaginase enzyme reactor based on gold nanoparticle. *Electrophoresis*, 34, 409–416.
 - 27 Lin, P., Zhao, S., Lu, X., Ye, F. *et al.* (2013) Preparation of a dual-enzyme co-immobilized capillary microreactor and simultaneous screening of multiple enzyme inhibitors by capillary electrophoresis. *J. Sep. Sci.*, 36, 2538–2543.
 - 28 Zhang, A., Ye, F., Lu, J., and Zhao, S. (2013) Screening α-glucosidase inhibitor from natural products by capillary electrophoresis with immobilised enzyme onto polymer monolith modified by gold nanoparticles. *Food Chem.*, 141, 1854–1859.

- 29 Liu, Y., Xue, Y., Ji, J., Chen, X. et al. (2007) Gold nanoparticle assembly microfluidic reactor for efficient on-line proteolysis. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics*, 6, 1428–1436.
- 30 Ferrer, I.M., Valadez, H., Estala, L., and Gomez, F.A. (2014) Paper microfluidic-based enzyme catalyzed double microreactor. *Electrophoresis*, 35, 2417–2419.
- Pijanowska, D.G., Baraniecka, A., Wiater, R., Ginalska, G. *et al.* (2001) The pH-detection of triglycerides. *Sens. Actuators, B*, 78, 263–266.
- 32 Martinez, A.W., Phillips, S.T., and Whitesides, G.M. (2010) Diagnostics for the developing world: Microfluidic paper-based analytical devices. *Anal. Chem.*, 82, 3–10.
- 33 Gupta, R. and Chaudhury, N.K. (2007) Entrapment of biomolecules in sol-gel matrix for applications in biosensors: Problems and future prospects. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, 22, 2387–2399.
- 34 Costa, S.A., Azevedo, H.S., and Reis, R.L. (2005) Enzyme immobilization in biodegradable polymers for biomedical applications, in *Biodegradable Systems in Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine* (eds R.L. Reis and J.S. Roman), CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. 301–323.
- 35 Sakai-Kato, K., Kato, M., and Toyooka, T. (2003) Creation of an on-chip enzyme reactor by encapsulating trypsin in sol - gel on a plastic microchip. *Anal. Chem.*, 75, 388–393.
- 36 Kato, M., Sakai-Kato, K., Jin, H., Kubota, K. *et al.* (2004) Integration of on-line protein digestion, peptide separation, and protein identification using pepsin-coated photopolymerized sol-gel columns and capillary electrophoresis/mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.*, 76, 1896–1902.
- 37 Kawakami, K., Sera, Y., Sakai, S., Ono, T. *et al.* (2005) Development and characterization of a silica monolith immobilized enzyme micro-bioreactor. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 44, 236–240.
- 38 Yesil-Celiktas, O., Cumana, S., and Smirnova, I. (2013) Silica-based monoliths for enzyme catalyzed reactions in microfluidic systems with an emphasis

on glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase and cellulose. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **234**, 166–172.

- 39 Liu, Y., Qu, H., Xue, Y., Wu, Z. *et al.* (2007) Enhancement of proteolysis through the silica-gel-derived microfluidic reactor. *Proteomics*, 7, 1373–1378.
- 40 Huang, Y., Shan, W., Liu, B., Liu, Y. *et al.* (2006) Zeolite nanoparticle modified microchip reactor for efficient protein digestion. *Lab Chip*, 6, 534–539.
- 41 Qu, H., Wang, H., Huang, Y., Zhong, W. et al. (2004) Stable microstructured network for protein patterning on a plastic microfluidic channel: Strategy and characterization of on-chip enzyme microreactors. Anal. Chem., 76, 6426–6433.
- 42 Naik, R.R., Tomczak, M.M., Luckarift, H.R., Spain, J.C., and Stone, M.O. (2004) Entrapment of enzymes and nanoparticles using biomimetically synthesized silica. *Chem. Commun.*, 1684–1685.
- 43 Elagli, A., Belhacene, K., Vivien, C., Dhulster, P. *et al.* (2014) Facile immobilization of enzyme by entrapment using a plasma-deposited organosilicon thin film. *J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym.*, **110**, 77–86.
- 44 Wu, H., Tian, Y., Liu, B., Lu, H. *et al.* (2004) Titania and alumina sol-gelderived microfluidics enzymatic-reactors for peptide mapping: Design, characterization, and performance. *J. Proteome Res.*, **3**, 1201–1209.
- 45 Min, W., Wang, W., Chen, J., Wang, A. et al. (2012) On-line immobilized acetylcholinesterase microreactor for screening of inhibitors from natural extracts by capillary electrophoresis. Anal. Bioanal.Chem., 404, 2397–2405.
- 46 Mersal, G.A. and Bilitewski, U. (2005) Development of monolithic enzymatic reactors in glass microchips for the quantitative determination of enzyme substrates using the example of glucose determination via immobilized glucose oxidase. *Electrophoresis*, 26, 2303–2312.
- 47 Koh, W.-G. and Pishko, M. (2005) Immobilization of multi-enzyme microreactors inside microfluidic

devices. Sens. Actuators, B, 106, 335-342.

- 48 Jeong, W.J., Kim, J.Y., Choo, J., Lee, E.K. et al. (2005) Continuous fabrication of biocatalyst immobilized microparticles using photopolymerization and immiscible liquids in microfluidic systems. Langmuir, 21, 3738–3741.
- 49 Nakagawa, K., Tamura, A., and Chaiya, C. (2014) Preparation of proteolytic microreactors by freeze-drying immobilization. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, 119, 22–29.
- 50 Supiot, P., Vivien, C., Blary, K., and Rouessac, V. (2011) Organosilicon polymers deposition by PECVD and RPECVD on micropatterned substrates. *Chem. Vap. Deposition*, 17, 321–326.
- 51 Hayakawa, T., Yoshinari, M., and Nemoto, K. (2004) Characterization and protein-adsorption behavior of deposited organic thin film onto titanium by plasma polymerization with hexamethyldisiloxane. *Biomaterials*, 25, 119–127.
- 52 Liu, Y., Wang, H., Liu, Q., Qu, H. *et al.* (2010) Improvement of proteolytic efficiency towards low-level proteins by an antifouling surface of alumina gel in a microchannel. *Lab Chip*, **10**, 2887–2893.
- 53 Lozinsky, V.I. (2008) Polymeric cryogels as a new family of macroporous and supermacroporous materials for biotechnological purposes. *Russ. Chem. Bull.*, 57, 1015–1032.
- 54 Nakagawa, K. and Goto, Y. (2015) Preparation of α-amylase-immobilized freeze-dried poly(vinyl alcohol) foam and its application to microfluidic enzymatic reactor. *Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif.*, **91**, 35–42.
- 55 Asanomi, Y., Yamaguchi, H., Miyazaki, M., and Maeda, H. (2011) Enzymeimmobilized microfluidic process reactors. *Molecules*, 16, 6041–6059.
- 56 Truppo, M.D. and Hughes, G. (2011) Development of an improved immobilized CAL-B for the enzymatic resolution of a key intermediate to odanacatib. Org. Process Res. Dev., 15, 1033–1035.

160 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

- 57 Miyazaki, M., Kaneno, J., Yamaori, S., Honda, T. *et al.* (2005) Efficient immobilization of enzymes on microchannel surface through His-tag and application for microreactor. *Protein Pept. Lett.*, **12**, 207–210.
- 58 Srinivasan, A., Bach, H., Sherman, D.H., and Dordick, J.S. (2004) Bacterial P450catalyzed polyketide hydroxylation on a microfluidic platform. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 88, 528–535.
- 59 Halim, A.A., Szita, N., and Baganz, F. (2013) Characterization and multi-step transketolase-ω-transaminase bioconversions in an immobilized enzyme microreactor (IEMR) with packed tube. *J. Biotechnol.*, 168, 567–575.
- 60 Drager, G., Kiss, C., Kunz, U., and Kirsching, A. (2007) Enzymepurification and catalytic transformations in a microstructured PASS flow reactor using a new tyrosinebased Ni-NTA linker system attached to a polyvinylpyrrolidinone-based matrix. Org. Biomol. Chem., 5, 3657–3664.
- 61 Muñoz, L., Dimov, N., Carot-Sans, G., Bula, W.P. *et al.* (2012) Mimicking insect communication: Release and detection of pheromone, biosynthesized by an alcohol acetyl transferase immobilized in a microreactor. *PLoS One*, 7, e47751.
- 62 Seong, G.H. and Crooks, R.M. (2002) Efficient mixing and reactions within microfluidic channels using microbeadsupported catalysts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 124, 13360–13361.
- 63 Boehm, C.R., Freemont, P.S., and Ces, O. (2013) Design of a prototype flow microreactor for synthetic biology *in vitro. Lab Chip*, 13, 3426–3432.
- 64 Holden, M.A., Jung, S.-Y., and Cremer, P.S. (2004) Patterning enzymes inside microfluidic channels via photoattachment chemistry. *Anal. Chem.*, 76, 1838–1843.
- 65 Mao, H., Yang, T., and Cremer, P.S. (2002) Design and characterization of immobilized enzymes in microfluidic systems. *Anal. Chem.*, 74, 379–385.
- 66 Krenkova, J., Szekrenyes, A., Keresztessy, Z., Foret, F. *et al.* (2013)

Oriented immobilization of peptide-*N*-glycosidase F on a monolithic support for glycosylation analysis. *J. Chromatogr. A*, **1322**, 54–61.

- 67 Schröder, H., Hoffmann, L., Müller, J., Alhorn, P. *et al.* (2009) Addressable microfluidic polymer chip for DNA-directed immobilization of oligonucleotide-tagged compounds. *Small*, 5, 1547–1552.
- 68 Vong, T.H., Schoffelen, S., van Donge, S.F.M., van Beek, T.A. *et al.* (2011) A DNA-based strategy for dynamic positional enzyme immobilization inside fused silica microchannels. *Chem. Sci.*, 2, 1278–1285.
- 69 Xiao, P., Lv, X., Man, Y., Qing, H. et al. (2013) Rapid and efficient proteolysis for protein analysis by an aptamer-based immobilized chymotrypsin microreactor. Anal. Lett., 46, 868-878.
- 70 Matosevic, S., Lye, G.J., and Baganz, F. (2011) Immobilised enzyme microreactor for screening of multi-step bioconversions: Characterisation of a de novo transketolase-ωtransaminase pathway to synthesise chiral amino alcohols. *J. Biotechnol.*, **155**, 320–329.
- 71 Ku, B., Cha, J., Srinivasan, A., Kwon, S.J. *et al.* (2006) Chip-based polyketide biosynthesis and functionalization. *Biotechnol. Progr.*, 22, 1102–1107.
- 72 Rusmini, F., Zhong, Z., and Feijen, J. (2007) Protein immobilization strategies for protein biochips. *Biomacromolecules*, 8, 1775–1789.
- 73 Heo, J. (2014) Spatial distance effect of bienzymes on the efficiency of sequential reactions in a microfluidic reactor packed with enzyme-immobilized microbeads. *Anal. Sci.*, **30**, 991–997.
- 74 Wilkins Stevens, P., Henry, M.R., and Kelso, D.M. (1999) DNA hybridization on microparticles: Determining capture-probe density and equilibrium dissociation constants. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 27, 1719–1727.
- 75 Niemeyer, C.M. (2002) The developments of semisynthetic DNA-protein conjugates. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 20, 395–401.

- 76 Lee, J., Musyimi, H.K., Soper, S.A., and Murray, K.K. (2008) Development of an automated digestion and droplet deposition microfluidic chip for MALDI-TOF MS. J. Am. Soc. Mass. Spectrom., 19, 964–972.
- 77 Hua, X., Dongb, Y., He, Q., Chen, H. et al. (2015) Fabrication of a polystyrene microfluidic chip coupled to electrosprayionization mass spectrometry for protein analysis. J. Chromatogr. B, 990, 96–103.
- 78 Hanna, J., Iliuta, I., Larachi, F., and Iliuta, M.C. (2013) Enzymatic CO₂ capture by immobilized hCA II in an intensified microreactor—Kinetic study of the catalytic hydration. *Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control*, 15, 78–85.
- 79 Zhao, C., Jiang, H., Smith, D.R., Bruckenstein, S. *et al.* (2006) Integration of an on-line protein digestion microreactor to a nanoelectrospray emitter for peptide mapping. *Anal. Biochem.*, 359, 167–175.
- 80 Mugo, S.M. and Ayton, K. (2010) Lipase immobilized microstructured fiber based flow-through microreactor for facile lipid transformations. *J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym.*, 67, 202–207.
- 81 Miyazaki, M., Kaneno, J., Uehara, M., Fujii, M., Shimizu, H., and Maeda, H. (2003) Simple method for preparation of nanostructure on microchannel surface and its usage for enzymeimmobilization. *Chem. Commun.*, 648–649.
- 82 Thomsen, M.S., Polt, P., and Nidetzky, B. (2007) Development of a microfluidic immobilised enzyme reactor. *Chem. Commun.*, 2527–2529.
- 83 Krenkova, J., Kleparnik, K., and Foret, F. (2007) Capillary electrophoresis mass spectrometry coupling with immobilized enzyme electrospray capillaries. *J. Chromatogr. A*, 1159, 110–118.
- 84 Tang, X., Liu, S., Wang, S., Zhang, Q. et al. (2014) Preparation of reversibly immobilized Jack bean urease on microchannel surface and application for enzyme inhibition assay. *Microfluid. Nanofluid.*, 17, 721–728.
- 85 Stigter, E.C., de Jong, G.J., and van Bennekom, W.P. (2008) Pepsin

immobilized in dextran-modified fusedsilica capillaries for on-line protein digestion and peptide mapping. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, **619**, 231–238.

- 86 Lee, M.Y., Snirivasan, A., Ku, B., and Dordick, J.S. (2003) Multienzyme catalysis in microfluidic biochips. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 83, 20–28.
- 87 Bossi, A., Guizzardi, L., D'Acuto, M.T., and Righetti, P.G. (2004) Controlled enzyme-immobilisation on capillaries for microreactors for peptide mapping. *Anal. Bioanal.Chem.*, **378**, 1722–1728.
- 88 Samuel, M., Mugo, S.M., and Ayton, K. (2013) Lipase immobilized methacrylate polymer monolith microreactor for lipid transformations and online analytics. *J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc.*, **90**, 65–72.
- 89 Thomsen, M.S. and Nidetzky, B. (2008) Microfluidic reactor for continuous flow biotransformations with immobilized enzymes: The example of lactose hydrolysis by a hyperthermophilic β-glycoside hydrolase. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 8, 40–48.
- 90 Schwarz, A., Thomsen, M.S., and Nidetzky, B. (2009) Enzymatic synthesis of β-glucosylglycerol using a continuous-flow microreactor containing thermostable β-glycoside hydrolase CelB immobilized on coated microchannel walls. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **103**, 865–872.
- 91 Malecha, K., Remiszewska, E., and Pijanowska, D.G. (2014) Surface modification of low and high temperature co-fired ceramics for enzymatic microreactor fabrication. *Sens. Actuators, B*, **190**, 873–880.
- 92 Bao, H., Zhang, L., and Chen, G. (2013) Immobilization of trypsin via graphene oxide-silica composite for efficient microchip proteolysis. *J. Chromatogr. A*, 1310, 74–81.
- 93 Wu, H., Zhai, J., Tian, Y., Lu, H. *et al.* (2004) Microfluidic enzymatic-reactors for peptide mapping/strategy, characterization, and performance. *Lab Chip*, 4, 588–597.
- 94 Cerdeira, F.L.M., da Costa, E.T., do Lago, C.L., and Angnes, L. (2013) Miniaturized flow system based on enzyme modified PMMA microreactor for amperometric determination

162 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

of glucose. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, **47**, 539–544.

- 95 Ogończyk, D., Jankowski, P., and Garstecki, P. (2012) Functionalization of polycarbonate with proteins; Open-tubular enzymatic microreactors. *Lab Chip*, **12**, 2743–2748.
- 96 Rahman, M.M. and Asiri, A.M. (2015) One-step electrochemical detection of cholesterol in the presence of suitable K₃Fe(CN)₆/phosphate buffer mediator by an electrochemical approach. *Talanta*, **140**, 96–101.
- 97 Schilke, K.F., Wilson, K.L., Cantrell, T., Corti, G. *et al.* (2010) A novel enzymatic microreactor with *Aspergillus oryzae* β-galactosidase immobilized on silicon dioxide nanosprings. *Biotechnol. Progr.*, 26, 1597–1605.
- 98 Liang, Y., Tao, D., Ma, J., Sun, L., Liang, Z., Zhang, L., and Zhang, Y. (2011) Hydrophilic monolith based immobilized enzyme reactors in capillary and on microchip for high-throughput proteomic analysis. *J. Chromatogr. A*, **1218**, 2898–2905.
- 99 Duan, J., Sun, L., Liang, Z., Zhang, J., Wang, H., Zhang, L., Zhang, W., and Zhang, Y. (2006) Rapid protein digestion and identification using monolithic enzymatic microreactor coupled with nano-liquid chromatographyelectrospray ionization mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. A, 1106, 165–174.
- 100 Peterson, D.S., Rohr, T., Svec, F., and Fréchet, J.M. (2002) Enzymatic microreactor-on-a-chip: Protein mapping using trypsin immobilized on porous polymer monoliths molded in channels of microfluidic devices. *Anal. Chem.*, 74, 4081–4088.
- 101 Anuar, S.T., Zhao, Y.-Y., Mugo, S.M., and Curtis, J.M. (2013) The development of a capillary microreactor for transesterification reactions using lipase immobilized onto a silica monolith. *J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym.*, **92**, 62–70.
- 102 Ye, M., Hu, S., Schoenherr, H.M., and Dovichi, N.J. (2004) The enzyme was immobilized via the succinimide group of ABS. *Electrophoresis*, 25, 1319–1326.
- 103 Ma, J., Liang, Z., Qiao, X., Deng, Q. et al. (2008) Organic-inorganic hybrid

silica monolith based immobilized trypsin reactor with high enzymatic activity. *Anal. Chem.*, **80**, 2949–2956.

- 104 Spross, J. and Sinz, A. (2010) A capillary monolithic trypsin reactor for efficient protein digestion in online and offline coupling to ESI and MALDI mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.*, 82, 1434–1443.
- 105 Dulay, M.T., Baca, Q.J., and Zare, R.N. (2005) Enhanced proteolytic activity of covalently bound enzymes in photopolymerized sol gel. *Anal. Chem.*, 77, 4604–4610.
- 106 Lin, W. and Skinner, C.D. (2009) Design and optimization of porous polymer enzymatic digestors for proteomics. *J. Sep. Sci.*, 32, 2642–2652.
- 107 Bílková, Z., Slováková, M., Minc, N., Fütterer, C. et al. (2006) Functionalized magnetic micro- and nanoparticles: Optimization and application to μ-chip tryptic digestion. Electrophoresis, 27, 1811–1824.
- 108 Liu, J., Lin, S., Qi, D., Deng, C. *et al.* (2007) On-chip enzymatic microreactor using trypsin-immobilized superparamagnetic nanoparticles for highly efficient proteolysis. *J. Chromatogr. A*, **1176**, 169–177.
- 109 Le Nel, A., Minc, N., Smadja, C., Slovakova, M. *et al.* (2008) Controlled proteolysis of normal and pathological prion protein in a microfluidic chip. *Lab Chip*, **8**, 294–301.
- 110 Liuni, P., Rob, T., and Wilson, D.J. (2010) A microfluidic reactor for rapid, low-pressure proteolysis with on-chip electrospray ionization. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom.*, 24, 315–320.
- 111 Tibhe, J.D., Fu, H., Noël, T., Wang, Q. et al. (2013) Flow synthesis of phenylserine using threonine aldolase immobilized on Eupergit support. Beilstein J. Org. Chem., 9, 2168–2179.
- 112 Fan, H. and Chen, G. (2007) Fiberpacked channel bioreactor for microfluidic protein digestion. *Proteomics*, 7, 3445–3449.
- 113 Song, Y.S., Shin, H.Y., Lee, J.Y., Park, C. et al. (2012) β-Galactosidaseimmobilised microreactor fabricated using a novel technique for enzyme immobilisation and its application for

continuous synthesis of lactulose. *Food Chem.*, **133**, 611–617.

- 114 Luk, V.N., Fiddes, L.K., Luk, V.M., Kumacheva, E. et al. (2012) Digital microfluidic hydrogel microreactors for proteomics. *Proteomics*, 12, 1310–1318.
- 115 Li, Y., Wojcik, R., and Dovichi, N.J. (2011) A replaceable microreactor for on-line protein digestion in a twodimensional capillary electrophoresis system with tandem mass spectrometry detection. *J. Chromatogr. A*, **1218**, 2007–2011.
- 116 Shi, J., Zhao, W., Chen, Y., Guo, L. *et al.* (2012) A replaceable dual-enzyme capillary microreactor using magnetic beads and its application for simultaneous detection of acetaldehyde and pyruvate. *Electrophoresis*, **33**, 2145–2151.
- 117 Daniel, S., Rao, T.P., Rao, K.S., Rani, S.U. *et al.* (2007) A review of DNA functionlised/grafted carbon nanotubes and their characterisation. *Sens. Actuators, B*, **122**, 672–682.
- 118 Zhang, H.F., Wang, C.M., Buck, E.C., and Wang, L.S. (2003) Synthesis, characterization, and manipulation of helical SiO₂ nanosprings. *Nano Lett.*, 3, 577–580.
- 119 Fu, H., Dencic, I., Tibhe, J., Sanchez Pedraza, C.A. *et al.* (2012) Threonine aldolase immobilization on different supports for engineering of productive, cost-efficient enzymatic microreactors. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 207–208, 564–576.
- 120 Anuar, S.T., Villegas, C., Mugo, S.M., and Curtis, J.M. (2011) The development of flow-through bio-catalyst microreactors from silica micro structured fibers for lipid transformations. *Lipids*, 46, 545–555.
- 121 Honda, T., Miyazaki, M., Nakamura, H., and Maeda, H. (2005) Immobilization of enzymes on a microchannel surface through crosslinking polymerization. *Chem. Commun.*, 5062–5064.
- 122 Honda, T., Miyazaki, M., Nakamura, H., and Maeda, H. (2006) Facile preparation of an enzyme-immobilized microreactor using a crosslinking enzyme membrane on a microchannel surface. *Adv. Synth. Catal.*, 348, 2163–2171.

- 123 Hickey, A.M., Marle, L., McCreedy, T., Watts, P. *et al.* (2007) Immobilization of thermophilic enzymes in miniaturized flow reactors. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, 35, 1621–1630.
- 124 Hickey, A.M., Ngamsom, B., Wiles, C., Greenway, G.M. *et al.* (2009) A microreactor for the study of biotransformations by a crosslinked γ-lactamase enzyme. *Biotechnol. J.*, 4, 510–516.
- 125 Ghafourifar, G., Fleitz, A., and Waldron, K.C. (2013) Development of glutaraldehyde-crosslinked chymotrypsin and an in situ immobilized enzyme microreactor with peptide mapping by capillary electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis*, 34, 1804–1811.
- 126 Han, Y.D., Jeong, C.Y., Lee, J.H., Lee, D.-S. *et al.* (2012) Microchip-based organophosphorus detection using bienzyme bioelectrocatalysis. *Jpn. J. Appl. Phys.*, **51**, 06FK01-1–06FK01-7.
- 127 Zhou, X.M., Entwistle, A., Zhang, H., Jackson, A.P. *et al.* (2014) Self-assembly of amyloid fibrils that display active enzymes. *ChemCatChem*, 6, 1961–1968.
- 128 Honda, H., Miyazaki, M., Yamaguchi, Y., Nakamura, H. *et al.* (2007) Integrated microreaction system for optical resolution of racemic amino acids. *Lab Chip*, 7, 366–372.
- 129 Yamaguchi, H. and Miyazaki, M. (2013) Enzyme-immobilized reactors for rapid and efficient sample preparation in MSbased proteomic studies. *Proteomics*, 13, 457–466.
- Yamaguchi, H., Miyazaki, M., Kawazumi, H., and Maeda, H. (2010) Multidigestion in continuous flow tandem protease-immobilized microreactors for proteomic analysis. *Anal. Biochem.*, 407, 12–18.
- 131 Lloret, L., Eibes, G., Moreira, M.T., Feijoo, G. *et al.* (2013) Improving the catalytic performance of laccase using a novel continuous-flow microreactor. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 223, 497–506.
- 132 Steffansen, B., Nielsen, C.U., and Frokjaer, S. (2005) Delivery aspects of small peptides and substrates for peptide transporters. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, 60, 241–245.
- 133 Nuijens, T., Cusan, C., Schepers, A.C.H.M., Kruijtzer, J.A.W. *et al.* (2011)

164 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors

Enzymatic synthesis of activated esters and their subsequent use in enzymebased peptide synthesis. *J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym.*, **71**, 79–84.

- 134 Xu, D.Y., Chen, J.Y., and Yang, Z. (2011) Use of crosslinked tyrosinase aggregates as catalyst for synthesis of L-DOPA. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 63, 88–94.
- 135 Wickner, R.B. (1994) [URE3] as an altered URE2 protein: Evidence for a prion analog in *Saccharomyces cere*visiae. Science, 264, 566–569.
- 136 Akay, G., Erhan, E., and Keskinler, B. (2005) Bioprocess intensification in flow-through monolithic microbioreactors with immobilized bacteria. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 90, 180–189.
- 137 Stojkovič, G. and Žnidaršič-Plazl, P. (2012) Continuous synthesis of l-malic acid using whole-cell microreactor. *Process Biochem.*, 47, 1102–1107.
- 138 Šalić, A., Pindrić, K., and Zelić, B. (2013) Bioproduction of food additives hexanal and hexanoic acid in a microreactor. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, 171, 2273–2284.
- 139 Stojkovič, G., Krivec, M., Vesel, A., Marinšek, M. *et al.* (2014) Surface cell immobilization within perfluoroalkoxy microchannels. *Appl. Surf. Sci.*, 320, 810–817.
- 140 Andrade, L.H., Kroutil, W., and Jamison, T.F. (2014) Continuous flow synthesis of chiral amines in organic solvents: Immobilization of *E. coli* cells containing both ω-transaminase and PLP. *Org. Lett.*, **16**, 6092–6095.
- 141 Whitesides, G.M. (2006) The origins and the future of microfluidics. *Nature*, 442, 368–373.
- 142 Chena, H.C., Chenb, J.H., Changc, C., and Shieh, C.J. (2011) Optimization of ultrasound-accelerated synthesis of enzymatic caffeic acid phenethyl ester by response surface methodology. *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, 18, 455–459.
- 143 Wang, J., Gu, S.S., Cui, H.S., Wu, X.Y. *et al.* (2014) A novel continuous flow biosynthesis of caffeic acid phenethyl ester from alkyl caffeate and phenethanol in a packed bed microreactor. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **158**, 39–47.

- 144 Kundu, S., Bhangale, A.S., Wallace, W.E., Flynn, K.M. et al. (2011) Continuous flow enzyme-catalyzed polymerization in a microreactor. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 133, 6006–6011.
- 145 Agostinelli, E., Belli, F., Tempera, G., Mura, A. *et al.* (2007) Polyketone polymer: A new support for direct enzyme immobilization. *J. Biotechnol.*, **127**, 670–678.
- 146 Klouda, L. and Mikos, A.G. (2008) Thermoresponsive hydrogels in biomedical applications. *Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm.*, 68, 34–45.
- 147 Pei, Y., Chen, J., Yang, L., Shi, L. *et al.* (2004) The effect of pH on the LCST of poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) and poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide-co-acrylic acid). *J. Biomater. Sci., Polym. Ed.*, 15, 585–594.
- 148 Zhang, X.Z., Yang, Y.Y., Chung, T.S., and Ma, K.X. (2001) Preparation and characterization of fast response macroporous poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogels. *Langmuir*, 17, 6094–6099.
- 149 Klis, M., Karbarz, M., Stojek, Z., Rogalski, J. *et al.* (2009) Thermoresponsive poly(*N*-isopropylacrylamide) gel for immobilization of laccase on indium tin oxide electrodes. *J. Phys. Chem. B*, **113**, 6062–6067.
- 150 Virtanen, J. and Tenhu, H. (2000) Thermal properties of poly(*N*isopropylacrylamide)-γ-poly(ethylene oxide) in aqueous solutions: Influence of the number and distribution of the grafts. *Macromolecules*, 33, 5970–5975.
- 151 Algar, W.R., Prasuhn, D.E., Stewart, M.H., Jennings, T.L. *et al.* (2011) The controlled display of biomolecules on nanoparticles: A challenge suited to bioorthogonal chemistry. *Bioconjug. Chem.*, **22**, 825–858.
- 152 Soellner, M.B., Dickson, K.A., Nilsson, B.L., and Raines, R.T. (2003) Sitespecific protein immobilization by Staudinger ligation. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, 125, 11790–11791.
- Soellner, M.B., Nilsson, B.L., and Raines, R.T. (2002) Staudinger ligation of α-azido acids retains stereochemistry. *J. Org. Chem.*, **67**, 4993–4996.
- 154 Nilsson, B.L., Hondal, R.J., Soellner, M.B., and Raines, R.T. (2003) Protein

assembly by orthogonal chemical ligation methods. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 125, 5268-5269.

- 155 Kalia, J., Abbott, N.L., and Raines, R.T. (2007) General method for sitespecific protein immobilization by Staudinger ligation. Bioconjugate Chem., 18, 1064-1069.
- 156 Kalia, J. and Raines, R.T. (2006) Reactivity of intein thioesters: Appending a functional group to a protein. Chem-BioChem, 7, 1375-1383.
- 157 Mosesa, J.E. and Moorhousea, A.D. (2007) The growing applications of click chemistry. Chem. Soc. Rev., 36, 1249-1262.
- 158 Song, W., Wang, Y., Qu, J., and Lin, Q. (2008) Selective functionalization of a genetically encoded alkene-containing protein via "photoclick chemistry" in bacterial cells. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 130, 9654-9655.
- 159 Wang, J., Zhang, W., Song, W., Wang, Y. et al. (2010) A biosynthetic route to photoclick chemistry on proteins. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 132, 14812-14818.
- 160 Pavlidis, I.V., Patila, M., Bornscheuer, U.T., Gournis, D. et al. (2014) Graphene-based nanobiocatalytic systems: Recent advances and future prospects. Trends Biotechnol., 32, 312 - 320.
- 161 Rao, C.N.R., Sood, A.K., Subrahmanyam, K.S., and Govindaraj, A. (2009) Graphene: The new twodimensional nanomaterial. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 48, 7752-7777.
- 162 Compton, O.C. and Nguyen, S.T. (2010) Graphene oxide, highly reduced graphene oxide, and graphene: Versatile building blocks for carbon-based materials. Small, 6, 711-723.
- 163 Zhang, J., Zhang, F., Yang, H., Huang, X. et al. (2010) Graphene oxide as a matrix 173 Fox, R.J., Davis, S.C., Mundorff, E.C., for enzyme immobilization. Langmuir, 26, 6083-6085.
- 164 Wei, X.L. and Ge, Z.Q. (2013) Effect of graphene oxide on conformation and activity of catalase. Carbon, 60, 401-409.
- 165 Shao, Q., Qian, Y., Wu, P., Zhang, H. et al. (2013) Graphene oxide-induced

conformation changes of glucose oxidase studied by infrared spectroscopy. Colloids Surf., B, 109, 115-120.

- 166 Chen, B., Pernodet, N., Rafailovich, M.H., Bakhtina, A. et al. (2008) Protein immobilization on epoxy-activated thin polymer films: Effect of surface wettability and enzyme loading. Langmuir, **24**. 13457-13464.
- 167 Zhang, Y., Zhang, J., Huang, X., Zhou, X. et al. (2012) Assembly of graphene oxide-enzyme conjugates through hydrophobic interaction. Small, 8, 154 - 159.
- 168 Pavlidis, I.V., Vorhaben, T., Tsoufis, T., Rudolf, P. et al. (2012) Development of effective nanobiocatalytic systems through the immobilization of hydrolases on functionalized carbon-based nanomaterials. Bioresour. Technol., 115, 164 - 171
- 169 Hermanová, S., Zarevúcká, M., Bouša, D., Pumera, M. et al. (2015) Graphene oxide immobilized enzymes show high thermal and solvent stability. Nanoscale, 7, 5852-5858.
- 170 Su, R., Shi, P., Zhu, M., Hong, F. et al. (2012) Studies on the properties of graphene oxide-alkaline protease biocomposites. Bioresour. Technol., 115, 136 - 140.
- 171 Zhang, F., Zheng, B., Zhang, J., Huang, X. et al. (2010) Horseradish peroxidase immobilized on graphene oxide: Physical properties and applications in phenolic compound removal. I. Phys. Chem. C, 114, 8469-8473.
- 172 Bolivar, J.M. and Nidetzky, B. (2012) Positively charged mini-protein Z_{basic2} as a highly efficient silica binding module: Opportunities for enzyme immobilization on unmodified silica supports. Langmuir, 28, 10040-10049.
- Newman, L.M. et al. (2007) Improving catalytic function by ProSAR-driven enzyme evolution. Nat. Biotechnol., 25, 338-344.
- 174 Huisman, G.W., Liang, J., and Krebber, A. (2010) Practical chiral alcohol manufacture using ketoreductases. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 14, 122-129.

- **166** 5 Development of Enzymatic Reactions in Miniaturized Reactors
 - 175 Savile, C.K., Janey, J.M., Mundorff, E.C., Moore, J.C. *et al.* (2010) Biocatalytic asymmetric synthesis of chiral amines from ketones applied to sitagliptin manufacture. *Science*, **329**, 305–309.
- 176 Šalić, A., Pindrić, K., Podrepšek, G.H., Leitgeb, M., and Zelić, B. (2013) NADH oxidation in a microreactor catalysed by ADH immobilised on γ-Fe₂O₃ nanoparticles. *Green Process. Synth.*, 2, 569–578.

Part II Microbial Process Engineering

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. 167

Toshiomi Yoshida

6.1 Introduction

The contribution of microorganisms to modern human society is immense. It includes the industrial manufacturing of materials that are important for humanity. The processes of industrial manufacturing that use microorganisms must be optimized to survive economically in a highly competitive society. Appropriate control of a microbial process for industrial application can be accomplished by accurate, near-real-time monitoring of the state of the process. The bioreactor was developed as a key component of bioprocessing for industrial manufacturing, which must provide appropriate conditions for the organisms to grow and produce the target products under optimal conditions.

A remarkable development was made during the last two decades: the scaling-down of bioreactors. Small-scale bioreactors comprise a group of microbioreactors with sub-milliliter volumes and a group of mini-bioreactors with a volume above 1 ml. These reactors have been utilized in high-throughput bioprocessing for the design of large-scale bioreactors in industrial-scale manufacturing and the optimization of operational conditions in production plants.

Conventional stainless steel fermentors can be used repeatedly with clean-up after cultivation and sterilization before inoculations for other batches. Those procedures are complicated, requiring special care to prevent contamination with foreign organisms, and the capital cost of devices is high. To overcome such difficulties, there is a demand for simpler and more flexible devices for microbial cultivation. Single-use disposable bioreactors, in particular, have received much attention as one of the most promising alternatives, and their popularity has rapidly risen.

Bioprocess engineers have worked on developing technologies to obtain information on microbial cultivation by analyzing microbial physiology in relation to its environment and manipulating operational conditions to control the microbial cultivation. The demand for real-time and near-real-time monitoring has led to significant innovation of analytical technologies and automation systems in the

field of the process monitoring. In 2004, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued [1] "Guidance for Industry PAT (Process Analytical Technology)" as a framework to assist innovative development of pharmaceutical manufacturing and quality assurance processes. In the PAT initiative, FDA identified the potential for continuous improvement in the fermentation and downstream processing technologies. FDA has promoted the PAT initiative as implementing process controls so that quality by design (QbD) approaches can "build quality into" manufacturing processes. In the last decade, the understanding and adoption of the PAT initiative has increased remarkably, and its implementation has become widespread, especially in the pharmaceutical industry.

This chapter will review the development of technologies for (i) parallel bioreactor systems for high-throughput processing, (ii) single-use disposable bioreactor systems, (iii) sensor and monitoring technologies, and (iv) process analytical technology. Validation and practical implementation of these technologies and future perspectives are discussed.

6.2

Bioreactor Development

The bioreactor is a main constituent of the bioprocess in industrial manufacturing. Various biological catalysts, including enzymes, bacteria, fungi, plant cells, animal cells, and other means, have been used to produce various chemicals, biochemicals, foods, proteins, biologics, and other biological materials. The bioreactors, which is the heart of the bioprocess, should have various functions based on their purpose, including containment of the materials to ensure sterility, introduction of oxygen into the medium, removal of carbon dioxide and other gaseous by-products, introduction of nutrients for the organisms to utilize, control of the physiological environment such as pH, temperature, shear rate, and suspension of cells and dispersion of solid materials or other nonaqueous liquids [2].

Oxygen supply to the medium is a crucially important issue in the cultivation of aerobically growing organisms. The amount of oxygen dissolved in the medium is at any time quite limited because of its low solubility, so oxygen must be continuously supplied. Thus, the oxygen supply rate to the medium is one of the important parameters in the configuration design of a bioreactor and the optimization of its operational conditions. Consequently, oxygen transfer performance is considered the first priority in selecting a bioreactor and its scale-up. There have been many investigations on the design of bioreactors, such as continuously stirred tank reactors (STRs), and bubble column reactors or air-lift fermenters to increase the oxygen transfer rate (OTR). In transferring oxygen from air bubbles to cells, the rate-limiting step is the bubble-to-bulk transfer and diffusion at the surface of the air bubble, and the OTR absolutely depends on the surface area and oxygen transfer coefficient. These characteristics are strongly affected by the hydrodynamic conditions of the gas and liquid dispersion in the medium. It is widely accepted that the speed of the impeller tip as a parameter representing the shear rate in the bioreactor is a good and representative engineering parameter that governs the mass transport phenomenon between immiscible phases in the bioreactor. During the cultivation, operational conditions including the agitation and aeration rates should be manipulated for an oxygen supply rate that will meet the oxygen uptake rate (OUR) by the respiration of the organisms involved. Therefore, the volumetric mass transfer coefficient, $k_L a$, of oxygen is a key parameter in the design, scale-up, and operation of bioreactors [3, 4].

Regions of low oxygen concentrations may occur in a large bioreactor. This heterogeneity results from the flow conditions and reaction kinetics of cellular metabolism. From an engineering perspective, it is necessary to understand what biochemical engineers have learned about the design of bioreactors, such as mixing, rheology, and process optimization, that ties engineering to microbial kinetics [5–10]. A computational fluid dynamics (CFD) model was applied to analyze the hydrodynamics within a bubble column [11], and application of an airlift bioreactor in the large-scale production of a biofuel using oleaginous *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa* growing on glycerol and yeast extract in a sea water medium was investigated as an economically competitive process [12].

6.2.1

Parallel Bioreactor Systems for High-Throughput Processing

There have been remarkable developments in the scale-down of various types of bioreactors. As an example of small-scale bioreactors, so called micro-/minibioreactors (MBRs) can be divided in two groups: one is a micro-bioreactor with a volume below 1 ml, and the other is a miniature bioreactor with a volume of 1-100 ml, as suggested by Lattermann and Büchs [13]. Büchs' group has extensively investigated the effective utilization of microtiter plates (MTPs) in the development of high-throughput technology (HTPT), as described in the following. MTPs have been utilized for microbial cultivation in laboratories for many years; it came into practical use in the 1990s. MTPs have 6, 24, 48, 98, or even 9600 wells per plate, and they have been utilized for screening microbial strains. In the biotechnology industry, it is especially useful at an early stage of the process development in order to screen promising clones with the potential to produce certain physiologically active chemicals or proteins. For this purpose, researchers have to examine a large number of samples, for example, several thousands or more. To increase the speed of screening, many larger MTPs that can handle many samples at a time must be utilized. Nevertheless, several technical developments are required to establish the basis of a production plant, starting from strain screening and moving to characterizing strains for efficient cultivation, determining operational conditions for cultivation, designing a fermentor, and scaling up to industrial manufacturing. HTPTs have been developed for quick scaleup. A parallel bioreactor system could be helpful and should be considered in HTPTs.

As illustrated in Figure 6.1, several types of MBRs have been utilized in the process of scaling up. A shake flask is one of the most common devices used for



Figure 6.1 Development of micro-/miniature bioreactors in parallel use for high-throughput processing.

the cultivation of various microorganisms and other cells in the laboratory. MTPs have been utilized to screen strains and to incorporate various inputs from other disciplines, such as microfluidics, monitoring, and robotic technologies, which has facilitated miniaturization and automation of more sophisticated cultures. Parallel use of many STRs can lead to powerful systems for quick scale-up of cultivation. Furthermore, the automation of manufacturing plants will be accelerated by introducing modern sensing and robotic technologies, as shown in Figure 6.1.

Two prototype 24-unit MBRs, a standard 24-well plate and 24 discrete units of MBRs, were compared in the cultivation of *Escherichia coli*. Continuously monitoring and controlling the dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration was successfully achieved in the system of milliliter-scale MBRs, and it was claimed that HTPT could provide important insights into the dynamics of operational parameters at such a small scale [14]. Some drawbacks of conventional MTPs or shake flaks, such as low density of data due to the simple end-point measurements, could be circumvented in new MBRs using continuous monitoring technologies. The parallel use of MBRs offers the flexibility and controllability of bench-scale reactors and provides results that are directly comparable to those of large-scale fermentations. Practical experience in the manufacturing section utilizing MBR technology with automated sampling has indicated a significant improvement in developing timelines and close integration with the purification section [15].

6.2.1.1 Microtiter Plate Systems

Miniaturization allows a reduction in use of reagents, and quick optimization is possible by use of a large number of wells on MTPs in parallel and use of liquid handling robotics, thereby greatly increasing the throughput capabilities in a laboratory. Table 6.1 shows progress on MTP-type MBRs that has been made in the last 15 years.

	sveiopineni c		r-piale (ivi ir,	- ווטווו וטו כוטוספיטוט (וונכשיטיול וואלוואמאטווו	ng.			
Reactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml)	Multi- plexity	Rotation (rpm) <shaking scale, mm></shaking 	k _L a (h ⁻¹)	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References	Year
Early develop MTP [ETH]	ment 0.5	96	300 <50>	188 [16]	Pseudomonas, Rhodococcus, Alcaligenes, Streptomyces	9g l ⁻¹ [16] 9.5 g l ⁻¹ [17]	Optimization of OTR and microbial growth in microbioreactors [16] Effect of shaking parameters on OTR in deen. scnure wells [17]	[16] [17]	(2000)
MTP deep-well [NIBR]	10	24	150, 250, 300	130	Insect cell clone <i>Sf</i> 21	~5.2× 10 ⁹ cells l ⁻¹	Optimization of operational conditions for cell growth	[18]	(2005)
Development MTP Optical sensing [Saar. U] BioLector MTP [Aachen U]	9) топцоги 1.2 0.2 0.2	ng in micro 96 96	9955	$\begin{array}{c} 1.30 \ [19] \\ 10-40 \\ [20] \\ [20] \\ 100-270 \\ [21] \ OTR > \\ 0.03 \ Mh^{-1} \\ [22] \end{array}$	Corynebacterium glutamicum and Escherichia coli E. coli, Vibrio natriegens [21], Hansenula polymorpha [22], and [22], and Kluyveromyces lactis [23]	5g] ⁻¹ 14g] ⁻¹ [22] μ: 0.61h ⁻¹ [23]	Monitoring of DO and pH by fluorophores immobilized on the bottom of each well for online monitoring [19, 20] A new device for quasi-continuous parallel monitoring of light scattering, and fluorescences in each well [21] Scale-up 7000-fold: MTP (200 nl) to STR (1.41, $k_{\rm L}$ a: 370–600 h ⁻¹) [22] A new MTP system for high-throughput temperature optimization; BioLector for monitoring DO,	[19] [20] [21] [23]	6.2 Bioreactor Development 173 (6.000 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
							[c7] SIIAM JITIM UI LID		

 Table 6.1
 Development of microtiter-plate (MTP) bioreactors for high-throughput processing.

(continued)

Table 6.1 (Co	ntinued).								I
Reactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml)	Multi- plexity	Rotation (rpm) <shaking scale, mm></shaking 	k ₁ a(h ⁻¹) >	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References	Year
BioLector MTP Robo- Lecter	1	48	1000 <3>		Mixed acetic acid bacteria	<0.5 gl ⁻¹	Scaling down of vinegar fermentation from 91 to MTP cum BioLector in Robo-Lector	[24]	(2014)
[Aachen U] BioLector MTP Robotics	1	48	200-1200		C. glutamicum	$\mu_{\rm max} = 0.28 \rm lh^{-1}$	Embedding BioLector in robotic workstation; growth monitoring at 1-h intervals	[25]	(2015)
MTP [UR]	n	24	670		Pseudomonas putida		An integrated dual sensor for DO and pH; oxygen-sensitive organosilica microparticles; pH-sensitive polymethacrylate derivative	[26]	(2008)
Engineering a MTP CFD [UCL]	nalyses and 1.5/4.5	developme 96/24	ent of minib. 500– 1500 <3>	<i>ioreactors</i> 200–360 18–100	E. coli	OD ₆₂₅ : ca. 5 – 6	Chemical engineering characterization by CFD simulation	[27]	(2008)
MTP Math- model [CWRU]	1	96			GS-CHO	<6 × 10 ⁹ viable cells l ⁻¹	Monitoring pH by SNARF and controlling with the aid of a mathematical model	[28]	(2009)

MTP deep, square-well [Merck]	1	96	300 <2>		СНО	$\sim 5.0 \times 10^9$ viable cells l^{-1}	Oxygen transfer study using an oxygen carrier, fluorinert; DO monitoring with ruthenium-based O-responsive dves	[29]	(2012)
MTP air-sparge [UEP] <i>Frnausion of</i>	0.9 annlication	96	I	NA	E. coli	OD ₆₀₀ : 5.3–5.9	An air-well sparging minifermenter system enabled a considerable improvement and threefold higher yield of recombinant protein	[30]	(2014)
Mini bioreactor [MicroRe- actor, Inc.]	10	24	500 <2>		Shewanella oneidensis	OD ₆₀₀ : 1–1.5	Single-use casette [MicroReactor Technologies] enabled control of temperature, pH, and DO in each bioreactor individually. Effects of culture conditions on Cr(V1) reduction	[31]	(2006)
M24 [MicroRe- actor, Inc.]	10	24	800 <5>		СНО	$\sim 2.0 \times 10^9$ viable cells l^{-1}	The same monitoring and control system as same as in [31] Scale-down (21 to 5 ml) study on cell culture	[32]	(2009)
SimCell [Seahorse BP]	0.8	>1000	Vertical rota- tion 5–20 rpm	۲~ ۲	СНО	$\sim 1.2 \times 10^{10}$ cells 1^{-1}	Factorial design of experiment (DoE) varying four parameters: pH, DO, feed rate, and glutathione in 180 runs	[33]	(2009)
Abbreviations Technology in transfer rate; I Baltimore Cou	: Aachen U: I Zurich; FZJ: RAMOS: resp Inty; UR: Uni	RWTH Aac : Forschung piration acti iversity of R	hen Universi szentrum Jül ivity monitor egensburg.	ty; CFD: computations ich; NA: not available; ing system; Saa U: Saa	ul fluid dynamics; CV NIBR: National Inst land University; UEI	WRU: Case Wee itute for Biome P: University of	tern Reserve University; ETH: Swiss dical Research, UK; OD: optical dens Eastern Piedmont; UMBC: Universit	Federal In ity; OTR: c y of Maryl	stitute of xygen and,

6.2 Bioreactor Development 175

Nevertheless, oxygen supply to the medium is a key issue in the cultivation of aerobic microorganisms on MTPs. It is important to ensure OTRs similar to those achieved in regular cultivation systems such as shake flasks and stirred bioreactors. Duetz *et al.* [16] reported that OTRs in a 1-ml-deep well on 96-well MTPs were 38 mmol l^{-1} h⁻¹ or 188 h⁻¹ of $k_L a$ at 300 rpm of orbital shaking with a shaking diameter of 50 mm, and that various strains of the genera *Pseudomonas, Rhodococcus*, and *Alcaligenes* were successfully cultivated without cross-contamination by using a cover of spongy silicone and cotton wool on top of the MTP. Myceliumforming *Streptomyces* strains were grown in 1-ml liquid micro-cultures in square, deep-well MTPs, and the spore suspensions were prepared in the 96 wells of an MTP [17]. Rapid optimization of insect cell cultivation was possible because 24 deep-well blocks on MTPs were utilized [18].

John *et al.* [19] reported optical sensing of DO in each well on a 96-well polystyrene MTP by immobilization of two fluorophores at the bottom of each well; the $k_{\rm L}a$ values obtained by the dynamic method using a commercial MTP reader were ~130 h⁻¹, which is in the lower range of values from typical stirred fermentors. In addition to DO, an optical sensing technique was applied for online measurement of pH in the wells of a continuously shaken 24-well MTP. The MTP was placed on a sensor dish reader, which could be fixed on an orbital shaker [20].

A novel quasi-continuous online measuring technique for shaken MTPs was examined in the development of HTPTs. A fiber-optical measurement system to measure turbidity by the scattered light and monitor fluorescent protein (e.g., NADH, yellow fluorescent protein) and a fluorimeter to monitor DO were established. An x-y positioning device (BMG Lab Technologies; Offenburg, Germany) was utilized for the two-dimensional displacement of the fiber-optic bundle below the MTP [21] (Figure 6.2).

By utilizing the above-mentioned device, a successful 7000-fold scale-up from a 0.2-ml culture on MTPs with an online monitoring technique, BioLectorTM, to 1.4-I STR fermentation was performed by Kensy *et al.* [22]. A novel 96-well MTP with a fluorescence thermometry arrangement was designed to investigate the temperature profiles of growing organisms as well as enzyme reactions [23]. Schlepütz and Büchs [24] presented work on scaling down vinegar fermentation to optimize operational conditions, maintaining the DO level and suppressing ethanol and acetic acid losses from evaporation by using a 48-well MTP that utilized a custom-made lid for appropriate oxygen supply and ventilation. Unthan *et al.* [25] integrated the BioLector into a robotic platform to conduct liquid handling tasks, including control of the operation parameters of pH, temperature, DO, and optical density (OD). The pipetting robot allowed timed sampling or dosing events for sophisticated control of cultivation and reliable selection of the best producers, media optimization, and induction profiling. All biological and bioprocess parameters were optimized almost perfectly for the MTP scale.

An integrated dual sensor to detect DO and pH was developed using oxygen-sensitive organosilica microparticles and pH-sensitive microbeads of a polymethacrylate derivative, which were embedded into a polyurethane hydrogel.



Figure 6.2 Measurement principle of the microtiter plate fermentation via back scattering of light from cells and fluorescence emission of molecules in a microtiter plate platform. (From [21] with permission ©2005 Wiley Periodicals Inc.)

The readout was based on a phase-domain fluorescence lifetime-based method referred to as "modified frequency-domain dual-lifetime referencing" with the use of a commercially available detector system for 24-well microplates [26].

The characterization of shaken MTP bioreactors was made using CFD techniques to evaluate fluid mixing, energy dissipation, and mass transfer in bioreactors with deep, square 24-well and 96-well MTPs [27]. An economical, rapid, and robust pH measurement method was developed by employing SNARF-4F 5-(-and 6)-carboxylic acid, and a mathematical model was established to regulate pH in multiwell plates and shake flasks [28]. The 96-well plate format has been widely used for HTP screening. However, it is often claimed that constraints in OTR prevents successful scale-up. Fluorinert, a biologically inert perfluorocarbon, has been employed to improve oxygen transfer in 96-well plates and to enable the growth of a Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell line [29]. An air-well-sparging mini-fermentor system was made from a homogeneous air-sparging device, and a stainless steel 96-needle plate integrated into a deep 96-well plate (0.9 ml culture volume) system was evaluated, resulting in considerable improvement, that is, a threefold higher yield in recombinant protein [30].

Tang *et al.* [31] reported a MBR system of 24 units from 10-ml reactors in a cassette that could monitor and control pH, DO, and temperature individually for each reactor. Independent monitoring and control of each reactor allowed



Figure 6.3 Micro-bioreactor array and agitation scheme. The bubbles comprising the headspace traverse the perimeter of each reactor as the array is rotated at 20 rpm. CFD calculations predict

that the average shear stress on cells ranges from 0.11 to 0.34 dyne cm⁻². (From [34] with permission ©2009 Wiley Periodicals, Inc.)

the exploration of a matrix of environmental conditions known to influence microorganism metabolisms. A 24-well MTP system was developed as a scaledown model with noninvasive online monitoring and the capability of controlling several process parameters such as pH, DO, and temperature at the individual well level [32].

Optimization of glycoprotein production using CHO cells requires a large number of runs of cultivation experiments. The SimCell[™] system was utilized to run 180 cultivations in accordance with a factorial design of experiments (DoE) that varied four process parameters: pH, DO, feed rate of a supplement, and reduction in glutathione level [33]. The results showed that the SimCell system could be an excellent model for handling a large number of MBRs (Figure 6.3).

6.2.1.2 Stirred-Tank Reactor Systems

Several types of MBRs, such as MTPs or microfluidic MBRs, have many advantages over STR-type MBRs, including low investment in MBR manufacturing test kits, lower costs in conducting experiments, and technical ease of handling higher order multiplex kits during scale-down. One group of stirred tank-type MBRs has a peculiar characteristic: maintaining the same configuration as conventional industrial fermentors, allowing greater certainty in comparing the results of scaled-down MBRs and other MRBs. The miniaturization of conventional fermentors seems to widely accepted, and there have been a large number of reports on STR-type MBRs. Table 6.2 summarizes the development of stirred tank-type MBRs in HTPTs.

Highly parallel bioprocessing can be accomplished with adequate design of bioreactors of small volume and a compact monitoring system to measure important parameters involved in bioprocesses. Kostov *et al.* [35] presented approaches for scaling down the working volume of the bioreactors to 2 ml, with a system to monitor pH, DO, and OD by means of optical sensors. A cuvette-based microbioreactor with a magnet stirrer, a sparger, and a couple of optical

Bioreactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml) multiplexit	Impeller (rpm) :y	Aeration	k _L a (h ⁻¹)	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References	Year	
Early develo, Cuvette- bioreactor [UMBC] Mini- bioreactor (MBR)	<i>oment of mi</i> 2 Single 6 24 units	<i>niature biorea</i> Magnetic stir bar stir bar 3 stage, 6-blade turbine	<i>tctor (MBR,</i> Pipet tip with 3 tubes tubes Single tube) 9.8 (1 vvm) 27.5 (2 vvm) 44.4 (3 vvm) 100-400	Escherichia coli E. coli	OD ₆₀₀ : ~8 1.4 g l ⁻¹	Fluorescent dyes immobilized on the walls of the minibioreactor to monitor DO; semiconductor light sources and detectors for a very compact and low-cost detection system DO, OD, and pH monitoring by fiber optic probes; analyses of $k_{\rm L} a$, $P_{\rm g}$, energy dissipation by CFD system	[36]	(2000) (2010)	
<i>Developmen</i> HTBD MBR (miniature bioreactor) [TUM]	9 9 H1BD (8 - 15 48 units 48 units	ngn-tnrougnp. Gas- inducing impeller 1500–4000	<i>ut bioproce</i> Surface aeration	sss aesign) M >1440 [37–39]	lbK E. coli [37, 38, 40–43], Bacillus subtilis [44], and Saccharomyces cerevisiae [45]	30 g-dcwl ⁻¹ [44] 8.4 gl (batch) 18.2 gl ⁻¹ (fed-batch) [45] 12 gl ⁻¹ [39]	Automated liquid handling of HTDB MBR [37, 38] Comparison of ml-scale STRs [40] Engineering HTDB MBR by CFD [41] Microfluidic 48 parallel reactors with 144 micropumps for fed-batch cultures including riboflavin production [44, 45] Biphasic ionic liquid/water system [42] Multichannel peristaltic pumps for parallel continuous cultivations [39]	[37] [40] [44] [445] [422] [39]	(2005) (2005) (2005) (2005) (2010) (2011) (2011) (2012) (2015)	6.2 Bioreactor Development 179

Table 6.2 Development of stirred-tank bioreactors for high-throughput processing (HTP).

(continued)

Table 6.2 (Co	ontinued).								
Bioreactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml) multiplexit	Impeller (rpm) :y	Aeration	k _L a (h ⁻¹)	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References Year	.
High- throughput bioreactor (HTBR) [UMBC]	12.5–30 12 units	Two-stage paddle 150	Sparger	2-4	SP2/0 myeloma/mouse hybridoma [43, 46]; CHO, NS0, and HEK 293 [47]	$\begin{array}{c} 1.0 \times 10^9 \text{ cells } l^{-1} \\ [46] \\ 1.18 \times 10^9 \text{ cells } l^{-1} \\ [47] \\ 2.5 \times 10^9 \text{ cells } l^{-1} \\ [43] \end{array}$	Validation of HTBR with optical sensors [46] Analysis of mixing in HTBR by optics [48] CultiBag (2 $ /3.5 $; $k_La = 2-3$) could be scaled down to HTBR [47] Clone selection by HTBRs [43]	[46] (200 [48] (200 [47] (200 [43] (201 [43]	(0) (0) (0)
Various syste MicroReacto: μ-24 [MicroReac- tor Technolo-	ms in broac r 10 24 units	<i>d applications</i> 500–800 (shaking)	Surface aeration	32.6–56.1	S. cerevisiae, E. coli, and Pichia pastoris	278 g-wcw l ⁻¹	MicroReactor was validated in aerobic cultivation of bacteria and yeasts	[49] (200	(20
gies] SMBR (Stirred minibioreac- tor) [UCL]	100 4–16 units	6-blade turbine 100–2000	Sintered sparger 0–2 vvm	<400	E. coli and B. subtilis	7.6 g l^{-1} (E coli) [50] 3.8 g l^{-1} (E. coli), 9 g l^{-1} (B. subtilis) [51]	Predictive scale-up; analysis of power consumption and OTR [50] SMBR (60 mm ø, 60 mm high, magnetic stirrer, and sintered sparger [51]	[50] (200 [51] (200)8))8)

AMBR® 15 system [TAP]	15 24–48 units	Rushton or pitched marine <1500	Sparger, single nozzle	2.18	СНО	μ_{\max} : 0.34-0.391/d [52] ~1.4×10 ¹⁰ viable cells l ⁻¹ [53] VCD: ~4.5×10 ⁹ cells l ⁻¹ [54]	Disposable MBRs in a workstation [55] Optical monitoring and control DO and pH; fed-batch cultures [52] To obtain a high $k_{L}a$, 2.18 h ⁻¹ in ambr [®] 15, much higher power input (~400 Wm ⁻³) is	[55] [52] [54] [56]	(2010) (2012) (2013) (2014) (2014) (2015)
							required that $(\sim 20 \text{ W m}^{-2})$ that in large-scale culture Equations for estimation of $k_{\rm L}a$ [53] Scale-down to manufacturing scale (15 0001) and bench scale (3, 5, 151) [54, 56]		
Ambr [©] 250 workstation [TAP]	250 12 or 24 units	2stage turbine 150–3500	Sparger, single nozzle	200–1000 (<i>Pichia</i> and <i>E. coli</i>) 1–1.15 (cell culture)	CHO, <i>P. pastoris</i> , and <i>E. coli</i>	>400 g-wcw l ⁻¹ [57] OD _{max} : ~160 [58]	A highly automated workshop with parallel use of disposable miniature bioreactors; Rushton-type impellers, two-stage, for cell culture (20 mm ø, 30 mm spacing) and two pitched blade impeller for microbial culture (26 mm ø, 30 mm spacing) [57] Application on DoE and DSD [58]	[57]	(2013) (2015)
Abbreviation. DO: dissolvec RAMOS: res _f Technische U	s: BioLector: l oxygen; Do iration activ niversität Mi	a system for ol E: design of ex] ity monitoring ünchen; UCL: l	ptical monit periments; I ; system; Sea University C	oring and con DSD: definitive ahorse BP: Sea Jollege Londor	trol in each individua e screening design; N horse BioProcessors; 1; UMBC: University	al bioreactor; CultiBag: R: not reported; UCL: ; STR: stirred-tank reac of Maryland, Baltimor	disposable wave-type bioreactor; dt University College London; OD: opt :tor; TAP: The Automation Partners e County; VCD: viable cell density,	cw: dry cell tical densit s Biosystem wcw: wet c	weight; '; t TUM: ell weight.



Figure 6.4 Cuvette-based micro-bioreactor. At the left wall, blue and UV LEDs with 530 nm photodetector are used to measure pH; at the right wall, blue LED, oxygen sensing patch, and a 590-nm photodetector

are used to measure DO; red LED and 600nm photodetector are used to measure OD through the front and back wall. (From [35] with permission ©2000 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)

measurement components is shown in Figure 6.4. The use of semiconductor light sources and detectors has enabled the design of a very compact and low-cost detection system. DO and pH were monitored using fluorescent dyes and the absorbance of the cell suspension. pH measurements were performed using a ratiometric pH-sensitive dye, 1-hydroxypyrene-3,5,7-sulfonic acid, in the culture medium and DO Ru(diphenylphenanthroline)₃²⁺ immobilized in silicone rubber attached to the wall of the reactor. The k_La of the cuvette was evaluated under different conditions such as sparging position and air flow rates, as shown in Table 6.2. The performance of the cuvette microbioreactor was finally tested by parallel fermentations of *E. coli* in the microbioreactor and a 1-1 fermentor. Profiles of the pH, DO, and OD were very similar in the two processes.

An MBR with a culture volume of 6 ml and vessel diameter of 16 mm, which is equal to that of one well of a 24-well MTP, was investigated for its engineering performance as a fermentor. A set of three impellers was installed in the MBR for mixing. The DO and cell biomass concentration were monitored continuously by means of fiber-optic probes. The volumetric oxygen transfer coefficient, $k_L a$, was estimated experimentally in air – water and in *E. coli* culture. The local and average power input, energy dissipation rate, and bubble size were derived from an analysis of the multiphase flow in the MBR using CFD, and $k_L a$ was estimated using Higbie's penetration model with the contact time obtained by CFD simulation. Predicted and measured values of $k_L a$ were in the range 100–400 h⁻¹, which was typical of values reported for large-scale fermentation [36].

Weuster-Botz's group has extensively investigated STR-type MBRs with gasinducing impellers as high-throughput bioreactors (HTBRs) for the development of HTPT to address various issues and problems such as automation [37, 38], comparability of MBRs [40], engineering by CFD simulation [41], microfluidic technologies [44], adaptation of the HTBR with 144 micro-pumps for highly parallel fed-batch cultures of industrial riboflavin fermentation by *Bacillus subtilis* [45], and biphasic biocatalysis of the reduction of 2-octanone to (R)-2-octanol by a recombinant *E. coli* [42]. Monitoring and control, automation, and robotics are enhancements in the promotion of multifunctional screening required for sophisticated fermentations. Increasing the number of measured parameters as well as the quality of measurements is the intent, and pH, DO, and OD have been monitored optically by single-use patches from the outside of bioreactors. Installation of multichannel peristaltic pumps has enabled fine control of pH and also highly parallel continuous cultivations [39].

Liquid mixing in an MBR was investigated with a novel optical sensor system. The system was designed to monitor fluorescence with a tracer in a glass vessel. The MBR, a 12.5-ml stirred vessel, was operated in the transitional regime (Reynolds number (*Re*): 14–1350), which is an industrially relevant scenario. A linear correlation between the mean circulation time and the inverse of the impeller rotational speed was observed, similar to that seen in large-scale stirred vessels [48]. The performance of an HTP MBR was compared with that of a lab-scale single-use wave-type bioreactor, CultiBag, for cell growth and monoclonal antibody (mAb) production. Similar oxygen supply rates were achieved in both systems, leading to approximately equal culture performances (growth and mAb production) across scales and modes of mixing. Therefore, the MBR showed promise as an HTP scale-down model for wave-type bioreactors [47]. After comparing HTP MBRs with a conventional MTP used for clone screening, the stirred bioreactor environment was found to be a superior method for clone selection [43].

A 24-well plate MBR system, μ -24, which is composed of 24 cylindrical tube bioreactors, was assessed for cultivations of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae, E. coli*, and *Pichia pastoris*. The μ -24 system was capable of controlling DO, pH, and temperature under batch and fed-batch conditions with subsequent substrate shot feeds [49]. A detailed investigation of the mixing, power consumption, and oxygen mass transfer characteristics of a 100-ml MBR with a single stirrer was undertaken to create predictive engineering correlations useful for scale-up studies [50]. The influence of the established geometrical and dynamical parameters, including dimensionless terms such as *Re*, in MTPs was evaluated to establish a robust scaled-down approach to identifying and optimizing relevant operational conditions [59]. The Merck group developed a small-scale, 250-ml, automated, disposable stirred-tank bioreactor for HTP bioprocessing with a performance equivalent to that of industrial biologics processes used to develop therapeutic proteins and mAb production using CHO cells, *E. coli*, and *P. pastoris* [57].

The Automation Partnership (TAP) Limited [55] designed a series of HTP MBR systems as an advanced MBR workstation, $ambr^{TM}$. This workstation contains 24 or 48 disposable bioreactors with 10–15 ml of working volume and an internal impeller. Gases are supplied by sparging. The operations, including supply of gases and liquids and all monitoring, are performed by an automated workstation. Currently, Sartorius Stedim Biotech offers a new ambr station with a larger bioreactor, $ambr^{\textcircled{8}}$ 250, which has been built on TAP's successful microbioreactor technology, allowing increased cultivation volumes as well as individual control of the bioreactor temperature and impeller speed. This system offers independent, parallel control of 12 or 24

single-use bioreactors (100–250 ml working volume) and is fully automated to allow feeding of media, inoculation, and sampling. Each bioreactor vessel is operated individually to control the temperature, impeller speed, pH, and DO. Practical applications in many pharmaceutical companies are documented in research reports based on the cultivation of CHO cells in an ambr station [52–54, 56]. These studies confirmed that ambr provided the same performance as large-scale STRs [52–54], while the cultivations in shake flasks did not show comparable performance to ambr and STRs [52, 53]. However, Nienow *et al.* [53] investigated the physical characteristics of the ambr system (15 ml) and found that these were quite different from those of large-scale stirred bioreactors, with much higher specific power input (~400 W m⁻³) required in the microbioreactor to achieve sufficiently high $k_L a$ values to satisfy the oxygen demand of the cells, compared to a typical large-scale culture (~20 W m⁻³). The empirical equation used for $k_L a$ correlations in ambr is the following:

$$k_{\rm L}a = A(P/V)^{0.3}(Q_{\rm G})^{0.15}$$

where $k_{\rm L}a$ is in h⁻¹, P/V is in W m⁻³, $Q_{\rm G}$ is in ml min⁻¹, and A is 2.04 for water and 1.74 for the medium. For more detail, see [53].

A scale-down model was developed in an ambr system (15 ml) using statistical multivariate analysis techniques, which showed a comparable manufacturing scale and bench scale. The scale-down model was used for process characterization in the DoE study and the results of product qualification. Upon comparison with DoE data from bench-scale bioreactors, similar effects of process parameters on process yield and product quality were observed between the two systems [56].

Tai *et al.* [58] demonstrated the power of the 250-ml automated mini-bioreactor system, ambr 250^{TM} . Using the ambr250 system to grow *E. coli* for recombinant protein production, many factors were screened for use as process controls with the data processing program, DoE, and definitive screening design (DSD). A systematic experimental workflow that efficiently characterized the *E. coli* fermentation process for recombinant protein production was developed using a 24-bioreactor ambr250 system and a 10-factor DSD program. The resulting strategy was validated by laboratory-scale experiments, and the use of an HTP automated bioreactor system with the efficiency of DSDs allowed systematic and rapid development of processes useful for QbD approaches to late-stage process characterization.

6.2.1.3 Microfluidic Microbioreactor Systems

Microfluidics emerged in the 1980s and was used for inkjet printers. This technology appeared in the field of bioprocess engineering in the early 2000s [34, 60–66]. The fabrication of microfluidic systems in polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) was summarized by McDonald, Whitesides *et al.* [60]. From the early 2000, microfluidic devices have been applied as analytical systems, biomedical devices, tools for chemistry and biochemistry, and bioreactors for biotechnological research and development. Methods to fabricate microfluidic devices have advanced, and soft lithography has become one of the most common methods for faster, less expensive processes (Table 6.3).

Bioreactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml), multiplexity	Agitation (rpm)	Aeration	$k_{\rm L}a~({\rm h}^{-1})$	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References	Year	
Early develop	ment of micro	fluidic bioreact	tors (MFLBR)				Donious Cott lith commun.	[09]		
bioreactor [Harv U]							review: Jour Intrography provides faster, inexpensive devices in poly(dimethylsiloxane) (PDMS)	[00]	(0007)	
10 × 10-array microcham- bers [UCB]	~0.03 100 chambers		Diffusion through PDMS membrane	NA	HeLa cells	$\sim 2.5 \times 10^5$ cells cm ⁻²	The first microfluidic cell culture array for 100 runs in parallel. Repeated cell cycles, reagent introduction, and OD analysis. $T_d: 1.4$ days	[63]	(2005)	
Membrane-a	erated MBR							[1]	(1000)	
MIT]	0.005 0.05 Single well	Magnetic stirrer 200–1500 [61–63] 700 [66]	Diffusion through PDMS membrane	ca. 60 ~1/0	Escherichia coli	(1 – 4) × 10 ¹² cfu -1	Mathematical analyses on O1K and calculation of $k_{\rm L}a$	[10]	(2004)	6.2 Bio
		-		NA	E. coli	$(2-4) \times 10^{12} \text{ cells } \text{l}^{-1}$	Screening microbial strains by gene expression analysis	[62]	(2005)	oreacto
PMMA- PDMS-MBR	0.15 4 wells			NA	E. coli	OD ₆₀₀ : ~5.5	Multiplexing for high-throughput bioprocessing	[63]	(2005)	r Develop
	0.1 8 wells			ca. 360	E. coli	13.8g-dcwl ⁻¹	Highly organized system with mixer and microfluid injectors for scalable application	[65]	(2006)	ment 185

 Table 6.3
 Development of microfluidic bioreactors (MFLBR) for high-throughput processing.

(continued)

Bioreactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml), multiplexity	Agitation (rpm)	Aeration	k ^L a (h ⁻¹)	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References	Year
	0.15 3 wells			NA	Saccharo- myces	OD ₆₀₀ : ~7.0	Application to profile eukaryote gene expression	[66]	(2006)
	0.15 8 wells			NA	E. coli	OD ₆₀₀ : ~6.2	Active mixing by magnetic stir bar. Plug in-and-flow microfluidic connectors for fast set-up of batch, continuous, and fed-batch operations	[33]	(2007)
Application (Microfluidic MTP	of microfluidic 0.5 ml 48 wells	s in MTP 800	Surface aeration with	۸A	E. coli	NA	Microfluidics enforce MTP utilities and performances	[67]	(2009)
		1.000	sitatkuig	460	E. coli	Equivalent to 11.7 g-dcw l ⁻¹	User-friendly and disposable microfluidic system; fed-batch	[68]	(2010)
	1–25 48 wells	700-1200		<587	E. coli, Glu- conobacter oxydans, and Kluyvero-	OD ₆₀₀ : ∼14 (<i>E. coli</i>) OD ₆₀₀ : ∼25 (<i>L. lactis</i>)	culture A fast way to gain comprehensive and quantitative data by parallel use of 25-ml shake flasks with RAMOS, and MTPs in the BioLector system	[69]	(2015)
Abbreviations dcw: dry cell	:: Aachen U: RV weight; Harv U	WTH Aachen U : Harvard Univ	Jniversity; BioLo ersity; Inst Past	ector: a system f eur: Institute of	injues turus or optical moni Pasteur; MIT: N	toring and contrc Massachusetts Ins	ol in each individual bioreactor; cfu: c stitute of Technology, MTP: microtite	olony forming er plate; NA: n	unit; ot

Table 6.3 (Continued).

186 6

Bioreactor Development and Process Analytical Technology

Sinskey's group [61-63, 65, 66] has developed a series of MBRs that utilized PDMS and microfluidics. They first fabricated a micro-scale MBR with PDMS and glass with a working volume of $100-150\,\mu$ l. Supply of oxygen to microbial cultures was made through a gas-permeable PDMS membrane. A bubble-free oxygen supply allowed direct measurements to observe subtle changes in the concentration of cells. Sensors were installed for online monitoring of the OD to estimate cell concentration, as well as DO and pH. All three measurements were based on optical methods [61, 62]. A miniature motor was installed for magnetically driven stirring of the culture in the MBR [63], and a microfluidic injector was installed to feed medium components [65]. Differential gene expression was analyzed in the eukaryotic model S. cerevisiae grown in galactose and glucose media in the 150-µl MBR system with online monitoring of OD, pH, and DO. The result from the highly instrumented MBR system allowed integration of HTP studies on physiology with global gene expression analyses of microorganisms [66]. A polymer-based microbioreactor with a magnetic stir bar was presented as an example of an MBR fabricated with a PDMS and poly(methylmethacrylate) multilayer by micromachining for online optical sensing of OD, pH, and DO. Plug in-and-flow microfluidic connectors and fabricated polymer micro-optical lenses/connectors were integrated into the microbioreactors for fast setup and easy operation. Online optical measurements of OD, pH, and DO were integrated, and active mixing was made possible with a miniature magnetic stir bar. Examples of applications demonstrate the feasibility of culturing microbial cells, specifically E. coli, in 0.150-ml bioreactors in batch, continuous, and fed-batch operations [34] (Figure 6.5).

A new multiplex microfluidic cell culture array composed of 10×10 cultivation units was developed for long-term cellular monitoring. This array can potentially allow 100 different cell-based experiments to be run in parallel. Major functions include repeated cell growth, reagent introduction, and real-time optical analyses. HeLa cells were cultivated in the device with continuous perfusion of medium at 37 °C. This cell culture array offers a platform for a wide range of drug screening assays [64].

Buchenauer [67] investigated the incorporation of microfluidic elements into an array of micro-bioreactors based on a 48-well MTP format. In this system, the process parameters of pH and biomass were monitored online using a combination of different sensors with BioLector technology and conductance measurements, and a microfluidic device dispensed two fluids individually into each well to maintain pH within a narrow range. Funke *et al.* [68] developed a user-friendly system for routine laboratory work. All of the disposable microfluidic MTPs were fabricated to be automatically actuated. This novel microfermentation system was tested in fed-batch fermentations of *E. coli* in a BioLector system. The scale-up to a 2-l laboratory-scale fermentor was examined by holding k_La at 460 h⁻¹. The same growth of *E. coli* was observed at both scales. Wewetzer *et al.* [69] investigated the parallel use of two small-scale culture systems to obtain more quantitative information for scale-up. One is the respiration activity monitoring system (RAMOS) device to monitor oxygen uptake and carbon dioxide evolution rates in





Figure 6.5 Microbioreactor built of three layers of PDMS on top of a layer of glass. (a) Solid model drawn to scale. (b) Photograph of microbioreactor at the end of a run. (From [61] with permission ©2000 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.)

flasks. Another is a 48-well MTP BioLector device. They both provide information of pH, cell growth, metabolites, and DO tension. Consequently, the number of experiments needed in a laboratory-scale STBR for process development could be substantially reduced.

6.2.1.4 Bubble Column Systems

Doig *et al.* [70] developed a miniature microplate bioreactor system that consisted of 48 static, deep wells in a bubble column configuration. The value of $k_L a$ could be up to 220 h⁻¹, which is in the same range as that of large-scale bioreactors. Another multiple microbioreactor battery was designed to produce HTP recombinant protein using *E. coli* [71]. The new system was comprised of aerated glass bioreactors with a working volume of 80 ml and optical sensors for measuring OD, pH, and DO. All the bioreactor process parameters, namely pH, DO, and turbidity, were controlled online. Cultivation of *E. coli* on a high-density medium that was enriched by aeration enabled the cells to grow to an OD₆₀₀ of 100. The miniature bubble column bioreactor system appeared to be well suited for automated parallel cultivations and process optimization. A miniature bubble column system would also be suitable for the cultivation of phototrophic microorganisms. Havel *et al.* [72] reported such a system with 16 parallel bubble columns equipped with artificial light sources supplying a homogeneous light spectrum directly above the
bioreactors. Cylindrical light-reflecting tubes were positioned around every single bubble column to avoid light scattering and to redirect the light from the top onto the cylindrical outer glass surface of each bubble column.

6.2.1.5 Comparison of Various Parallel-Use Micro-/Mini-Bioreactor System

Parallel-use micro-bioreactor technologies have resulted in a significant expansion in use and increase in the sophistication of biotechnological engineering. Table 6.4 provides an overview of state-of-the-art technologies in the fields of MBRs for high-throughput processing. Areas for significant development include devising bioreactor configurations, instrumentation in monitoring and control systems, technologies for fluid handling for material supply and culture monitoring, machinery automation to integrate all of the parts into an organized system, and data processing, including optimization of the process. Developments in the function and quality of devices, instrumentation, and software back-up are comparable to those in industrial manufacturing sites. Well-developed monitoring systems are now able to quasi-continuously provide data on the growth, respiration, substrate consumption, and other information reflecting changes in the physiological state of cells. Further, these systems now enable the evaluation of cultures in various environmental conditions to effectively screen clones, develop and optimize culture procedures, and scale up to the manufacturing stage.

Along with the development of the high-throughput technologies shown in Table 6.4, standard equipment has been built to monitor MBR systems, including direct measurements of pH, DO, OD, and fluorescence almost on a real-time basis by using miniature probes or by fiber-optic methods. State-of-the-art MBRs have high specifications and useful features such as good mixing, high OTR and k_La , and high quality monitoring, which all contribute to speeding up the screening of clones, optimization of media and cultivation procedures, data processing with the aid of software for DoE, DSD, and predictive scale-up. Now it is possible to run a large number, even more than 1000, of parallel cultivations using single-use disposable fermenters that facilitate automatic liquid handling with a number of micro-pumps and mini-valves. The results of mixing analyses and chemical engineering studies on fluid dynamics allow us to understand, quantitatively, the hydrodynamic phenomena in MBRs. Because of this, we are able to perform chemostat, fed-batch, and more sophisticated cultures.

Table 6.4 provides some information on the availability of well-developed and ready-to-use micro/mini-bioreactor systems in four categories, as summarized below.

(i) MTP-type: SimCell [Searhorse BP], BioLector [Archen U], μ -24 MTP [MicroReactor], (ii) STBR-type: HTBD MBR [TUM], HTBR [UMBC], SMBR [UCL], ambr15[®]/250 [TAP], (iii) MFLBR-type: 10×10 array micro-chamber [UCB], PDMS-MBR [MIT], Microfluidic MTP [Aachen U], and (iv) BCBR-type: MMF [Inst. Pasteur], where the names of bioreactors are abbreviated and the developers are presented in square brackets [].

S	
_	
Ó	
փ	
at	
ŭ	
č	
÷	
2	
ē	
Q	
S	
d v	
ő	
~	
10	
-3	
-	
0	
Ţ	
5	
Ψ	
0	
_	
2	
5	
σ	
S	
α	
•Ξ.	
Ō,	1
0	
-	
Q	
Ē	
Ē	
U	
a'	
4	
-	
<u>,</u>	•
θ	
<u>×</u>	
1	
ō	1
č	
.=	
ŝ	
ŝ	
ω.	
Q	
0	
5	
0	
<u>ц</u>	
<u> </u>	
5	
7	
1	
0	1
n)
ono	•
roug	
hroug	
-throug	
n-throug)
th-throug	•
igh-throug	
nigh-throug	
high-throug	
or high-throug	
or high-throug	
for high-throug	
s for high-throug	
ors for high-throug	
tors for high-throug	•
ctors for high-throug	
actors for high-throug	
sactors for high-throug	
reactors for high-throug	
oreactors for high-throug	
ioreactors for high-throug	
bioreactors for high-throug	
bioreactors for high-throug	
o bioreactors for high-throug	
ro bioreactors for high-throug	
icro bioreactors for high-throug	
micro bioreactors for high-throug	
'micro bioreactors for high-throug	
i/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
ni/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
iini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
is mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
us mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
ous mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
rious mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
arious mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
f various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
w of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
ew of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
iew of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
view of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
rview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
erview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
verview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
4 Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
3.4 Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
6.4 Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
e 6.4 Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
He 6.4 Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	
ble 6.4 Overview of various mini/micro bioreactors for high-throug	

Table 6.4 O	rerview of vari	ous mini/micı	ro bioreactors 1	for high-throu	ughput processing – k	key technologies and p	oerformance specifications.		
Bioreactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml), multiplexity	Agitation (rpm)	Aeration	$k_{\rm L}a~({\rm h}^{-1})$	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	References	Year
Group 1. Miu M24 MTP [MicroReac- tor]	rotiter plate (10 24	(MTP) Horizontal rotation 800	Headspace aeration	56	СНО	~2.0×10 ⁹ viable cells l ⁻¹	It enabled to control temperature, pH and DO in each bioreactor individually Scale-down (21 to 5 ml) study on cell	[32]	(2009)
SimCell [Seahorse BF	0.8 >1000]	Vertical rotation 5–20	Diffusion through membrane	~	СНО	1.2×10^{10} cells l^{-1}	culture Factorial design of experiment (DoE) varying four paraneters: pH, DO, feed rate, and	[33]	(2009)
MTP cum BioLector [Aachen U]	0.2 96	Horizontal rotation 995	Headspace aeration	100-350 [22] OTR> 0.03 M h ⁻¹ [23]	Hansenula polymorpha [22] and Kluyveromyces lactis [23]	14g-dcwl ⁻¹ [22] μ: 0.61 h ⁻¹ [23]	glutathione in 180 runs Scale-up 7000-fold: MTP (200 nl) to STR (1.41) [22] A new MTP system for HTP temperature ontimization [73]	[23]	(2009) (2014)
<i>Group 2. Stit</i> HTBD MBR (miniature bioreactor) [TUM]	red tank bior. 8 – 15 48	<i>aactor (STBR,</i> Gas- inducing impeller 1500–4000) Surface (Gas- inducing impeller)	- >1440 [37, 39]	Escherichia coli [37], Bacillus subtilis [44], and Saccharomyces cerevisiae [45]	30 g-dcw l ⁻¹ [44] 8.4 gl ⁻¹ (batch) 18.2 g l ⁻¹ (fed-batch) [45] 12 g-dcw l ⁻¹ [39]	Gas-inducing Gas-inducing bioreactor [37] Fed-batch cultures for riboflavin production [44, 45] Many parallel continuous cultivations [39]	[37] [44] [45] [39]	(2005) (2007) (2011) (2015)

		6.2 Bio	preactor Development 191	
(2006) (2006) (2009) (2010)	(2008) (2008)	(2013) (2015) (2015)	(2006) (2006)	(continued)
[46] [48] [47] [43]	[50] [51]	[57] [58]	[65] [66] [34]	
Validation of HTBR with optical sensors [46] Analysis of mixing in HTBR by optics [48] CultiBag $(2/13.51;$ $k_L a = 2-3)$ scaled down to HTBR [47] Clone selection by HTBRs [43]	Predictive scale-up, analyses of power consumption and OTR [50, 51]	Ambr 250, highly automated workstation with parallel use of disposable fermentors [57] Ambr 15 required a higher power input (\sim 400 W m ⁻³) than large-scale (\sim 20 W m ⁻³) to provided a same level of k_{La} [53] DoE/DSD using ambr 250 [58]	Highly organized MFLBR with bubble-free oxygen supply [65] Profiling eukaryote gene expression [66] Batch, continuous, and fed- batch operations [34]	
1.0 × 10 ⁹ cells ⁻¹ [46] 1.18 × 10 ⁹ cells ⁻¹ [47] 2.5 × 10 ⁹ cells ⁻¹ [43]	7.6 g 1^{-1} (<i>E. coli</i>) [50] 3.8 g 1^{-1} (<i>E. coli</i>), 9 g 1^{-1} (<i>B. coli</i>), 9 g 1^{-1} (<i>B. subtilis</i>) [51]	>400 g-wcwl ⁻¹ [57] ~1.4 × 10 ¹⁰ cells l ⁻¹ [53] OD _{max} : ~160 [58]	$13.8 \text{ g-dcw}]^{-1}$ (OD ₆₅₀ > 40) [65] OD ₆₀₀ : ~7.0 [66]	
SP2/0 myeloma/mouse hybridoma [43, 46]; CHO, NS0, and HEK 293 [47]	E. coli and B. subtilis	CHO, <i>Pichia</i> <i>pastoris</i> , and <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> [57]; Recombinant CHO [53]; <i>E. coli</i> [58]	E. coli [34, 65] and S. cerevisiae [66]	
2-4 (HTBR)	<400	1–15 (cells), <770 (microbes)	~ 360	
Sparging	Sintered sparger; 0–2 vvm	Sparger	BR) Diffusion through membrane	
2-Stage paddle 150	6-blade turbine 100–2000	Rushton or pitched- blade 150–3500	<i>reactor (MFL.</i> Magnetic stirrer 700 [66]	
1- 12.5- 35 12	100 4-16 5-	250 12/24	icrofluidic bic 0.1/ 0.15 8/3	
HTBR (high throughput bioreactor) [UMBC]	SMBR (Stirred minibioreac tor) [UCL]	Ambr [©] [TAP]	<i>Group</i> 3. <i>M</i> i MFLBR [MIT]	

Table 6.4 (C	ontinued).								
Bioreactor/ device [developer]	Volume (ml), multiplexity	Agitation (rpm)	Aeration	k _L a (h ⁻¹)	Organism	Cell growth	Research on properties and performances	Reference	Year
Microfluidic MTP [Aachen U]	0.5/(1-25) 48	Horizontal rotation 800 [67], 1 000 [68], and 700 – 1 200 [69]	Surface aeration with shaking	460 [68] h 183–603 [69]	E. coli, Gluconobacter oxydans, and Kluyveromyces lactis	OD ₆₀₀ : 10.8 [69]	Introducing microfluidics to MTP [67] Fed-batch culture [68] Parallel use flasks (250 ml) with RAMOS and microfluidic MTP in BioLector system [69]	[67] [68] [69]	(2009) (2010) (2015)
<i>Group 4. Bul</i> MMF (Multiple Microfer- mentor) [Ins Pasteur]	ble column b 8 8.	ioreactor (BC	<i>BR</i>) Sintered glaa	ss 750	Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Mycobacterium leprae	OD ₆₀₀ : 100	Miniature probes for DO, pH, and temperature; individually temperature-controlled in each bioreactor	[71]	(2006)
Abbreviation: bioreactor; dc Massachusett reactor; TAP: Baltimore Col	: Aachen U: R w: dry cell we s Institute of 1 The Automati unty; wcw: we	WTH Aachen ight; DO: disso fechnology; OI ion Partners Bi t cell weight.	University; Bi olved oxygen; I D: optical dens iosystem; TUN	oLector: syster DoE: design of sity; RAMOS: 1 A: Technische	n for optical monitori experiments; DSD: de respiration activity mc Universität München;	ng and control in each finitive screening desi mitoring system; Seah UCL: University Colle	bioreactor; CultiBag: dispos gn; Inst Pasteur: Institute of 1 orse BP: Seahorse BioProcess ege London; UMBC: Universi	able wave-ty Pasteur; MI sors; STR: st ty of Maryk	pe [: irred-tank nd,

It is worthwhile to cite several review papers highlighting the progress on key issues in the field of parallel-use bioreactors. Betts and Baganz [73] reviewed the research on MBRs, identifying best practices and future opportunities and discussing the use of different types of MBRs to cultivate various organisms in parallel, to speed up bioprocessing. MBRs are based on several existing bioreactor platforms such as shaking devices, STRs, and bubble columns. Bareither and Pollard [74] noted that significant technological improvement is still required to provide automated solutions that will speed up upstream process development. The authors envisage an automated solution that integrates liquid handling decks. Disposable reactors for fast set-up time with automated media dispensing, inoculation, and growth control, which enable variable conditions and feed regimes should be used. The integration of parallel, disposable, and well-controlled systems will have a significant impact on improving process efficiency (estimated at a 4-5-fold increase). Kirk and Szita [75] presented the oxygen transfer characteristics of miniaturized bioreactor systems. The applicability of $k_1 a$ measurements over a wide range of reactor scales, from the microliter level to the kiloliter level, was confirmed experimentally and mathematically. The need to develop measurement methods for DO and OUR should be appreciated. The oxygen transfer performance was examined using sub-milliliter micro-bioreactors and 1–10 ml MBRs. MBRs have reached $k_1 a$ values of $460 \,\mathrm{h^{-1}}$ in microfluidic MTPs [68], and $770 \,\mathrm{h^{-1}}$ in ambr[®] 250 [57]. The highest $k_1 a$ value reported was 1440 h⁻¹ in a 10-ml stirred-tank-type bioreactor with a gas-inducing impeller [37]. Kim et al. [76] reviewed the miniaturized bioreactors for their performance in animal cell cultivation, describing novel designs for active mixing and microfluidic cell culture devices that incorporated information on cell density and product titer, in batch or fed-batch modes. Miniscale tools for process performance evaluations of animal cell cultures were also discussed.

6.2.2

Single-Use Disposable Bioreactor Systems

Conventional stainless steel fermentors were invented for various purposes and developed as durable devices. They are used repeatedly with cleaning after cultivation and sterilization and before inoculation. Those procedures for using a fermentor are technical and complicated, requiring special care to prevent contamination from foreign organisms, and manufacturing such permanent devices is costly. To overcome such difficulties, there is a need to develop alternative simpler and more flexible devices and procedures to win in severe competition among manufacturers who have to handle more diversified targets seeking for successful commercial products. The setup costs for plants, including costs for fermentors and ancillary equipment, are increasing with the expansion and sophistication of R&D requirements. Single-use disposable bioreactors have received much attention as one of the most promising alternatives to conventional fermentors, and their use has grown rapidly.

6.2.2.1 Features of Single-Use Bioreactors

Single-use disposable bioreactors are used to grow microorganisms [57, 77–79], plant and insect cells [80], animal cells [81–83], and human cells [57, 84]. Important features of a single-use fermentor are a reduction in the regulatory risk, low capital and energy costs, and simplicity, which includes flexibility in choice of the facility, quick start time, ease of use, less risk of cross-contamination, and fewer requirements for training, cleaning, sterilization, and validation [81, 83, 85–87].

One of the most important issues in the selection of a single-use bioreactor is an appropriate oxygen supply [79, 88]. As an example, the single-use bioreactor Biostat CultiBag[®] (Sartorius-Stedim Biotech) is capable of providing oxygen with sufficiently high k_La values to propagate bacterial and animal cells, including CHO cells, up to a high concentration, similar to the levels reached in a reusable stirred tank [79, 87–90]. The single-use bioreactor family has been thoroughly characterized, with measurements of the power input per volume, mixing time, and k_La value. These systems are suitable for the cultivation of mammalian cells, even for high cell density and high titer applications [88, 90].

Stirred disposable bioreactors have been the most commonly used bioreactors, although the first models came onto the market only in 2006. In a comparison of commercially available stirred disposable bioreactors, several types with different cultivation container designs, either flexible bags or rigid cylindrical vessels, and scales of operation were identified [81]. However, the contribution of conventional methods, which have been frequently used in industrial manufacturing of various biologics, should not be discounted. Novo Nordisk, for example, still uses conventional 75 m³ steel tanks to produce commercial insulin (personal communication). The current movement does not imply the lack of value of single-use bioreactors, and their advantages should be incorporated into the development of new reactors.

6.2.2.2 Sensors and Monitoring

The development of disposable sensor technology still lags behind that of bioreactors [85]. Nevertheless, many bioreactors have pH and DO monitoring and control systems with the use of an optical probe [57, 68, 78, 88], in addition to monitoring and control of temperature. Monitoring of cell growth is possible online, based on the use of many single-use bioreactors [57, 68, 81]. Cell viability is an important issue in the propagation of fragile mammalian cells such as CHO cells and human mesenchymal stem cells [57, 84]. Viability should be correlated with cell growth, which can be monitored online using dielectric spectroscopy in a disposable reactor [91].

In many bioreactors, DO and pH can be monitored individually online by measuring the fluorescence decay time of two chemical sensors immobilized at the bottom of each single-use bioreactor [68, 78, 88]. In microfluidic MTPs of a single-use MBR in the BioLector system, pH-controlled batch as well as fed-batch fermentation was performed. A disposable microfluidic system was established that allowed scalable and fully controlled and monitored fermentation in working

volumes below 1 ml [68]. Sensors for all critical parameters on the same detection platform in single-use bioprocess components would be highly desirable. A new approach utilizing passive radio frequency identification (RFID)-based sensing was explored. The developed RFID sensors combined several parameters measured by the resonant sensor antenna with a multivariate data analysis for a multiparameter sensing technique [92]. Disposable device technology has rapidly advanced in terms of cell culture, liquid handling, and storage, but it has lagged in other areas. There is a need for more improvement, with the evolution of disposable sensors, control systems, supplier increases, platform diversity, and support package standardization [85, 87].

6.2.2.3 Single-Use Bioreactors in Practical Use

The commercialization of disposable equipment, including bioreactors, sensors, and monitoring and control systems, has increased significantly during the last several years [57, 77–79, 82, 83, 87, 89, 90]. A mass transfer characterization of a novel mechanically driven/stirred process scouting device (PSD; SuperSpinner D 1000° , SSD) was performed. This novel device can be viewed as a disposable bioreactor [88]. DO and pH were monitored in the SSD with patch-based optical sensors. Dreher *et al.* [89] developed a stirred single-use bioreactor family at 50–2000 l scale with geometrical ratios similar to conventional reusable systems. Using a unified single-use cell culture platform, PacificGMP, consisting of a presterilized, flexible, disposable plastic bag on a rocking platform, was filled with media and a gas mixture that supported the growth of *E. coil*, CHO cells, and hybridoma cells [83].

Eible *et al.* [81] provided an overview of commercially available disposable bioreactors. These bioreactors can be classified into various categories: wave-mixed, orbitally shaken, and stirred disposable bioreactors, with animal-cell-derived production at the cubic meter scale reported from these reactors. For laboratory use, various sizes of STRs have been developed. Kustere *et al.* [78] presented a system of STBRs coupled with a control system based on the assembly of a single-use bioreactor from 48 units at a 10-ml scale, with individual stirrer speed control, DO, and pH monitoring and control [78]. Another small-scale stirred tank with a disposable 250-ml reactor was developed by Bareither *et al.* [57], who also introduced a stirred single-use bioreactor family at a 50-20001 scale [87].

Löffelholz described parametric, experimental, and computer-based numerical methods for biochemical engineering to characterize single-use bioreactors in terms of their practical application [90]. Wave-mixed bioreactors are characterized by low shear forces, with gas exchange realized by the large gas–liquid interface [79, 83, 87, 89, 90]. Junnes *et al.* [79] reviewed the applications of wavemixed disposable bag bioreactors to the cultivation of microorganisms. In these applications, volumetric OTRs were obtained in the range of 50 and 300 h⁻¹. They successfully scaled up *E. coli* fed-batch cultivation from the 12 to 120 l scale using a disposable wave-mixed bioreactor, CELL-trainer[®], resulting in a final cell concentration of 45 g l⁻¹.

The single-use bioreactors should be developed for higher scalability and configurability, which is needed. Especially important is the connection with downstream for overall performance of the manufacturing plant.

6.3

Monitoring and Process Analytical Technology

It is important for bioprocess engineers to develop the technologies for adequate control of microbial cultivation processes, first, by recognizing and analyzing the microbial physiology in relation to the surrounding environment accurately, and, second, by manipulating operational conditions in the most appropriate way. In the past two decades, the demand for real-time and near-real-time monitoring for the automatization of bioprocesses has resulted in significant innovation and automation in the field of process monitoring [93].

6.3.1

Monitoring and State Recognition

6.3.1.1 Sensors for Monitoring Bioprocesses

Modes of monitoring used by sensors and analyzers are classified in various ways such as "offline," "at-line," and "online." The monitoring systems of bioreactors have advanced toward automation for real-time acquisition of information (Figure 6.6). Previously, samples were obtained manually and then transferred to a separate chemical laboratory to be analyzed, as shown in (1) offline monitoring. The transfer of the sample to the laboratory causes a certain delay in the analysis. In (2) at-line monitoring, the collected samples are analyzed by an analytical system in the immediate vicinity of the bioreactor. In both cases, samples can be automatically collected using an autosampler. After development of an auto-analyzing system, the assays of some medium constituents can be made continuously by (3) inline monitoring with continuous sampling, or (4) inline monitoring of the circulating culture broth outside of the reactor. Lastly, direct measurements can be made by (5) online monitoring with an invasive probe or (6) online monitoring with a noninvasive probe.

In Situ Sensors Real-time monitoring of bioreactors is now regarded as a key issue for effective bioprocess control, which can lead to increased efficiency, productivity, and reproducibility, and also improved quality control and reduced environmental pollution. Thus, overall costs are minimized by the newly developed PAT [93]. Previously, only a small number of variables were commonly measured online in bioreactors, namely temperature, pressure, DO, pH, stirring speed, and gas and liquid flow rates. These processes are generally referred to as process variables or engineering data. With PAT, additional probes are available

(1) Off-line monitoring



(3) In-line monitoring with continuous sampling

(5) On-line monitoring with

an invasive probe

Laboratory Pre-treatment Chem. Analysis Data processing

Analyzing system

Probe

Analyzing

Probe

system



(4) In-line monitoring in a culture circulationpath



(6) On-line monitoring with a non-invasive probe



Figure 6.6 Bioreactor monitoring systems advancing toward the automation for realtime information acquisition. (1) Manual sampling and analysis in a separated chemical laboratory, (2) at-line monitoring with manual sampling, (3) iline monitoring with

continuous sampling, (4) inline monitoring in a culture circulation path, and (5) online monitoring with an invasive probe, and (6) online monitoring with a noninvasive probe through a window or indirect detection.

to measure variables such as dissolved carbon dioxide, oxidation-reduction potential, OD, or turbidity. Also, various components of the culture medium and metabolites in the cells were monitored inline and online modes, and three were additional gaseous components in the inlet and outlet gas stream.

A typical comprehensive review on *in situ* sensor techniques for bioprocess monitoring was made by Beutel and Henkel [94] and Biechele *et al.* [95]. Wang and Wolfbeis [96] and Pospíšilová *et al.* [97] provided reviews on fiber-optic chemical sensors and biosensors. Wang and Wolfbeis also comprehensively reviewed optical methods for sensing oxygen materials, spectroscopies, and applications [98].

Biomass Sensor and Flow Cytometry Kiviharju *et al.* [99] reviewed online biomass measurement, summarizing various studies with *in situ* measurements and a software sensor; Suhr *et al.* [100] and Bittner *et al.* [101] reported the *in situ* determination the of cell population, and Bluma *et al.* [102]; and Höpfner *et al.* [103] reviewed *in situ* sensors for biomass monitoring and inline characterization of cell populations in agitated bioreactors using *in situ* microscopy (ISM) and other *in situ* sensors for imaging of cell morphology. Hewitt and Nebe-Von-Caron [104] reported industrial application of flow cytometry for the assessment of cell physiological state, enabling the assessment of population heterogeneity, and Silva *et al.* [105] reviewed the application of multiparameter flow cytometry technologies to monitor industrial bioprocesses for the production of biodiesel, bioethanol, biomethane, and biohydrogen, among others.

Sensor Systems of Electronic Tongues and Noses Requests for the development of online sensors in fermentation monitoring commonly stress on process control issues. One of the techniques suitable for this purpose is chemically based sensors, which has been recognized as an attractive tool for industrial process control, because of its low cost, relatively simple instrumentation, minimal sample preparation, and ease of automation. However, practical use of chemical sensors in complex media is often hindered by their insufficient selectivity. In practice, only pH and oxygen probes are routinely used in bioreactors. One of the emerging approaches that has allowed overcoming the selectivity problems is the use of systems instead of discrete sensors. Such systems for liquid and gas analyses are named "electronic tongues" and "electronic noses," correspondingly. They are both capable of performing quantitative analysis (component concentrations) and classifying or recognizing the multicomponent media. Rudnitskaya and Legin [106] reviewed recent achievements in the R&D, including the application of electronic tongues and noses to the monitoring of biotechnological processes.

EU Experts' Recommendations on Sensors in PAT An expert panel organized by the $M^{3}C$ Working Group of the European Section of Biochemical Engineering Science (ESBES) in European Federation of Biotechnology (EFB) reviewed monitoring of MBRs and presented an expert opinion on future development needs [107]. The recommendations included online analytics such as chromatography or mass spectrometry that were added to bioreactors, preferably using noninvasive sensors and optical or electronic sensor methods that do not involve labeling or in other ways not affecting cellular functions. Sensors to be used online in the bioreactors should be selected based on three criteria: (i) detection limits in relation to analytes, (ii) stability in relation to the testing period, and (iii) the possibility of miniaturization to specific volume ranges and dimensions in the microfluidic system applied in the bioreactors. Nevertheless, mathematical models based on soft sensor principles should be exploited to reduce the number of sensors required.

Soft Sensor (EU Expert) The M³C Working Group of the EFB gave a status report on soft sensors in bioprocessing and made recommendations [108].

Krause *et al.* [109] presented a method for the accurate detection of process parameters combined with expert knowledge of linguistic control mechanisms via adaptive sensor calibration.

6.3.1.2 Spectrometry

Spectrometric methods that have been extensively utilized for bioprocess monitoring include near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy [110], Raman spectroscopy [111, 112], nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy [113, 114], acoustic resonance spectroscopy [115], mass spectrometry [116], dielectric spectroscopy [117], fluorescence spectroscopy [118, 119], and photoacoustic spectroscopy [120, 121]. Calorimetry is utilized for studying microbial metabolism and growth [122, 123], and terahertz technology [94, 124] as well. Rathore *et al.* have extensively investigated the use of online HPLC [125, 126, 127].

Near-Infrared Spectroscopy for Process Monitoring The application of NIR spectroscopy (NIRS) has developed in parallel with the development of the personal computer and information technology, and its explosive growth has been visible in many industries. Recently, it has been particularly apparent in the area of monitoring and control of microbial and cell culture systems. Potentially, NIRS offers the prospect of real-time control of the physiology of cultured cells in fermentors, leading to marked improvements in authenticity, purity, and production efficiency. Despite this, NIRS is not yet as widely applied within the bioprocessing industry as its potential might suggest. A review by Scarff *et al.* [110] critically evaluated the development of this rapidly developing area as it pertains to the control system of microbial and cell culture and highlighted the critical stages in the development of the technology. More research must still be carried out if the full potential of NIRS is to be exploited in making proteins, hormones, and antibiotics via the fermentation route. The review has been particularly timely because NIRS stands on the threshold of widespread acceptance in bioprocessing.

Lourenço *et al.* [128] reviewed current conditions of sensor systems for bioprocess monitoring and claimed that various materials in the culture medium could be assayed by adequate spectroscopic methods. Several articles have claimed that NIRS is useful for monitoring glucose, lactate, antibodies, pH, fructose, acetic acid, and ethanol; UV–vis for bovine serum albumin (BSA) and toxic substances; proteins fluorescence spectroscopy for vitamins, pyruvate, ATP, NAD(P)H, cell mass, and ethanol; and Raman spectroscopy for glutamine and glutamate, phenylalanine, and TCD/VCD, where TCD for total cell density; and VCD for viable cell density.

Flow Injection Analysis Various problems associated with the use of biosensors in process control – for example, difficulties of sterilization, instabilities, short durability, calibration complications and sensor fouling – have often been pointed out. Ogbomo *et al.* [129] claimed the advantages of flow injection analysis (FIA), and reviewed examples for efficient sampling systems connected with this method. Special emphasis was given to problem-oriented sample

pretreatments, preventing fast inactivation of immobilized enzymes in the analysis system. Examples of sample pretreatment units were given. A proposal for a computer-controlled self-calibrating FIA system was also given.

Ion Mobility Spectrometry (IMS) Ion mobility spectrometry is now frequently applied in the field of process analytics. The method has the advantage of high sensitivity, with detection limits down to nanogram to picogram per liter and ppby/ppty ranges, relatively low technical expenditure, and high-speed data acquisition. The time required to acquire a single spectrum is in the range of 20-50 ms. The working principles of IMS is based on the drift of ions at ambient pressure under the influence of an external electric field. The mean free path of the ions is smaller than in mass spectrometry. Therefore, a swarm of drifting ions experiences a separation process which is based on ions with different masses or structure having different drift velocities. Collecting these ions on a Faraday plate results in a time-dependent signal corresponding to the mobility of the arriving ions. This ion mobility spectrum contains information on the nature of the different trace compounds present in the sample gas. Different ionization techniques, sample introduction methods, and pre-separation methods were considered. The applications of IMS discussed relate to purity (gas insulated substations), ecology (contamination of water resources), plant and person safety (odorants in natural gas), food quality control (molds and bacteria), and human health (breath analysis) [130].

6.3.2

Process Analytical Technology (PAT)

As mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, the US FDA issued "Guidance for Industry PAT" as a framework to guide innovative pharmaceutical development, manufacturing, and quality assurance in 2004 [1].

Junker and Wang [131] reviewed the research on bioprocess monitoring and computer control as the key roots of the current PAT initiative, focusing on the impact of the work by D. Wang, who made a big contribution to the development of computer control and monitoring in the field of biochemical process engineering. It will extensively benefit PAT applications in the future as well. Examples of the past achievements are indirect estimation methods for cell density, online, inline, and at-line measurement techniques, and development of models and expert systems for control and optimization. Future applications are likely to include additional novel measurement technologies, measurements for multiscale disposable bioreactors, real-time batch release, and more efficient data utilization to achieve process validation and continuous improvement goals. Wang's substantial contributions in this arena have been recognized as one key factor in steering the PAT initiative toward realistic and attainable industrial applications.

In the PAT initiative, FDA identified the potential for continuous improvement in the fermentation and downstream processing technologies, and made concrete suggestions how this can be achieved. Jenzsch *et al.* [132] reviewed some of these suggestions applied to recombinant protein production with *E. coli* and *P. pastoris* cultures. They discussed the development of process operational procedures that allow tighter supervision of the processes and the automatic control in cases where processes deviate from their set-point profiles.

As presented in two consecutive reviews [133, 134] by a group representing the FDA, PAT has been gaining momentum in the biotech community due to the potential for continuous real-time quality assurance, resulting in improved operational control and compliance. They addressed the evolution of the underlying concepts and applications in biopharmaceutical manufacturing, and also presented a literature review of applications in the area of upstream and downstream processing and drug product manufacturing, biological quality assurance and chemometrics, as well as evolution of PAT in biotech processing to illustrate how implementation of PAT can help in the realization of advanced approaches to ensuring product quality in real time. Implementing real-time product quality control meets one or both of the key goals outlined in FDA's PAT guidance: "variability is managed by the process" and "product quality attributes can be accurately and reliably predicted over the design space established for materials used, process parameters, manufacturing, environmental, and other conditions." The role of PAT as an enabling component of the QbD framework is emphasized, with discussions on the integration of PAT with the principles stated in the ICH Q8, Q9, and Q10 guidance documents.

An expert workshop was held at the 8th European Symposium on Biochemical Engineering Sciences (Bologna, 2010) and highlighted new opportunities for exploiting PAT in biopharmaceutical production [135].

6.3.2.1 PAT Tools

Rathore *et al.* [136] reviewed the various analytical methods that can enable the use of PAT. The selection of methods is a key issue for the success of PAT implementation. NIR spectroscopy is one of the most commonly used analyzers for PAT applications. Rathore *et al.* [137] presented a PAT application for one of the most commonly used unit operations in bioprocessing, namely liquid chromatography. The feasibility of using commercially available online high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) systems for real-time pooling of process chromatography column was examined. A model for a chromatography step of a different modality (hydrophobic interaction chromatography) was created. It was found that for the application under consideration, the online HPLC offers a feasible approach for analysis that can facilitate real-time decisions for column pooling based on product quality attributes. Implementing this analytical scheme resulted in meeting two of the key goals that have been outlined for PAT, as indicated by the FDA guidelines mentioned previously in the introduction of this chapter.

Observation of cell viability by applying inline radio frequency impedance measurement and online determination of intracellular recombinant target protein using the reporter protein T-sapphire green fluorescence protein (GFP) based on inline fluorescence measurement is indicative of the detection ability

of critical process states [138]. A high-resolution biocalorimeter was developed from a heat-flow calorimeter, and a simple estimator for biomass concentration and specific growth rate was formulated based on the heat flow values. It was applied to the fed-batch culture of three yeast strains: *Kluyveromyces marxianus*, *Candida utilis*, and *P. pastoris*, based on the inline measured metabolic heat flow signals [139, 140]. Performance of various online biomass sensors was compared during the early development of a filamentous growth of *Streptomyces coelicolor* in a fed-batch culture. The cultivation was monitored *in situ* using multiwavelength fluorescence spectroscopy, scanning dielectric spectroscopy, and turbidity measurements [141].

Streefland *et al.* [142] reviewed PAT tools for monitoring and controlling the biopharmaceutical cultivation step, focusing on the most common cell platforms (i.e., *E. coli*, yeast, and mammalian cells) used in biopharmaceutical manufacturing. The real challenge is to understand how intracellular mechanisms, from synthesis to excretion, influence the quality of biopharmaceuticals and how these mechanisms can be monitored and controlled to yield the desired end product quality. Modern "omics" tools and advanced process analyzers have opened up the way for PAT applications for the biopharmaceutical cultivation process step. Generally speaking, PAT must be an approach applicable to not only the pharmaceutical industry but also any production area, food industry, and other various biotechnological manufactures.

6.3.2.2 PAT Implementations

A multiauthor review article by Simon *et al.* [121] brought readers up to date with some of the current trends in the field of PAT by summarizing each aspect of sensor development and PAT-based process monitoring and control methods and presenting applications in industrial laboratories and in the manufacturing field. The benefits of applying PAT can be realized during process development as well as during commercial manufacturing. Typical advantages of using PAT include increased process understanding, faster process optimization, removal of the need for offline sampling, understanding and predicting the impact of scale-up, and the ability to control/correct processes before isolation of intermediates or product, leading to improved quality. When PAT applications are used in commercial manufacturing, the additional benefits may include the reduction in cost, time (offline analysis), and cycle time, allowing greater plant throughput, green metrics (energy, solvent usage, carbon footprint), safety (offline sampling of hazardous materials), further verification on the effect of scale-up on the process, and process variation monitoring as part of continuous verification during product lifecycle.

Chanda *et al.* [143] reported the current state of PAT for active pharmaceutical ingredient (API) development in pharmaceutical companies. They used an API process workflow and process steps from raw material identification through to the finished API, to provide a representative example, and explained why and how the pharmaceutical industry uses PAT tools in API development. The use of PAT can improve R&D efficiency and also minimize personnel hazards associated with sampling hazardous materials for in-process testing. PAT enables reliable, rapid, real-time, or the like, analyses of processes that may involve highly hazardous materials. These measurements in PAT procedures can provide a significant amount of data for understanding process chemistry, which may include the detection of previously unknown reaction intermediates, mechanisms, or relationships between process variables.

The use of PAT tools aids in the complete understanding of the process, including determining the presence of transient species, which are difficult to sample and analyze offline, process components, mechanisms, and relationships between variables as well. Through process understanding, critical parameters are identified, and process parameter control limits might be established. Through the development of processes using QbD principles, the number of process steps requiring real-time control will reduce, and it will be possible to simplify the monitoring and control systems. This may result in controls being either offline or by simple measurements such as temperature and pressure being selected by PAT analyses. The industry does require more experienced users in PAT. It is essential that new university graduates, having the right skills and training, must continuously endeavor to ensure that PAT tools are effectively utilized. A successful PAT expert and practitioner should possess multiple skill sets, including understanding of and proficiency in engineering, sampling, process interfacing, chemistry, multiple spectroscopic tools, mathematics, and chemometrics.

6.4 Conclusion

Microbial and cell cultivation processes constitute one of the most influential platforms for industrial manufacturing of valuable and useful products. In particular, their contributions have been highly evaluated in the production of biologics and biochemical products, and consequently their economic and social impact has been well recognized. Recently, strong initiatives have yielded some notable changes in bioprocess engineering studies. They include the development of unique technologies to devise new or more advanced bioreactors for small-scale research on scaling-up toward large industrial scales, with the aim of optimizing the processes including high-throughput technology, single-use disposable bioreactors, monitoring technology, and also process analytical technology based on the concept of ObD control. This chapter provided an overview on state-ofthe-art technologies, their widespread applications, and trends in technology advancement. For the individual validation of four types of bioreactors, MTPs are quite useful in the early stages of the process, including clone selection and medium optimization. Microfluidic devices are expected to contribute more in the investigation of cells in terms of basic science aspects, and STRs have demonstrated outstanding scalability, providing important information from the chemical engineering aspect. The use of bubble-type bioreactors could be more appreciated in the case of phototroph culture or where special protocols are required. The contribution of process analytical technology has been conspicuous

in bioprocess engineering, and an extensive multidisciplinary cooperation is expected to pave a new path for innovative sensor technology. We hope that this chapter will provide the reader with more insights into the existing technologies and possible future developments.

Abbreviations

CFD	computational fluid dynamics
CHO	Chinese hamster ovary
API	active pharmaceutical ingredient
DO	dissolved oxygen
DoE	design of experiments
DSD	definitive screening design
GMP	good manufacturing practice
HTP	high-throughput
HTPT	high-throughput technology
k _L a	the volumetric oxygen-mass transfer coefficient
MBR	micro-/mini-bioreactor
MTP	microtiter plate
OD	optical density
OTR	oxygen transfer rate
OUR	oxygen uptake rate
PAT	process analytical technology
PDMS	polydimethylsiloxane
QbD	quality by design
RFID	radio frequency identification
STR	stirred-tank reactor

References

- Food and Drug Administration. (2004) Guidance for Industry: PAT – A framework for innovative pharmaceutical development, manufacturing, and quality assurance, 19.
- 2 Lidėn, G. (2001) Understanding the bioreactor. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, 24, 273–279.
- 3 Garcia-Ochoa, F. and Gomez, E. (2009) Bioreactor scale-up and oxygen transfer rate in microbial processes: An overview. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 27, 153–176.
- 4 Amaral, P.F.F., Freire, M.G., Rocha-Leão, M.H.M., Marrucho, I.M. *et al.*(2008) Optimization of oxygen mass transfer in a multiphase bioreactor with perfluorodecalin as a second

liquid phase. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **99**, 588–598.

- 5 Yeh, M.S., Wei, Y.H., and Chang, J.S. (2006) Bioreactor design for enhanced carrier-assisted surfactin production with *Bacillus subtilis. Process Biochem.*, 41, 1799–1805.
- 6 Delvigne, F., Boxus, M., Ingels, S., and Thonart, P. (2009) Bioreactor mixing efficiency modulates the activity of a prpoS::GFP reporter gene in *E. coli. Microb. Cell Fact.*, 8, 15.
- 7 Lapin, A., Schmid, J., and Reuss, M. (2006) Modeling the dynamics of *E. coli* populations in the threedimensional turbulent field of a

stirred-tank bioreactor – A structuredsegregated approach. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, **61**, 4783–4797.

- 8 Puthli, M.S., Rathod, V.K., and Pandit, A.B. (2006) Optimization of lipase production in a triple impeller bioreactor. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 27, 287–294.
- 9 Núñez-Ramírez, D.M., Valencia-Lopez, J.J., Calderas, F., Solis-Soto, A. et al. (2012) Mixing analysis for a fermentation broth of the fungus *Beauveria* bassiana under different hydrodynamic conditions in a bioreactor. Chem. Eng. Technol., 35, 1954–1961.
- 10 Núñez-Ramírez, D.M., Medina-Torres, L., Valencia-López, J.J., Calderas, F. *et al.* (2012) Study of the rheological properties of a fermentation broth of the fungus *Beauveria bassiana* in a bioreactor under different hydrodynamic conditions. *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **22**, 1494–1500.
- 11 McClure, D.D., Kavanagh, J.M., Fletcher, D.F., and Barton, G.W. (2016) Characterizing bubble column bioreactor performance using computational fluid dynamics. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, **144**, 58–74.
- 12 Yen, H.-W., Liao, Y.-T., and Liu, Y.X. (2016) Cultivation of oleaginous *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa* in airlift bioreactor by using seawater. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 121, 209–212.
- 13 Lattermann, C. and Büchs, J. (2015) Microscale and miniscale fermentation and screening. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 35C, 1–6.
- 14 Harms, P., Kostov, Y., French, J.A., Soliman, M. *et al.* (2006) Design and performance of a 24-station high throughput microbioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **93**, 6–13.
- 15 Schäpper, D., Alam, M.N.H.Z., Szita, N., Eliasson Lantz, A. *et al.* (2009) Application of microbioreactors in fermentation process development: A review. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, **395**, 679–695.
- 16 Duetz, W.A., Ruedi, L., Hermann, R., O'Connor, K. *et al.* (2000) Methods for intense aeration, growth, storage, and replication of bacterial strains in microtiter plates. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 66, 2641–2646.
- 17 Minas, W., Bailey, J.E., and Duetz, W. (2000) Streptomycetes in micro-cultures:

Growth, production of secondary metabolites, and storage and retrieval in the 96-well format. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, **78**, 297–305.

- 18 Bahia, D., Cheung, R., Büchs, M., Geisse, S. *et al.* (2005) Optimisation of insect cell growth in deep-well blocks: Development of a high-throughput insect cell expression screen. *Protein Expression Purif.*, 39, 61–70.
- 19 John, G.T., Klimant, I., Wittmann, C., and Heinzle, E. (2003) Integrated optical sensing of dissolved oxygen in microtiter plates: A novel tool for microbial cultivation. *Biotechnol. Bio*eng., 81, 829–836.
- 20 Kensy, F., John, G.T., Hofmann, B., and Büchs, J. (2005) Characterisation of operation conditions and online monitoring of physiological culture parameters in shaken 24-well microtiter plates. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, 28, 75–81.
- 21 Samorski, M., Muller-Newen, G., and Büchs, J. (2005) Quasi-continuous combined scattered light and fluorescence measurements: A novel measurement technique for shaken microtiter plates. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **92** (1), 61–68.
- 22 Kensy, F., Engelbrecht, C., and Büchs, J. (2009) Scale-up from microtiter plate to laboratory fermenter: Evaluation by online monitoring techniques of growth and protein expression in *Escherichia coli* and *Hansenula polymorpha* fermentations. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, **8**, 61.
- 23 Kunze, M., Lattermann, C., Diederichs, S., Kroutil, W. *et al.* (2014) Minireactorbased high-throughput temperature profiling for the optimization of microbial and enzymatic processes. *J. Biol. Eng.*, 8, 22.
- 24 Schlepütz, T. and Büchs, J. (2014) Scale-down of vinegar production into microtiter plates using a custom-made lid. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 117, 485–496.
- 25 Unthan, S., Radek, A., Wiechert, W., Oldiges, M., and Noack, S. (2015) Bioprocess automation on a mini pilot plant enables fast quantitative microbial phenotyping. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 14, 32.
- 26 Kocincová, A.S., Nagl, S., Arain, S., Krause, C. *et al.* (2008) Multiplex bacterial growth monitoring in 24-well

microplates using a dual optical sensor for dissolved oxygen and pH. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **100**, 430–438.

- 27 Zhang, H., Lamping, S.R., Pickering, S.C.R., Lye, G.J. *et al.* (2008) Engineering characterisation of a single well from 24-well and 96-well microtitre plates. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, **40**, 138–149.
- 28 Zhou, H., Purdie, J., Wang, T., and Ouyang, A. (2009) pH measurement and a rational and practical pH control strategy for high throughput cell culture system. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 26, 872–880.
- 29 Meyer, A., Condon, R.G.G., Keil, G., Jhaveri, N. *et al.* (2012) Fluorinert, an oxygen carrier, improves cell culture performance in deep square 96-well plates by facilitating oxygen transfer. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 28, 171–178.
- 30 Deantonio, C., Sedini, V., Cesaro, P., Quasso, F. *et al.* (2014) An air-well sparging minifermenter system for highthroughput protein production. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 13, 132.
- 31 Tang, Y.J., Laidlaw, D., Gani, K., and Keasling, J.D. (2006) Evaluation of the effects of various culture conditions on Cr(VI) reduction by *Shewanella oneidensis* MR-1 in a novel high-throughput mini-bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 95, 176–184.
- 32 Chen, A., Chitta, R., Chang, D., and Amanullah, A. (2009) Twenty-four well plate miniature bioreactor system as a scale-down model for cell culture process development. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 102, 148–160.
- 33 Legmann, R., Schreyer, H.B., Combs, R.G., McCormick, E.L. *et al.* (2009) A predictive high-throughput scale-down model of monoclonal antibody production in CHO cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 104, 1107–1120.
- 34 Zhang, Z., Perozziello, G., Boccazzi, P., Sinskey, A.J. *et al.* (2007) Microbioreactors for bioprocess development. *JALA*, 12, 143–151.
- 35 Kostov, Y., Harms, P., Randers-Eichhorn, L., and Rao, G. (2001) Low-cost microbioreactor for high-throughput bioprocessing. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 72, 346–352.
- 36 Lamping, S.R., Zhang, H., Allen, B., and Ayazi Shamlou, P. (2003) Design of a

prototype miniature bioreactor for high throughput automated bioprocessing. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, **58**, 747–758.

- 37 Puskeiler, R., Kaufmann, K., and Weuster-Botz, D. (2005) Development, parallelization, and automation of a gas-inducing milliliter-scale bioreactor for high-throughput bioprocess design (HTBD). *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 89, 512–523.
- 38 Puskeiler, R., Kusterer, A., John, G.T., and Weuster-Botz, D. (2005) Miniature bioreactors for automated high-throughput bioprocess design (HTBD): Reproducibility of parallel fed-batch cultivations with *Escherichia coli. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.*, 42, 227–235.
- 39 Schmideder, A., Severin, T.S., Cremer, J.H., and Weuster-Botz, D. (2015) A novel milliliter-scale chemostat system for parallel cultivation of microorganisms in stirred-tank bioreactors. *J. Biotechnol.*, 210, 19–24.
- 40 Weuster-Botz, D., Puskeiler, D., Kusterer, A., Kaufmann, K. *et al.* (2005) Methods and milliliter scale devices for high-throughput bioprocess design. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, 28, 109–119.
- 41 Hortsch, R. and Weuster-Botz, D. (2010) Milliliter-scale stirred tank reactors for the cultivation of microorganisms. *Adv. Appl. Microbiol.*, 73, 61–82.
- 42 Dennewald, D., Hortsch, R., and Weuster-Botz, D. (2012) Evaluation of parallel milliliter-scale stirred-tank bioreactors for the study of biphasic whole-cell biocatalysis with ionic liquids. J. Biotechnol., 157, 253–257.
- Kondragunta, B., Drew, J.L., Brorson, K.A., Moreira, A.R. *et al.* (2010) Advances in clone selection using high-throughput bioreactors. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 26, 1095–1103.
- 44 Gebhardt, G., Hortsch, R., Kaufmann, K., Arnold, M. *et al.* (2011) A new microfluidic concept for parallel operated milliliter-scale stirred tank bioreactors. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 27, 684–690.
- **45** Knorr, B., Schlieker, H., Hohmann, H.-P., and Weuster-Botz, D. (2007) Scale-down and parallel operation of

the riboflavin production process with *Bacillus subtilis. Biochem. Eng. J.*, **33**, 263–274.

- 46 Ge, X., Hanson, M., Shen, H., Kostov, Y. *et al.* (2006) Validation of an optical sensor-based high-throughput bioreactor system for mammalian cell culture. *J. Biotechnol.*, 122, 293–306.
- 47 Hanson, M.A., Brorson, K.A., Moreira, A.R., and Rao, G. (2009) Comparisons of optically monitored small-scale stirred tank vessels to optically controlled disposable bag bioreactors. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 8, 44.
- 48 Vallejos, J.R., Kostov, Y., Ram, A., French, J.A. *et al.* (2006) Optical analysis of liquid mixing in a minibioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **93**, 906–911.
- 49 Isett, K., George, H., Herber, W., and Amanullah, A. (2007) Twentyfour-well plate miniature bioreactor high-throughput system: Assessment for microbial cultivations. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 98, 1017–1028.
- 50 Gill, N.K., Appleton, M., Baganz, F., and Lye, G.J. (2008) Quantification of power consumption and oxygen transfer characteristics of a stirred miniature bioreactor for predictive fermentation scale-up. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 100, 1144–1155.
- 51 Gill, N.K., Appleton, M., Baganz, F., and Lye, G.J. (2008) Design and characterisation of a miniature stirred bioreactor system for parallel microbial fermentations. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, **39**, 164–176.
- 52 Hsu, W.T., Aulakh, R.P.S., Traul, D.L., and Yuk, I.H. (2012) Advanced microscale bioreactor system: A representative scale-down model for bench-top bioreactors. *Cytotechnology*, 64, 667–678.
- 53 Nienow, A.W., Rielly, C.D., Brosnan, K., Bargh, N. *et al.* (2013) The physical characterisation of a microscale parallel bioreactor platform with an industrial CHO cell line expressing an IgG4. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 76, 25–36.
- 54 Rameez, S., Mostafa, S.S., Miller, C., and Shukla, A.A. (2014) Highthroughput miniaturized bioreactors for cell culture process development:

Reproducibility, scalability, and control. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **30**, 718–727.

- 55 Lewis, G., Lugg, R., Lee, K., and Wales, R. (2010) Novel automated micro-scale bioreactor technology: A qualitative and quantitative mimic for early process development. *Bioprocess. J.*, 9, 22–26.
- 56 Janakiraman, V., Kwiatkowski, C., Kshirsagar, R., Ryll, T. *et al.* (2015) Application of high-throughput mini-bioreactor system for systematic scale-down modeling, process characterization, and control strategy development. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 6, 1623–1632.
- 57 Bareither, R., Bargh, N., Oakeshott, R., Watts, K. *et al.* (2013) Automated disposable small scale reactor for high throughput bioprocess development: A proof of concept study. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **110**, 3126–3138.
- 58 Tai, M., Ly, A., Leung, I., and Nayar, G. (2015) Efficient high-throughput biological process characterization: Definitive screening design with the Ambr250 bioreactor system. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 31, 1388–1395.
- 59 Nunes, M.A.P., Fernandes, P.C.B., and Ribeiro, M.H.L. (2013) Microtiter plates versus stirred mini-bioreactors in biocatalysis: A scalable approach. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **136**, 30–40.
- 60 McDonald, J.C., Duffy, D.C., Anderson, J.R., Chiu, D.T. *et al.* (2000) Fabrication of microfluidic systems in poly(dimethylsiloxane). *Electrophoresis*, 21, 27–40.
- 61 Zanzotto, A., Szita, N., Boccazzi, P., Lessard, P. *et al.* (2004) Membraneaerated microbioreactor for highthroughput bioprocessing. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 87, 243–254.
- 62 Boccazzi, P., Zanzotto, A., Szita, N., Bhattacharya, S. *et al.* (2005) Gene expression analysis of *Escherichia coli* grown in miniaturized bioreactor platforms for high-throughput analysis of growth and genomic data. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 68, 518-532.
- 63 Szita, N., Boccazzi, P., Zhang, Z., Boyle, P. et al. (2005) Development of a multiplexed microbioreactor system for high-throughput bioprocessing. Lab Chip, 5, 819–826.

- 64 Hung, P.J., Lee, P.J., Sabounchi, P., Lin, R. et al. (2005) Continuous perfusion microfluidic cell culture array for highthroughput cell-based assays. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 89, 1–8.
- 65 Lee, H.L.T., Boccazzi, P., Ram, R.J., and Sinskey, A.J. (2006) Microbioreactor arrays with integrated mixers and fluid injectors for high-throughput experimentation with pH and dissolved oxygen control. *Lab Chip*, 6, 1229–1235.
- 66 Boccazzi, P., Zhang, Z., Kurosawa, K., Szita, N. *et al.* (2006) Differential gene expression profiles and real-time measurements of growth parameters in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* grown in microliter-scale bioreactors equipped with internal stirring. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 22, 710–717.
- 67 Buchenauer, A., Hofmann, M.C., Funke, M., Büchs, J. et al. (2009) Microbioreactors for fed-batch fermentations with integrated online monitoring and microfluidic devices. *Biosens. Bioelectron.*, 24, 1411–1416.
- Funke, M., Buchenauer, A., Mokwa, W., Kluge, S. *et al.* (2010) Bioprocess control in microscale: Scalable fermentations in disposable and user-friendly microfluidic systems. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 9, 86.
- **69** Wewetzer, S.J., Kunze, M., Ladner, T., Luchterhand, B. *et al.* (2015) Parallel use of shake flask and microtiter plate online measuring devices (RAMOS and BioLector) reduces the number of experiments in laboratory-scale stirred tank bioreactors. *J. Biol. Eng.*, **9**, 9.
- 70 Doig, S.D., Diep, A., and Baganz, F. (2005) Characterisation of a novel miniaturised bubble column bioreactor for high throughput cell cultivation. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 23, 97–105.
- 71 Frachon, E., Bondet, V., Munier-Lehmann, H., and Bellalou, J. (2006) Multiple microfermentor battery: A versatile tool for use with automated parallel cultures of microorganisms producing recombinant proteins and for optimization of cultivation protocols. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 72, 5225–5231.

- 72 Havel, J., Franco-Lara, E., and Weuster-Botz, D. (2008) A parallel bubble column system for the cultivation of phototrophic microorganisms. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, **30**, 1197–1200.
- 73 Betts, J.I. and Baganz, F. (2006) Miniature bioreactors: Current practices and future opportunities. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 5, 2.
- 74 Bareither, R. and Pollard, D. (2011) A review of advanced small-scale parallel bioreactor technology for accelerated process development: Current state and future need. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 27, 2–14.
- 75 Kirk, T.V. and Szita, N. (2013) Oxygen transfer characteristics of miniaturized bioreactor systems. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 110, 1005–1019.
- 76 Kim, B.J., Diao, J., and Shuler, M.L. (2012) Mini-scale bioprocessing systems for highly parallel animal cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 28, 595–607.
- 77 Rohe, P., Venkanna, D., Kleine, B., Freudl, R. *et al.* (2012) An automated workflow for enhancing microbial bioprocess optimization on a novel microbioreactor platform. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, **11**, 144.
- 78 Kusterer, A., Krause, C., Kaufmann, K., Arnold, M. *et al.* (2008) Fully automated single-use stirred-tank bioreactors for parallel microbial cultivations. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, **31**, 207–215.
- 79 Junne, S., Solymosi, T., Oosterhuis, N., and Neubauer, P. (2013) Cultivation of cells and microorganisms in wave-mixed disposable bag bioreactors at different scales. *Chem. Ing. Tech.*, 85, 57–66.
- 80 Eibl, R., Werner, S., and Eibl, D. (2009) Disposable bioreactors for plant liquid cultures at litre-scale. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 9, 156–164.
- 81 Eibl, R., Kaiser, S., Lombriser, R., and Eibl, D. (2010) Disposable bioreactors: The current state-of-the-art and recommended applications in biotechnology. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 86, 41–49.
- 82 Collignon, M.-L., Droissart, L., Delafosse, A., Calvo, S. *et al.* (2015) Hydrodynamics in a disposable rectangular parallelepiped stirred bioreactor with elliptic pendulum motion paddle. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 93, 212–221.

- 83 DeFife, K. and Pierce, L. (2009) Versatility of a single-use bioreactor platform for culture of diverse cell types. Bio-Pharm Int., 22, 30-37.
- 84 Cierpka, K., Elseberg, C. L., Niss, K., Kassem, M. et al. (2013) hMSC production in disposable bioreactors with regards to GMP and PAT. Chem. Ing. Tech., 85, 67-75.
- 85 Allison, N. and Richards, J. (2014) Current status and future trends for disposable technology in the biopharmaceutical industry. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 89, 1283-1287.
- 86 Rao, G., Moreira, A., and Brorson, K. (2009) Disposable bioprocessing: The future has arrived. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 102, 348-356.
- 87 Shukla, A. and Gottschalk, U. (2013) Single-use disposable technologies for biopharmaceutical manufacturing. Trends Biotechnol., 31, 147-154.
- 88 Vallejos, J. and Uplekar, S. (2012) A case study in converting disposable process scouting devices into disposable bioreactors as a future bioprocessing tool. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 109, 2790-2797.
- 89 Dreher, T., Husemann, U., Adams, T., de Wilde, D. et al. (2014) Design space definition for a stirred single-use bioreactor family from 50 to 2000 L scale. Eng. Life Sci., 14, 304-310.
- 90 Löffelholz, C., Husemann, U., Greller, G., Meusel, W. et al. (2013) Bioengineering parameters for single-use bioreactors: Overview and evaluation of suitable methods. Chem. Ing. Tech., 85, 40 - 56.
- 91 Justice, C., Leber, C., Freimark, D., Pino Grace, P. et al. (2011) On-line and offline- monitoring of stem cell expansion on microcarrier. Cytotechnology, **63**, 325-335.
- 92 Potyrailo, R.A., Radislav, A., Surman, C., Monk, D. et al. (2011) RFID sensors as the common sensing platform for single-use biopharmaceutical manufacturing. Meas. Sci. Technol., 22, 082001.
- 93 Rathore, A.S., Bhambure, R., and Ghare, V. (2010) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceutical products. Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 398, 137-154.

- 94 Beutel, S. and Henkel, S. (2011) In situ sensor techniques in modern bioprocess monitoring. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 91, 1493-1505.
- 95 Biechele, P., Busse, C., Solle, D., Scheper, T. et al. (2015) Sensor systems for bioprocess monitoring. Eng. Life Sci., 15, 469-488.
- 96 Wang, X.-D. and Wolfbeis, O.S. (2013) Fiber-optic chemical sensors and biosensors (2008-2012). Anal. Chem., 85, 487-508.
- 97 Pospíšilová, M., Kuncová, G., and Trögl, J. (2015) Fiber-optic chemical sensors and fiber-optic bio-sensors. Sensors, 15, 25208-25259.
- 98 Wang, X. and Wolfbeis, O.S. (2014) Optical methods for sensing and imaging oxygen: Materials, spectroscopies and applications. Chem. Soc. Rev., 43, 3666-3761.
- 99 Kiviharju, K., Salonen, K., Moilanen, U., and Eerikäinen, T. (2008) Biomass measurement online: The performance of in situ measurements and software sensors. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 35, 657-665.
- 100 Suhr, H., Wehnert, G., Schneider, K., Bittner, C. et al. (1995) In situ microscopy for on-line characterization of cell-populations in bioreactors, including cell-concentration measurements by depth from focus. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 47, 106-116.
- 101 Bittner, C., Wehnert, G., and Scheper, T. (1998) In situ microscopy for on-line determination of biomass. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 60, 24-35.
- 102 Bluma, A. et al. (2010) In-situ imaging sensors for bioprocess monitoring: State of the art. Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 398, 2429-2438.
- 103 Höpfner, T., Bluma, A., Rudolph, G., Lindner, P. et al. (2010) A review of non-invasive optical-based image analysis systems for continuous bioprocess monitoring. Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng., 33, 247 - 256.
- 104 Hewitt, C.J. and Nebe-Von-Caron, G. (2001) An industrial application of multiparameter flow cytometry: Assessment of cell physiological state and its application to the study of microbial fermentations. Cytometry, 44, 179-187.

- 210 6 Bioreactor Development and Process Analytical Technology
 - 105 Silva, T.L.D., Roseiro, J.C., and Reis, A. (2012) Applications and perspectives of multi-parameter flow cytometry to microbial biofuels production processes. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **30**, 225–231.
 - 106 Rudnitskaya, A. and Legin, A. (2008) Sensor systems, electronic tongues and electronic noses, for the monitoring of biotechnological processes. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 35, 443–451.
 - 107 Gernaey, K.V., Baganz, F., Franco-Lara, E., Kensy, F. et al. (2012) Monitoring and control of microbioreactors: An expert opinion on development needs. *Biotechnol. J.*, 7, 1308–1314.
 - Luttmann, R., Bracewell, D.G., Cornelissen, G., Gernaey, K. *et al.*(2012) Soft sensors in bioprocessing: A status report and recommendations. *Biotechnol. J.*, 7, 1040–1048.
 - 109 Krause, D., Birle, S., Hussein, M.A., and Becker, T. (2011) Bioprocess monitoring and control via adaptive sensor calibration. *Eng. Life Sci.*, **11**, 402–416.
 - 110 Scarff, M., Arnold, S.A., Harvey, L.M., and McNeil, B. (2006) Near infrared spectroscopy for bioprocess monitoring and control: Current status and future trends. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.*, 26, 17–39.
 - 111 De Beer, T.R.M., Allesø, M., Goethals, F., Coppens, A. *et al.* (2007) Implementation of a process analytical technology system in a freeze-drying process using Raman spectroscopy for in-line process monitoring. *Anal. Chem.*, **79**, 7992–8003.
 - 112 Uysal, R.S., Soykut, E.A., Boyaci, I.H., and Topcu, A. (2013) Monitoring multiple components in vinegar fermentation using Raman spectroscopy. *Food Chem.*, 141, 4333–4343.
 - 113 Duarte, I., Barros, A., Belton, P.S., Righelato, R. *et al.* (2002) Highresolution nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and multivariate analysis for the characterization of beer. *J. Agric. Food. Chem.*, **50**, 2475–2481.
 - 114 Majors, P.D., McLean, J.S., and Scholten, J.C.M. (2008) NMR bioreactor development for live in-situ microbial functional analysis. *J. Magn. Reson.*, 192, 159–166.
 - **115** Medendorp, J. and Lodder, R.A. (2006) Acoustic-resonance spectrometry as a

process analytical technology for rapid and accurate tablet identification. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, 7, E25.

- 116 Heinzle, E., Oeggerli, A., and Dettwiler, B. (1990) On-line fermentation gas analysis: Error analysis and application of mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chim. Acta*, 238, 101–115.
- 117 Justice, C., Brix, A., Freimark, D., Kraume, M. *et al.* (2011) Process control in cell culture technology using dielectric spectroscopy. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 29, 391–401.
- 118 Stärk, E., Hitzmann, B., Schügerl, K., Scheper, T. *et al.* (2002) In-situfluorescence-probes: A useful tool for non-invasive bioprocess monitoring. *Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol.*, 74, 21–38.
- 119 Faassen, S.M. and Hitzmann, B.
 (2015) Fluorescence spectroscopy and chemometric modeling for bioprocess monitoring. *Sensors*, 15, 10271-10291.
- 120 Papkovsky, D.B. and Dmitriev, R.I. (2013) Biological detection by optical oxygen sensing. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 42, 8700-8732.
- 121 Simon, L.L., Pataki, H., Marosi, G., Meemken, F. et al. (2015) Assessment of recent process analytical technology (PAT) trends: A multiauthor review. Org. Process Res. Dev., 19, 3–60.
- Buchholz, F., Harms, H., and Maskow, T. (2010) Biofilm research using calorimetry – A marriage made in heaven? *Biotechnol. J.*, 5, 1339–1350.
- 123 Schubert, T., Breuer, U., Harms, H., and Maskow, T. (2007) Calorimetric bioprocess monitoring by small modifications to a standard bench-scale bioreactor. *J. Biotechnol.*, 130, 24–31.
- 124 Ulber, R., Frerichs, J.-G., and Beutel, S. (2003) Optical sensor systems for bioprocess monitoring. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, **376**, 342–348.
- 125 Larson, T.M., Gawlitzek, M., Evans, H., Albers, U. *et al.* (2002) Chemometric evaluation of on-line high-pressure liquid chromatography in mammalian cell cultures: Analysis of amino acids and glucose. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 77, 553–563.
- 126 Krull, I.S., Rathore, A., and Wheat, T.E. (2011) Current applications of UHPLC

in biotechnology: Part II: Proteins and glycans. *LCGC North Am.*, **29** (3), 1.

- 127 Rathore, A.S., Yu, M., Yeboah, S., and Sharma, A. (2008) Case study and application of process analytical technology (PAT) towards bioprocessing: Use of on-line high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) for making real-time pooling decisions for process chromatography. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 100, 306–316.
- 128 Lourenço, N., Lopes, J., Almeida, C., Sarraguça, M.C. *et al.* (2012) Bioreactor monitoring with spectroscopy and chemometrics: A review. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 404, 1211–1237.
- 129 Ogbomo, I., Prinzing, U., and Schmidt, H.-L. (1990) Prerequisites for the online control of microbial processes by flow injection analysis. *J. Biotechnol.*, 14, 63–70.
- 130 Baumbach, I.J. (2006) Process analysis using ion mobility spectrometry (IMS). *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, 384, 1059–1070.
- 131 Junker, H.B. and Wang, Y.H. (2006) Bioprocess monitoring and computer control: Key roots of the current PAT initiative. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 95, 226–261.
- 132 Jenzsch, M., Simultis, R., and Lübbert, A. (2006) Optimization and control of industrial microbial cultivation processes. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 6, 117–124.
- 133 Read, E.K., Park, J.T., Shah, R.B., Riley, B.S., Brorson, K.A., and Rathore, A.S. (2010) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceutical products: Part I. Concepts and applications. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **105**, 276–284.
- Read, E.K., Shah, R.B., Riley, B.S., Park, J.T., Brorson, K.A., and Rathore, A.S. (2009) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceutical products: Part II. Concepts and applications. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **105**, 285–295.
- 135 Glassey, J., Gernary, V.K., Clemens, C., Schulz, W.T. *et al.* (2011) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceuticals. *Biotechnol. J.*, 6, 369–377.
- Rathore, A., Krull, I.S., and Mendhe, R. (2012) Analytical tools for enabling

process analytical technology (PAT) applications in biotechnology. *LCGC North Am.*, **30**, 1.

- 137 Rathore, A.S., Parr, L., Dermawan, S., Lawson, K. *et al.* (2010) Large scale demonstration of a process analytical technology application in bioprocessing: Use of on-line high performance liquid chromatography for making real time pooling decisions for process chromatography. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 26, 448–457.
- 138 Kaiser, C., Pototzki, T., Ellert, A., and Luttmann, R. (2008) Applications of PAT-process analytical technology in recombinant protein processes with *Escherichia coli. Eng. Life Sci.*, 8, 132–138.
- 139 Sivaprakasam, S., Schuler, M.M., Hama, A., Hughes, K.-M. *et al.* (2011) Biocalorimetry as a process analytical technology process analyser; Robust inline monitoring and control of aerobic fed-batch cultures of crabtree-negative yeast cells. *J. Therm. Anal. Calorim.*, 104, 75–85.
- 140 Maskow, T., Schubert, T., Wolf, A., Buchholz, F. *et al.* (2011) Potentials and limitations of miniaturized calorimeters for bioprocess monitoring. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **92**, 55–66.
- 141 Rønnest, N.P., Stocks, S.M., Lantz, A.E., and Gernaey, K.V. (2011) Introducing process analytical technology (PAT) in filamentous cultivation process development: Comparison of advanced online sensors for biomass measurement. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 38, 1679–1690.
- 142 Streefland, M., Martens, D.E., Beuvery, E.C., and Wijffels, R.H. (2013) Process analytical technology (PAT) tools for the cultivation step in biopharmaceutical production. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 13, 212–223.
- 143 Chanda, A., Daly, A.M., Foley, D.A., Lapack, M.A. *et al.* (2015) Industry perspectives on process analytical technology: Tools and applications in API development. *Org. Process Res. Dev.*, 19, 63–83.

Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes

Hiroshi Shimizu, Chikara Furusawa, Takashi Hirasawa, Katsunori Yoshikawa, Yoshihiro Toya, Tomokazu Shirai, and Fumio Matsuda

7.1 General Introduction

7

Optimization of metabolic pathways is important in the development of bioprocesses that facilitate the production of chemicals and fuels by microbial cells. Ideally, this process should incorporate two approaches: (i) analysis of metabolic states under given environmental conditions and optimization of cellular metabolic pathways for targeted products, and (ii) comparative and multi-omics analysis under stress conditions, including the development of stress-tolerant cells that remain active even under severe stress conditions.

Recent progress in omics science has facilitated systematic analysis of microbial status, strategic molecular breeding, and the development of bioprocesses. Integration of in silico and experimental approaches for the analysis of microbial cells has enabled the rational design of logical metabolic pathways with modifications. Predictions of metabolic pathways by genome-scale metabolic (GSM) reaction models and evaluations of the performance of developed cell factories by experimental ¹³C metabolic flux analysis can be used to elucidate the state of the cell. By comparative transcriptome analysis, genes that confer useful phenotypes are identified. Integration of transcriptome analysis, comprehensive phenotype analysis, and evolution engineering approaches can provide important tools for the analysis of cell states under stress conditions. In Figure 7.1, we summarize the integration of in silico and experimental approaches for the analyses of microbial status and the creation of cell factories. These analyses provide in-depth understanding of cellular processes and enhance the design of cell factories. Moreover, they produce novel data from metabolic systems, which in turn can facilitate engineering of strains that are suitable for industrial applications.





Figure 7.1 Schematic of the integration method, with *in silico* and experimental approaches, for the creation of cell factories.

7.2

Transcriptome Analysis of Microbial Status in Bioprocesses

7.2.1 Introduction

There are many reasons to perform transcriptome analysis of microbial processes: for example, to understand the cellular state, to improve the productivity of target products, and to identify target genes that could manifest useful phenotypes in host cells. DNA microarray is a powerful tool used to analyze the transcriptome. In microarrays, fluorescence intensities of labeled cDNAs, which are hybridized with corresponding probes, are measured and gene expression is thereby quantified. Recently, next-generation sequencing techniques, such as whole transcriptome shotgun sequencing (RNA-seq), have been developed and used to sequence and quantify all expressed RNA.

Inverse metabolic engineering involves the determination of factors that confer desired phenotypes, based on comparative analyses between wild-type strains and strains with superior properties [1]. Omics analysis has greatly influenced inverse metabolic engineering [2]. For example, in genome breeding, the mutations that facilitate high production of lysine were identified by comparing genome information from a wild-type strain of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* with that of a high-yielding strain [3]. Furthermore, DNA microarrays have been used to identify genes responsible for improvement of galactose uptake in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [4] and promotion of antibiotic resistance in *Escherichia coli* [5], and they have facilitated molecular breeding of *E. coli* for lysine production [6] and the creation of osmotic-stress-tolerant strains of *S. cerevisiae* [7]. In the next subsection, we discuss the DNA microarray methodologies employed to analyze the state of the cells, identify targets for gene manipulation, and propagate useful phenotypes such as stress tolerance.

7.2.2

Microbial Response to Stress Environments and Identification of Genes Conferring Stress Tolerance in Bioprocesses

In this section, we describe the identification of genes conferring ethanol stress tolerance, which is an example of transcriptome analysis of microbial status in yeast processes [8]. Gene expression levels in two strains of *S. cerevisiae* were compared: a laboratory strain and a brewing strain (used in Japanese sake brewing). The brewing strain showed higher tolerance to ethanol stress than the laboratory strain.

The expression pattern of individual genes in these two strains was compared using cluster analysis. The self-organizing map (SOM) [9, 10] is a commonly used clustering method in bioinformatics. SOM clusters are further analyzed using the hierarchical clustering (HC) method [11], which is used to assess the similarity in weights of the vectors in SOM-clusters. The boundaries of HC-obtained clusters are determined from the experimental error of DNA microarray analysis.

Clustering analysis was applied to time course gene expression data from the laboratory and brewing strains before and after the addition of ethanol. More than 700 clusters were obtained using SOM, which were further classified into around 30 clusters using the HC method. Three typical gene expression patterns were found, and these are shown in Figure 7.2.

Clusters with specific expression patterns were screened to identify genes important to the status of the microorganism under conditions of high ethanol concentration. Three clusters were selected (Figure 7.2): (i) genes significantly expressed only in the brewing strain (Cluster 10); (ii) genes expressed in both laboratory and brewing strains following the addition of ethanol, but where expression ratios were higher in the brewing strain (Cluster 27); and (iii) genes significantly expressed more in the laboratory strain than in the brewing strain (Cluster 7). In clusters (i) and (ii), genes expressed in higher quantities in the presence of ethanol were screened to facilitate ethanol stress tolerance in the brewing strain. Despite high concentrations of ethanol, the genes in cluster (iii) were not required to facilitate ethanol stress tolerance are expected to be expressed at much higher levels in the brewing strain than in the laboratory strain in the absence of ethanol.





Figure 7.2 Typical patterns of gene expression among 29 clusters. Each chart (i–iii) indicates the expression pattern of genes in individual clusters. The horizontal axes indicate time points of the data, and vertical axes indicate \log_2 expression ratios. The left panel represents the gene expression pattern of the laboratory strain, and the right panel represents that of the brewing strain. In each chart, the distance between the two red lines represents a twofold expression

change. (i) The genes significantly expressed only in the brewing strain (Cluster 10). (ii) The genes expressed in both laboratory and brewing strains following the addition of ethanol; the expression ratios of these genes were higher in the brewing strain than in the laboratory strain (Cluster 27). (iii) Genes were significantly expressed more in the laboratory strain than in the brewing strain (Cluster 7).

Sensitivity to ethanol was also examined in selected genes in terms of the growth of single-gene deletion mutants. The gene deletion mutants of the tryptophan biosynthesis genes, namely *TRP2*, *TRP3*, and *TRP4*, which were clustered in Cluster 7 (see (iii) in Figure 7.2), showed ethanol-sensitive growth. Additionally, the deletion mutants of other tryptophan biosynthesis genes, namely *TRP1* and *TRP5*, also showed ethanol-tolerant strains were identified, and subsequently laboratory strains in which these genes were overexpressed were constructed. The overexpressed gene related to tryptophan biosynthesis (in Cluster 7) was found to confer ethanol stress tolerance to yeast cells. Overexpression of genes related to tryptophan uptake and the addition of tryptophan to culture were also effective in conferring ethanol stress tolerance. These important results validate the methodology employed for analysis. In general, the role of tryptophan biosynthesis is still somewhat unclear, although it is significantly related to

ethanol stress tolerance. One possible explanation is that the content of the membrane is affected by acceleration of tryptophan biosynthesis [8].

7.2.3

Transcriptome Analysis of the Ethanol-Stress-Tolerant Strain Obtained by Evolution Engineering

Experimental evolution is a method used to study the evolution of emergent properties in biological processes and uncover the changes in phenotype and genotype that are responsible for adaptive evolution [12, 13]. Parallel-evolution experiments are performed under identical stress conditions to clarify the phenotypic and genotypic changes necessary for adaptive evolution. Such evolution experiments have the potential to provide valuable information for the rational creation strategy of stress-tolerant strains. Moreover, it is expected that identification of the factors essential for higher tolerance will be easier using the experimental evolution approach.

A series of six independent repetitive inoculation (evolution) experiments were performed in *E. coli* cells under ethanol stress conditions [14]. Over 1000 generations were performed in a culture experiment to obtain ethanol-tolerant strains that exhibited nearly twofold higher specific growth rate than the parental strain. To understand the phenotypic changes in tolerant strains, their transcriptome was analyzed in a DNA microarray experiment.

Six parallel-evolution experiments were carried out in a 5% (v/v) ethanol stress condition, beginning with strain P (parental strain), using methods similar to those of the experiments in which ethanol was absent. Figure 7.3a shows the changes in specific growth rates during these evolution experiments. The specific growth rates gradually increased, resulting in an approximately twofold increase compared to strain P. The evolved strains (named strains A–F in descending order of the final growth rate) were stored at -80 °C.

To investigate the phenotypic changes that occur during adaptive evolution to ethanol stress, transcriptome analysis was performed on strains P and A–F in M9 medium with or without 5% ethanol. Principal component analysis (PCA) was employed to identify the factors important in the gene expression induced by ethanol and the adaptive evolution to ethanol stress. Figure 7.3b shows the PCA of 14 expression profiles, in which the principal components (PCs) 1 and 2 explain 42% and 14% of the variance in the expression profile, respectively. Data points corresponding to the addition of ethanol (depicted in Figure 7.3 as P5, A5–F5) cluster to the right of the PCA, and those corresponding to absence of ethanol cluster to the left. This indicates that PC1 represents change in the expression level due to ethanol stress, regardless of phenotypic changes produced by adaptive evolution. Furthermore, with or without the addition of ethanol, data for strain P is located at the top of the PCA figure, while data for the evolved strains are located at the bottom. We also note that the expression



Figure 7.3 Experimental evolution of *E. coli* under 5% ethanol stress condition. (a) The time course of specific growth rates in six parallel evolution experiments. The cells obtained after 2500 h of cultivation under ethanol stress were named "strain A–strain F_r " in descending order corresponding to the final growth rate. (b) PCA score plot of

the first and second principle components (PC1 and PC2). P0 and A0–F0 represent the expression profiles of strain P (parental strain) and tolerant strains A–F, respectively, obtained without addition of ethanol. P5 and A5–F5 indicate data obtained in the 5% ethanol condition.

profiles obtained under ethanol stress (P5, A5–F5) are ordered along the PC2 axis in a pattern that roughly corresponds to growth rate under ethanol stress. This result indicates that PC2 represents the change in expression levels that occur during adaptive evolution to ethanol stress in order to achieve the highest possible growth rates. In summary, PCA of gene expression data discriminated between changes that occur in response to ethanol stress and adaptive evolution to the stress.

Changes in gene expression were analyzed in further detail by screening for functional categories in which genes contributing to PC1 or PC2 were found to be statistically over-represented. A functional category groups together genes based on their functions. The functions of gene products were classified using Gene Ontology Annotation [15]. Information on gene regulation was obtained from RegulonDB [16]. To screen functional categories in which orthologous gene sets with different expression levels were significantly overrepresented, we used a hypergeometric distribution method [14].

We found that genes involved in the iron-ion transport and biosynthesis pathways of some amino acids, including tryptophan, histidine, valine, leucine, and isoleucine, were commonly upregulated in tolerant strains, which suggests that the functions of these genes influence ethanol tolerance. One possible explanation for the activation of iron-ion metabolism genes is that the enhancement of ironion uptake is involved in ethanol stress tolerance. However, it may also be caused by the change in the intracellular redox respiratory system, which results in an increased intracellular O_2 or hydrogen peroxide level. Further study is necessary to understand the mechanism of iron-ion transport with regard to ethanol tolerance.

7.5 Analysis of Metabolic State Based on Simulation in a Genome-Scale Model

7.3.1 Introduction

Based on whole-genome data, reconstruction of genome-scale cellular metabolic networks and application of the model of metabolic flux balance analysis (FBA) were performed [17, 18]. FBA is a simple approach to analyze metabolic flux distributions using linear programming (LP) and GSM reaction models. Although GSMs do not include any kinetic information and cannot compute the detailed dynamic behavior of metabolic reactions in a cell, these models enable us to describe the range of possible metabolic states based on constraints defined by stoichiometry of metabolic reactions and transport steps at a steady state. Furthermore, it is possible to develop a solution containing a set of all metabolic fluxes that maximizes an objective function using LP.

Biomass production rate is widely adopted as an objective function. The metabolic profiles calculated by maximization of biomass production can explain the metabolic states obtained experimentally in a number of organisms, which indicates that organisms are capable of maximizing their growth rate by adaptation. Using the appropriate GSM and objective function, FBA can predict the relationships among genotype, environmental condition, and production yields at steady states, and these can be used to improve microbial production [19-21]. In this section, we discuss using GSM and experimental evaluations for *in silico* metabolic simulations of the state of metabolism.

7.3.2

Reconstruction of GSMs and Simulation by FBA

All known reactions in the metabolic network of microorganisms can be collected from public databases and scientific publications. To simulate metabolic fluxes, it is also necessary to obtain information on biomass composition, which is thought to account for consumption of precursors and building blocks of cellular growth. Biomass synthesis is represented by a linear combination of components including amino acids, DNA, RNA, lipids, and cell envelope components. The energy requirement for cellular growth is also considered by taking into account adenosine triphosphate (ATP) consumption.

Simulation by FBA of metabolic fluxes in *C. glutamicum* is described in the following. For a metabolic network consisting of N metabolites and M metabolic reactions, assuming a pseudo-steady state of metabolite concentrations, the stoichiometric balance of metabolic fluxes is represented by the following equation:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{M} S_{ji} \nu_i = b_j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(7.1)

7.3

220 7 Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes



Figure 7.4 Schematic representation of the constraint-based flux balance analysis. The axes represent metabolic fluxes. (a) By applying the steady-state assumption, we obtained the feasible solution space. (b)

When the biomass production flux was used for the objective function, optimal solutions that maximize the objective function could be calculated by linear programming (LP).

where S_{ji} represents the stoichiometric coefficient of metabolite *j* in reaction *i*, and v_i denotes the flux of reaction *i*. The constraints b_j contain substrate uptake and product rates. The upper and lower bounds, α_i and β_i , represent the *i*th flux, which defines constraints for the maximum enzymatic rate, irreversibility of reaction, or constant uptake from the environment.

Figure 7.4 represents the concept of estimation of metabolic states by LP. Based on the steady-state assumption, the possible flux profile is bound within a closed, finite space. However, it is not possible to determine a unique solution for the flux profile by employing only the steady-state assumption. Therefore, to determine the flux profile, the second assumption, namely the maximization or minimization of an objective function, is generally used to obtain a unique solution. The most widely used objective function in FBA is the biomass synthesis flux, which is represented as a linear combination of metabolic fluxes of building blocks and coenzymes required for biomass synthesis. Mathematically, maximization of the biomass synthesis flux is solved by LP, which corresponds to obtaining the optimal solution at one corner in the feasible flux space (Figure 7.4b). For a detailed examination of the processes of reconstruction and experimental verification of GSM reaction models, we studied the FBA of *C. glutamicum* as an example [22].

C. glutamicum is a facultative, aerobic, gram-positive bacterium that can grow on various sugars or organic acids. This organism shows a high-yield production of various amino acids such as glutamate and lysine; therefore, it is widely used for the large-scale production of amino acids. The production of ethanol and organic acids, such as lactate and succinate, by *C. glutamicum* under oxygen deprivation conditions has recently been studied. *C. glutamicum* is an industrially important microbial host used in metabolic engineering. Therefore, it is highly desirable to construct and explore appropriate *in silico* metabolic models that can predict both the cellular state and target compound production of this organism.

A GSM reaction model of C. glutamicum consisting of 277 genes, 502 metabolic reactions, and 423 metabolites was constructed. The reconstructed metabolic models, and *in silico* simulations by these models, were verified experimentally. To construct a GSM of C. glutamicum, a series of experiments were performed under different environmental conditions in which the existence of oxygen varied. Since metabolic states can differ dramatically because of differences in oxygen uptake rate (OUR), this was used as a parameter for changing the metabolic state of C. glutamicum. Culture experiments with five different OURs were performed, and the glucose uptake rate (GUR), OUR, and production rates of CO₂ and organic acids were quantified. The experimental results indicated that under anaerobic and micro-aerobic conditions, that is, under conditions of low OUR/GUR ratios, cells convert most of the glucose to organic acids, such as lactate and succinate, in order to oxidize NADH generated in the glycolytic pathway. As the OUR/GUR ratio increased, the cells changed their metabolism to produce acetate, and a further increase in the OUR/GUR ratio resulted in a metabolic shift to a CO₂ production phase, in which the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle was activated.

The results of the simulation were evaluated using the experimental data summarized in Figure 7.5a. Maximization of the biomass synthesis flux was the objective function used to determine metabolic flux. The production yields of organic acids, CO_2 , and biomass were calculated by the FBA scheme using the experimentally obtained OUR and GUR values as parameters. The predicted yields are shown in Figure 7.5b. Additionally, a scatter plot of carbon yields taken from five sets of experimental and simulation results is shown in Figure 7.5c. The predictions of the GSM showed good agreement with the experimental data (Figure 7.5c).

Constraint-based metabolic simulations are expected to provide quantitative predictions of flux changes caused by genetic modifications. This technique could be applied as an *in silico* screening strategy to identify possible gene manipulations that would improve the productivity and production yield of target products. It could also reduce experimental costs of strain improvements. Indeed, the process has already been applied to the production of several targets used in production of biochemicals and biofuels [23].

7.3.3

Using Prediction of Metabolic State for Design of Metabolic Modification

Using constraint-based metabolic simulations, *in silico* screening of effective gene knockouts for the overproduction of three useful metabolites in the host microorganism was performed. Heterologous metabolic pathways were added in order to produce the target metabolites in the GSM of the host cell. The changes in metabolic fluxes caused by all possible triple reaction knockouts were predicted by assuming the maximization of biomass production for increased production yields of the metabolites [23].

OptKnock, which is a bi-level programming framework for screening knockout targets, is widely used to search for gene knockout candidates [24]. This method utilizes a nested optimization framework to identify the combination of knockout



Figure 7.5 Changes in yield of organic acids, biomass, and carbon dioxide when the OUR/GUR ratio was altered. (a) Experimental results obtained from different OUR/GUR ratios. GUR, OUR, and the production rates of CO_2 , lactate, acetate, succinate, and biomass are represented in mmol gDW⁻¹ h⁻¹. (b) Predictions by FBA simulations. The simulation results were obtained using the GUR and

OUR values from the experimental data. (c) A scatter plot of carbon yield. The *x*-axis corresponds to the result of FBA simulation, while the *y*-axis shows the experimentally observed carbon yield. The carbon yield in five sets of experimental and simulation results are presented. The diagonal line corresponds to y = x.

targets that optimize the production yield of target metabolites. OptKnock is publically available, and can be used to predict metabolic strategies such as gene amplification or reaction additions. However, one disadvantage of the algorithm is that it outputs only one set of knockouts for optimal productivity and an increase of computational cost, whereas other knockout targets, with suboptimal productivities, could be valuable for strain improvement.

To reduce computational time, reduced metabolic models were constructed that provided flux estimations completely identical to those of the original GSM. However, in a multiple knockout simulation, the increase in possible combinations dramatically affects computation time, limiting the number of knockouts that can be simultaneously analyzed. The Fast algorithm of knockout screening can be employed for target production based on shadow price analysis (FastPros) [25]. Using this method, the potential for a given reaction knockout to produce a specific metabolite is evaluated by shadow pricing of the constraint in the FBA. This process generates a screening score to obtain candidate knockout sets. In addition, *in silico* design of non-native metabolite production was developed by recruiting heterologous genes and pathways [26].

7.4 ¹³C-Based Metabolic Flux Analysis of Microbial Processes

7.4.1 Introduction

Metabolism is directly related to cellular activity and target compound productivity. Therefore, accurate evaluation of the metabolic state and regulatory mechanisms is important for metabolic modification and bioprocess development. One effective way to evaluate the metabolic state is to measure the concentration of intracellular metabolites. Recent advances in metabolomics techniques have enabled the measurement and analysis of various metabolites. Additionally, ¹³C-based metabolic flux analysis (¹³C-MFA) can be applied to determine metabolic reaction rates at steady state, and it provides quantitative information regarding metabolic reaction activity and metabolic flow. In this section, we discuss recent techniques and application of bioproductions related to the evaluation of the metabolic state by metabolomics and ¹³C-MFA.

7.4.2 Principles of ¹³C-MFA

¹³C-MFA is a method for determining flux distribution based on experimental data [27, 28]. A schematic of the process is shown in Figure 7.6. For ¹³C-MFA, cells are cultured with labeled substrates. These carbons are taken up and converted through various metabolic pathways before they become the amino acids that constitute cellular proteins. Therefore, flux distribution is reflected in the ¹³C-enrichment of proteinogenic amino acids, which can be measured using mass spectrometry (MS). Generally, a ¹³C-based experiment is conducted at metabolic steady-state conditions to keep cellular metabolism constant. A model representing ¹³C-enrichment of metabolites from an arbitrary flux distribution can be constructed to determine the flux distribution using the measured ¹³C-enrichments. The isotopomer method can be used to model isotopic mass balances. In recent years, elementary metabolite units (EMUs) based on the decomposition of the isotopomer network have been proposed [29], and the sophisticated framework drastically alleviates the computational cost of ¹³C-MFA. Using this method, the flux distribution is estimated so that the measured values for ¹³C-enrichments of amino acids can be sufficiently explained. The ¹³¹³C-MFA software, OpenMebius, was developed to include functions such as automatic generation of metabolic models, simulation of mass distribution vectors, and a method of metabolic flux analysis [30].

224 7 Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes



Flux Distribution

Analysis of ¹³C-enrichments in metabolites


7.4.3 Examples of ¹³C-MFA in Microbial Processes

The coryneform bacterium *C. glutamicum*, which was isolated in the 1950s, is capable of producing a large amount of amino acids, including glutamate and lysine. In glutamate fermentation, there are certain triggers for glutamate overproduction in *C. glutamicum*: the depletion of biotin, which is required for cell growth; the addition of detergent; the addition of lactam antibiotics, such as penicillin; and the temperature upshift of fermentation. If these are triggered, they cause a dramatic change at the branch point of 2-oxoglutarate in the TCA cycle because of a decrease in the activity of the 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex (ODHC) [31].

Here, we describe the use of 13 C-based MFA to examine the glutamate production phase of *C. glutamicum* compared with the growth phase. *C. glutamicum* is cultivated on natural glucose in the growth phase, and then glutamate production is induced by the addition of a detergent (Tween 40) at the mid-log growth phase. The amount of Tween 40 added is precisely adjusted to achieve both stable growth and glutamate production, and a 13 C label is incorporated into proteinogenic amino acids in the production phase. Subsequently, 13 C-labeled glucose is added in the glutamate production phase, and the time course of 13 C labeling patterns of amino acids is measured by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) [32].

The results of ¹³C-MFA in the growth phase and two glutamate production phases are shown in Figure 7.7. The anaplerotic pathways of *C. glutamicum* have the greatest correlation with the glutamate production based on ¹³C-based MFA. As shown in Figure 7.7, reactions from phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) to oxaloacetate catalyzed by phosphoenol-pyruvate carboxylase (PEPc), and from malate to pyruvate catalyzed by malic enzymes, are mainly active in the growth phase. The flux catalyzed by PEPc, which shows a certain extent value in the growth phase, is kept almost constant, despite the fermentation phase changing from cell growth to glutamate production by addition of the detergent.

The flux of the reaction from pyruvate to oxaloacetate catalyzed by pyruvate carboxylase (Pc) is almost zero in the growth phase. Production of glutamate increases with the addition of detergent, and the flux of this reaction, catalyzed by Pc, increases accordingly. The fluxes of the other anaplerotic pathways, from oxaloacetate to PEP catalyzed by phosphoenol-pyruvate carboxykinase (PEPck) and glyoxylate shunt, are almost zero. The flux of Pc proportionally increases with glutamate production; in contrast, the flux of PEPc remains constant throughout fermentation. In order to enhance glutamate production, increased flux of anaplerotic pathways is necessary because the TCA cycle produces two molecules of CO₂ per unit cycle from one molecule acetyl Co-A. Despite this enhancement from the TCA cycle, it does not contribute to increased glutamate production, and an increase of anaplerotic pathway activity is important. This result indicates that, in anaplerotic pathways associated with glutamate overproduction induced



Figure 7.7 In *C. glutamicum*, metabolic fluxes in growth and production phases of two different glutamate production activities. Dotted arrows indicate fluxes for biomass. Left, middle, and right values in boxes indicate fluxes in the growth phase, low production phase, and high production phase, respectively, of two different activities caused by two levels of Tween 40 addition, where glutamate fluxes were 0, 20, and 68, respectively. In this study, the fluxes with backward (exchange) reactions, that is, those in glycolysis, the pentose phosphate pathway, the latter steps of the TCA cycle (succinate to oxaloacetate),

and C1 metabolisms, are shown as net values. Abbreviations: Gly, glycine; Ser, serine; Glu, glutamate; G6P, glucose-6-phosphate; F6P, fructose-6-phosphate; FBP, fructose-1,6-bisphosphate; GAP, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate; PEP, phosphoenolpyruvate; Pyr, pyruvate; Ru5P, ribulose-5-phosphate; R5P, ribose-5-phosphate; Xu5P, xylulose-5phosphate; S7P, sedoheptulose-7-phosphate; E4P, erythrose-4-phosphate; DHAP, dihydroxyacetone phosphate; PGA, phosphoglycerate; AcCoA, acetyl-CoA; IsoCit, isocitrate; aKG, 2oxoglutarate; Suc, succinate; Fum, fumarate; Mal, malate; Oxa, oxaloacetate. by detergent addition, the flux of Pc is most important. We suggest that the flux of Pc is more active as glutamate production increases.

Many studies have been conducted to investigate mechanisms of cellular metabolism using ¹³C-based MFA. For example, the flux distribution between the wild type and the gene-knockout mutants has been compared [33, 34]. Since changes in metabolic fluxes reflect changes in gene expression, protein expression, and metabolite concentration, these varying levels of information must be integrated to understand metabolic regulation. A wild-type E. coli and *pykFA*-knockout mutant, produced in batch culture using glucose as a carbon source, were analyzed for intermediate metabolite concentrations and the fluxes in central carbon metabolism [35]. Glycolytic intermediate metabolites accumulated because of the decrease and feedback inhibition caused by an accumulation of PEP in the pykFA mutant, but the overall flux distribution, including glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway, remained unchanged because of rerouting via anaplerotic reactions such as PEPc and malic enzymes. Usui et al. [36] constructed both genetic deletion and conditional mutant strains of *pgi* and *eno*, in which gene expression could be artificially controlled by the addition of varying amounts of isopropyl β -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG), and they examined how perturbations in gene expression affects fluxes in central metabolic pathways. ¹³C-based metabolic flux analysis of S. cerevisiae [37] and Bacillus subtilis [38] has also been reported.

7.5 Comprehensive Phenotypic Analysis of Genes Associated with Stress Tolerance

7.5.1 Introduction

Microorganisms are widely used in the production of various organic compounds. To improve the productivity of these compounds, genetic perturbations such as gene deletion and overexpression are generally used. However, obtaining the desired strains by genetic perturbations is not easy, since the intracellular interaction networks among genes, proteins, and metabolism are complex, and the response of cells to genetic perturbations is difficult to predict. Thus, it is important to investigate the nature of cellular response to genetic perturbations, including the robustness of cells, in order to develop a systematic method for constructing the desired strains of microorganisms.

In this section, we describe the comprehensive quantitative analysis of growth in *S. cerevisiae* following genetic perturbations, including gene deletion. The effects of genetic perturbations on a phenotype can be comprehensively investigated using the library of yeast strains with a single gene deletion [39]. Cell growth is a representative phenotype, and the effect of genetic perturbation on cellular growth is investigated because it is an essential function. Data on changes in the growth behavior following genetic perturbations is useful for designing a

228 7 Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes

desired strain with both high productivity and sufficient growth rate. The library of deletion strains is cultured individually in the same liquid medium to evaluate the effect of genetic perturbation on the cell growth rate.

7.5.2

Development of a High-Throughput Culture System

Specific growth rates of individual deletion strains are quantified independently in a liquid medium, which allows us to evaluate the effect of genetic perturbation on growth activity. Using this high-throughput cultivation method, the genes whose deletion results in significantly high or low growth rates, and the functional categories in which these genes are significantly overrepresented, can be identified. This screening provides information on the robustness and fragility of cellular functions, which is fundamental for state analysis and systematic gene manipulation.

7.5.3

Calculation of Specific Growth Rate

The optical density (OD) of the samples measured using the microplate reader is produced as follows. The OD of blank wells, that is, wells containing only the medium, is subtracted from the OD of the experimental samples. Since there is a small systematic error in the growth rate measurements in different plates, normalization must be carried out. In order to compare the specific growth rates of the deletion and overexpression strains cultured in different plates, specific growth rates are normalized with the respective control deletion strains cultured in each plate using the following formula:

$$\mu_{i,j}' = \mu_{i,j} \cdot \left(\frac{\mu_{\rm con}}{\overline{\mu}_{\rm con,j}}\right) \tag{7.2}$$

where $\mu_{i,j}$ is the specific growth rate of strain *i* in plate *j*, $\overline{\mu}_{con,j}$ is the mean specific growth rate of the standard strain from four wells in plate *j*, μ_{con} is the median of all specific growth rates of the standard strain in all inspected plates, and $\mu'_{i,j}$ is the normalized specific growth rate.

7.5.4

Results of Comprehensive Analysis of Yeast Cells Under Conditions of High Osmotic Pressure and High Ethanol Concentration

Here, we describe the findings of the comprehensive analysis of yeast cells under conditions of high osmotic pressure and high ethanol [40]. Specific growth rates of deletion strains under ethanol and osmotic stress conditions (high NaCl concentration) are shown in Figure 7.8, which shows specific sensitivity under ethanol stress or osmotic stress conditions (high NaCl concentration) following gene deletion.



Figure 7.8 Sensitivity analysis of ethanol and osmotic stress conditions. Red plots indicate specific growth rate of standard strain; dark blue plots indicate specific growth rate of gene deletion strain, which does not show sensitivity under non-stress condition; light blue plots indicate specific growth rate of

gene deletion strain, which shows sensitivity even under non-stress condition. Blue line denotes the threshold value of growth sensitivity under stress conditions, and the red line the threshold value of growth tolerance under stress conditions.

In the osmo-specific sensitive region, genes related to the high osmolality glycerol (HOG) and glycerol synthetic pathways were found. Gene deletion strains are known to be osmo-sensitive. In the ethanol-specific sensitive region, genes that were related to the tryptophan synthetic pathway (*TRP*) were found. Additionally, in strains in which the *TRP* gene was overexpressed, growth in osmotic stress conditions was found to be similar to that of the wild-type strain. In contrast, strains overexpressing the *TRP* gene showed growth under ethanol stress conditions that was superior to that of the wild-type strain. These results suggest that the *TRP* gene is specifically important to the ethanol stress condition.

There are many common strains that show both osmotic and ethanol sensitivity. However, many of them show sensitivity under normal culture conditions without any additional stress. Thus, they are known as the control sensitivity strain. When these control sensitive strains were excluded, the number of strains sensitive to both stress conditions decreased, and this number was lower than that of the ethanol- or osmo-specific sensitive strains. High-throughput culture systems, as well as the evaluation of the gene deletion library collections sensitivity under stress conditions, enables us to perform comprehensive analyses of the phenotype changes caused by gene deletion or overexpression (phenome) and evaluation of

230 7 Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes

the efficiency in the selection of candidate genes from transcriptome data by comparison with phenome data.

7.5.5

Identification of Genes Conferring Desirable Phenotypes Based on Integration with the Microarray Analysis Method

As described in Section 7.1, the integrated method of transcriptome and compressive phenotypic analysis facilitates the screening of genes that are important under stress conditions. In strains with different phenotypes, genes related to a target phenotype are identified from those that exhibit different levels of expression or dynamics [4, 7, 8, 41].

First, identification of candidate genes by transcriptome analysis is performed by comparative transcriptome analysis between strains of different phenotypes, and further screening is performed by sensitivity analysis based on the library of gene deletion mutants. For example, Hirasawa et al. [42] used microarrays to quantify gene expression profiles in two lactate-producing S. cerevisiae strains and a non-lactate-producing strain, and compared these profile differences with the lactate productivity of single-gene deletion strains. About 400 genes were upregulated or downregulated in the two lactate-producing strains in comparison with the non-lactate-producing strain, suggesting that these particular genes were involved in lactate production. In order to verify this hypothesis, the human lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) gene was introduced into the collection of yeast with a single gene deletion, and lactate production was evaluated. Genes for which deletion increases or decreases lactate productivity are significantly enriched among the collection of genes whose expression levels are commonly upregulated or downregulated in the lactate-producing strains. Extraction of genes whose expression levels differ between strains of different phenotypes is an effective method for identifying candidate genes for manipulation toward desired phenotypes.

7.6

Multi-Omics Analysis and Data Integration

Recent developments in analytical technologies have enabled the comprehensive analysis of various cellular components, such as the genome, proteome, metabolome, and fluxome. Several studies employ integrative analyses using multi-omics data.

Lee *et al.* [43] performed *in silico* simulations with a GSM reaction model. In many cases, after identification of the candidate genes, deletion and overexpression analyses are performed to evaluate the effect of these genes on the target phenotype. In order to increase threonine production in *E. coli*, the importance of optimizing the expression of the candidate genes using *in silico* simulation based on transcriptome data was reported.

Other studies have reported successful breeding using integration of transcriptome data with genomic information, such as metabolome and metabolic flux analysis [44], transcription factor binding sites [45], or metabolite profiles. Integrative analyses inform microbial state analysis and molecular breeding, providing data that cannot be extracted from transcriptome data alone. Recent rapid development of analytical technology will allow us to analyze multi-omics data with ease, and integrative analysis of these data with transcriptome data will clarify the molecular mechanisms of superior strains and accelerate molecular breeding.

Yoshikawa et al. studied the integration of transcriptome and metabolome in cyanobacteria [46]. Cyanobacteria have been analyzed as a model organism for the study of photosynthesis. As a sustainable energy resource - because of their organic material production capacity using light energy and CO₂ as a carbon source - cyanobacteria offer a next-generation microbial cell for bioproduction. Therefore, it is important for metabolic engineering, as well as for other scientific applications, to understand the cellular metabolism of cyanobacteria. To shed light on the central metabolism of cyanobacteria, transcriptomic and metabolomic analyses of a glucose-tolerant strain of the cyanobacterium, Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803 (cultured under autotrophic and mixotrophic conditions), were performed. Photoheterotrophic conditions were created by the addition of glucose and the photosynthesis inhibitor atrazine, and the effect of atrazine on central metabolism was investigated. Comparable transcriptomic and metabolomic changes were measured under mixotrophic and photoheterotrophic conditions and under autotrophic conditions. Metabolomic and transcriptomic data indicated the activation of the oxidative pentose phosphate pathway and glycolysis under mixotrophic and photoheterotrophic conditions. Oxidative pentose phosphate pathways activate gene expression and metabolism under photoheterotrophic conditions. Under the mixotrophic condition, a similar tendency was observed and pools of metabolites associated with glycolysis were increased. Additionally, GSM of cyanobacteria can provide a good understanding of metabolism change under different trophic conditions [47].

Recently, multi-omics integration analysis was performed with ¹³C flux analysis. Compared with changes in transcriptome and metabolome data in the entire central carbon metabolism, fluxes under heterotrophic and mixotrophic conditions were significantly different. This suggests that a few key genes may control metabolic fluxes and have an important role in control of metabolic flows [48]. In the future, by comparative analysis of omics data, we expect to find new controls for metabolic pathways as a system.

7.7 Future Aspects for Developing the Field

In this section, we describe the integration of omics data for the development of bioproduction processes. An overview of the interaction of omics technologies is shown in Figure 7.9. GSMs of microorganisms can be constructed, and

232 7 Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes



Figure 7.9 Interactions between omics technologies and future aspects for developing the field.

the metabolic flux profiles well predicted, under given environmental conditions. Prediction by GSMs enables us to design an *in silico* metabolic pathway modification strategy for increasing productivity and production yield of target products in bioprocesses. Recently, production yield of 3-hydroxypropionate from glycerol by *E. coli* was realized, and the concept was proved experimentally [49]. Transcriptome and ¹³C-MFA data are particularly important for evaluating and upgrading the prediction accuracy of GSMs.

¹³C-MFA is important for monitoring cellular performance of genetically modified cells. By comparison with fluxes of parental and recombinant microorganisms, the impact of the obtained genetic modification is effectively evaluated. In the future, in addition to stoichiometric analysis, rate-limiting step identification technology will be established. Metabolic control analysis is a systematic way to identify the rate-limiting step or the largest responsibility analysis in the pathway [50]. Metabolomics and proteomics data become important for analyzing the rate-limiting step in a pathway, based on the kinetic model and thermodynamics information of metabolism. Recently, a new method of ensemble modeling [51] was presented for this specific purpose.

Identification of factors conferring stress tolerance is a complicated process, as previously described. Where a rational approach is not effective, omics science with a random approach can be a powerful tool for inverse metabolic engineering. A comparative approach, combining transcriptomics with phenotypic analysis of the library of gene deletion mutants, produces results that can identify important genes. Recent progress in next-generation sequencing technologies has led to substantial progress in evolution engineering. Data on important mutations in the genome that confer phenotypic changes is likely to be found as a result. In repetitive inoculation experiments conducted under stress conditions, changes in the genome, as well as transcriptome, proteome, metabolome, and ¹³C-based fluxome, will be mapped to changes in phenotype, such as an increase in growth rate under conditions of stress. Therefore, inverse engineering technology will enable us to identify important factors that confer superior phenotypes to cells and improve our understanding of industrially useful microorganisms.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) from the Japanese Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) [24246134 to H.S.], and a Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists (A) from JSPS [23680030 to C.F.].

References

- Bailey, J.E., Sburlati, A., Hatzimanikatis, V., Lee, K., Renner, W.A., and Tsai, P.S. (2002) Inverse metabolic engineering: A strategy for directed genetic engineering of useful phenotypes. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 79, 568–579.
- 2 Bro, C. and Nielsen, J. (2004) Impact of 'ome' analyses on inverse metabolic engineering. *Metab. Eng.*, 6, 204–211.
- 3 Ohnishi, J., Mitsuhashi, S., Hayashi, M., Ando, S., Yokoi, H., Ochiai, K., and Ikeda, M. (2002) A novel methodology employing *Corynebacterium glutamicum* genome information to generate a new L-lysine-producing mutant. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 58, 217–223.
- 4 Bro, C., Knudsen, S., Regenberg, B., Olsson, L., and Nielsen, J. (2005) Improvement of galactose uptake in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* through overexpression of phosphoglucomutase: Example of transcript analysis as a tool in inverse metabolic engineering. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **71**, 6465–6472.
- 5 Gill, R.T., Wildt, S., Ziesman, S., and Stephanopoulos, G. (2002) Genome-wide screening for trait conferring genes using DNA microarray. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, **99**, 7033–7038.
- 6 Imaizumi, A., Takikawa, R., Koseki, C., Usuda, Y., Yasueda, H., Kojima, H.,

Matsui, K., and Sugimoto, S. (2005) Improved production of L-lysine by disruption of stationary phase-specific *rmf* gene in *Escherichia coli. J. Biotechnol.*, **117**, 111–118.

- 7 Hirasawa, T., Nakakura, Y., Yoshikawa, K., Ashitani, K., Nagahisa, K., Furusawa, C., Katakura, Y., Shimizu, H., and Shioya, S. (2006) Comparative analysis of transcriptional responses to saline stress in the laboratory and brewing strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* with DNA microarray. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 70, 346–357.
- 8 Hirasawa, T., Yoshikawa, Y., Nakakura, Y., Nagahisa, K., Furusawa, C., Katakura, Y., and Shioya, S. (2007) Identification of target genes conferring ethanol stress-tolerance to yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* based on DNA microarray data analysis. J. Biotechnol., 131, 33–44.
- 9 Kanaya, S., Kinouchi, M., Abe, T., Kudo, Y., Yamada, Y., Nishi, T., Mori, H., and Ikemura, Y. (2001) Analysis of codon usage diversity of bacterial genes with a self-organizing map (SOM): Characterization of horizontally transferred genes with emphasis on the *E. coli* O157 genome. *Gene*, **276**, 89–99.
- Kohonen, T. (1998) The self-organizing map. *Neurocomputing*, 21, 1-6.

- 11 Eisen, M.B., Spellman, P.T., Brown, P.O., and Botstein, D. (1998) Cluster analysis and display of genome-wide expression patterns. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 95, 14863-14868.
- 12 Ibarra, R.U., Edwards, J.S., and Palsson, B.O. (2002) Escherichia coli K-12 undergoes adaptive evolution to achieve in silico predicted optimal growth. Nature, 420, 186-197.
- **13** Sauer, U. (2001) Evolutionary engineering of industrially important microbial phenotypes. Adv. Biochem. Eng./Biotechnol., 73, 130-169.
- 14 Horinouchi, T., Tamaoka, K., Furusawa, C., Hirasawa, T., Ono, N., Suzuki, S., Yomo, T., and Shimizu, H. (2010) Transcriptome analyses of parallel evolved Escherichia coli strains under ethanol stress. BMC Geonomics, 11, 579.
- 15 Barrell, D., Dimmer, E., Huntley, R.P., Binns, D., O'Donovan, C., and Apweiler, R. (2009) The GOA database in 2009: An integrated Gene Ontology Annotation resource. Nucleic Acids Res., 37, D396-D403.
- 16 Gama-Castro, S., Jiménez-Jacinto, V., Peralta-Gil, M., Santos-Zavaleta, A., Peñaloza-Spinola, M.I., Contreras-Moreira, B., Segura-Salazar, J., Muñiz-Rascado, L., Martínez-Flores, I., Salgado, H., Bonavides-Martínez, C., Abreu-Goodger, C., Rodríguez-Penagos, C., Miranda-Ríos, J., Morett, E., Merino, E., Huerta, A.M., Treviño-Quintanilla, L., and Collado-Vides, J. (2008) RegulonDB (version 6.0), gene regulation model of Escherichia coli K-12 beyond transcription, active (experimental) annotated promoters and Textpresso navigation. Nucleic Acids Res., 36, D120-D124.
- 17 Feist, A.M., Scholten, J.C., Palsson, B.O., Brockman, F.J., and Ideker, T. (2006) Modeling methanogenesis with a genome-scale metabolic reconstruction of 29 Antoniewicz, M.R., Kelleher, J.K., and Methanosarcina barkeri. Mol. Syst. Biol., 2, 2006.0004.
- 18 Palsson, B.O. (2006) Systems Biology: Properties of Reconstructed Networks, Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 19 Alper, H., Jin, Y.S., Moxley, J.F., and Stephanopoulos, G. (2005) Identifying

gene targets for the metabolic engineering of lycopene biosynthesis in Escherichia coli. Metab. Eng., 7, 155-164.

- 20 Lee, S.J., Lee, D.Y., Kim, T.Y., Kim, B.H., Lee, J., and Lee, S.Y. (2005) Metabolic engineering of Escherichia coli for enhanced production of succinic acid, based on genome comparison and in silico gene knockout simulation. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 71, 7880-7887.
- 21 Matsuda, F., Furusawa, C., Kondo, T., Ishii, J., Shimizu, H., and Kondo, A. (2011) Engineering strategy of yeast metabolism for higher alcohol production. Microb. Cell Fact., 8, 70.
- 22 Shinfuku, Y., Sorpitiporn, N., Sono, M., Furusawa, C., Hirasawa, T., and Shimizu, H. (2009) Development and experimental verification of a genome-scale metabolic model for Corynebacterium glutamicum. Microb. Cell Fact., 8, 43.
- 23 Ohno, S., Furusawa, C., and Shimizu, H. (2013) In silico screening of triple reaction knockout Escherichia coli strains for overproduction of useful metabolites. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 115, 221-228.
- 24 Burgard, A.P., Pharkya, P., and Maranas, C.D. (2003) Optknock: A bilevel programming framework for identifying gene knockout strategies for microbial strain optimization. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 84, 647-657.
- 25 Ohno, S., Shimizu, H., and Furusawa, C. (2013) FastPros: Screening of reaction knockout strategies for metabolic engineering. Bioinformatics, 30, 981-987.
- 26 Chatsurachai, S., Furusawa, C., and Shimizu, H. (2012) An in silico platform for heterologous pathway design to produce non-native metabolites. BMC Bioinf., 13, 93.
- 27 Wiechert, W. (2001) ¹³C metabolic flux analysis. Metab. Eng., 3, 195-206.
- 28 Wittmann, C. (2007) Fluxome analysis using GC-MS. Microb. Cell Fact., 6, 6.
- Stephanopoulos, G. (2007) Elementary metabolite units (EMU): A novel framework for modeling isotopic distributions. Metab. Eng., 9, 68-86.
- 30 Kajihata, S., Furusawa, C., Matsuda, F., and Shimizu, H. (2014) OpenMebius: An open source software for isotopically

nonstationary ¹³C-based metabolic flux analysis. *Biomed Res. Int.*, **2014**, 627014.

- 31 Kawahara, Y., Takahashi-Fuke, K., Shimizu, E., Nakamatsu, T., and Nakamori, S. (1997) Relationship between the glutamate production and the activity of 2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase in *Brevibacterium lactofermentum. Biosci. Biotechnol., Biochem.*, 61, 1109–1112.
- 32 Shirai, T., Fujimura, K., Furusawa, C., Nagahisa, K., Shioya, S., and Shimizu, H. (2007) Study on roles of anaplerotic pathways in glutamate overproduction of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* by metabolic flux analysis. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 6, 19.
- 33 Canonaco, F., Hess, T.A., Heri, S., Wang, T., Szyperski, T., and Sauer, U. (2001) Metabolic flux response to phosphoglucose isomerase knock-out in *Escherichia coli* and impact of overexpression of the soluble transhydrogenase *UdhA. FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, 204, 247–252.
- 34 Shimizu, K. (2004) Metabolic flux analysis based on ¹³C-labeling experiments and integration of the information with gene and protein expression patterns. *Adv. Biochem. Eng./Biotechnol.*, 91, 1–49.
- 35 Toya, Y., Ishii, N., Nakahigashi, K., Hirasawa, T., Soga, T., Tomita, M., and Shimizu, K. (2010) ¹³C-metabolic flux analysis for batch culture of *Escherichia coli* and its *Pyk* and *Pgi* gene knockout mutants based on mass isotopomer distribution of intracellular metabolites. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **26**, 975–992.
- 36 Usui, Y., Hirasawa, T., Furusawa, C., Shirai, T., Yamamoto, N., Mori, H., and Shimizu, H. (2012) Investigating the effects of perturbations to *pgi* and *eno* gene expression on central carbon metabolism in *Escherichia coli* using ¹³C metabolic flux analysis. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, **11**, 87.
- 37 Frick, O. and Wittmann, C. (2005) Characterization of the metabolic shift between oxidative and fermentative growth in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by comparative ¹³C flux analysis. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, **4**, 30.
- 38 Toya, Y., Hirasawa, T., Morimoto, T., Masuda, K., Kageyama, Y., Ozaki, K., Ogasawara, N., and Shimizu, H.

(2014) ¹³C-Metabolic flux analysis in heterologous cellulase production by *Bacillus subtilis* genome-reduced strain. *J. Biotechnol.*, **179**, 42–49.

- 39 Winzeler, E.A., Shoemaker, D.D., Astromoff, A. *et al.* (1999) Functional characterization of the *S. cerevisiae* genome by gene deletion and parallel analysis. *Science*, 285, 901–906.
- 40 Yoshikawa, K., Tanaka, T., Furusawa, C., Nagahisa, K., Hirasawa, T., and Shimizu, H. (2009) Comprehensive phenotypic analysis for identification of genes affecting growth under ethanol stress in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res.*, 9, 32–44.
- 41 Ookubo, A., Hirasawa, T., Yoshikawa, K., Nagahisa, K., Furusawa, C., and Shimizu, H. (2008) Improvement of L-lactate production by CYB2 gene disruption in a recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain under low pH condition. *Biosci. Biotechnol., Biochem.*, **72**, 3063–3066.
- 42 Hirasawa, T., Ookubo, A., Yoshikawa, K., Nagahisa, K., Furusawa, C., Sawai, H., and Shimizu, H. (2009) Investigating the effectiveness of DNA microarray analysis for identifying the genes involved in L-lactate production by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 84, 1149–1159.
- 43 Lee, K.H., Park, J.H., Kim, T.Y., Kim, H.U., and Lee, S.Y. (2007) Systems metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for L-threonine production. *Mol. Syst. Biol.*, 3, 149.
- 44 Wisselink, H.W., Toirkens, M.J., del Rosario Franco Berriel, M., Winkler, A.A., van Dijken, J.P., Pronk, J.T., and van Maris, A.J. (2007) Engineering of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for efficient anaerobic alcoholic fermentation of L-arabinose. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 73, 4881–4891.
- 45 Pandey, G., Yoshikawa, K., Hirasawa, T., Nagahisa, K., Katakura, Y., Furusawa, C., Shimizu, H., and Shioya, S. (2007) Extracting the hidden features in saline osmotic tolerance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* from DNA microarray data using the self-organizing map: Biosynthesis of amino acids. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 75, 415–426.

236 7 Omics-Integrated Approach for Metabolic State Analysis of Microbial Processes

- 46 Yoshikawa, K., Hirasawa, T., Ogawa, K., Hidaka, Y., Nakajima, T., Furusawa, C., and Shimizu, H. (2013) Integrated transcriptomic and metabolomic analysis of the central metabolism of *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 under different trophic conditions. *Biotechnol. J.*, 8, 571–580.
- 47 Yoshikawa, K., Kojima, Y., Nakajima, T., Furusawa, C., Hirasawa, T., and Shimizu, H. (2011) Reconstruction and verification of a genome-scale metabolic model for *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **92**, 347–358.
- 48 Nakajima, T., Kajihata, S., Yoshikawa, K., Matsuda, F., Furusawa, C., Hirasawa, T., and Shimizu, H. (2014) Integrated metabolic flux and omics analysis of *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 under

mixotrophic and photoheterotrophic conditions. *Plant Cell Physiol.*, **55**, 1605–1612.

- 49 Tokuyama, K., Ohno, S., Yoshikawa, K., Hirasawa, T., Tanaka, S., Furusawa, C., and Shimizu, H. (2014) Increased 3-hydroxypropionic acid production from glycerol, by modification of central metabolism in *Escherichia coli. Microb. Cell Fact.*, **13**, 64.
- 50 Kacser, H. and Burns, J.A. (1973) The control of flux. *Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol.*, 27, 65-104.
- 51 Contador, C.A., Rizk, M.L., Asenjo, J.A., and Liao, J.C. (2009) Ensemble modeling for strain development of L-lysineproducing *Escherichia coli*. *Metab. Eng.*, 11, 221–233.

Kazuyuki Shimizu, Hiroshi Shimizu, and Toshiomi Yoshida

8.1 Introduction

Valuable microbial production processes have been developed [1] with key issues in process operation involving medium optimization and control of the environmental conditions in the culture. In particular, the prime concern is the maintenance of the substrate concentration at an appropriate level to avoid by-product formation caused by overflow metabolism resulting from carbon catabolite repression. The conventional approach is to employ a fed-batch cultivation strategy. Another approach is continuous culture, which allows the carbon source concentration to be held constant. Continuous culture is also attractive for post-genomic studies, which require reliable and biologically homogeneous datasets to study global transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics [2].

The ability to maintain fermentation processes at their optimal states precisely and automatically is of considerable importance to many fermentation industries, because it allows them to reduce their production costs and increase yield and productivity, while maintaining the quality of the metabolic products. However, the control system design of bioprocesses is not straightforward because of the following:

- 1) Significant model uncertainty
- 2) The time-varying and nonlinear nature of these processes
- 3) Lack of reliable sensors that can detect the physiological state of cells
- 4) Slow response with slow dynamics of these systems.

In order to cope with the first problem, the control system design must be robust in the face of model uncertainties with disturbance rejection. For the second problem, adaptive control strategies with online tracking of the system's state should be considered. As for the third problem, observers and/or online filtering/estimation need to be incorporated into online measurements. For the

fourth problem, a predictive control strategy and/or combined use of offline data should be considered [3, 4].

Although advanced and sophisticated monitoring and control strategies have been investigated, and their power and usefulness has been demonstrated by computer simulation and by small-scale laboratory experiments in academia, their practical applications are quite limited. Instead, primitive, simple control systems with standard measurements of temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen (DO) tension, and possibly carbon dioxide (CO₂) and O₂ concentrations in the off-gas in the vent line are commonly employed in industrial manufacturing processes [5].

Tight and effective control systems contribute significantly to improving performance in industrial fermentation; therefore, it is important to fill the gap between theoretical approaches and their implementation in practice. In other words, there is still enormous potential for significant improvement in the performance of manufacturing processes. Tight control depends on the extent to which we understand specific fermentation processes, which, unlike physical and chemical processes, depend on living organisms with sophisticated dynamics. Moreover, maloperations, contamination, or other failures must be prevented in industrial fermentation, with stringent safety requirements and operational constraints imposed in food and pharmaceutical production processes.

In the present chapter, therefore, comprehensive control system design is explained with examples of applications. The chapter is subdivided into topics such as online monitoring, estimation, control system design, and experimental implementation.

8.2

Monitoring

Accurate monitoring of the cell's physiological state using available online sensors for tight control of fermentation processes is a basic requirement [5-10]. The problem with bioprocess monitoring is a shortage of online sensors that can directly measure important state variables for efficient bioprocess control [5]. Therefore, several software sensors have also been developed to overcome the above issues [5, 11, 12].

8.2.1 Online Measurements

Typical online measurements in industrial fermentation are temperature, pO_2 , fermentor head pressure, agitation rate, and possibly CO_2 and O_2 concentrations in the off-gas in the vent line [13, 14]. The volume or mole fraction of CO_2 and O_2 can be determined by infrared sensors, paramagnetic sensors, or mass spectrometers [15–18]. A mass spectrometer can also detect ethanol and methanol concentrations in the off-gas, and thus can be used for monitoring and control of yeast cultivation.

In many cases, information on biomass concentration (or even cell viability) is important to understand the physiological state and to control fermentation processes. Online measurements of the biomass concentration may be made by determining the optical density (OD) of a culture by means of a laser light transmission and backscattering technique (using a turbidimeter) [19]. Other than OD, dielectric spectroscopy, near-infrared (NIR) spectroscopy, Raman spectroscopy, *in situ* microscopy, and acoustic resonance densitometry may be used to monitor viable cell density [20–28].

The online information obtained by the above sensors is usually noisecontaminated, and therefore some sort of filtering is required, with the quality of the online data evaluated by the signal-to-noise (S/N) ratio. This value is significantly affected by operating conditions such as the rotating speed of the stirrer.

8.2.2

Filtering, Online Estimation, and Software Sensors

The ability to measure the primary process variables such as biomass, substrate, and metabolite concentrations is critical for efficient operation and tight control of bioprocesses at their optimal state. However, direct online measurements of such state variables are limited, or in many cases are not available in practice, because of limitations of the cheap and reliable sensors. Therefore, it is important to develop the so-called software sensors that can estimate primary state variables from available online data, where model uncertainty and the nonlinear, time-varying nature of the system are taken into consideration [11, 12, 29–33].

In order to monitor the physiological state of cells, specific rates such as the specific growth rate μ , the specific substrate consumption rate ν , and the specific metabolite production rate ρ should be estimated based on the online measured variables. However, the estimated values of these specific rates are highly sensitive to noise, in general. When the specific growth rate is estimated from biomass concentrations measured by a laser turbidimeter, the online measured values are usually corrupted by noise, which prevents accurate estimation. This problem may be overcome to some extent by model-based observers [34] or by filtering techniques such as the Kalman filter. The biomass concentration can be also estimated from the CO₂ evolution rate (CER) and oxygen uptake rate (OUR) computed from data from a CO₂/O₂ gas analyzer, and the base consumption rate, where cumulative data may be used to reduce the effect of noise [35]. A simple feed-forward-type artificial neural network (ANN) may also be applied to estimate the biomass concentration for the repeated batch operations [35].

8.2.3

Algorithm of Extended Kalman Filter and Its Application to Online Estimation of Specific Rates

In the case where not enough online information is available, an appropriate model may be considered based on mass balances with stoichiometric constraints



Figure 8.1 Estimation of specific rates using the extended Kalman filter (EKF).

for the development of extended Kalman filters (EKFs). EKFs are one-step predictors with extrapolation from a model and correction based on the observed data, where at each time point when new data becomes available the EKF determines a new estimate from the preceding step, model prediction, and the value obtained by the newly measured data. The new estimate is a weighted average of such data, with the EKF determining the weights based on the reliabilities that are attributed to the measured value, measurement uncertainties, model equations employed, and least estimate based on measurement uncertainty. A schematic diagram of the Kalman filter algorithm is shown in Figure 8.1.

Dynamics of nonlinear systems are generally represented as follows:

$$\mathbf{x}(t+1) = \mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}(t), \mathbf{u}(t)) + \mathbf{G}(\mathbf{x}(t), \mathbf{u}(t))\mathbf{v}(t)$$
(8.1)

$$\mathbf{y}(t) = \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{x}(t)) + \mathbf{w}(t) \tag{8.2}$$

where $\mathbf{x}(t)$, $\mathbf{u}(t)$, and $\mathbf{y}(t)$ are the state, input, and measured vectors, respectively, at time *t*. The variables $\mathbf{v}(t)$ and $\mathbf{w}(t)$ are white noise vectors. The covariance matrices of $\mathbf{v}(t)$ and $\mathbf{w}(t)$ are represented as follows:

$$E[\mathbf{v}(t)\mathbf{v}(\tau)^{T}] = \mathbf{Q}(t), \quad t = \tau$$

= 0, $t \neq \tau$ (8.3)

$$E[\mathbf{w}(t)\mathbf{w}(\tau)^{T}] = \mathbf{R}(t), \quad t = \tau$$

= 0, $t \neq \tau$ (8.4)

and $\mathbf{v}(t)$ and $\mathbf{w}(t)$ are not correlated with each other at any time *t* as

$$E[\mathbf{v}(t)\mathbf{w}(t)^{T}] = \mathbf{0}$$
(8.5)

f(**x**(*t*),**u**(*t*)), **G**(**x**(*t*),**u**(*t*)), and **h**(**x**(*t*)) are nonlinear vector functions, and $E[\cdot]$ indicates the expectation values.

The algorithm of the EKF is presented as in Equations (8.6-8.15).

1) Initial condition of one-step prediction

 $\hat{\mathbf{x}}(0/-1) = \mathbf{x}_0$ initial state estimation (8.6)

$$\mathbf{P}(0/-1) = \mathbf{P}_0$$
 initial state covariance matrix of estimation errors (8.7)

2) Estimation by filtering at time (*t*) with data collected at time (t - 1)

$$\widehat{\mathbf{x}}(t/t) = \widehat{\mathbf{x}}(t/t - 1) + \mathbf{L}(t)[\mathbf{y}(t) - \mathbf{h}(\widehat{\mathbf{x}}(t/t - 1))]$$
(8.8)

8.2 Monitoring 241

3) Kalman gain

$$\mathbf{L}(t) = \widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t - 1)\mathbf{C}(t)^{T} [\mathbf{C}(t)\widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t - 1)\mathbf{C}(t)^{T} + \mathbf{R}(t)]^{-1}$$
(8.9)

4) Predicted covariance matrix to filter estimation errors

$$\widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t) = \widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t-1) - \widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t-1)\mathbf{C}(t)^{T}$$

$$[\mathbf{C}(t)\widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t-1)\mathbf{C}(t)^{T} + \mathbf{R}(t)]^{-1}\mathbf{C}(t)\widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t-1)$$
(8.10)

5) One-step prediction of state vector at time (t + 1) with data collected at time t

$$\widehat{\mathbf{x}}(t+1/t) = \mathbf{f}(\widehat{\mathbf{x}}(t/t), \mathbf{u}(t))$$
(8.11)

6) Covariance matrix of one-step prediction errors

$$\widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t+1/t) = \mathbf{A}(t)\widehat{\mathbf{P}}(t/t)\mathbf{A}(t)^{T} + \mathbf{B}(t)\mathbf{Q}(t)\mathbf{B}(t)^{T}$$
(8.12)

where

$$\mathbf{A}(t) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}(\hat{\mathbf{x}}(t/t), \mathbf{u}(t))}{\partial \mathbf{x}}$$
(8.13)

$$\mathbf{B}(t) = \mathbf{G}(\hat{\mathbf{x}}(t/t), \mathbf{u}(t)) \tag{8.14}$$

$$\mathbf{C}(t) = \frac{\partial \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{x}(t/t-1))}{\partial \mathbf{x}}$$
(8.15)

Figure 8.2a,b shows the estimates of the specific growth rate, μ , cell concentration *X*, the specific glucose consumption rate v_g , and glucose concentration *S*



Figure 8.2 Estimates using a modification of the extended Kalman filter. (a) Cell concentration and specific growth rate. (b) Glucose concentration and specific glucose

consumption rate. The bottom sections show the directly calculated values (the differences between the current and the last data).

determined by EKF. The cell concentration and glucose concentration are monitored by an online turbidimeter and an enzyme sensor, respectively. Random noise included in the measured cell and glucose concentrations was removed successfully. As a result, the specific growth and specific glucose uptake rates (μ and v_g) were accurately estimated. For comparison, the calculated values of μ and v_g by simple subtraction of the current from the last data are also shown. The estimated values of μ and v_g , obtained by applying the EKF are clearly much more accurate.

EKF can be applied to many bioprocesses in practice. For example, in lysine production processes, the dynamic behaviors of cell growth and substrate consumption can be represented by a dynamic model in which the specific growth rate and specific glucose consumption rate can be estimated simultaneously by eliminating noise [36]. This information can also be used for state recognition in lysine production.

Note that specific rates such as μ , ν , and ρ are based on mass balances. When a large quantity of data is available, data-driven models with artificial intelligence (AI) such as ANNs and fuzzy inference, for example, may be considered.

8.3 Bioprocess Control

For an efficient control system design, the objective of fermentation must be clear, and then input and output variables must be carefully chosen, with online measurements critical to controlling quality. Moreover, appropriate control variables must also be carefully monitored. The primary control variable may be the substrate feeding rate in a fed-batch culture. In typical batch and fed-batch cultivations, the DO concentration decreases with time in accordance with an increase in biomass concentration, and the DO concentration can be controlled by either the aeration rate or the rotational speed of the stirrer, and therefore, some adaptive type of controller may be designed [37].

Open-loop control system should be considered only if accurate information about the critical state variables is not available. For example, a predetermined substrate feeding rate, such as an exponential feeding rate, may be applied with respect to time in fed-batch cultures. However, it must be noted that even minor deviations from the nominal set value during the initial period of cultivation may lead to large deviations at the end of the exponential growth phase. Closed-loop or feedback control systems can typically be applied to temperature and pH control, and the base feeding rate can also be measured by monitoring the balance (weight) of the feed tank or the pump speed.

8.3.1

Control of Fed-Batch Culture

The most important task for the control system of a bioreactor is the appropriate control of substrate feeding rate. That is, if substrate uptake exceeds some threshold value, overflow metabolism occurs, with acetate produced in *Escherichia coli* cultures and ethanol in yeast cultures. As these by-products accumulate to higher levels, cell growth is inhibited and the yield is decreased. Therefore, the substrate feeding rate must be carefully controlled to maintain the highest substrate uptake rate without overflow fermentation. Since metabolism changes with overflow metabolism [38, 39], the threshold value may be detected by available online sensors. For example, OUR can be used to detect the substrate feeding rate [40–43] because the specific OUR reaches an apparent maximum just prior to the onset of acetate formation by *E. coli* [44]. Moreover, the ethanol concentration can be directly measured by an infrared sensor in the vent line to correct the predetermined feeding rate with an adaptive controller [45].

Conventional approaches to fed-batch cultures are feedback control with a DOstat and a pH-stat, making use of signal changes in response to nutrient starvation. The main purpose of a fed-batch culture is to control the substrate concentration at a low level, by manipulating the substrate feeding rate, so that by-product formation is avoided or minimized. Konstantinov *et al.* [46] devised a modelindependent two-loop control structure with a balanced DO-stat for phenylalanine production by recombinant *E. coli*. Ferreira *et al.* [47] reported a fed-batch culture of *Pichia pastoris* expressing a single-chain antibody fragment with adaptive DO-stat feeding of glycerol under the constraint of available oxygen transfer capacity. The pH-stat control strategy was also applied to vitamin B₁₂ fermentation by *Pseudomonas denitrificans* in a 120 m³ industrial fermentor [48].

A drawback of the DO-stat and pH-stat control systems is that the cells are often nutrient-starved, which may affect the fermentation performance. An alternative control strategy may be to stop the feeding periodically for a short time (e.g., 2 min) to see whether the pO_2 signal rises instantly. If the substrate in the fermentor is beyond the threshold value for overflow metabolism and some by-product is formed, there might be a time delay in increasing the pO_2 signal, indicating the need to modify the substrate feeding rate accordingly [49].

In a repeated batch or fed-batch fermentation, optimizing the trajectory to maximize productivity and yield is desired. For example, temperature profiles for a temperature induction system, based on optimal control theory [50] or on past industrial experience, should be monitored, and then a model predictive control (MPC) system should be designed [51, 52]. The basic idea of MPC is that deviations between the predicted and a prespecified set point are minimized over a time range (horizon) by controlling the input variables. The interval over which this mean deviation is computed may be of fixed length or move stepwise as each new measurement became available, with a receding time horizon. A generic model control strategy can be also considered to control the specific growth rate at prespecified values [53].

Knowledge-based supervision may be a powerful tool for high-performance control of microbial processes. Konstantinov *et al.* [54] developed a computer system for knowledge-based supervision of bioprocesses, and it was applied to the control of fed-batch cultures of a recombinant *E. coli* for phenylalanine production. Such a strategy constitutes a new approach to monitoring and handling

various important phenomena that usually remain outside of the scope of a conventional control approach.

8.3.2

Online Optimization of Continuous Cultures

In the case of continuous fermentation, an online strategy to optimize control may be effective. The objective of online optimizing control is to track the optimal state for fermentation based on changes in cell state (or enzyme activities) and the culture environment. It is particularly useful and convenient to consider this in a hierarchical structure consisting of online optimization (at a higher layer) and dynamic model identification (at a lower layer), as illustrated in the block diagram in Figure 8.3 [3].

Consider a continuous culture system, where the performance index may be expressed as

$$J = J(y, u, p) \tag{8.16}$$

where y, u, and p are the output, input, and parameter vectors of an appropriate dimension. As a performance index, the yield of the product per substrate used, product concentration (titer), and product formation rate (productivity) may be considered. Let the nonlinear process be expressed as

$$y = g(u, p) \tag{8.17}$$

Then the problem is to determine input u that maximizes J based on the identified model as expressed in Equation (8.17). In direct applications of a steady-state optimization, reaching the optimum can be very slow.

Let the observed input-output relationship be expressed as

$$A(z^{-1})y(k) = B(z^{-1})u(k-1) + \varepsilon$$
(8.18)



Figure 8.3 Block diagram for the online optimizing control.

where z^{-1} is the backward-shift operator, and ε is the process bias. The sampling instant is denoted as k (0, 1, 2,...). A is a diagonal polynomial matrix with elements

$$A_{ii}(z^{-1}) = 1 + a_{ii}^{(1)} z^{-1} + \dots + a_{ii}^{(n)} z^{-n}, \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, m)$$
(8.19)

and *B* is a polynomial matrix with elements

$$B_{ij}(z^{-1}) = b_{ij}^{(0)} z^{-1} + b_{ij}^{(1)} z^{-1} + \dots + b_{ij}^{(r)} z^{-r}, \quad (i = 1, 2, \dots, n; \ j = 1, 2, \dots, m)$$
(8.20)

Let the data vector be denoted as φ_i and defined as

$$\varphi_i^T(k) = [-y_i(k-1), -y_i(k-2), \dots, -y_i(k-n), u_1(k-1), \dots, u_n(k-r-1), \dots, u_m(k-1), \dots, u_m(k-r-1), 1]$$
(8.21)

and let θ_i be the parameter vector defined as

$$\theta_i^T = [a_{ii}^{(1)}, a_{ii}^{(2)}, \dots, a_{ii}^{(n)}, b_{i1}^{(0)}, \dots, b_{i1}^{(1)}, b_{i2}^{(0)}, \dots, b_{i2}^{(r)}, \dots, b_{im}^{(0)}, \dots, b_{im}^{(r)}, \epsilon],$$

(*i* = 1, 2, ..., *m*) (8.22)

Then recursive least square parameter estimation can be made by

$$\hat{\theta}_{i}(k) = \hat{\theta}_{i}(k-1) + \frac{P_{i}(k)\varphi_{i}(k)}{1 + \varphi_{i}^{T}(k)P_{i}(k)\varphi_{i}(k)}[y(k) - \theta_{i}^{T}(k-1)\varphi_{i}(k)]$$
(8.23)

where

$$P_{i}(k+1) = \frac{1}{\lambda_{1}(k)} \left[P_{i}(k) - \frac{P_{i}(k)\varphi_{i}^{T}(k)\varphi_{i}^{T}(k)P_{i}(k)}{\lambda_{1}(k)/\lambda_{2}(k) + \varphi_{i}^{T}(k)P_{i}(k)\varphi_{i}(k)} \right]$$
(8.24)

where $\hat{\theta}_i$ is the identified parameter vector, $P_i(k)$ is the error covariance matrix, and $\lambda_i(k)$ are adjustable parameters.

Let $g_{ii}(z^{-1})$ be the (*ij*)th element of the input–output transfer function matrix such as

$$g_{ij}(z^{-1}) = B_{ij}(z^{-1})/A_{ii}(z^{-1})$$
(8.25)

If a gradient search algorithm was employed for online optimization, the input u(k) may be updated by

$$u(k+1) = u(k) + \delta S(k) \nabla_{u} J|_{k}$$

$$(8.26)$$

where δ is the step size and S(k) is a positive definite matrix. $\nabla_{\mu} J|_{k}$ is a gradient of the objective function at u(k), and can be obtained from

$$\nabla u^T J(y,u)|_k = \partial J(y,u)/\partial u^T|_k + \partial J(y,u)/\partial y^T|_k (dy/du^T)_k$$
(8.27)

where $(dy/du^T)_k$ can be evaluated from Equation (8.25).

Consider the practical application of the above algorithm to lactic acid fermentation. Lactic acid fermentation is one of the very important processes in the food industry. An online optimization strategy may be applied to control the cell recycling system with cross-flow filtration, as shown in Figure 8.4 [55, 56].

The input variables are the draw-off rate through the filter and the bleed stream flow rate. The output variables are the cell and lactate concentrations. The cell



Figure 8.4 Process scheme for the cell recycle system with cross-flow filtration for lactic acid fermentation.

concentration can be measured online by a laser turbidimeter. Since lactate is the only organic acid to be produced by the homo-fermentative lactic acid bacteria (e.g., *Sporolactobacillus inulinus* ATCC15538), the lactate concentration can be estimated online by the amount of alkaline solution supplied to neutralize the culture broth. Experiments were conducted to maximize the productivity of lactate while keeping the lactate concentration at 30 g l⁻¹ Figure 8.5 shows the experimental result, where productivity of ~22 g l⁻¹ h⁻¹ was attained by online optimization, as explained above, where Q_p denotes the productivity of lactate, v_p indicates the specific lactate production rate, and μ gives the specific growth rate estimated online during fermentation [56].

This online optimization strategy can be applied to a wide variety of fermentation processes; for example, some attempt has also been made to optimize the glutamic acid fermentation by *Corynebacterium glutamicum* by adjusting the respiratory quotient (RQ) online in response to measurements of DO concentration [57].

8.3.3

Cascade Control for Mixed Cultures

Mixed cultures, or co-cultures, where multiple strains are cultured together in a fermentor, have received recent attention because of their potential in biofuel and biochemical production [58]. The design of the control systems is a new challenge for such systems. In order to control the conditions in a mixed culture, a cascade control strategy may be useful. This strategy takes into account the interactions among different strains in a co-culture system. For example, pH can be maintained at an optimal value using information on the interaction between *Lactococcus lactis*, which produces lactate, and *Kluyveromyces marxianus*, which assimilate lactate, in the production of the antimicrobial peptide nisin by *L. lactis* subspecies *lactis*. The bacterium *L. lactis* is a nisin producer that assimilates maltose and produces nisin and lactate. *K. marxianus*, which was originally isolated from kefir



Figure 8.5 Application of the optimizing control to lactic acid fermentation.

grains, cannot assimilate maltose but can assimilate lactate. Because its lactate consumption rate is affected by the DO concentration and lactate concentration, and therefore by pH, nisin production can be controlled by manipulating the DO concentration. The concept of control systems for interacting microbes is illustrated in Figure 8.6.

A system has been developed with a cascade pH controller and DO control, which allows control of the specific lactate consumption rate of *K. marxianus* by changing the DO concentration.



Figure 8.6 Concept of microbial interaction control.



Figure 8.7 Schematic diagram of the cascade control in the co-culture system.



Figure 8.8 Experimental result for the cascade control of pH and DO in the co-culture system.

Figure 8.7 shows a schematic diagram of a cascade pH controller that incorporates DO control with pH control in the mixed culture. Proportional–integral (PI) and proportional–integral–differential (PID) control strategies can be employed for automatic control of the DO and pH. The pH and DO levels can be controlled as shown in Figure 8.8.

A time course for high production of nisin is shown in Figure 8.9. The pH was controlled near a set point value of 6.0. The final nisin concentration reached $200 \text{ mg} \text{ l}^{-1}$, which is 3 times higher than that without pH control. When the



Figure 8.9 Cascade control results of pH and DO in the mixed culture of *L. lactis* and *K. marxianus*. The pH was stabilized at 6.0 by the cascade controller [59].

inoculum size of *L. lactis* is greater than the expected value, or the inoculum size of *K. marxianus* was less than the expected value, lactate was not completely assimilated by *K. marxianus*, and the pH decreased. In this case, growth of *L. lactis* was inhibited. If the *K. marxianus* population increased, the lactate concentration decreased, and both microorganisms would once again be able to grow. However, if *L. lactis* growth stopped during a period of low pH, growth of both microorganisms would cease.

Figure 8.10 shows the result of a stability test for uncertainty in inoculum sizes of both microorganisms. This experiment compared the inoculation with the control amount of *K. marxianus* cells with inoculation of 0.10 of the control amount. The imbalance in microbial concentrations resulted in the accumulation of lactate and a decrease in pH to 4.9. Growth of *L. lactis* ceased at 4.5 h. However, lactate was gradually assimilated by *K. marxianus*, and both microorganisms grew well after 8 h. The nisin concentration reached 190 mg l⁻¹. These results show that this control system is robust to changes in inoculum size of the microorganism [60].

8.3.4 Supervision and Fault Detection

The process data available must be checked for consistency based on mass balances and the absence of failures. With industrial-scale fermentation, fault



Figure 8.10 Stability test for uncertainty in inoculum size for cascade control results of pH and DO in the mixed culture [59].

detection and identification is mandatory. In the hierarchical control scheme, process supervision must be implemented at the highest level to detect and identify failures and inconsistencies in the data that may be due to sampling and instrumental errors [5, 49]. The supervision system must allow analysis of the process data to determine whether they are valid or not and force the control task to change to a safe open loop control mode, for example [5]. AI techniques such as ANN may be used to detect failures [61].

8.4

Recent Trends in Monitoring and Control Technologies

The developments of technologies in monitoring and control of bioprocesses in the previous half decade are discussed in the following to identify future directions in the fields. The first section deals with sensors that have been utilized in monitoring fermentation processes to provide information about the number of state variables involved in cultures and the physiological state of culture, and also analytical methods for supporting the sensing devices. The second section deals with control systems to optimize the process operation, including real-time assurance of quality of the product(s). Discussion will be expanded to involve matching of control with functions of monitoring devices and an emerging technology called "continuous bioprocessing."

8.4.1 Sensor Technologies and Analytical Methods

Many fermenters for the cultivation of microbial cells are installed with sensors or equivalent devices for online monitoring and control of temperature, pH, and DO. Additional probes are now available to measure variables such as dissolved carbon dioxide, oxidation–reduction potential, OD, and turbidity. In addition, various medium components and cell metabolites are monitored inline or online, and there are systems for sensing additional gaseous components in the inlet and outlet gas stream. Comprehensive reviews of *in situ* sensor techniques for bioprocess monitoring have been made by Beutel and Henkel [62] and Wang and Wolfbeis [63]. Moreover, Pospíšilová *et al.* [64] have provided a review on fiberoptic chemical sensors and biosensors. Wang and Wolfbeis also comprehensively reviewed optical methods for sensing oxygen materials, as well as spectroscopic methods and their applications [65].

Online biomass measurement was described by Bluma *et al.* [66] and Höpfner *et al.* [67]. Silva *et al.* [68] reviewed the application of multiparameter flow cytometry technologies to monitor industrial bioprocesses for the production of biodiesel, bioethanol, biomethane, and biohydrogen.

An expert panel organized by the $M^{3}C$ Working Group of the European Section of Biochemical Engineering Science (ESBES) in the European Federation of Biotechnology (EFB) presented an expert opinion on future development needs for sensors in microbioreactors [69]. The recommendations suggested that online analytics such as chromatography or mass spectrometry be added to bioreactors, preferably using noninvasive sensors such as optical or electronic sensors that do not involve labeling or otherwise affecting cellular functions. The $M^{3}C$ Working Group of the EFB also provided a status report on soft sensors in bioprocessing and made recommendations for their extended use [70]. Krause *et al.* [71] presented a method for the accurate detection of process parameters combined with expert knowledge of linguistic control mechanisms via adaptive sensor calibration.

Spectrometric methods that have been extensively utilized for bioprocess monitoring include NIR spectroscopy [72], Raman spectroscopy [73], nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy [74], dielectric spectroscopy [75], fluorescence spectroscopy [76], and photoacoustic spectroscopy [77, 78]. Calorimetry as well as terahertz technology is used for studies on microbial metabolism and growth [62, 79]. Rathore *et al.* utilized online high-pressure liquid chromatography extensively [80].

Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) has been developed in parallel with personal computers and information technology, and explosive growth in this technology can be seen in many industries. A review by Scarff *et al.* [72] critically evaluated this development pertaining to the control of microbial and cell culture, and highlighted critical stages in the development of this technology. More research is needed if the full potential of NIRS is to be exploited in making proteins, hormones, and antibiotics via fermentation routes.

Lourenço *et al.* [81] reviewed current conditions of sensor systems for bioprocess monitoring and claimed that various materials in the culture medium could be assayed by spectroscopic methods. These methods included IR spectroscopy for the monitoring of glucose, lactate, antibodies, pH, fructose, acetic acid, and ethanol; NIRS for glucose and lactate, glutamine, ammonium pH, and biomass; UV/vis spectroscopy for proteins such as bovine serum albumin and toxic substances; fluorescence spectroscopy for vitamins, pyruvate, ATP, NAD(P)H, cell mass, and ethanol; and Raman spectroscopy for glutamine, glutamate, and phenylalanine.

8.4.2

Control Technologies

In comparison with the remarkable achievements in molecular biology, improvements in industrial fermentation technologies have been less spectacular. Hence, an imbalance between new cellular systems and production technologies has occurred, resulting in a decrease in the annual rate of approved production processes. In its process analytical technology (PAT) initiative, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) identifies the potential for continuous improvement and makes concrete suggestions on how this can be achieved. Some of these suggestions were applied to recombinant protein production by *E. coli* and *P. pastoris* cultures. According to two consecutive reviews [82, 83] by a group representing the FDA, PAT has been gaining momentum in the biotech community because of its potential to be applied to continuous real-time quality assurance for improved operational control and compliance. An expert workshop was held at the 8th European Symposium on Biochemical Engineering Sciences (Bologna, 2010), which highlighted new opportunities for exploiting PAT in biopharmaceutical production [84].

NIR offers the prospect of real-time control of the physiology of cultured cells in fermentors, leading to marked improvements in authenticity, purity, and production efficiency. A review by Scarff *et al.* [72] critically evaluated the development of this rapidly advancing technology as pertains to microbial and cell culture system control, and highlighted the critical stages in the development of this technology. Wang *et al.* [85] reviewed new advances in industrial bioprocess control and synergism between systems biotechnology and bioprocess engineering. Holistic viewpoints and ideas applied to industrial bioprocesses and future prospects were discussed by highlighting some successful cases.

Ferrero *et al.* [86] described available solutions in the area of automatic control systems for complex structured bioprocesses. They studied process control of a membrane bioreactor composed of two subprocesses, and compared several control strategies for integrated control systems. Existing knowledge is classified according to the variables manipulated, the operational mode (open-loop or closed-loop), and the control variables used. Simutis and Lübbert [87] discussed control of bioprocesses and presented important key issues for improving the performance of the processes. Productivity and process quality are important

contributors to variance in process variables. Identifying a straightforward way to reduce this variability should be one of the main tasks for quality assurance. Consequently, feedback techniques are the best to ensure reproducibility of industrial cultivation processes and quality of products.

Cooney and Konstantinov [88] introduced an emerging technology called "continuous bioprocessing" in pharmaceutical manufacturing. Innovative researches to realize continuous processing systems that integrate upstream and downstream processes for biologics manufacturing are appearing from several industrial and academic contributors who have been presenting their investigations in recent FDA conferences. The advantages of continuous bioprocessing include steady-state continuous operation, consistent product quality, reduced equipment size, high volumetric productivity, streamlined process flow, low cycle times, and reduced capital cost. These researchers reviewed the opportunities, technical needs, and strategic directions for continuous bioprocessing, and presented several examples from the recent literature that illustrate various forms of continuous bioprocessing systems.

8.5 Concluding Remarks

The technologies available for monitoring and control of microbial cultivation processes have been a key issue in the long history of fermentation and bioprocess engineering, and they have advanced significantly in the last decade. This chapter first described the development of technologies in process monitoring, including the measurement of process parameters and biological variables, data processing, and real-time estimation of the physiological state of a culture. Sensing technologies in bioprocess engineering were summarized to highlight the ingenious design and application of various sensors, and analytical methods using spectrometry, chromatography, and other detecting techniques. Thus, there have been significant advancements with respect to our ability to analyze and monitor key process and quality attributes in the biotechnology industry. In cases where not enough online information is available, an appropriate model may be considered based on mass balances with stoichiometric constraints for the development of EKFs. However, we need to do more to use the data collected for process control to achieve optimal production and product quality.

In examining the development of methodologies for the control of bioprocesses, the design and application of several methods were presented. Online optimization for continuous culture and cascade control for mixed culture were described. There have been various process control methods developed for biotechnological manufacturing, such as feedback control of a single process parameter, feed-forward control of physiological activities, specific growth rate control by exponentially increasing the substrate feed rate, cascade control of process parameters, control of multilateral variables, integrated control for total optimization in a manufacturing plant, and online optimizing control for continuous culture.

Finally, updated technologies for monitoring and control of bioprocesses were highlighted to identify future directions in the fields. They included *in situ* sensor technologies, recommendations by experts on future development needs for sensors, the contribution of NIR as a versatile method for monitoring biotechnological processes, computational intelligence methods, synergetic effects of systems biotechnology that increase the sophistication of bioprocesses, integrated control of multiplexing subprocesses for total process control, and feedback technologies ensuring high reproducibility of product quality. An emerging technology called "continuous bioprocessing" now presents a new scenario for the maturation of biomanufacturing as a true modern industry.

Abbreviations

artificial neural network
dissolved oxygen
extended Kalman filters
U.S. Food and Drug Administration
near-infrared
nuclear magnetic resonance
optical density
oxygen uptake rate
process analytical technology

References

- Masurekar, S.P. (2008) Nutritional and engineering aspects of microbial process development (review). *Prog. Drug Res.*, 65, 292–328.
- Lübbert, A. and Jørgensen, B.S. (2001) Bioreactor performance: A more scientific approach for practice. *J. Biotechnol.*, 85, 187–212.
- 3 Shimizu, K. (1996) A tutorial review on bioprocess systems engineering. *Comput. Chem. Eng.*, **20** (6/7), 915–941.
- Schügerl, K. (2001) Progress in monitoring, modeling and control of bioprocesses during the last 20 years. *J. Biotechnol.*, 85, 149–173.
- 5 Gnoth, S., Jenzsch, M., Simutis, R., and Lubbert, A. (2008) Control of cultivation processes for recombinant production: A review. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, **31**, 21–39.

- 6 Stephanopolos, G. and San, K.Y. (1984) Studies on on-line bioreactor identification. I. Theory. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 26 (10), 1176–1188.
- 7 Bastin, G. and Dochain, D. (1990) On-Line Estimation and Adaptive Control of Bioreactors, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- 8 Clementschitsch, F. and Bayer, K. (2006) Improvement of bioprocess monitoring: Development of novel concepts. *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 5, 183–196.
- 9 Harms, P., Kostov, Y., and Rao, G. (2002) Bioprocess monitoring. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 13 (2), 124–127.
- 10 Zhang, A., Tsang, V.L., Moore, B., Shen, V., Huang, Y.-M., Kshirsagar, R., and Ryll, T. (2015) Advanced process monitoring and feedback control to enhance cell culture process production and robustness. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 112 (12), 2495–2504.
- 11 Veloso, A.C.A., Rocha, I., and Ferreira, E.C. (2009) Monitoring of fed-batch *E*.

coli fermentations with software sensors. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, **32**, 381–388.

- 12 Sundstrom, H. and Enfors, S.-O. (2008) Software sensors for fermentation processes. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, 31, 145–152.
- 13 Mandenius, C.F. (2004) Recent developments in the monitoring, modeling and control of biological production systems. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, 26, 347–351.
- 14 Biechele, P., Busse, C., Solle, D., Scheper, T., and Reardon, K. (2015) Sensor systems for bioprocess monitoring. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 15, 469–488.
- 15 Heinzle, E. (1991) Mass spectrometry for on-line monitoring of biotechnical processes. *Adv. Biochem. Eng.*, 35, 1–45.
- 16 Behrendt, U., Koch, S., Gooch, D.D., Steegmans, U., and Comer, M.J. (1994) Mass spectrometry: A tool for online monitoring of animal cell culture. *Cytotechnology*, 14, 157–165.
- 17 Junker, B., Brix, J., Lester, M., Kardos, P., Adamca, J., Lynch, J., Schmitt, J., and Salmon, P. (2003) Design and installation of a next generation pilot scale fermentation system. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 19, 693–705.
- 18 Junker, B. and Wang, H.L. (2006) Bioprocess monitoring and computer control: Keyroots of the current PAT initiative. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 95 (2), 226–262.
- 19 Kadotani, Y., Miyamoto, K., Mishima, N., Kometani, M., and Yamane, T. (1995) Acquisition of data from on-line laser turbidimeter and calculation of some kinetic variables in computer-coupled automated fed-batch culture. J. Ferment. Bioeng., 80 (1), 63–70.
- 20 Abu-Absi, N.R., Kenty, B.M., Cuellar, M.E., Borys, M.C., Sakhamuri, S., Strachan, D.J., Hausladen, M.C., and Li, Z.J. (2010) Real time monitoring of multiple parameters in mammarian cell culture bioreactors using an in-line Raman spectroscopy probe. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 108, 1215–1221.
- Bittner, C., Wehnert, G., and Scheper, T. (1998) *In situ* microscopy for on-line determination of biomass. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 60, 24–35.
- 22 Crowley, J., Arnold, S.A., Wood, N., Harvey, L.M., and McNeil, B. (2005)

Monitoring a high cell density recombinant *Pichia pastoris* fed-batch bioprocess using transmission and reflectance near infrared spectroscopy. *Enzyme Micob. Technol.*, **36**, 621–628.

- 23 Dorresteijn, R.C., Numan, K.H., de Gooijer, C.D., Tramper, J., and Beuvery, E.C. (1996) On-line estimation of the biomass activity during animal-cell cultivations. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 51, 206–214.
- 24 Finn, B., Harvey, L.M., and McNeil, B. (2006) Near-infrared spectroscopic monitoring of biomass, glucose, ethanol and protein content in a high cell density baker's yeast fed-batch bioprocesses. *Yeast*, 23, 507-517.
- 25 Guez, J.S., Cassar, J.P., Wartelle, F., Dhulster, P., and Suhr, H. (2004) Real time in situ microscopy for animal cell-concentration monitoring during high cell density culture in bioreactor. *J. Biotechnol.*, **111**, 335–343.
- 26 Cervera, A.E., Petersen, N., Lantz, A.E., Larsen, A., and Gernaey, K.V. (2009) Application of near-infrared spectroscopy for monitoring and control of cell culture and fermentation. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 25 (6), 1561–1581.
- 27 Harris, C.M., Tood, R.W., and Bungard, S.J. (1987) Dielectric permittivity of microbial suspensions at radio frequencies: A novel method for the real-time estimation of microbial biomass. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 9, 181–186.
- 28 Lu, F., Toh, P.C., Burnett, I., Li, F., Hudson, T., Amanullah, A., and Li, J. (2013) Automated dynamic fed-batch process and media optimization for high productivity cell culture process development. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **110** (1), 191–205.
- 29 Dochain, D. (2003) State and parameter estimation in chemical and biochemical processes: A tutorial. *J. Process Control*, 13, 801–818.
- 30 Cheruy, A. (1997) Software sensors in bioprocess engineering. J. Biotechnol., 52, 193–199.
- 31 Lombardi, M., Fiaty, K., and Laerent, P. (1999) Implementation of observer for on-line estimation of concentration in

continuous-stirred membrane bioreactor: Application to the fermentation of lactose. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, **54**, 2689–2696.

- 32 Assis, A.J. and Filho, R.M. (2000) Soft sensors development for on-line bioreactor state estimation. *Comput. Chem. Eng.*, 24, 1099–1103.
- 33 Bogaerts, P. and Van de Wouwer, A. (2004) Parameter identification for state estimation- application to bioprocess software sensors. *Chem. Eng. Sci.*, 59, 2465–2476.
- 34 Claes, J.E. and Van Impe, J.F. (1999) Online estimation of the specific growth rate based on viable biomass measurements, experimental validation. *Bioprocess Eng.*, 21, 389–395.
- 35 Jenzsch, M., Simutis, R., Eisbrenner, G., Stuckrath, I., and Lubbert, A. (2006) Estimation of biomass concentrations in fermentation processes for recombinant protein production. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, 29 (1), 19–27.
- 36 Takiguchi, N., Shimizu, H., and Shioya, S. (1997) An on-line physiological state recognition system for lysine fermentation process based on metabolic reaction model. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 55, 170–181.
- 37 Oliveira, R., Clemente, J.J., Cunha, A.E., and Carrondo, M.J.T. (2005) Adaptive dissolved oxygen control through the glycerol feeding in a recombinant *Pichia pastoris* cultivation in conditions oxygen transfer limitation. *J. Biotechnol.*, **116**, 35–50.
- 38 Wolfe, A.J. (2005) The acetate switch. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 69, 12–50.
- 39 Shimizu, K. (2016) Metabolic regulation and coordination of the metabolism in bacteria in response to a variety of growth conditions. *Adv. Biochem. Eng./Biotechnol.*, 155, 1–54.
- 40 Akesson, M., Nordberg-Karlsson, E., Hagander, P., Axelsson, J.P., and Tocaj, A. (1999) On-line detection of acetate formation in *Escherichia coli* cultures using dissolved oxygen responses to feed transients. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 65 (4), 590–598.
- 41 Akesson, M., Hagander, P., and Axelsson, J.P. (2001a) Avoiding acetate accumulation in *Escherichia coli* cultures using feedback control of glucose feeding. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **73** (3), 223–230.

- 42 Akesson, M., Hangander, P., and Axelsson, J.P. (2001b) Probing control of fed-batch cultures: Analysis and tuning. *Control Eng. Pract.*, 9 (7), 709–723.
- 43 Velut, S., de Mare, L., and Hagander, P. (2007) Bioreactor control using a probing feeding strategy and mid-ranging control. *Control Eng. Pract.*, 15, 135–147.
- 44 Andersen, K. and von Meyenburg, K. (1980) Are growth rate of *Escherichia coli* in batch cultures limited by respiration? *J. Bacteriol.*, 144, 114–123.
- 45 Cannizaro, C., Valentinotti, S., and von Stckar, U. (2004) Control of yeast fed-batch process through regulation of extracellular ethanol concentration. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, 26, 377–383.
- 46 Konstantinov, K., Kishimoto, M., Seki, T., and Yoshida, T. (1990) A balanced DO-stat and its application to the control of acetic acid excretion by recombinant *Eshcerichia coli. Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 36 (7), 750–758.
- 47 Ferreira, A.R., Ataide, F., von Stosch, M., Jias, J.M.L. *et al.* (2012) Application of adaptive DO-stat feeding control to *Pichia pastoris* X33 cultures expressing a single chain antibody fragment (scFv). *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, **35** (9), 1603–1614.
- 48 Li, K.-T., Liu, D.-H., Chu, J., Wang, Y.-H. et al. (2008) An effective and simplified pH-stat control strategy for the industrial fermentation of vitamin B12 by *Pseudomonas denitrificans. Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, 31, 605–610.
- 49 Whiffin, V.S., Cooney, M.J., and Cord-Ruwisch, R. (2004) On-line detection of feed demand in high cell density cultures of *Escherichia coli* by measurement of changes in dissolved oxygen transients in complex media. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 85 (4), 422–433.
- 50 Shimizu, K. and Matsuoka, Y. (2015) Fundamentals of Systems Analysis and Modeling of Biosystems and Metabolism, Hindawi Publishing Co.(Bentham e-Books).
- 51 Henson, M.A. (1998) Non-linear model predictive control: Current status and future directions. *Comput. Chem. Eng.*, 23, 187–202.
- 52 Morari, M. and Lee, J.H. (1999) Model predictive control: Past, present and

future. Comput. Chem. Eng., 23, 667–683.

- 53 Jenzsch, M., Simutis, R., and Lubbert, A. (2006) Generic model control of the specific growth rate in *E. coli* cultivations. *J. Biotechnol.*, **122**, 483–493.
- 54 Konstantinov, B.K. and Yoshida, T. (1992) The way to adequate control of microbial processes passes via real-time knowledge-based supervision. *J. Biotechnol.*, 24, 33–51.
- 55 Shi, Z., Shimizu, K., Watanabe, N., and Kobayashi, T. (1989) Adaptive on-line optimizing control of bioreactor systems. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **33**, 999–1009.
- 56 Shi, Z., Shimizu, K., Iijima, S., Morisue, T., and Kobayashi, T. (1990) Adaptive on-line optimizing control for lactic acid fermentation. *J. Ferment. Bioeng.*, **70** (6), 415–419.
- 57 Xiao, J., Shi, Z., Gao, P., Feng, H., Duan, Z., and Mao, Z. (2006) On-line optimization of glutamate production based on balanced metabolic control by RQ. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, 29, 109–117.
- 58 Zhou, K., Qiao, K., Edgar, S., and Stephanopoulos, G. (2015) Distributing a metabolic pathway among a microbial consortium enhances production of natural products. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 33, 377–383.
- 59 Wardani, A.K., Egawa, S., Nagahisa, K., Shimizu, H., and Shioya, S. (2006) Robustness of the cascade pH and DO control in a symbiotic nisin production process system of *L. lactis* and *K. marxianus. J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 101, 274–276.
- 60 Shimizu, H., Mizuguchi, T., Tanaka, E., and Shioya, S. (1999) Nisin production by a mixed culture system consisting of *Lactococcus lactis* and *Kluyveromyces marxianus. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 65, 3134–3141.
- 61 Shimizu, H., Yasuoka, K., Uchiyama, K., and Shioya, S. (1998) Bioprocess fault detection by nonlinear multivariate analysis: Application of an artificial autoassociative neural network and wavelet filter bank. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 14 (1), 79–87.
- **62** Beutel, S. and Henkel, S. (2011) *In situ* sensor techniques in modern bioprocess

monitoring. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **91**, 1493–1505.

- 63 Wang, X.-D. and Wolfbeis, O.S. (2013) Fiber-optic chemical sensors and biosensors (2008–2012). Anal. Chem., 85, 487–508.
- 64 Pospíšilová, M., Kuncová, G., and Trögl, J. (2015) Fiber-optic chemical sensors and fiber-optic bio-sensors. *Sensors*, 15, 25208–25259.
- 65 Wang, X. and Wolfbeis, O.S. (2014) Optical methods for sensing and imaging oxygen: Materials, spectroscopies and applications. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 43, 3666–3761.
- 66 Bluma, A., Höpfner, T., Lindner, P., Rehbock, C. *et al.* (2010) In-situ imaging sensors for bioprocess monitoring: State of the art. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, **398**, 2429–2438.
- 67 Höpfner, T., Bluma, A., Rudolph, G., Lindner, P. et al. (2010) A review of non-invasive optical-based image analysis systems for continuous bioprocess monitoring. Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng., 33, 247–256.
- 68 Silva, T.L.D., Roseiro, J.C., and Reis, A. (2012) Applications and perspectives of multi-parameter flow cytometry to microbial biofuels production processes. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 30, 225–231.
- **69** Gernaey, K.V., Baganz, F., Franco-Lara, E., Kensy, F. *et al.* (2012) Monitoring and control of microbioreactors: An expert opinion on development needs. *Biotechnol. J.*, **7**, 1308–1314.
- 70 Luttmann, R., Bracewell, D.G., Cornelissen, G., Gernaey, K. *et al.* (2012) Soft sensors in bioprocessing: A status report and recommendations. *Biotechnol. J.*, 7, 1040–1048.
- 71 Krause, D., Birle, S., Hussein, M.A., and Becker, T. (2011) Bioprocess monitoring and control via adaptive sensor calibration. *Eng. Life Sci.*, **11**, 402–416.
- 72 Scarff, M., Arnold, S.A., Harvey, L.M., and McNeil, B. (2006) Near infrared spectroscopy for bioprocess monitoring and control: Current status and future trends. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.*, 26, 17–39.
- **73** Uysal, R.S., Soykut, E.A., Boyaci, I.H., and Topcu, A. (2013) Monitoring multiple components in vinegar fermentation

using Raman spectroscopy. *Food Chem.*, **141**, 4333–4343.

- 74 Majors, P.D., McLean, J.S., and Scholten, J.C.M. (2008) NMR bioreactor development for live in-situ microbial functional analysis. *J. Magn. Reson.*, **192**, 159–166.
- 75 Justice, C., Brix, A., Freimark, D., Kraume, M. *et al.* (2011) Process control in cell culture technology using dielectric spectroscopy. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 29, 391–401.
- 76 Faassen, S.M. and Hitzmann, B. (2015) Fluorescence spectroscopy and chemometric modeling for bioprocess monitoring. Sensors (Basels), 15, 10271–10291.
- 77 Papkovsky, D.B. and Dmitriev, R.I. (2013) Biological detection by optical oxygen sensing. *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 42, 8700–8732.
- 78 Simon, L.L., Pataki, H., Marosi, G., Meemken, F. *et al.* (2015) Assessment of recent process analytical technology (PAT) trends: A multiauthor review. *Org. Process Res. Dev.*, **19**, 3–60.
- 79 Buchholz, F., Harms, H., and Maskow, T. (2010) Biofilm research using calorimetry: A marriage made in heaven? *Biotechnol. J.*, 5, 1339–1350.
- 80 Krull, I.S., Rathore, A., and Wheat, T.E. (2011) Current applications of UHPLC in biotechnology part II: Proteins and glycans. *LCGC North Am.*, **29** (3), 1.
- 81 Lourenço, N., Lopes, J., Almeida, C., Sarraguça, M.C. *et al.* (2012) Bioreactor monitoring with spectroscopy and chemometrics: A review. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.*, **404**, 1211–1237.

- 82 Read, E.K., Park, J.T., Shah, R.B., Riley, B.S. *et al.* (2010) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceutical products: Part I. Concepts and applications. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **105**, 276–284.
- 83 Read, E.K., Shah, R.B., Riley, B.S., Park, J.T. *et al.* (2009) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceutical products: Part II Concepts and applications. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **105**, 285–295.
- 84 Glassey, J., Gernary, V.K., Clemens, C., Schulz, W.T. *et al.* (2011) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceuticals. *Biotechnol. J.*, 6, 369–377.
- 85 Wang, Y., Chu, J., Zhuang, Y., Wang, Y. et al. (2009) Industrial bioprocess control and optimization in the context of systems biotechnology. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 27, 989–995.
- 86 Ferrero, G., Rodríguez-Roda, I., and Comas, J. (2012) Automatic control systems for submerged membrane bioreactors: A state-of-the-art review. *Water Res.*, 46, 3421–3433.
- 87 Simutis, R. and Lübbert, A. (2015) Bioreactor control improves bioprocess performance. *Biotechnol. J.*, **10**, 1115–1130.
- 88 Cooney, C.L. and Konstantinov, K.B. (2015) White paper on continuous bioprocessing. *J. Pharm. Sci.*, 104, 813–820.

Part III Plant Cell Culture and Engineering
Stefan Schillberg, Nicole Raven, Rainer Fischer, Richard M. Twyman, and Andreas Schiermeyer

9.1 Molecular Farming – Whole Plants and Cell/Tissue Cultures

Molecular farming is the use of plants, plant tissues or plant cells to produce valuable recombinant proteins [1, 2]. Following many years of research to demonstrate that plants can express a multitude of diverse pharmaceutical proteins, attention is now turning to the commercial potential of the technology [3], and especially whether plants can compete with mainstream production systems such as microbes and mammalian cells [4].

Whole plants are advantageous because upstream production is less expensive and more scalable than fermenter-based microbial and mammalian cells, and they do not support the growth of human pathogens [5]. Plant-based systems are also versatile because different species, gene transfer strategies, expression strategies, protein targeting, and recovery strategies have been developed, which means a particular system can be chosen to suit the product, rather than the product being forced to work with the small number of platforms that have been adopted by industry (e.g., the bacterium Escherichia coli, yeast such as Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Komagataella (formerly Pichia) pastoris, and a small number of mammalian cells lines such as Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) and NS0). The diversity of suitable plant host species also means that molecular farming strategies can be adapted so that they are compatible with local environments and infrastructures, that food crops with generally recognized as safe (GRAS) status can be used to deliver recombinant oral vaccines and topical microbicides with limited need for processing, and that unique characteristics can be exploited to facilitate product purification, such as the targeting of proteins to oil bodies in oilseed crops. On the other hand, the same diversity is thought to have held molecular farming back, because it is difficult to make progress in a commercial environment without focusing on a small number of platforms. These and other attributes have been discussed in detail elsewhere [3, 6-8].

Although the advantages of plants have been widely discussed, it has been difficult to persuade the pharmaceutical industry to embrace molecular farming,

and the few recombinant proteins derived from whole plants that have reached the market are approved for research use, as diagnostics or as cosmetic ingredients, and in one case as a medical device [6]. The slow uptake of the technology reflects many underlying factors, including perceived technical limitations that have largely been overcome [9], the negative public perception in Europe of any technology linked to genetically modified (GM) crops even if supported by patient advocacy groups [10], and the unwillingness of industry to switch from established platforms with a good track record and existing infrastructure [11]. Perhaps the most important advantage of the established platforms from an industry perspective is the robust intellectual property and regulatory landscape, which means the path to the market is defined and well tested. In contrast, plant-derived pharmaceuticals fall between the jurisdictions and competencies of agencies responsible for GM agriculture and biotechnology-derived drugs, and until recently there was no specific regulatory framework for such products. This meant they fell by default under the existing regulations for pharmaceutical proteins, which had been developed around the concept of cells grown in fermenters (e.g., master/working cell banks, virus inactivation steps) and were not easily translated to plants [12]. All pharmaceuticals intended for human use (even in phase I clinical trials) must be produced in compliance with good manufacturing practice (GMP), and this demands precise, documented growth conditions to ensure the batch-to-batch consistency of the product, which is challenging to implement with plants growing in greenhouses and next to impossible to implement in the open field. The use of controlled-environment greenhouses reduces much of the variation caused by weather, climate, soil heterogeneity, and interactions with other organisms, and once the plant material is harvested and the initial extraction steps are complete, it can be transferred to a GMP-compliant cleanroom for final purification and formulation. Even so, GMP processes for whole transgenic plants and transient expression systems have been realized only in the last few years, and the first products are only now undergoing clinical trials [11].

Whereas the use of whole plants required a new regulatory pathway to be laid down, plant tissues and cell suspension cultures can be grown in containment in exactly the same way as mammalian cells and microbes, making regulatory compliance much more straightforward. Molecular farming has therefore branched into three main approaches: transgenic plants suitable for the bulk production of pharmaceuticals over a long term; transient expression in whole plants suitable for rapid production over a shorter term; and, finally, the use of plant cell and tissue culture platforms to produce pharmaceuticals in a manner similar to established fermenter platforms, but with the advantages of inexpensive cultivation (like bacteria), higher eukaryotic protein processing (like mammalian cells) and the absence of bacterial endotoxins and mammalian pathogens. Based on this unique combination of advantages, the first plant-derived pharmaceutical protein approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use in humans was produced using plant suspension cell cultures [13].

9.2 Plant Cell and Tissue Culture Platforms

The first examples of molecular farming involved the expression of an antibody in transgenic tobacco leaves [14] and the production of human serum albumin in transgenic tobacco and potato leaves, as well as tobacco cell suspension cultures [15]. The latter report is therefore the first example of molecular farming in plant cells, which thereafter was more widely used for the production of small-molecule compounds [16]. Many pharmaceutical proteins have been produced in cultured plant cells and tissues such as hairy roots since those initial reports (reviewed by Hellwig et al. [17] and Schillberg et al. [18]). The different platforms require diverse media and cultivation conditions to achieve maximum productivity, but a major distinction can be drawn between the cultivation of cells and tissues derived from roots (e.g., tobacco hairy roots, and the current commercial tobacco and carrot cell suspension culture platforms) or embryonic tissues (rice cell suspension cultures), and those based on green tissues (e.g., moss, algae, and duckweed). The former do not need light and grow to high densities in or on media containing sugar, whereas the latter can grow in water without carbohydrates but require constant illumination [19-23].

9.2.1 Cell Suspension Cultures

Plant cell suspension cultures grow in a liquid medium as individual cells or small aggregates, and are usually derived from callus tissue by the disaggregation of friable callus pieces in shake flasks. Recombinant proteins can be produced either by transforming the cells directly, usually by cocultivation with Agrobacterium *tumefaciens* to achieve transient or stable expression, or by the derivation of cell cultures from transgenic plants [24, 25]. Cell suspension cultures can be theoretically derived from any plant species, but the most widely used for molecular farming are tobacco cells derived from the embryonic root meristem of cultivars BY-2 and NT-1 [26], and cells derived from carrot [23] and rice [27], all of which have been used commercially, although only carrot cells have been used to produce approved human pharmaceuticals [18, 28]. Other species that have been used for proof-of-principle studies include Arabidopsis [29, 30], alfalfa [30], soybean [31], and tomato [32]. Recombinant proteins expressed in plant cell suspension cultures are usually secreted into the supernatant to facilitate recovery by endowing the expression construct with a signal peptide for secretion, although some of the protein may be retained within the cells depending on its size relative to the pores in the cell wall. The recombinant protein may also be targeted to alternative intracellular compartments such as the cytosol or vacuole. Cell suspension cultures are amenable to scale-up, and production capacities exceeding 10001 have been reported [18].

9.2.2 **Tissue Cultures**

Recombinant protein expression has been achieved in various types of in vitro plant tissue culture, including callus cultures, shooty teratomas, and hairy roots. Shooty teratomas and callus cultures are less robust, scalable, and productive than hairy roots [33], although callus cultures can be used to screen for high expression levels before deriving suspension cell cultures [27, 34]. The hairy root phenotype is caused by infection with Agrobacterium rhizogenes, a soil bacterium carrying genes that promote the rapid and indefinite growth of highly branched plant roots even in the absence of exogenous hormones. Hairy roots are phenotypically and genetically stable, and selected hairy root lines can be exploited indefinitely. Like cell suspension cultures, transgenic hairy root lines can be generated either by converting the roots of existing transgenic plants into a hairy root phenotype using wild-type A. rhizogenes, or by creating the transgenic hairy roots directly by infecting wild-type plants with genetically modified A. rhizogenes carrying both the root-inducing genes and a transgene expressing a recombinant protein. Also, like cell suspension cultures, recombinant proteins are often secreted by hairy roots into the culture medium to facilitate recovery [35]. Stably transformed hairy root cultures have been established from many species, although tobacco has proven the most sustainable and scalable [36]. Recombinant proteins have also been produced using plant viruses as vectors in hairy roots [37] and in cell suspension cultures [38].

9.2.3

Light-Dependent Expression Platforms

Moss, algae, and aquatic plant cultures can also be used to produce recombinant proteins in containment, and all depend on photosynthesis to produce the energy and precursors required for protein synthesis. Like cell suspension cultures and hairy roots, the recombinant protein is generally secreted into the culture supernatant for ease of recovery. The advantage is compounded because these systems do not require a nutrient culture medium.

The moss *Physcomitrella patens* is a haploid bryophyte that can be grown in bioreactors under controlled conditions, using synthetic growth media and artificial light [20]. The advantage of this species as a production host for recombinant proteins is its unusual propensity to undergo homologous recombination, which means that transgenes can be introduced into the genome to allow the production of recombinant proteins under the control of strong endogenous promoters, and endogenous genes that have undesirable effects can be knocked out or replaced by gene targeting. The latter has been used to modify the protein glycosylation pathway, removing genes responsible for the synthesis of plant glycans and in some cases replacing them with genes promoting human-type glycosylation [39, 40]. The moss system has been commercially developed by the German biotechnology company greenovation Biotech GmbH, which offers a transient expression

platform for feasibility studies as well as stable production lines that can be scaled up to several hundred liters [41, 42].

Photosynthetic microalgae such as *Chlamydomonas* spp. can also be used as a platform for the production of recombinant proteins. They grow rapidly, thus producing large amounts of biomass in a short time, and whereas nuclear transformation is the typical approach in other cell and tissue culture platforms, the single plastid found in algal cells is much easier to transform, thus stable transplastomic lines can be produced within a few weeks [43]. This advantage is somewhat offset by the fact that proteins expressed in the plastids do not undergo post-translational modifications that are typical in the other platforms and are not secreted to the culture medium, which makes subsequent purification more challenging. The U.S. company PhycoBiologics Inc. is using *Chlamydomonas* spp. plastid transformation to produce oral aquaculture vaccines such as the *Staphylococcus aureus* fibronectin-binding domain D2 fused to the cholera toxin B (CTB) mucosal adjuvant to induce antigen-specific immune response in mice [44].

Finally, we consider the *in vitro* cultivation of whole aquatic plants, particularly duckweeds such as Wolffia spp. [45], Spirodela spp. [46], and Lemna spp. [47]. These species can be transformed by A. tumefaciens, and recombinant proteins can be secreted into the culture medium or accumulated in the plant, which is advantageous in the case of *Lemna minor* because this species contains a pectic polysaccharide with adjuvant properties, and oral administration of plant extract containing the target antigen promotes a stronger immune response than the pure protein [48]. The American company Biolex Therapeutics Inc. developed L. minor and Spirodela oligorrhiza as platforms for the production of recombinant human pharmaceutical proteins such as IFN- α 2b (Locteron), which is ready for Phase III clinical trials. The company has also humanized glycosylation in L. *minor* by RNA interference, targeting the endogenous α -1,3-fucosyltransferase and β -1,2-xylosyltransferase genes. A human CD30-specific antibody produced in these engineered cells did not contain any plant-specific N-glycans and showed an improved cell-mediated cytotoxicity and effector cell reporter binding than the corresponding antibody produced in CHO cells [49]. The company sold its technology and product portfolio to the Dutch company Synthon BV in 2012 and later filed for bankruptcy [50].

9.3 Comparison of Whole Plants and *In Vitro* Culture Platforms

As stated previously, the main advantage of *in vitro* culture platforms is the ability to grow the cells, tissues, or floating plants in containment, under sterile conditions that are fully defined and controlled. Whole plants can also be grown in degrees of containment, ranging from pots of soil in greenhouses (thereby removing some but not all biological variables) to fully controlled glasshouses and growth rooms where the temperature, light intensity, and atmosphere can be regulated, and where soil is replaced with sterile support substrates and

a defined nutrient solution. The recent development of automated cultivation systems, incorporating light-emitting diode (LED) illumination and nutrient film technology, aims to eliminate almost all environmental fluctuation [51, 52]. Even so, plant cells and tissues remain advantageous in terms of growth, product recovery, product quality, and process consistency. We discuss each of these aspects in turn.

Plant cells and tissues cultivated *in vitro* grow more rapidly than whole plants, with cell doubling times as short as 1 day for higher plants and 8–10 h for algae [53]. This means that a single batch fermentation using tobacco BY-2 cells takes 1-2 weeks, compared to months for a single batch of transgenic tobacco plants assuming that a working seed bank is already available [18]. Although whole plants are more scalable, in that production can be boosted by sowing more seeds without extending the cultivation period, plant cell and tissue cultures can be scaled up by preparing additional precultures as required for the projected final cultivation volume, and even when a final volume of 10 0001 is considered, the overall campaign lifecycle is still shorter than that required for a single batch of transgenic plants. Alternatively, parallel cultivation or continuous fermentation can be used to shorten the production periods for larger fermentation volumes. Shorter campaigns are possible with whole-plant transient expression systems [54-56], but transient expression platforms introduce an extra regulatory burden, such as the endotoxins released by infiltrated bacteria [57] and the large-scale use of genetically modified bacteria or viruses [11].

Recombinant proteins produced by sterile cultures of plant cells and tissues can be secreted into the medium if an N-terminal signal peptide is used to direct the protein into the secretory pathway. The signal peptide is cleaved off during transit and the mature protein accumulates in the well-defined and sterile medium, which contains few other proteins, facilitating recovery and purification. In contrast, proteins expressed in plants are usually retained in the cell and must be released by mechanical disruption, which liberates the entire cell contents. Recovery and purification therefore involve separating the target protein from particulates, soluble host cell proteins, and host cell metabolites, some of which may damage recombinant proteins by oxidation or the formation of adducts and conjugates [58].

The secretion of recombinant proteins into the culture medium has an important knock-on effect on product quality because all the recovered protein molecules are fully processed and therefore homogeneous. The signal peptide must be removed and glycan chains must be added before secretion, whereas the release of intracellular proteins from whole plants liberates proteins distributed throughout the secretory pathway as well as proteins retained in other compartments, often yielding a heterogeneous mix of processing variants [59]. The improved product homogeneity and integrity ensures superior product and process consistency, which is a critical aspect of GMP compliance. Plant cell and tissue cultures are grown in contained bioreactors, under precise and documented conditions that are fully controlled, so that the nutritional and physical process parameters can be monitored and adjusted. Fermentation processes are

therefore less prone to biotic and abiotic variations that reduce batch-to-batch consistency, which is an inherent risk when producing pharmaceutical proteins in greenhouse-grown plants.

9.4 Technical Advances on the Road to Commercialization

The first approved veterinary and pharmaceutical proteins produced by molecular farming were manufactured using cell suspension cultures (Box 9.1). This required several technical, regulatory, and commercial barriers to be addressed. The principal technical barriers were the low specific productivity (the amount of product produced per unit of biomass per unit of time), low recovery (the amount of final purified product compared to the amount present in the harvested biomass), and variable quality (lack of consistency between batches) associated with plant-derived pharmaceuticals. The overall productivity of plant cell cultures can be increased by improving the intrinsic yield (amount of product per unit biomass) and/or the amount of biomass produced per unit time, and the recovery can be improved by increasing the efficiency of downstream processing. This has required a combination of genetic, biological, and physical approaches applied during both upstream production and downstream processing, focusing on the *quality* and *quantity* of the final product.

9.4.1

Improving the Quantity of Recombinant Proteins Produced in Cell Suspension Cultures

Many genetic strategies have been used to improve the specific productivity of molecular farming platforms, for example, enhancing transcription using optimized promoters, ensuring more efficient mRNA processing and translation, and protein targeting tailored to improve product stability and facilitate recovery (reviewed by Twyman *et al.* [9]). These approaches apply to all molecular farming platforms, whereas other strategies are more relevant to cell suspension cultures and tissue bioreactors. A great deal of progress has been made by optimizing the cultivation process to increase cell-specific productivity, involving a combination of cell line development and process development to achieve synergy between biological and physical process parameters [18].

Transformation methods for plant cells usually produce multiple primary transformants with different transgene copy numbers and insertion sites. The independent transgenic events differ significantly in terms of productivity, so one or more rounds of screening and selection are necessary to identify the most productive cells that are suitable for the generation of production lines [60]. Single-cell DNA microinjection can be used to produce a single transgenic progenitor cell that multiplies to yield a monoclonal cell culture from the outset [61], but this approach is cumbersome and labor-intensive, and the transgene integration site is still random so a panel of monoclonal cultures must be generated and screened

to identify those that are most productive [62]. Genome editing, using engineered nucleases and more recently the CRISPR/Cas9 system [63], can be used to preselect a specific and productive integration site, although screening is still required to remove the background of nonspecific integration events. Zinc finger nucleases have recently been used to engineer BY-2 cells in this manner [64].

In most cases, it is therefore necessary for polyclonal transformants to be screened to isolate clones with optimal productivity. Screening can be carried out at the callus stage or following the cultivation of multiple events in a microtiter dish or in small bioreactors, the latter offering the advantage that cells are exposed to the same conditions as they will later experience during scale-up. Although screening and selection help eliminate this initial heterogeneity, further variation can appear de novo during prolonged cultivation with periodic subcultures. This phenomenon, known as somaclonal variation, involves a combination of genetic and epigenetic mechanisms that can reduce the productivity of initial jackpot clones and even cause complete transgene silencing [65]. Highly productive cells also tend to dedicate a significant proportion of their resources to protein synthesis, which means they grow more slowly than their less productive peers and eventually become diluted from the population [66]. It can therefore be useful to isolate elite individual cells and use them to seed highly productive monoclonal cell suspension cultures. Recently, flow sorting has been used to separate the most productive cells from a heterogeneous tobacco BY-2 cell culture producing a full-length human antibody, by selecting the coexpressed fluorescent marker protein DsRed located on the same T-DNA [67]. Using a feeder strategy, single cells selected by flow cytometry were regenerated into stable monoclonal cell lines with homogeneous DsRed fluorescence and antibody yields up to 13-fold higher than the parental culture.

Cell line development can improve productivity only within the boundaries of efficiency permitted by the cultivation process, so for the best results it is necessary to combine an optimized cell line with an optimized process. The first consideration is the culture medium, which is responsible for nurturing the cells and maintaining them under conditions that favor recombinant protein production. As discussed previously, aquatic plant cultures such as moss and duckweed are maintained in water with minimal mineral nutrition, with biomass derived by photosynthesis. In contrast, most plant cell suspension cultures require a more complex medium that provides one or often two nitrogen sources (nitrate and ammonium) in a defined ratio, as well as mineral nutrients, a carbon/energy source, other complex organics as necessary, and plant growth regulators to maintain the cells in an undifferentiated state. Examples include the widely used Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium [68] and Gamborg's B5 medium [69], but these are often varied to take account of species-dependent nutrient requirements and the characteristics of particular cell lines. Indeed, it has recently been appreciated that specific media are required for the production of different recombinant proteins, which has resulted in a shift away from trial-and-error testing toward more systematic approaches based on statistical experimental designs [18]. The addition of more nitrogen to the MS medium can improve the productivity of BY-2 cells by up to 150-fold in the stationary phase, ultimately improving yields by up to 20-fold [70, 71]. The online analysis of oxygen consumption using a respiration activity monitoring system (RAMOS) is a useful tool for process and medium optimization. This allowed the detection of metabolic changes in transgenic BY-2 cells cultivated in shake flasks, and further analysis of the nutrients in the spent MS medium revealed that the metabolic shift was caused by ammonia depletion. Supplementing the medium with additional ammonium doubled the amount of recombinant green fluorescent protein (GFP) produced by these cells, and the same medium also doubled the productivity of transgenic NT-1 cells producing the influenza hemagglutinin protein [71]. In later studies, multiple parameters were tested in statistical experimental designs to optimize the culture medium and thereby improve the productivity of BY-2 cells [72] and tobacco hairy roots [73].

9.4.2

Improving the Quality and Consistency of Recombinant Proteins Produced in Cell Suspension Cultures

The quality and consistency of recombinant proteins produced in plant cells depends on two types of processing, namely the processing associated with protein synthesis and activity (e.g., folding, glycosylation, phosphorylation), and the processing associated with protein damage and degradation (e.g., oxidation, proteolysis). Ideally, the production process handles these forms of processing using distinct strategies – the processing associated with protein synthesis is encouraged and tailored for specific applications, whereas the processing associated with protein degradation is inhibited or prevented.

Although plants carry out most of the post-translational modifications that occur in animal cells, by far the most important in terms of its impact on pharmaceutical quality is glycosylation. This is because ~30% of all approved biopharmaceuticals carry N-linked glycans, and these can have a profound impact on protein structure, activity, stability/longevity, and immunogenicity. The glycosylation machinery in plants and mammals is similar but not identical. In both cases, nascent polypeptides with the consensus motif NXS/T (where X is any amino acid except proline) are augmented with an oligosaccharide precursor, which is attached to the asparagine residue during co-translational import into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). As the protein matures, the oligosaccharide precursor is trimmed to a high-mannose-type glycan that is identical in plants and mammals, and then further modified in the Golgi apparatus by enzymes that are species-dependent, thus resulting in different complex-type glycans in different species. Plant glycoproteins tend to contain core β -1,2-xylose and α -1,3-fucose residues that are not present in mammalian glycoproteins, whereas mammalian glycoproteins contain β -1,4-galactose and terminal sialic acid residues that are not present in plants [74].

Plant glycans were initially considered a risk because of their potential immunogenicity and potential impact on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics,

but there is little evidence that they pose any danger. For example, the only plant-derived pharmaceutical protein currently approved for injection into humans (Elelyso, see Box 9.1) contains the aforementioned core β -1,2-xylose and α -1,3-fucose residues but demonstrated no immunogenicity or other adverse effects, even after repeated doses. Even so, there has been a significant effort to remove or replace plant glycans, which, although unnecessary in hindsight, has nevertheless allowed the development of a plethora of technologies to achieve the control of glycosylation in plants. This has achieved two major benefits – the creation of "biobetters" (i.e., products with tailored glycans that improve their properties as drugs) and the ability to produce glycoproteins with homogeneous glycan profiles, which is advantageous from a regulatory perspective.

The simplest way to avoid plant-like glycan residues is to add the tetrapeptide H/KDEL to the C-terminus of pharmaceutical proteins, causing them to be retrieved to the ER before the plant-type complex glycans are added. This strategy has been used to produce many high-mannose recombinant glycoproteins in whole plants and plant cell suspension cultures [75], but it has two significant drawbacks. First, the presence of the additional peptide extension alters the sequence of the protein and therefore may affect its activity and stability, also attracting a higher regulatory burden. Second, ER retention means the protein cannot be secreted, thus removing one of the principal benefits of plant cell suspension cultures, which is the ability to recover homogeneous proteins from the culture supernatant. Alternative strategies have therefore focused on preventing the enzymatic addition of plant complex glycan structures by mutating or inhibiting the corresponding enzymes, for example, by gene targeting [39, 42] or RNA interference [49]. In the latter case, the human anti-CD30 antibody MDX-060 was produced in L. minor without plant glycans, and this variant demonstrated a >10-fold higher affinity for the human $Fc\gamma RIII$ receptor and >20-fold higher antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) against a tumor cell line in vitro than its counterpart produced in CHO cells. This provides an excellent example of glycomodification being used to develop "biobetter" pharmaceutical products. Although glycan structures are typically controlled using genetic strategies, the medium composition can also have an important impact. For example, the addition of N-acetylglucosamine to tobacco BY-2 cells resulted in a dosedependent shift from paucimannosidic or hybrid type to complex type N-glycans [76], whereas sugar depletion in rice suspension cell cultures changes the glycan profiles of secreted glycoproteins [77].

As discussed previously, recombinant proteins are modified not only during synthesis but also during damage and degradation. Degradation caused by intracellular or extracellular proteases reduces both the yield and quality of recombinant proteins, and the resulting protein fragments must be removed during downstream processing. Degradation may occur *in vivo*, during extraction and/or during subsequent downstream processing, but the extracellular compartments of the plant cell (apoplast and cell wall) and the external environment (the culture medium) appear to be particularly rich in proteolytic enzymes [17, 18, 78]. Extracellular degradation can be avoided by ER retention, because the ER

contains abundant molecular chaperones that facilitate protein folding/assembly and enhance their stability [9]. Many recombinant proteins accumulate to higher levels (one or two orders of magnitude) in the ER compared to the apoplast [79], but as stated previously, this affects the glycan structures of the resulting proteins and also means they have to be liberated from the cell, releasing all the endogenous proteins and other contaminants. It is also unclear which proteases contribute most to intracellular and extracellular proteolytic activity, because hundreds of different proteases are produced by plant cells and their abundance varies throughout the production cycle [80]. Certain cysteine and serine proteases have been implicated in the degradation of human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor [81] and antibodies [82-84], whereas specific metalloproteinases have been invoked in the degradation of recombinant DSPA α 1 produced by tobacco BY-2 cells [85], but generally it is difficult to identify specific culprits on a case-by-case basis [18]. Once the specific proteases responsible for recombinant protein degradation are known, it should in theory be possible to target the corresponding genes or inhibit the enzymes by RNA interference, but this may have unintended effects on the plant cell if the proteases fulfill a critical housekeeping role [86]. An alternative strategy is to inhibit protease activity specifically in the vicinity of the recombinant protein by coexpressing a protease inhibitor [87, 88]. Further strategies include the coexpression or external addition of a "decoy" protein such as human serum albumin or gelatin, to mop up excess protease activity [89], or the more straightforward approach of capturing the recombinant protein immediately after secretion using an appropriate affinity reagent [90].

9.5

Regulatory and Industry Barriers on the Road to Commercialization

Technical barriers affecting the quality and quantity of recombinant proteins produced using *in vitro* plant-based expression platforms have been largely addressed, but the commercialization of plant cell technology also requires plant cells to match their mammalian counterparts in terms of regulatory compliance. The cryopreservation of mammalian cells is an industry standard that allows the provision of master and working cell banks whose quality and productivity are consistent over time. Similarly, the performance of plant cell lines can change over time (in terms of growth rate and recombinant protein productivity), reflecting the impact of somaclonal variation as discussed above. Therefore, the cryopreservation of plant cells/tissues in liquid nitrogen is necessary for long-term genetic conservation, as well as the establishment of master cell banks under GMP guidelines. Whereas the gold standard mammalian cell lines behave in a similar manner, allowing generic cryopreservation strategies to be employed, the properties of plant cells are diverse and species-dependent, requiring unique cryopreservation protocols for different cell lines [91, 92]. These protocols are currently based on three main approaches, namely controlled-rate cooling

(two-step/equilibrium freezing), which requires a slow cooling gradient (1 °C min⁻¹) to an intermediate low temperature (-30/-40 °C) before rapid cooling in liquid nitrogen, or vitrification with 5–8 M cryoprotectants at nonfreezing temperatures to promote dehydration before ultrarapid cooling in liquid nitrogen, or desiccation with or without encapsulation in alginate beads. Successful cryopreservation has been achieved in many species, but the protocols are usually optimized using nontransgenic cell lines and evaluated using criteria such as cell growth and morphology. There are limited data for transgenic lines and, as is the routine approach with mammalian cells, it is important to quantify the success of plant cell cryopreservation in terms of productivity after recovery [93].

Once regulatory barriers have been overcome, the final hurdle is the conversion of laboratory-based demonstrations into industrial processes. Plant cell cultures must therefore be scaled up during process development to achieve commercial productivity. Cell line development and optimization are usually carried out using small-scale vessels such as microtiter plates, shake flasks, or disposable 50-ml bioreactors. However, there are many different bioreactor designs for larger scale cultivation. Floating plants and hairy root cultures require specialized bioreactors, but most plant cell cultures are grown as homogeneous suspensions similar to microbial and mammalian cell fermentations, and these can be maintained in stirred-tank bioreactors, bubble column bioreactors, air-lift bioreactors, singleuse stirred-tank bioreactors, wave-mixed bioreactors, and membrane bioreactors. The choice depends on the species and culture type, based on characteristics such as cell or tissue growth, morphology and aggregation, shear sensitivity, oxygen demand, and culture rheological properties. For example, moss cultures need light and cannot be grown in stainless steel fermenters, whereas tobacco cells are heterotrophic and are well suited to such vessels. The status and characteristics of different types of bioreactors for recombinant protein production in plant cell/tissue suspension cultures have recently been discussed [94]. The manufacture of antibodies in tobacco BY-2 cells can be scaled up from shake flasks to 200-l disposable bioreactors [95].

Plant cell/tissue suspension cultures are often maintained in reusable bioreactor systems made of glass or stainless steel. These tend to be stirred-tank bioreactors with large, slow-moving axial and radial flow impellers, delivering maximum biomass values of 60–70% packed cell volume [96]. The typical design incorporates marine or pitched blade impellers and a ring sparger for aeration, which ensures cell growth without cell damage even though many cultures become non-Newtonian fluids with increasing culture broth viscosity [97] and can form surface foams if appropriate antifoaming agents are not used [98].

Reusable bioreactors require regular cleaning to avoid contamination, which involves the use of harsh chemicals for cleaning-in-place (CIP) and steam venting for sterilization-in-place (SIP). These expensive and time-consuming operations can be avoided by using disposable bioreactors, where the fermentation takes place within a disposable plastic bag [99]. The disposable systems are expensive in terms of consumables, but the additional costs are more than offset by the savings accrued by omitting CIP/SIP procedures and the reduced risk of contamination. Elelyso, the only plant-derived pharmaceutical protein currently approved for human use by the FDA, is produced in carrot cells cultivated in bubble column-type bioreactors fitted with disposable polyethylene bags [100].

Most biopharmaceuticals are formulated as a purified product, so the majority of pharmaceutical proteins produced in plants must be extracted from plant tissue or recovered from culture medium and then purified and formulated in the same way as conventional biopharmaceutical products. Regardless of the upstream production platform, downstream processing can account for up to 80% of the total manufacturing costs for a pharmaceutical protein [58]. The early processing steps are largely platform-dependent, so intracellular proteins must be released by mechanical disruption in the presence of an appropriate extraction buffer, and the extract must be clarified by filtration and/or centrifugation to remove debris, fibers, and other particulates, which increase the overall downstream processing costs. Therefore, the secretion of recombinant proteins into the cell culture medium is advantageous, because the purification process can begin immediately after the cells are removed (e.g., by filtration or centrifugation) or even during production, if appropriate affinity reagents are available. Many natural and synthetic affinity ligands can be used for the capture of antibodies, for example, the natural ligand protein A and the synthetic ligand mercaptoethylpyridine (MEP HyperCel[™]) [101]. The captured recombinant protein is "polished" by the application of two or more orthogonal separation methods, which remove process-related impurities such as host cell proteins and nucleic acids, and product-related impurities such as degradation fragments, unfolded proteins, and aggregates. In the well-characterized process of antibody purification, up to 85% of the product can be recovered from the harvested culture broth [18].

9.6 Outlook

Plant cell suspension cultures have now been accepted as a commercially viable production platform for niche pharmaceutical proteins, namely those whose quality, activity, or delivery can be improved by virtue of using plant cells. It is unlikely that plant cells will ever replace mammalian cells as the mainstream industry platform for pharmaceutical proteins given that the latter have an enormous head start in terms of strain and process development and regulatory compliance, but the first wave of products derived from plant cells have ensured that the platform can never again be dismissed solely for its emergent status, unproven commercial viability, or lack of regulatory framework. In this sense, plant cells qualify as a disruptive technology, that is, a technology that does not achieve incremental improvements on an incumbent platform but one that offers the potential for game-changing market reorganization. Disruptive technologies tend to become established in niche, high-end markets and then gradually spread to displace their rivals once their credentials are established and they are no longer regarded

as a risk. Although the productivity of BY-2 cells is more than an order of magnitude lower than CHO cells, the advantage of plant cells is not their yield but the simple and inexpensive cultivation medium, their inability to support the replication of human pathogens, the lack of endogenous viruses and oncogenic DNA sequences, the ability to tailor the post-translational modification of proteins to generate "biobetter" drugs, and the ability to encapsulate protein antigens in edible plant-cell pellets to prolong their contact with the mucosal immune system [5]. Process development in the context of plant cell suspension cultures is an emerging field, comprising strain and medium optimization and the statistical testing of different upstream and downstream process designs to promote recombinant protein accumulation. The FDA approval of recombinant glucocerebrosidase produced in carrot cells has demonstrated the competitiveness of plant-cell-based production platforms in niche markets, but further candidates must now be produced using GMP-compliant, large-scale processes and the products entered into clinical trials to demonstrate the overall sustainability of contained and controlled plant cell and tissue culture systems. The benefits of plant-type glycans and the use of the plant matrix to enhance the immunogenicity of animal vaccines and avoid cost-intensive purification processes are unique selling points that can be exploited in the next generation of pharmaceutical products from plant cells.

Box 9.1 The Pioneers

Hemagglutinin-neuraminidase glycoprotein

The Newcastle disease vaccine for poultry was developed by Dow AgroSciences LLC and was the first plant cell-derived pharmaceutical product to be approved. The vaccine is the recombinant hemagglutinin-neuraminidase (HN) glycoprotein of the Newcastle disease virus (NDV). HN is one of two viral surface glycoproteins and the major surface antigen that induces neutralizing antibodies. It is used as a vaccine to induce a protective immune response against NDV in domestic poultry and other avian species, thereby helping to prevent the spread of this acute and contagious disease. The vaccine was produced in transgenic tobacco NT-1 suspension cells and accumulated within the cells. Processing comprised a basic extraction followed by injection of the crude extract containing recombinant HN into chickens, thus reducing the production costs sufficiently to make a plant-derived veterinary vaccine economically viable. The activity of the unpurified vaccine was demonstrated in vitro using hemagglutination assays, and the HN protein conferred full protection in chickens that were challenged with the virus. Although the vaccine was approved by the USDA in February 2006 for use in poultry, a strategic decision was made by Dow AgroSciences not to introduce the product into the market [102].

Elelyso

Recombinant glucocerebrosidase (prGCD, taliglucerase alfa, Elelyso), manufactured in carrot cells by Protalix Biotherapeutics and distributed by Pfizer Inc., was approved by the FDA in May 2012 for human use (http://www.fda.gov/ NewsEvents/Newsroom/PressAnnouncements/ucm302549.htm). Recombinant glucocerebrosidase is needed to replace the nonfunctional enzyme in patients with the monogenic disorder Gaucher's disease, who otherwise cannot degrade alucosylceramides, which therefore accumulate in the lysosomes of phagocytes. Clinical symptoms of the disease include hepatosplenomegalia, anemia, and thrombocytopenia. Patients have been treated with a recombinant version of the enzyme (imiglucerase, Cerezyme) produced in CHO cells [103], which is one of the most expensive biopharmaceuticals on the market, with an annual treatment cost of USD 200 000 per patient [104]. The recombinant imiglucerase is purified from the CHO cell culture medium and must then be processed enzymatically to expose terminal mannose residues that are required for the efficient uptake of the enzyme into macrophages. Taliglucerase alfa from carrot cells does not require these additional processing steps because it is targeted to the cell vacuole where the complex type N-glycans are trimmed to the paucimannose form, exposing terminal mannose residues [105]. The marketing of glucocerebrosidase has taken advantage of an abbreviated approval process that allows direct progression from phase I to phase III trials because the drug falls within the scope of the Orphan Drug Act.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge support from the EU-funded project CoMoFarm (227420), the COST Action Molecular Farming (FA0804), and the BMBF-funded projects ERA-IB 3 PRODuCE (031A219A) and ERA-IB 4 INNOVATE (031A339). They would like to thank the members of these consortia for the stimulating discussions on the current and future directions and challenges of plants and plant cell suspension cultures for the production of biopharmaceuticals.

References

- Ma, J.K., Drake, P.M., and Christou, P. (2003) The production of recombinant pharmaceutical proteins in plants. *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, 4, 794–805.
- 2 Paul, M. and Ma, J.K. (2011) Plant-made pharmaceuticals: Leading products and production platforms. *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.*, 58, 58–67.
- **3** Fischer, R., Schillberg, S., Buyel, J.F., and Twyman, R.M. (2013) Commercial aspects of pharmaceutical production in plants. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, **19**, 5471–5477.
- 4 Fischer, R., Vasilev, N., Twyman, R.M., and Schillberg, S. (2015) Highvalue products from plants: The challenges of process optimization. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **32**, 156–162.
- 5 Stoger, E., Fischer, R., Moloney, M., and Ma, J.K. (2014) Plant molecular pharming for the treatment of chronic and infectious diseases. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 65, 743–768.
- 6 Paul, M.J., Teh, A.Y., Twyman, R.M., and Ma, J.K. (2013) Target product

selection: Where can molecular pharming make the difference? *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, **19**, 5478–5485.

- Nagels, B., Weterings, K., Callewaert, N., and van Damme, E.J.M. (2012) Production of plant made pharmaceuticals: From plant host to functional protein. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.*, 31, 148–180.
- 8 Rybicki, E.P. (2010) Plant-made vaccines for humans and animals. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 8, 620–637.
- 9 Twyman, R.M., Schillberg, S., and Fischer, R. (2013) Optimizing the yield of recombinant pharmaceutical proteins in plants. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, 19, 5486–5494.
- IAPO (International Alliance of Patients' Organizations) (2013) Briefing paper on plant-made pharmaceuticals. The use of genetically modified plants to produce human therapeutic proteins: A summary of existing and potential benefits and risks.
- 11 Fischer, R., Schillberg, S., Hellwig, S., Twyman, R.M., and Drossard, J. (2012) GMP issues for recombinant plant-derived pharmaceutical proteins. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **30**, 434–439.
- 12 Sparrow, P.A., Irwin, J.A., Dale, P.J., Twyman, R.M., and Ma, J.K. (2007) Pharma-planta: Road testing the developing regulatory guidelines for plant-made pharmaceuticals. *Transgenic Res.*, 16, 147–161.
- 13 Grabowski, G.A., Golembo, M., and Shaaltiel, Y. (2014) Taliglucerase alfa: An enzyme replacement therapy using plant cell expression technology. *Mol. Genet. Metab.*, 11, S49.
- 14 Hiatt, A., Cafferkey, R., and Bowdish, K. (1989) Production of antibodies in transgenic plants. *Nature*, 342, 76–78.
- 15 Sijmons, P.C., Dekker, B.M., Schrammeijer, B., Verwoerd, T.C., van den Elzen, P.J., and Hoekema, A. (1990) Production of correctly processed human serum albumin in transgenic plants. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 8, 217–221.
- 16 Roberts, S.C. and Shuler, M.L. (1997) Large-scale plant cell culture. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 8, 154–159.
- Hellwig, S., Drossard, J., Twyman, R.M., and Fischer, R. (2004) Plant cell

cultures for the production of recombinant proteins. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **22**, 1415–1422.

- 18 Schillberg, S., Raven, N., Fischer, R., Twyman, R.M., and Schiermeyer, A. (2013) Molecular farming of pharmaceutical proteins using plant suspension cell and tissue cultures. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, 19, 5531–5542.
- 19 Nagata, T., Nemoto, Y., and Hasezawa, S. (1992) Tobacco BY-2 cell line as the "HeLa" cell in the cell biology of higher plants. *Int. Rev. Cytol.*, **132**, 1–30.
- 20 Decker, E.L. and Reski, R. (2007) Moss bioreactors producing improved biopharmaceuticals. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 18, 393–398.
- Gasdaska, J.R., Spencer, D., and Dickey, L. (2003) Advantages of therapeutic protein production in the aquatic plant *Lemna. BioProcess. J.*, 2, 49–56.
- Medina-Bolívar, F. and Cramer, C. (2004) Production of recombinant proteins by hairy roots cultured in plastic sleeve bioreactors. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, 267, 351–363.
- 23 Mikschofsky, H., Hammer, M., Schmidtke, J., Konig, P., Keil, G., Schirrmeier, H., Schmidt, K., and Broer, I. (2009) Optimization of growth performance of freshly induced carrot suspensions concerning PMP production. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Plant*, 45, 740–749.
- 24 An, G. (1985) High efficiency transformation of cultured tobacco cells. *Plant Physiol.*, **79**, 568–570.
- 25 O'Neill, K.M., Larsen, J.S., and Curtis, W.R. (2008) Scale-up of agrobacteriummediated transient protein expression in bioreactor-grown *Nicotiana glutinosa* plant cell suspension culture. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 24, 372–376.
- 26 Winicur, Z.M., Zhang, G.F., and Staehelin, L.A. (1998) Auxin deprivation induces synchronous Golgi differentiation in suspension-cultured tobacco BY-2 cells. *Plant Physiol.*, 117, 501–513.
- 27 Torres, E., Vaquero, C., Nicholson, L., Sack, M., Stoger, E., Drossard, J., Christou, P., Fischer, R., and Perrin, Y. (1999) Rice cell culture as an alternative production system for functional

diagnostic and therapeutic antibodies. *Transgenic Res.*, **8**, 441–449.

- 28 Wolfson, W. (2013) Grow your own: Protalix BioTherapeutics produces drugs in carrot cells. *Chem. Biol.*, 20, 969–970.
- 29 Plasson, C., Michel, R., Lienard, D., Saint-Jore-Dupas, C., Sourrouille, C., de March, G.G., and Gomord, V. (2009) Production of recombinant proteins in suspension-cultured plant cells. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, 483, 145–161.
- 30 Pires, A.S., Rosa, S., Castanheira, S., Fevereiro, P., and Abranches, R. (2012) Expression of a recombinant human erythropoietin in suspension cell cultures of *Arabidopsis*, tobacco and *Medicago. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, 110, 171–181.
- 31 Ganapathi, T.R., Sunil Kumar, G.B., Srinivas, L., Revathi, C.J., and Bapat, V.A. (2007) Analysis of the limitations of hepatitis B surface antigen expression in soybean cell suspension cultures. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 26, 1575–1584.
- 32 Kwon, T.-H., Kim, Y.-S., Lee, J.-H., and Yang, M.-S. (2003) Production and secretion of biologically active human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor in transgenic tomato suspension cultures. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, 25, 1571–1574.
- 33 Sharp, J.M. and Doran, P.M. (2001) Strategies for enhancing monoclonal antibody accumulation in plant cell and organ cultures. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 17, 979–992.
- 34 Huang, J., Wu, L., Yalda, D., Adkins, Y., Kelleher, S.L., Crane, M., Lonnerdal, B., Rodriguez, R.L., and Huang, N. (2002) Expression of functional recombinant human lysozyme in transgenic rice cell culture. *Transgenic Res.*, 11, 229–239.
- 35 Gaume, A., Komarnytsky, S., Borisjuk, N., and Raskin, I. (2003) Rhizosecretion of recombinant proteins from plant hairy roots. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 21, 1188–1193.
- 36 Guillon, S., Tremouillaux-Guiller, J., Pati, P.K., Rideau, M., and Gantet, P. (2006) Harnessing the potential of hairy roots: Dawn of a new era. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 24, 403–409.

- 37 Skarjinskaia, M., Karl, J., Araujo, A., Ruby, K., Rabindran, S., Streatfield, S.J., and Yusibov, V. (2008) Production of recombinant proteins in clonal root cultures using episomal expression vectors. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 100, 814–819.
- 38 Larsen, J.S. and Curtis, W.R. (2012) RNA viral vectors for improved Agrobacterium-mediated transient expression of heterologous proteins in *Nicotiana benthamiana* cell suspensions and hairy roots. *BMC Biotechnol.*, 12, 21.
- 39 Koprivova, A., Stemmer, C., Altmann, F., Hoffmann, A., Kopriva, S., Gorr, G., Reski, R., and Decker, E.L. (2004) Targeted knockouts of *Physcomitrella* lacking plant-specific immunogenic *N*glycans. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 2, 517–523.
- 40 Schuster, M., Jost, W., Mudde, G.C., Wiederkum, S., Schwager, C., Janzek, E., Altmann, F., Stadlmann, J., Stemmer, C., and Gorr, G. (2007) *In vivo* glycoengineered antibody with improved lytic potential produced by an innovative non-mammalian expression system. *Biotechnol. J.*, 2, 700–708.
- 41 Baur, A., Kaufmann, F., Rolli, H., Weise, A., Luethje, R., Berg, B., Braun, M., Baeumer, W., Kietzmann, M., Reski, R., and Gorr, G. (2005) A fast and flexible PEG-mediated transient expression system in plants for high level expression of secreted recombinant proteins. *J. Biotechnol.*, **119**, 332–342.
- Weise, A., Altmann, F., Rodriguez-Franco, M., Sjoberg, E.R., Baumer, W., Launhardt, H., Kietzmann, M., and Gorr, G. (2007) High-level expression of secreted complex glycosylated recombinant human erythropoietin in the *Physcomitrella* D-fuc-t D-xyl-t mutant. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 5, 389–401.
- **43** Rasala, B.A., Muto, M., Sullivan, J., and Mayfield, S.P. (2011) Improved heterologous protein expression in the chloroplast of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* through promoter and 5' untranslated region optimization. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **9**, 674–683.
- 44 Dreesen, I.A.J., Charpin-El Hamri, G., and Fussenegger, M. (2010) Heat-stable oral alga-based vaccine protects mice

from *Staphylococcus aureus* infection. *J. Biotechnol.*, **145**, 273–280.

- 45 Dickey, L., Gasdaska, J. and Cox, K. (2011) Expression of biologically active polypeptides in duckweed. US Patent 8,022,270 B2.
- 46 Rival, S., Wisniewski, J.P., Langlais, A., Kaplan, H., Freyssinet, G., Vancanneyt, G., Vunsh, R., Perl, A., and Edelman, M. (2008) Spirodela (duckweed) as an alternative production system for pharmaceuticals: A case study, aprotinin. *Transgenic Res.*, 17, 503–513.
- Woodard, S.L., Wilken, L.R., Barros, G.O., White, S.G., and Nikolov, Z.L. (2009) Evaluation of monoclonal antibody and phenolic extraction from transgenic *Lemna* for purification process development. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 104, 562–571.
- 48 Popov, S.V., Golovchenko, V.V., Ovodova, R.G., Smirnov, V.V., Khramova, D.S., Popova, G.Y., and Ovodov, Y.S. (2006) Characterisation of the oral adjuvant effect of lemnan, a pectic polysaccharide of *Lemna minor* L. *Vaccine*, 24, 5413–5419.
- 49 Cox, K.M., Sterling, J.D., Regan, J.T., Gasdaska, J.R., Frantz, K.K., Peele, C.G., Black, A., Passmore, D., Moldovan-Loomis, C., Srinivasan, M., Cuison, S., Cardarelli, P.M., and Dickey, L.F. (2006) Glycan optimization of a human monoclonal antibody in the aquatic plant *Lemna minor*. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 24, 1591–1597.
- 50 Cross, J.W. (2015) The rise and fall of a duckweed biotechnology firm: what can it tell us?. *ISCDRA* 3, 83–88.
- 51 Kim, H.-H., Wheeler, R.M., Sager, J.C., Yorio, N.C., and Goins, G.D. (2005) Light-emitting diodes as an illumination source for plants: A review of research at Kennedy Space Center. *Habitation* (*Elmsford*), 10, 71–78.
- 52 Graves, C.J. (1983) The nutrient film technique. *Hortic. Rev.*, 5, 1–44.
- 53 Harris, E.H. (2001) Chlamydomonas as a model organism. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol.*, 52, 363–406.
- 54 Gleba, Y., Klimyuk, V., and Marillonnet, S. (2005) Magnifection: A new platform for expressing recombinant vaccines in plants. *Vaccine*, 23, 2042–2048.

- 55 Pogue, G.P., Vojdani, F., Palmer, K.E., Hiatt, E., Hume, S., Phelps, J., Long, L., Bohorova, N., Kim, D., Pauly, M., Velasco, J., Whaley, K., Zeitlin, L., Garger, S.J., White, E., Bai, Y., Haydon, H., and Bratcher, B. (2010) Production of pharmaceutical-grade recombinant aprotinin and a monoclonal antibody product using plant-based transient expression systems. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 8, 638–654.
- 56 Sainsbury, F., Sack, M., Stadlmann, J., Quendler, H., Fischer, R., and Lomonossoff, G.P. (2010) Rapid transient production in plants by replicating and non-replicating vectors yields high quality functional anti-HIV antibody. *PLoS One*, 5, e13976.
- 57 Hamilton, P.B. and Huisingh, D. (1968) Murine toxicity of Agrobacterium tumefaciens. J. Bacteriol., 95, 901–906.
- 58 Menkhaus, T.J., Bai, Y., Zhang, C., Nikolov, Z.L., and Glatz, C.E. (2004) Considerations for the recovery of recombinant proteins from plants. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 20, 1001–1014.
- 59 Conrad, U. and Fiedler, U. (1998) Compartment-specific accumulation of recombinant immunoglobulins in plant cells: An essential tool for antibody production and immunomodulation of physiological functions and pathogen activity. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 38, 101–109.
- **60** Nocarova, E. and Fischer, L. (2009) Cloning of transgenic tobacco BY-2 cells: An efficient method to analyse and reduce high natural heterogeneity of transgene expression. *BMC Plant Biol.*, **9**, 44.
- 61 Crossway, A., Oakes, J.V., Irvine, J.M., Ward, B., Knauf, V.C., and Shewmaker, C.K. (1986) Integration of foreign DNA following microinjection of tobacco mesophyll protoplasts. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, 202, 179–185.
- 62 Schnorf, M., Neuhaus-Url, G., Galli, A., Iida, S., Potrykus, I., and Neuhaus, G. (1991) An improved approach for transformation of plant cells by microinjection: Molecular and genetic analysis. *Transgenic Res.*, 1, 23–30.

- 63 Bortesi, L. and Fischer, R. (2015) The CRISPR/Cas9 system for plant genome editing and beyond. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 33, 41–52.
- 64 Schneider, K., Schiermeyer, A., Dolls, A., Koch, N., Herwartz, D., Kirchhoff, J., Fischer, R., Russell, S.M., Cao, Z., Corbin, D.R., Sastry-Dednt, L., Ainley, W.M., Webb, S., Schinkel, H., and Schillberg, S. (2016) Targeted gene exchange in plant cells mediated by a simultaneous zinc finger nuclease double-cut. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 14, 1151–1160.
- 65 James, E. and Lee, J.M. (2006) Loss and recovery of protein productivity in genetically modified plant cell lines. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 25, 723–727.
- 66 Ikeda, T., Matsumoto, T., Obi, Y., Kisaki, T., and Noguchi, M. (1981) Characteristics of cultured tobacco cell strains producing high-levels of ubiquinone-10 selected by a cell cloning technique. *Agric. Biol. Chem.*, 45, 2259–2263.
- 67 Kirchhoff, J., Raven, N., Boes, A., Roberts, J.L., Russell, S., Treffenfeldt, W., Fischer, R., Schinkel, H., Schiermeyer, A., and Schillberg, S. (2012) Monoclonal tobacco cell lines with enhanced recombinant protein yields can be generated from heterogeneous cell suspension cultures by flow sorting. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **10**, 936–944.
- 68 Murashige, T. and Skoog, F. (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassay with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol. Plant.*, **15**, 473–497.
- 69 Gamborg, O.L., Miller, R.A., and Ojima, K. (1968) Nutrient requirements of suspension cultures of soybean root cells. *Exp. Cell. Res.*, 50, 151–158.
- 70 Holland, T., Sack, M., Rademacher, T., Schmale, K., Altmann, F., Stadlmann, J., Fischer, R., and Hellwig, S. (2010) Optimal nitrogen supply as a key to increased and sustained production of a monoclonal full-size antibody in BY-2 suspension culture. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 107, 278–289.
- 71 Ullisch, D.A., Müller, C.A., Maibaum, S., Kirchhoff, J., Schiermeyer, A., Schillberg, S., Roberts, J.L., Treffenfeldt, W., and Büchs, J. (2012) Comprehensive

characterization of *Nicotiana tabacum* BY-2 cell growth leads to doubled GFP concentration by media optimization. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, **113**, 242–248.

- 72 Vasilev, N., Grömping, U., Lipperts, A., Raven, N., Fischer, R., and Schillberg, S. (2013) Optimization of BY-2 cell suspension culture medium for the production of a human antibody using a combination of fractional factorial designs and the response surface method. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **11**, 867–874.
- 73 Häkkinen, S.T., Raven, N., Henquet, M., Laukkanen, M.L., Anderlei, T., Pitkänen, J.P., Twyman, R.M., Bosch, D., Oksman-Caldentey, K.M., Schillberg, S., and Ritala, A. (2014) Molecular farming in tobacco hairy roots by triggering the secretion of a pharmaceutical antibody. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **11**, 336–346.
- 74 Gomord, V., Fitchette, A.C., Menu-Bouaouiche, L., Saint-Jore-Dupas, C., Plasson, C., Michaud, D., and Faye, L. (2010) Plant-specific glycosylation patterns in the context of therapeutic protein production. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 8, 564–587.
- 75 Sriraman, R., Bardor, M., Sack, M., Vaquero, C., Faye, L., Fischer, R., Finnern, R., and Lerouge, P. (2004) Recombinant anti-hCG antibodies retained in the endoplasmic reticulum of transformed plants lack core-xylose and core-alpha(1,3)-fucose residues. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 2, 279–287.
- 76 Becerra-Arteaga, A. and Shuler, M.L. (2007) Influence of culture medium supplementation of tobacco NT1 cell suspension cultures on the Nglycosylation of human secreted alkaline phosphatase. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 97, 1585–1593.
- 77 Shin, Y.-J., Chong, Y.-J., Yang, M.-S., and Kwon, T.-H. (2011) Production of recombinant human granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor in rice cell suspension culture with a human-like *N*-glycan structure. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 9, 1109–1119.
- 78 Rivard, D., Anguenot, R., Brunelle, F., Le, V.Q., Vézina, L.P., Trépanier, S., and Michaud, D. (2006) An in-built proteinase inhibitor system for the

protection of recombinant proteins recovered from transgenic plants. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **4**, 359–368.

- 79 Spiegel, H., Schillberg, S., Sack, M., Holzem, A., Nahring, J., Monecke, M., Liao, Y.C., and Fischer, R. (1999) Accumulation of antibody fusion proteins in the cytoplasm and ER of plant cells. *Plant Sci.*, **149**, 63–71.
- 80 van der Hoorn, R.A. (2008) Plant proteases: From phenotypes to molecular mechanisms. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 59, 191–223.
- 81 Kim, N.S., Kim, T.G., Kim, O.H., Ko, E.M., Jang, Y.S., Jung, E.S., Kwon, T.H., and Yang, M.S. (2008) Improvement of recombinant hGM-CSF production by suppression of cysteine proteinase gene expression using RNA interference in a transgenic rice culture. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 68, 263–275.
- 82 Navarre, C., De Muynck, B., Alves, G., Vertommen, D., Magy, B., and Boutry, M. (2012) Identification, gene cloning and expression of serine proteases in the extracellular medium of *Nicotiana tabacum* cells. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **31**, 1959–1968.
- 83 Niemer, M., Mehofer, U., Torres Acosta, J.A., Verdianz, M., Henkel, T., Loos, A., Strasser, R., Maresch, D., Rademacher, T., Steinkellner, H., and Mach, L. (2014) The human anti-HIV antibodies 2F5, 2G12, and PG9 differ in their susceptibility to proteolytic degradation: Down-regulation of endogenous serine and cysteine proteinase activities could improve antibody production in plantbased expression platforms. *Biotechnol. J.*, **9**, 493–500.
- 84 Mandal, M.K., Fischer, R., Schillberg, S., and Schiermeyer, A. (2014) Inhibition of protease activity by antisense RNA improves recombinant protein production in *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. Bright Yellow 2 (BY-2) suspension cells. *Biotechnol. J.*, 9, 1065–1073.
- 85 Mandal, M.K., Fischer, R., Schillberg, S., and Schiermeyer, A. (2010) Biochemical properties of the matrix metalloproteinase NtMMP1 from *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. BY-2 suspension cells. *Planta*, 232, 899–910.

- 86 van der Hoorn, R.A.L. and Jones, J.D.G. (2004) The plant proteolytic machinery and its role in defence. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.*, 7, 400–407.
- 87 Kim, T.G., Kim, H.M., Lee, H.J., Shin, Y.J., Kwon, T.H., Lee, N.J., Jang, Y.S., and Yang, M.S. (2007) Reduced protease activity in transformed rice cell suspension cultures expressing a proteinase inhibitor. *Protein Expression Purif.*, 53, 270–274.
- 88 Benchabane, M., Rivard, D., Girard, C., and Michaud, D. (2009) Companion protease inhibitors to protect recombinant proteins in transgenic plant extracts. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, 483, 265–273.
- 89 Baur, A., Reski, R., and Gorr, G. (2005) Enhanced recovery of a secreted recombinant human growth factor using stabilizing additives and by coexpression of human serum albumin in the moss *Physcomitrella patens*. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 3, 331–340.
- 90 James, E., Mills, D.R., and Lee, J.M. (2002) Increased production and recovery of secreted foreign proteins from plant cell cultures using an affinity chromatography bioreactor. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 12, 205–213.
- 91 Grout, B.W.W. (2007) Cryopreservation of plant cell suspensions. *Methods Mol. Biol.*, 368, 153-161.
- 92 Mustafa, N.R., de Winter, W., van Iren, F., and Verpoorte, R. (2011) Initiation, growth and cryopreservation of plant cell suspension cultures. *Nat. Protoc.*, 6, 715–742.
- 93 Schmale, K., Rademacher, T., Fischer, R., and Hellwig, S. (2006) Towards industrial usefulness: Cryo-cell-banking of transgenic BY-2 cell cultures. *J. Biotechnol.*, **124**, 302–311.
- 94 Huang, T.-K. and McDonald, K.A. (2012) Bioreactor systems for *in vitro* production of foreign proteins using plant cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 30, 398–409.
- 95 Raven, N., Rasche, S., Kuehn, C., Anderlei, T., Klöckner, W., Schuster, F., Fischer, R., Henquet, M., Bosch, D., Büchs, J., and Schillberg, S. (2015) Scaled-up manufacturing of recombinant antibodies produced by plant cells

in a 200 L orbitally shaken disposable bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **112**, 308–321.

- 96 Eibl, R. and Eibl, D. (2008) Design of bioreactors suitable for plant cell and tissue culture. *Phytochem. Rev.*, 7, 593–598.
- 97 Kieran, P.M., MacLoughlin, P.F., and Malone, D.M. (1997) Plant cell suspension cultures: Some engineering considerations. *J. Biotechnol.*, **59**, 39–52.
- 98 Wongsamuth, R. and Doran, P.M. (1994) Foaming and cell flotation in suspended plant-cell cultures and the effect of chemical antifoams. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 44, 481–488.
- 99 Raven, N., Schillberg, S., Kirchhoff, J., Brändli, J., Imseng, N., and Eibl, R. (2011) Growth of BY-2 suspension cells and plantibody production in single-use bioreactors, in *Single-Use Technology in Biopharmaceutical Manufacture* (eds R. Eibl and D. Eibl), John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, pp. 251–261.
- 100 Shaaltiel, Y., Kirshner, Y., Shtainiz, A.Y., Naos, Y. and Shneor, Y. (2010) Disposable device for culturing and harvesting plant tissue and cells, comprises nonrigid container, and is configured with gas exchange ports and harvesting port enabling device for at least two consecutive culturing/harvesting cycles. US Patent application 2010/0112700.

- 101 Low, D., O'Leary, R., and Pujar, N.S. (2007) Future of antibody purification. *J. Chromatogr.*, 848, 48–63.
- 102 Fox, J.L. (2006) Turning plants into protein factories. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 24, 1191–1193.
- Hollak, C.E., Vom Dahl, S., Aerts, J.M., Belmatoug, N., Bembi, B., Cohen, Y., Collin-Histed, T., Deegan, P., van Dussen, L., Giraldo, P., Mengel, E., Michelakakis, H., Manuel, J., Hrebicek, M., Parini, R., Reinke, J., Di Rocco, M., Pocovi, M., Sa Miranda, M.C., Tylki-Szymanska, A., Zimran, A., and Cox, T.M. (2010) *Force majeure*: Therapeutic measures in response to restricted supply of imiglucerase (Cerezyme) for patients with Gaucher disease. *Blood Cells Mol. Dis.*, 44, 41–47.
- 104 Kaiser, J. (2008) Is the drought over for pharming? *Science*, **320**, 473–475.
- 105 Shaaltiel, Y., Bartfeld, D., Hashmueli, S., Baum, G., Brill-Almon, E., Galili, G., Dym, O., Boldin-Adamsky, S.A., Silman, I., Sussman, J.L., Futerman, A.H., and Aviezer, D. (2007) Production of glucocerebrosidase with terminal mannose glycans for enzyme replacement therapy of Gaucher's disease using a plant cell system. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 5, 579–590.

10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

Gregory R. Andrews and Susan C. Roberts

10.1 Introduction

In 1902 the Austro-German botanist Gottlieb Haberlandt reported the first attempts to cultivate plant cells *in vitro* [1]. Although Haberlandt failed to induce cell division, his bold hypotheses were eventually proven correct and inspired the work of numerous future scientists. For this reason, Haberlandt is credited with founding the science and technology of plant cell culture [2]. Routien and Nickell, in conjunction with Pfizer (New York, NY, USA), were granted the first patent for in vitro cultivation of plant cells in 1956, and describe the growth of a variety of plant cells in simple 20-l carboy systems [3]. It was not until 1983 that the first plant cell culture synthesized product, shikonin, a reddish-purple pigment used in the cosmetics industry, reached the market [4]. Since then, plant cell culture technology has experienced much success in the production of marketed, biologically active molecules (see Table 10.1) most notably the chemotherapeutic Taxol[®] (paclitaxel) and the therapeutic recombinant enzyme ELELYSO[®] (taliglucerase alfa). During the past 5 years, 288 patents have been issued pertaining to plant cell culture, more than twice the number issued in the previous 5-year interval, and a simple Web of Science search for "plant cell culture" returns 26 882 publications.

Specialized (formerly secondary) metabolites serve to protect plants from threats posed by their native environment; however, in many instances these molecules possess physical properties or biological activities of human interest. Plant cell culture offers a sustainable and economically favorable production platform for these valuable small molecules. Specialized metabolites typically represent <1% of the dry weight of the plant, rendering natural harvest low-yielding, environmentally destructive, and overall impractical [5]. For instance, 340 000 kg of *Taxus* bark or 38 000 trees are required to supply 25 kg of paclitaxel [5]. Harvesting from field-grown plants is further subject to seasonal availability, species abundance, and slow and variable growth rates [8]. Chemical synthesis of plant-derived natural

Product(s)	Species	Manufacturer	Applications	1
Specialized metabolites				
Anthocyanins	Euphorbia milii	Nippon Paint Co., Ltd (Japan)	 Textile dyes 	
	Aralia cordata		 Food colorants 	
Arbutin	Catharanthus roseus	Mitsui Chemicals, Inc. (Japan)	Cosmetics (skin lightening agent)Traditional medicine (antiseptic)	
Arctic cloudberry-derived compounds	Rubus chamaemorus	Lumene Cosmetics (Finland)	 Cosmetic ingredients 	
Berberines	Coptis japonica Thalictrum minus	Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.	 Anticancer Antibiotic Anti-inflammatory 	
Betacyanins	Beta vulgaris	Nippon Shinyaku (Japan)	 Red-violet pigment Food colorant 	
Bioactive compounds in Resistem TM	Not disclosed	Sederma (France)	Cosmetics	
Carthamin	Carthamus tinctorius	Kibun Foods, Inc. (Japan)	 Red pigment Food colorant and dve 	
Date palm-derived compounds Echinacea polysaccharides	Phoenix dactylifera L. Echinacea spp.	XTEMcell (France) Diversa (now Phyton	 Cosmetic ingredients Immunostimulant Anti-inflammatory 	
Geraniol	Geraminea spp.	Diotecti , Germany Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.	 Essential oil Primary component of rose, palmarosa, and citronella oils 	
Ginseng saponins	Panax ginseng	Nitto Denko Corp. (Japan) Unhwa Biotech Corp. (Korea)	 Dietary supplement Dietary supplement Cosmetics 	
Leontopodic acids A and B	Leontopodium alpinum	Istituto di Ricerche Biotecnologiche (IRB, Italy)	Cosmetics	

 Table 10.1
 Products produced commercially via plant cell suspension culture [5–7].

284 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

Paclitaxel	Taxus chinensis	Phyton Biotech [®] , and Samvang	 Chemotherapeutic
		Genex (South Korea)	4
Podophyllotoxin	Podophyllum spp.	Nippon Oil (Japan)	 Precursor to anticancer agents etoposide and teniposide
Rosmarinic acid	Coleus blumei	Sanofi (Germany)	 Anti-inflammatory
Scopolamine	Duboisia spp.	Sumitomo Chemical Co., Ltd (Japan)	AnticholinergicAntimuscarinic
			 Treatment of motion sickness, nausea, and intestinal cramps
Shikonin	Lithospermum	Mitsui Chemicals, Inc.	Dyes (deep red pigment)
Recombinant proteins	erythrorhizon		Antibiotic
4			
ELELYSO TM (Glucocerebrosidase)	Daucus carota	Protalix Biotherapeutics (Carmiel, Israel)	 Gaucher disease
Hemagglutinin-neuraminidase	Nicotiana tabacum	Dow AgroSciences LLC (Indianapolis,	 Poultry vaccine (currently not on
(HN) of Newcastle disease virus		IN, USA)	market)
PRX-102 (α-Galactosidase-A)	N. tabacum	Protalix Biotherapeutics	 Fabry disease (currently in Phase I/II clinical trials)
PRX-106 (antitumor necrosis factor)	N. tabacum	Protalix Biotherapeutics	• Potential arthritis treatment (completed Phase I clinical trials)
PRX-110 (deoxyribonuclease I (DNase I, AIR DNase TM))	N. tabacum	Protalix Biotherapeutics	 Cystic fibrosis (completed pre-clinical studies)
PRX-112 (oral glucocerebrosidase)	N. tabacum	Protalix Biotherapeutics	Gaucher disease (completed Phase I clinical trials)
			 Therapeutic recombinant enzyme
			encapsulated in plant cells

286 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

products is of major scientific interest but often difficult to apply on a commercial scale. The presence of multiple rings and/or chiral centers complicates synthesis of specialized metabolites from commercially available precursors. Low product yields and harsh reagent requirements further limit the chemical synthesis of complex natural products on the often desired multi-kilogram scale. Many specialized metabolites are the product of complex and/or unknown biochemical pathways, eliminating the possibility of heterologous production in microbes.

Mammalian cell culture is currently the industrial workhorse of biopharmaceutical production, with 9 of the 11 biopharmaceuticals, or biologics, approved in 2014 produced with mammalian-cell-based platforms, 8 of which utilize Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells [9]. However, plant cell culture technology presents numerous advantages over traditional microbial and mammalian-cell-based recombinant protein production platforms. Plant cells, unlike their mammalian counterparts, are inexpensive to grow and maintain and, in contrast to microbes, are capable of producing complex, multimeric proteins possessing human-like post-translational modifications [10]. Plant cell culture processes are intrinsically safer, lacking the risk of human pathogen infestation or endotoxin production associated with mammalian culture and microbial fermentation, respectively. Compared to recombinant protein production in greenhouse or field-grown plants, plant cell culture processes occur on timescales of days or weeks compared to months and can be carefully monitored throughout the entire process, which facilitates regulatory compliance. Compared to differentiated plant cell cultures such as shoot and root cultures, suspensions of dedifferentiated plant cells are more convenient for large-scale production processes and can be cultivated in existing microbial and mammalian cell culture vessels with only minor modifications.

Here we describe general bioprocess strategies, considerations, and infrastructure applied to the cultivation of plant cell suspension cultures beyond the laboratory scale, and in particular how they are influenced by the unique properties intrinsic to plant cells. The chapter focuses on bioprocessing of plant cell suspensions for production and purification of specialized metabolites and recombinant proteins, and culminates in detailed summaries of two plant-cell-based culture processes used in the synthesis of United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved therapeutics.

10.2

Culture Development and Maintenance

Initiation of plant cell suspension cultures is preceded by callus formation. In short, an excised piece of plant tissue, or explant, is surface-sterilized and placed on a solid medium containing the appropriate nutrients and hormones, exact concentrations of which are largely determined by empirical methods (Figure 10.1).

Cells on the surface of the explant begin to grow, divide, and dedifferentiate to form an unorganized mass of cells, or callus. After generally 2–6 weeks, the primary callus will have grown sufficiently large to subculture onto fresh medium with selective removal of necrotic parts [12].

Suspension cultures are prepared by inoculating friable callus, typically $50-100 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ or ~10% packed cell volume (PCV), in liquid medium [13]. Agitation of culture medium dislodges clumps of cells, or aggregates, which move freely in suspension. The heterogeneity exhibited by newly formed cell suspensions leads to unstable growth and inconsistent product formation, two characteristics



Figure 10.1 Initiation and propagation of plant cell suspension cultures. Cell image is from [11].

288 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

detrimental to bioprocesses at any scale. Cultures are typically homogenized during the first several subpassages by selecting aggregates of similar size through filtration or settling. Smaller aggregates are usually preferred for ease of handling, although the degree of aggregation has been shown to significantly impact specialized metabolite production (see Section 10.4.3). Generation times between 7 and 21 days are preferred; shorter times result in the rapid occurrence of genetic instability, often attributed to somaclonal variation (e.g., chromosome rearrangement, changes in ploidy, DNA methylation), while longer generation times increase the duration of the production processes. The entire process, from plant to stable suspension culture, may take 6-9 months; however, a stable cell line is critical for consistent product formation and compliance with current good manufacturing practices (cGMP) [12].

Although plant cells grow and divide indefinitely in culture, risk of contamination, high costs of culture maintenance, and decrease in culture production associated with long-term culturing predicate the need for a long-term storage solution. For example, production levels of hGM-CSF in tobacco NT-1 suspension cultures decreased >80% after 250 generations [14]. Cryopreservation of plant cultures, although a more complicated process than for microbial and mammalian cells, is a strict cGMP requirement for all cell-culture-based processes [15]. Regulatory agencies, such as the FDA and the European Medicines Agency (EMA), require a two-tiered cell banking system whereby a single, well-characterized clone is used to create a master cell bank. A working cell bank derived from the master cell bank is used for scale-up and production.

Cryopreservation techniques for plant cell suspension include controlled slow freeze, vitrification, and desiccation with or without encapsulation in alginate beads, although the exact procedure is cell-line-specific [12]. Phyton Biotech[®] has developed a robust, vitrification-based cryopreservation procedure that is used in the long-term storage of a plant cell culture collection comprised of ~500 species [6, 16]. Because of the plant cell's high water content, a critical component of all cryopreservation protocols is a controlled dehydration to prevent ice crystal formation upon freezing. A less sophisticated and more cost-effective solution to cryopreservation is the storage of *in vitro* cultures at 0-15 °C [17]. The reduced temperature greatly reduces metabolic activity and therefore culture growth. Although these conditions permit culture storage only for 4-6 months, the process is less damaging than cryopreservation and allows cells to be recovered more quickly and easily for use in scale-up and subsequent bioprocesses.

10.3

Choice of Culture System

In vitro specialized metabolite production is limited to cultures derived from species that synthesize the specific compound or possess a majority of the necessary biochemical pathway. Since *in vitro* production rates can be quite low, plant species known to produce the compound of interest are typically screened

to enable high yields. Preliminary studies in the development of the plantcell-suspension-based production process of the chemotherapeutic paclitaxel determined that cultures derived from *Taxus chinensis* were the best source of the high-value molecule [18]. Additionally, cultures derived from different parts of the plant may produce varying amounts of the desired compound. For example, although paclitaxel accumulates in the bark of *Taxus* species, it was found that cultures generated from needles were the most productive *in vitro* [18].

Screening for elite cell lines can be performed while the culture of interest is in callus or suspension form, regardless of the nature of the desired product (specialized metabolite or recombinant protein). If the molecule of interest is a pigment, high-producing cell aggregates may be selected visually, as was performed in the development of commercial-scale processes for berberine and shikonin by Mitsui Chemicals, Inc. [19]. Brute-force screening techniques have given way to more sophisticated methods including flow cytometry and the feeding of precursor analogs [20, 21]. A large number of suspension cultures may be grown and screened in 50-ml Cultiflasks [22]; these modified polypropylene centrifuge tubes allow relatively high throughput screening under conditions most similar to those observed in large-scale cultivations.

Heterologous protein production on an industrial scale is limited to a handful of well-characterized systems, most notably those utilizing tobacco and carrot cells [23]. The time to initiate stable suspension cultures and develop effective gene transformation procedures makes using well-studied cell lines advantageous. Standardization of *in vitro* hosts for therapeutic protein synthesis also facilitates regulatory approval of plant-cell-based production platforms.

Tobacco plants served as host for the first plant-derived recombinant protein to be produced in the laboratory [24]. Fast-forward 25 years to today, where tobacco suspension cells, especially those from the closely related BY-2 and NT-1 cultivars, are used for large-scale recombinant protein production [25, 26]. Production of numerous therapeutic proteins including antibodies, enzymes, antigens, hormones, and cytokines has been achieved in tobacco suspension cultures [27-32]. Favorable growth characteristics, straightforward transformation procedures, and inexpensive nutritional requirements make tobacco cells ideal hosts for recombinant protein synthesis [10]. Under optimal conditions, tobacco BY-2 cells can multiply 80- to 100-fold in 1 week, and their extensive use and study has led them to be coined the "HeLa cells" of plant biotechnology [33]. Fraunhofer and Dow Agro-Sciences' BY-2 based production platform CONCERT[®] vielded the first plantcell-derived recombinant protein to achieve market approval [27]. Although the vaccine antigen was intended for use in poultry and is no longer on the market, $\operatorname{CONCERT}^{\tilde{\otimes}}$ served as a powerful proof-of-concept of the capabilities of plantcell-based production platforms.

Carrot cells have recently emerged as suitable hosts, especially with the FDA approval of ELELYSO[®] (taliglucerase alfa), a therapeutic recombinant enzyme produced on a commercial scale in carrot suspension culture. Indicated for long-term enzyme replacement therapy for patients with Gaucher disease, ELELYSO[®] is the first and only FDA-approved, plant-derived biotherapeutic

290 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

[34]. Carrot cells are a model *in vitro* system and their study has allowed for a greater understanding of the basic principles of plant cell culture including callus formation, totipotency, somatic embryogenesis, and somaclonal variation [35]. Like tobacco suspensions, carrot cultures are characterized by rapid growth and numerous published gene transformation procedures. Carrots are also a component of the human diet worldwide, making them ideal hosts for the oral delivery of recombinant therapeutics, a grand challenge in the biopharmaceutical industry.

Although large-scale recombinant protein production is limited to a handful of well-studied cell lines, the feat has been achieved on a laboratory scale in cultures derived from numerous plants including rice and soybean [36, 37]. The field is also not restricted to plant cell suspensions, as heterologous protein synthesis in differentiated organ cultures and whole plants has proven quite successful [38, 39]. Recombinant protein production in plant cell culture is of great interest, as plant cells are easily grown on simple media (similar to bacteria) but are capable of producing complex, properly folded, multimeric proteins complete with post-translational modifications (different from bacteria, see Table 10.2). Although both plant- and mammalian-cell-based platforms are capable of producing mature and properly folded proteins, the costs associated with the latter are far greater because of the complex medium requirements and the potential for human pathogen contamination which leads to an increase in downstream processing costs.

Feature	Bacterial	Mammalian	Plant
Protein expression level (gl ⁻¹)	0.5-5	1-3	0.01-0.2
Molecular weight	Low	High	High
Post-translational modification	None/incorrect	Yes	Yes
Glycosylation	None/incorrect	Yes (human-like)	Yes
Protein folding accuracy	Low	High	High
Protein homogeneity	Low	High	High
Multimeric protein assembly	No	Yes	Yes
Disulfide bond formation	Limited	Yes	Yes
Cell-line stability	High	Low	Medium
Potential contaminants	Endotoxins	Virus, prions, oncogenic DNA	None
Production timescale	Short	Long	High, long
Downstream purification cost	High	High	Low
Production cost	Low	High	Low

Table 10.2 Properties of recombinant proteins from various expression systems.

Source: Adapted from [40].

Characteristic	Bacterial	Mammalian	Plant
Shape	Spherical	Spherical	Spherical/cylindrical
Size (µm)	<1	10-50	20-200
Cell wall	Yes	No	Yes
Water content (%)	75	50-70	>90
Doubling time (h)	<2	20-48	20-200
Cultivation time	Days	Days/weeks	Weeks
Product accumulation	Typically	Typically	Typically
	extracellular	extracellular	intracellular
Variability in accumulation	Low	Low	High
Product yields	High	High	Low
Cellular aggregation	No	No	Yes
Contamination risk	Low	High	Low
Shear sensitivity	Not sensitive	Very high	High
Compartmentalization	None	Compartmentalized	Compartmentalized
Cryopreservation techniques	Well developed	Well developed	Immature
Oxygen uptake rate (mmol $l^{-1} h^{-1}$)	10-90	0.05-5	5-10
$k_{\rm L}a$ required (h ⁻¹)	10-1000	0.25-10	10-50

Table 10.3 Comparison of characteristics of plant, mammalian, and bacterial cells [41, 42].

10.4 **Engineering Considerations**

Many of the large-scale cultivation techniques applied to plant cell suspensions are derived from microbial and mammalian cell fermentation and culture strategies, respectively. Plant cells, however, possess many unique characteristics that warrant special consideration during bioprocess design (Table 10.3).

10.4.1

Cell Growth and Morphology

Typical plant cells range from 10 to 100 µm in length and are semispherical or rod-like in shape. Extended subculture intervals promote cellular elongation, resulting in overall changes in morphology [13]. Cell shape has been shown to contribute significantly to the rheological properties of the medium, with an elongated cellular morphology associated with an increase in culture viscosity [43]. Plant cell suspension cultures typically exhibit doubling times of several days, far greater than those of microbes but comparable to cultured mammalian cells. Plant cells are also capable of achieving relatively high densities (>60% PCV) in suspension culture [44]. Biomass levels in large-scale cultivations are measured offline using traditional methods including gravimetric determination of fresh or

292 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

dry weight and measurements of packed or settled cell volume, or online by using the linear relationship between medium conductivity and culture growth [45, 46].

10.4.2 Gas Requirements

Most plant cell suspensions are heterotrophic, that is, are unable to fix carbon dioxide, because of the lack of chloroplasts (a result of culturing in the dark) and consequently consume oxygen for cellular respiration and metabolism while producing carbon dioxide. Oxygen uptake rates (OURs) of 5-10 mmoll⁻¹ h⁻¹ are typical, and lower than those observed in microbial cultivations due to the reduced growth rate. High oxygen concentrations may be even toxic to plant cells and displace other necessary gaseous components from the medium [47]. It is typical for culture OURs to increase with biomass levels during exponential growth. Dissolved oxygen is generally maintained above the critical oxygen concentration, found to be 15-20% of air saturation [45]. Low OURs allow conventional fermentation equipment to be easily modified to accommodate plant cell suspensions. Carbon dioxide, often considered an essential nutrient, can have a positive effect on cell growth but has also been shown to inhibit specialized metabolite production at high concentrations [48]. Ethylene, a plant hormone most often associated with fruit ripening in vivo, can accumulate in culture vessels at concentrations on the order of tens of ppm [49]. Ethylene has been shown to both inhibit and promote culture growth depending on the species, making it important to determine its specific effects on the culture of interest [49]. The optimized gas mixture composition for paclitaxel production in suspension cultures of Taxus cuspidata was found to be 10% (v/v) oxygen, 0.5% (v/v) carbon dioxide, and 5 ppm ethylene [48].

10.4.3

Aggregation

Plant cells in suspension tend to grow as aggregates composed of two to a few hundred cells and ranging in size from $100 \,\mu\text{m}$ to >2 mm [50]. Aggregation is a result of a failure to completely separate following cell division, and is dependent on plant species, medium composition, growth stage, and culture conditions [27, 50]. Cellular aggregation is often necessary for proper cell growth and metabolism; however, large aggregates can settle to the bottom of a bioreactor resulting in decreased cell viability, undesired oxygen and nutrient gradients, and complicated downstream processing. The extent of cellular aggregation has been shown to significantly impact specialized metabolite production in an unpredictable manner. For example, aggregate size was shown to correlate positively with phenylpropanoid production in strawberry suspension cultures [51], while the opposite phenomenon was observed for paclitaxel production in *Taxus* suspension cultures [52]. Large aggregates, prone to both sedimentation and damage due to hydrodynamic shear, pose a technical challenge in the development of agitation and aeration strategies. One must consider both the oxygen/nutrient gradients that arise within the aggregate itself, as well as the culture vessel configuration.

10.4.4 Medium Rheology

At low cell densities, plant culture medium behaves as a Newtonian fluid. However, as culture density increases, so does the viscosity. Plant cell cultures can grow to be incredibly dense (over 50% PCV), and are therefore often highly viscous [53]. Polysaccharides secreted into the growth medium during the later stages of culture growth also contribute to the increase in viscosity [54, 55]. As viscosity increases, culture broth begins to behave as a non-Newtonian fluid, restricting heat and mass transfer. The resulting nonuniform temperature and nutrient distributions lead to "dead zones" in a bioreactor [47]. Dense, viscous suspension cultures exhibit shear thinning or pseudoplastic properties [19]. Regions of high shear, for example, near the impeller, are characterized by a lower apparent viscosity and more efficient mixing. As you move further from the impeller, apparent viscosity increases, and mixing efficiency decreases. Medium rheology, especially at high cell densities, largely dictates the choice of the impeller system in a stirredtank reactor (STR) and the air-flow rate of a pneumatically driven reactor.

10.4.5 Shear Sensitivity

Plant cells are relatively large in size $(20-200 \,\mu\text{m})$, contain water-filled vacuoles that may occupy 90-95% of their volume, and are surrounded by a thin, rigid, cellulose-based cell wall, making them susceptible to hydrodynamic shear, especially during late exponential and early stationary phases when the cellular water content is the highest [45, 47, 56]. Increasing shear has been associated with decreased cell viability, release of intracellular metabolites, changes in aggregation, and shifts in cellular metabolism. Shear susceptibility can vary among cultures of the same cell line, depending on culture age and cultivation regime [45]. Impellers are the largest source of shear stress; however, gas sparging is also known to induce shear damage, especially in the bubble generation zone, the rising zone through the bulk fluid, and the surface of the suspension culture. Early studies showed a negative correlation between specialized metabolite production and cultivation in stirred-tank fermenters as opposed to airlift fermenters, demonstrating the potential negative effects of shear stress on cultured plant cells [57]. However, studies published a decade later showed that shear forces were not

294 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

as detrimental as was once thought, and today most of the industrial plant cell suspension-based production processes use STRs [56, 58].

10.5 Bioprocess Parameters

10.5.1

Medium Composition and Optimization

Plant cell suspensions are generally cultivated in a basal medium composed of a carbon source and micro- and macronutrients, which is further supplemented with phytohormones and/or growth regulators. Sucrose (2-5%) is the most common carbon source and is hydrolyzed to monosaccharides such as glucose and fructose during autoclaving or by invertases secreted into the medium [13]. Numerous basal medium formulations exist, such as those developed by Murashige and Skoog (MS) [59], Linsmaier and Skoog (LS) [60], Schenk and Hildebrandt (SH) [61], and Gamborg (B5) [62]. All differ widely in composition, and the optimal medium is best determined empirically. For example, LS medium differs from the other formulations in its high levels of nitrate, potassium, and ammonia. Nitrogen source and concentration significantly impact plant cell growth and production. Increasing the amount of nitrate in the medium of transgenic tobacco BY-2 cultures increased accumulation of recombinant antibody 20-fold [31]. Phytohormones, cytokinins, and auxins may be supplemented alone or in tandem, and affect both the extent of differentiation or dedifferentiation and product formation in plant cell cultures [63]. The overall process of medium optimization may be performed "the old-fashioned way" by varying one factor at a time or by utilizing statistical experimental techniques such as factorial design and response surface methodology [64].

10.5.2

Temperature and pH

The temperature is generally maintained between 23 and 29 °C for plant cell cultivation. Attempts to optimize temperature are often futile because of gradients and fluctuations that arise in large vessels primarily due to insufficient mixing. The fresh culture medium pH is typically adjusted to be between 5.0 and 6.0 before sterilization and is generally not controlled throughout the process [6]. Plant cells can tolerate a wide pH range, and media components often serve as buffers, making the addition of acid and base during cultivation unnecessary. Conversely, the stability of secreted proteins and metabolites is highly dependent on pH, and optimum pH values must be determined to maximize the recovery of the desired product. For example, maintaining the pH between 6.4 and 6.8 during the production phase in transgenic tobacco cultures simultaneously increased stability of the human protein product and reduced protease activity [65]. The authors attributed the observed increase in stability to the medium pH closely resembling that of the protein's native physiological environment. The production of shikonin in *Arnebia* spp. cell cultures was greatest at a pH of 9.75, consistent with the optimum pH range of a critical metabolic enzyme [66].

10.5.3 Agitation

Mixing promotes culture growth by dispersing nutrients to cells while preventing accumulation of both heat and toxic metabolites. Inadequate mixing in large-scale bioreactors causes a decrease in mass transfer efficiency and unwanted concentration gradients. Mechanical agitation is most frequently applied, often with impellers that have been specifically designed to cater to the physiochemical properties of plant cells (see Section 10.7). High agitation rates can be harmful to shear-sensitive cultures. For example, agitation rates >160 rpm resulted in a sharp decrease in viability and hCTLA4Ig production in transgenic rice suspensions cultivated in a 3-1 STR [67]. Agitation can be decreased in shear-sensitive cultures by reducing the impeller speed; however, this strategy can result in inadequate mixing and reduced oxygen and heat transfer rates in high-viscosity cultures. Low agitation also promotes the formation of larger aggregates that can alter medium rheology and metabolic capabilities of the culture [50, 68].

10.5.4

Aeration

Aeration is responsible for maintaining the concentration of dissolved gases, desorption of volatile compounds, and dissipation of heat generated by metabolic processes. Agitation intensity, bubble dispersion, and the culture medium's capacity for dissolved gases (e.g., oxygen) influence aeration [69]. Optimum air flow rates range between 0.1 and 0.5 vvm (volume of air (l) passing through a given volume of medium (l) per minute) for plant cell suspensions but may be adjusted to accommodate the physiological state of the cells [45, 70]. An aeration rate of 0.4 vvm was found to be ideal for the culture of ginseng suspension cells in 3-l balloon-type bubble bioreactors (BTBBs) but detrimental to the growth and recombinant protein production of transgenic rice suspensions in a 3-1 STR, a result attributed to shear sensitivity [67, 71]. The volumetric mass transfer coefficient $(k_1 a)$ offers a direct measure of oxygenation of the culture medium and is modulated through agitation and aeration. As the viscosity of the culture medium increases, $k_{\rm I}a$ decreases, requiring more intense agitation and increased oxygen transfer. High levels of aeration can lead to excessive foam production due to the presence of extracellular polysaccharides, proteins, and fatty acids. Cells become entrapped in the foam and begin to form a thick layer that adheres to the vessel and probes. As these cells change metabolically and become membranecompromised, they secrete inhibitory substances such as proteases or broken down organelles. Bubble-free aeration with thin-walled silicone membrane tubing is capable of eliminating wall growth, but it is not suitable for scale-up, especially of viscous cultures, due to reduced oxygen transfer. Other strategies

296 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures

to counteract foam formation include the addition of antifoam and mechanical foam disruption [44].

10.6 Operational Modes

The standard operational strategies applied to mammalian and microbial systems, such as batch, fed-batch, repeated-batch, two-stage culture, perfusion culture, and semicontinuous and continuous culture, can be applied to plant cell suspension systems [40]. The choice of the process mode is dependent on culture dynamics (e.g., growth rate, aggregation, foaming, and specialized metabolite production), desired product (i.e., heterologous protein or specialized metabolite), accumulation site (i.e., intracellular or cell-associated implying either extracellular or associated with the cell wall), product stability, and the relationship between culture growth and product accumulation. The production of growth-associated products is improved by increasing the growth rate and biomass density and prolonging the exponential growth phase [40]. When product accumulation is not coupled with culture growth, production is generally induced or elicited once a high biomass level is achieved during late or post exponential growth [72].

Batch processes are the simplest of all the cultivation strategies but are limited by the significant amount of time required between cycles to clean and sterilize the system as well as accumulation of toxic or inhibitory by-products that may significantly limit culture production [73]. Batch processes are the most straightforward to scale-up, but product accumulation does not often scale predictably because of nutrient gradients that arise when changing vessel size and geometry [74]. The simplicity of batch cultivations makes them convenient for use in small-scale experiments in the development of fed-batch or continuous operations. Culture growth typically slows at a PCV of ~60-70% in batch cultivations resulting from an overall reduction in cellular metabolism [40]. The cultivation of plant cell suspensions in fed-batch mode typically involves the intermittent or continuous addition of carbon sources (e.g., sucrose, glucose, fructose, and maltose), amino acids, or chemical elicitors [45, 75-77]. Fed-batch cultivation can be performed with or without feedback control, and an optimized feeding strategy can simultaneously increase biomass concentration and reduce the accumulation of inhibitory products [45]. An optimized sucrose feeding strategy improved paclitaxel production in T. chinensis cultures by nearly a factor of 5 compared to batch cultivation in a 5-l STR [78].

Continuous culture can be used for the production of growth-associated products. Product inhibition is eliminated by the addition of fresh medium and removal of culture medium and cells. Continuous cultivation requires that steady state has been reached, which for plant cell suspensions takes approximately 2-4 residence times [45]. Perfusion cultivation achieves higher biomass concentration than continuous culture and effectively separates active cells from the toxic medium. Dry cell weights exceeding $20 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ and twice that achieved during batch cultivation have been reported [79, 80]. Perfusion culture
is particularly advantageous when the desired product is secreted into the medium and/or prone to degradation [81]. High cell retention is key to successful perfusion cultivation and becomes more difficult to obtain with increasing scale. Specific growth rate can be modulated in both continuous and perfusion cultivation by adjusting the dilution rate and bleed stream, respectively [68].

Two-stage cultivation is most effective when growth and production phases are independent, as in elicited specialized metabolite production or metabolically induced recombinant protein production [82-85]. This mode of operation is particularly advantageous because it allows conditions for biomass growth and product accumulation to be independently optimized. Chemical inducers and elicitors require optimization of timing and concentration to maximize protein and specialized metabolite yields, respectively. Two-stage cultivation of American ginseng (Panax quinquefolius) suspension cultures in a 5-l STR resulted in a fourfold increase in total saponin yield compared to fed-batch cultivation. The second stage of the cultivation regime involved a combination of elicitors $(100 \text{ mg} \text{ l}^{-1}$ lactalbumin hydrolysate and $2 \text{ mg} \text{l}^{-1}$ methyl jasmonate) [86]. Recombinant protein production driven by the sugar-starvation rice α -amylase 3D (RAmy3D) promoter system requires medium exchange to a sugar-free medium to induce production; however, this shift can significantly reduce culture viability [85]. Two-stage cultivation can significantly increase non-growth-associated product yields compared to simpler process strategies, but can be technically challenging and labor intensive to apply at large scales.

10.7 Bioreactors for Plant Cell Suspensions

The purpose of any bioreactor is to provide optimum conditions for biomass cultivation and/or product formation by precisely controlling the chemical and physical properties of the culture environment. Plant cell suspensions pose unique challenges for bioreactor design by requiring a generous mixing of viscous, highdensity culture medium while maintaining a low shear environment. Traditional bioreactor configurations, including STRs and pneumatically driven airlift and bubble column reactors, have been adopted from microbial fermentation with only minor modifications for plant cell suspension cultivation. Novel bioreactors have been designed that cater to the unique shear sensitivity of plant cells, many of which are disposable, allowing plant cell biotechnology to keep pace with recent trends in biopharmaceutical production. The most commonly used and promising configurations are described in the following and summarized in Table 10.4.

10.7.1 Conventional Bioreactors

10.7.1.1 Stirred-Tank Reactors

STRs are the most commonly used bioreactors for cultivation of plant cell suspensions, as they are characterized by simple scale-up, high volumetric mass

Table 10.4 Comparison of bioreactors for plant cell suspension culture.

Bioreactor type	Advantages	Disadvantages
Stirred-tank reactor (STR)	 Widely studied/implemented Easily scaled-up Enhanced transport Can accommodate highly viscous cultures Multiple impeller designs are available Ease of process monitoring and control Established compliance with cGMP regulations 	 High-shear environment (particularly near impeller) Significant capital investment and operational costs High energy use Risk of contamination due to mechanical seal
Bubble column reactor	 Low-shear environment Absence of mechanical mixing reduces heat generation Simple construction and scale-up Low contamination risk Low operational costs 	 Poor oxygen transfer Inadequate mixing for high-density cell cultures Excessive foam generation at high aeration rates
≜ ir		





transfer, and an established history of compliance with cGMP [73]. However, STRs represent a significant upfront investment in capital, are difficult to seal, demand large amounts of power, and produce a high-shear environment. The impeller system is the defining component of an STR and largely determines the vessel's internal environment (Figure 10.2). Rushton turbines, most frequently used in microbial fermentation, have been used in the cultivation of plant cell suspensions but are not suitable for shear-sensitive plant cell cultures [87]. Although capable of providing complete culture mixing, Rushton turbines exhibit a high energy dissipation rate and may cause shear damage at modest agitation speeds [87]. To reduce the amount of damage due to hydrodynamic shear, numerous impeller designs have been evaluated for plant cell suspensions (e.g., helical ribbon, marine impeller, pitched-blade impeller, Intermig impeller,



Figure 10.2 Impellers typically used for plant cell suspensions. (a) Rushton turbine, (b) rushton turbine (curved-blade), (c) marine impeller, (d) pitched-blade impeller, (e) Intermig[®] impeller, (f) helical-ribbon impeller.

see Figure 10.2), some developed specifically for plant cells and others adopted from mammalian cell cultivation. The centrifugal impeller bioreactor has been successful in the cultivation of high-density shear-sensitive plant cell suspensions [88-91]. The rotation of the propeller generates an area of negative pressure at the bottom of the vessel, drawing cells and the medium upward and forcing them into bulk flow. Generally, impeller systems exhibiting axial flow patterns and low tip speeds (up to 2.5 m s⁻¹) are considered suitable for plant cell cultivation [92].

Novel aeration systems (such as bubble-free aeration, gas basket, and cage aeration) have been developed for cultivating the most shear sensitive cells. Bubble-free aeration has been shown to provide sufficient aeration and completely eliminate foam formation [93, 94]. The internal geometry of the STR contributes significantly to the reactor's internal environment and critical aspects such as the shape, location, and quantity of baffles, spargers, and impellers, and the ratio of height to the vessel diameter must be optimized to achieve the desired conditions. Most of the existing industrial-scale plant cell culture processes use conventional STRs. Phyton Biotech[®] operates the largest cGMP plant cell culture facility in the world, comprising a series of stainless steel STRs up to 75 000 l in volume and used in the production of paclitaxel from *Taxus* suspension cultures [58].

10.7.1.2 Pneumatic Bioreactors

Pneumatically driven bioreactors, including air-lift and bubble column bioreactors, are characterized by a cylindrical vessel in which aeration and agitation are provided by the introduction of compressed air or a gas mixture through the bottom of the vessel. The lack of mechanical mixing presents a low-shear environment, which is ideal for the cultivation of even the most shear-sensitive cells. The absence of moving parts and seals ensures long-term sterility and reduces operation and investment costs compared to STRs. Air-lift bioreactors are simply bubble columns that contain a draft tube (internal loop) or an external loop. The resulting cyclic fluid motion prevents bubble coalescence, enhances oxygen transfer, evenly distributes shear forces, and provides overall shorter mixing times [40]. Pneumatic bioreactor operation at high cell densities is often plagued by insufficient fluid mixing and unwanted gradients in biomass, nutrient, and oxygen concentrations. Increasing aeration to support high biomass levels results in excessive foaming, which may trap cells and interfere with probes and filters, and creates regions of high shear, especially at the gas-liquid interface, the sparger, and the bulk flow area where bubbles rise, which can significantly impact cell growth and viability [95]. Pneumatic bioreactors are therefore typically used for the cultivation of the most shear-sensitive cells at a modest biomass concentration [40]. The ProCellExTM platform developed by Protalix Biotherapeutics uses disposable pneumatic bioreactors to produce recombinant proteins in commercial quantities in transgenic tobacco and carrot cultures.

10.7.2

Disposable Bioreactors

Disposable bioreactors represent the current state of the art in cell cultivation and biopharmaceutical production [96–99]. Single-use vessels are discarded after harvesting, reducing the risk of cross-contamination and decreasing turnover time by eliminating the need for post-cycle sanitation and sterilization. Single-use cultivation vessels are composed of FDA-approved plastics (e.g., polyethylene, polystyrene, polytetrafluoroethylene, polypropylene, or ethylene vinyl acetate), facilitating regulatory approval of the overall production process [97]. Compared to traditional stainless steel vessels, disposable bioreactors require less up-front capital investment and simpler housing facilities.

Wave bioreactors consist of a sterile plastic bag containing the culture medium and cells placed on a platform capable of rocking in one or two dimensions [100]. Rocking generates a wave motion that provides agitation and bubble-free aeration with minimal shear stress and foam formation. The headspace is continuously aerated and ventilated through an exhaust. Mass and heat transfer are both functions of the rocking rate, rocking angle, bag type, and geometry and culture volume [100]. Shear stress is highest at minimum culture volumes and maximum rocking rate and angle. Wave bioreactors are characterized by simple operation, have a low risk of contamination, and are the most cited disposable vessel for the cultivation of plant cell suspensions [97]. In addition, wave bioreactors are capable of cultivating cells in batch, fed-batch, repeated fed-batch, continuous, and continuous perfusion modes [101]. Transgenic rice cultures grown in a wave bioreactor exhibited similar maximum biomass and recombinant protein levels as those grown in



Figure 10.3 Disposable bioreactors developed specifically for plant cell suspensions. (a) Slug-Bubble bioreactor. (b) wave and undertow (WU) bioreactor.

an STR of the same volume (51) [102]. Although mixing times observed in wave bioreactors are comparable to those of STRs, they vary unpredictably with the bag size, thus complicating scale-up.

Two novel disposable bioreactors have been developed specifically for plant cell cultivation: the Slug-Bubble (SB) bioreactor and the Wave and Undertow (WU) bioreactor [103] (Figure 10.3). The SB bioreactor is comprised of a vertical cylinder in which agitation and aeration are provided by the intermittent generation of large cylindrical bubbles at the bottom of the vessel. Size and quantity of these "slug bubbles" are determined by the inlet pressure and valve opening time. These long, bullet-shaped bubbles occupy the entire cross section of the tube and are characterized at the tail end by a region of strong mixing and enhanced transport. SB bioreactors have been shown to exhibit $k_{\rm L}a$ values comparable to those of STRs up to 70 l working volume. The WU bioreactor is similar to the wave-mixed bioreactor in that it consists of a plastic container placed on a moving platform. However, the intermittent raising/lowering of only one side of the platform provides culture agitation. Rising of the platform creates a wave that propagates through the vessel, generates an undertow at the opposite end, and returns back. The WU bioreactor provides low-shear agitation and bubble-free aeration. The WU bioreactor exhibits a $k_1 a$ value less than that in traditional STRs but comparable to that in wave bioreactors of up to 1001 working volume. Nestle R&D Centre (Tours, France) has since reported increases in volumes of the SB and WU bioreactors to 175 and 750 l, respectively [104].

There are challenges that prevent the universal adoption of disposable bioreactor technology. Disposable vessels are limited in size because of the strength, or lack thereof, of the plastic materials of which they are made. This problem can be overcome by implementing a horizontal scale-up strategy, as opposed to the traditional vertical scale-up approach. Commercial availability of reliable, disposable components for process monitoring such as sensors and valves is also limited [105]. An important challenge is the leaching of components, such as polymer layers and adhesives, from the plastic vessel, which may interfere with product quality. Many of the materials that comprise single-use systems were "grandfathered in" or approved before strict testing was a requirement, and therefore have not undergone rigorous evaluation regarding long-term exposure [106].

10.8 Downstream Processing

An economical and cGMP-compliant downstream process relies on the use of standardized infrastructure that blends well with upstream operations. Since the upstream processes associated with plant cell suspension cultures largely parallel those of animal and microbial cells, commercially available downstream processing equipment may be applied to large-scale plant cell culture with only minor modifications. Because of the complex biological matrix and variable product secretion associated with plant cells, the extraction process is largely tailored to the culture system while purification is customized to the desired product.

10.8.1

Specialized Metabolite Extraction and Purification

Extracellular metabolites may be extracted directly from the liquid phase after removal of biomass by filtration or centrifugation. Cell-associated metabolites require cell disruption via homogenization, sonication, steam explosion, or enzymatic digestions [45]. The use of cell-wall-digesting enzymes resulted in 90% of the total paclitaxel in Taxus cultures accumulating in the extracellular medium [107]. Liquid-liquid extraction is performed on the culture medium or the aqueous homogenate with the extraction solvent chosen by the adage "like dissolves like" based on the physiochemical properties of the product. The material can be selectively extracted with a series of organic solvents of increasing polarity or totally extracted with an alcoholic solvent that efficiently extracts a broad range of polar metabolites. Even if the metabolite is soluble in aqueous medium, a liquid-liquid extraction with an organic solvent is favorable because of the high boiling point of water and the presence of polar contaminants (e.g., pigments and tannins) in aqueous plant extracts [108]. Other factors contributing to solvent selection include selectivity, recoverability, viscosity, toxicity, stability, availability, and cost [108].

Organic solvents for use in the preparation of pharmaceuticals are regulated and classified by the FDA and EMA [108]. Solvents are divided into three classes. Class I solvents should never be used in the preparation of drug products because of their detrimental effects on human health and the environment. These solvents include benzene, a known carcinogen, and carbon tetrachloride, an ozone-depleting greenhouse gas. Class II solvents may be used; however, their residual concentration in any product is highly regulated because of their inherent toxicity. These solvents include acetonitrile, chloroform, methanol, and hexane.

Class III solvents are not known to be human health hazards at levels normally accepted in pharmaceutical preparation and include heptane, ethyl acetate, and acetone.

The physiochemical properties of the various classes of specialized metabolites dictate the exact extraction procedure. For example, alkaloids, containing one or more basic nitrogen atoms, are pH-sensitive. By adjusting the pH of the aqueous solution, the solubility of an alkaloid between the aqueous and organic phases can be altered. For example, by adjusting the pH of the aqueous extract-bearing solution to 10, indole alkaloids from Catharanthus roseus suspension cultures were successfully partitioned into ethyl acetate [109]. Phenolic compounds exhibit a broad structural diversity and must be handled on a case-by-case basis [110]. More polar phenolics such as benzoic acids and cinnamic acids require 70% aqueous methanol or acetone, while flavonoid glycones may be extracted with less polar solvents such as ethyl acetate or diethyl ether [110]. Less polar solvents are preferred, as they are more easily removed because of their lower boiling points. Liquid – liquid extractions remove not only the desired product but many closely related analogs; however, under optimized conditions, a high selectivity can be achieved, as was demonstrated with paclitaxel and cephalomannine (a structurally similar, unwanted by-product) [111].

The required purity of the final product depends on the application. Ultrapure products are not required for nutraceuticals, cosmetics, and fragrances, but the opposite is true for pharmaceuticals [108]. For example, the purification of the chemotherapeutic paclitaxel consists of liquid–liquid extraction with a mixture of three solvents, column chromatography, distillative exchange, and crystallization, whereas the preparation of a plant cell culture extract to be added to a cosmetic can simply involve lyophilization, extraction with 70% aqueous ethanol, and finally another round of lyophilization [112, 113]. Countercurrent chromatography (CCC) is the method of choice for the isolation of plant natural products. The lack of solid support eliminates the risk of substrate loss because of binding to a stationary phase, a major advantage in the isolation of high-value products present in low concentrations [114]. Structural analogs of similar polarity can have different partition coefficients in a specific two-phase system [115]. Modern CCC instrumentation is capable of purifying natural products on a kilogram scale [116].

10.8.2

Recombinant Protein Extraction and Purification

Downstream processing can account for up to 80% of the total manufacturing cost of a pharmaceutical protein [10]. Plant-cell-synthesized recombinant proteins may be retained within the cell or targeted for secretion; however, most plant-derived biotherapeutics in clinical development are targeted to specific organelles in the plant cell to provide the necessary post-translational processing, protect the recombinant product from post-translational degradation, or to eventually use the plant cell as a delivery vehicle for a biotherapeutic [117–120].

Both secreted and cell-associated proteins present technical challenges for extraction and purification. Secreted proteins are extracted without cellular disruption from a medium free of contaminating proteins, cellular debris, and small-molecule metabolites, but are present in extremely low concentrations and prone to degradation if not stable in the culture medium. The opposite is true for cell-associated proteins, whereby cellular disruption must be performed; however, the protein products are protected from degradation in the culture medium (see Section 10.9.3.2).

The first step in purifying secreted protein products is the removal of bulk cell mass with the use of a decanter, disk-stack separator, or semicontinuous or continuous centrifuge [10]. Cell-associated proteins must be first liberated from cells via wet milling, sonication, pressure homogenization, or enzymatic treatment [41]. Pressure homogenization is the method of choice for large-scale processes; wet-milling and sonication are difficult to scale-up, while enzymatic lysis is not cost effective at large scales [10, 41]. The addition of aqueous buffers is common to ensure proper protein folding and solubility. Generally, the pH is maintained between 7.0 and 8.0 during protein recovery from plant material [121]. For example, homogenization of transgenic carrot cells during the extraction of the recombinant biotherapeutic ELELYSO[®] is performed in an aqueous extraction buffer at a pH of 7.2 [122]. In addition, the buffer contains EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; chelating agent), ascorbic acid (antioxidant), polyvinylpyrrolidone (polyphenol scavenger), and Triton-X-100 (detergent) [122].

Cellular disruption generates unwanted debris, which must be removed to prevent fouling of chromatography resins and clogging of downstream filters [121]. This clarification process typically involves centrifugation and/or filtration. Centrifuges allow continuous operation but are prone to contamination, while filters are often disposable and easily scaled-up [121]. The clarification process can be further aided by the addition of flocculants, which are charged polymers that promote aggregation between dispersed particles, allowing for enhanced separation via filtration or centrifugation [123]. Cross-flow filtration is the method of choice for the clarification of plant cell suspension products; extracellular polysaccharides can form a layer over membranes and filters, which can trap the product of interest when performing dead-end filtration [10, 124].

Protein purification often involves a series of liquid chromatographic steps, including, but not limited to, size-exclusion chromatography (SEC), affinity chromatography (AFC), and ion-exchange chromatography (IEC), with AFC often first in the line because of its superior selectivity [121]. Protein A and Protein G AFC are particularly useful in the capture and purification of plant-derived antibodies [75, 125]. An AFC bioreactor was developed that circulated media through protein G and iminodiacetic acid metal affinity resins. Cultivation of transgenic tobacco cultures in this system afforded an eightfold increase in the production of the heavy chain of a mouse monoclonal antibody [126].

306

10.9

10

Yield Improvement Strategies

10.9.1

Specialized Metabolites and Recombinant Proteins

10.9.1.1 Cell Immobilization

Plant cells can be immobilized by encapsulation within a porous matrix such as alginate, agar, or polyurethane foam [127-130]. Retention of the biomass allows for high cell densities and continuous cultivation, which are considerable advantages considering the low growth and production rates associated with plant cells. Immobilization decreases exposure to shear stress, eliminates issues with foaming, and facilitates the recovery of excreted products. The efficiency of a production process using immobilized cells is largely determined by the rate of secretion of the desired product, as opposed to its biosynthesis. Limitations of plant cell immobilization strategies include cell leakage, bead disruption, and decreased mass transfer. Immobilization of transgenic tobacco NT-1 cells in alginate beads increased productivity of human secreted alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) by a factor of 33 compared to suspension culture [131]. Although the immobilized cells were protected from hydrodynamic shear, once cells began to leak in the medium, SEAP was readily denatured by endogenous proteases. Taxus baccata cells immobilized in alginate beads afforded the highest production rates of paclitaxel observed to date in a laboratory-scaled bioreactor [132]. Immobilization is best applied to the production of growth-associated products that are excreted into the medium.

10.9.1.2 In Situ Product Removal

Two-phase plant cell culture has been demonstrated to increase yields of both specialized metabolites and recombinant proteins [133, 134]. *In situ* removal protects the desired product from degradation and can reduce downstream processing costs. Two-phase cultivation is particularly advantageous in situations where the desired product is volatile or toxic, or inhibits its own production via negative feedback [135]. All two-phase systems are composed of an aqueous phase compatible with cell growth and a second phase, either liquid or solid, that extracts the desired material. Composition of the second phase depends on the physiochemical properties of the desired product and compatibility with the culture phase.

Aqueous-organic two-phase systems have been exclusively applied to the production/recovery of specialized metabolites because of their stability in organic solvents. The organic phase must be sufficiently lipophilic to be immiscible with the culture medium while effectively extracting the desired product. Typical organic solvents used include butyl acetate, cyclohexane, octane, and decanol [135]. Aqueous-organic two-phase systems have been successfully implemented to enhance the production of paclitaxel in *Taxus* cultures and elicit production of shikonin derivatives in *Echium italicum* suspensions [136–139]. Two-phase cultivation of *T. cuspidata* cells with 4% (v/v) oleic acid increased paclitaxel accumulation 4.8-fold. Oleic acid not only effectively partitioned paclitaxel but also elicited a stress response in the cultured cells, resulting in overall higher productivity [140]. Limitations of aqueousorganic two-phase systems include difficulty in removing higher molecular weight solvents downstream and the inherent cytotoxicity of many organic solvents [135].

Aqueous two-phase systems (ATPSs) are formed by combining two watersoluble polymers (e.g., polyethylene glycol (PEG), dextran, starch, polyvinyl alcohol) or a polymer and a salt such as phosphate or sulfate [41, 135]. The large interfacial area between the two aqueous phases upon mixing allows efficient partitioning. ATPSs are ideal for bioprocesses because of the aqueous nature of both phases and the ability to partition nutrients, metabolites, proteins, cell particles, and whole cells effectively. Tobacco cells grown in 4% PEG and 7.5% dextran exhibited a growth rate and cell density comparable to that of cultures grown in standard medium, while the phosphodiesterase product was successfully partitioned to the dextran phase [141].

Solid-liquid two-phase systems are formed by the addition of solid adsorbents to the liquid medium. These adsorbents, typically polymer-based resins, remove the target compound(s) from the aqueous phase while maintaining equilibrium conditions [135]. This technique has been applied to increase productivity and facilitate recovery of specialized metabolites and recombinant protein production [134, 142–144]. The addition of paraffin oil to suspension cultures of Lithospermum erythrorhizon resulted in a 4.2-fold improvement in shikonin production [145]. Similarly, a solid-liquid two-phase system formed by the addition and frequent harvesting of hydroxyapatite resin to transgenic tobacco NT-1 cultures yielded an eightfold increase in recombinant antibody production [134].

10.9.2

Specialized Metabolite Specific Strategies

10.9.2.1 Elicitation

Specialized metabolites are produced by plants in response to stresses imposed by the environment including pathogen infestation, herbivore predation, and harsh UV radiation. The in vivo biological activity of specialized metabolites has led to their usefulness as components in pharmaceuticals, nutraceuticals, and cosmetics. Most importantly, plant stress and specialized metabolite production can be stimulated in vitro by altering the chemical and physical properties of the culture medium with the use of elicitors. Abiotic elicitors, including heavy metal ions, inorganic salts, temperature fluctuations, and even ozone, initiate a stress response by simulating a change in the plant's physical environment [41]. Heavy metal ions (Co²⁺, Ag⁺, and Cd²⁺) increased resveratrol production by 60% in Vitis vinifera cell suspensions 4 h after administration. Biotic elicitors are most often of fungal, bacterial, or yeast origin and include whole cells or any part thereof (e.g., polysaccharides, glycoproteins, inactivated proteins, etc.) [146]. For example, chitosan, a component of fungal cell walls, has been effective in a variety

of systems [22, 147, 148]. The jasmonates, a family of lipid-derived compounds involved in plant growth and development, are the most often used elicitors of specialized metabolism [149, 150]. Elicited specialized metabolite production is typically performed using a two-stage cultivation regime [82]. Maximum biomass can be obtained before initiation of the production phase, where growth is often decreased, along with cell viability in some instances [22]. Elicitors require optimization of timing of addition and concentration, and the most productive strategy may involve the addition of multiple elicitors simultaneously [151, 152].

10.9.2.2 Metabolic Engineering

Efforts in the field of plant metabolic engineering have focused heavily on the heterologous expression of plant-specialized metabolite pathways in microbes [153-155]. However, the development of numerous transient transformation techniques such as particle bombardment, tissue electroporation, DNA injection, agroinfiltration, and viral expression systems opens the door for ongoing and future metabolic engineering studies in plant cell suspensions [5]. Although these techniques allow only short-term expression in some instances, they result in higher gene expression levels in nearly all plant species and are far less time consuming than stable transformation [5]. Transcription factors are an enticing target for metabolic engineering studies, as a complete knowledge of the biosynthetic pathway of interest is not required [156, 157]. Metabolic engineering efforts in plants have also been hindered by a poor understanding of the complex metabolic pathways that control specialized metabolite production. However, the declining costs of next-generation sequencing have made it affordable to obtain plant genomic and transcriptomic data. For example, 454 pyrosequencing was used to construct a library of expressed sequence tags from T. cuspidata needles [158]. This library can be studied to elucidate the underlying pathways and transcription factors that govern paclitaxel production. Genomic data can also be used to construct genome-scale metabolic (GSMs) models. GSMs have been used extensively in the study and manipulation of microbes and have recently been shown to predict observed complex phenotypes in plants. AraGEM, a GSM of Arabidopsis primary metabolism constructed largely from the publicly available Arabidopsis gene and reaction database from the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes, consists of 1567 unique reactions spanning five cellular compartments [159]. The developed model accurately predicted the photorespiratory cycle as well as differences in redox metabolism in photosynthetic and nonphotosynthetic plant cells [159]. GSMs can be used in conjunction with metabolic flux analysis. By tracking the fate of an isotopelabeled precursor through metabolic pathways, those that regulate biosynthesis of desired compounds or are activated in response to a stressor can be determined. Labeling experiments with heterotrophic Arabidopsis cell cultures showed that flux through the tricarboxylic acid cycle remained unchanged when exposed to different oxygen concentrations, displaying the stability of central metabolism in plants [160].

10.9.3 Recombinant-Protein-Specific Strategies

10.9.3.1 Expression Systems

Recombinant protein production in any heterologous system is highly dependent on construct design and optimization. Constitutive promoters continuously drive protein production during culture growth, while inducible promoters require a chemical or environmental stimulus to initiate transcription.

The cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) 35S promoter is the most commonly used promoter in the production of recombinant proteins in plant cell culture and is capable of continuously driving expression until stationary growth phase [28, 31, 32]. However, constitutive production places a significant burden on the cellular machinery, potentially slowing growth, and the build-up of foreign protein may produce a toxic environment that impacts cell viability [41]. Inducible expression allows the separation of growth and production phases and, thus, independent optimization of both processes. An ideal inducer/promoter pair is characterized by high specificity, rapid response upon addition and withdrawal of inducer, low toxicity, and easy scalability [41]. The RAmy3D promoter, induced upon sucrose starvation, has been a successful inducible promoter system in plant cell culture systems [161–163]. Heterologous expression in rice suspension cultures under the influence of RAmy3D has resulted in the greatest recombinant protein vields of all plant cell expression systems $(247 \text{ mg } l^{-1})$ [162]. However, use of the RAmy3D promoter is plagued by a decrease in cell viability upon transfer to sucrose-depleted medium.

10.9.3.2 Minimizing Post-Translational Loss of Recombinant Proteins

The low yields associated with heterologous protein production in plant cell suspensions are not just a result of slow production rates, but a consequence of posttranslational loss and degradation, as suggested by the lack of correlation between mRNA levels and product accumulation in some systems [164]. Proteases, both intracellular and extracellular, can degrade a protein product before it can be effectively recovered. Human IgG1 accumulated in degraded form, while IgG4 was barely detectable in transgenic tobacco suspension cultures [165]. It is often difficult to discern low production rates from endogenous protease activity, especially if the recombinant protein product is degraded shortly after translation. Protease activity is dependent on species, culture conditions, and the recombinant protein's primary structure, specifically the number of protease-susceptible sites [165, 166]. Secreted proteins, although more easily purified, suffer from a lack of stability in plant cell culture medium and a tendency to irreversibly bind to the vessel walls [164]. Numerous strategies have been implemented at both molecular and process levels to reduce post-translational losses by reducing protease activity and increasing foreign protein stability.

Intracellular protease activity is compartment-specific [167]. The cytosol and apoplast are associated with relatively high levels of proteolytic activity, while the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), characterized by low protease activity and the presence of molecular chaperones and stabilizing agents, offers a favorable

environment for foreign proteins [27, 167]. Targeting recombinant proteins to the ER via the KDEL (Lys-Asp-Glu-Leu) or HDEL (His-Asp-Glu-Leu) C-terminal signal peptides has been shown to significantly increase heterologous protein production in whole plant systems, with a 10⁴-fold improvement observed in tobacco plants [167, 168]. A similar strategy applied to tobacco BY-2 cells resulted in a fourfold increase in the production of human granulocyte colony stimulating factor (hG-CSF) when compared to apoplastic expression [169]. Protein targeting location is also dependent on the necessary post-translational modifications, which vary from organelle to organelle [170]. N-Glycosylation is a universal post-translational modification in eukaryotes; in plant cells the process begins in the ER, while mature glycoproteins are produced in the Golgi apparatus [170]. Other potential strategies to overcome protease activity include the addition of a protease inhibitor to the culture medium (assuming it can enter the cell), co-expression of recombinant protease inhibitors, and knocking out genes associated with specific proteases [164, 171, 172]. Inhibition of protease activity with antisense RNA improved recombinant protein production fourfold in tobacco BY-2 cells, while suppression of protease activity using RNA interference resulted in an approximately twofold increase in protein production in transgenic rice cultures [172, 173].

Secreted proteins are subject to extracellular proteases and the unfavorable environment in the plant cell culture medium. Protease inhibitors added to the medium can reduce proteolytic activity [164]. If it is determined that the presence of protease inhibitors is a result of cell lysis, the addition of osmotic agents may prevent cell breakage. The addition of mannitol (90 g l^{-1}) to transgenic tobacco suspension cultures resulted in a 12-fold increase in recombinant antibody production [174]. Protein adsorption to the plastic, glass, or metal vessel is a large contributor to protein loss. More than 90% of human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4-immunoglobulin (hCTLA4Ig) in transgenic rice cultures was lost within 1 h as a result of surface adsorption [175]. Large proteins are more susceptible to adsorption because of their increased surface area and larger number of binding sites [164]. Stabilizing agents such as polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), gelatin, albumin, mannitol, and salt effectively reduce protein adhesion by altering the surface environment or competing for adhesion sites [176, 177]. However, the addition of stabilizing agents may increase foam formation, complicate downstream processing, and cause damage to the cultures. Furthermore, the addition of animal-derived components such as albumins presents the risk of human pathogen contamination.

10.10 Case Studies

10.10.1

Protalix and the ProCellEx[™] Platform

The year 2012 saw a landmark breakthrough for plant cell culture technology with the FDA approval of ELELYSO[®] (Taliglucerase alfa), the first plant-derived

recombinant protein to be approved for human use. ELELYSO[®], developed by Protalix Biotherapeutics (Carmiel, Isreal) and produced via their novel ProCellEx[®] platform, is a recombinant enzyme for the treatment of Gaucher disease. The ProCellEx[®] platform combines heterologous protein production, disposable bioreactor technology, and horizontal process scale-up to produce novel therapeutics on a commercial scale in transgenic carrot and tobacco suspension cultures. Protalix particularly focuses on the development of recombinant therapeutics for the treatment of rare genetic diseases. The drug development pipeline at Protalix, supplied by the pioneering ProCellEx[®] platform, contains four clinical candidates, including an orally bioavailable therapeutic enzyme encapsulated in carrot cells that showcases the true potential of plant cell culture technology [7].

10.10.1.1 Background

Gaucher disease, a genetic disorder characterized by lack of a functional version of the enzyme glucocerebrosidase (GCD), is an ultimately fatal disease that afflicts less than 100 000 individuals worldwide [178]. Enzyme replacement therapy is the standard of care for the orphan disease and alleviates most of the associated symptoms; however, it comes at a high financial cost. Before FDA approval of ELELYSO[®], the only options for enzyme replacement therapy were recombinant CHO-cell-derived Cerezyme (Genzyme) or the human cell-derived Vpriv (Shire) at a cost of US\$250 000 per year [178].

In 2009, Genzyme reported viral contamination of its GCD production facility, prompting a warning letter from the FDA and precipitating significant global shortages of the enzyme [179–181]. To meet demands, the FDA granted Protalix the right to provide patients with their plant-derived recombinant glucocerebrosidase (prGCD) under an extended access program [182]. prGCD, being of plant origin, is inherently free of viral contaminants. The ability to meet worldwide enzyme demand, positive patient feedback, and success in clinical trials paved the way for ELELYSO's[®] eventual FDA approval [180, 181, 183]. Additionally, in December 2009 Pfizer purchased the worldwide (excluding Israel) rights to the drug for \$115 million, marking the first time a large pharmaceutical company had committed to taking a plant-derived biologic in the late stages of clinical development to the market [182].

10.10.1.2 The ProCellEx[®] Platform

ELELYSO[®] is produced in transformed carrot root cells carrying the binary Ti plasmid vector bearing the acid β -glucocerebrosidase cDNA, the CaMV 35S promoter, the tobacco mosaic virus (TMV) omega translational enhancer element, and the octopine synthase terminator sequence from *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* [184, 185]. Kanamycin resistance was conferred via the neomycin phosphotransferase type II (*NPTII*) gene driven by the *nos* promoter [184].The recombinant protein product is directed to the vacuole via a C-terminal sorting signal [184]. In comparison to mammalian-cell-produced GCD, vacuole-directed prGCD naturally bears the high-mannose glycans necessary for therapeutic action. GCD must be taken up by the affected macrophages, a process mediated by the interaction

between mannose receptors on the cell's surface and the mannose residues on the enzyme's glycans [186]. Mammalian-cell-produced GCD must undergo extensive and expensive postprocessing as part of its formulation to be therapeutically active. An added benefit of targeting prGCD to the vacuole is the organelle's relatively low protease levels, limiting the amount of post-translational degradation.

Successfully transformed cells were selected by antibiotic resistance, and highly expressing clones were chosen based on protein expression levels in transgenic calli [122]. Elite cell lines were cryopreserved to establish cell banks for use as inocula in future bioprocesses and to meet requirements set forth by various regulatory agencies [23]. The desired cell line is scaled-up and eventually grown in Protalix's novel bioreactor system that is the work-horse of its proprietary ProCellEx[™] platform. The system is comprised of large (400 l), flexible, polyethylene bags that are supplied with growth medium and air from a central system (Figure 10.4) [7, 187]. The disposable vessels are fitted with a reusable harvester complete with a flow controller that allows a portion of the cells and medium to be retained after harvest for use as inocula in a second round of production. An assembled framework around the plastic vessels provides structure to the flexible bags [22]. These pneumatic, disposable bioreactors provide proper mass and oxygen transfer without mechanically driven mixing and may be serially assembled for the growth of thousands of liters of plant cells to meet industrial needs [187]. This horizontal scale-up guarantees that the desired culture conditions are met for every cell, as opposed to traditional scale-up, or simply the use of larger bioreactors, where temperature and nutrient gradients change with increasing size and height.

The ProCellEx[®] platform utilizes conventional equipment, materials, and processes, is FDA-approved, and operated under cGMP. The use of disposable bioreactors eliminates the need for precycle sterilization, a time-intensive and costly process. Also, the initial capital investment for setting up the large-scale plant cell culture facility at Protalix was significantly less than that for an equivalent facility hosting CHO cells [178]. For these reasons, Protalix is able to provide ELELYSO[®] to patients at 20% of the cost of mammalian-cell-derived GCD [178].

10.10.1.3 Future Outlook

The drug development pipeline at Protalix currently contains four clinical candidates for the treatment of orphan diseases (Gaucher disease, Fabry disease, and cystic fibrosis) as well as immune and inflammatory conditions [7]. Protalix's pioneering work focuses on the oral administration of plant cells expressing biotherapeutic proteins. Phase II clinical trials have begun for PRX-112, an orally delivered prGCD for the treatment of Gaucher disease. Patients enrolled in the trials drink a slurry of lyophilized carrot cells expressing the recombinant enzyme (daily) as opposed to receiving purified GCD intravenously (every other week). The cellulose-rich cell wall of the plant cell protects the prGCD from degradation in the stomach. Once in the small intestine, the cell wall breaks down and the enzyme passes through the lining of the intestine and into the neighboring blood stream. Protalix previously demonstrated both the safety and efficacy of oral



Figure 10.4 Disposable pneumatic bioreactors that lie at the center of the ProCellEx[®] platform. Structures assembled around each reactor provide structurally integrity, allowing for cultivation at 400-I volumes [7].

prGCD in Phase I clinical trials. Healthy individuals administered oral prGCD exhibited continuous enzyme presence ~30 h after administration [7]. A oncedaily oral dose of prGCD would revolutionize enzyme replacement therapy and dramatically increase the quality of life for patients with Gaucher disease. Oral administration of lyophilized cells also eliminates nearly all downstream processing, significantly reducing therapeutic production costs. The oral delivery of biotherapeutics is a grand challenge in biotechnology, and plant cell encapsulation offers a promising solution. Utilizing plant cells as both production factories and delivery vehicles eliminates nearly all downstream processing, offers a long-term storage solution of the particular biopharmaceutical, and would reduce the number of infections that arise yearly as a result of injections [188].

314 10

10.10.2

Phyton Biotech, Paclitaxel, and Plant Cell Fermentation (PCF™)

10.10.2.1 Background

Taxol[®] (Paclitaxel), currently approved for the treatment of numerous cancers, including, but not limited to breast, lung, ovarian and skin, was first isolated from the bark of the Pacific yew (*Taxus brevifolia*) tree in 1971 [189]. Today, more than 400 structurally similar compounds (i.e., taxanes or taxoids) have been isolated from the *Taxus* species (Figure 10.5 b) [190]. Paclitaxel and two synthetic analogs are currently approved for the treatment of a wide variety of cancers. The potent cytotoxicity exhibited by many members of the taxane family stems from their ability to bind and subsequently stabilize microtubules, inhibiting the progression of mitosis and eventually triggering apoptosis without cell division [191, 192]. Phyton Biotech[®] (Ahrensburg, Germany) operates the largest cGMP-compliant plant cell culture facility in the world and supplies nearly 500 kg of paclitaxel annually via Plant Cell Fermentation (PCF[®]) (Figure 10.5 a) [11]. Additionally, Phyton Biotech[®] is the only company in the world to produce docetaxel semisynthetically from 10-deacetylbaccatin derived from plant cell culture and not harvested from yew plantations [11].

10.10.2.2 Why Plant Cell Culture?

Paclitaxel clinical trials began in 1983, and initial quantities of the compound were supplied via natural harvest from the bark of the Pacific yew tree [112]. Once paclitaxel was proven effective in the treatment of the most serious forms of ovarian cancer, demand dramatically increased and the limitations of natural harvest became apparent. The bark of the Pacific yew tree contains approximately 0.0004% paclitaxel, and 38 000 full grown trees were required to supply 25 kg of paclitaxel required per year [5]. Bark-stripping is also fatal to the trees, which can take as long as 200 years to mature [112]. Low yields and staunch opposition from ardent environmentalists forced scientists to develop alternate production platforms.

Two total syntheses of paclitaxel were reported in 1994 [193, 194]; however, both required about 40 steps and had an overall yield of 2%, and were therefore not viable for paclitaxel synthesis on the desired kilogram scale. Chemical synthesis is complicated by the sophisticated structure of paclitaxel, comprised of 4 rings and 11 chiral centers. In fact, the very first paclitaxel total synthesis took 12 years, and to date only six total syntheses have been reported [193]. A semisynthetic approach from a paclitaxel precursor isolated from the leaves and stems of the European yew (T. baccata) was implemented in 1995. This approach afforded substantial improvements over natural harvest, as the precursor is present at about 0.1% in the leaves and twigs and harvest of plant material is not fatal to the tree [112]. Although economically viable and able to meet market demands, semisynthesis required 11 transformations, involved hazardous reagents and solvents, utilized significant amounts of energy, and produced toxic waste streams. Bristol-Myers Squibb (BMS), motivated by environmental health and safety concerns as well as a financial incentive for a green pharmaceutical process, turned to large-scale plant cell culture for the production of paclitaxel. The plant-cellculture-based process developed by BMS in conjunction with Phyton Biotech®

was fully implemented in the production of paclitaxel in 2002 and earned BMS the 2004 Presidential Chemistry Challenge Award [112].

10.10.2.3 Plant Cell Fermentation (PCF™)

Preliminary screening performed during process development found that suspension cultures derived from the actively growing needles of *T. chinensis* yielded the largest quantities of paclitaxel [18]. Medium conditions and cell lines were chosen so as to maximize paclitaxel accumulation while minimizing the production of the unwanted analog cephalomanine, an incredibly elegant strategy to reduce the difficulty and cost of downstream processing [18]. Suspension cultures are initiated from cryopreserved stock and scaled-up in a cascade of bioreactors to a maximum volume of 75 0001. The overall process utilizes a two-stage cultivation regime. Once significant biomass levels are obtained, the growth medium is exchanged for an optimized production medium containing silver ions (an inhibitor of the plant hormone ethylene), methyl jasmonate (a stress hormone that promotes specialized metabolite synthesis), and inhibitors of the phenylpropanoid pathway (e.g., 3,4-methylenedioxy-6-nitrocinnamic acid). After production, the whole culture medium, cells included, is subject to liquid-liquid extraction with a mixture of isobutyl acetate and isopropanol (both are Class III solvents, Section 8.1) [112]. The crude extract is redissolved in dichloromethane, solvent-exchanged into a mixture containing dimethylformamide (DMF) and formamide, and purified via column chromatography, with the final product obtained via crystallization.

10.10.2.4 PCF[™] Compared to Other Production Platforms

Phyton's PCFTM platform is an environmentally friendly and economically favorable platform for large-scale paclitaxel production. Both natural-harvest- and semisynthesis-based strategies produce large amounts of solid biomass waste. In contrast, the biomass harvested from bioreactors during PCFTM is processed by standard wastewater treatment facilities, after the addition of sodium hydroxide to deactivate any paclitaxel residues [112]. Compared to natural harvest, there is no need to destroy 100-year-old trees just for the bark. PCFTM can be performed year-round, whereas the semisynthesis approach relies on needles from *T. baccata* plantations that are only seasonably available. Phyton's approach uses 10 less organic solvents than semisynthesis as well as significantly less amounts of energy [112]. Most importantly, the costs associated with PCFTM are 20% that of natural harvest and 20% less than the semisynthesis-based approach [112] (Figure 10.5 c).

10.11 Conclusion

Plant cell suspension culture presents a renewable, economically favorable, and easily regulated platform for the production of specialized metabolites and recombinant proteins. Plant cell suspensions can be cultivated in a wide range of vessels utilizing the same process strategies applied to microbial and mammalian cell culture. Recent advances and knowledge in bioreactor design, cultivation strategies, cell aggregation, and product encapsulation have accelerated use



 100% 25% 20%

Natural semisynthetic PCF

(C)

Figure 10.5 (a) Bioreactor facility at Phyton Biotech[®] [11]. (b) Paclitaxel (note the 4 rings and 11 chiral centers as well as the 6/8/6-membered ring system common to all tax-

anes). (c) Cost comparison of different paclitaxel production strategies. (From [112] with permission ©2010 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.)

of plant cell culture technology. Emerging research in metabolic engineering, computational biology, cryopreservation/cold storage, and gene transformation techniques will enable further adoption of this versatile production platform. Plant cells are intrinsically safe and the only cell system that can serve both as a production host and delivery vehicle, offering a novel approach to drug synthesis and delivery.

References

(b)

- Haberlandt, G. (1969) Experiments on the culture of isolated plant cells. *Bot. Rev.*, 35 (1), 68-88.
- 2 Vasil, I.K. (2008) A history of plant biotechnology: From the cell theory of Schleiden and Schwann to

biotech crops. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **27** (9), 1423-1440.

- 3 Routien, J.B. and Nickell, L.G. (1952) Cultivation of plant tissue. US Patent 2,747,334, filed May 20, 1952 and issued May 29, 1956.
- 4 Curtin, M.E. (1983) Harvesting profitable products from plant tissue culture. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 1 (8), 649-659.
- 5 Wilson, S.A. and Roberts, S.C. (2012) Recent advances towards development and commercialization of plant cell culture processes for the synthesis of biomolecules. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **10** (3), 249–268.
- 6 Imseng, N., Schillberg, S., Schurch, C., Schmid, D. et al. (2014) Suspension culture of plant cells under heterotrophic conditions, in *Industrial Scale Suspen*sion Culture of Living Cells, 1st edn (eds H.-P. Meyer and D.R. Schmidhalter), John Wiley & Sons, Weinheim, pp. 827–851.
- **7** www.protalix.com (accessed 5 January 2006)
- 8 Roberts, S.C. (2007) Production and engineering of terpenoids in plant cell culture. *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, **3** (7), 387–395.
- 9 www.fda.gov (accessed 5 January 2006).
- 10 Hellwig, S., Drossard, J., Twyman, R.M., and Fischer, R. (2004) Plant cell cultures for the production of recombinant proteins. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **22** (11), 1415–1422.
- 11 www.phytonbiotech.com (accessed 19 August 2016).
- 12 Mustafa, N.R., de Winter, W., van Iren, F., and Verpoorte, R. (2011) Initiation, growth and cryopreservation of plant cell suspension cultures. *Nat. Protoc.*, 6 (6), 715–742.
- 13 Eibl, R. and Eibl, D. (2009) Plant cellbased bioprocessing, in *Cell and Tissue Reaction Engineering*, 1st edn (eds R. Eibl, D. Eibl, R. Portner, G. Catapano, and P. Czermak), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 315–356.
- 14 James, E. and Lee, J.M. (2006) Loss and recovery of protein productivity in genetically modified plant cell lines. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 25 (7), 723–727.

- 15 Fischer, R., Schillberg, S., Hellwig, S., Twyman, R.M. *et al.* (2012) GMP issues for recombinant plant-derived pharmaceutical proteins. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **30** (2), 434–439.
- 16 Kadkade, P.G., Bare, B.S.-P. and Yu, B. (1997) Cryopreservation of plant cells. US Patent 6,753,182, filed Jan. 8, 1997 and issued Jun. 22, 2004.
- Aitken-Christie, J. and Singh, A.P. (1987) Cold storage in tissue cultures, in *Cell and Tissue Culture in Forestry*, vol. 2 (eds J.M. Bonga and D.J. Durzan), Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, pp. 285–304.
- 18 Bringi, V., Kadkade, P.G., Prince, C.L., Schubmehl, B.F., Kane, E.J. and Roach, B.L. (1992) Enhanced production of taxol and taxanes by cell cultures of *Taxus* species. US Patent 5,407,816, filed Apr. 24, 1992 and issued Apr. 18, 1995.
- 19 Terzi, M., Cella, R. and Falavigna, A. (eds) (1994) Current Issues in Plant Molecular and Cellular Biology. Proceedings of the 8th International Congress on Plant Tissue and Cell Culture, June 12-17, 1994, Florence, Italy. Springer Science & Business Media
- 20 Kirchhoff, J., Raven, N., Boes, A., Roberts, J.L. *et al.* (2012) Monoclonal tobacco cell lines with enhanced recombinant protein yields can be generated from heterogeneous cell suspension cultures by flow sorting. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **10** (8), 936–944.
- 21 Georgiev, M., Pavlov, A., and Ilieva, M. (2006) Selection of high rosmarinic acid producing Lavandula vera MM cell lines. *Process Biochem.*, **41** (9), 2068–2071.
- 22 Weathers, P.J., Towler, M.J., and Xu, J. (2010) Bench to batch: Advances in plant cell culture for producing useful products. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 85 (5), 1339–1351.
- 23 Tekoah, Y., Shulman, A., Kizhner, T., Ruderfer, I. *et al.* (2015) Large-scale production of pharmaceutical proteins in plant cell culture: The protalix experience. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **13** (8), 1199–1208.
- 24 Sijmons, P.C., Dekker, B.M., Schrammeijer, B., Verwoerd, T.C. *et al.* (1990) Production of correctly

processed human serum albumin in transgenic plants. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, **8** (3), 217–221.

- 25 Raven, N., Rasche, S., Kuehn, C., Anderlei, T. *et al.* (2015) Scaled-up manufacturing of recombinant antibodies produced by plant cells in a 200-L orbitally-shaken disposable bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **112** (2), 308–321.
- 26 O'Neill, K.M., Schilthuis, A.M., Leiter, C.A., Neihaus, K.M. *et al.* (2015) Scaleup of transgenic tobacco cells that express intimin of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 for use as a transitional platform for an oral cattle vaccine. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.: Plant*, 1–9.
- 27 Xu, J. and Zhang, N. (2014) On the way to commercializing plant cell culture platform for biopharmaceuticals: Present status and prospect. *Pharm. Bioprocess.*, 2 (6), 499–518.
- 28 Xu, J., Okada, S., Tan, L., Goodrum, K.J. et al. (2010) Human growth hormone expressed in tobacco cells as an arabinogalactan-protein fusion glycoprotein has a prolonged serum life. *Transgenic Res.*, **19** (5), 849–867.
- 29 Xu, J., Tan, L., Goodrum, K.J., and Kieliszewski, M.J. (2007) High-yields and extended serum half-life of human interferon α2b expressed in tobacco cells as arabinogalactan-protein fusions. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **97** (5), 997–1008.
- 30 Yano, A., Maeda, F., and Takekoshi, M. (2004) Transgenic tobacco cells producing the human monoclonal antibody to hepatitis B virus surface antigen. *J. Med. Virol.*, 73 (2), 208–215.
- 31 Holland, T., Sack, M., Rademacher, T., Schmale, K. *et al.* (2010) Optimal nitrogen supply as a key to increased and sustained production of a monoclonal full-size antibody in BY-2 suspension culture. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **107** (2), 278–289.
- 32 Kaldis, A., Ahmad, A., Reid, A., McGarvey, B. *et al.* (2013) High-level production of human interleukin-10 fusions in tobacco cell suspension cultures. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **11** (5), 535–545.
- 33 Nagata, T., Nemoto, Y., and Hasezawa,S. (1992) Tobacco BY-2 cell line as the

"HeLa" cell in the cell biology of higher plants. *Int. Rev. Cytol.*, **132** (1), 1–30.

- 34 Fox, J.L. (2012) First plant-made biologic approved. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 30 (6), 472.
- 35 Rosales-Mendoza, S. and Tello-Olea, M.A. (2015) Carrot cells: A pioneering platform for biopharmaceuticals production. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 57 (3), 219–232.
- 36 Kuo, Y.-C., Tan, C.-C., Ku, J.-T., Hsu, W.-C. *et al.* (2013) Improving pharmaceutical protein production in *Oryza sativa. Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, 14 (5), 8719–8739.
- 37 Smith, M.L., Mason, H.S., and Shuler, M.L. (2002) Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) expression in plant cell culture: Kinetics of antigen accumulation in batch culture and its intracellular form. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **80** (7), 812–822.
- 38 Obembe, O.O., Popoola, J.O., Leelavathi, S., and Reddy, S.V. (2011) Advances in plant molecular farming. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 29 (2), 210–222.
- 39 Xu, J., Dolan, M.C., Medrano, G., Cramer, C.L. *et al.* (2012) Green factory: Plants as bioproduction platforms for recombinant proteins. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **30** (5), 1171–1184.
- 40 Huang, T.-K. and McDonald, K.A. (2009) Bioreactor engineering for recombinant protein production in plant cell suspension cultures. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 45 (3), 168–184.
- 41 Xu, J., Ge, X., and Dolan, M.C. (2011) Towards high-yield production of pharmaceutical proteins with plant cell suspension cultures. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 29 (3), 278–299.
- 42 Patil, R.A. and Roberts, S.C. (2013) Implications of cellular heterogeneity on plant cell culture performance, in *Biotechnology for Medicinal Plants*, (eds S. Chandra, H. Lata and A. Varma), Springer, pp. 207–239.
- 43 Curtis, W.R. and Emery, A.H. (1993) Plant cell suspension culture rheology. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 42 (4), 520-526.
- 44 Su, W.W. (2006) Bioreactor engineering for recombinant protein production using plant cell suspension culture, in *Plant Tissue Culture Engineering*, 1st

edn (eds S.D. Gupta and Y. Ibaraki), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 135–159.

- 45 Georgiev, M.I., Weber, J., and Maciuk, A. (2009) Bioprocessing of plant cell cultures for mass production of targeted compounds. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 83 (5), 809–823.
- 46 Haas, C., Weber, J., Ludwig-Müller, J., Deponte, S. *et al.* (2008) Flow cytometry and phytochemical analysis of a sunflower cell suspension culture in a 5-L bioreactor. *Z. Naturforsch. C*, 63 (9–10), 699–705.
- 47 Chattopadhyay, S., Farkya, S., Srivastava, A.K., and Bisaria, V.S. (2002) Bioprocess considerations for production of secondary metabolites by plant cell suspension cultures. *Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng.*, 7 (3), 138–149.
- 48 Linden, J., Haigh, J., Mirjalili, N., and Phisaphalong, M. (2001) Gas concentration effects on secondary metabolite production by plant cell cultures, in *Plant Cells*, (eds J. -J. Zhong, S. Y. Byun, G. H. Cho *et al.*) Springer, pp. 27–62.
- 49 Fomenkov, A., Nosov, A., Rakitin, V.Y., Sukhanova, E. *et al.* (2015) Ethylene in the proliferation of cultured plant cells: Regulating or just going along? *Russ. J. Plant Physiol.*, **62** (6), 815–822.
- 50 Kolewe, M.E., Henson, M.A., and Roberts, S.C. (2011) Analysis of aggregate size as a process variable affecting paclitaxel accumulation in *Taxus* suspension cultures. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 27 (5), 1365–1372.
- 51 Edahiro, J.-I. and Seki, M. (2006) Phenylpropanoid metabolite supports cell aggregate formation in strawberry cell suspension culture. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 102 (1), 8–13.
- 52 Patil, R.A., Kolewe, M.E., and Roberts, S.C. (2013) Cellular aggregation is a key parameter associated with long term variability in paclitaxel accumulation in *Taxus* suspension cultures. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, **112** (3), 303–310.
- 53 Huang, T.K. and McDonald, K.A. (2012) Molecular farming using bioreactorbased plant cell suspension cultures for recombinant protein production, in *Molecular Farming in Plants: Recent Advances and Future Prospects*, 1st edn

(eds A. Wang and S. Ma), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 37–67.

- 54 Glicklis, R., Mills, D., Sitton, D., Stortelder, W. *et al.* (1998) Polysaccharide production by plant cells in suspension: Experiments and mathematical modeling. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 57 (6), 732–740.
- 55 Nguyen, H.L., Vo, C.T., Doan, H.N.B., Truong, T.B.P. *et al.* (2009) Accumulation of sesquiterpenes and polysaccharides in cells of zedoary (*Curcuma zedoaria* Roscoe) cultured in a 10 L bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng.*, **14** (5), 619–624.
- 56 Verpoorte, R., Contin, A., and Memelink, J. (2002) Biotechnology for the production of plant secondary metabolites. *Phytochem. Rev.*, 1 (1), 13–25.
- 57 Wagner, F. and Vogelmann, H. (1977) Cultivation of plant tissue cultures in bioreactors and formation of secondary metabolites, in *Plant Tissue Culture and Its Bio-Technological Application*, (eds W. Barz, E. Reinhard, and M. H. Zenk), Springer, pp. 245–252.
- 58 Georgiev, M.I. and Weber, J. (2014) Bioreactors for plant cells: Hardware configuration and internal environment optimization as tools for wider commercialization. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, **36** (7), 1359–1367.
- 59 Murashige, T. and Skoog, F. (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bio assays with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol. Plant.*, **15** (3), 473–497.
- Linsmaier, E.M. and Skoog, F. (1965) Organic growth factor requirements of tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiol. Plant.*, 18 (1), 100–127.
- 61 Schenk, R.U. and Hildebrandt, A. (1972) Medium and techniques for induction and growth of monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plant cell cultures. *Can. J. Bot.*, **50** (1), 199–204.
- 62 Gamborg, O.L.C., Miller, R.A., and Ojima, K. (1968) Nutrient requirements of suspension cultures of soybean root cells. *Exp. Cell. Res.*, 50 (1), 151–158.
- **63** Skoog, F. and Miller, C. (1957) Chemical regulation of growth and organ formation in plant tissue cultured

in vitro. Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol., **11**, 118–131.

- 64 Vasilev, N., Grömping, U., Lipperts, A., Raven, N. *et al.* (2013) Optimization of BY-2 cell suspension culture medium for the production of a human antibody using a combination of fractional factorial designs and the response surface method. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **11** (7), 867–874.
- 65 Huang, T.K., Plesha, M.A., Falk, B.W., Dandekar, A.M. *et al.* (2009) Bioreactor strategies for improving production yield and functionality of a recombinant human protein in transgenic tobacco cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **102** (2), 508–520.
- 66 Gupta, K., Garg, S., Singh, J., and Kumar, M. (2014) Enhanced production of napthoquinone metabolite (shikonin) from cell suspension culture of *Arnebia* sp. and its up-scaling through bioreactor. *3 Biotech.*, 4 (3), 263–273.
- 67 Kwon, J.-Y., Cheon, S.-H., Nam, H.-J., Choi, H.-Y. *et al.* (2013) Process characterization of hCTLA4Ig production in transgenic rice cell cultures using a 3-L bioreactor. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, 171 (5), 1276–1288.
- 68 Huang, T.-K. and McDonald, K.A. (2012) Bioreactor systems for *in vitro* production of foreign proteins using plant cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 30 (2), 398–409.
- 69 Chattopadhyay, S., Srivastava, A., and Bisaria, V. (2005) Production of phytochemicals in plant cell bioreactors, in *Plant Biotechnology and Molecular Markers*, (Eds P.S. Srivastava, A. Narula and S. Srivastava), Springer, pp. 117–128.
- 70 Eibl, R. and Eibl, D. (2008) Design of bioreactors suitable for plant cell and tissue cultures. *Phytochem. Rev.*, 7 (3), 593–598.
- 71 Dong, Y., Gao, W.-Y., Man, S., Zuo, B. *et al.* (2013) Effect of bioreactor angle and aeration rate on growth and hydromechanics parameters in bioreactor culture of ginseng suspension cells. *Acta Physiol. Plant.*, **35** (5), 1497–1501.
- 72 Su, W., Lee, K., and Shang-Tian,Y. (2007) Plant cell and hairy-root

cultures-process characteristics, products, and application, in *Bioprocessing* for Value-Added Products from Renewable Resources, (Ed. S. Yang), Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, pp. 263–292.

- 73 Georgiev, M.I., Eibl, R., and Zhong, J.-J. (2013) Hosting the plant cells *in vitro*: Recent trends in bioreactors. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **97** (9), 3787–3800.
- 74 Zhao, D., Huang, Y., Jin, Z., Qu, W. et al. (2003) Effect of aggregate size in cell cultures of Saussurea medusa on cell growth and jaceosidin production. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 21 (11), 1129–1133.
- 75 Park, C.I., Lee, S.J., Kang, S.H., Jung, H.S. *et al.* (2010) Fed-batch cultivation of transgenic rice cells for the production of hCTLA4Ig using concentrated amino acids. *Process Biochem.*, **45** (1), 67–74.
- 76 Qian, Z.G., Zhao, Z.J., Xu, Y.F., Qian, X.H. *et al.* (2005) Highly efficient strategy for enhancing taxoid production by repeated elicitation with a newly synthesized jasmonate in fed-batch cultivation of *Taxus chinensis* cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **90** (4), 516–521.
- 77 Chattopadhyay, S., Bisaria, V.S., Bhojwani, S.S., and Srivastava, A.K. (2003) Enhanced production of podophyllotoxin by fed-batch cultivation of *Podophyllum hexandrum. Can. J. Chem. Eng.*, **81** (5), 1011–1018.
- 78 Luo, J., Mei, X., Liu, L., and Hu, D. (2002) Improved paclitaxel production by fed-batch suspension cultures of *Taxus chinensis* in bioreactors. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, 24 (7), 561–565.
- 79 Lee, S.Y. and Kim, D.I. (2006) Perfusion cultivation of transgenic *Nicotiana tabacum* suspensions in bioreactor for recombinant protein production. *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 16 (5), 673–677.
- 80 Su, W.W. and Arias, R. (2003) Continuous plant cell perfusion culture: Bioreactor characterization and secreted enzyme production. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 95 (1), 13–20.
- 81 Yang, Y.-S., Kwon, J.-Y., Cheon, S.-H., Choi, S.-H. *et al.* (2009) Application of perfusion system for the production of hCTLA4Ig in transgenic rice cell cultures. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, **108**, S13.

- 82 Vasquez-Rivera, A., Chicaiza-Finley, D., Hoyos, R., and Orozco-Sanchez, F. (2015) Production of limonoids with insect antifeedant activity in a two-stage bioreactor process with cell suspension culture of *Azadirachta indica*. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, 177 (2), 334–345.
- 83 Alvarez, M.A., Eraso, N.F., Pitta-Alvarez, S.I., and Marconi, P.L. (2009) Two-stage culture for producing berberine by cell suspension and shoot cultures of *Berberis buxifolia* Lam. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, 31 (3), 457–463.
- 84 Shin, Y.J., Hong, S.Y., Kwon, T.H., Jang, Y.S. *et al.* (2003) High level of expression of recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor in transgenic rice cell suspension culture. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 82 (7), 778–783.
- 85 Huang, L.-F., Liu, Y.-K., Lu, C.-A., Hsieh, S.-L. *et al.* (2005) Production of human serum albumin by sugar starvation induced promoter and rice cell culture. *Transgenic Res.*, 14 (5), 569–581.
- 86 Wang, J., Gao, W.-Y., Zhang, J., Zuo, B.-M. *et al.* (2012) Production of ginsenoside and polysaccharide by two-stage cultivation of *Panax quinquefolium* L. cells. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.: Plant*, 48 (1), 107–112.
- 87 Doran, P.M. (1999) Design of mixing systems for plant cell suspensions in stirred reactors. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 15 (3), 319–335.
- Wang, S.J. and Zhong, J.J. (1996) A novel centrifugal impeller bioreactor.
 I. Fluid circulation, mixing, and liquid velocity profiles. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 51 (5), 511–519.
- 89 Wang, S.J. and Zhong, J.J. (1996) A novel centrifugal impeller bioreactor. II. Oxygen transfer and power consumption. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **51** (5), 520–527.
- 90 Zhong, J.-J., Pan, Z.-W., Wang, Z.-Y., Wu, J. et al. (2002) Effect of mixing time on taxoid production using suspension cultures of *Taxus chinensis* in a centrifugal impeller bioreactor. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 94 (3), 244–250.
- **91** Zhang, Z.Y. and Zhong, J.J. (2004) Scale-up of centrifugal impeller

bioreactor for hyperproduction of ginseng saponin and polysaccharide by high-density cultivation of *Panax notoginseng* cells. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **20** (4), 1076–1081.

- 92 Amanullah, A., Buckland, B.C., and Nienow, A.W. (2004) Mixing in the fermentation and cell culture industries, in *Handbook of Industrial Mixing: Science and Practice*, (eds E. L. Paul, V. A. Atiemo-Obeng and S. M. Kresta), pp. 1071–1170.
- Böhme, C., Schröder, M.-B., Jung-Heiliger, H., and Lehmann, J. (1997) Plant cell suspension culture in a bench-scale fermenter with a newly designed membrane stirrer for bubble-free aeration. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 48 (2), 149–154.
- 94 Abdullah, M.A., Ariff, A., Marziah, M., Ali, A.M. *et al.* (2000) Strategies to overcome foaming and wall-growth during the cultivation of *Morinda elliptica* cell suspension culture in a stirred-tank bioreactor. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, **60** (3), 205–212.
- 95 Zhong, C. and Yuan, Y.-J. (2009) Responses of *Taxus cuspidata* to hydrodynamics in bubble column bioreactors with different sparging nozzle sizes. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, **45** (2), 100–106.
- 96 Kaiser, S.C., Kraume, M., Eibl, D., and Eibl, R. (2015) Single-use bioreactors for animal and human cells, in *Animal Cell Culture*, 1st edn (ed. M. Al-Rubeai), Springer, pp. 445–500.
- 97 Eibl, R., Kaiser, S., Lombriser, R., and Eibl, D. (2010) Disposable bioreactors: The current state-of-the-art and recommended applications in biotechnology. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 86 (1), 41–49.
- 98 Lopes, A.G. (2015) Single-use in the biopharmaceutical industry: A review of current technology impact, challenges and limitations. *Food Bioprod. Process.*, 93, 98–114.
- 99 Allison, N. and Richards, J. (2014) Current status and future trends for disposable technology in the biopharmaceutical industry. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 89 (9), 1283–1287.
- **100** Eibl, R. and Eibl, D. (2006) Design and use of the wave bioreactor for plant cell

culture, in *Plant Tissue Culture Engineering*, 1st edn (eds S.D. Gupta and Y. Ibaraki), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 203–227.

- 101 Eibl, R., Werner, S., and Eibl, D. (2009) Bag bioreactor based on wave-induced motion: Characteristics and applications, in *Disposable Bioreactors*, 1st edn (eds R. Eibl and D. Eibl), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 55–87.
- 102 Kwon, J.Y., Yang, Y.S., Cheon, S.H., Nam, H.J. *et al.* (2013) Bioreactor engineering using disposable technology for enhanced production of hCTLA4Ig in transgenic rice cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **110** (9), 2412–2424.
- 103 Terrier, B., Courtois, D., Hénault, N., Cuvier, A. *et al.* (2007) Two new disposable bioreactors for plant cell culture: The wave and undertow bioreactor and the slug bubble bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **96** (5), 914–923.
- 104 Ducos, J.-P., Bénédicte, T., and Courtois, D. (2010) Disposable bioreactors for plant micropropagation and mass plant cell culture, in *Disposable Bioreactors*, 1st edn (eds R. Eibl and D. Eibl), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 89–115.
- 105 Glindkamp, A., Riechers, D., Rehbock, C., Hitzmann, B. *et al.* (2010) Sensors in disposable bioreactors status and trends, in *Disposable Bioreactors*, 1st edn (eds R. Eibl and D. Eibl), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 145–169.
- 106 Rader, R.A. and Langer, E.S. (2012) Upstream single-use bioprocessing systems. *BioProcess Int.*, 10 (2).
- 107 Roberts, S., Naill, M., Gibson, D., and Shuler, M. (2003) A simple method for enhancing paclitaxel release from *Taxus canadensis* cell suspension cultures utilizing cell wall digesting enzymes. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **21** (12), 1217–1220.
- 108 Bart, H.-J. (2011) Extraction of natural products from plants: An introduction, in *Industrial Scale Natural Products Extraction*, 1st edn (eds H.-J. Bart and S. Pilz), John Wiley & Sons, Weinheim, pp. 1–25.
- 109 Liu, J., Zhu, J., Tang, L., Wen, W. et al. (2014) Enhancement of vindoline and vinblastine production in suspensioncultured cells of *Catharanthus roseus*

by artemisinic acid elicitation. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **30** (1), 175–180.

- 110 Santos-Buelga, C., Gonzalez-Manzano, S., Dueñas, M., and Gonzalez-Paramas, A.M. (2012) Extraction and isolation of phenolic compounds, in *Natural Products Isolation*, 3nd edn (eds S.D. Sarker and L. Nahar), Humana Press, pp. 427–464.
- McPartland, T.J., Patil, R.A., Malone, M.F., and Roberts, S.C. (2012)
 Liquid–liquid extraction for recovery of paclitaxel from plant cell culture: Solvent evaluation and use of extractants for partitioning and selectivity. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 28 (4), 990–997.
- 112 Mountford, P.G. (2010) The Taxol[®] story: Development of a green synthesis via plant cell fermentation, in *Green Chemistry in the Pharmaceutical Industry*, 1st edn (eds P.J. Dunn, A.S. Wells, and M.T. Williams), John Wiley & Sons, Weinheim, pp. 145–160.
- Backman, J. and Isohanni, T. (2013)
 Cosmetic compositions containing cloudberry cell culture preparation.
 World Patent WO 2,013,124,540, filed
 Feb. 18, 2013 and issued Aug. 29, 2013.
- 114 Hu, R. and Pan, Y. (2012) Recent trends in counter-current chromatography. *TrAC, Trends Anal. Chem.*, 40, 15–27.
- 115 McAlpine, J.B. and Morris, P. (2005) Separation by high-speed countercurrent chromatography, in *Natural Products Isolation*, 2nd edn (eds S.D. Sarker and L. Nahar), Humana Press, pp. 185–211.
- 116 Pauli, G.F., Pro, S.M., and Friesen, J.B. (2008) Countercurrent separation of natural products. *J. Nat. Prod.*, **71** (8), 1489–1508.
- 117 Schillberg, S., Raven, N., Fischer, R., Twyman, M. *et al.* (2013) Molecular farming of pharmaceutical proteins using plant suspension cell and tissue cultures. *Curr. Pharm. Des.*, **19** (31), 5531–5542.
- 118 Stoger, E., Fischer, R., Moloney, M., and Ma, J.K.-C. (2014) Plant molecular pharming for the treatment of chronic and infectious diseases. *Annu. Rev. Plant Biol.*, 65, 743–768.
- 119 Chan, H.T. and Daniell, H. (2015) Plantmade oral vaccines against human

infectious diseases: Are we there yet? *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **13** (8), 1056–1070.

- 120 Shaaltiel, Y., Gingis-Velitski, S., Tzaban, S., Fiks, N. *et al.* (2015) Plant-based oral delivery of beta-glucocerebrosidase as an enzyme replacement therapy for Gaucher's disease. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 13 (8), 1033–1040.
- 121 Buyel, J., Twyman, R., and Fischer, R. (2015) Extraction and downstream processing of plant-derived recombinant proteins. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 33, 902–913.
- 122 Shaaltiel, Y., Baum, G., Bartfield, D., Hashmueli, S., et al. (2007) Production of high mannose proteins in plant culture. US Patent 20,080,038,232, filed Apr. 30, 2007 and issued Feb. 14, 2008.
- 123 Buyel, J.F. and Fischer, R. (2014) Flocculation increases the efficacy of depth filtration during the downstream processing of recombinant pharmaceutical proteins produced in tobacco. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **12** (2), 240–252.
- 124 Wilken, L.R. and Nikolov, Z.L. (2012) Recovery and purification of plant-made recombinant proteins. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 30 (2), 419–433.
- 125 Hussack, G., Grohs, B.M., Almquist, K.C., McLean, M.D. *et al.* (2010) Purification of plant-derived antibodies through direct immobilization of affinity ligands on cellulose. *J. Agric. Food Chem.*, 58 (6), 3451–3459.
- 126 James, E., Mills, D.R., and Lee, J.M. (2002) Increased production and recovery of secreted foreign proteins from plant cell cultures using an affinity chromatography bioreactor. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 12 (3), 205–213.
- 127 Osuna, L., Tapia, N., Cusido, R., Palazon, J. *et al.* (2015) Taxane production induced by methyl jasmonate in free and immobilized cell cultures of Mexican yew (*Taxus globosa* Schltdl). *Acta Physiol. Plant.*, **37** (10), 8.
- 128 Iizuka, Y., Kato, R., Shibasaki-Kitakawa, N., and Yonemoto, T. (2005) Combination of extractive solvent addition and immobilization culture for continuous production of scopoletin by tobacco cells. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 21 (2), 603–607.
- **129** Bodeutsch, T., James, E., and Lee, J. (2001) The effect of immobilization on recombinant protein production in

plant cell culture. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **20** (6), 562–566.

- 130 Iborra, J., Guardiola, J., Montaner, S., Canovas, M. *et al.* (1994) Enhanced accumulation of anthocyanins in *Vitis vinifera* cells immobilized in polyurethane foam. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 16 (5), 416–419.
- 131 Nakashima, K., Shibasaki-Kitakawa, N., Miyamoto, T., Kubo, M. *et al.* (2013) Production of human secreted alkaline phosphatase in suspension and immobilization cultures of tobacco NT1 cell. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 77, 177–182.
- Bonfill, M., Bentebibel, S., Moyano,
 E., Palazón, J. *et al.* (2007) Paclitaxel and baccatin III production induced by methyl jasmonate in free and immobilized cells of *Taxus baccata. Biol. Plant.*, 51 (4), 647–652.
- Roja, G., Bhangale, A., Juvekar, A., Eapen, S. *et al.* (2005) Enhanced production of the polysaccharide arabinogalactan using immobilized cultures of *Tinospora cordifolia* by elicitation and in situ adsorption. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 21 (6), 1688–1691.
- 134 Sharp, J.M. and Doran, P.M. (2001) Strategies for enhancing monoclonal antibody accumulation in plant cell and organ cultures. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 17 (6), 979–992.
- Malik, S., Hossein Mirjalili, M., Fett-Neto, A.G., Mazzafera, P. *et al.* (2013) Living between two worlds: Twophase culture systems for producing plant secondary metabolites. *Crit. Rev. Biotechnol.*, 33 (1), 1–22.
- 136 Collins-Pavao, M., Chin, C.-K., and Pedersen, H. (1996) Taxol partitioning in two-phase plant cell cultures of *Taxus brevifolia. J. Biotechnol.*, 49 (1), 95–100.
- 137 Wang, C., Wu, J., and Mei, X. (2001) Enhanced taxol production and release in *Taxus chinensis* cell suspension cultures with selected organic solvents and sucrose feeding. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 17 (1), 89–94.
- 138 Xu, Q.-M., Cheng, J.-S., Ge, Z.-Q., and Yuan, Y.-J. (2004) Effects of organic solvents on membrane of *Taxus cuspidata* cells in. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, 79 (1), 63–69.

- 324 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures
 - 139 Zare, K., Nazemiyeh, H., Movafeghi, A., Khosrowshahli, M. *et al.* (2010) Bioprocess engineering of *Echium italicum* L.: Induction of shikonin and alkannin derivatives by two-liquid-phase suspension cultures. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, 100 (2), 157–164.
 - 140 Xu, Q.-M., Cheng, J.-S., Ge, Z.-Q., and Yuan, Y.-J. (2005) Abnormal mitosis versus apoptosis of *Taxus cuspidata* induced by oleic acid in two-liquidphase suspension cultures. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 37 (1), 76–81.
 - 141 Ilieva, M., Pavlov, A., and Bacalova, A. (2001) Phosphodiesterase production in an aqueous two-phase system by *Nico-tiana tabacum* 1507. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, **90** (3), 261–272.
 - 142 Wong, P.L., Royce, A.J., and Lee-Parsons, C.W. (2004) Improved ajmalicine production and recovery from *Catharanthus roseus* suspensions with increased product removal rates. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 21 (3), 253–258.
 - 143 Gao, M.-B., Zhang, W., and Ruan, C.-J. (2011) Significantly improved taxuyunnanine C production in cell suspension cultures of *Taxus chinensis* by process intensification of repeated elicitation, sucrose feeding, and *in situ* adsorption. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 27 (10), 2271–2279.
 - 144 Lee-Parsons, C.W. and Shuler, M.L. (2002) The effect of ajmalicine spiking and resin addition timing on the production of indole alkaloids from *Catharanthus roseus* cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **79** (4), 408–415.
 - 145 Lin, L. and Wu, J. (2002) Enhancement of shikonin production in single-and two-phase suspension cultures of *Lithospermum erythrorhizon* cells using low-energy ultrasound. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 78 (1), 81–88.
 - 146 Murthy, H.N., Lee, E.-J., and Paek, K.-Y. (2014) Production of secondary metabolites from cell and organ cultures: Strategies and approaches for biomass improvement and metabolite accumulation. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, 118 (1), 1–16.
 - 147 Cheng, X.-Y., Zhou, H.-Y., Cui, X., Ni, W. et al. (2006) Improvement of phenylethanoid glycosides biosynthesis

in *Cistanche deserticola* cell suspension cultures by chitosan elicitor. *J. Biotechnol.*, **121** (2), 253–260.

- 148 Zhang, C.H., Fevereiro, P.S., He, G., and Chen, Z. (2007) Enhanced paclitaxel productivity and release capacity of *Taxus chinensis* cell suspension cultures adapted to chitosan. *Plant Sci.*, **172** (1), 158–163.
- 149 Ali, M., Abbasi, B.H., and Ali, G.S. (2015) Elicitation of antioxidant secondary metabolites with jasmonates and gibberellic acid in cell suspension cultures of *Artemisia absinthium* L. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, 120 (3), 1099–1106.
- 150 Ram, M., Prasad, K.V., Singh, S.K., Hada, B.S. *et al.* (2013) Influence of salicylic acid and methyl jasmonate elicitation on anthocyanin production in callus cultures of *Rosa hybrida* L. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, **113** (3), 459–467.
- 151 Jeandet, P., Clément, C., and Courot, E. (2014) Resveratrol production at large scale using plant cell suspensions. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 14 (6), 622–632.
- 152 Sabater-Jara, A.B., Onrubia, M., Moyano, E., Bonfill, M. *et al.* (2014) Synergistic effect of cyclodextrins and methyl jasmonate on taxane production in *Taxus* x media cell cultures. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **12** (8), 1075–1084.
- 153 Ajikumar, P.K., Xiao, W.-H., Tyo, K.E., Wang, Y. *et al.* (2010) Isoprenoid pathway optimization for Taxol precursor overproduction in *Escherichia coli. Science*, **330** (6000), 70–74.
- 154 Anthony, J.R., Anthony, L.C., Nowroozi, F., Kwon, G. *et al.* (2009) Optimization of the mevalonate-based isoprenoid biosynthetic pathway in *Escherichia coli* for production of the anti-malarial drug precursor amorpha-4,11-diene. *Metab. Eng.*, **11** (1), 13–19.
- 155 O'Connor, S.E. (2015) Engineering of secondary metabolism. *Annu. Rev. Genet.*, 49, 71–94.
- 156 Iwase, A., Matsui, K., and Ohme-Takagi, M. (2009) Manipulation of plant metabolic pathways by transcription factors. *Plant Biotechnol.*, 26 (1), 29–38.
- **157** Grotewold, E. (2008) Transcription factors for predictive plant metabolic

engineering: Are we there yet? *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **19** (2), 138–144.

- 158 Wu, Q., Sun, C., Luo, H., Li, Y. et al. (2011) Transcriptome analysis of *Taxus* cuspidata needles based on 454 pyrosequencing. Planta Med., 77 (4), 394.
- 159 de Oliveira Dal'Molin, C.G., Quek, L.-E., Palfreyman, R.W., Brumbley, S.M. *et al.* (2010) AraGEM, A genome-scale reconstruction of the primary metabolic network in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.*, 152 (2), 579–589.
- 160 Williams, T.C., Miguet, L., Masakapalli, S.K., Kruger, N.J. *et al.* (2008) Metabolic network fluxes in heterotrophic Arabidopsis cells: Stability of the flux distribution under different oxygenation conditions. *Plant Physiol.*, **148** (2), 704–718.
- 161 Kim, T.-G., Baek, M.-Y., Lee, E.-K., Kwon, T.-H. *et al.* (2008) Expression of human growth hormone in transgenic rice cell suspension culture. *Plant Cell Rep.*, 27 (5), 885–891.
- 162 McDonald, K.A., Hong, L.M., Trombly, D.M., Xie, Q. *et al.* (2005) Production of human α-1-antitrypsin from transgenic Rice cell culture in a membrane bioreactor. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **21** (3), 728–734.
- 163 Shin, Y.-J., Lee, N.-J., Kim, J., An, X.-H. et al. (2010) High-level production of bioactive heterodimeric protein human interleukin-12 in rice. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 46 (5), 347–351.
- 164 Doran, P.M. (2006) Foreign protein degradation and instability in plants and plant tissue cultures. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 24 (9), 426–432.
- 165 Magy, B., Tollet, J., Laterre, R., Boutry, M. et al. (2014) Accumulation of secreted antibodies in plant cell cultures varies according to the isotype, host species and culture conditions. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, **12** (4), 457–467.
- 166 Pillay, P., Schlüter, U., Van Wyk, S., Kunert, K.J. *et al.* (2014) Proteolysis of recombinant proteins in bioengineered plant cells. *Bioengineered*, 5 (1), 15–20.
- 167 Benchabane, M., Goulet, C., Rivard, D., Faye, L. *et al.* (2008) Preventing unintended proteolysis in plant protein biofactories. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 6 (7), 633–648.

- 168 Wirth, S., Calamante, G., Mentaberry, A., Bussmann, L. *et al.* (2004) Expression of active human epidermal growth factor (hEGF) in tobacco plants by integrative and non-integrative systems. *Mol. Breed.*, **13** (1), 23–35.
- 169 Nair, N.R., Chidambareswaren, M., and Manjula, S. (2014) Enhanced heterologous expression of biologically active human granulocyte colony stimulating factor in transgenic tobacco BY-2 cells by localization to endoplasmic reticulum. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 56 (9), 849–862.
- 170 Benchabane, M., Saint-Jore-Dupas, C., Bardor, M., Faye, L. *et al.* (2009) Targeting and post-translational processing of human α1-antichymotrypsin in BY-2 tobacco cultured cells. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 7 (2), 146–160.
- 171 Kim, N.-S., Jang, S.-H., Yu, H.-Y., Chung, N.-D. *et al.* (2013) Amylase and cysteine proteinase gene knockdown in rice cells using RNA interference for enhancing production of recombinant proteins. *Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult.*, 114 (1), 97–107.
- 172 Kim, N.-S., Kim, T.-G., Kim, O.-H., Ko, E.-M. *et al.* (2008) Improvement of recombinant hGM-CSF production by suppression of cysteine proteinase gene expression using RNA interference in a transgenic rice culture. *Plant Mol. Biol.*, 68 (3), 263–275.
- 173 Mandal, M.K., Fischer, R., Schillberg, S., and Schiermeyer, A. (2014) Inhibition of protease activity by antisense RNA improves recombinant protein production in *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. Bright Yellow 2 (BY-2) suspension cells. *Biotechnol. J.*, **9** (8), 1065–1073.
- 174 López, J., Lencina, F., Petruccelli, S., Marconi, P. et al. (2010) Influence of the KDEL signal, DMSO and mannitol on the production of the recombinant antibody 14D9 by long-term Nicotiana tabacum cell suspension culture. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult., 103 (3), 307–314.
- 175 Kwon, J.-Y., Lee, K.-H., Cheon, S.-H., Ryu, H.-N. *et al.* (2012) Adsorptive loss of secreted recombinant proteins in transgenic rice cell suspension cultures. *Plant Cell Rep.*, **31** (3), 551–560.

- 326 10 Bioprocess Engineering of Plant Cell Suspension Cultures
 - 176 Doran, P.M. (2006) Loss of secreted antibody from transgenic plant tissue cultures due to surface adsorption. *J. Biotechnol.*, 122 (1), 39–54.
 - 177 Lee, S.-Y. and Kim, D.-I. (2002) Stimulation of murine granulocyte macrophage-colony stimulating factor production by Pluronic F-68 and polyethylene glycol in transgenic *Nicotiana tabacum* cell culture. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, 24 (21), 1779–1783.
 - 178 Wolfson, W. (2013) Grow your own: Protalix biotherapeutics produces drugs in carrot cells. *Chem. Biol.*, **20** (8), 969–970.
 - 179 Mor, T.S. (2015) Molecular pharming's foot in the FDA's door: Protalix's trailblazing story. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, **37** (11), 2147–2150.
 - 180 Bethencourt, V. (2009) Virus stalls Genzyme plant. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 27 (8), 681.
 - 181 Zimran, A., Brill-Almon, E., Chertkoff, R., Petakov, M. *et al.* (2011) Pivotal trial with plant cell-expressed recombinant glucocerebrosidase, taliglucerase alfa, a novel enzyme replacement therapy for Gaucher disease. *Blood*, **118** (22), 5767–5773.
 - 182 Ratner, M. (2010) Pfizer stakes a claim in plant cell-made biopharmaceuticals. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 28 (2), 107–108.
 - 183 Aviezer, D., Brill-Almon, E., Shaaltiel, Y., Hashmueli, S. *et al.* (2009) A plant-derived recombinant human glucocerebrosidase enzyme: A preclinical and phase I investigation. *PLoS One*, 4 (3).
 - 184 Shaaltiel, Y., Bartfeld, D., Hashmueli, S., Baum, G. et al. (2007) Production of glucocerebrosidase with terminal mannose glycans for enzyme replacement therapy of Gaucher's disease using a plant cell system. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*, 5 (5), 579–590.
 - 185 Shaaltiel, Y., Baum, G., Bartfield, D., Hashmueli, S., et al. (2012) Human lysosomal proteins from plant cell culture. US Patent 20,130,177,538, filed Dec. 27, 2012 and issued Jul. 11, 2013.

- 186 Friedman, B., Vaddi, K., Preston, C., Mahon, E. *et al.* (1999) A comparison of the pharmacological properties of carbohydrate remodeled recombinant and placental-derived β-glucocerebrosidase: Implications for clinical efficacy in treatment of Gaucher disease. *Blood*, 93 (9), 2807–2816.
- 187 Shaaltiel, Y., Kirshner, Y., Shtainiz, A, Naos, Y., et al. (2008) Large scale disposable bioreactor. US Patent 20,100,112,700, filed May 5, 2008 and issued May 6, 2010.
- 188 Kwon, K.-C., Verma, D., Singh, N.D., Herzog, R. *et al.* (2013) Oral delivery of human biopharmaceuticals, autoantigens and vaccine antigens bioencapsulated in plant cells. *Adv. Drug Delivery Rev.*, 65 (6), 782–799.
- 189 Wani, M.C., Taylor, H.L., Wall, M.E., Coggon, P. *et al.* (1971) Plant antitumor agents. VI. Isolation and structure of taxol, a novel antileukemic and antitumor agent from *Taxus brevifolia*. J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93 (9), 2325–2327.
- 190 Ketchum, R. and Croteau, R. (2006) The *Taxus* metabolome and the elucidation of the Taxol[®] biosynthetic pathway in cell suspension cultures, in *Plant Metabolomics*, (Eds K. Saito, R. A. Dixon and L. Willmitzer), Springer, pp. 291–309.
- 191 Schiff, P.B., Fant, J., and Horwitz, S.B. (1979) Promotion of microtubule assembly in vitro by taxol. *Nature*, 277, 665–667.
- 192 Horwitz, S. (1993) Taxol (paclitaxel): Mechanisms of action. Ann. Oncol., 5, S3–S6.
- 193 Holton, R.A., Kim, H.B., Somoza, C., Liang, F. *et al.* (1994) First total synthesis of taxol. 2. Completion of the C and D rings. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.*, **116** (4), 1599–1600.
- 194 Nicolaou, K., Yang, Z., Liu, J., Ueno, H. et al. (1994) Total synthesis of taxol. *Nature*, 367 (6464), 630–634.

11 The Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation

Zhaoyu Kong and Bernard R. Glick

11.1 The Problem

The widespread pollution of the biosphere by toxic metals and organic contaminants is a problem of environmental and toxicological concern worldwide. The primary sources of this pollution include industrial production, mining activities, combustion of fossil fuels, e-wastes, vehicular traffic, sewage, irrigation, and the extensive use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides. Contamination of both groundwater and soil by toxic compounds directly poses a significant threat to plants, which in turn, impacts negatively on human and environmental health. It has been estimated that more than 40 million tons of hazardous waste is produced each year in the United States, and 275 toxic compounds have been targeted as priority substances in the hazardous waste sites; these compounds are considered a serious threat to human health [1]. In Europe, 3.5 million sites, including industrial sites, landfills, energy production plants, and agricultural lands, are potentially contaminated, and thus soil contamination is considered an important issue in the European Community [2]. The estuarine and coastal ecosystems in China are now facing a serious threat of metal pollution [3]. It has been estimated by the Chinese government that 29720 km² of coastal areas in China are heavily polluted [4]. China is one of the largest coastal countries in the world, and the coastal waters provide important habitats for marine organisms living in this region. Thus, urgent attention is required to address the pollution in the coastal environment of China [3]. In the past decades, considerable efforts have been made to remove toxic compounds from contaminated environments, including physical, chemical, and thermal processes resembling excavation and transportation; however, these methods are prohibitively expensive [5]. For example, remediation of all contaminated sites in the United States alone will cost approximately \$1.7 trillion. Moreover, most of these conventional methods are not completely effective and do not offer permanent solutions for remediation [6]. Some methods may even lead to the generation of additional toxic wastes. Therefore, there is an urgent 328 11 The Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation



Figure 11.1 Categorization of pollutants in the environment.

need to search for alternative methods to clean up polluted environments in an inexpensive, efficient, safe, and environmentally friendly manner.

11.1.1

Metals and Organics in the Environment

Most contaminated environments contain heterogeneous mixtures of different metals as well as radioactive, inorganic, and organic compounds (Figure 11.1). For example, many soils are contaminated with one or more metals, including cadmium, copper, nickel, zinc, lead, chromium, cobalt, selenium, and mercury. The radioactive compounds may include cesium, strontium, and uranium, and the inorganic compounds may be ammonia, arsenic, sodium, nitrate, or phosphate [7]. In addition to the toxic metals, soils and water systems may also be contaminated by organic pollutants, which include persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and emerging organic pollutants. For example, polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT), polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDFs) are some of well-known POPs [8]. Typically, POPs would remain in the environment for years and decades, and bioaccumulate and biomagnify as they move through the food chain. Emerging organic pollutants include newly developed or discovered compounds in the environment and the compounds that have only recently been characterized as contaminants [9]. For example, many pharmaceuticals, pesticides, personal care products (PPCPs), and industrial products are categorized as emerging organic pollutants, which may adversely impact water bodies and human health [10-12].

11.1.2

Traditional Clean-up Procedures

In response to the urgent need to address environmental contamination, scientists and engineers have developed many remediation technologies to remove toxic compounds from the soil and wastewater. The traditional clean-up technologies of treating soil and groundwater contamination mainly rely upon the removal or containment through physical or chemical methods. For example, thermal desorption, incineration, soil washing, chemical treatment, supercritical fluid oxidation, volatilization, steam extraction, encapsulation, and solidification are used for treating contaminated soil, and carbon adsorption, resin adsorption, wet air oxidation, supercritical fluid oxidation, chemical treatment, crystallization, and density separation have been used to remediate leachate or wastewater [6]. However, the disadvantages of these conventional methods, such as the very high cost, low efficiency, and secondary pollution, reduce their remediation potential and restrict their practical use.

11.2 Defining Phytoremediation and Its Components

Phytoremediation is an alternative method that offers the possibility to remove, destroy, or sequester hazardous substances from polluted environments using plants and associated soil microbes. Compared to the traditional methods, phytoremediation is a more promising and less expensive method for cleaning up contaminated soil and water. Phytoremediation of metals and organic compounds may involve different processes. Thus, for example, (i) phytovolatilization is the uptake of contaminants by plant roots, its conversion into a volatile form, and its release into the atmosphere; (ii) phytodegradation is the transformation or breakdown of organic contaminants by plant metabolic processes; (iii) phytoextraction is the absorption, concentration, and precipitation of toxic metals from contaminated soils into the plant biomass; (iv) phytotransformation is the enzymatic conversion of organic pollutants within plant tissues following plant uptake of those contaminants; (v) rhizodegradation is the breakdown of organic contaminants by rhizosphere microorganisms whose proliferation is facilitated by plant growth and metabolism; (vi) rhizofiltration is the absorption, concentration, and precipitation of contaminants from water by plant roots; and (vii) phytostabilization is the use of certain plants to reduce the mobility and bioavailability of soil and/or water contaminants.

Phytoremediation, representing a promising new strategy for the remediation of contaminated soil and water, has been highly touted [13-15]. A number of plant species have been identified to be hyperaccumulators of either heavy metals [16] or organic pollutants [14] and therefore may be useful in the development of highly effective phytoremediation protocols. However, hyperaccumulators of inorganic pollutants are often limited by their slow growth, low biomass, or the lack of suitable hyperaccumulating plants for some important trace metals [17]. Beyond those on hyperaccumulating plants, a number of studies also focus on the exploitation of plants that are not hyperaccumulators but have some potential in remediating heavy-metal-contaminated soils [18-20]. Nevertheless, the removal or degradation of contaminants is also limited to the surface area and the depth occupied by the plant roots. There are challenges when the contamination is in deeper soil than the plant's root zone. Furthermore, plant growth may be adversely

330 11 The Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation

affected by extreme environmental conditions, toxicity, and the physicochemical conditions of the soil. It is therefore impossible to completely clean up contaminated environments with plant-based remediation systems, which by themselves cannot resolve all of the inherent problems of this approach [5]. However, one way to improve the usefulness of plants in phytoremediation is through the presence of specific soil bacteria along with the plants. These bacteria may interact with and affect the growth of plants in one or more ways, as discussed below.

11.3

Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation

11.3.1

Biodegradative Bacteria

Many microorganisms are capable of degrading toxic organic compounds. A number of pollutant-degrading bacteria have been isolated and characterized from polluted soils, and it is assumed that such bacteria can be found in virtually all soils on earth [21]. Moreover, a variety of enzymes with a role in the degradation of organic compounds have been found in bacteria, including dehalogenases, dioxygenases, nitroreductases, and cytochrome P450 monooxygenases [14]. For example, *Pseudomonas* strains are excellent candidates for biodegrading various aromatic compounds, a process that typically requires dioxygenases as one of the key enzymes [22]. In microorganisms, the genes that code for the enzymes of degradative pathways are often located on plasmids [23-25]. Horizontal transfer of these degradative genes is a major mechanism for microorganisms to acquire new metabolic pathways and plays an important role in plant growth promotion and degradation of organic pollutants [26]. Because of the diversity and complexities of chemical organic compounds, there is probably a larger diversity in microbial members and their pollutant-degrading abilities [27-29]. In natural environments, a well coordinated microbial community is always required for transferring the pollutants and products in biodegradation, which is referred to as metabolic cooperation [30]. Although many attempts have been made to isolate and characterize biodegradative bacteria, microbial bioremediation approaches suffer from a number of limitations for their widespread application in field [31]. These include the poor capabilities of microbial communities in the field soil, low bioavailability of many contaminants, insufficient nutrients to support microbial growth in contaminated soils, and the high level of pollutants that inhibit microbial growth.

An integration of microbial bioremediation and phytoremediation is a more promising strategy for remediation of contaminants, particularly organic compounds. In the past 20 years, the combined use of plants and biodegradative bacteria, with both a specific single strain and a microbial consortium, has been exploited to remove organic contaminants under the laboratory, greenhouse, and field conditions (Table 11.1).

Microbes	Plants	Organic contaminants	Results	References
A microbial consortium composed of 10 bacterial strains and 3 fungal strains	<i>Cyperus laxus</i> Lam.	Mixed hydrocarbons	Improved the phenological characteristics of plants and the phytoremediation rate of total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) degradation	[32] (G)
Pseudomonas fluorescens strain TP13	Lycopersicon esculentum	Phenol	Significantly reduced the phenol content and increased plant biomass	[26] (F)
Sphingomonas paucimobilis, Cunninghamella echinulata	Lolium multiflorum	Petroleum hydrocarbons	Significantly increased leaf area, leaf and pseudostem dry mass; enhanced degradation of Arabian medium crude oil	[33] (G)
A microbial consortium composed of 11 bacterial strains and 6 fungal species	Astragalus adsurgens	Diesel fuel (alkanes 90.01% aromatics 0.82%, colloid and asphaltene 0.91% and others 8.26%)	Enhanced the removal of diesel fuel and its components by 13–30% after 2 years	[34] (G)
Burkholderia cepacia VM1468	Poplar (Populus trichocarpa × deltoides cv. Hoogvorst)	Toluene	Positive effect on plant growth; reduced the amount of toluene released through evapotranspiration	[24] (G)
<i>Pseudomonas</i> sp. GF3	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> <i>aestivum</i> L. cv. Yangmai-158)	Phenanthrene	Improved the root and shoot growth of wheat; enhanced the dissipation of phenanthrene and polyphenol oxidase activities in the soil	[35] (G)
Enterobacter sp. 12J1	Wheat (<i>T. aestivum</i> L. cv. Ningmai- 13);maize (<i>Zea</i> <i>mays</i> L. cv. Xiyu-3)	Pyrene	Improved the dry weights of plant roots and shoots; increased the rate of pyrene removal by 43–65%	[36] (G)
<i>Microbacterium</i> sp. F10a	Wheat (<i>T. aestivum</i> L. cv. Xumai-856)	Phenanthrene and pyrene	Significantly increased the growth of wheat and the removal rate of phenanthrene and pyrene in low-temperature soil	[37] (G)

 Table 11.1 Examples of contributions of degradative bacteria to phytoremediation of organic contaminants.

332 11 The Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation

Table 11.1 (Continued)

Microbes	Plants	Organic contaminants	Results	References
Pseudomonas putida VM1441 (pNAH7)	Pea (<i>Pisum sativum</i>)	Naphthalene	Enhanced seed germination and plant transpiration rates; increased naphthalene degradation rates	[38] (L)
<i>Comamonas</i> sp. strain CNB-1	Alfalfa (Medicago sativa)	4- Chloronitrobenzene (4CNB)	Completely removed 4CNB within 1 or 2 days; eliminated toxic effects of 4CNB on alfalfa	[39] (G)
Pseudomonas frdedriksbergensis	Amaranthus caudate, Lactuca sativa, Nasturtium officinale, and Phaseolus vulgaris	Pesticide residues (dimethoate and malathion)	Increased the plants' ability to degrade dimethoate and malathion	[40] (G)
Pseudomonas sp. ITRH25, Pantoea sp. BTRH79	Carpet grass (Axonopus affinis)	Diesel	Increased biomass production and phytoremediation activity of plants growing in diesel-contaminated soil	[41] (G)
Acinetobacter sp.	Ryegrass (L. multiflorum)	Phenanthrene and pyrene	Increased dissipation rates of phenanthrene and pyrene from polluted soil	[42] (G)
<i>Staphylococcus</i> sp. BJ06	Alopecurus aequalis	Pyrene	Significantly promoted plant growth and pyrene removal; reduced the pyrene concentrations in plant roots and shoots	[43] (G)
P. putida W619	Poplar [<i>Populus</i> deltoides × (trichocarpa × deltoides) cv. Grimminge]	Trichloroethylene (TCE)	Promoted plant growth and improved plant fitness during a short-term experiment; during a mid-term experiment, strongly reduced the amount of TCE in leaves and roots and reduced TCE evapotranspiration through leaves	[44] (L)
Burkholderia, Variovorax, Bacillus, Pseudomonas, and Ralstonia species	Arabidopsis thaliana	2,4-Dinitrotoluene (DNT)	Increased root length and root hairs of plants in the presence of 2,4-DNT	[45] (L)
Microbes	Plants	Organic contaminants	Results	References
---	--	--------------------------------	--	------------
<i>Mycobacterium</i> sp. strain U1A	Soybean (<i>Glycine</i> <i>max</i>)	Phenanthrene	Improved plant growth and eliminated phytotoxicity effects of phenanthrene on plants	[46] (L)
Rhodococcus erythropolis ET54b, Sphingomonas sp. D4	Cytisus striatus	Hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH)	Inoculation with the combination of these two strains significantly enhanced HCH dissipation	[47] (G)
R. erythropolis ET54b, Sphingomonas sp. D4	C. striatus	НСН	Inoculation with both bacterial strains reduced HCH phytotoxicity and improved plant growth	[48] (G)
Pantoea sp. ITSI10, Pantoea sp. BTRH79 and Pseudomonas p. MixRI75	Italian ryegrass (<i>L. multiflorum</i>)	Diesel	Improved plant biomass production and hydrocarbon degradation	[49] (G)

Table 11.1 (Continued)

Experimental conditions are designated (L) for more controlled laboratory conditions, (G) for greenhouse conditions, or (F) for field trials.

11.3.2 Plant-Growth-Promoting Bacteria

Bacteria that are beneficial to plants are generally referred to as plant-growthpromoting bacteria (PGPB), which improve plant growth and development by either direct promotion of plant growth or through their suppressive activity against phytopathogens, thereby indirectly stimulating plant growth [50]. PGPB may directly facilitate plant growth and development using one or more mechanisms, and a bacterium may utilize different mechanisms under different environmental conditions, including indole acetic acid (IAA) biosynthesis, 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase activity, nitrogen fixation, and siderophore production.

11.3.2.1 Role of IAA

The plant hormone IAA influences numerous cellular functions and, therefore, is considered to be an important regulator of plant growth and development. In addition to its synthesis in plant tissues, IAA production is widespread among plant-associated bacteria [51, 52] and provides bacteria with a mechanism to affect plant growth [53]. The level of IAA synthesized by the plant and the sensitivity of the plant to IAA are important in determining whether bacterial IAA stimulates

or inhibits plant growth. In plant roots, endogenous IAA may be suboptimal or optimal for supporting plant growth [54] and additional IAA synthesized by bacteria could alter the IAA level to either optimal or supraoptimal, resulting in either plant growth promotion or inhibition, respectively.

IAA synthesized by bacteria plays an important role in plant-bacterial interactions. One of the main effects of bacterial IAA is to increase the number of root hairs, the number of lateral roots, and the total root surface, leading to an enhancement of mineral uptake from the soil as well as root exudation. This latter effect may act to further stimulate root colonization by bacteria by increasing the concentration of plant metabolites that are available in the rhizosphere. The effect of IAA synthesized by the plant-growth-promoting bacterium Pseudomonas putida GR12-2 on the development of the canola roots has been studied following the construction of an IAA-deficient mutant of this strain [53]. Seed inoculation with wild-type GR12-2, which produces a relatively low level of IAA, induced the formation of roots that were 35-50% longer than the roots from seeds inoculated with the IAA-deficient mutant and the roots from non-inoculated seeds. On the other hand, inoculation of mung bean cuttings with an IAA-overproducing mutant of P. putida GR12-2 induced a greater number of shorter roots compared to the plants inoculated with the wild-type strain. This result was explained by the combined effects of IAA on root growth promotion and inhibition of root elongation by ethylene [55]. The bacterial IAA incorporated by the plant stimulated the transcription of the gene encoding the enzyme ACC synthase, resulting in increased synthesis of ACC and a subsequent increase in ethylene production that inhibited root elongation. In addition, although experiments comparing the behavior of wild-type and IAA-deficient mutants of PGPB have confirmed that IAA is involved in promoting root growth, most IAA knock-out mutants are still able to promote plant growth [56-58]. Therefore, IAA biosynthesis alone is not responsible for the effects of bacteria on plant growth promotion. In this regard, multiple mechanisms, including dinitrogen fixation, ACC deaminase activity, phosphate solubilization, and iron sequestration together with IAA biosynthesis, are responsible for the observed plant growth promotion and yield increase [59].

It has been suggested that PGPB producing IAA may alleviate some of the deleterious effects of environmental stresses. For example, bacterial IAA increased the length of the root and shoot of wheat seedlings in the presence of high levels of salt [60]. An increased salt tolerance was observed in *Medicago truncatula* plants when nodulated by the IAA-overproducing *Sinorhizobium meliloti* strain RD64 [61]. The plants inoculated with strain RD64 accumulated a high level of internal proline and showed enhanced activity of antioxidant enzymes compared to plants inoculated with the comparable wild-type strain. In addition to the effects of bacterial IAA on plant growth in the presence of high salt concentrations, a number of PGPB have been found to protect plants from heavy metal stress. *Bacillus subtilis* strain SJ-101, which shows nickel resistance and produces both IAA and phosphate-solubilizing activity, was used to facilitate the nickel accumulation in Indian mustard [62]. Inoculation of strain SJ-101 significantly improved plant growth in the presence of high concentrations of nickel and showed enhanced metal accumulation. Our group used Pseudomonas brassicacearum strain Zy-2-1 as a co-inoculant with S. meliloti to promote the growth of Medicago lupulina under copper stress conditions. Moreover, strain Zy-2-1 was capable of producing IAA, siderophores, and ACC deaminase and showed the highest level of growth promotion in the presence of Cu^{2+} up to 2.0 mM (Kong *et al.*, unpublished data). As expected, the presence of strain Zy-2-1 improved both plant growth and nodulation to a significant extent in the presence of excess copper. In addition, the total amount of copper taken up by the plants was significantly increased when the plants were co-inoculated with strain Zy-2-1 and S. meliloti, compared to S. *meliloti* inoculation alone. The results of these experiments suggested that the PGPB played an important role in improving metal phytoremediation. However, these studies did not provide definitive proof of the direct involvement of IAA. In this regard, it would be necessary to construct either IAA-deficient or IAAoverproducing mutant of these bacteria to test their efficacy in the presence of increasing concentrations of various metals.

11.3.2.2 Role of Ethylene

Ethylene, a key regulator in a large number of aspects of plant growth and development, is involved in plant responses to both biotic and abiotic stresses [51]. Ethylene that is synthesized as a response to various environmental stresses is called "stress ethylene" [63]. This increase in ethylene synthesis is associated with environmental stresses including drought, flooding, salt, freezing, high temperature, toxic metals, organic pollution, wounding, radiation, insect predation, and various pathogens including viruses, bacteria, and fungi [64]. The increased amount of ethylene in response to environmental stresses can either exacerbate the symptoms of stress or lead to responses that enhance plant survival under adverse conditions. This seemingly contradictory behavior has been explained by a two-phase model [65] wherein plants exposed to stress rapidly responded (a few hours after the onset of the stress) by producing a small peak of ethylene, which is thought to initiate a protective response by plants, for example, transcription of genes encoding defensive proteins [66, 67]. On the other hand, if the stress persists or becomes more intense, usually a few days later, a second much larger peak of ethylene occurs. The second ethylene peak is deleterious to plant growth and development, including processes such as senescence, chlorosis, and abscission.

PGPB that express ACC deaminase can facilitate plant growth and development through the conversion of the immediate ethylene precursor ACC into α -ketobutyrate and ammonia, thus decreasing ethylene levels that could otherwise inhibit plant growth under various environmental stresses, including flooding, organic toxicants, heavy metals, high salt concentrations, drought, and phytopathogenic microorganisms [68–70]. Several studies have shown that PGPB that produce ACC deaminase can facilitate metal phytoremediation by decreasing the level of stress ethylene that is induced by high concentrations of metals. The treatment of plants with bacteria that produce ACC deaminase allows the plants to grow larger and, as a consequence, take up more metal from

soil, indicating the benefit of using these organisms in metal phytoremediation strategies [71, 72]. Such enhancement of plant biomass and total copper uptake was observed when *M. lupulina* was nodulated by a genetically engineered *S. meliloti* strain overproducing ACC deaminase [73]. In addition, although this engineered strain promoted metal accumulation both in shoots and roots, the increase in roots was much higher than in shoots, thus decreasing the copper translocation factor. These findings emphasize the potential use of the legume–*Rhizobium* symbiosis in copper phytostabilization. Various studies that have included ACC deaminase minus mutants [74–78] or transgenic plants expressing a bacterial *acdS* gene also confirmed the positive effects of this enzyme on plant growth [79–81]. The main visible effects of seed or root inoculation with PGPB that synthesize ACC deaminase are the enhancement of plant root elongation, promotion of shoot growth, improvement in rhizobial nodulation and N, P, K uptake, as well as increased mycorrhizal colonization in various legumes and crops [68, 82–85].

11.3.2.3 Role of Nitrogen Fixation

Atmospheric nitrogen (N) can be converted into plant-utilizable forms of nitrogen by nitrogen-fixing microorganisms, which are widely distributed in nature, using the enzyme nitrogenase [86]. In addition to symbiotic N-fixing bacteria, a number of nonsymbiotic bacteria are also able to fix N and provide it to plants (Figure 11.2). Symbiotic N-fixing bacteria include members of the family Rhizobiaceae, which are able to form symbiosis with leguminous plants like rhizobia and non-leguminous trees such as *Frankia* [87]. Nonsymbiotic N-fixing bacteria including free-living, associative, and endophytic organisms like *Azotobacter* spp., *Bacillus* spp., *Beijerinckia* spp., and so on, can also benefit plants with fixed N [88], although it is generally believed that nonsymbiotic N-fixing bacteria provide only a small amount of the fixed N that the host plant requires [68]. Besides, nonsymbiotic N fixation basically occurs in free-living diazotrophics, belonging to genera such as *Azoarcus, Azospirillum, Burkholderia*, and *Gluconacetobacter* [89–92].

Recently, extensive concerns about environmental contamination have stimulated interest in the use of the legume-*Rhizobium* symbiosis as a tool for



Figure 11.2 Categorization of nitrogen-fixing microorganisms.

Genus and species	Metal resistance	Plant-growth- promoting substances	References
Bradyrhizobium sp. RM8	Ni, Zn	IAA, siderophores, HCN, ammonia	[96]
Rhizobium sp. RP5	Ni, Zn	IAA, siderophores	[97]
Mesorhizobium sp. RC3	Cr	IAA, siderophores	[98]
Azorhizobium caulinodans	Cd	_	[99]
<i>Bradyrhizobium</i> sp. STM2464	Ni	_	[100]
Mesorhizobium metallidurans	Zn, Cd	_	[101]
Mesorhizobium sp. RC1, RC4	Cr	IAA, siderophores, HCN, ammonia	[102]
<i>Rhizobium leguminosarum</i> bv. viciae E20-8	Cd	_	[103]
Rhizobium sp. VMA301	AsO4 ³	_	[104]
Sinorhizobium sp. MA11	AsO ^{2–}	_	[105]
Sinorhizobium meliloti CCNWSX0020	Cu	IAA, siderophores, ACC deaminase	[106]
<i>Rhizobium</i> sp. RL9	Ni, Cd, Cr, Pb, Zn, Cu	IAA, siderophores, HCN, ammonia	[107]

 Table 11.2
 Rhizobial strains resistant to heavy metals and producing plant-growthpromoting substances.

—, not measured.

bioremediation of both heavy metals [73, 93, 94] and organic pollutants [95]. Nutrient deficiency, especially nitrogen and phosphorus, is often one of the main constraints that limit plant growth in soils [94]. The efficient use of rhizobial bacteria in the legume-Rhizobium symbiosis under stressful conditions not only facilitates the growth of legume plants but also increases soil fertility. In recent years, a great diversity of highly heavy metal-resistant rhizobial strains, including Azorhizobium, Bradyrhizobium, Mesorhizobium, Sinorhizobium, and Rhizobium, have been isolated from industrial areas (Table 11.2). In addition to N fixation, a number of rhizobial bacteria also have positive effects on plant growth and development through other mechanisms, including IAA biosynthesis, siderophore production, and ACC deaminase activity. These rhizobia with both metal resistance and plant-growth-promoting abilities are of great interest for their potential use in phytoremediation of heavy metals. Rhizobial species isolated from legume nodules often show high resistance to one or more metals, and substantially improve the growth, symbiotic properties, and nutrient uptake of the plants grown in metal-containing soils [97, 98, 106, 108]. Although toxic metals are known to reduce the formation of root nodules as well as the N fixation efficiency, once nodulation is established, the effect of heavy metals on the N-fixing ability of legumes depends on the legume species and the type of metals [94]. Nitrogen content is generally known as an important

337

parameter used to evaluate the N fixation efficiency. A decrease in N content in legumes grown in heavy-metal-contaminated soils has been reported [98, 109]. However, M. lupulina plants inoculated with the Cu-resistant strain S. meliloti CCNWSX0020 showed a slight increase in N content in both shoots and roots [110]. Similar results have also been reported in other legume plants grown in heavy-metal-contaminated soils [97, 111]. Since no exogenous N was added to these plants, this means that these heavy-metal-resistant rhizobia are able to survive under the metal concentrations used and subsequently promote a normal level of plant nitrogen. Furthermore, a reduction in metal uptake by plant organs was observed in the inoculated plants, which in turn decreases the metal toxicity and consequently improves the overall performance of plants grown in metal-contaminated soils [96, 98, 108]. On the contrary, inoculation with the Cu-resistant strain S. meliloti CCNWSX0020 significantly increased the total amount of Cu uptake in both shoots and roots [110]. Moreover, the increase in roots was much higher than in shoots, thus decreasing the Cu translocation to shoots and facilitating phytostabilization, as previously shown for the Medicago-rhizobia symbiosis for Cu phytostabilization [112]. In metal phytoremediation, increasing or decreasing the amount of metal taken up by plant tissues is a function of the bacterium, the particular plant involved, the metal species, and the metal concentration [113].

In addition to N fixation, the plant-growth-promoting abilities expressed by metal-resistant rhizobia affect the metal solubility and bioavailability, both of which affect plant metal uptake [94]. Although the exact mechanisms of plant growth improvement by rhizobia in the presence of metals largely remain elusive, strains with multiple plant-growth-promoting activities are generally much more effective. For instance, the rhizobia containing ACC deaminase activity are thought to be valuable for use in phytoremediation due to their positive effects on the growth and nodulation of legumes. However, rhizobia typically produce a lower level of ACC deaminase compared to free-living PGPB. Although the endogenous rhizobial ACC deaminase is important in facilitating legume nodulation, it is probably not sufficient to protect plants against environmental stresses. In order to improve the performance of the Rhizobium-legume symbiosis under excess Cu conditions, an ACC deaminase-overproducing S. meliloti strain was constructed and its symbiotic performance tested in the presence of excess Cu [73]. The results showed that the engineered strain could improve the growth as well as the Cu tolerance of *M. lupulina*. Notwithstanding the apparent effectiveness of this approach, regulatory authorities in most countries worldwide are currently extremely reluctant to permit the release of genetically engineered bacteria into the environment. In this regard, several studies have already screened and tested metal-resistant PGPBs for their effects when co-inoculated with rhizobia on the growth and N fixation of legumes grown in metal-contaminated soils [93, 114]. Furthermore, under stressful conditions, the IAA synthesized by rhizobial strains and used to improve the root system of plants can also promote nodulation and, consequently, enhance N fixation. For example, positive effects of IAA overproduction in a derivative of the S. meliloti strain 1021 on the growth and salt tolerance of *M. truncatula* have been demonstrated [61]. Moreover, it was recently shown that the growth of black locust trees (*Robinia pseudoacacia*) was greater when inoculated with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* CCNWGS0286 than when inoculated with its mutant with lower IAA production under excess Zn conditions [115]. Thus, in addition to the rhizobial ability to fix N, other plant-growth-promoting abilities can work together and therefore improve phytoremediation by facilitating legume growth and affecting plant metal uptake, which becomes an important component of using the legume–*Rhizobium* symbiosis for metal phytoremediation.

11.3.2.4 Role of Siderophores

Despite the fact that iron is one of most abundant elements on earth, in the aerobic environment iron occurs principally as Fe³⁺ and usually is found in the form of insoluble hydroxides and oxyhydroxides, thus making it generally unavailable for assimilation by both plants and microorganisms [116]. To survive under such a Fe-limited conditions, bacteria synthesize low-molecular-mass iron chelators referred to as siderophores, which bind Fe with a very high affinity $(K_a > 10^{30})$, thereby facilitating iron uptake by microorganisms [117–119]. Bacterial siderophores stimulate plant growth by improving the Fe nutrition of the plants or by inhibiting the activity of plant pathogens [120] or other harmful microorganisms [121]. The improvement of plant Fe nutrition by soil bacteria is even more important when plants are exposed to heavy-metal pollution. In this case, bacterial siderophores help to alleviate the stresses imposed on plants by high levels of heavy metals in soils [122-124]. The effects of siderophoreproducing bacteria on plant growth and their metal accumulation have been reported in various plant species [116]. For example, the plant- growth-promoting bacterium Kluyvera ascorbata SUD165, which is able to synthesize siderophores, could protect canola, Indian mustard, and tomato from metal (Ni, Pb, and Zn) toxicity [125, 126]. In addition, a siderophore-overproducing mutant of this bacterium showed greater protection, as indicated by enhanced biomass and chlorophyll content in plants grown in nickel-contaminated soil [126]. In another study, mung bean plants inoculated with the siderophore-producing bacterium P. putida KNP9 and grown in the presence of Pb or Cd showed greater biomass and enhanced chlorophyll content compared to uninoculated plants [127].

In addition to increasing the iron content of plants, bacterial siderophores can enhance metal mobility and bioavailability for uptake by plants [128]. For example, inoculation of maize with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* increased shoot biomass and plant metal concentrations as well as translocation from roots to shoots in maize grown in an agricultural soil containing Cr and Pb [129], effects attributed to the siderophores produced by this strain that enhanced the bioavailability of Pb and Cr. Similarly, the bacterial culture filtrates containing hydroxamate siderophores produced by *Streptomyces tendae* F4 significantly increased Cd uptake by sunflower plants [130]. These results highlight the potential use of inoculating soils or plants with siderophore-producing bacteria

in metal phytoextraction. On the other hand, other workers have reported that the presence of siderophore-producing bacteria can reduce metal uptake by plants and thereby enhance plant biomass. For example, the concentrations of Pb and Cd in both roots and shoots of mung bean were significantly reduced in the presence of the siderophore-producing bacterium *P. putida* KNP9 [127]. Furthermore, the siderophores produced by *Pseudomonas* sp., *Serratia marcescens*, and *Streptomyces* sp. did not enhance Zn or Cd accumulation by willow [131]. These seemingly conflicting results of bacterial siderophore on metal uptake by plants suggested that the efficiency of siderophore-producing bacterium to either mobilize or immobilize heavy metals from soil depends on several factors, including soil composition, metal type and concentration, plant species, and the particular siderophore(s) [116].

Siderophores may also promote bacterial auxin synthesis, through a chelation reaction, which in turn increases the plant-growth-promoting effects of auxins [132]. However, the presence of metals, including Fe, generally inhibits microbial auxin synthesis. In order to enhance the plant-growth-promoting effects of auxin-producing bacteria in metal-polluted soils, siderophore and auxin-containing bacteria culture filtrates, rather than the bacteria that produce these compounds, were added to the metal-polluted soil [133]. Here, it was found that the addition of siderophore-containing culture filtrates of *Streptomyces acidiscabies* E13 alleviated the metal-induced oxidative stress in cowpea plants by lowering the formation of free radicals, protecting auxins from oxidative degradation and thereby improving plant growth and metal uptake.

11.3.3

Interaction with Mycorrhizae

Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF), the ubiquitous rhizosphere fungi, form beneficial symbiosis with the root system of more than 90% of terrestrial plants [134]. In recent years, the arbuscular mycorrhizal association has received considerable attention due to its potential to promote plant growth, nutrition, degradation of organic pollutants, and heavy-metal accumulation by plants in contaminated soils. For example, Andrade et al. [135] assessed the effects of AMF on the growth of coffee seedlings in the presence of excess Cu and Zn. They observed that the mycorrhizal seedlings grew faster, had greater yields, and improved mineral nutrition than non-mycorrhizal seedlings. A greenhouse experiment was performed to determine the effects of three AMF inocula on biomass, metal uptake, and the microbial community structure in the rhizosphere of the native plant Prosopis juliflora [136]. After 2 months, mycorrhizal plants showed greater dry biomass and root length compared to non-mycorrhizal plants grown in compost-amended lead/zinc mine tailings. In addition, AMF inoculation had a significant effect on the composition of both the fungal and bacterial community structures in the rhizosphere. The synergistic effects of PGPR, combined with AMF, on plant growth have been reported in various plant species [137-141]. These studies revealed that co-inoculation improves plant growth and nutrition compared to single or noninoculation. The benefits of PGPR and AMF consortia in the protection of host plants against environmental stresses have also been reported [137, 138, 142-144]. These findings suggested that the PGPR-AMF-plant tripartite relationship could be a promising approach to remediate polluted soil. Dong et al. [144] investigated the effects of PGPR inoculation combined with the AMF Glomus intraradices on the phytoremediation of petroleum-contaminated soil. The results of pot experiments showed that the degradation rate of total petroleum hydrocarbons with PGPR and AMF dual-inoculation treatment was up to 72.24%, which indicated that remediation efficiency of petroleum could be enhanced by this co-inoculation. In another study, co-inoculation with PGPR and AMF enhanced plant growth, soil quality, and the responses of plant antioxidant defense to hydrocarbon contaminants [143]. The extent of degradation of total petroleum hydrocarbon with PGPR and AMF co-inoculation treatment reached a maximum of 49.73% within 2 months. Similarly, a multicomponent phytoremediation system consisting of ryegrass, AMF, and PAH-degrading bacteria was performed to clean up PAHcontaminated soil [42]. The results highlighted the important role of both AMF and PAH-degrading bacteria in the phytoremediation of PAH-contaminated sites. Furthermore, ACC deaminase-containing B. subtilis not only alleviated ethylene stress but also enhanced mycorrhizal colonization and rhizobial nodulation in Trigonella foenum-graecum plants grown under drought stress, thereby improving nutrient uptake and plant growth [145]. Thus, metal-resistant PGPR in collaboration with AMF, displaying various plant-growth-promoting traits, can act synergistically to improve metal phytoremediation.

Under natural conditions, many important tree species form ectomycorrhizia (EM) between roots and ectomycorrhizal fungi (EMF). EMs are important in the nutrient uptake of forest trees, and are known to protect their host tree against various adverse environments, including heavy metals [146]. Studies conducted on the effects of EMF in metal uptake and translocation to plants revealed the mechanisms through EMF to restrict toxic metal uptake, including binding onto cell walls, extra- and intracellular chelation, compartmentation, and repair of damaged biomolecules [147-149]. It has been suggested that in functional EMs the mechanisms mediated by the fungal symbiont may sustain mineral nutrition and reduce metal uptake by the roots of host tree and thus enable the host tree to survive in metal-contaminated soils [150, 151]. For instance, seedlings of *Pinus sylvestris* inoculated with a Cu-adapted *Suillus* luteus isolate contained lower Cu concentrations in needles under high Cu concentrations (60 μ M) than non-mycorrhizal trees [152]. Similarly, an earlier study demonstrated that two EMFs Suillus bovinus and Thelephora terrestris provided effective protection against Cu toxicity in seedlings of P. sylvestris exposed to high Cu concentrations [153]. A pot experiment was carried out to study the effects of Cu and Pb on the growth and chemical constituents of Betula pendula seedlings [154]. A reverse relationship was found between EMF colonization and heavy-metal levels in birch leaves, indicating the potential roles of EMF in protecting the host tree from excess Cu and Pb. Nevertheless, it is

suggested that the protection provided by EMF symbiosis highly depends on the fungal strain used and its tolerance to the metals [155, 156]. Therefore, it is important to select the appropriate fungal strains for tree inoculation, which ought to be considered in phytoremediation of heavy-metal-contaminated soils by woody species. Furthermore, in a recent study, the combined effects of the fungus Paxillus involutus and the rhizobial bacterium Mesorhizobium sp. on the growth Betula pubescens were determined in two different soils, a forest soil and an alkaline sediment [157]. However, an antagonistic interaction was detected between P. involutus and Mesorhizobium sp. in the alkaline sediment, which indicated that the response of white birch (B. pubescens) to inoculation with a mycorrhizal fungus and a PGPR is soil-dependent. Similarly, although it was previously demonstrated that co-inoculation of legumes with rhizobia and metalresistant PGPBs is a way to overcome environmental limitations and improve plant growth [158–160], other results have suggested that co-inoculation might impair rhizobial colonization and subsequent nodulation [161–164]. Thus, in order to optimize the phytoremediation potential of a system under particular environmental conditions, it is necessary to pay detailed attention to the selection of the appropriate co-inoculation partners and the traits that they encode.

11.4

Examples of Phytoremediation in Action

Although the successes of laboratory and greenhouse experiments are often difficult to replicate in the field, a number of encouraging results from the field have been reported. For example, a 3-year field test of phytoremediation of total petroleum hydrocarbons was performed at a Southern Ontario site [165]. It showed that the amount of plant growth and the extent of oil remediation were consistently enhanced by PGPR. The potential use of ACC deaminase-containing transgenic canola and PGPB as a phytoremediation strategy was assessed at a nickel-contaminated field site [71]. The results showed that the addition of the PGPB P. putida HS-2 enhanced plant growth, resulting in a 10% increase in nickel accumulation per plant. In in situ bioremediation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT), 96% of the extractable TNT in rhizosphere soil associated with maize roots was removed within 2 months [166]. At a crude-oil-contaminated site, 3 years of phytoremediation management through a combination of vegetation establishment and fertilizer addition led to a decrease of crude oil contaminants [167]. In a 2-year field trail at a heavy-metal-contaminated site in Chang-Hwa City, Jatropha curcas (a bioenergycrop plant) showed high absorption capability for Cd, Ni, Cr, and Zn [168]. In a phytoremediation study at a former uranium leaching heap site near Ronneburg, Germany, the results suggested the potential use of Sorghum bicolor for metal phytoextraction, especially for Cd and Co, with microbial inoculation improving plant survival by alleviating the toxic effects of other metals, such as Ni, which often exist at anthropogenically contaminated

and metalliferous areas [169]. The compound ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) enhances metal phytoavailability in soil, subsequently improving metal uptake and translocation in plant aerial organs [170–172]. A recent field trial was conducted to evaluate the effectiveness of metal phytoremediation using three plant species and EDTA or ammonium addition to assist in the removal of heavy metals (Pb, Hg, and Cd) from contaminated farmland in northwestern Iran [173]. The results of this trial indicated that *Amaranthus retroflexus* showed great potential in phytoremediation of metal-contaminated soils. Moreover, the application of EDTA significantly enhanced the bioavailability of Pb, Hg, and Cd. Finally, a 3-year phytoremediation study at a hydrocarbon-contaminated lagoon in England recommended that long-term studies are needed for all ecologically sensitive sites such as this lagoon [174].

11.5 Summary and Perspectives

Bacterially assisted phytoremediation is emerging as a promising technology for remediating contaminated soils. In the past 15 years, scientists have developed a much better understanding of how various bacteria contribute to plant growth and subsequently improve the effectiveness of phytoremediation. The recent integration of stable isotope probing (SIP) with the rapidly advancing field of metagenomics provides scientists with a much deeper insight into microbial process and interactions, which may enable breakthroughs in the field of bioremediation [175]. The efficacy of phytoremediation approaches has been demonstrated under laboratory and greenhouse conditions. For organic contaminants, phytoremediation, particularly rhizoremediation, has been found to be cost efficient and effective in the field, and it is likely that its application will become widespread in the next few years. However, there are still many areas with poor understanding or scant information where further research is needed. In order to implement bacteriaassisted phytoremediation in the field, further research is needed to understand the diversity and ecology of plant-associated bacteria in contaminated soils. In metal phytoremediation studies, different bacteria affect plant growth and metal uptake in different ways, so that detailed attention must be paid to the selection of the appropriate bacteria and the traits that they encode. For this purpose, further research should be focused on how a plant's metal tolerance is affected by its associated bacteria. Moreover, a further understanding of the effect of heavy metals on plants and their associated bacteria are also required. Since the plant's heavy metal tolerance and uptake depend on various factors including the bacterium, soil composition, metal type, and concentration, the scientific community should strongly focus on the selection of the most suitable plants to overcome such environmental constrains. To implement bacteria-assisted phytoremediation on a larger scale in the environment, more field application of these approaches is needed. In this regard, regulatory acceptability, site assessment, and the potential ecological risks should be specially addressed.

References

- Glick, B.R. (2015) Phytoremediation, in *Beneficial Plant-Bacterial Interactions*, Springer International Publishing, Switzerland, pp. 191–221.
- 2 Petruzzelli, G. (2012). Soil contamination and remediation strategies. Current research and future challenge. EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts. p. 7963.
- 3 Pan, K. and Wang, W.X. (2012) Trace metal contamination in estuarine and coastal environments in China. *Sci. Total Environ.*, **421–422**, 3–16.
- 4 National Bureau of Oceanography of China, NBO (2010) Bulletin of Marine Environmental Quality, 2008–2009, NBO.
- 5 Shukla, K.P., Singh, N.K., and Sharma, S. (2010) Bioremediation: Developments, current practices and perspectives. *Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. J.*, **3**, 1–20.
- 6 Riser-Roberts, E. (1998) Remediation of Petroleum Contaminated Soils: Biological, Physical, and Chemical Processes, CRC Press.
- 7 Glick, B.R. (2003) Phytoremediation: Synergistic use of plants and bacteria to clean up the environment. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **21**, 383–393.
- 8 Organization, W.H. (2010) *Persistent Organic Pollutants: Impact on Child Health*, WHO.
- 9 Lapworth, D.J., Baran, N., Stuart, M.E., and Ward, R.S. (2012) Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater: A review of sources, fate and occurrence. *Environ. Pollut.*, **163**, 287–303.
- 10 Pal, A., Gin, K.Y.-H., Lin, A.Y.-C., and Reinhard, M. (2010) Impacts of emerging organic contaminants on freshwater resources: Review of recent occurrences, sources, fate and effects. *Sci. Total Environ.*, **408**, 6062–6069.
- 11 Jurado, A., Vàzquez-Suñé, E., Carrera, J., López de Alda, M. *et al.* (2012) Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater in Spain: A review of sources, recent occurrence and fate in a European context. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 440, 82–94.

- 12 Stuart, M., Lapworth, D., Crane, E., and Hart, A. (2012) Review of risk from potential emerging contaminants in UK groundwater. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 416, 1–21.
- 13 Ali, H., Khan, E., and Sajad, M.A. (2013) Phytoremediation of heavy metals-concepts and applications. *Chemosphere*, **91**, 869–881.
- 14 Gerhardt, K.E., Huang, X.D., Glick, B.R., and Greenberg, B.M. (2009) Phytoremediation and rhizoremediation of organic soil contaminants: Potential and challenges. *Plant Sci.*, **176**, 20–30.
- 15 Rajkumar, M., Sandhya, S., Prasad, M.N., and Freitas, H. (2012) Perspectives of plant-associated microbes in heavy metal phytoremediation. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **30**, 1562–1574.
- 16 Mani, D. and Kumar, C. (2014) Biotechnological advances in bioremediation of heavy metals contaminated ecosystems: An overview with special reference to phytoremediation. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 11, 843–872.
- Maestri, E. (2011) Transgenic plants for phytoremediation. *Int. J. Phytorem.*, 13 (suppl. 1), 264–279.
- 18 Solhi, M., Shareatmadari, H., and Hajabbasi, M.A. (2005) Lead and zinc extraction potential of two common crop plants, *Helianthus annuus* and *Brassica napus. Water, Air, Soil Pollut.*, 167, 59–71.
- 19 Kopff, L.A., Wells, S.M. and Kramer, B.K. (2006). Use of soybeans in the phytoremediation of lead contaminated soils. *Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society*: AMER Chemical Soc 1155 16th ST, NW, Washington, DC 20036, USA.
- 20 Yu, X.-Z., Zhou, P.-H., and Yang, Y.-M. (2006) The potential for phytoremediation of iron cyanide complex by willows. *Ecotoxicology*, **15**, 461–467.
- 21 Singer, A., Thompson, I., and Bailey, M. (2004) The tritrophic trinity: A source of pollutant-degrading enzymes and its implications for phytoremediation. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, 7, 239–244.
- 22 Pieper, D.H., Martins Dos Santos, V., and Golyshin, P.N. (2004) Genomic and

344

mechanistic insights into the biodegradation of organic pollutants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **15**, 215–224.

- 23 Kim, D.U. (2013) Widespread occurrence of the *tfd-II* genes in soil bacteria revealed by nucleotide sequence analysis of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid degradative plasmids pDB1 and p712. *Plasmid*, 69, 243–248.
- Taghavi, S., Borremans, B., Greenberg, B., Vangronsveld, J. *et al.* (2005) Horizontal gene transfer to endogenous endophytic bacteria from poplar improves phytoremediation of toluene. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 71, 8500–8505.
- 25 Mølbak, L., Licht, T.R., Kvist, T., Kroer, N. *et al.* (2003) Plasmid transfer from *Pseudomonas putida* to the indigenous bacteria on alfalfa sprouts: Characterization, direct quantification, and in situ location of transconjugant cells. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **69**, 5536–5542.
- 26 Wang, Y., Jiang, Q., Zhou, C., Chen, B. *et al.* (2014) In-situ remediation of contaminated farmland by horizontal transfer of degradative plasmids among rhizosphere bacteria. *Soil Use Manage.*, 30, 303–309.
- 27 Ramakrishnan, B. (2011) Mixtures of environmental pollutants: Effects on microorganisms and their activities in soils. *Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 211, 63–120.
- 28 Ramakrishnan, B., Megharaj, M., Venkateswarlu, K., Naidu, R. *et al.* (2010) The impacts of environmental pollutants on microalgae and cyanobacteria. *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 40, 699–821.
- 29 Watanabe, K. (2001) Microorganisms relevant to bioremediation. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 12, 237–241.
- 30 Abraham, W.R., Nogales, B., Golyshin, P.N., Pieper, D.H. *et al.* (2002) Polychlorinated biphenyl-degrading microbial communities in soils and sediments. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.*, 5, 246–253.
- 31 Megharaj, M., Ramakrishnan, B., Venkateswarlu, K., Sethunathan, N. *et al.* (2011) Bioremediation approaches for organic pollutants: A critical perspective. *Environ. Int.*, **37**, 1362–1375.

- **32** Escalante-Espinosa, E. (2005) Improvement of the hydrocarbon phytoremediation rate by *Cyperus laxus* Lam. inoculated with a microbial consortium in a model system. *Chemosphere*, **59**, 405–413.
- 33 Alarcón, A., Davies, F.J., Autenrieth, R.L., and Zuberer, D. (2008) Arbuscular mycorrhiza and petroleum-degrading microorganisms enhance phytoremediation of petroleum-contaminated soil. *Int. J. Phytorem.*, 10, 251–263.
- 34 Xin, L., Li, X., Li, P., Fei, L. *et al.* (2008) Evaluation of plant-microorganism synergy for the remediation of diesel fuel contaminated soil. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, **81**, 19–24.
- 35 Sheng, X.F. and Gong, J.X. (2006) Increased degradation of phenanthrene in soil by *Pseudomonas* sp. GF3 in the presence of wheat. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 38, 2587–2592.
- 36 Sheng, X., Chen, X., and He, L. (2008) Characteristics of an endophytic pyrene-degrading bacterium of *Enterobacter* sp. 12J1 from *Allium macrostemon* Bunge. *Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad.*, 62, 88–95.
- 37 Sheng, X.F., He, L.Y., and Shen, L.Z.Y. (2009) Characterization of *Microbacterium* sp. F10a and its role in polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon removal in low-temperature soil. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 55, 529–535.
- 38 Germaine, K.J., Keogh, E., Ryan, D., and Dowling, D.N. (2009) Bacterial endophyte-mediated naphthalene phytoprotection and phytoremediation. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, 296, 226–234.
- 39 Liu, L., Jiang, C.Y., Liu, X.Y., Wu, J.F. et al. (2007) Plant-microbe association for rhizoremediation of chloronitroaromatic pollutants with *Comamonas* sp. strain CNB-1. *Environ. Microbiol.*, 9, 465–473.
- 40 Al-Qurainy, F. and Abdel-Megeed, A. (2009) Phytoremediation and detoxification of two organophosphorous pesticides residues in Riyadh area. *World Appl. Sci. J.*, 6, 987–998.
- 41 Tara, N., Afzal, M., Ansari, T.M., Tahseen, R. *et al.* (2014) Combined use of alkane-degrading and plant growth-promoting bacteria enhanced

phytoremediation of diesel contaminated soil. *Int. J. Phytorem.*, **16**, 1268–1277.

- 42 Yu, X.Z., Wu, S.C., Wu, F.Y., and Wong, M.H. (2011) Enhanced dissipation of PAHs from soil using mycorrhizal ryegrass and PAH-degrading bacteria. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, **186**, 1206–1217.
- 43 Sun, K., Liu, J., Jin, L., and Gao, Y. (2014) Utilizing pyrene-degrading endophytic bacteria to reduce the risk of plant pyrene contamination. *Plant Soil*, 374, 251–262.
- 44 Weyens, N., Truyens, S., Dupae, J., Newman, L. *et al.* (2010) Potential of the TCE-degrading endophyte *Pseudomonas putida* W619-TCE to improve plant growth and reduce TCE phytotoxicity and evapotranspiration in poplar cuttings. *Environ. Pollut.*, **158**, 2915–2919.
- 45 Thijs, S., Weyens, N., Sillen, W., Gkorezis, P. *et al.* (2014) Potential for plant growth promotion by a consortium of stress-tolerant 2,4dinitrotoluene-degrading bacteria: Isolation and characterization of a military soil. *Microb. Biotechnol.*, 7, 294–306.
- 46 Schmidt, S. (2014). Contributions of xenobiotic-degrading bacterial endophytes to the field of phytoremediation. GeoCongress 2008@sGeotechnics of Waste Management and Remediation.
- 47 Becerra-Castro, C., Kidd, P.S., Rodríguez-Garrido, B., Monterroso, C. et al. (2013) Phytoremediation of hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH)contaminated soils using *Cytisus striatus* and bacterial inoculants in soils with distinct organic matter content. *Environ. Pollut.*, **178**, 202–210.
- 48 Becerra-Castro, C., Prieto-Fernández, Á., Kidd, P.S., Weyens, N. et al. (2013) Improving performance of *Cytisus* striatus on substrates contaminated with hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH) isomers using bacterial inoculants: Developing a phytoremediation strategy. *Plant Soil*, 362, 247–260.
- **49** Afzal, M., Yousaf, S., Reichenauer, T.G., and Sessitsch, A. (2012) The inoculation method affects colonization and performance of bacterial inoculant

strains in the phytoremediation of soil contaminated with diesel oil. *Int. J. Phytorem.*, 14, 35–47.

- 50 Glick, B.R. (1995) The enhancement of plant growth by free-living bacteria. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, **41**, 109–117.
- 51 Patten, C.L. and Glick, B.R. (1996) Bacterial biosynthesis of indole-3-acetic acid. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 42, 207–220.
- 52 Khalid, A., Tahir, S., Arshad, M., and Zahir, Z.A. (2004) Relative efficiency of rhizobacteria for auxin biosynthesis in rhizosphere and non-rhizosphere soils. *Soil Res.*, 42, 921–926.
- 53 Patten, C.L. and Glick, B.R. (2002) Role of *Pseudomonas putida* indoleacetic acid in development of the host plant root system. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 68, 3795–3801.
- 54 Pilet, P.E. and Saugy, M. (1987) Effect on root growth of endogenous and applied IAA and ABA: A critical reexamination. *Plant Physiol.*, 83, 33–38.
- 55 Jackson, M. (1991) Ethylene in root growth and development, in *The Plant Hormone Ethylene* (eds A.K. Mattoo and J.C. Suttle), CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp. 169–181.
- 56 Xie, H., Pasternak, J.J., and Glick, B.R. (1996) Isolation and characterization of mutants of the plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium *Pseudomonas putida* GR12-2 that overproduce indoleacetic acid. *Curr. Microbiol.*, **32**, 67–71.
- 57 Dobbelaere, S., Croonenborghs, A., Thys, A., Broek, A.V. *et al.* (1999) Phytostimulatory effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* wild type and mutant strains altered in IAA production on wheat. *Plant Soil*, **212**, 155–164.
- 58 Dobbelaere, S., Vanderleyden, J., and Okon, Y. (2003) Plant growthpromoting effects of diazotrophs in the rhizosphere. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.*, 22, 107–149.
- 59 Gamalero, E. and Glick, B.R. (2011) Mechanisms used by plant growthpromoting bacteria, in *Bacteria in Agrobiology: Plant Nutrient Management* (ed. D.K. Maheshwari), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 17–46.
- **60** Dilfuza, E. (2009) Alleviation of salt stress by plant growth regulators and

IAA producing bacteria in wheat. Acta Physiol. Plant., **31**, 861–864.

- 61 Bianco, C. and Defez, R. (2009) Medicago truncatula improves salt tolerance when nodulated by an indole-3-acetic acid-overproducing Sinorhizobium meliloti strain. J. Exp. Bot., 60, 3097–3107.
- 62 Zaidi, S., Usmani, S., Singh, B.R., and Musarrat, J. (2006) Significance of *Bacillus subtilis* strain SJ-101 as a bioinoculant for concurrent plant growth promotion and nickel accumulation in *Brassica juncea. Chemosphere*, 64, 991–997.
- 63 Swain, T. (1974) *Ethylene in Plant Biology*, Academic Press, New York, USA.
- 64 Morgan, P.W. and Drew, M.C. (2006) Ethylene and plant responses to stress. *Physiol. Plant.*, **100**, 620–630.
- 65 Glick, B.R., Cheng, Z., Czarny, J., and Duan, J. (2007) Promotion of plant growth by ACC deaminase-producing soil bacteria. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.*, 119, 329–339.
- 66 Loon, L.C.V. and Glick, B.R. (2004) Increased plant fitness by rhizobacteria, in *Molecular Ecotoxicology of Plants* (ed. H. Sandermann), Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- 67 Ciardi, J.A., Tieman, D.M., Lund, S.T., Jones, J.B. *et al.* (2000) Response to *Xanthomonas campestris* pv. vesicatoria in tomato involves regulation of ethylene receptor gene expression. *Plant Physiol.*, **123**, 81–92.
- 68 Glick, B.R. and Corporation, H.P. (2012) Plant growth-promoting bacteria: Mechanisms and applications. *Scientifica*, 2012, 1–15.
- 69 Lugtenberg, B. and Kamilova, F. (2009) Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.*, 63, 541–556.
- 70 Gamalero, E. and Glick, B.R. (2012) Ethylene and abiotic stress tolerance in plants, in *Environmental Adaptations* & Stress Tolerance of Plants in the Era of Climate Change (eds P. Ahmad and M.N.V. Prasad), Springer, New York, pp. 395-412.
- 71 Farwell, A., Vesely, S., Nero, V., Rodriguez, H. *et al.* (2006) The use of transgenic canola (*Brassica napus*) and plant growth-promoting bacteria

to enhance plant biomass at a nickelcontaminated field site. *Plant Soil*, **288**, 309–318.

- 72 Rodriguez, H., Vessely, S., Shah, S., and Glick, B.R. (2008) Effect of a nickeltolerant ACC deaminase-producing *Pseudomonas* strain on growth of nontransformed and transgenic canola plants. *Curr. Microbiol.*, 57, 170–174.
- 73 Kong, Z.Y., Glick, B.R., Duan, J., Ding, S.L. *et al.* (2015) Effects of 1aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate (ACC) deaminase-overproducing *Sinorhizobium meliloti* on plant growth and copper tolerance of *Medicago lupulina. Plant Soil*, **391**, 383–398.
- P4 Belimov, A., Dodd, I., Safronova, V., Hontzeas, N. *et al.* (2007) *Pseudomonas brassicacearum* strain Am3 containing 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase can show both pathogenic and growth-promoting properties in its interaction with tomato. *J. Exp. Bot.*, 58, 1485–1495.
- 75 Contesto, C., Desbrosses, G., Lefoulon, C., Béna, G. et al. (2008) Effects of rhizobacterial ACC deaminase activity on *Arabidopsis* indicate that ethylene mediates local root responses to plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Plant Sci.*, 175, 178–189.
- 76 Glick, B.R., Jacobson, C.B., Schwarze, M.M.K., and Pasternak, J.J. (1994) 1-Aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid deaminase mutants of the plant growth promoting rhizobacterium *Pseudomonas putida* GR12-2 do not stimulate canola root elongation. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 40, 911–915.
- 77 Glick, B.R., Liu, C.P., Ghosh, S., and Dumbroff, E.B. (1997) Early development of canola seedlings in the presence of the plant growth-promoting rhizobacterium *Pseudomonas putida* GR12-2. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, **29**, 1233–1239.
- 78 Li, J., Ovakim, D.H., Charles, T.C., and Glick, B.R. (2000) An ACC deaminase minus mutant of *Enterobacter cloacae* UW4 no longer promotes root elongation. *Curr. Microbiol.*, 41, 101–105.
- **79** Holguin, G. and Glick, B.R. (2001) Expression of the ACC deaminase gene

from *Enterobacter cloacae* UW4 in *Azospirillum brasilense. Microb. Ecol.*, **41**, 281–288.

- **80** Stearns, J. (2003) Transgenic plants with altered ethylene biosynthesis or perception. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **21**, 193–210.
- 81 Zhang, Y., Zhao, L., Wang, Y., Yang, B. *et al.* (2008) Enhancement of heavy metal accumulation by tissue specific co-expression of iaaM and ACC deaminase genes in plants. *Chemosphere*, 72, 564–571.
- 82 Zahir, Z.A., Shaharoona, B., and Arshad, M. (2006) Effect of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria containing ACC-deaminase on maize (*Zea mays* L.) growth under axenic conditions and on nodulation in mung bean (*Vigna radiata* L.) *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, 42, 155–159.
- 83 Nascimento, F.X., Brígido, C., Glick, B.R., Oliveira, S. *et al.* (2012) *Mesorhizobium ciceri* LMS-1 expressing an exogenous 1-aminocyclopropane-1carboxylate (ACC) deaminase increases its nodulation abilities and chickpea plant resistance to soil constraints. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, 55, 15–21.
- 84 Nadeem, S. (2007) Preliminary investigations on inducing salt tolerance in maize through inoculation with rhizobacteria containing ACC deaminase activity. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, **53**, 1141–1149.
- 85 Nadeem, S.M., Zahir, Z.A., Naveed, M., and Arshad, M. (2009) Rhizobacteria containing ACC-deaminase confer salt tolerance in maize grown on saltaffected fields. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 55, 1302–1309.
- 86 Jongsun, K. and Rees, D.C. (1994) Nitrogenase and biological nitrogen fixation. *Biochemistry*, 33, 389–397.
- 87 Ahemad, M. and Kibret, M. (2014) Mechanisms and applications of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria: Current perspective. J. King Saud Univ., Sci., 26, 1–20.
- 88 Bhattacharyya, P. and Jha, D. (2012) Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): Emergence in agriculture. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 28, 1327–1350.

- 89 Reinhold-Hurek, B., Hurek, T., Gillis, M., Hoste, B. et al. (1993) Azoarcus gen. nov., nitrogen-fixing proteobacteria associated with roots of Kallar Grass (Leptochloa fusca (L.) Kunth), and description of two species, Azoarcus indigens sp. nov. and Azoarcus communis sp. nov. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 43, 574-584.
- 90 Bashan, Y. and de-Bashan, L.E. (2010) Chapter Two: How the plant growthpromoting bacterium *Azospirillum* promotes plant growth-a critical assessment, in *Advances in Agronomy* (ed. L.S. Donald), Academic Press, pp. 77–136.
- 91 Estrada-De Los Santos, P., Ro, B.-C., and Caballero-Mellado, J. (2001) *Burkholderia*, a genus rich in plantassociated nitrogen fixers with wide environmental and geographic distribution. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 67, 2790–2798.
- 92 Fuentes-Ramírez, L.E., Bustillos-Cristales, R., Tapia-Hernández, A., Jiménez-Salgado, T. *et al.* (2001) Novel nitrogen-fixing acetic acid bacteria, *Gluconacetobacter johannae* sp. nov. and *Gluconacetobacter azotocaptans* sp. nov., associated with coffee plants. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, **51**, 1305–1314.
- 93 Dary, M., Chamber-Pérez, M.A., Palomares, A.J., and Pajuelo, E. (2010) "In situ" phytostabilisation of heavy metal polluted soils using *Lupinus luteus* inoculated with metal resistant plant-growth promoting rhizobacteria. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, 177, 323–330.
- 94 Pajuelo, E., Rodríguez-Llorente, I.D., Lafuente, A., and Caviedes, M.Á. (2011) Legume-*Rhizobium* symbioses as a tool for bioremediation of heavy metal polluted soils, in *Biomanagement of Metal-Contaminated Soils* (eds M. Saghir, A. Zaidi, R. Goel, and J. Musarrat), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 95–123.
- 95 Doty, S. (2003) Metabolism of the soil and groundwater contaminants, ethylene dibromide and trichloroethylene, by the tropical leguminous tree, *Leuceana leucocephala. Water Res.*, 37, 441–449.

- 96 Wani, P.A., Khan, M.S., and Zaidi, A. (2007) Effect of metal tolerant plant growth promoting *Bradyrhizobium* sp. (vigna) on growth, symbiosis, seed yield and metal uptake by greengram plants. *Chemosphere*, 70, 36–45.
- 97 Wani, P.A., Khan, M.S., and Zaidi, A. (2008) Effects of heavy metal toxicity on growth, symbiosis, seed yield and metal uptake in pea grown in metal amended soil. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 81, 152–158.
- 98 Wani, P.A., Khan, M.S., and Zaidi, A. (2008) Chromium-reducing and plant growth-promoting *Mesorhizobium* improves chickpea growth in chromium-amended soil. *Biotechnol. Lett*, **30**, 159–163.
- 99 Zheng, Z., Fang, W., Lee, H.Y., and Yang, Z. (2005) Responses of Azorhizobium caulinodans to cadmium stress. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol., 54, 455-461.
- 100 Chaintreuil, C., Rigault, F., Moulin, L., Jaffré, T. et al. (2007) Nickel resistance determinants in *Bradyrhizobium strains* from nodules of the endemic new caledonia legume *serianthes calycina*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 73, 8018–8022.
- 101 Vidal, C., Chantreuil, C., Berge, O., Mauré, L. et al. (2009) Mesorhizobium metallidurans sp. nov., a metal-resistant symbiont of Anthyllis vulneraria growing on metallicolous soil in Languedoc, France. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 59, 850–855.
- 102 Wani, P.A., Zaidi, A., and Khan, M.S. (2009) Chromium reducing and plant growth promoting potential of *Mesorhizobium* species under chromium stress. *Biorem. J.*, 13, 121–129.
- 103 Figueira, E.M., Lima, A.I., and Pereira, S.I. (2005) Cadmium tolerance plasticity in *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. viciae: Glutathione as a detoxifying agent. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, **51**, 7–14.
- 104 Mandal, S.M., Pati, B.R., Das, A.K., and Ghosh, A.K. (2008) Characterization of a symbiotically effective *Rhizobium* resistant to arsenic: Isolated from the root nodules of *Vigna mungo* (L.) Hepper grown in an arsenic-contaminated field. *J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol.*, 54, 93–99.

- 105 Pajuelo, E., Rodríguez-Llorente, I.D., Dary, M., and Palomares, A.J. (2008) Toxic effects of arsenic on *Sinorhizobium-Medicago sativa* symbiotic interaction. *Environ. Pollut.*, 154, 203–211.
- 106 Fan, L.M., Ma, Z.Q., Liang, J.Q., Li, H.F. *et al.* (2010) Characterization of a copper-resistant symbiotic bacterium isolated from *Medicago lupulina* growing in mine tailings. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 102, 703–709.
- 107 Wani, P.A. and Khan, M.S. (2013) Nickel detoxification and plant growth promotion by multi metal resistant plant growth promoting *Rhizobium* species RL9. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, **91**, 117–124.
- 108 Wani, P.A., Khan, M.S., and Zaidi, A. (2008) Effect of metal-tolerant plant growth-promoting *Rhizobium* on the performance of pea grown in metalamended Soil. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 55, 33–42.
- 109 Wani, P.A., Khan, M.S., and Zaidi, A. (2007) Impact of heavy metal toxicity on plant growth, symbiosis, seed yield and nitrogen and metal uptake in chickpea. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.*, 47, 712–720.
- 110 Kong, Z.Y., Mohamad, O.A., Deng, Z.S., Liu, X.D. *et al.* (2015) Rhizobial symbiosis effect on the growth, metal uptake, and antioxidant responses of *Medicago lupulina* under copper stress. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int*, 22, 12479–12489.
- 111 Lasat, M.M. (2001) Phytoextraction of metals from contaminated soil: A review of plant/soil/metal interaction and assessment of pertinent agronomic issues. J. Hazard. Subst. Res., 2, 1–21.
- 112 Delgadillo, J., Lafuente, A., Doukkali, B., Redondo-Gómez, S. *et al.* (2015) Improving legume nodulation and Cu rhizostabilization using a genetically modified rhizobia. *Environ. Technol.*, 36, 1237–1245.
- 113 Rajkumar, M., Ae, N., and Freitas, H. (2009) Endophytic bacteria and their potential to enhance heavy metal phytoextraction. *Chemosphere*, 77, 153–160.

- 350 11 The Role of Bacteria in Phytoremediation
 - 114 Fatnassi, I.C., Chiboub, M., Saadani, O., Jebara, M. *et al.* (2013) Phytostabilization of moderate copper contaminated soils using co-inoculation of *Vicia faba* with plant growth promoting bacteria. *J. Basic Microbiol.*, **55**, 303–311.
 - 115 Hao, X., Xie, P., Johnstone, L., Miller, S.J. et al. (2012) Genome sequence and mutational analysis of plant-growthpromoting bacterium Agrobacterium tumefaciens CCNWGS0286 isolated from a zinc-lead mine tailing. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 78, 5384–5394.
 - 116 Rajkumar, M., Ae, N., Prasad, M.N., and Freitas, H. (2010) Potential of siderophore-producing bacteria for improving heavy metal phytoextraction. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 28, 142–149.
 - 117 Hider, R.C. (1984) Siderophore mediated absorption of iron. *Struct. Bond.*, 58, 25–87.
 - 118 Neilands, J.B. (1981) Iron absorption and transport in microorganisms. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.*, 1, 27–46.
 - 119 Neilands, J.B. (1982) Microbial envelope proteins related to iron. Annu. Rev. Microbiol., 36, 285–309.
 - 120 Crowley, D., Reid, C., and Szaniszlo, P. (1987) Microbial siderophores as iron sources for plants, in *Iron Transport in Microbes, Plants and Animals* (eds G. Winkelmann, D. van der Helm, and J. Neilands), VCH Chemie, Weinheim, pp. 375–386.
 - 121 Leong, J. (1986) Siderophores: Their biochemistry and possible role in the biocontrol of plant pathogens. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.*, 24, 187–209.
 - 122 Belimov, A.A., Hontzeas, N., Safronova, V.I., Demchinskaya, S.V. et al. (2005) Cadmium-tolerant plant growthpromoting bacteria associated with the roots of Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* L. Czern.) Soil Biol. Biochem., 37, 241–250.
 - 123 Braud, A., Jézéquel, K., Vieille, E., Tritter, A. *et al.* (2006) Changes in extractability of Cr and Pb in a polycontaminated soil after bioaugmentation with microbial producers of biosurfactants, organic acids and siderophores. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut.: Focus,* 6, 261–279.

- 124 Diels, L., Nvd, L., and Bastiaens, L. (2002) New developments in treatment of heavy metal contaminated soils. *Rev. Environ. Sci. Bio/Technol.*, 1, 75–82.
- 125 Burd, G.I. and Dixon, D.G. (1998) A plant growth-promoting bacterium that decreases nickel toxicity in seedlings. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 64, 3663–3668.
- 126 Burd, G.I., Dixon, D.G., and Glick, B.R. (2000) Plant growth-promoting bacteria that decrease heavy metal toxicity in plants. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, **46**, 237–245.
- 127 Tripathi, M. (2005) Isolation and functional characterization of siderophoreproducing lead- and cadmium-resistant *Pseudomonas putida* KNP9. *Curr. Microbiol.*, **50**, 233–237.
- 128 Gadd, G.M. (2004) Microbial influence on metal mobility and application for bioremediation. *Geoderma*, 122, 109–119.
- 129 Braud, A., Jézéquel, K., Bazot, S., and Lebeau, T. (2009) Enhanced phytoextraction of an agricultural Cr- and Pb-contaminated soil by bioaugmentation with siderophore-producing bacteria. *Chemosphere*, 74, 280–286.
- Dimkpa, C.O., Merten, D., Svatoš, A., Büchel, G. *et al.* (2009) Siderophores mediate reduced and increased uptake of cadmium by *Streptomyces tendae* F4 and sunflower (*Helianthus annuus*), respectively. *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, **107**, 1687–1696.
- 131 Kuffner, M., Puschenreiter, M., Wieshammer, G., Gorfer, M. *et al.* (2008) Rhizosphere bacteria affect growth and metal uptake of heavy metal accumulating willows. *Plant Soil*, 304, 35–44.
- 132 Dimkpa, C.O., Svatos, A., Dabrowska, P., Schmidt, A. *et al.* (2008) Involvement of siderophores in the reduction of metal-induced inhibition of auxin synthesis in *Streptomyces* spp. *Chemosphere*, 74, 19–25.
- 133 Dimkpa, C.O., Merten, D., Svatoš, A., Büchel, G. *et al.* (2009) Metal-induced oxidative stress impacting plant growth in contaminated soil is alleviated by microbial siderophores. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, **41**, 154–162.

- 134 Smith, F.A. and Smith, S.E. (1997) Structural diversity in (vesicular)arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. *New Phytol.*, 137, 373–388.
- 135 Andrade, S.A.L., Silveira, A.P.D., and Mazzafera, P. (2010) Arbuscular mycorrhiza alters metal uptake and the physiological response of *Coffea arabica* seedlings to increasing Zn and Cu concentrations in soil. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 408, 5381–5391.
- 136 Solís-Domínguez, F.A. (2011) Effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on plant biomass and the rhizosphere microbial community structure of mesquite grown in acidic lead/zinc mine tailings. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 409, 1009–1016.
- 137 Andrade, S.A.L., Abreu, C.A., Abreu, M.F.D., and Silveira, A.P.D. (2004) Influence of lead additions on arbuscular mycorrhiza and *Rhizobium* symbioses under soybean plants. *Appl. Soil Ecol.*, 26, 123–131.
- 138 Ahmed, F.R.S., Killham, K., and Alexander, I. (2006) Influences of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus mosseae* on growth and nutrition of lentil irrigated with arsenic contaminated water. *Plant Soil*, 283, 33–41.
- 139 Yasmeen, T., Hameed, S., Tariq, M., and Ali, S. (2012) Significance of arbuscular mycorrhizal and bacterial symbionts in a tripartite association with *Vigna radiata*. Acta Physiol. Plant., 34, 1519–1528.
- 140 Mäder, P., Kaiser, F., Adholeya, A., Singh, R. *et al.* (2011) Inoculation of root microorganisms for sustainable wheat-rice and wheat-black gram rotations in India. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 43, 609–619.
- 141 Ordookhani, K., Khavazi, K., Moezzi, A., and Rejali, F. (2010) Influence of PGPR and AMF on antioxidant activity, lycopene and potassium contents in tomato. *Afr. J. Agric. Res.*, 5, 1108–1116.
- 142 Algarni, S.M.S. (2006) Increased heavy metal tolerance of cowpea plants by dual inoculation of an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and nitrogen-fixer *Rhizobium* bacterium. *Afr. J. Biotechnol.*, 5, 133–142.

- 143 Xun, F., Xie, B., Liu, S., and Guo, C. (2015) Effect of plant growthpromoting bacteria (PGPR) and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) inoculation on oats in saline-alkali soil contaminated by petroleum to enhance phytoremediation. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int.*, 22, 598–608.
- 144 Dong, R., Gu, L., Guo, C., Xun, F. et al. (2014) Effect of PGPR Serratia marcescens BC-3 and AMF Glomus intraradices on phytoremediation of petroleum contaminated soil. Ecotoxicology, 23, 674–680.
- 145 Barnawal, D., Maji, D., Bharti, N., Chanotiya, C.S. et al. (2013) ACC deaminase-containing Bacillus subtilis reduces stress ethylene-induced damage and improves mycorrhizal colonization and rhizobial nodulation in Trigonella foenum-graecum under drought stress. J. Plant Growth Regul., 32, 809–822.
- 146 Selosse, M.-A., Baudoin, E., and Vandenkoornhuyse, P. (2004) Symbiotic microorganisms, a key for ecological success and protection of plants. *C. R. Biol.*, 327, 639–648.
- 147 Blaudez, D., Botton, B., and Chalot, M. (2000) Cadmium uptake and subcellular compartmentation in the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Paxillus involutus*. *Microbiology*, **146**, 1109–1117.
- 148 Bellion, M., Courbot, M., Jacob, C., Blaudez, D. *et al.* (2006) Extracellular and cellular mechanisms sustaining metal tolerance in ectomycorrhizal fungi. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, **254**, 173–181.
- 149 Luo, Z.-B., Wu, C., Zhang, C., Li, H. et al. (2014) The role of ectomycorrhizas in heavy metal stress tolerance of host plants. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 108, 47–62.
- 150 Jentschke, G. and Godbold, D.L. (2000) Metal toxicity and ectomycorrhizas. *Physiol. Plant.*, **109**, 107–116.
- 151 Colpaert, J.V. (2008) Heavy metal pollution and genetic adaptations in ectomycorrhizal fungi, in *British Mycological Society Symposia Series* (eds S.V. Avery, M. Stratford, and P. van West), Academic Press, pp. 157–173.
- 152 Adriaensen, K., Vrålstad, T., Noben, J.-P., Vangronsveld, J. *et al.* (2005)

Copper-adapted *Suillus luteus*, a symbiotic solution for pines colonizing Cu mine spoils. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **71**, 7279–7284.

- 153 Van Tichelen, K.K., Colpaert, J.V., and Vangronsveld, J. (2001) Ectomycorrhizal protection of *Pinus sylvestris* against copper toxicity. *New Phytol.*, 150, 203–213.
- Bojarczuk, K. and Kieliszewska-Rokicka,
 B. (2010) Effect of ectomycorrhiza on
 Cu and Pb accumulation in leaves and roots of silver birch (*Betula pendula* Roth.) seedlings grown in metal-contaminated soil. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut.*, 207, 227–240.
- 155 Khan, A.G., Kuek, C., Chaudhry, T.M., Khoo, C.S. *et al.* (2000) Role of plants, mycorrhizae and phytochelators in heavy metal contaminated land remediation. *Chemosphere*, **41**, 197–207.
- 156 Sousa, N.R., Ramos, M.A., Marques, A.P.G.C., and Castro, P.M.L. (2012) The effect of ectomycorrhizal fungi forming symbiosis with *Pinus pinaster* seedlings exposed to cadmium. *Sci. Total Environ.*, **414**, 63–67.
- 157 Sousa, N.R., Franco, A.R., Ramos, M.A., Rui, S.O. *et al.* (2015) The response of *Betula pubescens* to inoculation with an ectomycorrhizal fungus and a plant growth promoting bacterium is substrate-dependent. *Ecol. Eng.*, **81**, 439–443.
- 158 Yadegari, M., Rahmani, H.A., Noormohammadi, G., and Ayneband, A. (2010) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria increase growth, yield and nitrogen fixation in *Phaseolus vulgaris. J. Plant Nutr.*, 33, 1733–1743.
- 159 Fox, S.L., O'Hara, G.W., and Bräu, L. (2011) Enhanced nodulation and symbiotic effectiveness of *Medicago* truncatula when co-inoculated with *Pseudomonas fluorescens* WSM3457 and *Ensifer (Sinorhizobium) medicae* WSM419. *Plant Soil*, **348**, 245–254.
- 160 Hungria, M., Nogueira, M., and Araujo, R. (2013) Co-inoculation of soybeans and common beans with rhizobia and azospirilla: Strategies to improve sustainability. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 49, 791–801.

- 161 Lucas García, J.A., Probanza, A., Ramos, B., Barriuso, J. et al. (2004) Effects of inoculation with plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) and *Sinorhizobium fredii* on biological nitrogen fixation, nodulation and growth of *Glycine max* cv. Osumi. *Plant Soil*, 267, 143–153.
- 162 Lucas García, J.A., Probanza, A., Ramos, B., Colón Flores, J.J. *et al.* (2004) Effects of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) on the biological nitrogen fixation, nodulation, and growth of *Lupinus albus* L. cv. Multolupa. *Eng. Life Sci.*, 4, 71–77.
- 163 Berggren, I., Alström, S., Van Vuurde, J., and Mårtensson, A.M. (2005) Rhizoplane colonisation of peas by *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. viceae and a deleterious *Pseudomonas putida*. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 52, 71–78.
- 164 Estévez, J., Dardanelli, M.S., Megías, M., and Rodríguez-Navarro, D.N.
 (2009) Symbiotic performance of common bean and soybean co-inoculated with rhizobia and *Chryseobacterium balustinum* Aur9 under moderate saline conditions. *Symbiosis*, 49, 29–36.
- 165 Gurska, J., Wang, W., Gerhardt, K.E., Khalid, A.M. *et al.* (2009) Three year field test of a plant growth promoting rhizobacteria enhanced phytoremediation system at a land farm for treatment of hydrocarbon waste. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **43**, 4472–4479.
- 166 Van Dillewijn, P., Caballero, A., Paz, J., Gonzalez-Pérez, M. *et al.* (2007) Bioremediation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene under field conditions. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 41, 1378–1383.
- 167 White, P., Wolf, D., Thoma, G., and Reynolds, C. (2006) Phytoremediation of alkylated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in a crude oil-contaminated soil. *Water, Air, Soil Pollut.*, 169, 207–220.
- 168 Chang, F.-C., Ko, C.-H., Tsai, M.-J., Wang, Y.-N. *et al.* (2014) Phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soil by *Jatropha curcas. Ecotoxicology*, 23, 1969–1978.
- 169 Phieler, R., Merten, D., Roth, M.,Büchel, G. *et al.* (2015) Phytoremediation using microbially mediated metal

accumulation in Sorghum bicolor. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int., 22, 19408–19416.

- 170 Kayser, A., Wenger, K., Keller, A., Attinger, W. *et al.* (2000) Enhancement of phytoextraction of Zn, Cd, and Cu from calcareous soil: 65 the use of NTA and sulfur amendments. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 34, 1778–1783.
- 171 Puschenreiter, M., Stöger, G., Lombi, E., Horak, O. *et al.* (2001) Phytoextraction of heavy metal contaminated soils with *Thlaspi goesingense* and *Amaranthus hybridus*: Rhizosphere manipulation using EDTA and ammonium sulfate. *J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.*, 164, 615–621.
- 172 Chen, H. and Cutright, T. (2001) EDTA and HEDTA effects on Cd, Cr, and

Ni uptake by *Helianthus annuus*. *Chemosphere*, **45**, 21–28.

- 173 Nejatzadeh-Barandozi, F. and Gholami-Borujeni, F. (2014) Effectiveness of phytoremediation technologies to clean up of metalloids using three plant species in Iran. *Water Environ. Res.*, 86, 43–48.
- 174 Pinchin, H.E., Williams, J.B., May, E., Mant, C. et al. (2013) In situ and microcosm investigations into the phytoremediation of hydrocarboncontaminated lagoon sediments using *Phragmites australis. J. Environ. Eng.*, 139, 488–495.
- 175 Uhlik, O. (2013) Stable isotope probing in the metagenomics era: A bridge towards improved bioremediation. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, **31**, 154–165.

Part IV Animal Cell Cultures

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

Mugdha Gadgil and Wei-Shou Hu

12.1 Introduction

With the increasing reach of protein therapeutics in different regions of the world and the expanding manufacturing capacities in Asian countries in the past few years, there has been renewed interest in enhancing the productivity and streamlining cell line and process development. The core of the production of a recombinant protein molecule using animal cells is the establishment of a production cell line stably expressing the protein of interest at an acceptable volumetric productivity. This process can take anywhere between 4 and 12 months. Small amounts of protein for preclinical studies can, however, be expressed transiently in a shorter time without establishing a stable cell line [1]. Development of a stable protein-producing cell line for the production of therapeutic proteins begins with transfecting the gene encoding the protein of interest into a suitable host cell and selecting single-cell clones in which the transgene has integrated into the host cell genome. The selected clones are further screened to select the best clones with the highest volumetric productivity and with an acceptable growth rate, out of the heterogeneous population of transfected clones. The few best clones are further evaluated for stability in cell growth, productivity, and product quality, and the best "stable" clone is identified for use as a production clone. Figure 12.1 details the steps involved in stable cell line development, along with choices to be made by the user at each step (Figure 12.1). The chapter is organized into sections describing each step during cell line development beginning with the choice of the host cell, the DNA elements on the vector carrying the transgene which are then transfected into the host cell, followed by methods for selection of a stable single cell clone.



Figure 12.1 Steps involved in stable cell line development. Options available at each step are described in brief. The amplification step, when implemented, may be carried out either on a bulk selected pool or on expanded single-cell clones, as discussed in text.

12.2 Host Cell

In selecting a host cell for protein production, the regulatory history of the cell line is a major consideration. Cell lines that have been used in commercial manufacturing of biologics and have received previous regulatory clearance for production are often favored because of their lower risk of unforeseen safety concerns. Cell lines of rodent origin, including those from Chinese hamster ovary (CHO), NS0, Sp2/0, and baby hamster kidney (BHK), as well as those derived from human (HEK293), have been used in commercial production. Two cell lines in particular, CHO and NS0, account for over 70% – in terms of protein quantity and commercial value - of currently manufactured recombinant proteins in animal cells. In host cell selection, the profile of post-translation modification of the product, especially glycosylation, is another important factor for consideration. The profile of glycosylation on the protein molecules affects their therapeutic activity and immunogenicity. The N-linked glycan structures from CHO and NS0 contain the same basic oligosaccharide structures naturally occurring in human proteins with some differences [2]. For example, N-glycolylneuraminic acid (NGNA), not typically found in adult humans, is present in CHO and NS0 cultures. The ratio of N-acetylneuraminic acid (NANA) to NGNA is variable and depends on the cell line [3]. Cell lines of human origin such as PER.C6 and CAP have been more recently developed for commercial manufacturing [4]. The proteins produced in these lines will have human glycans, but to date a large majority of commercial products are not produced in human cell lines.

An ideal host cell line should also be easily cultured in large-scale bioreactors and not liable to conditions adverse to growth, productivity, or product quality. Since suspension growth is often preferred in large-scale operation, many host cells have been adapted to suspension growth if they were derived from adherent cells. Susceptibility of host cells to viral infection is an important safety concern. A compilation of previously reported CHO and BHK cell infections by viruses suggests that CHO cells are less susceptible to viral infection than BHK [5]. The number of viruses known to infect CHO cells is small. Wiebe *et al.* found only 7 out of 45 viruses from nine virus families were able to infect CHO-K1 cells [6]. An evaluation of 14 viruses from 12 families including a few known to have contaminated CHO cells are detectable either through the induction of a visible cytopathic effect or during routine adventitious agent testing demonstrating safety from viral contaminants [5].

12.2.1 Host Cell Engineering

A significant amount of effort is going on in genetic engineering of host cells to achieve more efficient growth, metabolism, and protein secretion or for engineering desirable product characteristics like specific glycosylation profiles. The

360 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

productivity of a clone results from a combination of its specific productivity, which can be increased by some of the strategies discussed in Sections 12.2-12.5, and the longevity of the culture. Cell engineering strategies used to increase to latter include approaches to suppress apoptosis [7] and manipulation of cellular metabolism to reduce waste metabolite formation [8], which eventually affects cell growth and viability, especially in fed-batch culture. Engineering of cell-cycle-related genes has been employed to induce cell-cycle arrest to increase productivity after initial cell growth [9]. Cell engineering has also been used to improve the post-translational capacity of the cell, with most effort being directed to the glyco-sylation pathway to engineer glycan features such as increased sialylation [10] or decreased fucosylation [9]. For a review on cell engineering strategies, the reader is referred to [11].

12.3

Vector Components

The gene encoding the protein of interest is invariably transfected into the host cell via a plasmid. The transgene sequence can be optimized for features like codon usage, GC content, and removal of secondary structure, which can result in an increase in recombinant protein expression [12]. The following elements are required on the plasmid, in addition to DNA encoding the protein of interest.

12.3.1

Promoter/Enhancer

The promoter region is the stretch of DNA upstream of the gene to be transcribed, generally before where transcription is initiated. It can be as short as 100 bp or up to 10 kbp in length, including regulatory elements. Different promoters have different strengths in initiating transcription and different dynamics in responding to its cues. Some promoters are constitutive, expressed at a relatively constant level all the time, whereas others are dependent on the cell cycle or other growth conditions. If the promoter is specific to a stage of the cell cycle, it influences the growth association of expression. For example, a promoter specific to the S phase of the cell cycle will result in protein expression being growth-associated, while a promoter specific to the G1 phase shows protein expression to be inversely related to growth [13-15]. Ludwig has summarized mammalian expression systems for antibody expression [16]. Expression of the recombinant protein product is driven by a strong promoter, while the expression of the selection marker is typically driven by a weaker promoter such as SV40 or the TK promoter. The most commonly used promoter for protein production is the constitutive cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter; however, its strength varies considerably between cell lines [17].

An oncogene-activated production system was developed on the premise that oncogenes can enhance promoter activity [18]. It uses a combination of an effector

plasmid, which consists of an oncogene, and a reporter plasmid that carries the gene of interest. The product of the effector plasmid should stimulate the promoter of the reporter plasmid to enhance recombinant protein expression. Upon evaluation of several oncogenes and promoters, the best system was reported to comprise the oncogene *ras* and CMV promoter [18]. A hybrid system was further reported using the amplified *ras* oncogene to activate the CMV promoter, which was further amplified using methionine sulfoximine (MSX) (glutamine synthetase (GS) marker present along with transgene; the amplification is described in detail in Section 12.6), which showed higher clonal productivity as compared to only MSX amplification [19].

The presence of introns is also known to increase efficiency of transcription. The protein expression levels driven by the human CMV promoter in the presence or absence of intron A, the mouse and rat CMV promoters with intron A, and the mouse myeloproliferative virus (MPSV) Long Terminal Repeat (LTR) were evaluated in both CHO-K1 and HEK293EBNA cells [20]. The human CMV, in the presence of intron A, was reported to give the highest levels of protein expression during transient expression in both cell lines. However, the MPSV promoter resulted in the highest expression of four proteins evaluated in selected bulk pools in CHO-K1 cells, suggesting, not surprisingly, that promoter strength is not the only important factor for protein expression in stable cell clones. Under the hypothesis that the use of transcription control regions from a highly expressed gene in CHO cells to drive expression of the transgene might result in significantly increased protein expression, expression vectors containing 5' and 3' flanking sequences from the Chinese hamster EF-1 α (CHEF1) gene were constructed. These vectors showed better reporter gene expression compared to its expression driven by CMV or the human EF-1 α promoter [21]. Recently, the characterization and use of a core cold-inducible RNA-binding promoter for increasing protein expression was reported [22].

The promoter used for product protein expression can also influence the longterm stability of its expression level. CpG dinucleotides within the human CMV promoter/enhancer were reported to be methylated in recombinant CHO cell lines that have a decreased productivity after long-term culture [23]. Inducible promoters may be used for the expression of proteins that may be toxic to cells. These usually require the addition of an expression-inducing agent to the culture, which needs to be later removed during purification. Inducible promoters based on the principle of removal of an external agent have also been reported (US Patent 5,814,618).

In view of the importance of the promoter in driving protein expression, it is surprising that more attention has not been paid to this area. Increased molecular understanding of the functions of the different promoter elements can result in the synthetic design of a promoter region for high-level constitutive protein expression [24].

Enhancers are DNA sequences that increase gene transcription and may not necessarily be located close to the promoter sequence. Commonly used promoters such as the CMV or SV40 have associated enhancer sequences that can be

362 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

included along with the respective promoter in the vector construct. Among several promoter/enhancer combinations evaluated, the CMV promoter/enhancer was found to result in the highest levels of reporter gene expression [25, 26].

The Kozak sequence (CCA/GCC [27, 28]) can be placed in front of the AUG start codon of the gene of interest to improve the translational initiation of mRNA.

12.3.2 Intron

The incorporation of introns into the coding region of the gene can sometimes result in an increase in recombinant protein expression. The mechanism of how introns affect mRNA processing is reviewed in [29]. The addition of introns to the coding sequence of naturally intron-less genes can also result in increased transgene expression, as shown for the human interferon- β [30]. The expression level of human interferon- β from the intron-added construct, however, depended on the location of the inserted intron. A similar effect was shown where insertion of two introns derived from the mouse immunoglobulin heavy chains into the coding region of the green fluorescent protein (GFP) resulted in a fivefold increase in mean fluorescence intensity of clones generated with the intron-added construct compared to those without the introns [31]. Conversely, the removal of an intron from an antibody heavy chain coding sequence (CMV promoter driving expression of the heavy and light chain sequences continued to contribute an intron to the primary transcript) was shown to have no effect on the antibody productivity in CHO cells [12]. At the same time, gene optimization by a process designed to optimize codon usage, remove cryptic splice sites, optimize GC content, and remove direct repeats and secondary structure elements resulted in an increase in antibody expression. This reinforces that the rate-limiting step during protein expression for the particular cell line will decide whether a particular modification results in higher protein expression, thus making "generalizations" of efficacy difficult.

12.3.3

Poly-Adenylation Signal

The 3' UTR (untranslated region) consists of the region between the nucleotide immediately following the stop codon and the polyA tail on the mRNA. It is important for proper termination of transcription, and also plays a role in mRNA stability and transport of the mRNA from nucleus to cytoplasm (reviewed in [32]). The 3' UTR contains the polyA signal with the consensus AATAAA, and a GT-rich downstream sequence element. Because of the limited options currently available, the predominant polyA signals used in gene constructs for recombinant protein production are either SV40 or bovine growth hormone (BGH) polyA. A comparison between three polyA signals showed that the one from BGH gave three times higher recombinant protein expression compared to those from SV40 early and human collagen, irrespective of the promoter used [33].

The 3' UTR of some genes can contain instability elements such as the AT-rich elements (ARE), which can reduce the stability of the nascent transcript and need to be removed before their use in recombinant protein production. However, there appears to be a complex relationship between the particular polyA signal used and the presence of ARE. For example, the deletion of ARE of the human granulocyte stimulating hormone cDNA resulted in increased rhG-CSF synthesis when using polyA signal from the rabbit β -globin gene but not from SV40 [34]. Attention should also be paid to the coding sequence and polyA signal sequence to avoid unintended consequences. For example, CHO-K1 cell lines expressing the recombinant complement activator blocking protein showed a large fraction of the mRNA for the transgene to be shorter than the expected length due to aberrant splicing from within coding sequence to a site within the 3' UTR and due to premature polyadenylation at an AATAAA site within the coding region [35].

12.3.4

Selection Marker

A selection marker is required to select the presence of the transfected plasmid in cells. Selection markers include genes imparting resistance to drugs such as neomycin, geneticin, hygromycin, puromycin, blasticidin, and zeocin. In addition to these, enzymes essential for cell growth that are not expressed in the host cell can also be used for selection. Two such commonly used enzymes for selection are dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) and GS.

DHFR catalyses the production of tetrahydrofolate by the reduction of dihydrofolate. Mutant cells lacking DHFR use the salvage pathway for nucleotide synthesis, which requires the supply of hypoxanthine and thymidine. In a medium without hypoxanthine and thymidine, those mutant cells cannot survive unless they acquire DHFR from the transfected plasmid. The GS systems functions similarly: GS catalyzes the formation of glutamine, an essential amino acid for cultured cells, from glutamate and acts as a selection marker in the absence of glutamine in the culture medium. These enzymatic markers also allow gene amplification, as discussed in Section 12.6.

Not all cells that received transfected plasmids and express the selection marker protein also express the gene of interest. The frequency of the false positives (those expressing the selection marker but not the protein of interest) varies with the selection marker used. These false positives arise through mutations that develop alternate mechanisms such as inactivation of transport of the selection marker into the cell. A comparison of clones expressing GFP obtained using different selection markers in two human cell lines showed that all zeocin-resistant clones exhibited GFP expression in both cell lines. However, only 79% of hygromycin B-resistant, 47% of neomycin-resistant, and 14% of puromycin-resistant clones expressed GFP [36]. Thus the choice of the selection marker can be important for reducing false-positive clones. The expression of the selection marker is usually

364 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

driven by a weaker promoter than the promoter driving the expression of the protein of interest. Sometimes a mutated selection marker with a lower activity to rescue the missing enzyme function is used [37]. With such "weakened" expression of selection marker, the integration site must be transcriptionally active and allow for a higher transcript level of the selection marker in order to counter the selection pressure. This may lead to increased expression of the protein of interest.

Selection marker can also be expressed in a dicistronic construct through an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) element [38, 39]. *Picornavirus* F2A and "2A-like" sequences are also reported for coexpression of multiple genes [40]. Split GFP fragments linked to IgG heavy and light chain genes resulting in the use of GFP as a selection marker have been used to identify high producers using fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) [41]. Such approaches can be useful for high-throughput identification of optimal integration sites on the host cell genome. Incorporation of mRNA and protein destabilizing elements such as ARE [42], or the use of a selection marker with a start codon that confers attenuated translation initiation frequency [43], can also be used to reduce the strength of the selection marker to increase the probability that the selected clones have high productivity of the recombinant protein of interest.

12.3.5

Secretion Leader Sequence

Virtually all therapeutic proteins produced in mammalian cells are secreted. In their native forms, each has its own leader sequences for translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum during translation. These leader sequences can be possibly replaced with a stronger signal sequence to increase the efficiency of secretion [44]. Sixteen different secretion signal sequences from several species in mammals, fish, scorpions, snails, fungi, plants, viruses, and bacteria were fused to the antibody heavy chain and light chain genes to compare their ability to drive the secretion of the recombinant antibody [45]. The signal sequences derived from human albumin and human azurocidin gave the highest productivity. However, the signal sequence derived from human albumin had previously been reported to result in weak expression of a reporter protein [46], indicating the downstream protein sequence to the signal sequence has an effect on its performance.

Post-translational cleavage of the leader sequence at nonspecific sites or incomplete cleavage of the signal sequence has been reported, which can result in heterogeneity in the mature protein sequence at the N terminus [47, 48]. The efficiency of cleavage of the leader signal is thus an additional parameter to be considered during its selection.

12.3.6

Components for Plasmid Cloning in E. coli

These include the bacterial selection marker to select for presence of plasmid in *Escherichia coli* and the bacterial origin of replication for propagation in *E. coli*.

12.4 Transfection

The plasmid containing the transgene is transfected into the host cell. The efficiency of transfection is assessed by the percentage of cells subjected to transfection that have received the plasmid, regardless of how many copies of plasmids have entered the cell. High transfection efficiency may not be necessary for establishing stable cell lines, since as, the transfection step is followed by selection, only the cells expressing the gene imparting resistance to the selection pressure eventually survive. The transfection efficiency and the distribution of plasmid copy number per cell in the transfected population are affected by the concentrations of plasmids and cells, culture age, and the method of transfection used.

12.4.1

Method of Transfection

Transfection can be carried out by several means such as calcium phosphate precipitation [49], lipofection [50], polycation-mediated transfection [51], and electroporation [52]. The most commonly used methods are lipofection and electroporation. Calcium phosphate precipitation, lipofection, and polycationmediated transfection are strongly affected by the medium composition. Chenuet et al. compared calcium phosphate precipitation and polycation-mediated transfection using linear 25-kDa polyethyleneimine (PEI) and observed that the efficiency of recombinant cell line recovery was higher for PEI transfection at one colony per 275 plated cells than CaPO₄ transfection at one colony per 1350 plated cells [53]. The copy number of integrated plasmids was higher in cells transfected with CaPO₄, and the average specific productivity of a recombinant antibody was about twofold higher for the CaPO₄-derived cell lines. This difference was, however, not seen for GFP expression levels for transfections by the two methods. No difference between the two transfection methods was observed in terms of the stability of protein production. Several liposomal formulations are available commercially that result in high transfection efficiencies for the host cells commonly used for protein production. The effectiveness of PEI and Lipofectamine in delivering a 150-kb bacterial artificial chromosome DNA to mouse and human cell lines (adherent and suspension) was evaluated. It was found that though a 22-kDa linear PEI was the most efficient method for delivery, Lipofectamine 2000 gave a higher proportion of stable clones with intact DNA [54].

Repeated transfection of the same cells has been shown to result in increased expression of the protein [55]; however, it remains to be seen whether such an approach has any effect on the productivity or stability of stable cell lines. However, repeated lipofection or electroporation may aggravate the cell damage caused by transfection. Overexpression of the anti-apoptosis protein Bcl-2 was recently reported to allow transfections at higher nitrogen/phosphate (N/P) molar ratios with PEI which would otherwise be severely toxic to the cells, and hence result in higher transfection efficiency [56]. 366 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

12.4.2 Plasmid Conformation

Plasmid used for transfection can either be circular or linearized using a restriction enzyme whose recognition sequence lies outside the transgene and selection marker. Though circular plasmids have been used for transfection, linearized plasmid DNA is thought to result in better efficiency. An evaluation of the effect of linearization by two different restriction enzymes – of which one was cut at two locations and resulted in the loss of a small DNA fragment from the linearized plasmid - concluded that linearization of plasmid DNA prior to transfection can increase the efficiency of stable clone generation and protein expression compared to circular DNA, but is dependent on the site of linearization [57]. This could possibly explain dissimilar conclusions regarding the higher effectiveness of linearized DNA for transfection. Circular DNA was reported to be better than linearized DNA for transient protein expression [58].

12.5 Integration of Foreign DNA into Host Chromosome

After transfection, the number of plasmid molecules entering cytoplasm may be large, perhaps in thousands. Only a fraction of those enter the nucleus, while the rest are degraded. Note that the plasmid must enter the nucleus and be transcribed in order for the selection marker protein to be translated in the cytoplasm. Only a small number of plasmid molecules will be integrated into the genome. Integration of plasmid DNA into the host chromosome is a random event. Integration may occur at a single location in the genome or in multiple loci on the same or different chromosomes. Analysis of the karyotype and chromosomal integration site for 20 recombinant CHO DG44 clones transfected with GFP showed a single integration site in all clones irrespective of whether DNA was delivered by calcium phosphate–DNA coprecipitation or microinjection [59]. The copy number of the integrated gene varied between 1 and 51 for the 20 clones, but was not correlated to the strength of GFP expression. Random integration of the gene of interest can result either in integration in a condensed heterochromatin region that is relatively inaccessible to transcription or in unwanted loss/attenuation in expression of an essential gene in the vicinity of the site of integration. In both cases, the performance of resultant clone will be suboptimal. Targeting the vector to a pre-identified suitable site on the genome of the host cell can prevent such effects. The rapid development in technologies for targeting any genomic location, such as the CRISPR/Cas systems, will aid in this, once suitable sites are identified [60]. CRISPR/Cas system is a RNA-guided DNA endonuclease, which brings about DNA cleavage in a sequence specific manner, thus facilitating integration of the transgene at the targeted genomic location. The guide sequence in the crRNA provides sequence specificity to the Cas endonuclease [61]. The ease of design of CRISPR/Cas has greatly improved access to the targeted integration technology.

12.5.1 Site-Specific Integration

To target the gene of interest to a transcriptionally active site in the host genome, targeting using recombinase-mediated cassette exchange (RMCE) can be employed [62]. RMCE is based on the replacement of gene cassettes flanked by two recombination target sites. Cre and FLP are two commonly used Tyr recombinases, while the more recently used Φ C31 is a Ser-integrase.

Tyr recombinases use a catalytic tyrosine to attack a phosphodiester bond of target DNA, site while the Ser integrases use a conserved serine. Both result in a recombination, triggered by crossover of the recombinase sites (loxP, FRT, and attB and attP). Cre-loxP- or FLP-FRT-mediated recombination between two directly repeated recombination targeting sites excises all DNA sequences located within the two sites. The Φ C31 recombinase mediates the recombination between the heterotypic attB and attP sites and results in strictly unidirectional integration. The RMCE technique follows two steps [63]: (i) "Tagging" a genomic locus: introduction of recombination target sites into the host genome. This can be achieved by random insertion of a reporter gene like GFP flanked by the target sites followed by identification of a clone with the best expression of the reporter gene. The reporter gene is then assumed to be integrated into a transcriptionally active site which is "tagged" in this clone. (ii) "Targeting" of the tagged site: RMCE of the tagging cassette with the desired transgene cassette flanked by matching recombination target site. The RMCEs employed in mammalian cells are summarized in [63]. Recently, the "tagging" step was carried out using Φ C31 integrase to selectively direct GFP into the CHO genome at pseudo-attP sites, which may support sustained transcriptional activity [64]. This resulted in fewer clones being required to be screened to identify high GFP expressing clones, compared to when GFP was randomly integrated in the CHO genome. RCME was then further employed using Cre-loxP for rapid development of clones expressing $\sim 2 \text{ g } \text{l}^{-1} \text{ IgG}$.

12.5.2

Use of cis-Acting DNA Elements

Besides integration into a transcriptionally inactive region of the genome, the gene of interest may become transcriptionally less active or even inactive over a period of time due to silencing. Such silencing can be a result of causes such as DNA methylation at the gene's promoter and histone deacetylation in the region containing the gene [65]. An alternate approach to delivering the gene of interest to a transcriptionally active spot on the host genome has been proposed following the discovery of short DNA sequences in transcriptionally active parts of the chromatin [65].

Transcription of the gene of interest can be isolated from the effect of the integration site by employing such cis-acting DNA sequences (reviewed in [66]). Such sequences are used to flank the gene of interest in the vector and are thought to

368 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

result in a more accessible chromatin structure at the site of integration, irrespective of the status of the neighboring chromatin region. Several such sequences, typically a few thousand base pairs in length, have been identified. They are categorized on the basis of the specific experimental assays used to identify the sequence and are hence thought to have different mechanisms of action. The more popularly used among these include scaffold/matrix attachment regions (S/MAR), ubiquitous chromatin opening elements (UCOE), and stabilizing and antirepressor (STAR) elements, the technology associated with some of which is also commercially available. Insulators are DNA sequences that act as a barrier to the influence of the neighboring chromatin.

S/MAR are sequences in which the chromosome is attached to the nuclear matrix and hence separate euchromatin and heterochromatin. Consequently, flanking the gene of interest with these elements is thought to insulate the effect of the adjoining chromatin elements at the site of integration. However, the increase in transgene expression seen with the incorporation of S/MAR requires functional aspects of the S/MAR in addition to its ability to bind the nuclear matrix, as seen by the inability of subfragments of a chicken lysozyme gene 5' MAR exhibiting nuclear matrix binding activity to enhance transgene expression [67]. Several S/MARs have been reported to be used for recombinant protein expression such as Chicken lysozyme MAR, human b-globin MAR, and human β -interferon gene associated MAR. The MAR element can be introduced either in cis on the same plasmid as the transgene or in trans on a separate plasmid, which also allows control of the relative number of MAR elements introduced by varying relative concentrations of the two plasmids [68].

UCOE are regulatory elements derived from ubiquitously expressed housekeeping genes which prevent heterochromatin formation and hence gene silencing. Expression vectors in which the CpG island from the *RNP* locus was combined with the CMV promoter/enhancer showed an increase in the level of expression and proportion of transfected cells expressing the recombinant protein in CHO [69]. The 1.5-kb RNP UCOE was also reported to perform better than the 3.2-kb mouse RPS3 fragment for expression of the B domain deleted factor VIII in BHK21 cells while evaluating different UCOE-promoter combinations in both attached and serum-free suspension adapted cells [70]. A comparison of the use of pFUSE expression vector and UCOE containing vector to express H1C2 mAb in NS0 cells and CHO cells, respectively, showed that incorporation of UCOE in CHO cells generated a higher number of high-producing stable clones [71].

STAR elements were identified based on their ability to block heterochromatinassociated repression. They also enhanced transgene expression in different cell lines in combination with different promoters. A 3.6-kb transgene expression enhancing sequence (expression augmenting sequence elements, EASE) included with the transgene on the vector was reported to result in higher protein expression, even after DHFR amplification [72].

The studies on such cis-acting DNA elements were carried out in different host cells, promoters, and other vector elements. The interaction between these cisacting DNA elements and the vector and host cell has been recently shown to be
important. A DNA element effective in one host cell/vector system may not be equally effective in another [68, 71].

Transposons provide another means of introducing foreign genes into host cells. PiggyBac transposon, originally derived from *Trichoplusia ni*, has been used to deliver transgene for protein expression. The PiggyBac transposon consists of the PB transposase gene flanked by terminal repeats required for transposition and is thought to result in integration into a transcriptionally active region of the genome, which will result in increased protein expression. The transgene is flanked by the left and right terminal domain of the PB transposon, and is transfected along with a helper plasmid expressing the PB transposase. The use of the PiggyBac transposon was reported to yield increased and more stable protein expression in CHO cells [73, 74]. Multiplexed transfer of up to four transgenes has been reported using transposons with selection for a single marker transposon [75]. Simultaneous application of more than one of the above strategies may be beneficial in some cases but will need careful optimization, as demonstrated by Ley et al. who recently evaluated the effect of simultaneous use of MAR and transposon and found that the relative distance between MAR and transgene could modulate transposon activation [76].

12.6 Amplification

Gene amplification was discovered four decades ago through the investigation of the mechanism of resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs such as methotrexate (MTX). It has since become widely used for generating cell lines producing recombinant proteins. The most commonly used amplification systems in cell line development are the DHFR and GS genes. DHFR and GS are both selection marker genes and amplifier genes. The gene of interest is transfected along with the amplifier gene (DHFR or GS) in a single plasmid or on two different plasmids that are co-transfected. Co-transfected plasmids are usually co-integrated in the host genome [77], resulting in the transgene and DHFR being integrated at the same chromosomal locus. Amplification is usually carried out on the highest producing clones selected from the initial selection step. For amplification using DHFR, the selected cells are treated with MTX. MTX is a potent inhibitor of DHFR. Its presence suppresses DHFR activity, thus allowing only those cells expressing a high amount of DHFR and hence the transgene to overcome the inhibition. The amplification selection step is carried out in a single step with a fixed MTX concentration, or in several steps with increasing MTX concentration. The MTX concentration used also varies depending on the host cells and the medium used, ranging between 20 nM and 5 μ M. The duration of MTX treatment ranges from 10 days to over 2 weeks. After each step of MTX amplification, a population of surviving cells is allowed to recover and expand before further increasing the MTX concentration. With stepwise amplification, the entire period can stretch to months.

After amplification, the copy number of DHFR gene and the transgene ranges from a couple hundred to a few thousand. Cells that overcome the MTX effect

370 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

by developing alternative mechanisms may grow faster than the DHFR-amplified cells and overtake the population. Some practices thus perform the amplification using isolated clones instead of the bulk pool of cells. However, each single-cell cloning takes at least 3 weeks. Repeated single-cell cloning after each amplification steps would pose a high time constraint.

A number of factors have been reported to influence the degree of DHFR gene amplification. The integration locus plays a role in amplification. Several cells lines with deregulated c-Myc expression showed DHFR gene amplification and ongoing rearrangements [78]. However, copy numbers of several other genes remained unaltered, indicating locus specific genome instability of DHFR in cells with deregulated c-Myc protein levels. It has been recently shown that the amplification rate of human adenosine deaminase (ada) varies widely, and heritably, between subclones [79]. Site-specific recombination was used to target a transgene and functional DHFR at the locus of ada integration for a high ada amplification candidate clone, which resulted in higher levels of gene amplification compared to randomly targeted DHFR gene. Presence of the DNA element HSAG-1 was also reported to promote gene amplification of DHFR transfected using a plasmid, though the exact mechanism of action of HSAG-1 is unknown [80]. More stringent selection was also achieved by incorporating the DHFR gene within splice donor and acceptor sites in a dicistronic construct [81].

GS catalyzes the formation of glutamine from glutamate and ammonia. The transfected cells are typically grown in a medium without glutamine to maintain selection pressure, thus resulting in low ammonia production. GS selection marker is widely used in a GS-negative cell line NS0. GS inhibitor MSX is used for gene amplification, in a way similar to MTX in the DHFR amplification system. In NS0 cells, $10-100 \,\mu$ M MSX is used to amplify GS to 4-10 copies per cell. CHO cells have endogenous GS activity, which can potentially reduce the stringency of selection by MSX. Recently, the endogenous GS in CHO-K1 was knocked out using zinc finger nucleases [82]. The IgG-producing GS⁻ cells derived with a lower level ($25 \,\mu$ M) of MSX amplification had a higher frequency of high-producer clones than the parental CHO-K1 amplified with a higher level ($50 \,\mu$ M) of MSX.

12.7 Single-Cell Cloning

Single-cell cloning is carried out before the final candidates of the producing cell line are selected. This is necessary to ensure that the producing line does not originate from a heterogeneous population in which some subpopulation may eventually outgrow others changing the characteristics of producing line. So, single-cell cloning must be carried out after amplification. It is also carried out after selection or in different stages of stepwise amplification, although this is not universally performed.

Adherent cells are generally cloned after transfection by plating at a sufficiently low density in Petri dishes to allow the individual cells that survived selection or amplification to grow into discernibly well-separated colonies, which can be isolated using cloning rings or by simply scraping. A number of methods can be employed for single-cell cloning of suspension cells; some are amenable to highthroughput operations and are described in more detail in the next section. Suspension cells can be immobilized in semisolid media to separate individual cells that grow into colonies. Limiting dilution cloning is done by plating cells in 96-well plates such that, on average, less than 20% of wells have a surviving colony. At such a low average, the probability that one well has more than one surviving cell at the beginning is low. Clonality must, however, be confirmed by microscopic visualization, and sub-cloning is frequently required to guarantee clonality. Automated high-throughput imaging has been reported to evaluate deposition of single cells in well plates to ensure clonality [83]. Such methods can increase the throughput of the otherwise laborious manual microscopic visualization step. Wells in which surviving cells grow are visually ascertained.

Single-cell cloning may also be carried out after selection, thus allowing the transfected cell to grow into a "pool." This, however, has the risk of fast-growing cells that may not be high producers to be overrepresented in the population and decreasing the probability of isolating high-producing cells.

The single-cell cloning step is usually also coupled to a product titer assay so that higher producers can be isolated for further development. When well methods are used, typically the supernatant is withdrawn after the colony is formed for assays using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) or other methods. In the case where colonies derived from single cells are fixed in a physical location, such as adherent cells or suspension cell grown in agar plates, a semiquantitative assay is often carried out by overlaying the plate with an agar that contains an antibody against the product protein. The low diffusion rate of the secreted protein allows it to accumulate in the vicinity of the clonal colony. The size of the halo zone that appears after incubation is an index of the product titer. The clones with higher titer are then withdrawn from the agar for further development.

12.7.1

Culture Medium for Single-Cell Cloning

Single-cell cloning steps are widely carried out in the presence of serum since single cells thrive better in serum-containing media. Regulatory requirements increasingly encourage serum-free processes, and this has led to the development of serum-free media that promote the growth of single cells. The medium is conditioned by supplementation for single-cell cloning and has been reported to provide growth-promoting and anti-apoptotic factors that help in survival and growth [84]. A 1:1 mixture of CD-CHO and DMEM/F12 supplemented with $1.5 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ of recombinant albumin was reported to allow single-cell cloning of CHO cells [85]. Another interesting approach involves the use of "omics" technologies for rational medium design [86]. By identifying the growth factors that were secreted into protein-free medium and supplementing them in the medium, an increased cloning efficiency was achieved [87]. Such approaches would facilitate the design of serum-free cloning medium composition.

372 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

High-throughput clone selection method		Parameter measured
1	Limiting dilution cloning	Volumetric productivity
2	FACS-based screening	
	a. Using coexpressed reporter like GFP	Surrogate of specific productivity
	b. Cell-surface staining with labeled antibody to the recombinant protein	Surrogate of specific productivity
	c. Gel microdrop technology	Volumetric productivity
3	Laser-enabled analysis and processing (LEAP)	Specific productivity
4	ClonePix (Genetix)	Volumetric productivity, surrogate of specific productivity
5	Microwell-based	Volumetric productivity

 Table 12.1
 High-throughput clone selection methods and criterion for clone selection.

12.7.2

Automated High-Throughput Screening for High-Producer Clones

After selection and amplification, the resulting cells are very heterogeneous in terms of their growth and product secretion characteristics. The probability of isolating a clone with favorable characteristics increases with increasing number of cloned clones. Higher-throughput screening methods for high productivity are thus increasingly used in cell line development (reviewed in [88]). Table 12.1 lists the different methods used and the productivity-related parameter implicitly used by each method to rank clones.

For cell lines in which transgene expression is linked to DHFR expression, fluorescent MTX binding can be used as a measure of the level of DHFR expressed by the transfected cells [89]. The labeled cells are then sorted by FACS. FACS has also been used to screen transfected cells that were stained with fluorescently labeled antibody against the product protein. The antibody binding to the recombinant protein on the cell membrane as it gets secreted from the cell is used as an indicator of the protein secretion rate of the clone for sorting [90]. Another approach encapsulates cells within gel microdrops to retain the secreted protein molecules in the gel, which is then quantified by a fluorescently labeled antibody [91]. The gel microcapsules with high fluorescent intensity are then sorted for cell isolation.

Both methods rely on a fluorescently labeled antibody or ligand specific to the product protein. An alternative approach coexpresses GFP with the product protein and uses the GFP expression as the indicator of the product protein expression [92]. Another approach uses the coexpression of a cell-surface protein CD20 not normally expressed by CHO cells along with the protein of interest through the use of an internal ribosomal entry site [93]. Cells are then sorted with a fluorescent anti-CD20 antibody. A dual fluorescence approach employs GFP and YFP as reporters for the expression of the light chain and heavy chain, respectively

[94], thus facilitating the selective sorting of clones expressing both the heavy and light chain genes. These methods of employing reporter proteins, while useful in laboratory discovery, may not be suitable for cells destined for manufacturing. The reporter proteins are generally not secreted molecules but may be indicative of transcription and translation activities, so to be predictive for hyperproductivity, the reporter will also need to represent folding and secretory capacities. Overall, FACS-based methods have been used with varying degrees of success. Cell-surface staining may not be proportional to the protein secretion rate over a wide range of productivity. The expression of a trans-membrane anchor domain from a leaky stop codon introduced after the gene of interest on the vector, resulting in a part of the expressed protein of interest being displayed on the cell surface, has been reported to enable quantification of protein expression using techniques like FACS [95].

Single-cell cloning has also been carried out in microwell arrays in conjunction with fluorescent assay of the product protein titer. The product concentration in each well was then assayed by transferring the secreted protein to a cover glass coated with the binding antibody or ligand for analysis by fluorescence-based immunoassay. Cells with a high specific protein production rate were then retrieved from the microwells and expanded [96].

The semisolid medium system described above has also been developed into high-throughput systems. In the high-throughput version, usually a fluorescently labeled antibody against the secreted protein is used to facilitate quantification through the size of the fluorescent zone around the clone [97]. Automated imaging systems coupled with robotic systems are used to identify the best clones and transfer them into appropriate well plates for further expansion. Commercially available systems, such as the ClonePix system from Genetix (http://www.genetix .com) and the CellCelector[™] from ALS Automated Lab Solutions (http://www .als-jena.de), work on this principle. Another approach uses a laser to kill the low-expressing clones, thus isolating the higher producers for expansion [98].

12.8 Selecting the Production Clone

12.8.1 Screening Platform

In the single-cell cloning stage, titer of hundreds of clones may be assayed, but only a dozen or two will be expanded and characterized further. It is in this stage, the probable performance of each clone in the production scale is to be evaluated, and the few best candidates as production cell lines are to be selected. Virtually all cell lines used for biopharmaceutical production are aneuploid. After selection, amplification, and one or more rounds of single-cell cloning, significant differences may arise among different clones. These differences are not only in the productivity but also their growth rate, propensity for apoptosis under adverse culture condition, nutritional and metabolic characteristics, and even the post-translation

374 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

modification patterns of the product protein. The optimal medium composition and cultural conditions for different clones may thus differ. However, developing the optimal medium and cultural conditions for each clone is a resources-intensive and prolonged process. Deferring the final selection of the producing line after process optimization for all clones is not feasible, and hence platform processes are used in practice. Many practitioners of cell line development are also industrial manufacturers of biologics. Through historical data of media and process development of other production lines derived from the same host, a mid-range of values of key process parameters can be established. Such a set of process parameters, although may not result in stellar performance, will have a high probability of delivering an acceptable process and product.

For the firms with established cell-culture development efforts, a platform process is thus used in the final production cell line selection to evaluate different candidates. For those who have not yet established a platform process, a somewhat iterative approach is taken. To facilitate simultaneous screening of clones and medium formulations, automated culture systems can facilitate in identifying the best available clone.

12.8.2

Adaptation

Most contemporary processes employ suspension cells. In cell line development, the host cells used are often already adapted for growth in suspension and other process conditions. For example, the host cells may have been adapted to a serumfree or chemically defined medium. Some cell line development practices employ adherent culture conditions either by starting with adherent host cells or, in case the host cells have been adapted to suspension growth, by adding serum to the medium to facilitate cell adhesion. Clones derived this way may need to be further adapted to suspension, serum-free, and other culture conditions.

Adaptation is usually carried out by gradually changing cell's culture conditions to the new environment, for instance, in the case of adaptation to cholesterolfree medium for NS0 cells, by gradually reducing cholesterol concentration. For adaptation to the serum-free medium, this is done by mixing the original medium with the serum-free medium at gradually decreasing proportions while passaging. For most industrially used cell lines like CHO, a range of medium formulations ranging from serum-free to chemically defined are commercially available and can be used as the starting point. The clones are assumed to be fully adapted to serum-free suspension conditions when their growth rate is stable at least for three passages. For adaptation to suspension growth, initially some additives such heparin and dextran sulfate, which help reduce cell aggregation, may be used [99].

12.8.3

Process and Product Attributes

During the various stages of cell line development, the product titer in the culture supernatant is typically monitored by ELISA. More recently, faster quantification

of titer is being enabled by measuring the binding kinetics of an analyte, such as a human IgG, to a ligand, such as protein A, immobilized on a biosensor, which can be used to calculate the analyte concentration using a standard curve in as little as 2 min [100, 101]. As the cells are expanded, further quantifications of other important product attributes are also carried out. These include biochemical activities (such as blood coagulation, T-cell activation), isoelectric point (for assessing sialic acid content of the product protein), glycoform, the fidelity of amino acid sequences or other chemical modification of product protein, and the degree of protein aggregation.

The important factors in cell line selection are not only related to the titer and quality attributes of the product. The growth and even metabolic characteristics are also points to be considered. Many high-producing cells are slow growers; however, slow growth rate will cause the expansion period to prolong. Many processes are operated as fed-batch culture; a somewhat hampered apoptosis after reaching a peak cell density, and thus a prolonged period of the production phase, can greatly increase the final product titer. Furthermore, the metabolic characteristics in the last stage of fed-batch culture, especially a decelerated glucose metabolism, have been correlated to a higher product titer. In the last period of cell line development of final cell line selection, growth and metabolism are carefully evaluated.

The choice of the parameter to assess the "goodness" of the clones is important for the eventual outcome of the clone screening process. In the early stage of cell screening, clones can be ranked by specific productivity, but for the final production-line candidate selection the product protein titer and the time to reach the target titer are usually used to rank clones.

12.8.4 Scale-Down Model

The majority of contemporary industrial manufacturing of protein biologics are operated as fed-batch culture. The determination of the final few production clone candidates is best based on the performance of those clones in culture conditions similar to those used in the manufacturing setting. Evaluation based on the results obtained in fed-batch mode yielded better screening outcomes compared to batch mode [102, 103]. If the performance evaluation under culture conditions mimicking the manufacturing scale can be carried out in a large number of clones selected from the earlier cell line screening, the probability of obtaining a hyperproducing clone and establishing a high productivity process will be also higher.

There have been several approaches and commercial culture systems to increase the capacity of process performance evaluation on a quasi-high-throughput fashion. Tissue culture flasks and shake flasks have been widely used. Larger volume multiwell plates agitated on an orbital shaker for more efficient mixing and gas transfer have also been employed for screening [104]. Another system uses aseptically ventilated conical bottom tubes for culturing a large number of clones [105]. However, all these suffer from the lack of environmental control of parameters such as pH. A hydrogel-based platform not requiring liquid handling technology

376 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

has been proposed to allow *in situ* continuous feeding and pH maintenance in the vicinity of the set point in shake-flask cultures [106].

In the last decade, several high-throughput, small-scale culture systems with control of environmental parameters such as pH have been proposed to enable screening under conditions mimicking a bioreactor and are available commercially. Tubes with a capacity up to 15 ml installed in a 24- or 48-well plate format have been commercially introduced and allow control of pH [107, 108]. A system for parallel use of up to 24 spinner flasks with pH and DO control is reported [109]. Such scale-down model systems mimicking bioreactor conditions can result in better screening outcomes during clone selection.

12.9

Clone Stability

A frozen vial of cells from a working cell bank, with a cell number in the vicinity of 10 million cells, will need to double its cell number ~20 times before the inoculation of a 10 000-l culture. The total culture duration between inoculation and end of production will be approximately 2-3 weeks for a fed-batch culture. Until production is completed, the production cell line must maintain its productivity. Thus the production clone is typically evaluated for stability (in terms of productivity) for a period of 6-8 weeks. This duration could be significantly higher for perfusion cultures.

Stability is evaluated by culturing the clone for the desired duration. Cell growth rate, productivity, and protein quality are assessed at regular intervals to ascertain stability. The exact molecular mechanism of instability is not always understood. Some causes such as gene silencing and loss of gene copies were discussed earlier. There may also be a threshold level of mRNA, depending on utilization of mRNA for translation, which defines stability or instability of protein production: above this level of recombinant mRNA expression, cell lines are stable, but below this level they show unstable protein expression [110]. In addition, metabolic changes during long-term culture [111] or changes in histone acetylation [112] have been suggested to cause instability.

12.10 Conclusion

Rapid development of cell lines with high volumetric productivity is essential for commercial production of recombinant proteins, especially recombinant antibodies, in animal cells. Several new technologies are increasingly being made available to enable higher recombinant gene expression and clone screening to enable faster development of high-producing clones. This, coupled with significant research activity in the directed genetic manipulation of host cells to provide more robust cells with better growth and metabolic characteristics for large-scale culture and desired post-translational modifications, can be expected to result in better outcomes in shorter durations for cell line development programs.

Acknowledgments

MG thanks the Department of Science and Technology, India, and Council of Scientific and Industrial Research, India, for funding. The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- Baldi, L. *et al.* (2007) Recombinant protein production by large-scale transient gene expression in mammalian cells: State of the art and future perspectives. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, **29** (5), 677–684.
- 2 Sheeley, D.M., Merrill, B.M., and Taylor, L.C.E. (1997) Characterization of monoclonal antibody glycosylation: Comparison of expression systems and identification of terminal α-linked galactose. *Anal. Biochem.*, 247 (1), 102–110.
- 3 Baker, K.N. *et al.* (2001) Metabolic control of recombinant protein N-glycan processing in NS0 and CHO cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 73 (3), 188–202.
- 4 Swiech, K., Picanco-Castro, V., and Covas, D.T. (2012) Human cells: New platform for recombinant therapeutic protein production. *Protein Expression Purif.*, 84 (1), 147–153.
- 5 Berting, A., Farcet, M.R., and Kreil, T.R. (2010) Virus susceptibility of Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells and detection of viral contaminations by adventitious agent testing. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **106** (4), 598–607.
- 6 Wiebe, M.E. *et al.* (1989) A multifaceted approach to assure that recombinant tPA is free of adventitious virus, in *Advances in Animal Cell Biology and Technology for Bioprocesses* (ed. R. Spier), Butterworths.
- 7 Majors, B.S., Betenbaugh, M.J., and Chiang, G.G. (2007) Links between metabolism and apoptosis in mammalian cells: Applications for antiapoptosis engineering. *Metab. Eng.*, 9 (4), 317–326.

- 8 Mulukutla, B.C. *et al.* (2010) Glucose metabolism in mammalian cell culture: New insights for tweaking vintage pathways. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 28 (9), 476–484.
- 9 Yamane-Ohnuki, N. et al. (2004) Establishment of FUT8 knockout Chinese hamster ovary cells: An ideal host cell line for producing completely defucosylated antibodies with enhanced antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 87 (5), 614–622.
- 10 Wong, N.S., Yap, M.G., and Wang, D.I. (2006) Enhancing recombinant glycoprotein sialylation through CMP-sialic acid transporter over expression in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **93** (5), 1005–1016.
- 11 Lim, Y. et al. (2010) Engineering mammalian cells in bioprocessing: Current achievements and future perspectives. *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.*, 55 (4), 175–189.
- Kalwy, S., Rance, J., and Young, R. (2006) Toward more efficient protein expression: Keep the message simple. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, **34** (2), 151–156.
- 13 Gu, M.B., Todd, P., and Kompala, D.S. (1994) Analysis of foreign protein overproduction in recombinant CHO cells. Effect of growth kinetics and cell cycle traverse. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, **721**, 194–207.
- 14 Lloyd, D.R. *et al.* (1999) The role of the cell cycle in determining gene expression and productivity in CHO cells. *Cytotechnology*, **30** (1–3), 49–57.
- 15 Lee, F.F. *et al.* (1998) Engineering Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells to

achieve an inverse growth-associated production of a foreign protein, β -galactosidase. *Cytotechnology*, **28** (1–3), 73–80.

- 16 Ludwig, D. (2006) Mammalian expression cassette engineering for high-level protein production. *BioProcess Int.*, 4, 14–22.
- 17 Qin, J.Y. *et al.* (2010) Systematic comparison of constitutive promoters and the doxycycline-inducible promoter. *PLoS One*, 5 (5), e10611.
- 18 Yano, T. *et al.* (1994) Ras oncogene enhances the production of a recombinant protein regulated by the cytomegalovirus promoter in BHK-21 cells. *Cytotechnology*, **16** (3), 167–178.
- 19 Dong, X.Y. *et al.* (2003) A hybrid system using both promoter activation and gene amplification for establishing exogenous protein hyper-producing cell lines. *Cytotechnology*, **43** (1–3), 11–17.
- 20 Xia, W. *et al.* (2006) High levels of protein expression using different mammalian CMV promoters in several cell lines. *Protein Expression Purif.*, **45** (1), 115–124.
- 21 Running Deer, J. and Allison, D.S. (2004) High-level expression of proteins in mammalian cells using transcription regulatory sequences from the Chinese hamster EF-1alpha gene. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **20** (3), 880–889.
- 22 Al-Fageeh, M.B. and Smales, C.M. (2013) Alternative promoters regulate cold inducible RNA-binding (CIRP) gene expression and enhance transgene expression in mammalian cells. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 54 (2), 238–249.
- 23 Osterlehner, A., Simmeth, S., and Göpfert, U. (2011) Promoter methylation and transgene copy numbers predict unstable protein production in recombinant Chinese hamster ovary cell lines. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **108** (11), 2670–2681.
- 24 Papadakis, E.D. *et al.* (2004) Promoters and control elements: Designing expression cassettes for gene therapy. *Curr. Gene Ther.*, 4 (1), 89–113.
- 25 Foecking, M.K. and Hofstetter, H. (1986) Powerful and versatile

enhancer-promoter unit for mammalian expression vectors. *Gene*, **45** (1), 101–105.

- 26 Xu, Z.L. *et al.* (2001) Optimization of transcriptional regulatory elements for constructing plasmid vectors. *Gene*, 272 (1-2), 149–156.
- 27 Kozak, M. (1987) At least six nucleotides preceding the AUG initiator codon enhance translation in mammalian cells. *J. Mol. Biol.*, **196** (4), 947–950.
- 28 Kozak, M. (1986) Point mutations define a sequence flanking the AUG initiator codon that modulates translation by eukaryotic ribosomes. *Cell*, 44 (2), 283–292.
- 29 Le Hir, H., Nott, A., and Moore, M.J. (2003) How introns influence and enhance eukaryotic gene expression. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, 28 (4), 215–220.
- 30 Zago, P. *et al.* (2009) Improving human interferon-β production in mammalian cell lines by insertion of an intronic sequence within its naturally uninterrupted gene. *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.*, 52 (3), 191–198.
- 31 Lacy-Hulbert, A. *et al.* (2001) Interruption of coding sequences by heterologous introns can enhance the functional expression of recombinant genes. *Gene Ther.*, 8 (8), 649–653.
- 32 Proudfoot, N.J. (2011) Ending the message: Poly(A) signals then and now. *Genes Dev.*, 25 (17), 1770-1782.
- 33 Pfarr, D.S. *et al.* (1986) Differential effects of polyadenylation regions on gene expression in mammalian cells. *DNA*, 5 (2), 115–122.
- 34 Rotondaro, L. *et al.* (1997) High-level expression of a cDNA for human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in Chinese hamster ovary cells. Effect of 3'-noncoding sequences. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, 7 (3), 231–240.
- 35 Wijesuriya, S.D., Cotter, R.L., and Horwitz, A.H. (2013) Functional premature polyadenylation signals and aberrant splicing within a recombinant protein coding sequence limit expression. *Protein Expression Purif.*, **92** (1), 14–20.
- **36** Lanza, A.M., Kim do, S., and Alper, H.S. (2013) Evaluating the influence of

selection markers on obtaining selected pools and stable cell lines in human cells. *Biotechnol. J.*, **8** (7), 811–821.

- 37 Sautter, K. and Enenkel, B. (2005) Selection of high-producing CHO cells using NPT selection marker with reduced enzyme activity. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 89 (5), 530–538.
- 38 Pu, H. *et al.* (1998) Rapid establishment of high-producing cell lines using dicistronic vectors with glutamine synthetase as the selection marker. *Mol. Biotechnol.*, **10** (1), 17–25.
- 39 Ho, S.C. *et al.* (2012) IRES-mediated tricistronic vectors for enhancing generation of high monoclonal antibody expressing CHO cell lines. *J. Biotechnol.*, 157 (1), 130–139.
- 40 Minskaia, E., Nicholson, J., and Ryan, M.D. (2013) Optimisation of the foot-and-mouth disease virus 2A co-expression system for biomedical applications. *BMC Biotechnol.*, 13, 67.
- Kim, Y.-G. *et al.* (2012) New cell line development for antibody-producing Chinese hamster ovary cells using split green fluorescent protein. *BMC Biotech.*, 12 (1), 1–6.
- 42 Ng, S.K., Wang, D.I., and Yap, M.G. (2007) Application of destabilizing sequences on selection marker for improved recombinant protein productivity in CHO-DG44. *Metab. Eng.*, 9 (3), 304–316.
- 43 van Blokland, H.J. *et al.* (2007) A novel, high stringency selection system allows screening of few clones for high protein expression. *J. Biotechnol.*, **128** (2), 237–245.
- 44 Stern, B. *et al.* (2007) Improving mammalian cell factories: The selection of signal peptide has a major impact on recombinant protein synthesis and secretion in mammalian cells. *Trends Cell Mol. Biol.*, 2, 1–17.
- 45 Kober, L., Zehe, C., and Bode, J. (2013) Optimized signal peptides for the development of high expressing CHO cell lines. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **110** (4), 1164–1173.
- **46** Knappskog, S. *et al.* (2007) The level of synthesis and secretion of *Gaussia princeps* luciferase in transfected CHO cells is heavily dependent on the choice

of signal peptide. J. Biotechnol., 128 (4), 705-715.

- 47 Ambrogelly, A. *et al.* (2012) Characterization of antibody variants during process development: The tale of incomplete processing of Nterminal secretion peptide. *MAbs*, 4 (6), 701–709.
- 48 Kotia, R.B. and Raghani, A.R. (2010) Analysis of monoclonal antibody product heterogeneity resulting from alternate cleavage sites of signal peptide. *Anal. Biochem.*, **399** (2), 190–195.
- 49 Kingston, R.E., Chen, C.A., and Rose, J.K. (2003) Calcium phosphate transfection. *Curr. Protoc. Mol. Biol.*, 63 (I), 9.1:9.1.1–9.1.11.
- 50 Felgner, P.L. et al. (1987) Lipofection: A highly efficient, lipid-mediated DNAtransfection procedure. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 84 (21), 7413–7417.
- 51 Boussif, O. *et al.* (1995) A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and *in vivo*: Polyethylenimine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **92** (16), 7297–7301.
- 52 Chu, G., Hayakawa, H., and Berg, P. (1987) Electroporation for the efficient transfection of mammalian cells with DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, **15** (3), 1311–1326.
- 53 Chenuet, S. *et al.* (2008) Calcium phosphate transfection generates mammalian recombinant cell lines with higher specific productivity than polyfection. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **101** (5), 937–945.
- 54 Magin-Lachmann, C. et al. (2004) In vitro and in vivo delivery of intact BAC DNA: Comparison of different methods. J. Gene Med., 6 (2), 195–209.
- 55 Pichler, J. et al. (2011) Selection of CHO host cell subclones with increased specific antibody production rates by repeated cycles of transient transfection and cell sorting. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 108 (2), 386–394.
- 56 Lee, S. and Lee, G.M. (2013) Bcl-2 overexpression in CHO cells improves polyethylenimine-mediated gene transfection. *Process Biochem.*, 48 (9), 1436–1440.
- 57 Stuchbury, G. and Munch, G. (2008) Optimizing the generation of stable neuronal cell lines via pre-transfection

380 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes

restriction enzyme digestion of plasmid DNA. *Cytotechnology*, **62** (3), 189–194.

- 58 Hsu, C.Y. and Uludag, H. (2008) Effects of size and topology of DNA molecules on intracellular delivery with non-viral gene carriers. *BMC Biotechnol.*, 8, 23.
- 59 Derouazi, M. et al. (2006) Genetic characterization of CHO production host DG44 and derivative recombinant cell lines. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 340 (4), 1069–1077.
- 60 Gaj, T., Gersbach, C.A., and Barbas, C.F. 3rd, (2013) ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **31** (7), 397–405.
- 61 Sander, J.D. and Joung, J.K. (2014) CRISPR-Cas systems for editing, regulating and targeting genomes. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 32, 347–355.
- 62 Turan, S. *et al.* (2013) Recombinasemediated cassette exchange (RMCE): A rapidly-expanding toolbox for targeted genomic modifications. *Gene*, **515** (1), 1–27.
- **63** Wirth, D. *et al.* (2007) Road to precision: Recombinase-based targeting technologies for genome engineering. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **18** (5), 411–419.
- 64 Crawford, Y. *et al.* (2013) Fast identification of reliable hosts for targeted cell line development from a limited-genome screening using combined phiC31 integrase and CRE-Lox technologies. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 29, 1307–1315.
- 65 Pikaart, M.J., Recillas-Targa, F., and Felsenfeld, G. (1998) Loss of transcriptional activity of a transgene is accompanied by DNA methylation and histone deacetylation and is prevented by insulators. *Genes Dev.*, **12** (18), 2852–2862.
- 66 Kwaks, T.H.J. and Otte, A.P. (2006) Employing epigenetics to augment the expression of therapeutic proteins in mammalian cells. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 24 (3), 137–142.
- 67 Phi-Van, L. and Strätling, W.H. (1996) Dissection of the ability of the chicken lysozyme gene 5' matrix attachment region to stimulate transgene expression and to dampen position effects. *Biochemistry*, 35 (33), 10735–10742.

- 68 Girod, P.A., Zahn-Zabal, M., and Mermod, N. (2005) Use of the chicken lysozyme 5' matrix attachment region to generate high producer CHO cell lines. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 91 (1), 1–11.
- **69** Williams, S. *et al.* (2005) CpG-island fragments from the HNRPA2B1/CBX3 genomic locus reduce silencing and enhance transgene expression from the hCMV promoter/enhancer in mammalian cells. *BMC Biotechnol.*, **5**, 17.
- 70 Nair, A.R., Jinger, X., and Hermiston, T.W. (2011) Effect of different UCOEpromoter combinations in creation of engineered cell lines for the production of Factor VIII. *BMC Res. Notes*, 4, 178.
- 71 Dharshanan, S. *et al.* (2013) Stable expression of H1C2 monoclonal antibody in NS0 and CHO cells using pFUSE and UCOE expression system. *Cytotechnology*, **64**, 625–633.
- 72 Aldrich, T.L., Viaje, A., and Morris, A.E. (2003) EASE vectors for rapid stable expression of recombinant antibodies. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **19** (5), 1433–1438.
- 73 Matasci, M. *et al.* (2011) The PiggyBac transposon enhances the frequency of CHO stable cell line generation and yields recombinant lines with superior productivity and stability. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **108** (9), 2141–2150.
- 74 Li, Z. et al. (2013) Simple PiggyBac transposon-based mammalian cell expression system for inducible protein production. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 110 (13), 5004–5009.
- 75 Kahlig, K.M. *et al.* (2010) Multiplexed transposon-mediated stable gene transfer in human cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **107** (4), 1343–1348.
- 76 Ley, D. et al. (2013) MAR elements and transposons for improved transgene integration and expression. PLoS One, 8 (4), e62784.
- 77 Chen, C. and Chasin, L. (1998) Cointegration of DNA molecules introduced into mammalian cells by electroporation. *Somatic Cell Mol. Genet.*, **24** (4), 249–256.
- 78 Mai, S., Hanley-Hyde, J., and Fluri, M. (1996) c-Myc overexpression associated DHFR gene amplification in hamster, rat, mouse and human cell lines. *Oncogene*, **12** (2), 277–288.

- 79 Cacciatore, J.J., Leonard, E.F., and Chasin, L.A. (2012) The isolation of CHO cells with a site conferring a high and reproducible transgene amplification rate. *J. Biotechnol.*, 164 (2), 346–353.
- 80 McArthur, J.G. and Stanners, C.P. (1991) A genetic element that increases the frequency of gene amplification. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **266** (9), 6000–6005.
- 81 Lucas, B.K. *et al.* (1996) High-level production of recombinant proteins in CHO cells using a dicistronic DHFR intron expression vector. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 24 (9), 1774–1779.
- 82 Fan, L. *et al.* (2012) Improving the efficiency of CHO cell line generation using glutamine synthetase gene knockout cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **109** (4), 1007–1015.
- 83 Cresswell, J.R. *et al.* (2009) Cell XpressTM applications in development and characterization of biopharmaceutical recombinant protein producing cell lines, in *Cell Line Development* (ed. M. Al-Rubeai), Springer, pp. 109–126.
- 84 Tseng, S.C. *et al.* (1996) Comparison between serum-free and fibroblastcocultured single-cell clonal culture systems: Evidence showing that epithelial anti-apoptotic activity is present in 3T3 fibroblast-conditioned media. *Curr. Eye Res.*, **15** (9), 973–984.
- 85 Zhu, J. et al. (2012) Recombinant human albumin supports single cell cloning of CHO cells in chemically defined media. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 28 (3), 887–891.
- 86 Allison, D.W. et al. (2007) Using genomic tools for the identification of important signaling pathways in order to facilitate cell culture medium development, in *Cell Technology for Cell Products* (ed. R. Smith), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 591–593.
- 87 Lim, U.M. *et al.* (2013) Identification of autocrine growth factors secreted by CHO cells for applications in single-cell cloning media. *J. Proteome Res.*, **12** (7), 3496–3510.
- 88 Browne, S.M. and Al-Rubeai, M. (2007) Selection methods for high-producing mammalian cell lines. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 25 (9), 425–432.

- 89 Gaudray, P., Trotter, J., and Wahl, G.M. (1986) Fluorescent methotrexate labeling and flow cytometric analysis of cells containing low levels of dihydrofolate reductase. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 261 (14), 6285–6292.
- 90 Marder, P. et al. (1990) Selective cloning of hybridoma cells for enhanced immunoglobulin production using flow cytometric cell sorting and automated laser nephelometry. Cytometry, 11 (4), 498–505.
- 91 Powell, K.T. and Weaver, J.C. (1990) Gel microdroplets and flow cytometry: Rapid determination of antibody secretion by individual cells within a cell population. *Biotechnology*, 8 (4), 333–337.
- 92 Meng, Y.G. *et al.* (2000) Green fluorescent protein as a second selectable marker for selection of high producing clones from transfected CHO cells. *Gene*, 242 (1–2), 201–207.
- 93 DeMaria, C.T. *et al.* (2007) Accelerated clone selection for recombinant CHO CELLS using a FACS-based highthroughput screen. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 23 (2), 465–472.
- 94 Sleiman, R.J. *et al.* (2008) Accelerated cell line development using two-color fluorescence activated cell sorting to select highly expressing antibody-producing clones. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 99 (3), 578–587.
- 95 Jostock, T. et al. (2010) Cell Surface Display of Polypeptide Isoforms by Stop Codon Readthrough, https://patentscope.wipo.int/search/en/ detail.jsf?docId=WO2010022961.
- 96 Park, S. *et al.* (2011) Rapid selection of single cells with high antibody production rates by microwell array. *J. Biotechnol.*, **156** (3), 197–202.
- 97 Lee, C. et al. (2006) High-throughput screening of cell lines expressing monoclonal antibodies. *BioProcess Int.*, 4 (Suppl. 3), 32–35.
- 98 Hanania, E.G. *et al.* (2005) Automated *in situ* measurement of cell-specific antibody secretion and laser-mediated purification for rapid cloning of highlysecreting producers. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 91 (7), 872–876.

- 382 12 Cell Line Development for Biomanufacturing Processes
 - 99 Dee, K.U., Shuler, M.L., and Wood, H.A. (1997) Inducing single-cell suspension of BTI-TN5B1-4 insect cells: I. The use of sulfated polyanions to prevent cell aggregation and enhance recombinant protein production. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 54 (3), 191–205.
 - 100 Legmann, R. *et al.* (2011) A strategy for clone selection under different production conditions. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 27 (3), 757–765.
 - 101 McGinn-Straub, W. (2011) Rapid evaluation of biosensor chemistries: Octet and multi-analyte software tool help facilitate development of quantitation assay. *Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. News*, **31** (10), 40–41.
 - 102 Porter, A.J., Dickson, A.J., and Racher, A.J. (2010) Strategies for selecting recombinant CHO cell lines for cGMP manufacturing: Realizing the potential in bioreactors. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 26 (5), 1446–1454.
 - 103 Porter, A.J. *et al.* (2010) Strategies for selecting recombinant CHO cell lines for cGMP manufacturing: Improving the efficiency of cell line generation. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **26** (5), 1455–1464.
 - 104 Girard, P. et al. (2001) Small-scale bioreactor system for process development and optimization. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 7 (2), 117–119.
 - 105 De Jesus, M.J. *et al.* (2004) TubeSpin satellites: A fast track approach for process development with animal cells using shaking technology. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, **17** (3), 217–223.
 - 106 Pradhan, K., Pant, T., and Gadgil, M. (2012) *In situ* pH maintenance for mammalian cell cultures in shake flasks and tissue culture flasks. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 28 (6), 1605–1610.

- 107 Chen, A. *et al.* (2009) Twenty-four well plate miniature bioreactor system as a scale-down model for cell culture process development. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 102 (1), 148–160.
- 108 Moses, S. *et al.* (2012) Assessment of AMBR as a model for high-throughput cell culture process development strategy. *Adv. Biosci. Biotechnol.*, 3, 918–927.
- 109 Frison, A., Memmert, K., and Novartis Pharma, A. (2002) Fed-batch process development for monoclonal antibody production with cellfermpro[®]. *Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. News*, 22, 66–67.
- 110 Barnes, L.M., Bentley, C.M., and Dickson, A.J. (2004) Molecular definition of predictive indicators of stable protein expression in recombinant NS0 myeloma cells. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 85 (2), 115–121.
- 111 Bailey, L.A. *et al.* (2012) Determination of Chinese hamster ovary cell line stability and recombinant antibody expression during long-term culture. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **109** (8), 2093–2103.
- 112 Paredes, V. *et al.* (2013) Unstable expression of recombinant antibody during long-term culture of CHO cells is accompanied by histone H3 hypoacetylation. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, **35** (7), 987–993.

Ziomara P. Gerdtzen

13.1 Historical Perspective on Culture Medium

In vivo, mammalian cells constitute part of a whole organism, and receive all the nutrients they require from circulating blood and the extracellular matrix. In order to survive and proliferate in vitro, animal cells must be supplied with a balanced combination of nutrients. The first attempts to develop such solutions involved the use of balanced salt solutions (BSS), which provided water, inorganic anions for cell metabolism, osmotic balance, glucose as an energy source, and a buffering system to keep the pH at the physiological range [1]. These solutions allowed cells and organs to be maintained ex vivo. Popular BSS were described by John Hank (Hank's BSS) [2] and Renato Dulbecco (phosphate buffered saline, PBS) [3]. However, in order to get cells to proliferate in vitro, additional nutrients must be added to the media, including amino acids and vitamins, plus a supplement of undefined biological fluids or extracts such as plasma or serum from various sources, which provide growth factors, hormones, albumin, and transferrin [4]. The nutritional needs of cells in culture were identified in detail by Harry Eagle, resulting in the Eagle's Minimal Essential Medium (EMEM) and its modification by Dulbecco (DMEM) [5, 6], which is one of the most commonly used media formulations (see Table 13.1). Intracellular nutrient concentrations as well as concentrations found in the cellular environment are listed in Table 13.2. Basal media formulations provide some of these substances, but in order to support cell growth, additional supplementation is required. The first attempts to obtain a medium for animal cell culture involved the use of tissue extracts and biological fluids such as serum in order to mimic the extracellular conditions found in vivo. However, these fluids are a source of uncertainty in media formulation. A chemically defined synthetic medium, F12, was developed by Richard Ham to grow cells without this element of variability [7]. Later on, other factors such as insulin were identified as a key for growing cells in a serum-free condition [13] and supplements and protein mixtures were developed as an alternative to serum in culture.

 Table 13.1
 Examples of commonly employed media.

Basal medium	Serum-free media formulations
BME (Basal Medium Eagle's) [6] EMEM (Eagle's Minimal Essential Medium) DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium) [8] GMEM (Glasgow's Modified Eagle's Medium) RPMI 1630 and 1640 [9]	CMRL 1066 Ham's F10 and F12 [7] IMDM (Iscove's modification of DMEM) MCDB 301 [10] and 411 [11]

Table 13.2 Approximate concentrations in the cellular environment.

	Interstitial (mM)	Intracellular (mM)
Na ⁺	140	14
K ⁺	4.0	140
Ca ²⁺	1.2	0.01
Mg ²⁺	0.7	20
Cl ⁻	108	4
HCO ³⁻	28.3	10
HPO ₄ ^{3–} , H ₂ PO ₄ ^{2–}	2	11
SO4 ³⁻	0.5	1
Amino acids	2	8
Lactate	1.2	1.5
Glucose	56	
Protein	0.2	4

Source: Adapted from [12].

13.2

Cell Growth Environment

13.2.1

Natural Cellular Environment

13.2.1.1 The Role of Medium

A medium is required to provide cells with a suitable environment and all the nutrients cells cannot synthesize themselves, that are required for cell maintenance, growth, and protein production. The composition of cell culture media will affect metabolic activities and other biological capabilities of the cell. Therefore, they must be designed specifically to accomplish process goals such as enhanced productivity or product quality.

13.2.1.2 Medium Design

Medium can be designed for optimizing cell growth, sustaining differentiated properties, and improving productivity or enhancing a certain product quality.

The culture process involves a cell inoculum scale-up stage and a production stage, which should be addressed with different strategies. In all cases, it remains critical to provide cells with an optimal medium during the inoculum scale-up stage. Most cells share common basic nutritional requirements. However, their specific need in terms of some nutrients, growth factors, and cytokines may differ. For cell inoculum scale-up, a starting point should be the composition of the cells' natural chemical environment, namely the interstitial fluid, shown in Table 13.2. Even though the specific characteristics of this fluid may vary between different tissues, the low molecular weight solute composition and osmolarity are similar. Na⁺ and Cl⁻ are the main contributors to osmolarity, followed by HCO_3^{-} . Other ions such as K^+ , Mg^{2+} , and Ca^{2+} are present in lower concentrations. The intracellular concentrations of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ are lower outside the cell, while the concentrations of K⁺, Mg^{2+} , and PO_4^{3-} are lower outside the cell. These concentration differences are required to drive cellular processes using the electrochemical gradient associated with the transport of these ions [14].

Since cells spend most of their life span in growth, it is crucial to provide them with an optimal medium during their expansion stage. Media used for cell inoculum scale-up are required to safeguard the cell's long-term healthy state. For production, however, since cells are not required after the production process and long-term effects on the culture are not relevant, culture conditions that would normally be considered as harmful for the culture can be used. For the production stage, a design strategy based on cellular requirements measured during production, metabolic objectives, or the required cellular environment for correct product formation could be used [15-17]. Media must supply the basic physicochemical aspects of mammalian cell requirements. Under normal culture conditions, listed in Table 13.3, oxygen levels ranging from 35% to 45% saturation, temperature between 35 and 37 °C, osmolality ranging from 280 to 300 mOsm kg⁻¹ and a pH level between 7.2 and 7.4 maintained using a

	Normal range	Approximate nonlethal limits
Oxygen (mm Hg)	35-45	10-1000
Carbon dioxide (mm Hg)	35-45	5-80
Sodium ion (mmol l^{-1})	138-146	115-175
Potassium ion $(mmol l^{-1})$	3.8-5.0	1.5-9.0
Calcium ion (mmol l^{-1})	1.0 - 1.4	0.5 - 2.0
Chloride ion $(mmol l^{-1})$	103-112	70-130
Bicarbonate ion (mmol l^{-1})	24-32	8-45
Glucose (mg dl $^{-1}$)	75-95	20-1500
Temperature	98–98.8 °F (37.0 °C)	65–110°F (18.3–43.3°C)
Osmolality (mOsm kg^{-1})	280-300	$260 - 320 \mathrm{mOsm kg^{-1}}$
Acid–base (pH)	7.3-7.5	6.9-8.0

 Table 13.3
 Main constituents and physical characteristics of extracellular fluid.

Source: Adapted from [12, 18].

 $\rm CO_2-NaHCO_3$ buffer, are considered. Although the normal range for medium composition is narrow, cells can tolerate a significant deviation from these growth conditions, for a limited period. Since at this point the objective is not to provide the cells with the best environment for growth but to generate one that will allow obtaining of the highest therapeutic protein titer while maintaining an acceptable viability, culture strategies that deviate significantly from normal conditions can be applied.

13.3 Media Types

Based on their composition, four categories of media types can be identified: serum-containing media, serum-free media, chemically defined media, and protein-free media. The shift from serum-containing into animal-free, proteinfree, and chemically defined formulations, which has been observed for the therapeutic protein manufacture industry over the past decades, has been driven initially by patient safety concerns associated with the use of animal-derived medium components and later by the search of a more consistent cell culture performance [19].

Basal medium provides the environment and basic requirements for cell maintenance and growth. Balanced salt concentrations and osmolarity ensure a suitable environment for cell growth. Basal medium considers all small molecular weight components including sugar, amino acids, vitamins, and salts. Sugar is used as an energy source and carbon source for cell mass and product formation. Basal medium can be supplemented to provide additional factors to enhance a biological process, such as growth factors, phospholipids, soy hydrolysate, and serum, leading to a complex medium. These factors promote cell growth through stimulation of specific signaling pathways or supply special nutritional needs. They can also be employed to direct cell differentiation or maintain cells at a particular differentiation state. There are different commercial formulations to be used with or without serum supplementation (see Table 13.1).

Traditional cell culture medium contains up to 15% animal serum in addition to the basal medium. Serum is a highly complex fluid in terms of its chemical composition, which is not fully known and can have a degree of variation from batch to batch. This *serum-containing medium*, with its chemical composition not fully defined, is called a complex medium. Other supplements such as soymeal hydrolysate, peptone or beef hydrolysate, or other plant hydrolysates are often used in serum-free media formulations, but also make the chemical composition of the media undefined [20–22]. Nucleosides are also often included in small quantities in serum-free medium formulations.

A *chemically defined medium* contains only components whose chemical composition is known and characterized, and the concentrations and identities of all its chemical species are specified. It contains ultrapure inorganic and

organic ingredients, and may also contain pure protein additives, such as growth factors. Unlike serum-containing formulations, it does not contain any mixture of components with unknown or varying composition. Its constituents are produced in bacteria or yeast by genetic engineering with the addition of vitamins, cholesterol, specific amino acids, and fatty acids [23]. This type of medium is manufactured with reagent-grade water and highly purified supplements in order to minimize the presence of impurities. A specific type, protein-free medium, contains no protein. Most protein-free media are also chemically defined. A chemically defined medium can contain growth factors, cytokines, or carrier proteins, but these components are known and their concentrations defined.

Serum-free formulations of chemically defined media consist of a nutritionally complete basal medium supplemented with an empirically determined mixture of hormones, growth factors, attachment factors, attachment proteins, and binding proteins of known composition.

Cells that are able to grow well in a chemically defined medium are likely to be highly adapted or transformed to synthesize specific metabolites in order to eliminate their dependence on the extracellular medium to provide them directly.

Cells can be adapted to serum-free conditions by lowering serum concentrations to select cells that are able to survive at decreased serum levels. This is a gradual process that involves progressive adaptation to lower serum concentrations until serum-free conditions are reached. The adaptation process requires cells to be in the exponential growth phase with high viability. Several serumfree adaptation strategies have been described, including sequential serum reduction after cell passaging, the use of conditioned media, and maintaining confluent cells under serum-free conditions for adaptation [24]. In addition, albumin, protein hydrolysates, and lipid supplements can be added to the media as serum substitutes.

13.4 **Medium Components**

Basal medium components can be categorized based on their role in cell growth and maintenance. Cells do not consume environmental components, but the latter are required in given concentrations to provide suitable conditions for the cells to be maintained and perform their basic biologic functions. Some of these components are bulk ions such as sodium and chloride, and proteins such as albumin and growth factors. Other components can be identified as nutrients, such as glucose, amino acids, vitamins, nucleotides, lipids, fatty acid, growth factors, and some salts that are consumed by cells as they grow with a stoichiometry related to cell composition and are used as structural components for energy, biosynthesis, or as catalysts in metabolic processes.

13.4.1

Growth-Associated, Unconsumed, and Catalytic Components

13.4.1.1 Growth-Associated Components

These are the components that are consumed by cells as they divide and synthesize products. Most of the components found in cell culture media, such as glucose, amino acids, lipids, and vitamins, are consumed following their relative proportion in cellular composition. As cells grow and more product is synthesized, more of these components are consumed. Growth-associated components must be supplied in sufficient amounts to reach the desired cell density and product concentrations. For higher biomass or product levels, they would become limiting, so additional growth-associated components should be supplemented.

13.4.1.2 Unconsumed Components

These components provide a chemical environment in which cells can be maintained and grow. Some of these components are actually consumed, but in such small amounts that change in their concentration may not be measurable. Examples of unconsumed medium components include chloride ions, sodium ions, and phosphate ions. Since the role of these unconsumed components is to provide a favorable environment for cells, it is important to maintain their concentration throughout the culture. However, it must be taken into account that under high-density cultivation conditions like those found in fed-batch cultures, unconsumed medium components such as phosphate ions and trace metals may be consumed in significant amounts so they would need replenishment.

13.4.1.3 Catalytic Macromolecular Components

Medium also contains macromolecules such as insulin, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and serum albumin among others. These components play a role as carrier proteins, growth factors, and so on as discussed in later sections. Many macromolecules are internalized by the cells, but some are degraded or consumed like insulin, while others such as transferrin are used and recycled. As some of these molecules are taken up by cells and degraded or consumed, they would also need to be replenished in the media.

13.4.2

Water in Media Preparation

Water quality is crucial in media preparation, as mammalian cells are highly sensitive to the quality of water used. Many contaminants can be found in water that affect cell culture. On one hand, there are inorganic compounds such as heavy metals, iron, calcium, chloride, and organic compounds such as detergents and products of plants decay, all of which can affect the concentration of key components in culture media, thereby affecting cell growth and perturbing other cellular functions. On the other hand, particulate material, colloids, and bacterial contaminants such as endotoxins and pyrogens can have a detrimental effect on cells in culture, altering cell growth and protein production [25, 26]. In order to ensure that these contaminants are not present in the medium, water quality assurance is key in cell culture. Multistage distillation systems, deionization, microfiltration, and reverse osmosis systems are required to process water and reduce conductivity to >20 M Ω cm. In addition, continuous monitoring is essential in order to maintain these contaminants within the required threshold [27]. Some cell therapy applications would require water for injection (WFI), which has higher quality standards. It is prepared by distillation at low evaporation rates, in order to avoid the entry of any pyrogenic contaminants. The standards for the quality of purified water and WFI for pharmaceutical use based on American and European regulation are provided in Table 13.4. Endotoxin-free water can also be used in pharmaceutical applications, but that would increase the production cost significantly and it can be of limited availability.

Parameter	Unit	USP ^{a)}		Ph Eur ^{b)}	
		PW	WFI	PW	WFI
Acidity/alkalinity	mg l ⁻¹			1	2
Ammonium	mg l ⁻¹	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2
Bacterial endotoxin	EU ml ⁻¹		0.25		0.25
Calcium	$mg l^{-1}$	0.5	0.5	1	1
Carbon dioxide	mg l ⁻¹	4	4		
Chloride	mg l ⁻¹	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Conductivity	$\mu S cm^{-1}$	1.3 at 25 °C	1.3 at 25 °C	4.5 at 20 °C	1.1 at 20 °C
Heavy metals (Pb)	mg l ⁻¹	0.5	0.5	0.1 ppm	0.1 ppm
Magnesium	mg l ⁻¹	_	_	0.6	0.6
Nitrates	mg l ⁻¹	_	_	0.2 ppm	0.2 ppm
Oxidizable substances	mg l ⁻¹	5	5	5	10
pН	-	5-7	5-7	_	_
Pyrogens	$EUml^{-1}$		0.25	_	0.25
Sulfates	$mg l^{-1}$	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Total organic carbon	mg l ⁻¹	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Total solids	%	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.003
Total bacteria count	$\rm CFUml^{-1}$	100	10	100	10
Production method		Suitable process	Distillation	Distillation, ion exchange, or any other	Distillation or RO/UF
				suitable method	

Table 13.4 Quality standards for purified water (PW) and water for injection (WFI) for pharmaceutical use.

a) Current U.S. Pharmacopeia.

b) Current European Pharmacopoeia.

EU, endotoxin units.

13.4.3

Sugars and Amino Acids

13.4.3.1 Sugars as the Main Carbon Source

Glucose and glutamine present in the medium are the main energy sources for cells in culture. In the natural cellular environment, glucose concentration ranges from ~0.8 g l⁻¹ in blood to up to $10 g l^{-1}$ in the interstitial fluid. In culture, concentrations ranging from $1 g l^{-1}$ (5.5 mM) to $5 g l^{-1}$ (27.5 mM) are used to support cell growth. During production stages concentrations up to $15 g l^{-1}$ can be used. At these levels, glucose becomes a large contributor to osmolarity in the medium [12].

Glucose is metabolized mainly through glycolysis, leading to pyruvate formation, which can enter the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle as acetyl-CoA or be converted into lactate and secreted into the medium. Lactate accumulation can cause acidification of the medium, and has an inhibitory effect on cell growth [28]. Alternative carbon sources such as mannose, fructose, and galactose have been used to replace glucose. The Glut1 transporter, which is present in most cells, can transport both galactose and glucose. The substitution of glucose by galactose has been reported to reduce cell growth in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell cultures without altering the specific production rate of the recombinant protein [29, 30]. Some cells are not able to grow in galactose alone, and a mixed carbon source is required [31]. Fructose requires a specific transporter, Glut5, which is not expressed by all cells. As a result, cells may not be able to use fructose efficiently [32]. In general, the alternative sugar is often taken up by cells at a slower rate, leading to a reduction in lactate production while supporting cell growth and maintenance. However, total substitution of the main carbon source may have an effect on the glycosylation pattern of the product. Pyruvate and ribose are sometimes supplied in small quantities as supplements, but they are insufficient to cover all of the cells' energy needs. Lactate supplementation has also been hypothesized to be a required substrate at certain stages of culture and a tool for reducing ammonia accumulation [33].

13.4.3.2 Amino Acids

Amino acids are required by the cells for protein, nucleotide, and lipid synthesis, and, as in the case of glutamine, they might also be used as an energy source. Cells lack the biosynthetic pathways for making essential amino acids and rely on exogenous supply to meet growth needs. Early formulations of cell culture media contained the 13 essential amino acids (shown in Table 13.5), and serum as a supplement. Media designed nowadays for serum-free culture include all amino acids. In addition, these can be supplied through protein hydrolysates. Salts and hormones may also be introduced to increase medium osmolarity in order to activate System A, the major regulated Na⁺-dependent amino acid transporter system [34].

Essential amino acids	Nonessential amino acids
L-Arginine ^{a)}	L-Alanine
L-Cysteine ^{a)}	L-Asparagine
L-Histidine	L-Aspartic acid
L-Isoleucine	L-Glutamic acid
L-Leucine	L-Glycine
L-Lysine	L-Proline
L-Methionine	L-Serine
L-Phenylalanine	
L-Threonine	
L-Tryptophan	
L-Tyrosine ^{a)}	
L-Valine	
L-Glutamine ^{a)}	

Table 13.5 Essential and nonessential amino acids.

a) Essential for cells in culture, not for animals.

Source: Adapted from [12].

Glutamine Glutamine is a nonessential amino acid for animals. It is synthesized from glutamic acid through glutamine synthase. The expression level of glutamine synthase, however, decreases when cells are cultured in vitro; hence, it is an essential amino acid for cells in culture. It acts as a carbon, nitrogen, and energy source, supplying the amino group for nucleotide biosynthesis and the carbon backbone for TCA cycle intermediates. It can also be converted enzymatically to glutamic acid, leucine, and isoleucine [35]. It contains one atom of nitrogen as an amide and another atom of nitrogen as an amine, delivering nitrogen to cells in quantities that would be toxic as free ammonium. The amide nitrogen is used in the synthesis of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) and NAD phosphate (NADP), purine nucleotides, cytidine 5'-triphosphate (CTP) from uridine 5'-triphosphate (UTP) and asparagine and to produce carbamyl phosphate for the synthesis of pyrimidines. Glutamine is also a precursor of glutamate, a key amino acid used for the transamination of α -keto acids to form other α -amino acids. In addition, when glucose levels are low and energy demands are high due to high protein synthesis rates or rapidly dividing cells, it is metabolized for use as an energy source leading to ammonia and lactate production. In the TCA cycle, glucose-derived pyruvate is transaminated with glutamate to form α -ketoglutarate and alanine, which are released into the medium [36].

Glutamine is present in culture media in high concentrations ranging from 1 to 5 mM. However, it shows low stability in solution, where it spontaneously degrades, undergoing cyclization to pyrrolidone carboxylic acid and ammonia [37]. Glutamine's half-life for different media formulations (IMDM, RPMI-1640, DMEM, and OPTI-MEM) ranges from 5 to 6.7 days at pH 7.7, and becomes significantly higher at lower pH values. Besides pH, osmolarity, and the presence

of glutaminase in serum also influence the dynamics of glutamine degradation observed in culture [38]. Because of this, in biomanufacturing it is added to the base medium at time of use, or supplied in more stable dipeptide forms such as alanyl-L-glutamine and glycyl-L-glutamine. Glutamine has a high uptake rate, of $\sim 10-20\%$ the specific consumption rate of glucose. Still, care should be taken in glutamine addition to the medium, since glutamine feeding at a high rate can lead to ammonia build-up if it degrades at a faster rate than it is consumed by the cells [38], and ammonia has been reported to be toxic and inhibitory for mammalian cell growth at high concentrations [39, 40]. Tracer experiments have also shown that the metabolism of glutamine through the central carbon pathway can contribute significantly to lactate production in culture in some cell lines [41–43].

Other Amino Acids Amino acids are required and taken up at different rates and levels depending on the cells' specific nutritional needs, metabolic patterns, the concentrations of amino acids, and the levels of other nutrients present in the medium. Usually glutamine, arginine, leucine, and isoleucine are consumed at higher levels, followed by lysine, valine, and phenylalanine [35]. Common byproducts of their metabolism are glycine and ammonia. Nonessential amino acids, listed in Table 13.5, can be synthesized from other amino acids or keto acids via transamination. They are precursors for protein, nucleotide, and lipid synthesis and are provided in the medium in concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 1 mM. Some nonessential amino acids are also produced and transported into the culture medium as a result of the cells' metabolism. Alanine accumulation in the medium, and often asparagine and proline accumulation as well, is observed as the culture progresses. Even though proline is not an essential amino acid, it is required by mutant CHO cells. Early experiments showed that asparagine, glycine, and serine are also required for cell growth in the case of some tumor-derived cell lines [44-46]. These requirements can be satisfied by the addition of protein hydrolysates.

13.4.4

Vitamins, Nucleosides, Fatty Acids, and Lipids

13.4.4.1 Vitamins' Role

Vitamins play very diverse biological roles *in vivo*, and hence have diverse physical and chemical characteristics. Many vitamins are essential for the growth and proliferation of cells. Even though they are required only in trace amounts compared to glucose and amino acids, they are essential for cells in culture because they act as enzyme cofactors. Vitamins cannot be synthesized in sufficient quantities by cells and are therefore important supplements required in tissue culture. The B-group vitamins are most commonly added for growth stimulation. They are present in serum and yeast extract supplements. Commonly used vitamins for cells in culture are listed in Table 13.6.

Table 13.6 Vitamins for cells in culture.

Water soluble	Fat soluble
Biotin ^{a)}	Vitamin A
Folic acid ^{a)}	Vitamin D
Niacinamide (or nicotinic acid) ^{a)}	Vitamin E
Pantothenic acid ^{a)}	Vitamin K
Pyridoxine ^{a)}	
Riboflavin ^{a)}	
Thiamin ^{a)}	
Vitamin B-12ª)	
Ascorbic acid (vitamin C)	
Lipoic acid	

a) Required by cells.

Water-soluble vitamins are required by all cells and include biotin, thiamine pyrophosphate, riboflavin, and cobalamin. Biotin is a coenzyme for carboxylase enzymes, and it is necessarily involved in the synthesis of fatty acids and in the metabolism of amino acids such as isoleucine, and valine, and in gluconeogenesis. Thiamine pyrophosphate acts as a coenzyme in many enzymatic reactions. It catalyzes the oxidative decarboxylation of pyruvate to form acetyl-coenzyme A, α -ketoglutarate, and branched-chain α -keto acids derived from certain amino acids. It is also acts as a coenzyme for transketolase and transaldolase. Cobalamin (B12) is involved in free-radical reactions of intramolecular C-C bond rearrangement, methylation, and conversion of ribonucleotides to deoxyribonucleotides. Other vitamins are required only by specific differentiated cell types, and include vitamins D, K, A, and C. Vitamin D is involved in Ca⁺² regulation and, unlike other vitamins, it can be synthesized by mammalian cells and is highly toxic when present in excess. Vitamin K is required for y-carboxylation and correct posttranslational processing of a variety of vitamin K-dependent proteins. Vitamin A can have a pronounced effect on growth and differentiation of some cell types, as it plays a role in gene transcription. Ascorbic acid is a water-soluble antioxidant that protects esterified and non-esterified unsaturated fatty acids from peroxidation; it is required for collagen synthesis. Although vitamins act mainly as catalysts and are not consumed in reactions, they need to be replenished in cell culture media because of their turnover.

13.4.4.2 Fatty Acids and Lipids

This category of biomolecules refers to water-insoluble biomolecules, biosynthetically or functionally related to fatty acids and their derivatives. Major categories of biological lipids include fatty acids and glycerophospholipids (e.g., phosphatidyl choline), sterols (e.g., cholesterol in animals and phytosterols in plants), sphingolipids (e.g., ceramides), triacylglycerols, and various lipoprotein

Lipid class	Content ($\mu g \mu l^{-1}$)
Phospholipid	1123
Cholesterol	167
Free fatty acid	183
Triglyceride	347
Cholesteryl ester	937

Table 13.7 Approximate lipid content of bovine serum [47].

complexes, but exclude steroid hormones, fat-soluble vitamins, and petroleum products. Mammalian cells can synthesize most of the lipids and fatty acids they require for growth, except for auxotrophic mutants. Cells can make fatty acids of all different carbon lengths in membranes, including most unsaturated fatty acids, which constitute almost half of the fatty acids in phospholipids.

Lipids function in three roles. They serve as energy stores, as structural components of cellular and organelle membranes, and in transport. Many signaling systems also rely upon lipid-containing complexes. Ethanolamine, choline, and inositol are precursors for phosphatidyl, phosphatidyl-choline, and phosphatidyl-inositol biosynthesis. Lipids such as fatty acids, phospholipids, and cholesterol are essential for cell growth as cellular membrane components. Cholesterol is involved in membrane fluidity and mechanical resistance of the cell, and is required by a few cell lines such as NS0 myeloma cells for proliferation. When becoming a limiting factor, its addition can also have an effect on the specific production of the culture.

Lipids are provided by serum, at the concentration shown in Table 13.7. Animal serum, the original vehicle for providing lipids to cells in culture, uses proteins as carriers of every lipid required by mammalian systems. Triglycerides and phospholipids represent the highest consumption of lipids from serum [48]. Their limited solubility in media, however, makes delivering sufficient quantities to the cells a challenge. A decreased availability of lipids in the medium is difficult to assess and may not be immediately observable. In the long run, it can result in changes in membrane composition, in turn altering membrane fluidity and causing a reduction in protein secretion.

Supplementation of cell culture systems with nonessential fatty acids, phospholipids, and sterols significantly improves culture performance. Cells can synthesize most of the dozens of lipids they require for primary cellular functions. For mammalian cells though, two fatty acids, linoleic acid ($18:2 cis-\Delta 9, \Delta 12$) and linolenic acid ($18:3 cis-\Delta 9, \Delta 12, \Delta 15$), have been proven to be essential for most cell lines in culture. This is due to the fact that mammals do not introduce double bonds beyond C9 into fatty acids. Providing cells with appropriate preformed lipids, even when not essential, reduces the need for their biosynthesis by the cell, resulting in a more efficient metabolism. Hence, a complete medium for serum-free culture usually contains oleic acid, linoleic acid, sometimes also arachidonic acid [12]. Lipids also can be beneficial for cells in culture, since some substances absorbed by the cells need to be solubilized in lipids, or in some cases the toxicity of compounds may be reduced by the formation of complexes with lipids.

13.4.5 **Bulk Ions and Trace Elements**

Mammalian cells have low concentrations of sodium and calcium and large concentrations of potassium ions compared to the extracellular medium. These differences are critical for homeostasis and are required for the regulation of metabolism. This distribution is due to the membrane's permeability to ions and ion pumps that are built into these membranes. Because of passive permeability, the cell has a tendency to equalize concentrations, while pumps work to maintain a concentration gradient [49]. The addition of ions in the form of salts is required to maintain osmotic balance in the medium. In addition, they are required by the cells as enzyme cofactors. The most important ions are Na⁺, K⁺, Ca⁺², Cl⁻, Mg⁺², SO_4^{-2} , PO_4^{-2} , and HCO_3^{-1} . The concentration of these ions in the basal medium is shown in Table 13.8. These ions are mainly responsible for the osmolality in a fresh medium, which should be kept in an optimal range between 280 and $300 \,\mathrm{mOsm \, kg^{-1}}$.

Ionic gradients and electric potential across the plasma membrane drive many biological processes, such as the transport of amino acids and other molecules against their concentration gradient. Sodium and potassium, as well as chloride and calcium, are required for the regulation and maintenance of these membrane potentials through ion transport [50]. Magnesium is conjugated to adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Calcium and magnesium are required for cell-cell and cell-substrate adhesion processes. Therefore their concentration should be kept low to prevent cell aggregation. Calcium is also involved in many cell signaling processes, including excitability, exocytosis, motility, transcription, apoptosis, and the cellular response to oxidative stress [51, 52]. Copper is an essential element for cells in culture. It is involved in iron homeostasis, as it is involved

(mM)	DMEM/F12	William's E	DMEM	F12
Na ⁺	150.31	143.71	155.12	144.03
K ⁺	4.18	5.37	5.37	3.00
Mg ²⁺	0.71	0.81	0.81	0.60
Ca ²⁺	1.05	1.80	1.80	0.30
Cl-	126.66	125.33	118.48	134.83
PO4 ³⁻	1.02	1.17	0.78	1.17
HCO3-	29.02	26.19	44.04	14.00
SO42-	0.41	0.81	0.81	0
Total	313	302	327	288

 Table 13.8
 Concentration of bulk ions in basal medium.

Source: Adapted from [12].

in the transfer from ferritin to transferrin. It also plays a key role in electron transfer complexes and the reduction of oxidative damage, cell signaling, and gene expression [53, 54]. Its use at appropriate concentrations, not necessarily equal to physiologic levels, can result in higher productivity and reduced lactate production in culture [55]. In culture media supplemented with serum, copper is provided at $50-100 \text{ ng ml}^{-1}$. Since this element is essential for cells in culture, it must be added to serum-free formulations. Iron is required for iron-containing proteins such as cytochromes, which are a group of heme-containing proteins located in the mitochondria that transfer electrons along the respiratory chain. Iron exists in a non-heme form as part of enzymes such as succinate dehydrogenase, which catalyzes the formation of fumarate. It exists as a heme component of enzymes such as catalase and peroxidase that catalyze the conversion of peroxides to water. As an enzyme cofactor, iron protects cells from oxidative damage. It is supplied to the media by iron salts. SO_4^{-2} , PO_4^{-2} , and HCO_3^{-2} are required for the synthesis of macromolecules and used by the cells to regulate intracellular charge. Phosphate is specifically required for nucleotides and nucleic acids.

Zinc is not included in basal media formulations (shown in Table 13.8). However, it is essential in cell culture, as it is involved in amino acid and nucleic acid metabolism as part of regulatory proteins in transcription and as an antioxidant. In serum-free formulations, it is provided conjugated with insulin. Selenium participates in oxidation/reduction and free-radical reactions. These metals, along with iron, manganese, vanadium, copper, and molybdenum, are usually added to the culture medium at low concentrations, especially if the medium is not supplemented with animal serum [56].

13.4.6

Non-Nutritional Medium Components

Non-nutritional medium components are additives that, even if not taken up by cells, can minimize operational deviations and facilitate culture operation. These include buffer systems for pH regulation, antioxidants, and pH indicators.

13.4.6.1 Phenol Red

Phenol red is used as a pH indicator in most commercially available culture media. As cells grow, metabolites such as lactate are released into the medium, causing a color change due to the decrease in pH. At pH 7.4, it looks bright red. At low pH it is yellow, while at higher pH it is purple.

13.4.6.2 Sodium Bicarbonate Buffer

Mammalian cells can survive over a wide pH range (6.6-7.8), but the optimal growth of cells is obtained at pH 7.2–7.4. It is undesirable to allow the pH to deviate outside the limits of pH 6.8 and 7.6 during culture, so buffering systems are used. However, none of these systems is capable of holding the pH constant in a system in which acids or bases are being produced. Buffers only slow the rate of

pH change since cells in culture produce acidic products, which lower the pH of the medium as the culture progresses.

The sodium bicarbonate buffering system acts similar to the main buffer system in blood in vivo. It is low cost and nontoxic, and is based on the equilibrium with soluble carbon dioxide. Hence, it requires CO₂ in the gas phase to be in contact with the medium [57]. This system has a pK_a of 6.1 at 37 °C. The concentration of bicarbonate in the medium (14 mM in F12, 44 mM in DMEM) maintains equilibrium with CO_2 in the gas phase inside the incubator (5–10%). Based on Le Chatellier's principle for the equilibrium between CO₂, bicarbonate, and carbonic acid $[CO_{2(aq)} + H_2O \leftrightarrow H_2CO_3 \leftrightarrow HCO_3^- + H^+]$, for a given bicarbonate concentration, the higher the CO₂ in the gas phase, the lower the pH. A typical cell culture medium contains 14-44 mM of NaHCO₃, which requires 10% CO₂ to keep the pH at 7.4 at equilibrium. When removed from the incubator, the medium becomes alkaline. As the pH decreases as a result of lactate production, the CO₂ level in the gas phase can be reduced to take the proton to the left-hand side of the equilibrium equation in order to maintain pH. Conversely, as cells begin to consume lactate in the late stage of fed-batch culture CO₂ concentration in the gas phase is increased to maintain pH.

13.4.6.3 Alternative Buffers

Under some conditions, bicarbonate buffer may not be ideal for maintaining pH: for instance, when culture must be performed outside a CO_2 incubator. There are other buffers available with pK_a in the vicinity of 7.0 that are even more suitable for sustaining neutral pH than bicarbonate. However, these buffers have a toxic effect on cells, and so they have a lower maximum concentration that can be used without a negative effect on cell growth; therefore, they provide a limited buffering capacity.

Zwitterions have both acidic and basic groups in the same molecule, which makes them good components for buffer solutions, as they can resist changes to the pH of a solution by selective ionization. In the presence of acids, zwitterions accept hydrogen ions, removing them from the solution. In the presence of bases, zwitterions donate hydrogen ions to the solution, again balancing the pH. HEPES (N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N-2-ethane) acts as a zwitterion and has many properties that make it ideal as a buffer to tissue culture media. It was first described in [58], and it is often employed as a substitute or supplement for the bicarbonate buffer. It has a superior buffering capacity in the 7.2-7.4 pH range, and, unlike bicarbonate, it does not require an enriched atmosphere to maintain the correct pH. On the down side, it is more expensive. It is often used in the range of 10-50 mM in culture, but it can be growth-inhibitory or toxic at concentrations greater than 40 mM or even 25 mM for some cell types [59]. Its use requires balance of osmolality by adjusting bulk salt levels while maintaining the Na^+/K^+ ratio (30:1). It can interfere with protein assays and, even though it does not bind metal ions, it forms radicals, so it is not suitable for redox studies.

It must be considered that since CO_2 is a metabolite, is a medium component for the buffer, and is also a nutrient required for some biochemical reactions,

such as the carboxylation reaction in fatty acid synthesis, using a bicarbonate-free medium may lead to $\rm CO_2$ becoming limiting for supporting cell growth as it is stripped away with airflow. To avoid this, an air supply supplemented with $\rm CO_2$ (0.2–0.5%) can be used.

13.4.6.4 Antioxidants

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) that result from cellular biochemical reactions cause the transient presence of superoxide radical (O_2^{-}) and hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) . Free iron ions, copper ions, and many other transition-metal ions present in media formulations such as DMEM induce oxidative stress. Ascorbate, flavonoids, many other polyphenolic compounds, and thiols are unstable in commonly used cell culture media, undergoing rapid oxidation, which also generates H_2O_2 and other ROS [60]. The reaction of these two compounds with lipids, proteins, and DNA trigger damage to cells and other media components. Cellular oxidative stress can cause senescence, cell death, or adaptation. Physiologically, cells deal with ROS through reducing reactions using cellular reducing agents such as glutathione. When cultivating cells under stress conditions, the presence of antioxidants can delay the onset of irreparable cellular damage. If the culture medium is deficient in antioxidants, the addition of vitamin E, taurine, β -carotene, transferrin, ceruloplasmin, catalase, superoxide dismutase, reduced glutathione, or β-mercaptoethanol can show an enhancement of cellular protection against oxidative stress. Besides mercaptoethanol, a few other antioxidants are also routinely used in cell culture. Addition of selenium to selenium-deficient cultures allows the activation of selenium-dependent antioxidant systems. These include thioredoxin reductase and the glutathione peroxidase family.

13.4.6.5 Mechanical-Damage-Protective Agents

Protective agents such as polyethylene glycol or carboxymethyl cellulose, among others, have been used as media supplements to modulate the physiochemical environment of the cell since, besides osmolarity, viscosity was regarded as a relevant factor for serum-free cell growth.

Sodium carboxymethyl cellulose has been shown to reduce mechanical damage to cells caused by shear forces associated to the stirrer impeller, forced aeration, or perfusion. Pluronic F68 is a non-ionic surfactant consisting of a block copolymer of poly(oxyethylene) and poly(oxypropylene). The larger the polyoxyethylene group, the more hydrophilic the molecule and the greater its detergent-like activity and cell cushioning effects. The larger the polyoxypropylene group, the greater the toxicity and the antifoaming ability of the molecule. This polymer protects cells from damage due to agitation and aeration, reduces foaming when serum is present in the medium, and decreases the attachment of cells to glass. Other examples of mechanical-damage-protective agents used in cell culture are listed in Table 13.9.

For fed-batch cultures, the consumed components must be fed in a highly concentrated medium in order to reduce dilution of the culture. Introducing a surfactant such as polysorbate into chemically defined feed media (CDFM) facilitates

Common name	Chemical identity
Pluronic F68 or F88	Block copolymer glycols of poly(oxyethylene) and poly(oxypropylene) (MW ~8350)
PEG	Poly(oxyethylene) glycol (or polyethylene glycol) (MW ~20000)
PVA	Polyvinyl alcohol (MW 20000)
MC	Methylcelluloses (15 cps methocel) 0.1–0.2%
CMC, Edifas B50	Sodium carboxymethylcellulose
HES	Hydroxyethyl starch
PVP	Polyvinylpyrrolidone
PS	Polysorbate
Haemaccel	Modified gelatin

Table 13.9 Synthetic protective agents and surfactants used in cell culture.

Source: Adapted from [12].

media components remaining in solution for a longer time, effectively allowing the use of concentrated feed media [61].

13.4.6.6 Antibiotics

Antibiotics are added to culture media in order to prevent microbial growth. The most commonly used antibiotics in cell culture such as penicillin, streptomycin, and amphotericin B among others, as well as their recommended concentrations, are listed in Table 13.10. Their utilization, however, is not a substitute to aseptic manipulation. In manufacturing processes, antibiotics are rarely used, since they can be cytotoxic, especially in serum-free formulations, and they are only moderately more inhibitory to bacteria than to cultured cells. In addition, their continuous use can lead to the selection of resistant microorganisms and chronic contamination, and can cause hypersensitivity reactions in patients. In all cases, toxicity testing is necessary. Neomycin, polymyxin B, streptomycin, and gentamicin are sometimes used in vaccine production. For the cultivation of primary cells, gentamicin reduces the rate of contamination significantly.

Antibiotic	Recommended	Antibiotic spectrum
Amphotericin B	$2.5 \mathrm{mg}\mathrm{l}^{-1}$	Fungi and yeasts
Chlortetracycline	5 mg l^{-1}	Gram-positive/negative bacteria
Gentamicin sulfate	$50 \text{ mg } l^{-1}$	Gram-positive/negative bacteria and mycoplasma
Nystatin	$50 \text{ mg } l^{-1}$	Fungi and yeasts
Penicillin G	$100 \text{U} \text{ml}^{-1}$	Gram-positive bacteria
Spectinomycin	$20 \text{ mg } l^{-1}$	Gram-positive/negative bacteria
Streptomycin	$100 {\rm mg} {\rm l}^{-1}$	Gram-positive/negative bacteria

Table 13.10 Antibiotics for cell culture.

Source: Adapted from [12].

13.5

High Molecular Weight and Complex Supplements

Some cells are capable of rapid growth using only the basal medium without any further supplementation (NS0, hybridoma/myeloma cells and HepG2 cells). However, most cells in culture require the supplementation of at least a number of growth factors and carrier proteins. Many stem cells and other normal diploid cell strains still need a high concentration of serum to grow.

Many industrial protein processes have moved to serum-free and animal-free formulations to minimize contamination. For viral vaccine production, bovine serum is still often used. In processes involving the cultivation of primary differentiated cells, the elimination of animal serum from the culture medium is not an easy task, so when isolating cells from tissue, serum is commonly used at least in the early stage of cell cultivation. In order to be able to supplement the culture medium to reduce or eliminate serum dependence, one must examine in detail the role of this supplement and its components in mammalian cell culture.

13.5.1 **Serum**

Serum is the fluid obtained from blood after the coagulation and removal of blood cells and most coagulation proteins. It is a complex mixture of amino acids, growth factors, vitamins, metabolites, hormones, lipids, minerals, plasma proteins, substances released from damaged cells, antibody molecules, and infectious agents. Fetal bovine serum (FBS) is the most widely used serum in animal cell culture since it has higher concentrations of growth-stimulatory factors and lesser concentrations of growth-inhibitory factors. It is often from a bovine source, although equine and even human serum can also be used. It is added in proportions of 5-10%, and in some cases up to 20% v/v. Given its complex composition, serum plays many different roles in culture, such as providing nutrients, factors for cell–substrate attachment, and modulating the physiological properties of medium.

13.5.1.1 Functions of Serum in Cell Culture Medium

The main functions of serum are to stimulate growth and other cellular activities through hormones and growth factors, to increase cell adhesion through specific proteins, and to supply proteins for the transport of hormones, minerals, and lipids [62]. FBS is the most commonly used, as it contains low immunoglobulin and high growth factor concentrations. There are a number of globulins present in serum that have different effects on cells in culture. α -Globulins are mainly protease inhibitors and carrier proteins. These protease inhibitors can help neutralize proteases used in trypsinization or produced by cells. Carrier proteins bind and transport low molecular weight substances and nutrients that dissolve poorly, thereby increasing nutrient availability for cells in culture. Transferrin is an important β -globulin for cells in culture. It complexes iron and transports it, and is

taken up by the cells via specific receptors, releasing iron intracellularly in a pH-dependent manner.

The ferric ion carrier, transferrin, is also present in serum. It releases the ferric ion in the cell lysosome, and then it is recycled to the culture broth. As long as ferric ions are replenished, the transferrin supplied by FBS can continue to transport iron inside the cells.

Because of the presence of albumin and other large proteins and lipoproteins, serum acts like a tampon for toxic substances, as these proteins bind or neutralize compounds that are toxic when present in excessive amounts and release them slowly back into the media.

Detailed studies have been performed regarding the role of serum in cell attachment [4]. Fetuin, fibronectin, and hydrocortisone have been shown to be involved in cell attachment processes. Most cells can rapidly attach to a clean plastic glass or soft glass surface. This attachment does not require the presence of divalent cations and is temporary in nature. Serum promotes cell attachment in a more permanent manner; however, this process is slower in nature and does require the presence of the divalent cations found in serum. Serum has also been shown to play a role in cell stretching after attachment.

Serum also provides polypeptide hormones and proteins with specific mitogenic or growth-stimulating activities, such as the nerve growth factor, epidermal growth factor, erythropoietin, and colony-stimulating factor. One of the key factors present in serum, and identified as key to stimulate cell multiplication in several culture systems, is insulin, which is present in a small amount, along with other insulin-like growth factors (IGF) that cause the multiplication-stimulating activity of serum.

The main advantage of serum use is the simplification of media formulation, since in the presence of serum many nutrients, hormones, proteins, and growth factors are present in the medium, and the same formulation can be used for different cell lines.

13.5.1.2 Disadvantages of Serum in Cell Culture Medium

For serum production, blood is collected by cardiac puncture or umbilical blood collection, and then it is slowly clotted and centrifuged at low temperatures. It is a low-yield process since each fetus yields 0.2–0.5 l of blood, and only 50% of that corresponds to serum. Because of the nature of its production process, there is high biochemical variability in the types and concentrations of serum components from one lot to another. This variability could affect the reproducibility of culture performance and prevent the complete characterization of culture media. In order to minimize such variability, serum is normally purchased in large lot sizes, which involves an additional cost due to storage. As a result, high-quality serum is a high-cost supplement with limited availability, so one of the most expensive media components, and an expense that can be avoided.

Even though production regulation requires that the animal must be free of infectious diseases, such as cattle plague, foot-and-mouth disease, and bovine spongiform encephalopathy, and the blood is to be tested for virus,

bacteriophages, bacteria, mycoplasmas, and fungi, serum can still be a source of contamination risk due to the presence of animal viruses, prions, and endotoxins. In addition, serum contains high concentrations of proteins, which makes product purification a more difficult task, increasing the complexity of downstream processing and characterization of the final product. The albumin present in serum can also cause allergenic and immunogenic reactions in humans.

The use of defined components is desirable in culture from a regulatory standpoint and also for the evaluation of stoichiometric or kinetic nutritional requirements for cells in the culture. The replacement of serum, however, increases the complexity of the medium, analytical requirements, and time for medium development since the effect on cell growth, lag phase, productivity, and protein glycosylation must be analyzed for the different serum substitute formulations. The use of serum substitutes has been reported to cause a potential increase of 20-30% in specific productivity, with no major effects on protein glycosylation [63].

13.5.2

Insulin and Insulin-Like Growth Factors

Insulin is a growth factor commonly used in culture. It plays a key role in the regulation of glucose uptake by adipocyte and other cell types. Insulin and insulinlike growth factor (IGF) can have a mitogenic effect in culture, enhancing cellular metabolism and promoting cell growth. This effect is cell-line-specific and can change depending on culture conditions, as the number of insulin and IGF-1 receptors fluctuates with growth conditions and is different for different cell lines [64]. It has been shown that in some cases the specific growth rates are similar in cultures with or without insulin, with a higher specific glucose consumption rate with insulin [65]. IGF-1 has been shown to increase cellular uptake of glucose and amino acids and stimulate glycogen and protein synthesis. The mitogenic effect of insulin would occur through an overlapping signaling pathway with IGF-1 through the insulin receptor and IGF-1 receptor, as insulin is able to signal through the IGF-1 receptor at supra-physiological concentrations [66]. In culture, insulin is used in the $1-10 \,\mu \text{g} \,\text{ml}^{-1}$ range. Normal blood insulin concentration is \sim 1.3 µg ml⁻¹. IGF-1 concentration is in the 100–200 ng ml⁻¹ range, so it can be used to replace insulin in culture at much lower concentrations.

Insulin binds to the insulin receptor and triggers a signaling event that does not involve its own internalization. However, when present at high concentrations (higher than standard blood concentrations), insulin is rapidly internalized by some cells such as hepatocytes and degraded. Therefore, even though as a growth factor it is not consumed, its concentration can decrease at high levels.

13.5.3

Transferrin

Iron is indispensable for some metabolic processes, including ATP synthesis, the production of deoxyribonucleotides, and cell proliferation. Intracellularly, iron is

Compound	Concentration range
Ferric citrate	0.05–5 mM
Ferric iminodiacetic acid	0.001 µM
Ferric ammonium citrate (FAC)	$2-10\mu M$
Tropolone and FAC	5 and 0.4 μM

Table 13.11 Iron chelators used as transferrin replacements.

Source: Adapted from [12].

found as ferrous ion Fe⁺², bound to heme and other proteins with iron cores. Transferrin is the predominant iron carrier in mammalian cells, and it has recently become available in its recombinant form. Human transferrin is used in culture at concentrations ranging from 1 to 30 µg ml⁻¹. It is an 80-kDa glycoprotein with a large capacity as an iron carrier due to the presence of homologous N-terminal and C-terminal iron-binding domains. It binds Fe⁺³ very strongly with a k_d 1022 M⁻¹. It has low interspecific potency, so specific concentration requirements for each cell line need to be determined. Iron chelating agents such as tropolone and ferric ammonium citrate (see Table 13.11) are sometimes added to the medium in replacement of transferrin or for high-density culture or applications that stress on the potency of the medium [67].

Many mammalian cells possess transferrin-specific receptors that capture transferrin/Fe³⁺ complexes. Transferrin is taken up by the cells and translocated to the lysosome, where it releases iron in a pH-dependent manner. The iron-free protein is recycled back from the cell and released into the culture broth for reutilization. Therefore, if transferrin is supplied in the medium, the level of transferrin receptors is the major factor that determines the rate of iron uptake [68].

13.5.4

Serum Albumin and Other Carrier Proteins

Albumin is the most abundant protein in serum, present typically at ~50 mg ml⁻¹, where it makes up ~60% of the total protein. It plays many roles in culture medium, but most of the physiological actions and the molecular mechanisms involved in these roles are not well understood. It acts as a carrier protein, binding and transporting physiologically relevant ligands, including lipids, metal ions, amino acids, and other factors, as well as compounds with low solubility in aqueous solutions, such as vitamins, hormones, or other micronutrients. It transports fatty acids, which in their free form can be toxic in high concentrations. Albumin can act as a blocking agent because of its binding properties. It binds toxins to avoid toxic effects, excessive proteins to act as a buffer, and hormones and growth peptides to keep them stable.

Transport proteins	Source	Structure	Effects
Serum albumin	Plasma	1-Chain (MW = 68 000)	Supplies free fatty acids, detoxifier, contains trace elements
Transferrin	Plasma	1-Chain (MW = 77 000)	Supplies iron, detoxifier
High-density lipoprotein (HDL)	Plasma	Particle (multiple protein subunit)	Accepts and transports cholesterol and cholesterol are
Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) Transcobalamin	Plasma Plasma	Particle (ApoB)	Transports cholesterol and cholesterol esters Binds vitamin B12

Table 13.12 Transport and carrier proteins.

Source: Adapted from [12].

Albumin also binds free radicals to reduce damage to cells. The antioxidant potential of albumin is associated with the sulfur-containing amino acids cysteine and methionine. There are 35 cysteine residues in albumin with all but one, Cys-34, involved in disulfide linkages. The antioxidant capacity of albumin relates largely to its ability to bind metal ions and to scavenge free radicals as a substitute substrate, nucleic acids, or lipid moieties. The antioxidant effect of Cys-34 works through its action as a scavenger of free radicals, while Met acts mainly as a metal chelator to reduce the subsequent generation of ROS [69].

In serum-free media, serum albumin is often used in place of FBS. Its addition to cell culture media at concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 5 mg ml⁻¹ improves the performance of a wide range of cell types including stem cells, primary cells, and CHO cells. Serum albumin as a cell culture supplement can be obtained from bovine or human blood, but these sources carry safety concerns including risk of viral or prion contamination and problems with variation across product lots. These concerns can be overcome with the use of recombinant albumin, which can provide all the benefits of serum albumin without lot-to-lot variation or safety concerns. The complete chemical properties of recombinant albumin, however, can vary in terms of fatty acid composition and content depending on the preparation method. Most defined media use fatty-acid-free human recombinant albumin coupled to oleic acid or linoleic acid.

Albumin is a suitable replacement for serum in cryopreservation and cell culture for animal-free biomanufacturing processes [70, 71]. It also acts as a buffering or detoxifying agent by binding to endotoxin and pyrogens.

Other carrier proteins, shown in Table 13.12, are present in serum in addition to transferrin and serum albumin. These are more rarely used in culture.

13.5.5

Cell Adhesion Molecules

Anchorage-dependent cells are used in applications such as the vaccine industry and stem cell and cell therapy-based technologies. To culture these cells, adhesion can be enhanced by using serum-containing media or by coating the culture
Proteins	Source	Structure	Effects
Fibronectin	Plasma, cell lines	Dimer MW = 220 000	Promotes attachment and growth, mesenchymal
Laminin	Extracellular matrix	Two subunits MW = 900 000	Promotes attachment and growth, ecto/endodermal
Collagens	Skin, E.M., placenta	1–3 Subunits	Promotes attachment and growth
Vitronectin	Plasma	MW = 70000	Promotes attachment and growth of a variety of cell types
Fetuin	FBS	Alpha 1-globulin	Promotes attachment of cells to glass and plastic
Poly-D-lysine	Synthetic	Polymer MW = 30 000 - 70 000	Promotes attachment of many cell types (even with serum)

Table 13.13 Adhesion molecules used for cell culture.

Source: Adapted from [12].

surfaces with adhesion molecules that promote the adhesion of various cell types but do not attach well to standard tissue culture flask surfaces. The most commonly used adhesion molecules are shown in Table 13.13, and include biological molecules (fibronectin, laminin), extracellular matrix extract (matrigel, rich in laminin), and synthetic molecules (poly-L-lysine or arginine, glycine, and aspartic acid (RGD) tripeptide), which are also used for adhesion of macromolecules in other applications.

Methodologies such as cell cloning require cells to be grown under adherent conditions so that cells can form colonies on the culture dish surface, which can be easily identified and isolated. Adhesion molecules can help revert suspension cells to adherence for cell cloning.

For studies that aim at understanding *in vivo* structure, function, and signaling of cell adhesion in 3D migratory environments, studies have shown that 3D matrices derived from tissues or cell culture differ in cytoskeletal components and tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) compared to traditional adhesion molecules and 2D substrates [72].

In cases where adhesion to the culture surface needs to be prevented, for instance, in cell adaptation to suspension culture, cell clumping and cell adhesion to vessel surfaces can be reduced with the presence of the glycosaminoglycans heparin $(10-100 \,\mu g \, m l^{-1})$ or heparan sulfate in the culture medium, or by the addition of the surfactant Pluronic F68 (0.01–0.1%).

13.5.6 Protein Hydrolysates

Different types of hydrolysate or extracts from animal and plant tissues have been used to reduce serum dependence in culture. They are produced by enzymatic digestion of different protein sources. Animal extracts derived from the digestion

406 13 Medium Design, Culture Management, and the PAT Initiative

of animal tissues (tryptose, Primatone RL) are an excellent source of phospholipids [21], but their use has decreased in culture, to be replaced by hydrolysates from casein, albumin, lactalbumin, yeast cells (Yeastolate) [63], and plant tissues such as soybean (HySoy, NZ-Soy, Soy peptone) [20, 22], cottonseed, wheat, and rice (Hy Pep), and peas (Martone B-1, Veg peptone). Protein hydrolysates are complex mixtures containing amino acids, small peptides, inorganic ions, carbohydrates, and vitamins, which provide nutrients, growth factors, and antioxidants to the cells in culture. Amino acids could be present in the form of oligopeptides, which may bind various cell-surface receptors in a nonspecific manner, mimicking signaling molecules that have a growth-promoting or apoptosis-retarding effect. Small peptides present in these mixtures can serve the same function as amino acids, with an added advantage that they can be more stable and transported more easily than free amino acids. These hydrolysates are not fully characterized and can have beneficial effects on product yield, and detrimental effects associated with unknown components.

Given their nature, there is high lot-to-lot variability in these supplements. The utilization of hydrolysates from animal sources is reduced because of regulatory constraints and potential immunogenic reactions in humans. Soybean hydrolysates and peptone are most commonly used, and are often ultra-filtered to reduce endotoxin levels. Other complex components such as lipid emulsions are also used to supplement media.

13.5.7

Lipid Supplements

Lipids are often used as supplements in serum-free formulations. They are commonly provided to cells associated with animal serum or carrier proteins, since free lipids in the medium can be toxic for the cells in high concentrations. Supplementation considers cholesterol, cod liver oil, soybean oil and oleic, linoleic, and palmitic acids. Reconstituted lipid supplements with defined composition of phospholipids are commercially available for use in chemically defined media. A suitable lipid supplement must disperse selected lipids such that they are nontoxic, are taken up by the cells in a controlled fashion, can be micro-filtered, and remain stable upon storage. This is achieved by adsorbing the lipid to a soluble carrier molecule, devising a formula that drives lipid self-assembly to the required particle size, or dispersing and stabilizing a lipid mixture to a particle of sufficient transient size and stability [73]. Bovine serum albumin (BSA) is a common vehicle for lipids that contains high levels of serum lipids, especially fatty acids and lecithin. It also has the capacity to adsorb a significant amount of added lipids of choice. Cyclodextrins are naturally occurring circular polymers of glucopyranose that encase or chelate lipids in a more water-soluble molecule and thereby increase the lipids' aqueous solubility, and have been successfully utilized to solubilize cholesterol and fatty acids for supplementation of cell culture media. Liposomes, emulsions, and microemulsions are forms of lipid dispersions used in media supplementation. Phosphatidyl choline, phosphatidyl ethanolamine, and

sphingomyelin can be added to the medium in the form of liposomes or may be dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO).

13.6 **Medium for Industrial Production**

Commercial and industrial processes are nowadays directed toward serum-free media, and preferentially to chemically defined media. Serum-free formulations supplemented with specific proteins or purified extracts of known composition represent an advantage in terms of process reproducibility and guality control, facilitating product purification and reducing contamination risks.

The key features to consider when designing or selecting a serum-free medium formulation are that the chosen medium should support higher growth rates and culture densities, promote culture longevity, suppress apoptosis, support clone stability in continued passage, promote high product yield, maintain critical product quality attributes, reduce product and process related impurities, reduce regulatory consideration, risk, and cost, and be friendly to downstream process [74]. For most culture platforms currently available, optimized serum-free media can now support cell division rates comparable to those obtained in serum-containing media, with yields $>10^6$ viable cells per milliliter in batch culture and $>20^6$ viable cells per milliliter in fed batch, with expected product yields of at least $2-3 g l^{-1}$ and reported yields up to $20 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$.

The recommendation for developing a serum-free medium formulation is to start with an appropriate basal medium supplemented with insulin-transferrinselenium (ITS). This supplementation has been successfully used in numerous studies with many different cell types including stem cells, primary cells, cellbased vaccine lines, and in antibody production lines like CHO, hybridoma, and HEK293. If using glutamine, it should be added at a concentration of 2-4 mM; otherwise, a dipeptide supplement can be added. Specific growth factors, hormones, vitamins, trace elements, and lipids must be added as required by the specific cell type. Osmolarity should be closely monitored. Essential fatty acids may need to be added if not present in the basal medium. A shear protection agent may be added for bioreactors and perfusion cultures [24].

The factors that are required in nearly all cell lines for serum-free formulations include insulin, transferring, and selenium. For certain cell lines, ethanolamine may also be critical, and in some cases β -mercaptoethanol; attachment factors such as fibronectin, laminin, vitronectin, growth factors, and lipid mixtures may also be beneficial. Insulin and transferrin supplements have been formulated to include selenium and sometimes ethanolamine. Each of these supplement components carries out an important role in the culture. Insulin is a growth factor that helps cells utilize glucose and amino acids; it has been known to be essential in cell culture from 1924 and is now the most commonly used hormone in culture media [75]. Transferrin is a universal iron carrier that provides iron and also

407

408 13 Medium Design, Culture Management, and the PAT Initiative

helps the cells maintain homeostasis by regulating the amount of iron uptake [76]. Selenium is required for proper functioning of glutathione peroxidase, thioredoxin reductase, and other antioxidant enzymes [77]. Ethanolamine is required for phospholipid synthesis in some cell types. Depending on the formulation and the manufacturer, insulin and transferrin supplements are also called ITSE, SITE, or ITS. Since product formulation may be recombinant or animal-free, or could be derived from animal tissue or from donor blood. There are a few recombinant and completely animal-free insulin and transferrin supplements that can be used for serum-free and animal-free media formulations. Alternatively, complex supplements such as BSA and protein hydrolysates or animal tissue extracts can be used. However, these compounds do not have a defined chemical composition, and contain components of animal origin, which regulatory agencies recommend to avoid in the production of biopharmaceuticals for human use.

The purpose of medium design is to identify the conditions that can be imposed on cells in order to maximize their productivity while taking into account the cost factor. The development of a culture medium requires testing all the individual components in order to determine their optimum concentrations and comparison against serum-containing media in terms of growth and productivity. Since media contain many components whose effects on culture performance are not independent, statistical analysis is required. Some strategies to achieve this include univariate analysis, factorial experimental design, or the variation of the concentration of only a set of nutrients [78, 79]. The nutrients that are not under study should be supplied in adequate amounts to avoid them from becoming limiting. An adaptation stage should be considered when developing a new media. This can be carried out through subsequent passages in increasing concentrations of the new media formulations. It can be done in culture flasks, or better in suspension cultures where there is better oxygenation and cells can be subcultured with less damage and stress.

The most challenging part of media development is to identify which supplement each cell line requires. For studies on specific media formulations, knowledge of the cell metabolism is required in order to develop new formulations as well as feed media for fed-batch or continuous culture strategies. In addition, cells must be stable and standardized in terms of their metabolic features, dynamic behavior, and genetic characteristics. The most commonly employed media formulations are listed in Table 13.1. The evaluation of cell performance in different media and at different stages of the culture is both laborious and expensive. It requires the characterization of total and viable cell concentrations over several passages, cell doubling time, and duration of the growth phase. To characterize media utilization, the initial and residual nutrient concentrations (e.g., amino acids), metabolites and their concentrations (e.g., lactate and ammonium), substrate consumption (e.g., glucose and glutamine), and product synthesis rates must be determined. Specific media formulations can be designed for the different stages of culture: cell inoculum scale-up, where the objective is to optimize cell growth and maintain viability; and production, where the objective is to rapidly achieve an adequate cell density for production, sustain viability, and productivity [12]. In addition, the study of different feeding strategies may be required.

For the production of recombinant proteins, viruses and other non-cell products, a more extreme strategy in media design, which favors productivity using certain components at concentrations that can be toxic to cells or decrease viability, can be used, as high cell viability at the end of the production process is not required. These strategies include the use of high glucose concentrations (up to $15 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{l}^{-1}$) at the beginning of the production stage, which leads to high osmolarity in the medium. This high osmolarity condition affects the growth rate of most cell types. In addition, during the production stage in fed-batch cultures, the feed medium is added with additional salts to maintain amino acids in solution, thereby further increasing osmolarity, reaching up to 400 mOsm by the end of the culture. Recombinant protein production enhancers such as sodium butyrate [80] and valproic acid [81] may also be added during the production stage to increase productivity, even though they might reduce the culture viability.

13.6.1

Medium Design and the PAT Initiative

In 2004, the FDA issued a guidance that encourages industry to take up new technologies that modernize manufacturing operations and enhance process control [82]. This guidance describes a regulatory framework, called process analytical technology (PAT), which promotes the implementation of innovative pharmaceutical development, manufacturing, and quality assurance in order to help the pharmaceutical industry address anticipated technical and regulatory issues. These recommendations are suggested but not required, and do not establish legally enforceable responsibilities. They are intended to facilitate progress of pharmaceutical manufacturing and regulation to a state where product quality is ensured through the design of the manufacturing processes. Both product and process specifications are based on a detailed mechanistic understanding of how formulation and process factors affect product performance, assuring quality on a real-time basis. The FDA's PAT initiative encourages drug manufacturers to apply innovative ideas to better understand their processes, to improve the online monitoring of manufacturing processes, and facilitate control and correction during a campaign rather than testing the product against specifications after manufacture.

PAT was aligned with the quality by design (QbD) initiative, which aimed to prevent production errors as far as possible by building quality control into process development. There are many challenges to applying these techniques to monitor mammalian cell culture bioreactors for biologics manufacturing. Regarding media composition, the ability to monitor multiple components in complex medium formulations noninvasively and inline is required. This has been shown to be feasible by using Raman spectroscopy for monitoring a mammalian cell culture bioreactor and obtaining simultaneous prediction of culture parameters including glutamine, glutamate, glucose, lactate, ammonium, viable cell density, and total

410 13 Medium Design, Culture Management, and the PAT Initiative

cell density [83]. The development of sensor and monitoring technologies like this one compatible with single-use facilities is required in order to facilitate the integration of process analytical technologies. Noninvasive sensor technologies that can monitor the health and performance of cell cultures are required. These could include metabolic sensors added to the media to indicate changes in cell metabolism and technologies that allow monitoring processes from external measurements.

The formulation of a basal medium is the first stage of cell culture where PAT approaches can be applied to define the quantity and quality of the product. In order to do this, not only process monitoring tools, control strategies, and instrumentation need to be implemented in order to ensure predefined final product quality, but also detailed knowledge of the process is required in order to be able to anticipate how variations in process variables and perturbations in raw material composition will affect process performance and product quality. Design-of-experiment studies of media formulation can reveal previously unobserved interactions between media components and the culture. Such media optimization experiments can be expensive at the manufacturing scale, so historical data from previous production runs can be retrospectively analyzed to reveal variability within raw material sources and to guide advanced parameter control. To gain this understanding, sensor enabled, disposable, scale-down bioreactors can be used as a cost-effective alternative during the research phase of bioprocess design. Empirical scale-down process information and historical data can be fed into a mathematical model to predict process outcomes based on online process data [84].

The ideal technologies for biopharmaceutical processes should operate *in situ*, be noninvasive, and generate online information about multiple key bioprocess and/or metabolic variables. This monitoring and control of mammalian cell processes can provide detailed physical and chemical representation of the process, which allows the construction of models that can handle the simultaneous prediction of different process parameters [85]. Mathematical models can consolidate and provide scientific understanding of product and process, essential for monitoring and controlling bioprocess. However, the implementation of good mathematical models that can actually capture the characteristics of the process requires the correct identification of critical process parameters [86]. A fully automated analytical system that combines exhaust gas analysis, inline analytics, and a corresponding algorithm was developed to determine culture parameters such as oxygen uptake rate, CO₂ evolution and transfer rate, and respiratory quotient, and was tested with two different cell lines (hybridoma and DG44 cells), providing data that could be used to draw conclusions with respect to the batch-to-batch reproducibility of mammalian cell cultivation processes in real time, which is a relevant factor under the PAT initiative [87]. Recently, models based on multivariate culture parameter measurements have been reported for real-time in situ monitoring of multiple process variables within cell culture bioreactors. These models can be applied to various products, media, and cell lines based on CHO host cells, and are scalable to large pilot and manufacturing scales and are capable of predicting process parameters. These models allow monitoring of multiple key bioprocess metabolic variables, and hence can be utilized as an important enabling tool for PAT implementation [88].

Regarding the effect of media in the biomanufacturing process, mathematical models can help determine the variability and robustness of the process associated with changes in media composition, allowing process correction before the end of the culture run, based on online process measurements. A deep understanding of the role that each media component plays in the culture process is also required in order to implement and interpret these findings. As a result, we can expect that the implementation of the PAT initiative and the need to show control over all aspects of the production process will stimulate the development of chemically defined media formulations.

13.7 Conclusions

A detailed discussion on the classification of media for mammalian cell culture based on its characteristics, as well as a detailed review of all of its components, was provided. The fundamental role of each component in biochemical processes, cell growth, and production was discussed in detail.

There have been a large number of developments in media design, concerning media supplementation and the elaboration of specific serum-free media formulations for cells with distinct metabolic types. No standard universal culture medium formulation useful for all cell types has been proposed, given that different cell lines can present different metabolic profiles, requiring specific culture media compositions. Media formulations are dependent on the cell line, culture system, conditions, and culture objectives.

The utilization of medium components and supplements in an industrial setting, as well as the implications of the PAT initiative, were also addressed. There has been a paradigm shift in recent years in which media design is no longer oriented to provide cells with an environment that mimics its natural environment, but rather is aimed at identifying the conditions that can be imposed on the cells in order to maximize cell growth or productivity, in a cost-effective manner that complies with regulatory restrictions. The implementation of the PAT initiative and the need to monitor and control all aspects of the production process will likely stimulate the development of chemically defined media formulations. Standard media design concepts, such as providing cells with stoichiometric components in sufficient quantities and ensuring the presence of catalytic and unconsumed components, still need to be applied for these formulations. Empirical information obtained from scaled-down bioreactor settings and historical process data can be used to determine the effect of raw material composition on product quality and quantity for PAT implementation.

References

- 1 Miller, D.J. (2004) Sydney ringer: Physiological saline, calcium and the contraction of the heart. J. Physiol., 555, 585 - 587.
- 2 Hanks, J.H. (1975) Hanks' balanced salt solution and pH control. Tissue Cult. Assoc. Man., 1, 3-4.
- 3 Dulbecco, R. and Vogt, M. (1954) Plaque formation and isolation of pure lines with poliomyelitis viruses. J. Exp. Med., 99, 167-182.
- 4 Temin, H.M., Pierson, R.W. Jr., and Dulak, N.C. (1972) The role of serum in the control of multiplication of avian and mammalian cells in culture, in Growth, Nutrition, and Metabolism of Cells in Culture (eds G.H. Rothblat and V.J. Cristofalo), Academic Press, pp. 49-81.
- 5 Eagle, H. (1955) Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science, 122, 501-504.
- 6 Eagle, H. (1959) Amino acid metabolism in mammalian cell cultures. Science, 130, 432-437.
- 7 Ham, R.G. (1965) Clonal growth of mammalian cells in a chemically defined, synthetic medium. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 53, 288-293.
- 8 Dulbecco, R. and Freeman, G. (1959) Plaque production by the polyoma virus. Virology, 8, 396-397.
- 9 Moore, G.E., Gerner, R.E., and Franklin, H. (1967) Culture of normal human leukocytes. J. Am. Med. Assoc., 199, 519-524.
- 10 Hamilton, W.G. and Ham, R.G. (1977) Clonal growth of Chinese hamster cell lines in protein-free media. In Vitro, 13, 537 - 547.
- 11 Agy, P.C., Shipley, G.D., and Ham, R.G. (1981) Protein-free medium for C-1300 mouse neuroblastoma cells. In Vitro, 17, 671 - 680.
- 12 Hu, W.-S. (2012) Cell Culture Bioprocess Engineering, Wei-Shou Hu, Minnesota.
- 13 Barnes, D. and Sato, G. (1980) Serumfree cell culture: A unifying approach. Cell, 22, 649-655.
- 14 Alberts, B., Johnson, A., Lewis, J., Raff, M. et al. (2002) Ion Channels and the Electrical Properties of Membranes, Garland Science, New York.

- 15 Martinez, V., Gerdtzen, Z.P., Andrews, B.A., and Asenjo, J.A. (2010) Viral vectors for the treatment of alcoholism: Use of metabolic flux analysis for cell cultivation and vector production. Metab. Eng., 12, 129-137.
- 16 Young, J.D. (2013) Metabolic flux rewiring in mammalian cell cultures. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 24, 1108-1115.
- 17 Hossler, P., Khattak, S.F., and Li, Z.J. (2009) Optimal and consistent protein glycosylation in mammalian cell culture. Glycobiology, 19, 936-949.
- 18 Hall, J.E. (2010) Guyton and Hall Textbook of Medical Physiology: Enhanced E-book, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- 19 Ling, W.L. (2015) Development of protein-free medium for therapeutic protein production in mammalian cells: Recent advances and perspectives. Pharm. Bioprocess., 3, 215-226.
- 20 Chun, B.-H., Kim, J.-H., Lee, H.-J., and Chung, N. (2007) Usability of size-excluded fractions of soy protein hydrolysates for growth and viability of Chinese hamster ovary cells in protein-free suspension culture. Bioresour. Technol., 98, 1000-1005.
- 21 Schlaeger, E.-J. (1996) The protein hydrolysate, Primatone RL, is a costeffective multiple growth promoter of mammalian cell culture in serumcontaining and serum-free media and displays anti-apoptosis properties. J. Immunol. Methods, 194, 191-199.
- 22 Michiels, J.-F., Barbau, J., De Boel, S., Dessy, S. et al. (2011) Characterisation of beneficial and detrimental effects of a soy peptone, as an additive for CHO cell cultivation. Process Biochem., 46, 671-681.
- 23 Stoll, T.S., Muhlethaler, K., von Stockar, U., and Marison, I.W. (1996) Systematic improvement of a chemically-defined protein-free medium for hybridoma growth and monoclonal antibody production. J. Biotechnol., 45, 111-123.
- 24 Van der Valk, J., Brunner, D., De Smet, K., Fex Svenningsen, Å. et al. (2010) Optimization of chemically defined cell culture media - Replacing fetal bovine

serum in mammalian in vitro methods. Toxicol. In Vitro, 24, 1053-1063.

- 25 Reitmeyer, J. (1988) In vitro cytotoxicity of lipopolysaccharides for chinese hamster ovary cells. FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 49, 393-396.
- 26 Epstein, J., Kelly, C.E., Lee, M.M., and Donahoe, P.K. (1990) Effect of E. coli endotoxin on mammalian cell growth and recombinant protein production. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol., 26, 1121-1122.
- 27 Ozturk, S. and Hu, W.-S. (2005) Cell Culture Technology for Pharmaceutical and Cell-Based Therapies, CRC Press.
- 28 Mulukutla, B.C., Gramer, M., and Hu, W.-S. (2012) On metabolic shift to lactate consumption in fed-batch culture of mammalian cells. Metab. Eng., 14, 138-149.
- 29 Altamirano, C., Paredes, C., Cairó, J.J., and Gòdia, F. (2000) Improvement of CHO cell culture medium formulation: Simultaneous substitution of glucose and glutamine. Biotechnol. Prog., 16, 69-75.
- 30 Altamirano, C., Cairó, J.J., and Gòdia, F. (2001) Decoupling cell growth and product formation in Chinese hamster ovary cells through metabolic control. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 76, 351-360.
- 31 Wilkens, C.A., Altamirano, C., and Gerdtzen, Z.P. (2011) Comparative metabolic analysis of lactate for CHO cells in glucose and galactose. Biotechnol. Bioprocess Eng., 16, 714-724.
- 32 Wlaschin, K.F. and Hu, W.-S. (2007) Engineering cell metabolism for highdensity cell culture via manipulation of sugar transport. J. Biotechnol., 131, 168 - 176.
- 33 Li, J., Wong, C.L., Vijayasankaran, N., Hudson, T. et al. (2012) Feeding lactate for CHO cell culture processes: Impact on culture metabolism and performance. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 109, 1173-1186.
- 34 McGivan, J.D. and Pastor-Anglada, M. (1994) Regulatory and molecular aspects of mammalian amino acid transport. Biochem. J., 299, 321-334.
- 35 Patterson, M.K. Jr., (1972) Uptake and utilization of amino acids by cell cultures, in Growth, Nutrition, and Metabolism of Cells in Culture (eds G.H. Rothblat and V.J. Cristofalo), Academic Press, pp. 171-209.

- 36 Meister, A. (1980) Catalytic mechanisms of glutamine synthetase: Overview of glutamine metabolism, in Glutamine: Metabolism, Enzymology, and Regulation (eds J. Mora and R. Palacios), Academic Press.
- 37 Heeneman, S., Deutz, N.E., and Buurman, W.A. (1993) The concentrations of glutamine and ammonia in commercially available cell culture media. J. Immunol. Methods, 166, 85-91.
- 38 Ozturk, S.S. and Palsson, B.O. (1990) Chemical decomposition of glutamine in cell culture media: Effect of media type, pH, and serum concentration. Biotechnol. Prog., 6, 121-128.
- 39 Ozturk, S.S., Riley, M.R., and Palsson, B.O. (1992) Effects of ammonia and lactate on hybridoma growth, metabolism, and antibody production. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 39, 418-431.
- 40 Schneider, M., Marison, I.W., and von Stockar, U. (1996) The importance of ammonia in mammalian cell culture. J. Biotechnol., 46, 161-185.
- 41 Zupke, C. and Stephanopoulos, G. (1995) Intracellular flux analysis in hybridomas using mass balances and in vitro 13C nmr. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 45, 292-303.
- 42 Henry, O., Jolicoeur, M., and Kamen, A. (2011) Unraveling the metabolism of HEK-293 cells using lactate isotopomer analysis. Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng., 34, 263-273.
- 43 Goudar, C., Biener, R., Boisart, C., Heidemann, R. et al. (2010) Metabolic flux analysis of CHO cells in perfusion culture by metabolite balancing and 2D [13C, 1H] COSY NMR spectroscopy. Metab. Eng., 12, 138-149.
- 44 Lockart, R.Z. and Eagle, H. (1959) Requirements for growth of single human cells "Nonessential" amino acids, notably serine, are necessary and sufficient nutritional supplements. Science, 129, 252-254.
- 45 Eagle, H., Freeman, A.E., and Levy, M. (1958) The amino acid requirements of monkey kidney cells in first culture passage. J. Exp. Med., 107, 643-652.
- 46 Haley, E.E., Fischer, G.A., and Welch, A.D. (1961) The requirement for lasparagine of mouse leukemia cells

414 13 Medium Design, Culture Management, and the PAT Initiative

l5178y in culture. Cancer Res., 21, 532-536.

- 47 Rothblat, G.H. and Cristofalo, V.J. (1972) Growth, Nutrition, and Metabolism of Cells in Culture, Academic Press.
- 48 Bailey, J.M., Howard, B.V., and Tillman, S.F. (1973) Lipid metabolism in cultured cells. XI. Utilization of serum triglycerides. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 248, 1240–1247.
- 49 Melkikh, A. and Sutormina, M. (2013) Models of ion transport in mammalian cells, in *Developing Synthetic Transport Systems*, Springer, Netherlands, pp. 35–83.
- 50 Lodish, H., Berk, A., Zipursky, S.L., Matsudaira, P., Baltimore, D., and Darnell, J. (2012) Intracellular ion environment and membrane electric potential, in *Molecular Cell Biology*, W. H. Freeman.
- 51 Clapham, D.E. (2007) Calcium signaling. Cell, 131, 1047–1058.
- 52 Ermak, G. and Davies, K.J.A. (2002) Calcium and oxidative stress: From cell signaling to cell death. *Mol. Immunol.*, 38, 713–721.
- 53 Arigony, A.L., Vargas, C., de Oliveira, I.M., Machado, M. *et al.* (2013) The influence of micronutrients in cell culture: A reflection on viability and genomic stability. *BioMed Res. Int.*, 2013, 1–22.
- 54 Turski, M.L. and Thiele, D.J. (2009) New roles for copper metabolism in cell proliferation, signaling, and disease. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 284, 717–721.
- 55 Gawlitzek, M., Shawley, R., Vijayasankaran, N., and Shiratori, M. (2011) Identification of Copper as a Key Component in Chemically Defined Media, ESACT.
- 56 Moraes, A.M., Zucatelli Mendonca, R., and Torres Suazo, C.A. (2008) Culture media for animal cells, in *Animal Cell Technology: From Biopharmaceuticals to Gene Therapy* (eds L.R. Castilho, A.M. Moraes, E.F. Augusto, *et al.*), Taylor & Francis.
- 57 McLimans, W.F. (1972) The gaseous environment of the mammalian cell in culture, in *Growth, Nutrition, and Metabolism of Cells in Culture* (eds G.H.

Rothblat and V.J. Cristofalo), Academic Press, pp. 137-170.

- 58 Good, N.E., Winget, G.D., Winter, W., Connolly, T.N. *et al.* (1966) Hydrogen ion buffers for biological research*. *Biochemistry*, 5, 467–477.
- 59 Bowman, C.M., Berger, E.M., Butler, E.N., Toth, K.M. *et al.* (1985) Hepes may stimulate cultured endothelial cells to make growth-retarding oxygen metabolites. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol.*, 21, 140–142.
- 60 Halliwell, B. (2003) Oxidative stress in cell culture: An under-appreciated problem? *FEBS Lett.*, 540, 3–6.
- 61 Hossler, P., McDermott, S., Racicot, C., and Fann, J.C.H. (2013) Improvement of mammalian cell culture performance through surfactant enabled concentrated feed media. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, 29, 1023–1033.
- 62 Freshney, R.I. (2010) Culture of Animal Cells: A Manual of Basic Technique and Specialized Applications, John Wiley & Sons.
- 63 Sung, Y.H., Lim, S.W., Chung, J.Y., and Lee, G.M. (2004) Yeast hydrolysate as a low-cost additive to serumfree medium for the production of human thrombopoietin in suspension cultures of Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 63, 527–536.
- 64 Chow, J.C., Condorelli, G., and Smith, R.J. (1998) Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor internalization regulates signaling via the Shc/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway, but not the insulin receptor substrate-1 pathway. J. Biol. Chem., 273, 4672–4680.
- 65 Zhou, W. and Hu, W.S. (1995) Effect of insulin on a serum-free hybridoma culture. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 47, 181–185.
- 66 Morrione, A., Valentinis, B., Xu, S.Q., Yumet, G. et al. (1997) Insulin-like growth factor II stimulates cell proliferation through the insulin receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 94, 3777–3782.
- 67 Bai, Y., Wu, C., Zhao, J., Liu, Y.-H. *et al.* (2011) Role of iron and sodium citrate in animal protein-free CHO cell culture medium on cell growth and monoclonal

antibody production. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **27**, 209–219.

- 68 Crichton, R.R. and Charloteaux-Wauters, M. (1987) Iron transport and storage. *Eur. I. Biochem.*, 164, 485–506.
- 69 Francis, G.L. (2010) Albumin and mammalian cell culture: Implications for biotechnology applications. *Cytotechnol*ogy, 62, 1–16.
- 70 Cervera, L., Gutiérrez, S., Gòdia, F., and Segura, M.M. (2011) Optimization of HEK 293 cell growth by addition of nonanimal derived components using design of experiments. *BMC Proc.*, 5, P126.
- 71 Dimasi, L., Chirkova, L., Malbasic, M., Cavallaro, D. et al. (2011) Recombinant Albumin: Its Role in Cryopreservation and Cell Recovery, ESACT.
- 72 Cukierman, E., Pankov, R., Stevens, D.R., and Yamada, K.M. (2001) Taking cellmatrix adhesions to the third dimension. *Science*, 294, 1708–1712.
- 73 Whitford, W. and Manwaring, J. (2004) Lipids in Cell Culture Media, HyClone Laboratories, Inc., pp. 152–154.
- 74 Decaria, P., Alaine, S., and William, W. (2009) Many considerations in selecting bioproduction culture media. *BioProcess Int.*, 1, 44–51.
- 75 Gey, G.O. and Thalhimer, W. (1924) Observations on the effects of insulin introduced into the medium of tissue cultures. J. Am. Med. Assoc., 82, 1609.
- **76** Bjare, U. (1992) Serum-free cell culture. *Pharmacol. Ther.*, **53**, 355–374.
- 77 Helmy, M.H., Ismail, S.S., Fayed, H., and El-Bassiouni, E.A. (2000) Effect of selenium supplementation on the activities of glutathione metabolizing enzymes in human hepatoma Hep G2 cell line. *Toxicology*, **144**, 57–61.
- 78 Knospel, F., Schindler, R.K., Lubberstedt, M., Petzolt, S. *et al.* (2010) Optimization of a serum-free culture medium for mouse embryonic stem cells using design of experiments (DoE) methodology. *Cytotechnology*, **62**, 557–571.
- 79 Fann, J.C., Hossler, P., Mcdermott, S., and Racicot, C. (2012) Efficient and Effective Supplement Screening for the Development of Chemically Defined Media in Cell Culture, Abbott Laboratories.

- 80 Palermo, D.P., DeGraaf, M.E., Marotti, K.R., Rehberg, E. *et al.* (1991) Production of analytical quantities of recombinant proteins in Chinese hamster ovary cells using sodium butyrate to elevate gene expression. *J. Biotechnol.*, 19, 35–47.
- 81 Backliwal, G., Hildinger, M., Kuettel, I., Delegrange, F. *et al.* (2008) Valproic acid: A viable alternative to sodium butyrate for enhancing protein expression in mammalian cell cultures. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **101**, 182–189.
- 82 Food and Drug Administration (2004) Guidance for Industry PAT — A Framework for Innovative Pharmaceutical Development, Manufacturing, and Quality Assurance, Food and Drug Administration.
- 83 Abu-Absi, N.R., Kenty, B.M., Cuellar, M.E., Borys, M.C. *et al.* (2011) Real time monitoring of multiple parameters in mammalian cell culture bioreactors using an in-line Raman spectroscopy probe. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **108**, 1215–1221.
- 84 Read, E.K., Park, J.T., Shah, R.B., Riley, B.S. *et al.* (2010) Process analytical technology (PAT) for biopharmaceutical products: Part I. Concepts and applications. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, **105**, 276–284.
- 85 Teixeira, A.P., Oliveira, R., Alves, P.M., and Carrondo, M.J.T. (2009) Advances in on-line monitoring and control of mammalian cell cultures: Supporting the PAT initiative. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 27, 726–732.
- 86 Shirsat, N., English, N.J., Glennon, B., and Al-Rubeai, M. (2014) Modelling of mammalian cell cultures, in *Animal Cell Culture* (ed. M. Al-Rubeai), Springer.
- 87 Winckler, S., Krueger, R., Schnitzler, T., Zang, W. *et al.* (2013) A sensitive monitoring system for mammalian cell cultivation processes: A PAT approach. *Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng.*, **37**, 901–912.
- 88 Mehdizadeh, H., Lauri, D., Karry, K.M., Moshgbar, M. *et al.* (2015) Generic Raman-based calibration models enabling real-time monitoring of cell culture bioreactors. *Biotechnol. Prog.*, **31**, 1004–1013.

416 13 Medium Design, Culture Management, and the PAT Initiative

Further Reading/Resources

- Eibl, R., Fussenegger, M., Eibl, D., Weber, W. et al. (2008) Cell and Tissue Reaction Engineering, Springer.
- 2 Stacey, G.N. and Davis, J. (2007) *Medicines from Animal Cell Culture,* John Wiley & Sons.
- 3 Wagner, R. and Hauser, H. (2014) *Animal Cell Biotechnology in Biologics Production*, De Gruyter.

Sarika Mehra, Vikas Chandrawanshi, and Kamal Prashad

Mammalian cells are the preferred hosts to produce a number of recombinant biologics, especially proteins that require complex post-translational modifications for their in vivo efficacy. The hosts range from the most widely used Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells to the less commonly used baby hamster kidney (BHK), HeLa, and NS0 cells. Current bioprocesses are mostly based on suspension-adapted cells, which allow scalability and industrial culturing in bioreactors to achieve high titers by achieving high cell density, longevity of the culture, and high productivity. Although different types of bioreactors are used for culturing mammalian cells [1], stirred-tank bioreactors are the most common. In this review, we provide a comprehensive description of the different modes of bioreactor operation and the problems associated with their implementation in large-scale manufacturing. We will primarily concentrate on the fed-batch and the perfusion modes of operation, the two primary modes used in industry for culturing suspension cells. The growing importance of disposables has found its way into commercial biologics production. The use of disposables for large-scale bioprocessing using fed-batch and perfusion models will also be discussed. Advances in technologies to monitor metabolites in culture allow online control of bioprocesses. Some of these are also summarized.

14.1 Primary Modes of Bioreactor Operation

Bioprocess optimization has played an important role in increasing the productivity of recombinant therapeutics such as monoclonal antibodies (mAB) [2]. A bioreactor can be operated in four primary modes (Figure 14.1). The simplest method is a batch mode of operation where cells are seeded along with the required medium and allowed to grow. No further addition or removal of the medium occurs subsequently. A typical batch process for CHO cells lasts for 7-8 days, after which the cell viability drops to below 30%. The drop in viability is due to a combination of nutrient limitation and also build-up of toxic metabolites



Figure 14.1 Schematic of the different modes of a bioreactor operation.

including lactate and ammonia. This is the most common and simplest bioprocess method and is widely used in initial process optimization. Other modes of operation are modifications of the batch mode, with each offering its own set of advantages and limitations. In the fed-batch mode of operation, medium is fed to the bioreactor at regular intervals based on a control strategy. In the continuous stirred-tank reactor, the medium is fed continuously at a fixed flow rate, while simultaneously the cells and supernatant are withdrawn from the reactor. A constant volume of the reactor is maintained, and a given growth rate can be maintained for hours to days. A continuous mode of operation suffers from a major limitation that dilution rates greater than the growth rate lead to washout. An alternative is a reactor with a recycling operation, called as the perfusion reactor. Here, cells are separated from the output stream and retained within the reactor. Retention of cells allows the reactor to be operated at dilution rates greater than the growth rate. Moreover, the cell density in the reactor is higher than that obtained in a continuous bioreactor. Figure 14.2 shows a comparison



Figure 14.2 Comparison of the different modes of a bioreactor operation: (a) Growth profile for batch, fed-batch, continuous, and perfusion cultures. For perfusion, cell density data is plotted only till day 16. The culture actually lasts for 2–3 months. (b) Antibody

profiles for batch, fed-batch, continuous, and perfusion cultures. For perfusion, data has been shown only till day 13. Note that while titers (mg I^{-1}) of antibody are lower in the perfusion culture, cumulative product amounts (mg) are much higher [3].

of cell densities and product titers in a batch, a fed-batch, and a perfusion bioreactor based on data from an immunoglobulin G (IgG)-producing rat hybridoma cell line cultivated in a 200-l reactor [3]. The fed-batch and perfusion modes of operation are most common for the production of recombinant therapeutics in mammalian cells. In this review, we will discuss these two modes of animal cell cultivation in detail.

14.2 Fed-Batch Mode of Operation

Fed-batch is the method of choice of bioreactor operation for large-scale biopharmaceutical production. Its operational simplicity with a number of feeding strategies provides a better platform for process development. Fed-batch operations are touted to have lesser impact on product stability while still achieving higher product titers. In fed-batch operations, the cells are supplemented with key nutrients such as glucose, glutamine, vitamins, and amino acids at periodic intervals in order to maintain the cells at high productivity conditions. A vast majority of recombinant proteins are produced using the fed-batch process [4].

Fed-batch operations involve a detailed design of the feed medium, process control algorithm, mode and frequency of feeding, and adjustments based on feedback. An optimum feed is essential for maintaining proper growth and productivity of the cells. The control algorithm provides an estimate for feeding, which in turn controls the feeding frequency and feed volume. Various metabolites measured either online or offline provide a feedback control to prevent under/over-feeding. The various steps involved in designing a fed-batch process are summarized in Figure 14.3. These are discussed in detail in the following sections.

14.2.1

Design of Feed Composition

The primary aim of feed medium design is to supply nutrients that get exhausted in the culture so as to prolong the longevity of the culture. However, mammalian cells have complex nutritional requirements, where, in addition to an energy source such as glucose and/or glutamine, many amino acids, vitamins, lipids, growth factors such as insulin, and inorganic salts need to be provided. Design of the feed medium should therefore be based on stoichiometric principles so as to maximize the resources while avoiding deleterious effects of feeding excess nutrients [5].

Glucose is the major source of energy responsible for the bulk of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production. It is directly involved in the formation of cell biomass. Complete oxidation of glucose, under aerobic conditions, generates 30-32 molecules of ATP per mole of glucose. However, mammalian cells in culture usually undergo wasteful metabolism by directing part of the glucose toward lactate. Under these conditions, the cells generate only two ATP molecules per





Figure 14.3 Overview of fed-batch process development.

glucose molecule, which is converted to lactic acid. Lactate is a toxic metabolite that reduces the culture pH, leading to significant reduction in culture viability. Because of this limitation, it is advisable to maintain low levels of glucose in the culture and feed according to need. It has been observed that there is a significant decrease in glucose consumption [6] and lactate production at lower temperatures and this can be further reduced by culturing at a lower pH [7]. Under certain conditions, such as the stationary phase in fed-batch cultures, cells have also been observed to consume lactate [8, 9].

Glutamine is one of the major amino acids needed in a cell culture process because of its involvement in multiple processes. It provides the amide group needed for nucleotide synthesis. It is involved in the synthesis of important amino acids such as asparagine, serine, alanine, and aspartate. In an essential resource conservation step, glutamine, after double deamidation, is utilized in the TCA cycle as α -keto-glutarate. This is then utilized for ATP synthesis. However, one of the major disadvantages of higher glutamine consumption is the production of ammonia, which hinders cell growth by increasing the culture pH. The metabolism and growth rate of the cells are affected only at very low levels of glutamine in the culture because of its low K_m value. Ammonia formation due to excess glutamine and amino acid has a detrimental effect on cell growth as well as the product glycosylation profile [10].

The medium for the culture of mammalian cells is complex, where, in addition to glucose and glutamine as the primary nutrients, other amino acids are also required. Thirteen essential amino acids need to be supplemented, as cell growth is severely affected in their absence [11, 12]. Generally, the nonessential amino acids are also supplied in the medium, though these can be synthesized from other amino acids. In addition, the medium contains various vitamins including nicotinamide, riboflavin, thiamine, biotin, and others. The medium is also generally supplemented with lipids, salts, and essential fatty acids such as arachidonic acid, oleic acid, and linoleic acid. It has been a general practice to supplement cells with phospholipids and cholesterol, even though their absence will not result in the immediate suppression of growth.

Glucose and amino acids are used at much higher rates compared to vitamins and growth factors and therefore are the first ones to deplete. The feed medium is therefore designed primarily based on their requirements. Typically, glucose or glutamine is used as a reference metabolite, and stoichiometric ratios of the other metabolites such as amino acids are calculated from batch culture data.

The basal cell culture medium is designed with the optimum levels of different nutrients to support growth [13]. The concentrated feed medium can be developed from the same basal medium provided that the molar ratios of the components remain similar. In a study on JJ1 cells [14], a linear relation between the consumption of amino acids or glucose and yield (mAb productivity) established the following ground rule for feeding based on the consumption ratio of metabolite *i* with respect to glucose:

$$A_{i/\text{Glu}} = \frac{q_i}{q_{\text{Glu}}} = \frac{dC_i}{dC_{\text{Glu}}} = \frac{(C_{i,t} - C_{i,t-1})}{(C_{\text{Glu},t} - C_{\text{Glu},t-1})}$$
(14.1)

Based on this, the concentration of metabolite i in the feed medium was calculated.

$$C_{\text{feed},i} = A_{i/\text{Glu}} C_{\text{feed},\text{Glu}} \tag{14.2}$$

However, a much better estimate of the proportionality can be obtained if data from multiple previous time points are available. In a study by Hu *et al.*, the stoichiometric ratio between glucose, glutamine, other amino acids, lactate, and ammonia was determined. It was found that above a critical concentration of glucose, the stoichiometric ratio remained constant over many different cell lines and culture conditions [15].

It has been suggested that the amino acid requirement for growth and production are different [16], necessitating the estimation of stoichiometric ratios through the course of the culture. The stoichiometric ratios can be estimated online by measuring the metabolite concentrations over past few time points. The cumulative consumption of the nutrient can be plotted versus the cumulative consumption of reference nutrient such as glucose or glutamine. The slope of the line then gives an estimate of the stoichiometric ratio.

14.2.2

Feeding Strategies for Fed-Batch Culture

To design a fed-batch process, it is important to decide the composition of the feed medium (whether it is similar to the basal medium), when to feed the extra nutrients, how much to feed, and whether the feed should be added all at once. In the previous section we discussed how the composition of the feed medium is usually decided. Next we discuss the different philosophies that guide the design of a fed-batch process.

The most straightforward method of feeding is one in which a fixed percentage of the volume is fed at regular times. However, a rational design of feeding requires one or more critical parameters to be measured in real time, which are subsequently used to derive an optimum feed rate. This method is known as dynamic feeding. Continuous or periodic online measurement tracks the concentration of the indicator metabolite, and the culture is fed either manually or automatically to attain the set-point value. Parameters that can be measured in real time include viable cell density (VCD), oxygen uptake rates (OUR), and concentrations of the key metabolites including glucose, lactate, glutamine and other amino acids, and ammonia. A target value (mostly critical value) is used as a set point, and the feeding strategy is designed to achieve the set-point concentration.

Alternatively, the consumption or production rates of key metabolites and toxic by-products are used as indicators for feeding. The feeding strategy may be dependent on the glucose-to-lactate ratio or the specific consumption/production rates of the metabolites and not directly dependent on the concentrations.

The design of a feeding strategy can also be based on either a corrective action, referred to as supplementation approach, or a preventive action. In the supplementation method, the culture is supplemented with one or more nutrients based on deviation from a target value. The critical concentration of an indicator metabolite is used as the set point to regulate the feeding. The metabolite chosen should be involved in multiple pathways in order to establish a direct correlation with other metabolites in the medium or obtain a *universal nutrient consumption rate* based on which the concentration of other nutrients in the feed medium will be stoichiometrically balanced. The general choices of the indicator metabolites include glucose (target: 1-3 gl⁻¹ as baseline value), glutamine (target concentration of 1-3 mM), and dissolved oxygen (DO; saturation set at 40% (30–60%)). Other amino acids including asparagine (1–3 mM), tryptophan, cysteine, and methionine have also been used as indictor metabolites [17].

In contrast, the preventive approach is aimed at minimizing the accumulation of waste metabolites. Performance of a fed-batch system can be enhanced significantly based on "spent media analysis" or online monitoring of wasteful metabolites. In adherence with the viability data, the waste metabolite production rate can be used to design feed aimed at optimum utilization of all the resources without wasteful production. The two key toxic metabolites lactate and ammonia are produced in the culture as a result of utilization of glucose and amino acids, respectively. A lactate/glucose ratio of 1.6–1.9 suggests a wasteful metabolism

due to O2 limitation or due to the presence of excess glucose. The different control strategies used in a fed-batch process are discussed in detail with specific case studies.

14.2.2.1 Culture Working Volume as Control

In this strategy, feeding is based on a fixed feed volume control. For example, the culture is fed with 30% of the total volume. The feed medium is designed on the basis of the consumption rates of the different nutrients and is different from the basal medium. In a comparison of this strategy with that based on a set target of glucose, 17-30% increase in titers was seen in cultures fed with 30-40%volume of the culture. In contrast, no increase in titers was observed in cultures maintained at $\sim 3 \text{ g/l}$ [18].

14.2.2.2 Concentration of Indicator Metabolite as Control

In this strategy, a key metabolite is chosen as an indicator metabolite, whose concentration in the bioreactor defines the feeding profile of the culture. Metabolites such as glucose or glutamine, which are utilized in or channeled across different metabolic pathways, are better suited for this strategy as they indirectly depict the metabolic state of the cells. The volume of the feed can be calculated on the basis of the deviation from the set point or target value of the indicator metabolite, as shown in Equation 14.3. Feed pumping or manual feeding is initiated once the concentration drops below the setpoint.

$$V_{\rm F} = \frac{(C_{i,\rm setpoint} - C_i(t))V_{\rm r}}{C_i^{\rm F}}$$
(14.3)

The above equation does not account for the consumption of the metabolite until the next feeding. To account for this, the volume of the feed can be calculated as follows, where current consumption rate is used along with predicted cell density to estimate additional requirement of nutrients:

$$V_{\rm F} = \frac{(q_i * X_{t+1} + C_{i,\text{setpoint}} - C_i(t))V_{\rm r}}{C_i^{\rm F}}$$
(14.4)

Glucose and glutamine are the most commonly used indicator metabolites, and we next discuss specific case studies involving either of these nutrients. Attempts have also been made to use alternate sugars and other essential amino acids to design the fed-batch strategy.

Glucose as an Indicator Metabolite Glucose has been widely used as a critical indicator for feeding a variety of cell lines including hybridoma, CHO, and NS0 [18–22]. A critical concentration of glucose, generally in the range of $1-3 g l^{-1}$, is used as the set point to regulate feeding. Numerous examples are available in the literature that demonstrate fed-batch processes based on the maintenance of glucose concentration. One of the problems associated with glucose feeding is the build-up of lactate in the culture, which leads to toxicity. Thus, glucose is generally controlled at a critical low concentration to minimize wasteful metabolism.

In an interesting comparison between different modes of feeding [19], IgGproducing CHO cells were either fed every 3 days using a fixed volume method or based on the decrease in glucose concentration below the critical value (3 g l⁻¹) every 6 h. The feed mixture was designed such that all components were stoichiometrically balanced with glucose. The titers for glucose-fed cultures (8.2 g l⁻¹) were more than twice that for bolus feeding (4.1 g l⁻¹), suggesting that continuous availability of nutrients at a constant concentration leads to robust productivity. Further improvement in titers (9.1 g l⁻¹) could be obtained when the fed-batch was controlled dynamically with online measurement of glucose every 6 h. In another study, CHO (GS) – antithrombin (rAT) was cultured at a low pH of 6.8 [20] with daily continuous feeding of target glucose 2 g l⁻¹ along with balanced amino acid feeding. This led to an increase in rAT activity by 30% with decreased glucose consumption and lactate production at later stages of the culture. This suggests that glucose remains an ideal choice for designing the medium and feeding profile of a fed-batch process.

It is important to determine the optimum concentration of glucose. In a fedbatch culture, NS0 cells were grown at different target glucose levels $(2-8 \text{ g l}^{-1})$ after day 2 [23]. The feed volume was calculated according to Equation 14.3. The cultures that were fed with the target $2-8 \text{ g l}^{-1}$ glucose showed a lower specific antibody production rate of $10 \text{ mg}/10^9$ cells day⁻¹ as compared to $13 \text{ mg}/10^9$ cells day⁻¹ seen in the culture maintained at target value of 4 or 6 g l⁻¹. In addition, there is a critical limit of underfeeding of glucose and glutamine, especially for myeloma-based cell lines such as hybridomas. Hybridomas are characterized by rapid growth, which leads to higher rate of glutaminolysis and glycolysis [24]; limitation of key nutrients such as glucose and glutamine may lead to apoptosis in these cells [25, 26]. In a CRL1606 hybridoma cell line [27], 2–8 h of deficient conditions led to activation of caspases and triggering of apoptosis.

Controlling the glucose at low concentrations (<1 mM) has also been shown to induce a metabolic shift in the cells toward a lactate-consuming state [28]. For certain cell lines, two consecutive fed batches were required to effect this metabolic shift [29].

Glutamine as an Indicator Metabolite Glutamine is an important metabolite for animal cell culture and consumed at high rates. However, excessive glutamine can lead to the formation of ammonia, which is toxic to cells beyond 5 mM [30]. In addition, ammonia has also been shown to have a detrimental effect on glycosylation [31]. Therefore, many fed-batch studies have used glutamine as an indicator metabolite to control its concentration in the reactor.

In a study on 293-HEK cells lines, Lee *et al.* [32] demonstrated that significant increase in viable cell densities and adenovirus production was possible by controlling the process at low glutamine levels. Automatic sampling was performed every 1.5 h to calculate the levels of glutamine, which was used to dynamically regulate its levels in the culture. Cultures inoculated at 0.3 mM glutamine and maintained at 0.1 mM glutamine were able to achieve 1.6-fold higher VCD and 10-fold higher adenovirus levels as compared to control maintained at 4 mM of

glutamine at inoculation. This strategy of maintaining low glutamine also resulted in either lower or similar levels of lactate and ammonia as compared to control culture in different media formulations (SFMII and DMEM/F-12).

In another study on CHO cells producing interferon gamma [33], a glutamine set-point concentration of 0.3 mM was found to be optimal with higher cell densities and culture longevity and significant reduction in ammonia and lactate formation. In this study, glucose was fed at 5:1 molar ratio. When glucose was independently controlled, the yields dropped by almost 50%. In another study, a high and a low glutamine feed was compared in IgG-producing CHO cells [34]. The feed was added every 2 days starting from day 2. The excess feeding of glutamine led to a significant increase in the level of IVCC (integrated viable cell count), which in turn resulted in higher titers, but the per-cell productivity levels were very low. On the other hand, the cultures fed with lower amounts of glutamine were better able to utilize their resources, resulting in very high per-cell productivity and comparable titers to high-glutamine fed-batch cultures.

The quality of the bioproduct was also shown to be effected in a fed-batch process. In a study on interferon gamma (IFN- γ)-producing CHO cells, a low concentration-based feeding strategy was used where glutamine concentrations was kept at 0.3 mM to maintain both the N-glycosylation macro and microheterogeneity of IFN- γ [35].

Dual Control Using Glucose and Glutamine as Indicators Glucose and glutamine are the main nutrients for cell culture. An excess of either of them leads to toxic metabolites, lactate, and ammonia. Therefore, it would be useful to control the levels of both of these nutrients in a fed-batch process. This strategy was successfully demonstrated in 1994, when simultaneous control of glucose and glutamine at $0.2 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ (1.11 mM) and $0.1 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ (0.68 mM) levels, respectively, led to a twofold increase in cell density and antibody titers as compared to when glucose alone was controlled at $2 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ (11.1 mM) in mouse – mouse hybridoma cells (16-3F) [36]. In another study on hybridoma cells, cultures maintained at less than 1 mM glucose and glutamine had 1.4-fold and 2.3-fold increase in titers when compared with glutamine-limited and glucose-limited cultures, respectively [37]. Specific production rates have also been seen to double compared to when glucose alone was controlled [36]. Many other studies have demonstrated reduction in lactate and ammonia production by controlling both, the levels of culture glucose and glutamine [28, 38].

Alternate Sugars and Amino Acids as Indicator Metabolites The common problem arising out of the use of glucose is the accumulation of lactate in the culture, which leads to a decrease in viability. An alternative to glucose as primary carbon source is other hexoses. In a study on t-PA-producing CHO cells [21, 39], alternative carbon sources including mannose, fructose, and galactose, at 20 mM concentration, were compared with glucose feeding. The cultures fed with glucose and mannose reached higher cells densities, but severe lactate build-up (13 mM) was seen. The cells fed with fructose and galactose had relatively low cell densities

compared to the other two hexoses, but the lactate levels (~1 mM) were much lower [40]. In these cultures, the slow metabolism of hexoses was compensated by significantly higher consumption of glutamine (7 mM), which led to ammonia build-up. An ideal carbon-nitrogen pair source is glucose and glutamine, as the cells fed with this combination outperformed the cells fed with combinations of glucose/galactose-glutamine/glutamate in terms of culture longevity and titers even though the same culture had maximum lactate-ammonia build-up. An optimum balance needs to be maintained between the glucose and glutamine consumption by controlled feeding in order to achieve higher titers.

Recent studies have shown better utilization of carbon fluxes toward acetyl CoA formation via overexpressing levels of fructose transporters involved in carbon metabolism [41]. In a study on IgG-producing CHO cells, Wlaschin and Hu were able to achieve higher cell densities and lower lactate levels by overexpressing the GLUT5 transporter to increase the uptake of fructose into cells [42], suggesting the importance of modulating carbon fluxes. In a study on 293-2 cells expressing E1A and E1B proteins, the effect of feeding essential and non-essential amino acids was studied while maintaining glutamine at minimum concentration [43]. The fed batch with glutamine led to a maximum cell density of 2.4×10^6 cells ml⁻¹ compared to 1.8×10^6 cells ml⁻¹ achieved in the batch mode. Owing to higher glutamine consumption, 2.5 mM ammonia was produced in the fed-batch mode as compared to only 1 mM in the batch culture. A fed batch with essential amino acids without glutamine showed further increase in VCD to 3×10^{6} cells ml⁻¹ and reduced ammonia production below 1 mM. Flux analysis showed that the cells could adapt to a medium with low glutamine by increasing the amino acid fluxes towards the Kreb's cycle. Adding non-essential amino acids during this feeding strategy did not improve the growth further and these amino acids accumulated in the medium.

14.2.2.3 Nutrient Consumption Rate as Control

Г

Another strategy to design the feed is to keep up with the demand for the nutrients. Thus, the requirement of a key nutrient until the next feeding is calculated on the basis of the consumption rate and the average cell density over this period. The volume of feed medium to be added in the time interval t_{i+1} to t_i can be estimated as follows:

$$V_{\text{feed}} = \frac{q_i \int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} X_{\nu} \, dt}{C_i^{\text{F}}} V_c \quad \text{or} \quad V_{\text{feed}} = \frac{q_i [(X_{\nu})_{t(i+1)} + (X_{\nu})_{t(i)}][t_{i+1} - t_i][V_c]}{2C_i^{\text{F}}}$$
(14.5)

The consumption rate can either be estimated online based on the previous data points or can be a fixed value based on earlier batch cultures.

$$q_{i} = [C_{(0)} - C_{(t)}] \times \left[\frac{\mu}{10^{-3} \left(X_{,0} \left[\exp(\mu t) - 1 \right] \right)} \right]$$
(14.6)

٦

Similarly, the integral cell density can either be estimated based on an earlier computed growth rate [44] or, if online measurement of cell density is possible [45], future cell density can be predicted. Generally, glucose is the most preferred nutrient.

In a study with NS0 cells, the feeding strategy was based on constant specific nutrient consumption rates (previously determined by Robinson et al. [46]) and the predicted IVCC. Cells were able to achieve much higher final IVCC $(1.6 \times 10^{12} \text{ cells h}^{-1} \text{ l}^{-1})$ and titers $(2.7 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1})$ [44]. These cells were fed with nutrients showing rapid exhaustion (proprietary), amino acids, and cholesterolcontaining lipid emulsion daily. The nutrients that were consumed at lower rates, including low-density lipoprotein, bovine serum albumin, transferrin, insulin, nucleosides, and vitamins, were fed every 2-4 days. The feeding amounts of each solution (V_{feed}) in between the time intervals $(t_{i+1} - t_i)$ were estimated using Equation 14.5. This simple feeding strategy was effectively able to extend the cell growth phase and culture lifetime by delaying the starvation-induced apoptosis phase. Similarly, in another study, the GS-NS0 and GS-CHO cell lines constitutively producing mAb against CD25 and the dimeric fusion protein, respectively [47], were fed with well-defined, stoichiometrically balanced feed where the feeding rate matched with the consumption rate, with glucose as the reference point. This resulted in 8.2- and 5.7-fold increase in IVCC and 7.53- and 4.4-fold increase in titers in GS-NS0 and GS-CHO cells, respectively. Interestingly, this strategy led to a lower specific lactate production rate $(2.41 - 3.99 \text{ mmol}/10^9 \text{ cells day}^{-1})$ than in a batch culture $(6.11 - 6.22 \text{ mmol}/10^9 \text{ cell day}^{-1})$.

14.2.2.4 Predicted Growth Rate as Control

Very few studies are reported in the literature where the feeding is based entirely on maintaining the growth rate. In a dynamic fed-batch study [17], asparagine concentration was used as a measure of the decrease in growth rate. The feeding was therefore based on maintaining the consumption rate of asparagine. However, measurement of the growth rate is important to accurately determine the nutrient requirement [44], and therefore a variety of probes are used to correlate the optical density to cell count [45, 48].

14.2.2.5 Culture pH as Control

Another useful and straightforward strategy to design a fed-batch process is to couple the feed to the drop in pH, as mammalian cells are sensitive to the pH change. The drop in pH can be estimated from the amount of base added to the reactor, and a proportional feed can be added to the culture. This strategy can also help maintain a constant glucose concentration, as the pH drop is primarily due to lactic acid production, which is stoichiometrically related to glucose consumption.

pH-based fed-batch control was first demonstrated in recombinant human kidney cells-293 in 1995 [49], where adding a concentrated feed was coupled to pH control stoichiometrically. The drop in pH was estimated from the amount of base added to the reactor to maintain a constant pH. For every mM of NaOH added, 0.205 g (1.14 mM) of glucose was fed to the reactor, resulting in 10-fold increase

in protein C titer and twofold increase in cell density as compared to the batch process.

In another recent study [50], a pH-controlled feeding strategy, referred to as HIPDOG (HI-End pH-Controlled Delivery of Glucose), was implemented on a panel of IgG-producing CHO-K1 cells. The glucose pump was controlled by the change in pH of the culture. HIPDOG cultures maintained comparatively very low levels of lactate, all below 3 g l^{-1} (33.3 mM), throughout both the growth phase and the production phase. When the glucose level in culture reached a low level (generally below 1 mM), cells began to take up lactic acid from the culture medium, resulting in a rise in pH above the set point. At this point, the glucose pump started automatically at a slow rate, resulting in a shift from lactate consumption to glucose consumption, resulting in a decrease of pH. When the pH went below the set point, the glucose feeding was stopped. This pH based glucose-lactate feedback regulation resulted in 1.83-fold higher IVCC and 3.9-fold higher titers as compared to control on day 12. Using this technology, the fed batch could be scaled up to 2500 l. On the contrary, the levels of ammonium in the HIPDOG cultures were nearly two-fold higher than those in conventional fed-batch cultures. The positive effect seen due to low lactate levels masks the inhibition effect of the excess ammonium.

14.2.2.6 Oxygen Uptake Rate as Control

OUR is a critical parameter used to monitor the health of the culture. A higher OUR suggests a higher metabolic activity, which can be correlated to higher titers or biomass formation or waste generation. The OUR rate is calculated by measuring the rate in drop of pO_2 after the O_2 is cut off. Oxygen uptake is very sensitive to changes in metabolic rates, and therefore can be easily used to control nutrient levels in a fed-batch culture.

Once airflow is interrupted in the bioreactor, the accumulation of oxygen in the liquid phase is a balance between the oxygen transfer rate due to desorption and the OUR of cells. The oxygen balance can thus be given by

$$OUR = \frac{C_{O_2}(t_0) - C_{O_2}(t_f)}{t_f - t_0} + \frac{\int_{t_0}^{t_f} (-k_L a C_{O_2}(t)) dt}{t_f - t_0}$$
(14.7)

OUR gives a sense about the oxygen consumption and availability in the culture. OUR can be also used to accurately predict the beginning of the death phase, which can be used to prolong the exponential phase or keep the cells between the log and stationary phases in order to achieve maximum productivity. The coupling of nutrient consumption rate with OUR can help in tightly regulating the culture parameters near a set point. This method of feeding is more suitable in the case of dynamic feeding, as it will sense even minor fluctuations.

OUR is generally used at the reactor scale, with an automatic feeding strategy. The hybridoma cell line IV F 19.23, producing IgG1, was cultivated in a 2-l bioreactor (Bioengineering, Switzerland) in which a feeding algorithm based on OUR was used [22]. The time point at which significant drop in the OUR of the culture; revealed a very low levels of glucose (0.36 g/l) and glutamine (0.2 mM) left in the culture. This correlation between OUR and the nutrient uptake rate was used to control the feeding profile.

In another study on mouse hybridoma cells (MAK), OUR was used to control the fed-batch process [51, 52]. OUR was stoichiometrically correlated with glucose consumption rates, and accordingly the feeding rate was dynamically adjusted to maintain a glucose concentration of $0.1 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$. The stoichiometric relation between glucose and oxygen was determined online. This strategy led to a significant reduction in the level of lactate, and the cells reached a very high concentration of 1.36×10^7 cells ml⁻¹. Under glucose limitation, increase in OUR could also be correlated to glutamine consumption [53]. In a novel approach, a closed-loop control algorithm was designed to control OUR by varying the glutamine feed rate [54].

14.2.3

Mode and Frequency of Feeding

The frequency of feeding as well as the mode of addition of the feed influences the performance of a fed-batch culture. There are primarily two modes of feeding (Figure 14.4). In the bolus mode of feeding, the cells are fed with a concentrated feed medium in a very short interval of time in a periodic manner. This highconcentration feeding is sufficient for the cells for few days. This mode of feeding is preferred in large-scale mammalian cell cultures for the production of mAbs, as the osmolatic shock coupled with decrease in temperature significantly boosts the overall titers [55-57]. One of the major disadvantages of this mode is the sudden increase in the overall osmolality of the culture, which can be detrimental for some cell lines. The bolus mode of feeding has been employed in many cell lines to achieve higher product titers. A few examples from the literature are presented in Table 14.1. For example, HEK293 cells producing the human recombinant IFN α 2b were fed with 1 ml of EfficientFeed (Invitrogen) medium daily, whereas glutamine was fed separately to maintain a desired set point (2.5 mM) from day 2 onward [58]. This resulted in twofold increase in cell density and threefold increase (160 mg l^{-1}) in the IgG titer.

Alternatively, the feeding can be done continuously, referred to as continuous feed. Based on the stoichiometric analysis of the earlier batch culture data, the nutrient consumption rates and growth rates are calculated. These data are then used to predict an optimum feeding rate that accounts for dilution, which is maintained throughout the culture duration. The feeding rate can be adjusted on the basis of offline or online measurements. This method is most suited for the cultures in which an optimized uniform feed is used rather than feeding the individual components. The nutrient levels in the culture post initiation of feeding remain close to the target levels during the course of feeding. This is maintained by dynamically adjusting the feed flow rate (F) according to the online measurements and accounting for the deviation from the set point;

$$F = \frac{V_{\text{feed}}}{f} \tag{14.8}$$





Figure 14.4 Different modes of feeding. (a) Bolus, (b) continuous, and (c) dynamic.

14.2.4

Challenges in Fed-Batch Culture and Future Directions

One of the major challenges of fed-batch culture is the reduction in the accumulation of toxic metabolites, namely lactate and ammonia, in the culture. A number of process-based strategies that have been successful in achieving this objective have been discussed earlier in the review. The development of serum-free medium as well as the optimization of feeding strategies has led to 100-fold increase in titers of rCHO cultures over the last two decades [59]. Compared to the batch culture in the 1980s, optimized fed-batch process has allowed the culture duration to be extended by a factor of 3 while simultaneously increasing the maximum cell densities by more than 10-15-folds. Specific productivity has also increased 5-10 times, while 20-50 fold increase in volumetric productivities has been possible. As a result, titers of more than $5 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ are now routinely achievable in fed-batch cultures.

Owing to the strong competition in biopharmaceutical production market, most of the details of process development in biopharmaceutical companies are out of bounds for the general public [60]. However, process modifications alone

E ondine	Modolof	Complete	Taugat cot	Lood comocition	Coll line/		لمتد تشتمنا الم	Defense and
recaing strategy	mode or addition, feeding Frequency	guing	larget set point	reed composition	cell line/ product	scale/reactor	cell density and titers	kererences
Fixed volume fed based on glucose mea- surements	Bolus, Every 3 days from day 3 onward	Autosampler	Fed from media containing 133 g1 ⁻¹ glucose	Varying chemically defined feeds with different amino acids, osmolality, and pH	CHO-lgG	31 bioreactor (Applikon), production reactors	4.1 gl ⁻¹ , 8.5 million cells ml ⁻¹ on day 12	[19]
Target nutrient Glucose	Dynamic, Every 4–6h	Autosampler	3g1-1	Chemically defined media	CHO-lgG	31 bioreactor (Applikon), production reactors	9.1 g1 ⁻¹ , 13 million cells m1 ⁻¹ on day 19	[19]
Target nutrient Glucose	Continuous, After day 2	Manual sampling by syringe	2 g l ⁻¹	Protein-free chemically defined feed media developed in house	CHO (GS) – antithrombin	2-1 (Bio Master D type; Able, Tokyo) fed-batch culture	Increase in rAT activity by 30%	[20]
Target nutrients Glucose/ glucose + galactose	Bolus, Every 12 h	Manual sampling	FB1 Target Glucose = 2 - 3 mM, FB2 target galactose = 13 - 20 mM	10× (amino acids as compared to basal BIOPRO1 medium), 4× vitamins, 8× lipids,	CHO TF 70R	250 ml spinner flask (Techne) with a working volume of 150 ml	Batch $-4.2 \text{ mg } l^{-1}$, FB1 (glucose) 5.2 mg l^{-1} , FB2 (glucose + galactose) 5.6 mg l^{-1}	[21]

 Table 14.1
 Different fed batch strategies in cell culture bioprocesses.

(continued overleaf)

14.2 Fed-Batch Mode of Operation **431**

(Continued)	
Table 14.1	

Feeding strategy	Mode of addition, feeding Frequency	Sampling	Target set point	Feed composition	Cell line/ product	Scale/reactor	Cell density and titers	References
Model-based Adaptive OLFO (open-loop feedback optimal) controller	Dynamic, Periodic feeding after day 2	Not mentioned (manual)	Glucose = 1 mM, Glutamine = 2 mM	Similar to 10× IMDM/Ham's F-12 (1:1) without salts	Hybridoma cell line IV F 19.23	 2-1 2-1 polyamide-foil stirred bioreactor (Bioengineer- ing, Switzerland) 	Maximum VCD: Batch – 2 × 10 ⁶ cells ml ⁻¹ , OFLO – 2.7 × 10 ⁶ cell ml ⁻¹ , 2.9-fold increase in titer vs batch	[22]
Glucose linked to lactate and pH	Bolus, (2–3% of reactor volume per day starting on day 4)	Not mentioned (Manual)	Details not mentioned	In-house feed (Pfizer)	Serum free CHOK1 suspension cells	1 or 21 bioreactor (Applikon)	Day 12 - control (IVCC = 192 million cells ml ⁻¹), HIPDOG (IVCC = 352), 3.9-fold increase in IgG titers	[50]
Target nutrients Glucose and glutamine	: Bolus, daily	Manual sampling	Glucose = not mentioned, Glutamine = 2.5 mM	Feed B media (Invitrogen)	HEK293 – human recombinant IFNa2b and expressing the PYC	125 ml (20 ml W.V.) shake flask scale, 21 stirred bioreactor	Threefold increase in final product titer (160 mgl ⁻¹), twofold increase in maximum cell density (up to 10.7×10^{6} cells ml ⁻¹)	[58]

Low glutamine	Dynamic	Not mentioned G (Manual)	5]utamine = 0.3 mM, glucose maintained at 0.35 or 0.7 mM Glucose/ glutamine = 5:1	Formulated concentrate of DMEM/F-12 with soybean protein hydrolysate and other additives	CHO (IFN-gamma)	5.01 bioreactor(B. Braun, Melsungen, Germany)	10-fold improvement in IFN-gamma yields	[33]
Online capacitance to measure growth	Bolus, Every 4–8 h	Glucose always above 0.25 mM	4	Chemically defined media	Murine hybridoma cell line, JJ-1, mAbs against human tissue factor (hTF)	125 ml shaker flasks, Biostat M stirred-tank bioreactor	Batch : VCD (1.37 × 10 ⁶ /ml), mAb (136 mg l ⁻¹); Fed-batch: VCD (3.31 - 7.04 × 10 ⁶ ml ⁻¹), mAb (304 - 707 mg l ⁻¹)	[14]
Online capacitance to monitor VCC	Dynamic	Fed when glucose 3 g1 ⁻¹ , every 6	went below h	Chemically defined media	CHO-lgG	31 bioreactor (Aplikon), production reactors	Bolus – 4.1 g l ^{–1} , Dynamic (VCC) – 6.5 g l ^{–1}	[19]
OUR was coupled to glucose consumption	Continuous	Glucose levels ma between 0.9 an	intained id 1.2 mM	CHO-S-SFMII	KB26.5 murine hybridoma cell line, IgG3 mAb against antigen A1 of the RBCs	Biostat MCD2 bioreactor equipped with a 2 l cylindrical vessel	Batch: VCD (2 × 10 ⁶ /ml), $Y_{Lac/Glc} = 1.7;$ Fed-batch: VCD (4.1 - 5.2 × 10^{6} ml ⁻¹), $Y_{Lac/Glc} =$ 1.21 - 1.4	[214]
Stoichiometric feeding based on OUR	Dynamic, Feeding started on day 2	(cGln = 0.2 mM, c	Glc=2 mM)	similar to 10× IMDM/Ham's F-12 (1: 1) without salts	Hybridoma cell line IV F 19.23	2-1 polyamide-foil stirred bioreactor	Maximum VCD: Batch $- 2 \times$ 10^{6} cells m1 ⁻¹ , OFLO $- 2.8 \times$ 10^{6} cell m1 ⁻¹ , 1.5-fold increase in titer vs batch	[22]

14.2 Fed-Batch Mode of Operation **433**

may not advance the longevity of fed-batch processes. With recent advances in cell engineering approaches, development of better clones with reduced lactate and ammonia production has resulted in much higher titers [42, 61, 62]. Small interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated knockdown of lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHa) and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases (PDHKs) in CHO cells expressing a therapeutic mAb reduced lactate production by 90% and increased the specific productivity and volumetric antibody production by approximately 75% and 68%, respectively [61]. To reduce the ammonia produced from glutamine, a less ammoniagenic substrate, namely glutamate, was used. rCHO cells engineered with the glutamate synthetase (GS) system, when cultured with glutamate, showed lower ammonia production [62]. GS catalyzes glutamate with ammonia to yield glutamine. A major target of the cell engineering technique has been the apoptotic pathway with an aim of prolonging the culture duration. The overexpression of the anti-apoptotic proteins Bcl-2, Bcl-xL, and Mcl-1, or downregulation of pro-apoptotic proteins such as Bak and Bax in rCHO cells, resulted in increased cell viability and protein production [26, 63].

Vector engineering is an emerging alternative to gene amplification strategies to increase productivity owing to its less time and labor requirements. Using the current vector engineering techniques, gene targeting by site-specific integration [64-67], and a cis-acting element to augment gene expression [68, 69], high producing stable rCHO cell lines were established. The CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system has been successfully used to generate isogenic cell lines with consistent protein production, owing to its ability to mediate targeted gene integration into site-specific loci in CHO cells [70]. Cell proliferation engineering approaches have targeted the cell-cycle pathway to achieve cells with better growth and productivity [71-74]. Protein secretion pathway remains a major bottleneck in achieving higher productivities [75]. To overcome this challenge, various cell engineering techniques have aimed at increasing/decreasing the expression of chaperones [76-78], proteins assisting in secretion [79-81], and unfolded protein response pathway proteins [82-84]. The limited success of these cell engineering techniques can be attributed to the unavailability of rCHO genetic information for a long time. Finding of hotspots and neighboring sequences based on available genome of CHOK1 [85] will lead to better targeted cell line engineering approaches to identify high producers.

Another major challenge in a fed-batch process is scalability. The scaling-up process is intensive and prone to batch-to-batch variations. The full potential of the fed-batch remains unutilized owing to the limitation of the bioreactor volume. The maximum achievable cell density in a fed-batch culture is less than in perfusion cultures by 10-100-folds, which ultimately limits its maximum titers. Moreover, the continuously changing environment in the bioreactor can lead to alteration of cellular metabolism and genetic reprogramming of cells, which can hinder cell growth and make the product more liable to aggregation and fragmentation [86].

14.3 Perfusion Mode of Bioreactor Operation

An alternative to fed-batch process is a continuous reactor with recycling, referred to as perfusion. In this mode, the reactor is continuously fed with the medium. Simultaneously, cells are harvested using cell retention devices and re-fed into the reactor. Thus, higher cell densities can be obtained in a relatively small culture volume.

A perfusion bioprocess offers many advantages over a fed-batch process. Continuous removal of toxic metabolites such as lactate and ammonia assists cellular growth, with cell densities higher by at least an order of magnitude. As the reactor is operated at a constant growth rate, it provides a uniform environment for the cells, leading to more reliable and reproducible runs with high consistency in the product quality. A perfusion culture can be maintained continuously for many days and months, leading to higher product levels compared to fed-batch or batch processes. As an example, SEAP, a model protein, was produced in Sf9 insect cells in batch, fed-batch, and perfusion modes with an acoustic-settler-based retention device. While the cell densities in the fed-batch and perfusion system were similar, and higher product titers in the fed-batch, the overall product levels were 8 times higher in the perfusion system, as the culture could be maintained for 43 days as compared to 16 days in the fed-batch culture [87].

Perfusion bioprocess is the natural choice for commercial production of unstable biologics, as the residence time for the product is much lower than in a fed-batch process. Factor VIII is produced commercially by Bayer (Kogenate), Pfizer (Refacto), and Novo Nordisk (Novoseven). Perfusion-based upstream process coupled with continuous downstream platform can significantly enhance the overall titers of such unstable products [88]. Other molecules that are produced using perfusion systems include Protein C (Xigris, Eli Lilly) and mAbs such as Simulect (Novartis), Reopro (Jansen), and Remicade (Jansen) [89].

14.3.1

Types of Perfusion Devices

The key components of a perfusion system are the retention devices that continuously separate cells and spent medium from the bioreactors. Retention devices exploit a physical property of cells to separate them from the supernatant. Sedimentation-based devices use cell density, whereas in filtration-based devices the primary mode of separation is cell size. Other perfusion devices employ centrifugal force or acoustic waves for separation. A variety of these devices are used for the commercial production of recombinant proteins [89]. Table 14.2 lists some of the retention devices currently used with their application in culturing animal cells.

14.3.1.1 Gravity Settlers

Gravity settlers are the simplest devices to retain cells based on cell density (Figure 14.5a,b). These systems are used to culture shear-sensitive cells, and

Type	Retention device	Cell line	Product	Max. VCD (million cells ml ⁻¹)	Max. PFR (day ⁻¹)	Max. days	References
Sedimentation	Sedimentation Inclined settler	Hybridoma, CHO CHO, BHK21	IgG2a, SEAP mAb, FVIII	23 20	0.89 1	36 34	[215, 216] [217–219]
Acoustic	Acoustic cell-separation (BioSep)	Hybridoma, CHO	IgG1, tPA	100	10	110	[145, 148, 220–222]
	Ultrasonic resonance held device	Hybridoma	IgGI, IgG	50	72	58	[143, 147]
Filtration	Spin filter	NS0, Myeloma, CHO	IgG4, IgM, IgG	10	1.2	34	[119, 120, 125]
	langential cross-flow filter Filtration	ыу Hybridoma	vr6 mAb	20 20	2.9		[99] [223]
	Floating filter	CHO, S2	mAb	104	9.9	16	[224 - 226]
	Hollow fiber	CHO, 293, Sf21	IgG1, GFP	55	9	27	[227, 228]
	Depth filter	CHO	IgG	0.35	9	20	[229]
	Dynamic rotating disc filter	CHO	IgG	10	2	16	[230]
	Polyethene membrane filter	Hybridoma	IgG2a	20	0.15	10	[231]
	Porous ceramic filter	Hybridoma	IgG2a	35	1	10	[232]
	Ultrasonic filter	Sf9	Chitinase	27	10	12	[150]
	Vortex flow filtration	NS0, SP20	mAb, IgM	14.7	1.57	18	[233, 234]
Centrifugation	Centritech Lab centrifuge	Hybridoma, CHO	IgM, IgG	16	4	15	[133, 134, 235]
	SorvalCentritech Lab cell II	HEK293	Beta secretase	30	0.5, 1.0, 2.0	21	[236]
Others	CS10 call gravity cattlar	NGO	m ∆ h	c X	cr	сл 23	[737]
	A RTS A90 camping valve	RHK	NA	10	NA	107	[738]
	Cell culture cap	A549					[239]
	Cell entrapment alginate	Hybridoma	IgE	12	NA	33	[240]
	PET fibrous matrices	HT-29 cells	EGFP	50	NA	2	[241]

 Table 14.2
 Cell retention devices and their application in perfusion bioprocess.

436

14 Advanced Bioprocess Engineering: Fed-Batch and Perfusion Processes

retention rate of viable cells is usually above 90%. Two different working modes are available using gravity settlers: vertical counter current flow and inclined surface flow. Most of the studies on gravity settling are through external retention loops, although some of them have tried internal retention zones [90–95].



Figure 14.5 Sedimentation- and filtrationbased retention devices for perfusion process. (a) Principle of gravity settlers. (b) Compact inclined settler ([211] with permission from Wiley ©Wiley 2003). (c) Principle of cross-flow filtration. (d) Repligen ATF system [108]. (e) Schematic of ATF system [108]. (f) Schematic of experimental laboratory-scale CSF ([114] with permission from Gesellschaft für Biotechnologische Forschung mbH, Braunschweig, Germany). (g) Schematic of the vortex flow filter [211]. (h) Schematic of a spin filter bioreactor.

14.3.1.2 Filtration

Filtration is the most widely used method in a retention device. A physical barrier separates the cells and spent medium from the cultures. The major disadvantage of using this type of retention device is that it creates fouling and clogging of the filter by cells [96–98]. Its inability to distinguish viable and dead cells is another major bottle neck for large-scale bioprocessing. A number of variants of this device are available in the market offering efficient separation of cells from the media. The following sections describe a few of them in detail with their industrial-scale setup.

Cross-Flow Filtration (CFF) or Tangential Flow Filtration (TFF) In a cross-flow filtration system, the cell suspension is continuously passed through a membrane held tangentially, thereby allowing retention of cells at the bottom of the bioreactor (Figure 14.5c). The most widely used membranes are polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF), Nucleopore, and polycarbonate cross-flow membrane filters [99-101]. With minor adjustments of the flow rate in the retention loop, fouling could be avoided in these filters at the laboratory scale. A major limitation of the cross-flow filtration is the damage to cells due to shear stress. Both the magnitude of shear stress and the time of exposure to stress contribute to the loss in viability of the cells [102]. This has also been observed experimentally, where a shear-stressinduced decrease in the growth rate was seen in Sf9 cells when perfused through cross-flow filtration units [99]. Cross-flow-filtration-based devices are difficult to scale up because of the high surface area requirements and problems of fouling. However, there are many examples of using such devices for purification of proteins from large-scale cultures. High recovery rates were obtained using six cross flow filtration units at 50001 scale with no change in the product quality [103]. There have been many studies on the use of tangential flow filtration in mammalian cultures such as hybridoma cells [104] and FM-3A cells [101].

Hollow Fiber Hollow fibers provide a large surface area for cross-flow filtration. On the basis of a study with a microfiltration system using polysulfone membranes, a pore size of $0.45 \,\mu\text{m}$ was found to be more effective at reducing pore blockage than a smaller pore size of $0.20 \,\mu\text{m}$ [105]. In addition, a feed flow rate corresponding to the wall shear rate of $4000 \,\text{s}^{-1}$ was found to be optimum.

For commercial manufacture of biologics, a number of large-scale hollow fiber filtration devices are available on the market. GE presents a hollow fiber membrane filter with an operational capacity of 2000 l. Alternatively, installing multiple hollow fiber filtration devices has also been tried at large-scale manufacturing sites [103]. Filtration devices such as the single-pass tangential flow filtration (TFF) [106] have been modified, where multiple membranes are put together such that a single unit provides multiple filtrations and avoids recirculation. However, this has primarily been used in downstream processing to concentrate the antibodies and not in a perfusion culture. Using a hollow fiber bioreactor, a hybridoma cell line producing IgM was maintained in culture for 40 days with higher antibody yields as compared to a cross-flow-filtration-based perfusion system [107].

Alternating Tangential Flow The alternating tangential flow (ATF), a patented technology by Repligen (Waltham, MA), is widely used in industrial applications [108].

This system uses an external hollow fiber (Figure 14.5d) module through which the medium is exchanged using diaphragm pumps. However, the cell culture feed flows along the membrane, while the filtrate flows across it. The ATF pump is specifically designed with a diaphragm so as to maintain the flow in and out of the reactor smoothly. Pressurized air is used to force the diaphragm upwards, leading to the flow of cells and the medium along the hollow fibers. The filtrate flows out into the reactor. Removal of air forces the diaphragm back down. This rapid flow also reduces membrane fouling. With a range of pore sizes and filter materials, different models of the ATF system are available, which can be used according to the requirement of the bioprocess. Flow inside the ATF system is controlled by reversing the fluid flow through the hollow fibers. This allows low residence time for the cells outside the reactor (Figure 14.5e). Note that the pore size is to be selected according to the material to be retained by the fiber. Five different setups of ATF (ATF-2, -4, -6, -8, and -10) are available on the market for large-scale bioprocessing. The selection of the model depends on the volume of the culture reactor. ATF-10 is used for culturing cells in a 5000-l reactor. Typical surface area of an ATF-4 system is 0.42 m^2 with a minimum filtration capacity of 301 day^{-1} .

Of the different cell retention systems, ATF has the advantage of linear scalability. In case of failure of the ATF filter, a new system can be easily installed without compromising the sterility of the bioreactor. Table 14.3 compares the different retention devices and illustrates the advantage of using ATF over the other systems. Shear stress on the cells is reduced in an ATF compared to a TFF

Properties	Spin filter	ATF	Hollow fiber	Centrifuges	Acoustic settler	Inclined settler
Fouling		+		+	+	_
Ease with operation	+	+ +	+ +	_	+	+
Optimization of culture parameters		++	+ +	_	_	
Sterility maintenance	++	+ +	+ +	+	+ +	+
Scalability		+ +		+	_	
Re-sterilization	Yes, if external	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes, if external	Yes, if external
Residence time of cells in separator and connection tubing	Zero, if internal	1–2 min	≌10 s	2–9 min	3–14 min	10-20 min
Purchase cost	+	+	+	-	+	+

Table 14.3 Comparison of perfusion devices.

++ Very good

+ Good

Poor

-- Very poor

system because of the use of a diaphragm pump in former. In high-cell-density cultures, other retention devices fail to operate because of higher rate of clogging. ATF system has a dynamic flow pattern with an inherent flow cleaning capacity, which prevents clogging. ATF continuously cleans the filters periodically using the back-flush mechanism. However, fouling is seen in some cultures. Kelly *et al.* showed through scanning electron microscopy that fouling is due to the combined effect of biological material and accumulation of antifoam micelles on the surface of the membrane [109].

Using the ATF-9 model in a 70-l bioreactor, the highest VCD of 10^7 cells ml⁻¹ for adenovirus production in HeLa-S3 cells has been reported [110]. Cell densities as high as 10^8 cells ml⁻¹ have been reported in a wave bioreactor coupled with the ATF system [111]. The ATF system has also found widespread acceptance in industrial processes. Jansen Biotech uses the ATF system at a maximum operational volume of 10001 to commercially produce mAbs. A 20% increase in cost of goods (COG) savings has been reported when continuous perfusion batches are run compared to a fed-batch process at the 1000-l scale [112]. However, at the 500-l scale, continuous perfusion processes are not profitable compared to a fed-batch run. Biovolutions report the use of ATF-6 perfusion system connected to a 50 SUB unit to manufacture 1-2 kg of antibodies in a span of 2-3 weeks [113].

Controlled Shear Filtration (CSF) To avoid clogging of the membrane, a high shear force needs to be applied at the membrane. However, high shear rates lead to loss of cell viability and accumulation of cell debris in the reactor. The controlled shear filtration (CSF) design was proposed to determine an optimal shear rate with low residence time to minimize the detrimental effect on cells. In a shear-filtrationbased device, a conical rotor is fitted on the top of a membrane in a chamber (Figure 14.5f). Depending on the angle of the cone, the rotor speed, and the gap between the rotor and the membrane, the shear stress can be altered [114]. In addition, the transmembrane pressure and the residence time of the cells can also be altered [114]. In a study with BHK cells, five-fold higher flux could be obtained with CSF as compared to conventional filtration. In a proof-of-concept demonstration of integrated processing, a CSF device coupled with an affinity membrane (CASF) used for the purification of t-PA from a 1-l CHO cell culture [115]. Adding an affinity chromatographic unit to this system allowed protein capture and purification directly from the cell culture fluids. Using computational fluid dynamics (CFD), an optimal rotor design was identified for the CASF system with a 60% decrease in shear stress as opposed to the model developed by Vogel. The rotor diameter in this model could be scaled up to 2.5 times, leading to higher volumetric throughput [116]. The scalability of the CSAF was also demonstrated using CFD at scales greater than 10001 in the batch, fed-batch, and perfusion modes [117]. However, there is no published commercial application of this type of filtration device.

Vortex Flow Filters The vortex flow filter (VFF) was proposed in 1987 to overcome the disadvantage of high shear stress in tangential filtration devices [118]. These systems have three concentric cylinders, with the intermediate cylinder supporting the filtration membrane (Figure 14.5g). Rotation of the inner cylinder leads
to the formation of Taylor vortices between the inner and intermediate cylinders, thus avoiding fouling of the membrane. Comparison of VFF with the traditional cross-flow filtration suggested longevity of VFF compared to cross-flow filtration (CFF) in hybridoma cultures [98]. Another advantage of this device is that the entire module is completely autoclavable. Addition of hydrophilized polysufone membranes, stainless steel wire screens, and increase in membrane surface area are most important modifications to this unit that further reduced fouling and clogging of cells.

Spin Filters Spin filter technology was introduced in 1969 [119]. This consists of a rotating cylindrical filter with pore size slightly smaller than the cell size such that the cells are retained on the outside of the spin filter whereas spent medium is on the inside (Figure 14.5h). Because of the steric effect, particles are retained on the screen of the spin filter. The advantage of using this system is that the pore size of the filter can be modified to fit the size of particle that needs to be retained. Spin filters are available either as an internal part of a reactor or an external part of the reactor. The filters are often fixed on a hollow shaft. A variety of materials have been used for the spin filter mesh design, including stainless steel, polymers, and porcelain, to avoid clogging [120, 121]. In a recent study, a silk-based screen was used for the spin filter, achieving 30% higher productivity of urokinase compared to the stainless-steel-based filter [122].

The most important factor in the design of a spin filter is the pore size. Studies have demonstrated the variation in pore size over a large range from 1 to 120 μ m (for cultures where cells form aggregates). While pore sizes smaller than the cell size will potentially lead to effective separation of cell from the spent medium, this often leads to clogging. For example, a 5 μ m filter clogged within 7 days. Pore sizes slightly larger than the cell size were found to be effective. Scale-up up to 175 l was demonstrated by using a pore size of 25 μ m, slightly larger than the cell size [123].

The screen tangential speed is another important factor for operating spin filters. Rates as high as 1700 cm min^{-1} have been reported to avoid clogging of cells in perfusion systems using spin filters. Another important parameter that affects cell retention is the agitator speed. In a study by Yabannavar *et al.* [124], cell leakage doubled within 4 h when the rotation speed was increased from 70 to 90 rpm. Higher spin filter speeds and an increase in screen surface area per reactor volume also seem to reduce clogging [120]. A number of applications of spin filters have been reported for mammalian and insect cells [125–127]. Infliximab mAb from Centacor is produced commercially using a spin-filter-based perfusion process. A number of commercial spin filters are available; for example, bioreactors up to 750 l supplied by INFORS are equipped with spin filters [128].

14.3.1.3 Centrifuges

Particles settle depending on their settling velocity. Applying a centrifugal force to enhance this settling velocity reduces the time taken for settling. Sedimentation centrifuges employ a centrifugal field for sedimentation, which later retains or separates the cells based on their size (Figure 14.6a). Owing to their operational stability and easy scalability, they find widespread applications in biopharmaceutical manufacturing. In an early study with hybridoma cells, a





Figure 14.6 Centrifugation-based retention devices for perfusion bioreactor. (a) Schematic of separation cycle. (b) Centritech Lab III. (c) Centritech Cell II [212].

continuous centrifuge was used in a perfusion system to obtain high cell densities of 10⁷ cells day⁻¹ and high specific productivities over a substantial portion of the culture. No detrimental effect was observed on the growth of cells due to centrifugal forces up to 100g when applied either intermittently or continuously [129, 130]. Introduction of multiple settling devices improved the length of the perfusion culture. Multilayered centrifuges with settling zones, developed by Tokashiki's group, have higher operational area with no clogging issues [131]. A 2-3-fold increase in cell densities has been observed using this recycling technique compared to the one without recycling [132]. Centrifugal force up to 500g has been tried out in culturing CHO cells, which resulted in a 50% decrease in the total product titers [131]. Although laboratory centrifuges have shown promising results for small-scale perfusion runs, their deleterious effects on product quality and cell morphology still persist [133–135]. Addition of Pluronic F-68 did not improve cell culture performance using Centritech Lab centrifuges [133]. Industrial-scale centrifuges from Centritech can handle up to 1201h⁻¹ perfusion rates (Figure 14.6b,c).

14.3.1.4 Hydrocyclones

A hydrocyclone (Figure 14.7) uses the centrifugal force generated by the tangential flow of the cell suspension into it for separation of cells from the medium. The short residence time of the cells inside the hydrocyclone (fraction of a second), as well as the lack of moving parts, makes them an attractive option for separation. While the larger cells are concentrated in the underflow as a result of the acceleration of the spinning primary vortex toward the bottom, cell debris is removed via the overflow with the flow direction in the inner secondary vortex in the opposite direction.

Although higher cell retention rates are observed in these systems, a drop in culture viability makes them ineffective in large-scale cell culture processes. CHO cells showed a drop in the viability by 11% while using hydrocyclones.

Experimental and computational studies show that hydrocyclones of less than 10 mm diameter operate with higher separation efficiency [136]. Six different designs of hydrocyclones were tested during perfusion cultures of both CHO-K1 and a recombinant cell line in order to maximize culture viability [137]. The separation efficiency was more than 97% using hydrocyclones. The hydrocyclone has also been tested on the recombinant mouse lymphoid cell line SP 2/0 with separation efficiency up to 95% based on operating pressure. Using CHO, BHK, and HeLa cells, a detailed investigation of the effect of pressure and flow rates on cell viability and efficiency was carried out [138, 139]. At high pressures (>1 bar), separation up to 97% could be achieved without any loss in viability. Hydrocyclones are commercially available from Sartorius [140].



Figure 14.7 Hydrocyclones. (a) Sartorius hydroclone [140]. (b) Scheme and working principle of the hydroclone [211].

14.3.1.5 Acoustic Settlers

Application of acoustic waves to enhance settling velocity forms the basis for acoustic settlers as retention devices. Acoustic resonance generates radiation and Bernoulli forces to separate cells from the spent medium. The separation efficiency increases at high cell densities but higher power is required to operate the system. However, cell aggregation and clumping issues have been reported while using acoustics-based separation devices. On being subjected to ultrasonic standing waves of megahertz frequency, cells concentrate in certain regions, generally separated by half a wavelength/submillimeter length [141]. Depending on the acoustic aggregation of cells by the resonator, ultrasonic retention devices separate cells on the basis of size, density, and compressibility differences from smaller particles and the medium [142]. Thus viable cells can be selectively retained with separation efficiencies as high as 99% at low flow rates of 0.5 mm s⁻¹ [143]. The disadvantage of using this system is its high power consumption and scalability issues. Larger bioreactors require large resonators, which could result in different acoustic patterns leading to undesired or unknown effects on cell culture performance. Using a modular chamber design, the perfusion rate could be increased to up to $200 \, \text{l} \, \text{day}^{-1}$ from the earlier observed $50 \, \text{l} \, \text{day}^{-1}$ with >95% separation efficiency [144]. However, further increase of the perfusion rate to $400 \,\mathrm{l}\,\mathrm{day}^{-1}$ led to a drastic reduction in separation efficiency to less than 60% [145].

Exposure of mammalian cells to acoustic wave fields had no impact on the cell culture performance [146]. Trampler *et al.* [147] reported a 70-fold increase in volumetric productivity using perfusion cultures. High cell densities, as high as 25 million cells ml⁻¹, were reported in CHO cell perfusion systems using an acoustic retention device with a overall separation efficiency of 90% [148]. The application of acoustic filter devices for long-term perfusion cultures at the industrial scale is promising, and the critical operating parameters have been reviewed earlier [149].

Applikon's BioSep (Figure 14.8) was applied in commercial manufacturing at a perfusion rate of 10001 day^{-1} . Cell densities as high as 30 million cells ml⁻¹ with a viability of above 90% were achieved throughout the Sf9 perfusion culture for



Figure 14.8 Acoustic settler-based perfusion device. (a) Biosep 10 l. (b) Biosep 200 l. (c) Typical configuration of the 50-l Biosep acoustic cell retention system [213].

the production of viral proteins [150]. A similar observation was made in recombinant CHO cells secreting HCG and Aryl sulfatase B (ASB) using the BioSep acoustic separation device [151, 152]. Metabolic flux analysis of HEK293 cells producing adenoviral vectors showed higher metabolic activity in the perfusion mode using an BioSep acoustic device [153]. In another application of the BioSep, a perfusion culture was performed at low temperatures, which resulted in increased productivity and deceased product aggregation in CHO cells secreting recombinant human IFN- β [154].

14.3.2

Feeding Strategies for Perfusion Cultures

An optimal feeding strategy is essential for a perfusion system so as to obtain higher product titers with minimal effect on the product quality and the physiology of cells. Optimization of perfusion rates, defined as the culture volume day⁻¹, depends on a number of factors, including the specific productivity and growth rate of cells. Suboptimal perfusion rates might interfere with the growth of cells leading to decrease in product titer and quality. Hence, an optimal perfusion strategy is to employ a low perfusion rate with a good control over cell growth and productivity. Performing metabolomic and transcriptomic studies on cells cultured with low perfusion rates should provide information on the physiology of these cells, thereby enabling a molecular basis to perfusion strategies. In general, perfusion reactors are fed based on two different strategies. The cell-based strategy depends on the maintenance of the total cell density in the culture, while the metabolite-based strategy depends on maintaining a particular concentration of the metabolite in the system. Although both systems are fed using fresh media, the component used to maintain the perfusion rate is different.

14.3.2.1 Cell-Density-Based Feeding

Most perfusion processes are divided into a growth phase and a production phase. In the growth phase, the culture is allowed to reach the maximum possible cell density $(10^7 - 10^8 \text{ cells ml}^{-1})$, while in the production phase this cell density is maintained to maximize the product yields. Thus, precise control of cell densities in the production phase is desirable. A simpler way to moderate perfusion rates is to monitor the cell densities. Based on the cell densities, the perfusion rate is decided so as to maintain a stable growth rate. Cell-density-based alteration of perfusion rates in CHO cells cultured in a wave bioreactor equipped with an ATF-based retention system increased the density to as high as 2.14×10^8 cells ml⁻¹ [111]. An alternative approach is to maintain a constant cell specific perfusion rate (CSPR, defined as perfusion rate per cell). This can be achieved by altering the feeding rates based on online measurements of viable cell concentration [155].

14.3.2.2 Metabolite-Based Feeding

Indirect maintenance of perfusion rates is also done using a relationship derived from cell-specific growth rates and metabolite concentrations. Although the

method is cell-line- and process-dependant, offline measurements are possible. For example, OURs were used to moderate the perfusion rates in a recombinant 293 cell line cultured using an internal hollow fiber retention device [156]. In another study, glucose and lactate concentrations were monitored in real time and subsequently maintained at the setpoint of 1 and $1.5 \,\mathrm{g}\,\mathrm{l}^{-1}$, respectively, by adjusting the perfusion rates [157]. In a controlled-fed perfusion culture with hybridoma cells, a twofold increase in mAb titers as well as an increase in cell density was achieved in comparison to uncontrolled perfusion [158]. In the controlled perfusion cultures, the cell density was maintained constant and the nutrient levels were maintained at the minimum setpoint.

14.3.3

Challenges in Perfusion Culture and Future Directions

Although perfusion culture has distinct advantages, its widespread application is limited because of the technical complexity of retention devices and the lack of appropriate in-house expertise. A successful perfusion culture can be maintained for long periods (up to 6 months), but it increases the risk of contamination. Highcell-density perfusions may also be limited with respect to DO concentration and mass transfer [159]. Aggregation of cells leads to heterogeneity in the culture and may also further reduce the DO concentration. Another major challenge is the scalability of the culture, as many retention devices are not linearly scalable. Spin filters, which were the most commonly used retention device until a few years ago, are limited in terms of their capacity to handle large-scale commercial manufacturing. However, the ATF system offers a higher degree of scalability. The acoustic settler is also showing great promise.

A pertinent challenge in a perfusion culture is the stability of cell lines in longterm cultures. A number of recent studies have employed genomics-, proteomics-, and metabolomics-based approaches to understand cellular physiology in perfusion cultures [160, 161, 163]. Shift in metabolism and growth kinetics is inevitable in perfusion cultures owing to the continuous feeding and retaining of cells inside the bioreactor. As the cells are subjected to fresh medium inside the bioreactor, a shift in their physiology leading to altered metabolic activity takes place in perfusion cultures. However, transcriptomics- or proteomics-based studies are not available to substantiate the shift in their metabolic activity.

Aggregation of cells is a common phenomenon in perfusion cultures due to cell retention. Not only does this lead to heterogeneity of culture but it also affects the estimation of the VCD. Precise control of cell density in a perfusion reactor is critical for the maintenance of a constant environment in the reactor. In a microarray analysis on the aggregated BHK cells due to perfusion, the extracellular matrix (ECM) membrane pathway genes were found to be differentially expressed, causing aggregation [162, 163]. High-throughput omics studies in perfusion rates and for reducing the accumulation of other detrimental metabolites.

14.4 Use of Disposables in Cell Culture Bioprocesses

Disposables have become indispensable in upstream processes of biopharmaceutical production. Traditional glass and stainless steel have been replaced by polymers such as polyethylene (PE), polypropylene (PP), polystyrene, and so on. These polymers are approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the commercial production of biologics. The advantage of using disposables is that it helps in maintaining higher levels of sterility and flexibility with reduced risk of contamination. It also reduces the time incurred in preparing the vessel for culturing. Another major advantage of using disposables is that it reduces the cumulative labor costs incurred in preparing a bioreactor. With burgeoning advances in sensor technology, development of such sensors for bioprocessing has enhanced the use of disposable bioreactors. Further, the use of disposables may lead to next-generation continuous manufacturing processes with completely robust and disposable technology from vial thaw to the finished drug. The use of disposable sensors has made cultivation of cells using these bioreactors easier. According to a press release by Amgen in 2014, its biomanufacturing facility in Singapore is equipped with completely disposable bioreactors with modular design, and the company estimates a record 60% decrease in cost per gram of protein produced [164].

Accumulation of solid waste is one of the major disadvantages of using disposables. An unresolved issue in the use of disposable bioreactors is the detection of chemicals arising from leaching of the plastics, which may have an impact on the product quality and safety. Although the use of disposables is not limited to upstream processes, we limit our discussion only to the disposables used to culture cells based on the scope of this review.

Plastic roller bottles were one of the first disposable culture dishes to be used for the production of biopharmaceuticals such as vaccines. Later, multitray systems such as Cell Cubes[®] (Corning) and Cell Factory[™] (Nunclon 10 Chamber) were found suitable for current good manufacturing practice (cGMP) manufacture of biologics.

The use of disposable "cell bags" has made large-scale bioprocessing of cultured cells easier [165]. With similar mixing and aeration patterns, these systems allow limited variations during process transfer from pilot to large-scale studies to culture a number of cell lines including insect cells [166], BHK21 cells for vaccine production [167], and adherent cells on microcarriers [168].

Wave bioreactors (Figure 14.9) were introduced in 1998, in which a rocking motion was used instead of mechanical mixing to achieve mass transfer in a disposable bag bioreactor [165]. These bioreactors have been found to be promising in cultivating different cell lines and viruses for the production of a number of biologics including mAbs [165, 167–171]. The wave bioreactor has also been operated in a variety of culturing modes including batch, fed-batch, and perfusion modes. Recently, a modified version of the wave bioreactor, known as the BaySHAKE[®], was designed with low-shear agitation that can handle high cell





Figure 14.9 Schematic of wave bioreactor.

densities observed in fed-batch and perfusion processes [172]. The cube-shaped bag is designed to oscillate around its vertical axis [173]. The bioreactor was compared with the traditional stainless steel reactors up to the 1000-l scale and found to be equivalent. Other versions of the bag bioreactors such as the PBS bioreactor, SBB (slug bubble bioreactor) from Nestle, and the CellMaker (Regular and Plus) system from Cellexus employ pneumatic and mechanical power input for mixing [174]. Examples of fed-batch and perfusion-based bioprocesses in wave-type bioreactors are presented in Table 14.4.

Oxygen transfer limitations in wave-mixed bioreactors make them unsuitable for large-scale cultivation of high cell densities. Adapting the working principle of conventional stirred-tank bioreactors to single use technology, stirred-tank disposable bags were designed. Today, stirred-bag systems hold a huge market share in the bioprocessing industry. Equipped with top (Hyclone-Thermofisher SUB) or bottom (Xcellerex-GE) axial flow impellers and spargers for aeration, the culture characteristics of these cylindrical bags are reported to be comparable with those of stirred-tank bioreactors [175-177]. Commercially available BIOSTAT CultiBag STR is equipped with an axial and radial flow impeller with a microsparger. This model can be connected to the SCADA software to gain complete control over the culture process [178]. Cube-shaped Nucleo Bioreactors with dynamic sparging equipped with microcarriers provided a minimum of 30% increase in product titers compared to conventional stirred-tank bioreactors. Both fed-batch and perfusion modes have been tried using this model [179, 180].

Mini bioreactors in the form of multiwell plates were the first set of disposables to be used to screen, isolate, and expand clones for biopharmaceutical production [181]. Recently, the introduction of miniaturized, disposable, stirred

Name	Cell line	Volume	Mode of operation	Analytical measurement	VCD max. (10 ⁶ cells ml ⁻¹)	References
WAVE bioreactor	CHO, Schneider S2, Hybridoma, Vero, MDCK, Activated cells, E-FL	2-5001	Batch, perfusion	pH, DO, temp.	214 (ATF mode), 132 (TFF mode)	[111, 167–171, 224–226, 231, 242–244] GE Healthcare
Cell Bag	Sf21, NS0, Sf9	10-201	Batch, fed-batch	pH, DO, temp.	10	[166, 245]
BIOSTAT CultiBag RM	Sf9	3001	Batch	pH, DO, temp.	12	[178, 246, 247]
CellCube (Corning), Roller Cell	Retroviral vectors, Phoenix Frape-1	201	Batch	рН, DO, CO ₂	NA	[248, 249]
Cell Factory (Nunclon)	2T47D-V and 3SKBR3-7, HEK293, packaging cell lines, 3T6	10 stacks	Batch	NA	1.1	[151, 250–252]
SupperSpinner D1000	Sf9	11	Batch	NA	16.6	[174]
Nucleo Bioreactor		10001	Batch, perfusion	NA		[108, 179, 180, 253]

 Table 14.4
 Examples of disposable bioreactors in cell culture bioprocessing.

micro-bioreactors (~10 ml volume) has been a great advantage to process development scientists to mimic large-scale culturing conditions at scaled-down levels. This is especially useful for rapid screening of clones to identify highproductivity clones. Systems such as the AMBR (TAP Biosystems, Sartorius Stedim Biotech GmbH), the SimCell bioreactor (BioProcessors Corporation), the μ 24 microbioreactor (Pall corporation), and Sensolux (Sartorius Stedim Biotech GmbH) are equipped with fully controllable process setups, enabling tight control over culturing parameters such as pH, temperature, and DO [182]. Fed-batch culture of a CHO cell line was successfully performed in a miniaturized bioreactor μ 24 system with cell densities higher than in shake flasks [183], primarily because of better control of the process parameters including pH, temperature, and DO. The major disadvantage in using these bioreactors is that they may not be useful for high-cell-density cultivations. Tube spin bioreactors such as the Cultiflask 50 with vented caps and the disposable Super Spinner D1000 flasks are specifically designed for high-cell-density cultivations to achieve high

product titers [184–186]. Note that the cell densities obtained from these systems are comparable with those of wave bioreactors and other stirred bioreactors. A large number of disposable bioreactors are currently on the market, and the reader is referred to a review for a detailed discussion [174].

14.5

Analytical Methods to Monitor Key Metabolites and Parameters

For precise control of fed-batch and perfusion-based bioprocesses, online and fast monitoring of key metabolites and process parameters is critical. In this section, we describe a variety of tools that are currently being used or under development to measure the concentrations of various bioprocess parameters. The most common set of assays are enzymatic that can be performed both offline and online. A variety of spectroscopic techniques are also gaining popularity. Many of these are capable of noninvasively measuring multiple variables simultaneously. An overview of the various methods is provided next, and specific applications are summarized in Table 14.5.

14.5.1

Enzymatic Assays

Most metabolites involved in a cell culture process can be analyzed offline by enzymatic assays. These sensitive assays are used to quantify metabolites such as glucose (GOD-PAP assay) [187], L-glutamine (glutamine assay) [188], lactate (LDH assay) [189], ammonia [190], and so on. Sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [191] is used to accurately quantify the levels of secreted IgG. These enzymatic assays with some instrument modifications are also used in online determination of metabolite concentrations. The most commonly used instruments are biochemical analyzers (NOVA, YSI). An enzyme specific for the substrate of interest is immobilized between the two membrane layers of polycarbonate and cellulose acetate. The substrate is oxidized as it enters the enzyme layer, producing hydrogen peroxide, which passes through cellulose acetate to a platinum electrode where the hydrogen peroxide is reduced. The resulting current is proportional to the concentration of the substrate. These biochemical analyzers can also be connected to the bioreactor to give a reading online. In an interesting development, Applikon Biosenz uses the heat produced during enzymatic oxidation of glucose to gluconic acid as a measure of glucose concentration in a bioreactor [192]. Flow injection analysis is also used for online measurement of glucose, lactate, IgG, and so on [193-195]. Substrate-specific enzymes are immobilized covalently onto activated controlled pore glass beads and integrated into the flow injection analysis system. The cell-free supernatant is passed through this sensor, and the generated signal is compared with a reference compound (e.g., H_2O_2) to accurately determine glucose or IgG concentrations.

Metabolite/parameter	Mode of measurement	Response time	References
Nutrient and waste met	abolite measurements		
Glucose, glutamine, amino acids, lactate, ammonia	Enzymatic assays (offline)	30 min to 2 h	[187-190]
Glucose, glutamate, glutamine	Near-infrared spectroscopy (online)	<10 min	[196–199]
Glucose, lactate	Appikon heat flux method	<30 min	[254]
Glucose and other carbon metabolites	HPLC-RID (Offline + online)	<10 min	[203]
Glucose, glutamine, glutamate, lactate, IgG	Enzyme-based flow injection analysis (FIA) (online)	<10 min	[193–195]
Glucose, glutamine, lactate, ammonia, salts	Biochemical analyzer (YSI, NOVA, Hitachi) (offline + online)	<10 min	[19, 255]
Amino acids	RP-HPLC (offline + online)	20-30 min	[204, 256]
Product level measurem	ents		
Cell density	Hemocytometer (offline)	<10 min	[46]
	Cell counters (Beckman coulter, Invitrogen) (offline + online)	<10 min	
	Dielectric spectroscopy (online)	<10 min	[196, 257, 258]
	2D fluorometry (online)	<10 min	[205 - 207]
	Laser turbidometer	<10 min	[45, 259]
Product titers	ELISA (IgG) (offline)	5-6h	[191, 260]
	Protein A/G chromatography (offline + online)	<10 min	[261]
Process parameter meas	urements		
pН	pH probe, microneedle probes	<10 min	
Dissolved oxygen	Photovoltaic probes (luminescence), microneedle and electrodes (polarographic, galvanic)	<10 min	[201]
	Noninvasive DO sensor patches	<10 min	[202]
Exit gas analysis	Electric nose (online)	<10 min	[196, 209]
	Paramagnetic analyzer (O_2)	<10 min	[262]
	Long-path infrared analyzers (CO ₂)	<10 min	
	Gas chromatography-flame ionization detector (volatile compounds)	<10 min	[263, 264]
	Mass spectrometry	Variable (up to 1 h)	[200]
Osmolality	Osmometer (offline)	<10 min	[210]

 Table 14.5
 Overview of methods for quantification of metabolites and process parameters.

14.5.2

Spectroscopy-Based Methods

The different properties of light are used to determine various metabolites and process parameters. Near-infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) is used to quantify multiple metabolites at a time. In this, the molecules are able to absorb energy and rotate or vibrate when excited at defined frequencies. The transmitted light reveals how much energy is absorbed at each wavelength, providing details about the molecular structure of the mixture [196-199]. A mass spectrometer is used to detect oxygen uptake and carbon dioxide production rates from animal cell cultivations (generally quadruple MS) [200]. The instrument is sensitive to the low levels of O₂/CO₂, generally seen in animal cells. Alternatively, infrared gas analyzers can be used to measure trace gases such as CO2. Optical oxygen sensors work according to the principle of dynamic fluorescence quenching. The sensors contain a fluorescent dye that is excited by light of a certain wavelength. Depending on the amount of oxygen molecules present, the fluorescence response of the optical sensor varies. A polymer optical fiber transmits the excitation light of the sensor and at the same time also transmits the fluorescence response of the sensor to the measurement device [201]. As a modification, these are available in the form of sensor patches that can be attached to the transparent surface of a glass plate [202]. Laser probes are also employed to measure turbidity of cultures and correlate it to cell density [45]. Refractive index detectors coupled to HPLC are used to detect substances with limited or no UV absorption [203]. These chemical components included alcohols, sugars, fatty acids, polymers, and carbohydrates.

14.5.3

Chromatography-Based Methods

Chromatographic techniques are used to quantify the levels of amino acids and IgG in the culture. These are generally used in the offline mode at small scales and integrated into the process at large scales. The amino acids are derivatized using *ortho*-phthalaldehyde (OPA) or Phenyl isothiocyanate (PITC) followed by separation in a C-18 column using HPLC [204]. The high affinity of Protein A, isolated from *Staphylococcus aureus* for IgG subclass, is exploited in affinity purification, which has become the gold standard for IgG purification and quantification. The IgG molecule binds to the Protein A column, whereas the HCP and HCN (host cell protein and nucleic acids) are flushed out; IgG is eluted by changing the pH of mobile phase.

14.5.4

Microscopy-Based Methods

Direct visualization of cells gives an indication of cell health and size. Various nuclear staining dyes such as propidium iodide are used to stain the nucleus of dead cells, and thus quantify the dead cell population. In another unique approach, 2-D fluorometry is used to correlate cell density to the fluorescence of the naturally fluorescent amino acids in culture media, such as tryptophan, as these are incorporated into the cell [205-207]. An automated flow cytometer connected to the bioreactor can be used to accurately and frequently assess cell proliferation and death kinetics. This information has been used to predict the end of the exponential phase in the culture and to take proper corrective actions [208].

14.5.5

Electrochemical Methods

Electrochemical methods are generally used to monitor process parameters such as pH, pO_2 , and exit gases. pH is measured using an online probe or offline analysis using a pH meter. The online pH is corrected based on the offline pH as the recalibration of online probe is restricted during the culture period. DO in a reactor is continuously monitored using galvanic or amperometric probes. An "electric nose" containing a MOSFET (metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor) sensor is used to accurately determine the composition of the gases exiting the reactor [196, 209]. The electrical capacitance of cells measured in a reactor is used to indirectly determine the cell density in the culture during the exponential phase [19]. Osmolality is measured by calculating the relative lowering in freezing point due to presence of solutes [210]. The osmolality of the culture is maintained below 500 mOsm to avoid hypertonic conditions.

14.6 Concluding Remarks

Application of engineering principles to bioprocess design has led to improvements in titers of recombinant proteins from mammalian cells by many folds. Stoichiometric principles-based design of the feed media along with dynamic control strategies has been instrumental in enhancing the longevity and cell density with product yields surpassing $5 \text{ g} \text{ l}^{-1}$ in a fed-batch culture. In contrast, perfusion processes are technically complex but can potentially yield higher cumulative product at lower costs and in reduced space. With the advent of biosimilars and increasing demand for therapeutic proteins and mAbs, there is renewed debate on whether fed-batch or perfusion will be the process of future.

With recent advancements in instrumentation for online sampling and metabolite analysis, high-throughput screening of different feeding profiles can be performed to arrive at optimum scale-up conditions. However, advances in process alone may not be enough to achieve further increase in yields, especially in fed-batch processes. The next phase of improvements of a fed-batch culture will depend on the use of cell engineering approaches to better understand cellular physiology and thereby develop clones that are superior in both productivity and utilization of nutrients with minimum production of toxic metabolites such as lactate and ammonia. Similarly, for perfusion processes, it is important

to demonstrate the stability of clones over long-term culture, for example by using next-generation sequencing approaches. The choice between fed-batch and perfusion is usually dictated by the availability of technical competence and in-house experience because of the possibility of high failure rates of latter. However, with recent advances in retention devices coupled with increasing use of disposables, perfusion processes may be more widely adopted in future. It remains to be seen whether future biomanufacturing will produce recombinant proteins using fed-batch or perfusion processes.

What to Choose, Fed-Batch or Perfusion?

The following hypothetical example illustrates the comparison of a fed-batch and perfusion process. Consider the sample data for annual operations of fed-batchand ATF-based perfusion cultures.

Culture parameter	Unit	Fed-batch	Perfusion (ATF)
Culture time	Days	12	60
Bioreactor volume	Liters	200	14
Perfusion rate	(vv day ⁻¹)	-	3
Annual batches	No.	25	5
Final or daily titers	(g l ⁻¹)	10	4

Fed-batch culture:

Annual medium consumption

- = Reactor volume × annual number of batches
- $= 2001 \times 25 = 50001$

Total annual protein production

= Final titers × annual medium consumption

 $= 10 \,\mathrm{gl}^{-1} \times 5000 \,\mathrm{l} = 50 \,\mathrm{kg}$

ATF based perfusion culture:

Annual medium consumption

= Daily perfusion volume \times annual number of batches

 \times culture duration

 $= (14 \ l \times 3) \times 5 \times 60 = 12 \ 600 \ l$

Total annual protein production

= Daily titers × annual medium consumption

 $=4 \,\mathrm{gl}^{-1} \times 12 \,600 \,\mathrm{l} = 50 \,\mathrm{kg}$

Perfusion offers an advantage of achieving high levels of protein production at a small scale. For 50 kg of annual protein production, a fed-batch process requires a 200-l reactor, whereas a perfusion reactor will require a working volume of 14 l. Fed-batch mode operations are simpler and require less instrumentation.

However, at complete medium replacement, a perfusion process requires higher quantities of the medium. Perfusion offers stringent process control, as the cell density and perfusion rate can be effectively modulated to achieve a steady state.

It is also suitable for less stable products as they are daily removed from the culture.

Nomenclature

A _{i/Glu}	consumption ratio of metabolite <i>i</i> with respect
	to glucose
q_i	consumption rate of metabolite <i>i</i>
$q_{ m Glu}$	consumption rate of glucose
C_i	concentration of indicator metabolite
$C_{i,ti}, C_{i,t-1}$	concentration of indicator metabolite at time t and $(t - 1)$,
	respectively
$C_{\operatorname{Glu},ti}, C_{\operatorname{Glu},t-1}$	concentration of glucose at time t and $(t-1)$,
	respectively.
$V_{\rm F}$, $V_{\rm feed}$	volume of feed
$C_{\text{feed},i}$	concentration of indicator metabolite in the feed
$C_{\text{feed,Glu}}$	concentration of glucose in the feed
F	feed rate
f	frequency of sampling
$C_{i,\text{setpoint}}$	set point concentration of metabolite <i>i</i>
$C_{i(t)}$	indicator concentration at time <i>t</i>
$V_{\rm r}, V_{\rm c}$	volume of reactor
$C_i^{\rm F}$	concentration of metabolite <i>i</i> in feed
$X_{\nu 0}$	viable cell density at inoculation or time $= 0$
$X_{t+1}, X_{\nu(t+1)}$	predicted viable cell density at time $(t + 1)$
$C_{(0)}$, $C_{(t)}$	concentration at time $t = 0$ and t , respectively
μ	growth rate
OUR	oxygen uptake rate
$k_{\rm L}a$	volumetric mass transfer coefficient
$C_{O_2}(t_0)$	initial oxygen concentration
$C_{O_2}(t_{\rm f})$	final oxygen concentration
$\mu_{\rm OUR}$	growth rate based on oxygen uptake rate
Glc _{pred,t}	predicted glucose concentration for next time interval
Y_{O_2}	yield of oxygen (mM) per glucose (mM)

References

- Warnock, J.N. and Al-Rubeai, M. (2006) Bioreactor systems for the production of biopharmaceuticals from animal cells. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem., 45, 1–12.
- 2 Birch, J.R. and Racher, A.J. (2006) Antibody production. Adv. Drug Delivery Rev., 58, 671–685.
- 3 Henry, O., Kwok, E., and Piret, J.M. (2008) Simpler noninstrumented batch and semicontinuous cultures provide mammalian cell kinetic data comparable to continuous and perfusion cultures. Biotechnol. Prog., 24 (4), 921-931.
- 4 Chu, L. and Robinson, D.K. (2001) Industrial choices for protein production by large-scale cell culture. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 12, 180–187.
- 5 Xie, L. and Wang, D.I.C. (1997) Integrated approaches to the design of media and feeding strategies for fedbatch cultures of animal cells. Trends Biotechnol., 15 (3), 109–113.
- 6 Furukawa, K. and Ohsuye, K. (1998) Effect of culture temperature on a recombinant CHO cell line producing a C-terminal α-amidating enzyme. Cytotechnology, 26 (2), 153–164.
- 7 Yoon, S.K. et al. (2005) Effect of culture pH on erythropoietin production by Chinese hamster ovary cells grown in suspension at 32.5 and 37.0 degrees C. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 89 (3), 345-356.
- 8 Young, J.D. (2013) Metabolic flux rewiring in mammalian cell cultures. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 24 (6), 1108–1115.
- 9 Sengupta, N., Rose, S.T., and Morgan, J.A. (2011) Metabolic flux analysis of CHO cell metabolism in the late nongrowth phase. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 108 (1), 82–92.
- 10 Andersen, D.C. and Goochee, C.F. (1994) The effect of cell-culture conditions on the oligosaccharide structures of secreted glycoproteins. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 5 (5), 546-549.
- 11 Eagle, H. (1955) Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science, 122 (3168), 501–514.

- 12 Eagle, H. (1959) Amino acid metabolism in mammalian cell cultures. Science, 130 (3373), 432–437.
- 13 Jayme, D., Watanabe, T., and Shimada, T. (1997) Basal medium development for serum-free culture: a historical perspective. Cytotechnology, 23 (1-3), 95-101.
- 14 Gong, X. et al. (2006) Fed-batch culture optimization of a growth-associated hybridoma cell line in chemically defined protein-free media. Cytotechnology, 52 (1), 25–38.
- 15 Zeng, A.-P., Hu, W.-S., and Deckwer, W.-D. (1998) Variation of stoichiometric ratios and their correlation for monitoring and control of animal cell cultures. Biotechnol. Prog., 14 (3), 434–441.
- 16 Gonzalez-Leal, I.J. et al. (2011) Use of a Plackett–Burman statistical design to determine the effect of selected amino acids on monoclonal antibody production in CHO cells. Biotechnol. Prog., 27 (6), 1709–1717.
- 17 Xu, P. et al. (2014) Effects of glutamine and asparagine on recombinant antibody production using CHO-GS cell lines. Biotechnol. Prog., 30 (6), 1457–1468.
- 18 Khattak, S.F. et al. (2010) Feed development for fed-batch CHO production process by semisteady state analysis. Biotechnol. Prog., 26 (3), 797–804.
- 19 Lu, F. et al. (2013) Automated dynamic fed-batch process and media optimization for high productivity cell culture process development. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 110 (1), 191–205.
- 20 Kuwae, S. et al. (2005) Development of a fed-batch culture process for enhanced production of recombinant human antithrombin by Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 100 (5), 502-510.
- 21 Altamirano, C. et al. (2004) Strategies for fed-batch cultivation of t-PA producing CHO cells: substitution of glucose and glutamine and rational design of culture medium. J. Biotechnol., 110 (2), 171–179.

456

- 22 Portner, R., Schwabe, J.-O., and Frahm, B. (2004) Evaluation of selected control strategies for fed-batch cultures of a hybridoma cell line. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem., 40 (1), 47-55.
- 23 Ma, N. et al. (2009) A single nutrient feed supports both chemically defined NS0 and CHO fed-batch processes: Improved productivity and lactate metabolism. Biotechnol. Prog., 25 (5), 1353–1363.
- 24 Newsholme, E.A., Crabtree, B., and Ardawi, M.S. (1985) *The role of high rates of glycolysis and glutamine utilization in rapidly dividing cells. Biosci. Rep.*, 5 (5), 393–400.
- 25 Nadler, T.K. et al. (1994) Process monitoring of the production of gammainterferon in recombinant Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Chromatogr. A, 659 (2), 317–320.
- 26 Simpson, N.H. et al. (1998) In hybridoma cultures, deprivation of any single amino acid leads to apoptotic death, which is suppressed by the expression of the bcl-2 gene. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 59 (1), 90–98.
- 27 Yeo, J.H. et al. (2006) Glutamine or glucose starvation in hybridoma cultures induces death receptor and mitochondrial apoptotic pathways. Biotechnol. Lett., 28 (18), 1445–1452.
- 28 Zhou, W. et al. (1997) Alteration of mammalian cell metabolism by dynamic nutrient feeding. Cytotechnology, 24, 99–108.
- 29 Gambhir, A., Europa, A.F., and Hu, W.S. (1999) Alteration of cellular metabolism by consecutive fed-batch cultures of mammalian cells. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 87 (6), 805–810.
- 30 Ozturk, S.S., Riley, M.R., and Palsson, B.O. (1992) Effects of ammonia and lactate on hybridoma growth, metabolism, and antibody-production. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 39 (4), 418-431.
- 31 Yang, M. and Butler, M. (2002) Effects of ammonia and glucosamine on the heterogeneity of erythropoietin glycoforms. Biotechnol. Prog., 18 (1), 129–138.

- 32 Lee, Y.Y. et al. (2003) Low-glutamine fed-batch cultures of 293-HEK serumfree suspension cells for adenovirus production. Biotechnol. Prog., 19 (2), 501-509.
- 33 Chee, F.W.D. et al. (2005) Impact of dynamic online fed-batch strategies on metabolism, productivity and N-glycosylation quality in CHO cell cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 89 (2), 164–177.
- 34 Sheikholeslami, Z., Jolicoeur, M., and Henry, O. (2014) Elucidating the effects of postinduction glutamine feeding on the growth and productivity of CHO cells. Biotechnol. Prog., 30 (3), 535–546.
- 35 Lee, Y.Y. et al. (2007) Transcriptional profiling of batch and fed-batch proteinfree 293-HEK cultures. Metab. Eng., 9 (1), 52–67.
- 36 Kurokawa, H. et al. (1994) Growthcharacteristics in fed-batch culture of hybridoma cells with control of glucose and glutamine concentrations. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 44 (1), 95–103.
- 37 Ljunggren, J. and Haggstrom, L. (1994) Catabolic control of hybridoma cells by glucose and glutamine limited fed batch cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 44 (7), 808-818.
- 38 Xie, L. and Wang, D.I. (1994) Fed-batch cultivation of animal cells using different medium design concepts and feeding strategies. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 43 (11), 1175–1189.
- 39 Altamirano, C. et al. (2006) Considerations on the lactate consumption by CHO cells in the presence of galactose. J. Biotechnol., 125 (4), 547–556.
- 40 Altamirano, C. et al. (2000) Improvement of CHO cell culture medium formulation: simultaneous substitution of glucose and glutamine. Biotechnol. Prog., 16 (1), 69–75.
- 41 Wilkens, C.A. and Gerdtzen, Z.P. (2015) Comparative metabolic analysis of CHO cell clones obtained through cell engineering, for IgG productivity, growth and cell longevity. PLoS One, 10 (3), e0119053.

- 42 Wlaschin, K.F. and Hu, W.S. (2007) Engineering cell metabolism for highdensity cell culture via manipulation of sugar transport. J. Biotechnol., 131 (2), 168–176.
- 43 Nadeau, I. et al. (2000) Human 293 cell metabolism in low glutamine-supplied culture: Interpretation of metabolic changes through metabolic flux analysis. Metab. Eng., 2 (4), 277–292.
- 44 Zhou, W. et al. (1997) Fed-batch culture of recombinant NSO myeloma cells with high monoclonal antibody production. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 55 (5), 783–792.
- 45 Konstantinov, K.B. et al. (1992) Online monitoring of hybridoma cell-growth using a laser turbidity sensor. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 40 (11), 1337–1342.
- 46 Robinson, D.K. et al. (1995) Production of engineered antibodies in myeloma and hybridoma cells, in Antibody Expression and Engineering (eds Henry Y. Wang and Tadayuki Imanaka), American Chemical Society, pp. 1–14.
- 47 Fan, L. et al. (2009) A high-yielding, generic fed-batch process for recombinant antibody production of GSengineered cell lines. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 19 (12), 1695–1702.
- 48 Wu, P. et al. (1995) Evaluation and applications of optical-cell density probes in mammalian-cell bioreactors. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 45 (6), 495–502.
- Kyung, Y.S. and Hu, W.S. (1995) Enhanced productivity of protein C by recombinant human cells in automated fed-batch cultures. Cytotechnology, 17 (2), 109–115.
- 50 Gagnon, M. et al. (2011) High-end pH-controlled delivery of glucose effectively suppresses lactate accumulation in CHO fed-batch cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 108 (6), 1328–1337.
- 51 Zhou, W., Rehm, J., and Hu, W.S. (1995) High viable cell concentration fed-batch cultures of hybridoma cells through on-line nutrient feeding. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 46 (6), 579–587.
- 52 Zhou, W. and Hu, W.S. (1994) On-line characterization of a hybridoma cell culture process. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 44 (2), 170–177.

- 53 Oh, G.-S. et al. (1996) Interactive dual control of glucose and glutamine feeding in hybridoma cultivation. J. Ferment. Bioeng., 81 (4), 329–336.
- 54 Aehle, M. et al. (2011) Simple and efficient control of CHO cell cultures. J. Biotechnol., 153 (1-2), 56-61.
- 55 Furukawa, K. and Ohsuye, K. (1999) Enhancement of productivity of recombinant alpha-amidating enzyme by low temperature culture. Cytotechnology, 31 (1-2), 85-94.
- 56 Moore, A. et al. (1997) Effects of temperature shift on cell cycle, apoptosis and nucleotide pools in CHO cell batch cultues. Cytotechnology, 23 (1–3), 47–54.
- 57 Fox, S.R. et al. (2005) A detailed understanding of the enhanced hypothermic productivity of interferon-gamma by Chinese-hamster ovary cells. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem., 41 (Pt 3), 255–264.
- 58 Vallee, C., Durocher, Y., and Henry, O. (2014) Exploiting the metabolism of PYC expressing HEK293 cells in fed-batch cultures. J. Biotechnol., 169, 63–70.
- 59 Hacker, D.L., De Jesus, M., and Wurm, F.M. (2009) 25 years of recombinant proteins from reactor-grown cells: Where do we go from here? Biotechnol. Adv., 27 (6), 1023–1027.
- 60 Wurm, F.M. (2004) Production of recombinant protein therapeutics in cultivated mammalian cells. Nat. Biotechnol., 22 (11), 1393–1398.
- 61 Zhou, M. et al. (2011) Decreasing lactate level and increasing antibody production in Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO) by reducing the expression of lactate dehydrogenase and pyruvate dehydrogenase kinases. J. Biotechnol., 153 (1-2), 27-34.
- 62 Zhang, F. et al. (2006) Reduction of toxic effect of ammonia on metabolism of recombinant CHO-GS cell. Chin. J. Biotechnol., 22 (1), 94–100.
- 63 Kim, J.Y., Kim, Y.G., and Lee, G.M. (2012) CHO cells in biotechnology for production of recombinant proteins: Current state and further potential. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 93 (3), 917–930.

- 64 Kito, M. et al. (2002) Construction of engineered CHO strains for high-level production of recombinant proteins. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 60 (4), 442–448.
- 65 Kameyama, Y. et al. (2010) An accumulative site-specific gene integration system using Cre recombinase-mediated cassette exchange. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 105 (6), 1106–1114.
- 66 Silva, G. et al. (2011) Meganucleases and other tools for targeted genome engineering: Perspectives and challenges for gene therapy. Curr. Gene Ther., 11 (1), 11–27.
- 67 Kennard, M.L. et al. (2009) The generation of stable, high MAb expressing CHO cell lines based on the artificial chromosome expression (ACE) technology. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 104 (3), 540–553.
- 68 Girod, P.A., Zahn-Zabal, M., and Mermod, N. (2005) Use of the chicken lysozyme 5' matrix attachment region to generate high producer CHO cell lines. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 91 (1), 1–11.
- 69 Benton, T. et al. (2002) The use of UCOE vectors in combination with a preadapted serum free, suspension cell line allows for rapid production of large quantities of protein. Cytotechnology, 38 (1-3), 43-46.
- 70 Lee, J.S. et al. (2015) Site-specific integration in CHO cells mediated by CRISPR/Cas9 and homologydirected DNA repair pathway. Sci. Rep., 5, 8572.
- 71 Jaluria, P. et al. (2007) Enhancement of cell proliferation in various mammalian cell lines by gene insertion of a cyclin-dependent kinase homolog. BMC Biotechnol., 7, 71.
- 72 Majors, B.S. et al. (2008) E2F-1 overexpression increases viable cell density in batch cultures of Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Biotechnol., 138 (3–4), 103–106.
- 73 Chong, W.P. et al. (2010) Metabolomics-driven approach for the improvement of Chinese hamster ovary cell growth: Overexpression of malate dehydrogenase II. J. Biotechnol., 147 (2), 116–121.

- 74 Doolan, P. et al. (2010) Microarray and proteomics expression profiling identifies several candidates, including the valosin-containing protein (VCP), involved in regulating high cellular growth rate in production CHO cell lines. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 106 (1), 42–56.
- 75 Schroder, M. and Kaufman, R.J. (2005) The mammalian unfolded protein response. Annu. Rev. Biochem., 74, 739–789.
- 76 Mohan, C. et al. (2008) Assessment of cell engineering strategies for improved therapeutic protein production in CHO cells. Biotechnol. J., 3 (5), 624–630.
- 77 Borth, N. et al. (2005) Effect of increased expression of protein disulfide isomerase and heavy chain binding protein on antibody secretion in a recombinant CHO cell line. Biotechnol. Prog., 21 (1), 106–111.
- 78 Hayes, N.V.L., Smales, C.M., and Klappa, P. (2010) Protein disulfide isomerase does not control recombinant IgG4 productivity in mammalian cell lines. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 105 (4), 770–779.
- 79 Peng, R.W. and Fussenegger, M. (2009) Molecular engineering of exocytic vesicle traffic enhances the productivity of Chinese hamster ovary cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 102 (4), 1170–1181.
- 80 Peng, R.W., Abellan, E., and Fussenegger, M. (2011) Differential effect of exocytic SNAREs on the production of recombinant proteins in mammalian cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 108 (3), 611–620.
- 81 Florin, L. et al. (2009) Heterologous expression of the lipid transfer protein CERT increases therapeutic protein productivity of mammalian cells. J. Biotechnol., 141 (1–2), 84–90.
- Ku, S.C.Y. et al. (2008) Effects of overexpression of X-box binding protein 1 on recombinant protein production in Chinese hamster ovary and NSO myeloma cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 99 (1), 155–164.
- 83 Ohya, T. et al. (2008) Improved production of recombinant human antithrombin III in Chinese hamster

ovary cells by ATF4 overexpression. Biotechnol. Bioeng., **100** (2), 317–324.

- 84 Omasa, T. et al. (2008) Overexpression of GADD34 enhances production of recombinant human antithrombin III in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 106 (6), 568–573.
- 85 Xu, X. et al. (2011) The genomic sequence of the Chinese hamster ovary (CHO)-K1 cell line. Nat. Biotechnol., 29 (8), 735–741.
- 86 Vlasak, J. and Ionescu, R. (2011) Fragmentation of monoclonal antibodies. mAbs, 3 (3), 253–263.
- 87 Jardin, B.A. et al. (2007) High cell density fed batch and perfusion processes for stable non-viral expression of secreted alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) using insect cells: Comparison to a batch Sf-9-BEV system. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 97 (2), 332-345.
- 88 Vogel, J.H. et al. (2012) A new largescale manufacturing platform for complex biopharmaceuticals. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 109 (12), 3049–3058.
- 89 Pollock, J., Ho, S.V., and Farid, S.S. (2013) Fed-batch and perfusion culture processes: Economic, environmental, and operational feasibility under uncertainty. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 110 (1), 206–219.
- 90 Hülscher, M., Scheibler, U., and Onken, U. (1992) Selective recycle of viable animal cells by coupling of airlift reactor and cell settler. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 39 (4), 442–446.
- 91 Kaminogawa, S. et al. (1993) 50L scale perfusion culture of hybridoma cells by gravitational settling for cell separation, in Animal Cell Technology: Basic & Applied Aspects (eds S. Kaminogawa, A. Ametani and S. Hachimura), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 341–346.
- 92 Knaack, C., André, G., and Chavarie, C. (1994) Conical bioreactor with internal lamella settler for perfusion culture of suspension cells, in Animal Cell Technology (ed. R.E. Spier), Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, pp. 230–233.
- 93 Mette, K., Lassen, K., and Emborg, C. (1994) Perfusion systems for hybridoma

cells based on sedimentation in chambers and erlenmeyer flasks. FEMS Microbiol. Rev., **14** (1), 89–91.

- 94 Stevens, J., Eickel, S., and Onken, U. (1994) Lamellar clarifier – A new device for animal cell retention in perfusion culture, in Animal Cell Technology (eds R. E. Spier, J. B. Griffiths and W. Berthold), Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, pp. 234–239.
- 95 Tokashiki, M. and Takamatsu, H. (1991) High density culture of hybridoma cells using a perfusion culture apparatus with multiple settling zone, in Production of Biologicals from Animal Cell in Culture (eds R.E. Spier and B. Meigner), Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, pp. 467–469.
- 96 Kelly, S.T., Opong, W.S., and Zydney, A.L. (1993) The influence of protein aggregates on the fouling of microfiltration membranes during stirred cell filtration. J. Membr. Sci., 80 (1-3), 175-187.
- 97 Belfort, G. et al. (1993) Diagnosis of membrane fouling using a rotating annular filter. 1. Cell culture media. J. Membr. Sci., 77 (1), 1–22.
- 98 Mercille, S. et al. (1994) Filtrationbased perfusion of hybridoma cultures in protein-free medium: Reduction of membrane fouling by medium supplementation with DNase I. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 43 (9), 833–846.
- 99 Caron, A.W. et al. (1994) Baculovirus expression system scaleup by perfusion of high-density Sf-9 cell cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 43 (9), 881–891.
- 100 de la Broise, D. et al. (1992) Hybridoma perfusion systems: A comparison study. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 40 (1), 25–32.
- 101 Kawahara, H. et al. (1994) High-density culture of Fm-3a cells using a bioreactor with an external tangential-flow filtration device. Cytotechnology, 14 (1), 61-66.
- 102 Vickroy, B., Lorenz, K., and Kelly, W. (2007) Modeling shear damage to suspended CHO cells during cross-flow filtration. Biotechnol. Prog., 23 (1), 194–199.
- **103** van Reis, R. *et al.* (1991) *Industrial* scale harvest of proteins from mammalian cell culture by tangential flow

filtration. Biotechnol. Bioeng., **38** (4), 413–422.

- 104 Velez, D., Miller, L., and Macmillan,
 J.D. (1989) Use of tangential flow filtration in perfusion propagation of hybridoma cells for production of monoclonal antibodies. Biotechnol. Bioeng.,
 33 (7), 938–940.
- 105 Stressmann, M. and Moresoli, C. (2008) Effect of pore size, shear rate, and harvest time during the constant permeate flux microfiltration of CHO cell culture supernatant. Biotechnol. Prog., 24 (4), 890–897.
- 106 Dizon-Maspat, J. et al. (2012) Single pass tangential flow filtration to debottleneck downstream processing for therapeutic antibody production. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 109 (4), 962–970.
- 107 Delabroise, D. et al. (1992) Hybridoma perfusion systems: A comparison study. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 40 (1), 25-32.
- 108 RepliGen (2015) ATF System from Repligen, https://www.repligen.com/ products/upstream-solutions/xcell-atfcell-retention-system/. (Accessed 19 October 2016).
- 109 Kelly, W. et al. (2014) Understanding and modeling alternating tangential flow filtration for perfusion cell culture. Biotechnol. Prog., 30 (6), 1291–1300.
- 110 Yuk, I.H.Y. et al. (2004) Perfusion cultures of human tumor cells: A scalable production platform for oncolytic adenoviral vectors. Biotechnol. Bioeng.,
 86 (6), 637–642.
- 111 Clincke, M.-F. et al. (2013) Very high density of CHO cells in perfusion by ATF or TFF in WAVE bioreactorTM. Part I. Effect of the cell density on the process. Biotechnol. Prog., 29 (3), 754–767.
- 112 Janice Lim, J.S., John, B.-C., and Andrew, S. (2011) An economic comparison of three cell culture techniques. BioPharm Int., 24 (2)Available from: http://www.biopharminternational .com/economic-comparison-three-cellculture-techniques, 54–60.
- 113 Biovolutions (2015) *Biovolutions*, http:// www.biovolutions.com/manufacturing (accessed 16 August 2016).
- 114 Vogel, J.H. and Kroner, K.-H. (1999) Controlled shear filtration: A novel

technique for animal cell separation. Biotechnol. Bioeng., **63** (6), 663–674.

- 115 Vogel, J.H. et al. (2002) Controlled shear affinity filtration (CSAF): A new technology for integration of cell separation and protein isolation from mammalian cell cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 78 (7), 806–814.
- 116 Francis, P. et al. (2006) Optimizing the rotor design for controlled-shear affinity filtration using computational fluid dynamics. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 95 (6), 1207–1217.
- 117 Francis, P. and Haynes, C.A. (2009) Scale-up of controlled-shear affinity filtration using computational fluid dynamics. Biotechnol. J., 4 (5), 665–673.
- 118 Kroner, K.H., Nissinen, V., and Ziegler, H. (1987) Improved dynamic filtration of microbial suspensions. Biotechnology, 5 (9), 921–926.
- 119 Himmelfarb, P., Thayer, P.S., and Martin, H.E. (1969) Spin filter culture: The propagation of mammalian cells in suspension. Science, 164 (3879), 555-557.
- 120 Deo, Y.M., Mahadevan, M.D., and Fuchs, R. (1996) Practical considerations in operation and scale-up of spin-filter based bioreactors for monoclonal antibody production. Biotechnol. Prog., 12 (1), 57–64.
- 121 Tolbert, W.R., Feder, J., and Kimes, R.C. (1981) Large-scale rotating filter perfusion system for high-density growth of mammalian suspension-cultures. In Vitro, 17 (10), 885–890.
- 122 Kamthan, S., Gomes, J., and Roychoudhury, P.K. (2014) Silk screen based dual spin-filter module for perfusion culture of adherent and nonadherent mammalian cells. Biotechnol. Lett., 36 (8), 1623–1630.
- Yabannavar, V.M., Singh, V., and Connelly, N.V. (1994) Scaleup of spinfilter perfusion bioreactor for mammalian cell retention. Biotechnol. Bioeng.,
 43 (2), 159–164.
- 124 Yabannavar, V.M., Singh, V., and Connelly, N.V. (1992) Mammalian cell retention in a spinfilter perfusion bioreactor. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 40 (8), 925–933.

- 125 Werner, A. et al. (2002) Serum-free production of a chimeric E-selectin-IgG protein from 1 to 100 l scale: Repeated batch cultivation versus continuous spin filter perfusion. Cytotechnology, 38 (1-3), 47-56.
- 126 Thayer, P.S., Himmelfarb, P., and Roberts, D. (1970) *Effects of perfusion* with amethopterin on L1210 leukemia cells in spin filter culture. Cancer Res., 30 (6), 1709-1714.
- 127 Avgerinos, G.C. et al. (1990) Spin filter perfusion system for high density cell culture: Production of recombinant urinary type plasminogen activator in CHO cells. Biotechnology (N Y), 8 (1), 54–58.
- 128 INFORS HT Techfors (2015) http:// www.infors-ht.com/index.php/en/ products/bioreactors/pilot-bioreactors/ techfors (accessed 16 August 2016).
- 129 Hamamoto, K., Ishimaru, K., and Tokashiki, M. (1989) Perfusion culture of hybridoma cells using a centrifuge to separate cells from culture mixture. J. Ferment. Bioeng., 67 (3), 190–194.
- 130 Tokashiki, M. et al. (1990) High density culture of hybridoma cells using a perfusion culture vessel with an external centrifuge. Cytotechnology, 3 (3), 239–244.
- 131 Takamatsu, H. et al. (1996) Large-scale perfusion culture process for suspended mammalian cells that uses a centrifuge with multiple settling zones. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 45 (4), 454–457.
- Takazawa, Y. and Tokashiki, M. (1992) Transferrin recycling perfusion culture of hybridoma cells. Cytotechnology, 8 (3), 189–194.
- 133 Kim, B.J., Oh, D.J., and Chang, H.N. (2008) Limited use of Centritech Lab II centrifuge in perfusion culture of rCHO cells for the production of recombinant antibody. Biotechnol. Prog., 24 (1), 166–174.
- Johnson, M. et al. (1996) Use of the Centritech Lab centrifuge for perfusion culture of hybridoma cells in proteinfree medium. Biotechnol. Prog., 12 (6), 855-864.
- **135** Chatzisavido, N. *et al.* (1994) A continuous cell centrifuge for lab scale perfusion processes of mammalian cells,

in Animal Cell Technology: Basic & Applied Aspects (eds T. Kobayashi, Y. Kitagawa, and K. Okumura), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 463–468.

- 136 Medronho, R.A., Schuetze, J., and Deckwer, W.D. (2005) Numerical simulation of hydrocyclones for cell separation. Lat. Am. Appl. Res., 35 (1), 1–8.
- 137 Pinto, R.C.V., Medronho, R.A., and Castilho, L.R. (2008) Separation of CHO cells using hydrocyclones. Cytotechnology, 56 (1), 57–67.
- 138 Jockwer, A. et al. (2001) The use of hydrocyclones for mammalian cell retention in perfusion bioreactors, in Animal Cell Technology: From Target to Market (eds E. Lindner-Olsson, N. Chatzissavidou, and E. Lüllau), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 301–306.
- 139 Elsayed, E.A. et al. (2006) Use of hydrocyclones for mammalian cell retention: Separation efficiency and cell viability (Part 1). Eng. Life Sci., 6 (4), 347–354.
- 140 Download Center Sartorius AG.
 (2015) http://www.sartorius.com/ en/services/bioprocess/downloadcenter/?tx_solr%5Bfilter%5D%5B1
 %5D=bioprocess%3ABioreactors& tx_solr%5Bpage%5D=3 (accessed 16 August 2016).
- 141 Coakley, W.T. (1997) Ultrasonic separations in analytical biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol., 15 (12), 506–511.
- 142 Coakley, W.T. et al. (1994) Ultrasonic manipulation of particles and cells. Ultrasonic separation of cells. Bioseparation, 4 (2), 73–83.
- 143 Gaida, T. et al. (1996) Selective retention of viable cells in ultrasonic resonance field devices. Biotechnol. Prog., 12, 73–76.
- 144 Woodside, S.M., Bowen, B.D., and Piret, J.M. (1998) Mammalian cell retention devices for stirred perfusion bioreactors. Cytotechnology, 28 (1-3), 163-175.
- 145 Gorenflo, V.M. et al. (2002) Scale-up and optimization of an acoustic filter for 200 L/day perfusion of a CHO cell culture. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 80, 438–444.

- 146 Pui, P.W.S. et al. (1995) Batch and semicontinuous aggregation and sedimentation of hybridoma cells by acoustic resonance fields. Biotechnol. Prog., 11 (2), 146–152.
- 147 Trampler, F. et al. (1994) Acoustic cell filter for high density perfusion culture of hybridoma cells. Nat. Biotechnol., 12 (3), 281–284.
- 148 Ryll, T. et al. (2000) Performance of small-scale CHO perfusion cultures using an acoustic cell filtration device for cell retention: Characterization of separation efficiency and impact of perfusion on product quality. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 69, 440–449.
- 149 Shirgaonkar, I.Z., Lanthier, S., and Kamen, A. (2004) Acoustic cell filter: A proven cell retention technology for perfusion of animal cell cultures. Biotechnol. Adv., 22 (6), 433–444.
- 150 Zhang, J. et al. (1998) High-density perfusion culture of insect cells with a biosep ultrasonic filter. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 59 (3), 351–359.
- 151 Ho, L. et al. (2004) Cultivation of HEK 293 cell line and production of a member of the superfamily of G-protein coupled receptors for drug discovery applications using a highly efficient novel bioreactor. Cytotechnology, 45 (3), 117–123.
- 152 Dürrschmid, M.P. et al. (2003) Comparison of fluidized bed and ultrasonic cell-retention systems for high cell density mammalian cell culture. Biotechnol. Prog., 19 (3), 1045–1048.
- Henry, O., Perrier, M., and Kamen, A. (2005) *Metabolic flux analysis of HEK-293 cells in perfusion cultures for the production of adenoviral vectors. Metab. Eng.*, 7 (5–6), 467–476.
- 154 Rodriguez, J. et al. (2010) High productivity of human recombinant beta-interferon from a low-temperature perfusion culture. J. Biotechnol., 150 (4), 509-518.
- 155 Dowd, J.E. et al. (2003) Optimization and control of perfusion cultures using a viable cell probe and cell specific perfusion rates. Cytotechnology, 42 (1), 35–45.
- **156** Kyung, Y.S. et al. (1994) High density culture of mammalian cells with

dynamic perfusion based on on-line oxygen uptake rate measurements. Cytotechnology, 14 (3), 183–190.

- 157 Ozturk, S.S. et al. (1997) Real-time monitoring and control of glucose and lactate concentrations in a mammalian cell perfusion reactor. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 53, 372–378.
- 158 Yang, J.D. et al. (2000) Achievement of high cell density and high antibody productivity by a controlled-fed perfusion bioreactor process. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 69 (1), 74–82.
- 159 Ozturk, S.S. (1996) Engineering challenges in high density cell culture systems. Cytotechnology, 22 (1-3), 3-16.
- 160 Vernardis, S.I., Goudar, C.T., and Klapa, M.I. (2013) Metabolic profiling reveals that time related physiological changes in mammalian cell perfusion cultures are bioreactor scale independent. Metab. Eng., 19, 1–9.
- 161 Jayapal, K.P. and Goudar, C.T. (2014) Transcriptomics as a tool for assessing the scalability of mammalian cell perfusion systems. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol., 139, 227–243.
- 162 Farrell, A. et al. (2014) Application of multi-omics techniques for bioprocess design and optimization in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Proteome Res., 13 (7), 3144–3159.
- 163 Liu, M.L. and Goudar, C.T. (2013) Gene expression profiling for mechanistic understanding of cellular aggregation in mammalian cell perfusion cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 110 (2), 483–490.
- 164 Amgen Media News Release (2015) http://www.amgen.com/media/ media_pr_detail.jsp?releaseID=1982411 (accessed 16 August 2016).
- 165 Singh, V. (1999) Disposable bioreactor for cell culture using wave-induced agitation. Cytotechnology, 30, 149–158.
- 166 Weber, W. et al. (2002) Optimisation of protein expression and establishment of the wave bioreactor for baculovirus/insect cell culture. Cytotechnology, 38, 77–85.
- 167 Slivac, I. (2006) Aujeszky's disease virus production in disposable bioreactor. J. Biosci., 31, 363–368.
- **168** Hundt, B. *et al.* (2007) *Establishment* of a mink enteritis vaccine production

process in stirred-tank reactor and Wave Bioreactor microcarrier culture in 1–10L scale. Vaccine, **25**, 3987–3995.

- 169 Hami, L.S. et al. (2004) GMP production and testing of Xcellerated T Cells for the treatment of patients with CLL. Cytotherapy, 6, 554–562.
- 170 Ohashi, R., Singh, V., and Hamel, J.-F.P. (2001) Perfusion cell culture in disposable bioreactors, in Animal Cell Technology: From Target to Market (eds E. Lindner-Olsson, N. Chatzissavidou and E. Lüllau), Springer, Netherlands, pp. 403–409.
- 171 Shabram, P.W. (2004) Scalability of a disposable bioreactor from 25L-500L run in perfusion mode with a CHO-based cell line: A tech review. BioProcess. J., 3 (4), 51-56.
- 172 Kauling, J. et al. (2013) Novel, rotary oscillated, scalable single-use bioreactor technology for the cultivation of animal cells. Chem. Ing. Tech., 85 (1–2), 127–135.
- Kauling, J., Brod, H., Schmidt, S., Poggel, M., Frahm, B., Rose, R. (2007) *Disposable bioreactor*, Patent DE102006018824A1.
- 174 Eibl, R. et al. (2010) Disposable bioreactors: The current state-of-the-art and recommended applications in biotechnology. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 86, 41–49.
- 175 Ozturk, S. (2007) Comparison of product quality: Disposable and stainless steel bioreactor, in Bioproduction, Berlin.
- 176 Tollnik, C. (2009) Einsatz von Disposables in der Praxis – ein Erfahrungsbericht zu Design und Betrieb einer Pilotanlage fürklinische Wirkstoffproduktionen. 2. Konferenz Einsatz von Single- Use-Disposables (Concept Heidelberg), Mannheim, Germany.
- 177 Valentine, P. (2009) Implementation of a single-use stirred bioreactor at pilot and GMP manufacturing scale for mammalian cell culture. ESACT 2009 Meeting, Dublin, Ireland.
- 178 DeWilde, D., Noach, U., Kahlert, W., Barbaroux, M., and Greller, G. (2009) Bridging the gap from reusable to single-use manufacturing with stirred,

single-use bioreactors. BioProcess Int., 7 (Suppl 4), 36-41.

- 179 Castillo, J. and Vanhamel, S. (2007) Cultivating anchorage-dependent cells. Genet. Eng. Biotechnol. News, 27 (16), 40-41.
- 180 Zambaux, J. (2007) How synergy answers the biotech industry needs, in Bioproduction, Berlin.
- 181 Eibl, D., Eibl, R., and Pörtner, R. (2009) Mammalian cell culture technology: An emerging field. Cell Tissue React. Eng., Part 1, 3–8.
- 182 Legmann, R. et al. (2009) A predictive high-throughput scale-down model of monoclonal antibody production in CHO cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 104 (6), 1107–1120.
- 183 Betts, J.P.J. et al. (2013) Impact of aeration strategies on fed-batch cell culture kinetics in a single-use 24-well miniature bioreactor. Biochem. Eng. J., 82, 105–116.
- 184 De Jesus, M.J., Girard, P., Bourgeois, M., Baumgartner, G., Kacko, B., Amstutz, H., and Wurm, F.M. (2004) TubeSpin satellites: A fast track approach for process development with animal cells using shaking technology. Biochem. Eng. J., 17, 217–223.
- 185 Muller, N., Girard, P., Hacker, D., Jordan, M., and Wurm, F.M. (2004) Orbital shaker technology for the cultivation of mammalian cells in suspension. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 89, 400-406.
- 186 Ries, C., John, C., and Eibl, R. (2009) Einwegbioreaktoren für die Prozessentwicklung mit Insektenzellen. Bioforum, 3, 11–13.
- 187 Trinder, P. (1969) Determination of blood glucose using an oxidaseperoxidase system with a noncarcinogenic chromogen. J. Clin. Pathol., 22 (2), 158–161.
- 188 Barth, C. et al. (2010) A mutation in GDP-mannose pyrophosphorylase causes conditional hypersensitivity to ammonium, resulting in Arabidopsis root growth inhibition, altered ammonium metabolism, and hormone homeostasis. J. Exp. Bot., 61 (2), 379–394.
- 189 Pesce, M.A., Bodourian, S.H., and Nicholson, J.F. (1975) Rapid kinetic measurement of lactate in plasma with

a centrifugal analyzer. Clin. Chem., **21** (13), 1932–1934.

- 190 Seshadri, R.M. et al. (2006) Renal expression of the ammonia transporters, Rhbg and Rhcg, in response to chronic metabolic acidosis. Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol., 290 (2), F397–F408.
- 191 Chusainow, J. et al. (2009) A study of monoclonal antibody-producing CHO cell lines: What makes a stable high producer? Biotechnol. Bioeng., 102 (4), 1182–1196.
- 192 Priem, P., et al. Application Note Benefits of On-Line Control with BioSenz during a Mammalian Fed-Batch Process for the Production of Antibodies, https://www.applikon-biotechnology .us/images/download/biosenz/BioSenz_ Feedforward_Glucose_Control.pdf (accessed 16 August 2016).
- 193 Male, K.B. et al. (1997) On-line monitoring of glucose in mammalian cell culture using a flow injection analysis (FIA) mediated biosensor. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 55 (3), 497–504.
- 194 Mayer, C. et al. (1999) Enzyme-based flow injection analysis system for glutamine and glutamate in mammalian cell culture media. Anal. Biochem., 268 (1), 110–116.
- 195 Schmid, R.D. and Kunnecke, W. (1990) Flow injection analysis (FIA) based on enzymes or antibodies: Applications in the life sciences. J. Biotechnol., 14 (1), 3-31.
- 196 Teixeira, A.P. et al. (2009) Advances in on-line monitoring and control of mammalian cell cultures: Supporting the PAT initiative. Biotechnol. Adv., 27 (6), 726–732.
- 197 Reich, G. (2005) Near-infrared spectroscopy and imaging: Basic principles and pharmaceutical applications. Adv. Drug Delivery Rev., 57 (8), 1109–1143.
- 198 Milligan, M. et al. (2014) Semisynthetic model calibration for monitoring glucose in mammalian cell culture with in situ near infrared spectroscopy. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 111 (5), 896–903.
- 199 Arnold, S.A. et al. (2003) In-situ near infrared spectroscopy to monitor key analytes in mammalian cell cultivation. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 84 (1), 13–19.

- 200 Behrendt, U. et al. (1994) Mass spectrometry: A tool for on-line monitoring of animal cell cultures. Cytotechnology, 14 (3), 157–165.
- 201 Kensy, F. et al. (2005) Characterisation of operation conditions and online monitoring of physiological culture parameters in shaken 24-well microtiter plates. Bioprocess. Biosyst. Eng., 28 (2), 75-81.
- 202 Wittmann, C. et al. (2003) Characterization and application of an optical sensor for quantification of dissolved O₂ in shake-flasks. Biotechnol. Lett., 25 (5), 377-380.
- 203 Senger, R.S. and Karim, M.N. (2007) Optimization of fed-batch parameters and harvest time of CHO cell cultures for a glycosylated product with multiple mechanisms of inactivation. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 98 (2), 378–390.
- 204 Terrlink, T., van Leeuwen, P.A., and Houdijk, A. (1994) Plasma amino acids determined by liquid chromatography within 17 minutes. Clin. Chem., 40 (2), 245-249.
- 205 Hisiger, S. and Jolicoeur, M. (2005) A multiwavelength fluorescence probe: Is one probe capable for on-line monitoring of recombinant protein production and biomass activity? J. Biotechnol., 117 (4), 325–336.
- 206 Chen, Y. and Barkley, M.D. (1998) Toward understanding tryptophan fluorescence in proteins. Biochemistry, 37 (28), 9976–9982.
- 207 Teixeira, A.P. et al. (2009) In situ 2D fluorometry and chemometric monitoring of mammalian cell cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 102 (4), 1098–1106.
- 208 Sitton, G. and Srienc, F. (2008) Mammalian cell culture scale-up and fed-batch control using automated flow cytometry. J. Biotechnol., 135 (2), 174–180.
- 209 Bachinger, T. et al. (2000) Monitoring cellular state transitions in a production-scale CHO-cell process using an electronic nose. J. Biotechnol., 76 (1), 61–71.
- **210** Koumantakis, G. and Wyndham, L.E. (1989) An evaluation of osmolality measurement by freezing point

depression using micro-amounts of sample. J. Autom. Chem., 11 (2), 80-83.

- 211 Voisard, D. et al. (2003) Potential of cell retention techniques for large-scale highdensity perfusion culture of suspended mammalian cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 82 (7), 751–765.
- 212 Carr centritech (2015) http://www .psangelus.com/product-lines/ centrifuges (Accessed: 19-10-2016).
- 213 BioSep Acoustic Perfusion System. (2015) BioSep acoustic perfusion system, Applikon biotechnology B.V., The Netherlands, http://www.applikon-bio .com/en/news2/itemlist/category/52biosep (Accessed: 19-10-2016).
- 214 Casablancas, A. et al. (2013) Comparison of control strategies for fed-batch culture of hybridoma cells based on online monitoring of oxygen uptake rate, optical cell density and glucose concentration. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 88 (9), 1680–1689.
- 215 Searles, J., Todd, P., and Kompala, D. (1994) Viable cell recycle with an inclined settler in the perfusion culture of suspended recombinant Chinese hamster ovary cells. Biotechnol. Prog., 10 (2), 198–206.
- 216 Lipscomb, M.L., Mowry, M.C., and Kompala, D.S. (2004) Production of a secreted glycoprotein from an inducible promoter system in a perfusion bioreactor. Biotechnol. Prog., 20 (5), 1402–1407.
- 217 Batt, B.C., Davis, R.H., and Kompala, D.S. (1990) Inclined sedimentation for selective retention of viable hybridomas in a continuous suspension bioreactor. Biotechnol. Prog., 6, 458–464.
- 218 Pohlscheidt, M. et al. (2013) Optimizing capacity utilization by large scale 3000 L perfusion in seed train bioreactors. Biotechnol. Prog., 29, 222–229.
- 219 Nivitchanyong, T. et al. (2007) Antiapoptotic genes Aven and E1B-19K enhance performance of BHK cells engineered to express recombinant factor VIII in batch and low perfusion cell culture. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 98 (4), 825-841.
- 220 Dalm, M.C. et al. (2005) Stable hybridoma cultivation in a pilot-scale acoustic perfusion system: Long-term

process performance and effect of recirculation rate. Biotechnol. Bioeng., **91** (7), 894–900.

- 221 Gorenflo, V.M. et al. (2003) Optimization of an acoustic cell filter with a novel air-backflush system. Biotechnol. Prog., 19, 30–36.
- 222 Dowd, J.E., Kwok, K.E., and Piret, J.M. (2001) Glucose-based optimization of CHO-cell perfusion cultures. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 75, 252–256.
- 223 Banik, G.G. and Heath, C.A. (1995) Hybridoma growth and antibody production as a function of cell density and specific growth rate in perfusion culture. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 48 (3), 289–300.
- 224 Tao, Y. et al. (2011) Development and implementation of a perfusion-based high cell density cell banking process. Biotechnol. Prog., 27, 824–829.
- 225 Wang, L. et al. (2012) High yield of human monoclonal antibody produced by stably transfected drosophila schneider 2 cells in perfusion culture using wave bioreactor. Mol. Biotechnol., 52 (2), 170–179.
- 226 Yuk, I.H. et al. (2011) Overcoming challenges in WAVE bioreactors without feedback controls for pH and dissolved oxygen. Biotechnol. Prog., 27 (5), 1397–1406.
- 227 Cortin, V. et al. (2004) High-titer adenovirus vector production in 293S cell perfusion culture. Biotechnol. Prog., 20 (3), 858–863.
- 228 Deutschmann, S.M. and Jäger, V. (1994) Optimization of the growth conditions of Sf21 insect cells for high-density perfusion culture in stirred-tank bioreactors. Enzyme Microb. Technol., 16 (6), 506-512.
- 229 Lee, J.C., Chang, H.N., and Oh, D.J. (2005) Recombinant antibody production by perfusion cultures of rCHO cells in a depth filter perfusion system. Biotechnol. Prog., 21 (1), 134–139.
- 230 Castilho, L.R., Anspach, F.B., and Deckwer, W.-D. (2002) An integrated process for mammalian cell perfusion cultivation and product purification using a dynamic filter. Biotechnol. Prog., 18 (4), 776–781.
- 231 Tang, Y.-J., Ohashi, R., and Hamel, J.-F.P. (2007) *Perfusion culture of*

hybridoma cells for hyperproduction of IgG2a monoclonal antibody in a wave bioreactor-perfusion culture system. Biotechnol. Prog., **23** (1), 255–264.

- 232 Dong, H. et al. (2005) A perfusion culture system using a stirred ceramic membrane reactor for hyperproduction of IgG2a monoclonal antibody by hybridoma cells. Biotechnol. Prog., 21 (1), 140–147.
- 233 Mercille, S. et al. (2000) Understanding factors that limit the productivity of suspension-based perfusion cultures operated at high medium renewal rates. Biotechnol, Bioeng. 67 (4), 435–450.
- 234 Mercille, S. and Massie, B. (1999) Apoptosis-resistant E1B-19K-expressing NS/0 myeloma cells exhibit increased viability and chimeric antibody productivity under perfusion culture conditions. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 63 (5), 529-543.
- 235 Kim, B.J., Chang, H.N., and Oh, D.J. (2007) Application of a cellonce-through perfusion strategy for production of recombinant antibody from rCHO cells in a Centritech Lab II centrifuge system. Biotechnol. Prog., 23 (5), 1186–1197.
- 236 Lüllau, E. et al. (2003) Comparison of batch and perfusion culture in combination with pilot-scale expanded bed purification for the production of soluble recombinant β-secretase. Biotechnol. Prog., 19 (1), 37–44.
- 237 Choo, C.-Y. et al. (2007) High-level production of a monoclonal antibody in murine myeloma cells by perfusion culture using a gravity settler. Biotechnol. Prog., 23 (1), 225–231.
- 238 Chong, L. et al. (2013) Robust on-line sampling and analysis during long-term perfusion cultivation of mammalian cells. J. Biotechnol., 165 (2), 133–137.
- 239 Lee, D.W. et al. (2012) A pumpless perfusion cell culture cap with two parallel channel layers keeping the flow rate constant. Biotechnol. Prog., 28 (6), 1466–1471.
- 240 Seifert, D.B. and Phillips, J.A. (1997) Porous alginate-poly(ethylene glycol) entrapment system for the cultivation of mammalian cells. Biotechnol. Prog., 13 (5), 569-576.
- 241 Wen, Y., Zhang, X., and Yang, S.-T. (2010) *Microplate-reader compatible*

perfusion microbioreactor array for modular tissue culture and cytotoxicity assays. Biotechnol. Prog., **26** (4), 1135–1144.

- 242 Clincke, M.F. et al. (2013) Very high density of Chinese hamster ovary cells in perfusion by alternating tangential flow or tangential flow filtration in WAVE bioreactorpart II: Applications for antibody production and cryopreservation. Biotechnol. Prog., 29 (3), 768–777.
- 243 Yang, J. and Sui, L. (2012) Development and application of perfusion culture producing seed cells in WAVE bioreactor. Chin. J. Biotechnol., Shengwu Gongcheng Xuebao, 28 (3), 358–367.
- 244 Genzel, Y. et al. (2014) High cell density cultivations by alternating tangential flow (ATF) perfusion for influenza A virus production using suspension cells. Vaccine, 32 (24), 2770–2781.
- 245 Kadarusman, J. et al. (2005) Growing cholesterol-dependent NS0 myeloma cell line in the wave bioreactor system: Overcoming cholesterol-polymer interaction by using pretreated polymer or inert fluorinated ethylene propylene. Biotechnol. Prog., 21, 1341–1346.
- 246 Imseng, N. et al. (2014) Single-use wave-mixed versus stirred bioreactors for insect-cell/BEVS-based protein expression at benchtop scale. Eng. Life Sci., 14 (3), 264–271.
- 247 Löffelholz, C. et al. (2013) Dynamic single-use bioreactors used in modern liter- and m³- scale biotechnological processes: Engineering characteristics and scaling up. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol., 138, 1–44.
- 248 Kotani, H. et al. (1994) Improved methods of retroviral vector transduction and production for gene therapy. Hum. Gene Ther., 5, 19–28.
- 249 Wikström, K., Blomberg, P., and Islam, K.B. (2004) Clinical grade vector production: Analysis of yield, stability, and storage of GMP-produced retroviral vectors for gene therapy. Biotechnol. Prog., 20 (4), 1198–1203.
- **250** Davis-Sproul, J.M. *et al.* (2005) *Costeffective manufacture of an allogeneic GM-CSF-secreting breast tumor*

vaccine in an academic cGMP facility. Cytotherapy, **7** (1), 46–56.

- 251 Ni, Y. et al. (2005) Generation of a packaging cell line for prolonged large-scale production of high-titer HIV-1-based lentiviral vector. J. Gene Med., 7 (6), 818–834.
- 252 Tuyaerts, S. et al. (2002) Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells in a closed system using cell factories. J. Immunol. Methods, 264 (1-2), 135-151.
- 253 Teknol/Tehnologije, ki delajo za vas. (2015) http://www.teknol.eu/ (accessed 16 August 2016).
- 254 BioSenz Glucose Bio Analyzer, Applikon biotechnology B.V., The Netherlands, http://www.applikon-bio.com/nl/ news2/itemlist/category/40-glucose? currentItemAlias=general&catId=40& Itemid=561 (Accessed: 19-10-2016)
- 255 deZengotita, V.M. et al. (2000) Phosphate feeding improves high-cellconcentration NSO myeloma culture performance for monoclonal antibody production. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 69 (5), 566-576.
- 256 Bartolomeo, M.P. and Maisano, F. (2006) Validation of a reversed-phase HPLC method for quantitative amino acid analysis. J. Biomol. Tech., 17 (2), 131–137.
- 257 Downey, B.J. et al. (2014) A novel approach for using dielectric spectroscopy to predict viable cell volume (VCV) in early process development. Biotechnol. Prog., 30 (2), 479–487.
- 258 Cannizzaro, C. et al. (2003) On-line biomass monitoring of CHO perfusion culture with scanning dielectric spectroscopy. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 84 (5), 597–610.
- 259 Wlaschin, K.F. and Hu, W.S. (2006) Fedbatch culture and dynamic nutrient feeding. Adv. Biochem. Eng./Biotechnol., 101, 43–74.
- 260 Reinecke, M. and Scheper, T. (1997) Fast on-line flow injection analysis system for IgG monitoring in bioprocesses. J. Biotechnol., 59 (1-2), 145-153.
- 261 Shukla, A.A. and Hinckley, P. (2008) Host cell protein clearance during protein A chromatography: Development

of an improved column wash step. Biotechnol. Prog., **24** (5), 1115–1121.

- 262 Danhier, P. et al. (2013) Influence of cell detachment on the respiration rate of tumor and endothelial cells. PLoS One, 8 (1), e53324.
- 263 Bradley, L.L.T. and Falconer, W.E.
 (1963) A simple flame ionization detector cell. J. Sci. Instrum., 40 (12), 606.
- 264 Svojanovský, V. et al. (1966) Trace analysis by means of gas chromatography. Chromatogr. Rev., 8, 90–171.

Further Reading/Resources

- Hu, W. and Aunins, J. (1997) Largescale mammalian cell culture. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 8, 148–153.
- 2 Wlaschin, K.F. and Hu, W.S. (2006) Fedbatch culture and dynamic nutrient feeding. Adv. Biochem. Eng. Biotechnol., 101, 43-74.
- 3 Jain, E. and Kumar, A. (2008) Upstream processes in antibody production: Evaluation of critical parameters. Biotechnol. Adv., 26, 46–72.
- 4 Eibl, R. et al. (2010) Disposable bioreactors: The current state-of-the-art and recommended applications in biotechnology. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 86, 41-49.
- 5 Schugerl, K. (2001) Progress in monitoring, modeling and control of bioprocesses during the last 20 years. J. Biotechnol., 85 (2), 149–173.
- 6 Hacker, D.L., De Jesus, M., and Wurm, F.M. (2009) 25 years of recombinant proteins from reactor-grown cells – Where do we go from here? Biotechnol. Adv., 27 (6), 1023–1027.
- 7 Kim, J.Y., Kim, Y.G., and Lee, G.M. (2012) CHO cells in biotechnology for production of recombinant proteins: Current state and further potential. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 93 (3), 917–930.
- 8 Voisard, D. et al. (2003) Potential of cell retention techniques for large-scale highdensity perfusion culture of suspended mammalian cells. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 82 (7), 751–765.

Part V Environmental Bioengineering

15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater: An Overview about Basic and Advanced Concepts

Jyoti K. Kumar, Parag R. Gogate, and Aniruddha B. Pandit

15.1 Types of Wastewater

Wastewater can be categorized into two types based on the source of origin. One that results on account of human activities is called *sewage* and the other that is a result of industrialization is called effluent. The former falls under municipal wastewater and the latter under industrial wastewater. Municipal and industrial wastewater treatment is of paramount importance given the fact that both the streams are essentially released into our environment and result in polluting it. The consequences of such pollution are manifold. Air, water, and soil are affected thereby leading to health hazards to humans and lethality to plants and animals. This has had a profound effect on mankind for centuries and will continue to do so if appropriate control measures are not taken. Preventive measures have limited scope in this arena owing to increasing global population and rampant growth of industries worldwide. The only way out is to have effective treatment methods for the wastewater and find useful applications of the treated water that will take care of the water crunch that the world is facing today. This strategy is not new and has been employed to some extent globally. The focus in future will be to make the existing techniques much more effective and also bring in novel methods.

Physical, chemical, and biological methods have been routinely used to treat municipal and industrial wastewater. This section deals with the biological methods. An attempt is made to explain the conventional biological methods, and current research in terms of modifications wherever applicable are also incorporated.

15.2 Biological Treatment

"Biological treatment" implies the use of naturally present microorganisms for treating wastewater. The microorganisms utilize the organic carbon present in the wastewater as their source of energy for growth and result in byproducts that are less toxic. Thus, it can be said that the effluent is treated by the microorganisms

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

472 15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater

based on consumption as food. The inception of this method occurred somewhere in the early twentieth century. Although the entire process appears simple, the treatment process requires monitoring due to complexities such as varying composition of the influent waste stream, temperature, pH, and most importantly, the microflora may also differ [1]. It is important to note that not all compounds are broken down by the microorganisms [2]. Some recalcitrant chemicals may remain. Moreover, the products formed during the treatment could be toxic to the microorganism thereby hindering microbial growth and may eventually lead to death of the culture. Scenarios such as these are not rare and it often necessitates the emptying of the treatment tank to discard the dead bacteria and for the introduction of new seed inoculums. Generally, municipal wastewater (sewage) contains large proportion of solids at least about 60% along with proteins and amino acids. Wastewater from each industry also differs in its composition including the solid content [3]. It is interesting to note that wastewater from brewing and paper and pulp industry contain no nitrogen and phosphates. In such cases, nitrogen and phosphates are added before treatment to enhance the effluent treatment. Monitoring the efficacy of wastewater treatment necessitates the performance of certain tests on a routine basis. The important ones are described here.

- Effluent toxicity: Although effective treatment techniques are employed, it is mandatory that the toxicity of the treated effluent is checked on representative microorganisms of the receiving water bodies. In Europe this is called the direct toxicity assessment (DTA) and described as the whole effluent toxicity (WET) test in the United States. This test quantifies the aggregate toxic effect on aquatic organisms from all pollutants present in the wastewater. It essentially measures the wastewater's effects on specific organisms' ability to survive and grow by exposing living organisms (plant, vertebrates, and invertebrates) to various concentrations of pollutants in the effluent stream [4].
- 2) TOC: For wastewater treatment, it is necessary to ascertain the organic load of the influent stream. This is referred to as the total organic carbon demand (TOC). This can be determined by subjecting the sample to combustion thereby resulting in the evolution of carbon dioxide that can be measured to know the total carbon present. The major limitation here is that the carbon compounds that cannot be biologically treated can also be converted to carbon dioxide. Thus, TOC is divided into carbon that cannot be oxidized at all and that can be oxidized, often referred as chemical oxygen demand (COD). The latter further consists of carbon that is not biologically oxidized and that is oxidized by microbes called biological oxygen demand (BOD), which in turn can be hard BOD (difficult to degrade) and soft BOD (easy to degrade).
- 3) BOD: The BOD is an important parameter in wastewater analysis and is often quantified using a 5-day BOD test. It is essentially the amount of oxygen required for bio-decomposition of organic solids under aerobic conditions at a standardized temperature in a given interval of time. Theoretically, it takes a very long time to complete biological degradation of organic matter and, therefore, a 5-day period is considered for the BOD test since a

large amount of organic matter is successfully degraded by the end of 5 days. Since this is also a considerably long period, short-term BOD estimated over short time intervals between 30 min to several hours is also routinely performed. It is important to note that BOD is generally less than COD because microorganisms cannot degrade some organic compounds that are oxidized by strong chemicals as oxidizing agents. Moreover, some carbon compounds are not oxidized by microbes but are converted to biomass.

4) COD: COD is the amount of oxygen required to chemically oxidize organic compounds in the sample. Potassium dichromate is employed as the oxidizing agent and the sample is subjected to heating in the presence of sulfuric acid. The dichromate consumed is proportional to the carbon present in the sample that can be oxidized chemically. A limitation of this method is that some carbon compounds broken by microorganisms only partly are totally broken down by chemicals. In addition, recalcitrant organic carbon compounds are also included in COD, which cannot be actually broken readily. Thus, COD overestimates the carbon that can be removed by microbes and hence not a true representative of the capacity of microorganisms to oxidize.

15.3 Wastewater Regulations

Treated wastewater may either be discharged to the environment or used for specific applications as the case maybe. Stringent regulations are required to monitor the quality of the treated effluent for both cases. Regulatory bodies are in place in different countries to ensure that the prescribed limits for every type of pollutant is met and safety is maintained always. In Europe, the Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive was established in 1991 and Water Framework Directive in 2000 to monitor the quality. Similar works are carried out by the environmental protection agency (EPA) in the United States and the industry-wise guidelines for wastewater can be accessed from the EPA website [4]. Similar regulations in Canada and England are also available [4].

15.4 Biological Treatment Processes

Conventional wastewater treatment process usually involves three steps [5], that is, primary, secondary, and tertiary treatment as shown in Figure 15.1. The primary treatment is essentially the physical removal of 20-30% BOD that is present in particulate form by employing processes such as settling, screening, coagulation, and so on. The resultant solid material is termed as *sludge*. Major portion of the BOD is removed during the secondary treatment where biological removal of the dissolved organic matter occurs. Secondary wastewater treatment process can be either an aerobic or an anaerobic process. An aerobic process is essentially carried out in the presence of air and employs aerobes (microbes that require

474 15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater



Figure 15.1 Conventional wastewater treatment.

- *Primary treatment*: initial step in wastewater treatment that usually employs coagulation and settling.
- Secondary treatment: second stage of wastewater treatment involving aerobic or anaerobic microorganisms.
- Tertiary treatment: final stage where virus and trace contamination is removed.

oxygen/air for their growth and degradation of organic matter) such as *Bacil*lus, Nocardia, Enterobacteriaceae, Streptococcus, and Staphylococcus species to name some. In such cases, air has to be provided by means of suitable aeration techniques [6]. The organic waste is converted into biomass, carbon dioxide, and water. On the other hand, anaerobic wastewater treatment does not require air or oxygen and use anaerobes (microbes which do not require oxygen/air for their growth and degradation of organic matter) such as Escherichia coli, Clostridium, Actinomycetes, and Klebsiella species. Here, aeration is not necessary and organic wastes after biodegradation result in methane, carbon dioxide, and biomass. Generally, aerobic processes are employed to treat wastewater with low to medium content of organic impurities and for wastewaters that are difficult to biodegrade such as municipal sewage [7]. Wastewater with medium to high concentrations of biodegradable mattter and food and beverage wastewater that are rich in sugars and starches and alcohols are better treated using anaerobic processes. The kinetics of aerobic treatment is fast and yield high quantum of sludge as compared to anaerobic processes. Both these processes have been described in the following sections.

Tertiary treatment purifies the wastewater further. It is particularly important to remove phosphorus and nitrogen that can lead to eutrophication. Activated carbon filters are used to remove final traces of organic pollutants. Virus inactivation is also done at this final stage.

15.5 Aerobic Techniques

15.5.1 Mathematical Modeling

Mathematical models are tools that simplify the complexity of any process. Biological wastewater treatment is a complex process that requires mathematical modeling to optimize designs or to troubleshoot problems that arise at treatment plants. Mathematical models are divided into different types based on the type of microbial growth, that is, attached or suspended growth or a mixed type.

Substrate removal and growth of microorganisms are closely connected in biological wastewater treatment processes. Monod's equations have been used to describe substrate removal for decades [8].

$$r_{\rm s} = -\frac{kX_{\rm v}S}{K+S} \tag{15.1}$$

$$r_{\rm s} = -\frac{kS}{K+S} \tag{15.2}$$

where, the rate of substrate removal in $ML^{-3}T^{-1}$ is denoted by r_s , X_v is the concentration of volatile suspended solids (VSS), k and K are the maximum and half-velocity constants respectively, and S is the concentration of the substrate.

At low substrate concentrations, Equations 15.1 and 15.2 are reduced to the following first order kinetic equations:

$$r_{\rm s} = -kX_{\rm v}S\tag{15.3}$$

$$r_{\rm s} = -kS \tag{15.4}$$

Rate of substrate removal is dependent on the substrate concentration and both are directly proportional to each other. Therefore, when the value of the substrate concentration decreases, the rate of substrate removal also decreases.

VSS are used instead of active biomass (Xa) since the measurement of the former is convenient and practical whereas the active biomass may not only contain viable microorganisms but it also constitutes enzymes and other catalytic agents giving errors in measurements.

The Arrhenius equation is used to describe the temperature dependence of the maximum velocity coefficient k in Equations 15.1–15.4, and is given as follows:

$$k_{\rm t} = k_{20} \theta^{(T-20)} \tag{15.5}$$

where θ is a constant with a range of 1.0–1.8 [9] and k_t and k_{20} are rate coefficients at temperature *T* and 20 °C respectively.

Substrate utilization is accompanied by growth of microorganisms and production of biological sludge. Generally, production of biomass is described by the following equation:

$$r_{\rm Xp} = -Y r_{\rm s} \tag{15.6}$$

476 15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater

where r_{Xp} is the production of biomass from the substrate removal in ML⁻³ T⁻¹ and *Y* is the yield factor that represents the mass of biomass produced per mass of substrate consumed. Endogenous decay of biomass attributed to death of microorganisms in a substrate-limited condition can be depicted by the following equation:

$$r_{\rm Xc} = -K_c X_{\rm v} \tag{15.7}$$

where, $r_{\rm Xc}$ is the rate of decrease of VSS due to endogenous decay and $k_{\rm c}$ is the rate constant. Therefore, the net growth rate of the biomass is the summation of Equations 15.5 and 15.6, which can be stated as:

$$r_{\rm x} = -Y \ r_{\rm s} - K_{\rm c} X_{\rm v} \tag{15.8}$$

15.5.2

Types of Aerobic Treatment

15.5.2.1 Activated Sludge Process (ASP)

This is one of the oldest and most commonly used municipal and industrial wastewater treatment process. Developed in England in the early 1900s, the activated sludge (AS) process was not employed in the United States until the 1940s. Slowly with time, the process was adopted globally and at present, along with the traditional activated sludge process (ASP), several variants have also been developed. It is considered one of the most popular biological treatment processes that produce high quality treated effluent economically due to its low construction cost and small land requirement suited aptly for both small and large communities [10]. The process is very simple and is shown in Figure 15.2. Wastewater after primary treatment is subjected to the ASP. The entire process essentially consists of four parts (i) aeration tank, (ii) mode of aeration, (iii) settling tank or clarifier, and (iv) recycle of AS or generation of waste sludge. The wastewater post primary treatment enters the aeration tank that can be either a plug flow type or a completely mixed variant [11]. Specific concentration of biomass is maintained in the tank and is generally denoted as mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) or mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS) along with a sufficient dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration to enable biological degradation of organic impurities. The MLSS concentration is usually measured by filtering a small sample of mixed liquor through fiber glass filter paper. The organic fraction is usually analyzed by burning off the organic fraction of the filtered sample as suggested by its name, MLVSS. The aeration tank is provided with a suitable means of aeration that ensures that required levels of oxygen are provided to the process. This is very crucial given the fact that the process is aerobic and mass transfer of oxygen into the wastewater is often a rate-limiting step. This requirement is usually met by mechanical surface aerators. The aerated mixed liquor flows into the clarifier unit where the biomass separates out and the clarified treated water is subjected to further treatment. Lastly, the separated


Figure 15.2 Activated sludge process (ASP).

O = volumetric flow rate So = influent substrate concentration V = volume, $X_{y} =$ volatile suspended solids (VSS) Se = soluble substrate concentration Xve = VSS in clarified effluent Xvr = VSS in waste sludge or in recycled underflow $Q_{\rm w}$ = waste sludge flow rate.

biomass is either recycled back into the aeration tank in the form of return activated sludge (RAS) or the excess biomass that is produced as a result of the biodegradation process is sent to the waste handling or dewatering facility as waste activated sludge (WAS). The purpose of RAS is to maintain an adequate number of microorganisms in the aeration tank, which is required to treat the load entering the treatment plant [12]. The RAS contains microorganisms that have the ability to feed on the organic matter of the wastewater. For large treatment plants, the RAS flow rates are adjusted between 50% and 100% of the treated wastewater flow rates and for smaller plants, around 150% of treated wastewater flow rates. The RAS flow rate denoted as $Q_{\rm R}$ is calculated in cubic meter per day as follows [13]:

$$Q_{\rm R} = \frac{\text{Settled sludge volume (ml l^{-1})} \times Q (m^3 \text{ per day})}{1000 (ml l^{-1}) - \text{Settled sludge volume(ml l^{-1})}}$$
(15.9)

The AS system is controlled by WAS. This is done to ensure the required balance of microbial population in the tank. Control over the microbial population is achieved by maintaining a constant food to microorganism ratio (F/M) or a constant sludge age. The F/M ratio is defined as the ratio of the food entering the plant to the ratio of microorganisms in the tank (Volume of tank as Va) expressed as per the following equation [13]:

$$\frac{F}{M} = \frac{\text{kg BOD per day}}{\text{kg MLSS}}$$
(15.10)

where, kg BOD per day = $\frac{\text{BOD(mg } l^{-1}) \times Q}{1000}$ and kg MLSS = $\frac{\text{MLSS} \times V_a}{1000}$

The amount of sludge wasted from the system can be calculated as follows [13]: Actual kg MLSS – Desired kg MLSS = mass of sludge solids to be wasted, per kilogram. Based on this the WAS flow rate (Q_w) is determined as follows:

$$Q_{\rm w} \,({\rm m}^3 \text{ per day}) = \frac{\text{Mass of sludge solids wasted (kg per day)} \times 1000}{S_{\rm w} ({\rm mg l}^{-1})}$$
(15.11)

Sludge age is defined as the total mass of sludge contained in the aeration tank divided by the total mass of sludge wasted daily, including the suspended solids discharged in the outflow. This is expressed in the equation given below [13]:

Sludge age =
$$\left(\frac{\text{MLSS } \left(V_{a} + V_{c}\right)}{Q_{w} \cdot S_{w} + (Q - Q_{w})S_{e}}\right)$$
 (15.12)

The efficiency of the treatment is usually monitored by performing tests such as the jar test to check the floc and settleability performance, microbiological analysis to ascertain the types of bacteria that predominate, and certain chemical analysis that includes alkalinity, BOD, COD, total dissolved solids (TDS), nitrogen content, and phosphorus content to name a few. The treatment environments that affect the process are manifold. DO, organic load, TDS, temperature, pH, age of the sludge and its type, presence of toxins, are some of the factors that can have a critical impact on the success of the treatment. The AS usually consists of bacteria in majority (95%) with a few higher organisms such as fungi, protozoa, and higher invertebrates (5%) [14]. The sludge volume index (SVI) is used to assess the sludge settling quality. It can be measured by filling a liter graduated cylinder with mixed liquor from the tank and allowing it to settle for 30 min. The SVI is computed as follows [13]:

$$SVI = \frac{Volume \text{ of settled sludge}(ml \ l^{-1}) \times 1000}{MLSS \ (mg \ l^{-1})}$$
(15.13)

A value between 50 and 80 ml g^{-1} indicates good settling of the sludge. Typical variants of the conventional ASP are now discussed below:

- Extended aeration: This process as the name suggests holds the wastewater for 18 h or more. Aeration is carried out either by mechanical or diffused methods and mixing is done either by aeration or mechanical means [15]. It is generally operated at high solids retention time (SRT) and, therefore, the microbes compete for remaining food which often results in highly treated effluent with low solid waste product. It is considered a stable process due to light food to microorganism loading ideally suited for small communities [16]. Added advantages are its ability to accept intermittent loading without upsetting the system and very less waste sludge generation.
- 2) Sequencing batch reactors (SBRs): This is also commonly referred as the fill and draw ASP. The special feature of this method is the use of a single tank where equalization, aeration, and clarification occur one after the other. The process is considered suitable when the influent flow is typically 5 million



Figure 15.3 Sequencing batch reactor (one cycle).

FILL: wastewater to be treated is added

- *REACT*: aeration is provided by suitable means such as mechanical aerators for initiating the reaction
- SETTLE: aeration is stopped after reaction and contents are allowed to settle, followed by clarification

DRAW: treated wastewater is removed at this stage, and

IDLE: no reaction occurs and generally waste sludge is removed at this stage.

gallons per day or lower [17]. The influent is added to the tank (fill) and then allowed to react with ample aeration followed by settling and clarifying without aeration and subsequent decanting of the treated effluent (draw). This step is also carried out without aeration. Finally, the system is kept idle and waste sludge is removed [18]. This process is depicted in a flow diagram shown in Figure 15.3. The major advantage of this process is the low land requirement and its economical feasibility.

3) Oxidation ditches: It essentially consist of a ring or oval channel with suitable aeration device. They operate in an extended aeration mode as depicted in Figure 15.4. Generally, this process is designed to achieve specific objectives such as nitrification, denitrification, phosphorus removal, and so on [19]. It is important to note that in this process no effluent surge occurs due to the constant water level and continuous discharge [20]. Main advantages are its energy efficiency and suitability for small communities. On the other hand, requirements of large areas of land makes it less economical as compared to other techniques.

AS and its variants as discussed earlier are types of treatment where the microorganisms are suspended. Therefore, they are also generally referred to as *suspended growth options*. Under this category, we can have another classification based on the aeration used.

- 1) *Diffused aeration:* This may use either fine bubble diffused aeration system of varying sizes generally made of ceramic or membrane or coarse bubble diffusion systems that are generally made of corrosion-resistant stainless steel components [21].
- 2) *Jet aeration:* This type of aeration provides air and also aids in mixing without the requirement of separate mixing equipment. When aeration



Figure 15.4 Oxidation ditch.

Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment

- Aeration tank with suitable aeration device: Wastewater reactor equipped with aeration device
- Secondary clarifier: settling tank where coagulated material is allowed to clarify
- Return activated sludge: some amount of waste sludge is recycled back as a source of inoculum

Effluent: treated wastewater

Waste sludge: the remains of solid impurities along with microorganisms after complete treatment.

requirement decreases during the treatment process reducing the energy input by jets, pumps provide required mixing to enhance process control and dissipate required energy. Lower quantum of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are released by using this type of aerators and since no moving parts are required, it results in long life of the system [22].

3) Surface aeration: In this case, high and low speed floating aerators provide pumping action that result in transfer of oxygen by breaking up wastewater into sprays of fine droplets. These systems may use horizontal mounted aeration disks or rotors (also used in oxidation ditches). Generally, disk and rotor surface aerators are very efficient in giving higher extents of removal of COD and BOD and are also easy to replace. It is interesting to note that reactors in a vertical loop configuration are also suitable as surface aeration setups. These are essentially oxidation ditches flipped on their side. In such setups the upper and lower compartment are separated by a horizontal baffle that runs through the length of the tank [23].

Aeration devices are usually compared by the amount of oxygen transferred per unit of energy introduced to the wastewater under standard operating conditions, which is expressed as kg O₂/kg Wh. This can be determined by removing the residual oxygen from the liquid being tested with subsequent addition of sodium sulfite and a catalyst such as cobalt chloride. Aeration is started and the rate of oxygenation of the liquid is measured with the help of DO recordings at regular intervals. The oxygen transfer coefficient, $K_{\rm L}a$, can be determined as follows [13]:

$$K_{\rm L}a(T) = K_{\rm L}a(20\,^{\circ}{\rm C})\theta^{(T-20)}$$
(15.14)

The solubility of oxygen in water is temperature dependent, hence the above equation is used.

 θ is the temperature correction factor (usually considered as 1.024) and T is the temperature at which the test is carried out. The actual oxygen transfer rate is calculated using the following equation:

$$OTR_{f} = SOTR \left(\frac{\beta C_{s} - C_{w}}{C_{s20}}\right) \theta^{(T-20)} \cdot \alpha$$
(15.15)

where.

- OTR_f = actual oxygen transfer rate under field operating conditions $(kg O_2/kg Wh)$
- SOTR = oxygen transfer rate under test conditions at 20 °C $(kg O_2/kg Wh)$

 $C_s =$ oxygen saturation concentration in tap water ν (mg l⁻¹)

- $C_{\rm w}$ = operating oxygen concentration in wastewater (mg l⁻¹)
- C_{s20} = oxygen saturation concentration in tap water at 20 °C
- α = ratio of $K_{\rm L}a$ of wastewater to that of tap water
- β = ratio of saturation concentration of oxygen at 20 °C for wastewater and tap water
- θ = temperature correction factor (usually considered as 1.024).

The following equation gives the total oxygen demand in an AS system [13]:

demand = Carbonaceous oxygen demand + Endogenous Total oxygen demand + Nitrification oxygen demand + Oxygen derived from denitrification in an anoxic zone

$$OD = 0.75Q(BODi - BODe) + 2V_A \cdot MLSS$$
$$+ 4.3Q(Ammi - Amme) - 2.83Q[(Ammi - Amme) - Ne] \quad (15.16)$$

where.

```
OD = mass of oxygen required (g h^{-1})
BODi = inflow BOD (mg l^{-1})
BODe = outflow BOD (mg l^{-1})
Ammi = inflow ammoniacal nitrogen (mg l^{-1})
Amme = outflow ammoniacal nitrogen (mg l^{-1})
Ne = outflow nitrate nitrogen (mg l^{-1}).
```

15.5.2.2 Trickling Filters

This is yet another type of aerobic wastewater treatment process that is also commonly referred to as biotowers. The schematic representation of the biotowers has been given in Figure 15.5. The distinctive feature of this method is that the microorganisms are attached to a suitable medium unlike the suspended growth seen in the ASP. Therefore, they are also classified under fixed film type of wastewater treatment. The microbes form a film or a slimy layer on the medium, which is generally around 0.1-0.2 mm thick. As the wastewater flows into the system, the microbes from the influent get attached to the medium to form a film.







Rotation: slow movement of filter to ensure complete oxidation and uniform treatment Distribution rod with small orifice: for uniform distribution of the influent over the filter media

Filter media: support on which microbes grow forming a film *Influent*: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment.

Treated effluent outlet: opening for release of treated water.

Microbes, especially the ones on the outer part of the film, are responsible for the degradation of organic pollutants aerobically [24]. However, the film thickness increases with time leading to difficulty in oxygen penetration into the film and often results in anaerobic conditions toward the inner part of film. Sometimes a portion from the film fall off into the wastewater from the filter and this is called *sloughing*. This portion can be clarified and filtered. The medium usually employed in trickling filters is rock, slag, or plastic that is suitably designed in terms of shape and arrangement [25, 26]. Aeration is an important parameter that is addressed by using natural draft and/or forced circulation. The void area in the medium and the ventilation ports at the bottom of the filters aid in the aeration process. The waste influent is dispersed over the trickling filter with the aid of distributors that are driven mechanically. The distributors are either rotating arms or fixed nozzles. An under-drain system that collects solids and filtrate, also serves as a source of air for the microbes on the filter. After treatment in the trickling filters, the material flows into a settling tank where the solids are separated. A part of the treated liquid is recirculated to the filter in order to improve wetting and flushing of the filter media. Trickling filters are generally classified into low-, intermediate-, and high-rate filters based on the amount of BOD they handle [27]. Low-rate filters can handle less than 40, intermediate ones handle up to 64, and high-rate handles between 64 and 160 kg BOD₅/1000 cu ft

per day. Besides this, roughing filters are designed to handle soluble BOD in the range of $160-480 \text{ kg BOD}_5/1000 \text{ cu}$ ft per day [4]. In general, trickling filters are less efficient for BOD and COD removal. On the other hand, the advantage is that they produce very little sludge and have potential for stripping VOCs which is an advantage for environmental reasons [28–30].

Two approaches have been used to design trickling filters [31]. The first approach, called the *NRC* equation is based upon the performance of similar units as follows:

$$E = \frac{1}{1 + 0.014 \left(\frac{w}{V_{\rm m} R_{\rm f}}\right)^{0.5}} \tag{15.17}$$

where, E = fraction of BOD removed, w = loading, kg BOD per day, $V_m =$ total volume of filter media, and $R_f =$ recycle factor defined by

$$R_{\rm f} = \frac{1+r}{(1+(1-p)R_{\rm r})2} \tag{15.18}$$

where, p = a weighting factor typically equal to 0.9 and $R_r =$ recycle ratio defined as ratio of the recirculation flow to the filter influent flow. The second approach is based on kinetic equations based on BOD removal:

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = -K_{\rm d}C\tag{15.19}$$

where, *C* is the concentration of the biologically degradable substrate as determined by the BOD test and K_d is a rate constant [32].

15.5.2.3 Rotating Biological Contactors (RBCs)

This is yet another variant of the fixed film type of wastewater treatment methods [33]. It essentially consists of a vertically arranged plastic medium on a horizontal rotating shaft that rotates at a speed of around 1-1.5 rpm and remains submerged up to 40% in the medium. Microorganisms are coated on the rotating plates and are exposed to the wastewater and atmospheric oxygen alternately as depicted in Figure 15.6. These types of setups are generally preferred in petroleum facilities as they are adapted to recover quickly from upset conditions [34–36]. Moreover, they are easy to expand and enclose for VOC containment.





Microbes coated on the disk: essentially a biofilm on the drum that treats wastewater Central shaft: for easy rotation of the contactor Wastewater: inlet water that is subjected to treatment.



Coarse baffle diffused aeration provided

Figure 15.7 Submerged biological contactors.

- 90% submerged in medium: in this type of contactors, the treatment drum is submerged to a greater extent
- Coarse baffle diffused aeration provided: baffles have larger openings through which aeration is induced at higher rate
- *Microbes coated on the disk*: essentially a biofilm on the drum that treats wastewater *Central shaft*: for easy rotation of the contactor
- Wastewater: inlet water that is subjected to treatment.

15.5.2.4 Submerged Biological Contactors (SBCs)

These are almost similar to the rotating biological contactors (RBCs) except that they operate at 90% submergence in the medium and employ coarse baffle diffused aeration as shown in Figure 15.7. Since the submergence is more, the load on the shaft is much less than in RBCs and it has at least three times the surface area of a conventional RBC/ft/shaft length. Very good odor and VOC containment removal is possible with this setup if enclosed. It can be expanded and as it is driven completely by air, maintenance is much lower [37, 38].

15.5.2.5 Powdered Activated Carbon Treatment (PACT) Systems

These are conventional biological treatment systems to which powdered activated charcoal is added to increase the efficiency of the process as shown in Figure 15.8 [39]. This allows both physical adsorption and biological assimilation to occur simultaneously and can operate either aerobically or anaerobically [40]. Main advantages include toxicity removal, increase in nitrification efficiency, decrease in VOCs, and improved COD removal [41-43].

15.5.2.6 Membrane Bioreactors

They are unique setups used for wastewater treatment and are very similar to the conventional ASPs in that both have mixed liquor solids in suspension in an aeration tank. However, in membrane bioreactors (MBRs), the bio-solids are separated by using a polymeric membrane that is generally based on micro- or ultrafiltration. They are basically aerobic or anaerobic processes with integrated membrane system [44]. In this method, the wastewater is initially screened to remove coarse particles to avoid clogging of membranes especially as membranes are expensive [45, 46]. The screened wastewater generally enters a treatment tank that incorporates a submerged membrane that harbors the microorganisms. In aerated systems, suitable aeration is provided for maintaining the biomass and aiding the



Figure 15.8 ASP combined with powdered activated carbon treatment (PACT).

Powdered activated carbon dosage: amount of activated carbon that is added for treating wastewater
Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment
Activated sludge tank: main area where wastewater treatment occurs
Aeration: suitable means of providing air for reaction
Post sedimentation: treatment after sedimentation process
Effluent: treated wastewater
Return sludge and powdered activated carbon: contents that are recycled back into the reactor
Waste sludge and powdered activated carbon: waste generated after treatment.

process. These systems can retain active biomass in the process by way of submerged membranes rather than using clarifiers thus eliminating sludge settling issues. A typical system is represented in Figure 15.9. MBRs are generally operated for longer periods of around 20–100 days. They are stable with complete nitrification being possible and also yield less biosolids [47, 48]. The advantages of membrane filtration are manifold. It provides an excellent barrier to suspended bio-solids thus preventing its loss and abating conditions of sludge-bulking in the clarifier that is often encountered in the ASP. The aeration tank size in MBRs are much less and compact in order to accommodate the membrane especially in the case of submerged systems. The effluent quality obtained is better than that obtained in ASPs and does not require subsequent post treatment [49].

15.5.2.7 Biological Aerated Filters (BAFs)

These are essentially biofilm systems that are used either for secondary or tertiary wastewater treatment process [50]. The first report of this setup dates back to around the early 1900s where aeration tanks containing layers of slate supporting a biofilm was used for sewage treatment [51]. Such a system encompasses a three phase structure comprising a solid phase that includes a support for the growing microorganisms, liquid phase in which the solid is submerged, and gas phase created by input of air in a reactor. The media used can either be



Figure 15.9 Membrane bioreactors for aerobic wastewater treatment.

Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment Pretreatment to remove coarse particles: initial screening to eliminate impurities that are larger in size

Treatment tank provided with aeration: main wastewater treatment reactor

Membrane harbors microorganisms: microbes grow and form a film on the surface of the membrane

Treated effluent: treated wastewater.

structured or granular. The latter is generally known to be capable of removing organic matter and suspended solids at the same time. Therefore, there is no requirement for a subsequent sedimentation step. Biological aeration filters can be of two varieties, namely, upflow BAF and downflow BAF as shown in Figure 15.10a,b. In the upflow BAF, air and wastewater flow in a concurrent manner. These types of systems can easily cope up with increasing influent flow rates. Here, more effective oxygenation occurs due to bubbles not coalescing and retaining their optimal surface/volume ratio. An added advantage of using this system is less odor production due to air stripping of volatile compounds because ambient air is only in contact with treated effluent. Media used are myriad such as expanded clay [52], porous stone [53], and polypropylene [54] for upflow BAF and media such as anthracite for downflow BAF. BAFs have been widely used for treatment of domestic wastewater containing hydrocarbons with concentration up to 20 mg l^{-1} with almost 95% efficiency [55]. It has also been successfully employed to treat industrial wastewater [56], wastewater from paper mill [57], and distillery wastewater [53]. Small footprint and adaptability allows them to be used in upgrading established works especially where land costs are high. Moreover, optimum requirements especially with regard to media type, backwashing rates, aeration, and so on, are conditioned for less power consumption.

15.5.2.8 Hybrid Processes-Integrated Fixed Film Activated Sludge System

It is well established that hybrid processes are generally superior to individual techniques and a wastewater treatment is no exception. Among the several hybrid techniques in place, the Integrated Fixed Film Activated Sludge System has found widespread application [58–60]. This technique combines the conventional ASP



Figure 15.10 (a,b) Biological aerated filters (BAFs).

Upflow BAF: the air and wastewater flow in a concurrent manner Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment Effluent: treated wastewater Process air: aeration provided for reaction Backwash waste: dislodged solids and microorganisms that are generated during backwashing of the filter usually carried out by air (air scouring) or water Media: suitable filter media such as expanded clay, porous stone, polypropylene, and anthracite Downflow BAF: the air and wastewater flow in a counter current manner with downwards flow for wastewater.

with trickling filter with a subsequent clarifier. Yet another modification of this system is the moving bed bioreactor that is typically a fluidized bed system followed by an ASP and this combined approach is also described as the integrated hybrid method. Additional surface area of the film allowing biofilm formation either in fixed form or suspended form, better overall efficiency, effective nitrification [61], smaller foot-print and lesser sludge waste generated, and lower capital and operating costs are some of the merits of the hybrid method as compared to the conventional ASP [62].

15.5.2.9 Use of Ultrasound to Improve the Sludge Characteristics

A main drawback of the conventional aerobic processes commonly used in wastewater treatment applications is the production of large amount of excess AS. The sludge in these processes contains biomass, extracellular polymeric substances (EPSs) and large amounts of water (generally more than 95%). EPS is an important material that tries to combine the biomass and water into a matrix. A typical purification plant for the wastewater produces sludge quantum anywhere between 5% and 25% of the total volume of treated water. The sludge generated from municipal waste treatment plants can be converted into useful

fertilizers, but the sludge generated from industrial waste treatment plants is difficult to dispose as it contains large amounts of noxious chemical substances. The process of conversion to fertilizers is likely to be more effective if the water content in the sludge is reduced. Any improvements in reducing the quantity of sludge by virtue of efficient dewatering are also beneficial to the overall wastewater treatment process due to lower disposal costs. Ultrasonic irradiation can be effective in dewatering of suspensions such as slurries and sludge due to the cavitation events which can bring about structural changes. The changes in the structure and properties of sludge influence the efficiency of the dewatering process. Ultrasonic irradiations can also be combined with chemicals such as polyelectrolyte or alkali and the combined process is likely to be more effective. Use of ultrasound (US) changes the inner structure of polyelectrolytes, which helps in intensifying the polyelectrolyte activity on the sewage sludge.

15.6

Anaerobic Techniques

Since the early 1970s, anaerobic treatment of industrial wastewaters has gained a lot of importance. This is a result of increased knowledge of the microbiology of anaerobic purification, and development of improved reactors with high biomass concentrations. Anaerobic processes are an attractive alternative to treat wastewater given the fact that aerobic techniques are energy intensive due to high aeration requirements, yield large quantity of sludge (~0.4 g dry weight/g COD removed), and are able to treat efficiently only low strength wastewater like municipal wastewater that has less than 1000 mg COD l⁻¹. Anaerobic processes are, inexpensive compared to their aerobic counterparts and their use has increased over the past decade [63]. Anaerobic digestion consists of several sequential steps where the products from one group of microorganisms serve as the substrate for another group of microbes. Hydrolysis/liquefaction, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis are the four phases that typically occur in an anaerobic digestion process. It has been reported that generally two biological kingdoms, the bacteria and the archaea, are actively involved in the process [64].

Anaerobic processes have the advantage of high efficiency, simplicity, flexibility, low space requirements, low energy consumption, low sludge production, and low nutrient and chemical requirements to name some. On the other hand, low pathogen and nutrient removal requiring post treatment, long start-up, odor generation due to production of hydrogen sulfide are some drawbacks of anaerobic treatments, which require special attention [65].

Anaerobic digestors are generally classified as low-rate and high-rate. The former are conventional and consist of anaerobic ponds and septic tanks. The latter are designed to operate at short hydraulic retention times (HRT) and long SRT for high activity biomass and better efficiency [66]. Some of the high rate digestors are described in the following sections. High rate anaerobic biological reactors may be classified into three types based on the mechanism of biomass retention. These are suspended type, fixed film type, and hybrid. Among the plethora of full-scale installations globally, 67% are upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors with or without suspended growth [67], 12% continuous stirred tank reactors (CSTRs), 7% anaerobic filters with or without fixed film [68], and 14% comprising other variants.

15.6.1 Types of Anaerobic Treatment Systems

15.6.1.1 Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket (UASB)

The UASB reactors are widely used for anaerobic treatment of wastewater. They are considered to be very robust high-rate reactors especially for sewage treatment. It has been reported that more than 1000 such reactors are installed globally [69]. A typical setup is shown in Figure 15.11. The reactor consists of two parts, a cylindrical column and a gas liquid solid separator [70]. The reactor is seeded initially. The sludge enters from the bottom and the light particles are washed out leaving the heavier ones behind resulting in the formation of granules containing





Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment
Effluent: treated wastewater
Sludge bed: a dense zone of sludge that develops as the microbes grow
Sludge blanket: zone comprising a much diffused growth and lower settling velocity located above the sludge bed
Biogas outlet: opening to release the biogas produced during treatment
Tri-phase separator: gas liquid and solid (GLS) separator that helps in the separation of the biogas and the sludge that has moved upward from the treated wastewater
Gas deflector: baffles below the GLS separator that prevent the wash-out of viable bacteria by pushing the material back into the reactor.

inert organic, inorganic matters, and bacterial aggregates in the seed sludge. Over a certain period of time a dense sludge bed develops above which there exists a sludge blanket zone which displays a much diffused growth and lower settling velocities [71]. The biological reactions occur in both the zones and the soluble organic compounds in the influent are converted to biogas comprising mainly methane and carbon dioxide. The gas-liquid-solid separator helps in the separation of the biogas and the sludge that has moved upward. The baffles in the separator prevent the wash-out of viable bacteria by pushing the material back into the reactor [72].

15.6.1.2 Anaerobic Baffled Reactors (ABR)

These reactors, as their name suggest, use a series of baffles to force the wastewater to flow under and over the baffles as it passes from the inlet to the outlet. A schematic representation of these types of reactors has been shown in Figure 15.12. The flow characteristics in the reactor coupled with the gas production cause the bacteria to gently rise and settle within the reactor. The most significant advantage of the anaerobic baffled reactors (ABRs) is its ability to separate acidogenesis and methanogenesis longitudinally down the reactor. Thus, the reactor behaves like a two-phase system without the requirement of elaborate control systems and the associated expense [73]. Simple design without moving parts, no mechanical mixing, lower cost of construction, reduced clogging, low sludge generation, low HRT, and protection from toxic materials in the influent are some major advantages of the ABRs that make it an attractive option for wastewater treatment. A lot of research has been devoted to enhance the performance of the ABRs especially by way of improving the existing design such as





Wastewater: influent to be treated Effluent: treated wastewater Baffles: several baffles employed to force the wastewater to flow under and over the

baffles as it passes from the inlet to the outlet

Biogas: gas (usually methane and carbon dioxide) generated as a result of treatment.

addition of vertical baffles to a plug flow reactor that allows higher solid retention and better substrate accessibility to methanogens [74]. Yet another modification was the narrowing of the downflow chambers so that cell retention is increased in the upflow chambers and slanted edges on the baffles of around $40-45^{\circ}$, which leads to the flow toward the center of the reactor and enhances mixing [75]. Similarly, settling chambers to improve solids retention, positioning packing at the top of each chamber to prevent washout of solids [76], and enlargement of the first chamber for better treatment capability [77] are some more variations in the conventional design which give efficient operation.

15.6.1.3 Anaerobic Fluidized Bed Reactors

These reactors offer successful designs for anaerobic wastewater treatment that has found widespread application since the early 1980s. Although the initial systems operated on a smaller scale, by 1984 many full-scale fluidized bed reactors were installed worldwide. Fluidized bed reactors are compact systems that require very little space. It essentially consists of a vertical long chamber (reactor) with biolayer covered inert particles that are maintained in a fluidized state by an upward directed water flow as depicted in Figure 15.13. The role of the



Figure 15.13 Anaerobic fluidized bed reactors.

Wastewater: influent to be treated

Biogas: gas (usually methane and carbon dioxide) generated as a result of treatment *Recycle*: part of treated water and sludge that is sent back again for further treatment and as a fresh inoculum source

Purified water: treated wastewater

Inner inert support: suitable media present inside that does not participate in the reaction

Biological layer: film of microorganisms that grows on the support.

inert particles (carrier) is to provide a good support for the microbes to grow on them and form a biolayer. Sand is one of the most commonly used inert carriers apart from Al_2O_2 , activated carbon, and synthetic resins. The characteristic of the inert carrier has been found to influence the whole process. For instance, smaller the size of the particles, lower is the liquid shear experienced. Overall, a diameter of 0.3-0.5 mm for sand particles has been reported to give a very good biofilm formation followed by an efficient wastewater treatment in anaerobic fluidized bed reactors. These reactors have many advantages over other anaerobic treatment methods such as high settling velocities of the particles, which enable high liquid velocities in the reactor. This also ensures that the inert sediment does not accumulate in the reactor and, therefore, sludge activity is very high. Moreover, the biomass concentrations are high due to high adherence to the large surface area available on the small inert particles. Higher purification and no problems of sludge retention compared to UASB reactors, no clogging as seen in filters, and small area requirements are additional intrinsic positive aspects of this system. As with any system, the fluidized bed reactors have some inbuilt disadvantages. Longer start-up times due to the requirement of biolayer formation on the inert particles, high energy requirement owing to high liquid recirculation ratio, and requirement of expensive liquid distributors for fluidization especially on a large scale are some of the problems associated with the system. Several research papers report the extensive work carried out on the design and optimization of the fluidized bed reactor and there are no general guidelines available as different wastewater will have to be treated in a different manner because of the varying composition of the wastewater. Optimization based on lab and pilot scale studies is a key requirement as some reports indicate that COD removal is very low (1-50%) [78-81]; on the other hand, higher COD removal (40-90%) has also been reported especially in the case of expanded bed at low velocity [82-84].

15.6.1.4 Expanded Granule Sludge Blanket (EGSB) Reactor

This reactor is very similar to a traditional UASB reactor that has a characteristically high recycle ratio. The distinctive feature of this reactor is that the upflow of this reactor is generally maintained higher and thus enables the reactor to contact the granules with the wastewater. A typical diagram is shown in Figure 15.14. This reactor design contributes to the separation of the dispersed sludge from the granules and helps withdrawing it out of the reactor. Very high velocities result in expansion of granules with greater mixing and higher contact with the wastewater. The expanded granule sludge blanket (EGSB) reactors are reported to handle low ($1000-2000 \text{ mg l}^{-1}$) as well as high (30 kg m^{-3} per day) COD [85, 86]. Not many reports exist for modification of these reactors [87]. Although there are no major differences between this and the UASB, the hydraulic flow pattern in the case of EGSB can be between completely mixed and dispersed plug flow.

15.6.1.5 Anaerobic Membrane Reactors

These systems have only recently emerged mainly from the observed success from the aerobic membrane processes. They are known to accomplish very high COD removal up to the extent of 98% and often operate either as an external membrane



Figure 15.14 Expanded granule sludge blanket reactor.

Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment

Effluent: treated wastewater

Biogas: gas (usually methane and carbon dioxide) generated as a result of treatment *Recycle*: part of treated water and sludge that is sent back again for further treatment

and as a fresh inoculum source

Sludge bed: a dense zone of sludge that develops as the microbes grow

Expanded bed (granules): microbe coated support that gets expanded due to high flow velocities of wastewater

Gas deflector: baffles below the GLS separator that prevent the wash-out of viable bacteria by pushing the material back into the reactor

Tri-phase separator: gas liquid and solid (GLS) separator that helps in the separation of the biogas and the sludge that has moved upward from the treated wastewater.

or a membrane submerged within the reactor as shown in Figure 15.15. These membrane systems prevent washout of the biomass enabling higher efficiency of treatment. Although fouling can be an important demerit, it can be often circumvented by appropriate means. There are different ways by which the anaerobic bioreactors and membranes can be combined. The first kind of membrane reactor houses the membrane outside the reactor and the biomass is circulated at high velocities using an external pump. Although this ensures that there is no fouling, energy costs may be high. The second method of operating these reactors is to employ vacuum to draw the effluent through the membrane. Here, the membrane can be submerged in the reactor or in a separate reactor, which requires a pump but the flow is not through the module. The obvious advantage of a submerged membrane reactor is the elimination of energy requirement for pumping [88]. Moreover, the biomass is less stressed. Yet another membrane configuration reported consists of sequential membrane reactors where the effluents from one



Figure 15.15 Anaerobic membrane bioreactor.

Submerged membrane: the membrane system is immersed in the wastewater to be treated (inside the reactor)

Influent: raw wastewater that enters a reactor for treatment

Effluent/permeate: treated wastewater that flows out of the membrane *Membrane module*: unit (device) containing the membrane essentially on a support *Anaerobic bioreactor*: a wastewater reactor that works anaerobically (without aeration) *External membrane*: membrane system is housed outside the reactor and the biomass is pumped at high velocities from the reactor into the membrane system.

reactor with a large pore size are treated by another membrane reactor of a smaller pore size [89].

15.6.2

Improvements for Sludge Management

In the case of biological wastewater treatment, large quantities of biosolids (sewage sludge) are also produced that leads to severe problems in management due to higher transport costs as well as also lack of enough storage facilities. The sludge is highly susceptible to decay. Therefore, the generated sludge is generally stabilized by anaerobic digestion in order to enable environmentally safe utilization and disposal. Anaerobic digestion is achieved through several stages such as hydrolysis, acidogenesis, and methanogenesis. Due to the rate-limiting step of biological sludge hydrolysis, the anaerobic degradation is a very slow process, and large fermenters (digesters) are necessary. Typical digestion times are more than 30-40 days. One of the improvements for anaerobic digestion that has been successfully applied in commercial scale applications is based on the use of ultrasonic reactors. Ultrasonic reactors can be effectively used to improve the sludge hydrolysis, resulting in a significant reduction in the digestion time as well as a significant increase in the biogas generation. The intensification has been attributed to floc size reduction and cell lysis. Shear forces generated by low-frequency ultrasound are effective in disintegrating bacterial cells in sewage sludge. Thus, the quantity of dissolved organic substrate is increased and, consequently, the degradation rate and the biodegradability of organic biosolids mass are improved. Nickel and Neis [90] reported the use of a pilot-scale ultrasound reactor (maximum power consumption: 3.6 kW) for biosolids treatment. The reactor was with a capacity of 1.31 and provided with 12 piezoceramic flat transducers fixed at each of the four sidewalls. The operating frequency was fixed at 31 kHz and the area of transducers

was adjusted in such a way that the acoustic intensities vary within the range of $5-18 \text{ W cm}^{-2}$. It has been reported that the use of ultrasonic biosolid disintegration resulted in a significant improvement in the overall process by virtue of increased volatile solid degradation rate (about 40%), increased biogas production (by almost 100% depending on the operating conditions), and a reduction of the nondegradable organic matter that exists in each type from 60% to 52%. The work has established that ultrasonic disintegration is a promising method to reduce the required volume of new biosolids digesters and also enable the operators to maintain undisturbed biosolids digestion rate, which is a very important requirement especially for the overloaded systems. In addition, there is a significant increase in the biogas production, which leads to overall economical operation and also might avoid installations of new digestors for enhancing the production.

15.7 Aerobic-Anaerobic Processes

Previous sections described various aerobic and anaerobic wastewater treatment processes. For any process, combination technology always works better than any individual method owing to the merits of two or more methods, which invariably offset the disadvantages of an individual technique. Biological wastewater techniques are no exception and both aerobic and anaerobic processes have been employed together successfully giving better treatment efficiencies [91, 92]. The conventional hybrid aerobic-anaerobic systems usually consist of large ponds connected in series and are frequently characterized by long HRT, low organic loading rate, high energy constraint, and problems related to requirement of vast area of land and lack of economic feasibility [93]. These issues can be overcome to a large extent by using high-rate bioreactors such as the UASB, fluidized bed reactor, and membrane reactors in order to provide a treatment technique that is technically sound and economically viable [94, 95]. Continued research along these lines has led to the development of integrated processes that have aerobic and anaerobic oxidation zones in the same bioreactor [96-98] generally classified into four types:

- 1) Integrated bioreactors with physical separation of the aerobic-anaerobic zone
- 2) Integrated bioreactors without physical separation of the aerobic anaerobic zone
- 3) SBR based on temporal separation of aerobic and anaerobic phase
- Combined aerobic anaerobic system based on limited oxygen diffusion in microbial biofilms.

It is expected that these integrated processes will be able to meet the strict constraints of space, odor, and lesser sludge production and also be a cost-effective alternative to the conventional treatment technologies already in place. However, not many such integrated processes have been reported till now on a large scale. Moreover, these systems also warrant better optimization of the process and design [3].

15.8

Modified Biological Processes

The efficiency of the biological oxidation techniques is often hampered by the presence of bio-refractory materials as these cannot be readily degraded by the microorganisms. Under such conditions, it becomes imperative that appropriate pretreatment approaches are used so that the biorefractory molecules can be converted into lower chain compounds that can be more readily oxidized by the biological methods. The efficiency of the pretreatment process can be quantified in terms of the biodegradability index (BI) which is nothing but the ratio of biological oxygen demand established over 5 days to the chemical oxygen demand (BOD₅/COD) of the effluent. Advanced oxidation processes offer considerable promise as the pretreatment method and can be used with success to enhance the BI of the effluent stream to the desired range. Such a combined approach would be very useful as not only the overall efficiency of the treatment approach would increase leading to better discharge streams but the required treatment time can also be significantly reduced. In addition, although advanced oxidation processes offer potential for degradation of almost all the contaminants, their use is hampered by the lack of knowledge for the design and efficient operation of the large-scale reactors as well as by the cost of treatment that is considerably higher. The different advanced oxidation processes that have been used in the recent past as pretreatment approaches include cavitation, Fenton chemistry, ozonation, and photocatalytic oxidation. We now discuss the basic aspects of these processes followed by some specific cases studies for better understanding.

15.8.1 Cavitation

Cavitation can be used effectively for the destruction of the contaminants in water because of the localized high concentrations of the oxidizing species such as hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide, higher magnitudes of localized temperatures and pressures, and the formation of the transient supercritical water. Generation of conditions of intense turbulence and acoustic streaming also helps in enhancing the rates of processes limited by mass transfer and hence cavitation can be very effective when combined with other advanced oxidation processes such as Fenton processes and photocatalytic oxidation. Cavitation can be useful in altering the molecular structures of the pollutant leading to the enhanced biodegradability and hence higher rates of biological oxidation. Thus, cavitation can be a useful pretreatment to the conventional biological oxidation and the combined process would be more effective. In addition, the use of cavitation during the biological oxidation using a flow loop in the bioreactor can give rise to enhanced surface areas being generated due to the disintegration of the flocs and, consequently, the rate of oxidation increases.

Cavitation is classified into four types based on the mode of generation, namely, acoustic (use of ultrasound), hydrodynamic (use of changes in the flow geometry),

optic (use of laser), and particle (use of beam of elementary particles) but only acoustic and hydrodynamic cavitation (HC) have been found to be efficient in bringing about the desired chemical changes whereas optic and particle cavitation are typically used for single bubble cavitation which fails to induce chemical change in the bulk solution. The destruction/oxidation of pollutants using cavitation is usually described by two approaches, namely, free radical attack and pyrolysis. The controlling mechanism for the destruction is usually dependent on the pollutant in guestion as well as on the degree of cavitation intensity, which in turn depends on the operating conditions of the sonochemical reactor. The type of the pollutants in the effluent stream affects the extent of intensification in rates of the degradation obtained due to the cavitating conditions. The hydrophobic compounds react with OH• and H• at the hydrophobic gas/liquid interface, while the hydrophilic species react to a greater extent with the OH[•] radicals in the bulk aqueous phase. Optimization of organic compound degradation rates can be achieved by adjusting the energy density, the energy intensity, and the nature and properties of the saturating gas in solution. The variety of chemicals that have been degraded using cavitational reactors, although in different equipments and over a wide range of operating scales, are *p*-nitrophenol, rhodamine B, trichloroethane, parathion, pentachlorophenate, phenol, CFC 11 and CFC 113, o-dichlorobenzene and dichloromethane, potassium iodide, sodium cyanide, and carbon tetrachloride among many others. Excellent reviews are available in the literature covering different aspects related to wastewater treatment applications of cavitational reactors [99, 100].

The similarity between the mechanism of destruction and some of the common optimum operating conditions in the case of different advanced oxidation techniques point toward the synergism between these methods and the fact that combination of these advanced oxidation processes should give better results as compared to individual techniques [101]. Generally, combination of two or more advanced oxidation processes such as cavitation/ozone, cavitation/H₂O₂, sonophotocatalytic oxidation, and so on, leads to enhanced generation of the hydroxyl radicals, which eventually results in higher oxidation rates. The efficacy of the process and the extent of synergism depend not only on the enhancement in the number of free radicals but also on the alteration of the reactor conditions or configuration leading to a better utilization of the oxidants and catalytic activity. More details about combined techniques and its applicability for different wastewater streams can be obtained from published literature [101].

Ultrasonic horns are the most commonly used reactor designs among the sonochemical reactors, although the cavitational effects are only observed close to the vibrating surface. Thus, the efficacy of the horn type system with larger scales of operation is poor compared to systems based on multiple transducers because ultrasonic horns cannot effectively transmit the acoustic energy throughout a large process fluid volume. Typically, these reactors are recommended for laboratory scale characterization studies or for larger scale continuous operations where lower residence times are sufficient to bring about the desired change.

Reactors based on the use of multiple transducers irradiating identical or different frequencies seem to be a logical approach for efficient scale up. The use of multiple transducers also results in lower operating intensities at similar levels of power dissipation, and hence, problems of cavitational blocking, erosion, and particle shedding at the delivery surface are reduced. The position of the transducers can also be easily modified so that the wave patterns generated by the individual transducers overlap, resulting in an acoustic pattern that is spatially uniform and noncoherent above the cavitational threshold throughout the reactor working volume. Arrangements such as triangular pitch in the case of ultrasonic baths, tubular reactors with either two ends irradiated with transducers or one end with a transducer and other with a reflector, parallel plate reactors with each plate irradiated with transducers having identical or different frequencies, and hexagonal flow cells are possible [102, 103]. The schematic representations of some of these novel configurations have been shown in Figure 15.16. The vessels can be operated in a batch mode or, for larger-scale work, in a continuous mode where multiple units can be combined in a sequential manner, which also increases residence time. In





- A simple ultrasonic horn suitable for laboratory-scale characterization
- A ultrasonic bath that can be of variable capacity depending on the number of transducers
- A flow loop based on the use of ultrasonic horn, which can be used at a larger scale of operation and in a continuous manner
- A hexagonal flow cell with a provision for simultaneous irradiation of ultrasound and ultraviolet.



Figure 15.17 Schematic representation of hydrodynamic cavitation setup based on a flow loop housing a cavitation chamber.

The cavitating device can be of different geometries such as orifice, venturi, throttling valve, and so on

Capacity of the tank also can be varied with a corresponding variation in the capacity of centrifugal pump to maintain desired flow rates.

summary, a plurality of low electrical and acoustic power $(1-3 \text{ W cm}^{-2})$ transducers produce $25-150 \text{ W l}^{-1}$, with an ideal range of $40-80 \text{ W l}^{-1}$. The power can be applied continuously or in a pulsed mode.

HC can simply be generated by using a constriction such as an orifice plate, venturi, or throttling valve in a liquid flow [104]. A commonly used device based on HC phenomena is the high pressure or the high speed homogenizer. Cavitating conditions will be generated above a critical pressure or the speed of rotation but these reactors are more energy-consuming options for generation of HC. In reactors based on the use of orifice plates (Figure 15.17), the flow through the main line passes through a constriction where the local velocities suddenly rise due to the reduction in the flow area, resulting in lower pressures that may even decrease to below the vapor pressure of liquid medium. Choosing a correct flow arrangement in the HC reactor is of paramount importance to maximize the effects of cavitation in the most desired and cost-effective manner. The constriction can be a venturi, a single hole or multiple holes in an orifice plate. Use of multiple-hole orifice plates helps to achieve different intensities of cavitation. Additionally, the number of cavitational events generated in the reactor varies. Thus, the orifice plate setup offers tremendous flexibility in terms of the operating (control of the inlet pressure, inlet flow rate, temperature) and geometric conditions (different arrangements of holes on the orifice plates, such as circular, triangular pitch, and so on, and also the geometry of the hole itself, which alters the resultant fluid shear, leading to different cavitational intensities).

15.8.2 Fenton Chemistry

The oxidation system based on the Fenton's reagent (hydrogen peroxide in the presence of a ferrous salt) has been used for the treatment of both organic and inorganic substances under laboratory conditions as well as for the treatment of real effluents from different industries such as chemical manufacturers, refinery and fuel terminals, engine and metal cleaning, and so on [105, 106]. Fenton chemistry can be a useful pretreatment to biological oxidation especially if the pollutant stream consists of biorefractory compounds. Fenton chemistry can convert the biorefractory compounds into easily biodegradable compounds, which can be quantified in terms of the BI. Optimization of the operating parameters for the Fenton oxidation can help in increasing the effectiveness of the overall combined treatment scheme involving Fenton chemistry and biological oxidation.

The mechanism of the oxidation is based on the formation of reactive oxidizing species that are able to efficiently degrade the pollutants present in the wastewater stream but the nature of these oxidizing species is still not well understood. In the literature, three main reactive radical species have been contemplated with two of them involving the presence of hydroxyl radicals (classical Fenton's chemistry) in either "free" or "caged" form, whereas a third oxidant has been postulated to be aquo- or organocomplexes of the high valence iron (Fe^{3+}). The rate of oxidation is strongly dependent on the presence of radical scavengers such as t-butanol or carbonate ions but in some cases substantial decrease may not been observed even at high concentrations of these species. This observation has been attributed to the presence of additional oxidant species, which can be confirmed based on the analysis of product distribution and electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR)-spin trapping techniques. It is also important to note here that both hydroxyl as well as ferryl complexes coexist in Fenton's mechanism and depending on the operating conditions (substrate nature, metal-peroxide ratio, presence of scavengers, etc.), one of these mechanisms will be dominant. The oxidation system can be effectively used for the destruction of toxic wastes and nonbiodegradable effluents to render them more suitable for a secondary biological treatment. More information on the basics of Fenton chemistry as well as its application to wastewater treatment can be obtained from open literature [105-107].

The typical reactors used for Fenton oxidation will be mainly stirred reactors as uniform mixing is essentially required. A batch Fenton reactor will essentially consist of a nonpressurized vessel equipped with agitators and metering pumps for acid, base, ferrous sulfate catalyst solution, and industrial strength (35-50%)hydrogen peroxide. It is recommended that the reactor vessel be coated with an acid-resistant material because the Fenton reagent is very aggressive and corrosion can be a serious problem in the operation. The pH of the solution must be adjusted for maintaining the stability of the catalyst as at pH value of 6, usually iron hydroxide is formed. For oxidation of many chemicals, an ideal pH for the Fenton





Typical flow loop for Fenton oxidation

Oxidation reaction tank is used for addition of all the oxidants and proper mixing

Neutralization tank is used for adjusting the pH of effluent stream that is required since Fenton chemistry is best operated under acidic conditions

Flocculation tank is essential for addition of agents that will result in solid agglomeration giving easy separation

Solid liquid separation tank is essential for separation of sludge generated in the process giving clear effluent stream.

reaction is between 3 and 4 and the optimum catalyst to peroxide ratio is usually 1:5 wt/wt. As the wastewater compositions are highly changeable depending on the specific facility, a Fenton reactor must need some design considerations to give flexibility in terms of the operating parameters such as the temperature, oxidant ratio, pH and also combination with other oxidation approaches. The discharge from the Fenton reactor has to be typically fed into a neutralizing tank for adjusting the pH of the stream followed by a flocculation tank and a solid–liquid separation tank for adjusting the TDS content of the effluent stream. A schematic representation of the Fenton oxidation treatment has been shown in Figure 15.18.

15.8.3

Ozonation

Ozone is a very powerful oxidizing agent ($E^{\circ} = +2.07 \text{ V}$) that can react with most species containing multiple bonds (such as C=C, C=N, N=N, etc.) and can be a useful option for the treatment of complex chemicals. Ozone, however, does not react with compounds containing single bonds such as C–C, C–O, O–H, and so on, at high rates as compared with the ones containing double bonds, which can be attributed to the fact that there is no easy chemical pathway for the oxidation. However, ozone does react with simple oxidizable ions such as S^{2–}, to form oxyanions such as SO₃^{2–} and SO₄^{2–}. These oxidations are simple and the mechanisms only require contact of ozone with the compounds. It is important to understand

that although the thermodynamics for ozone-induced oxidation may be favorable (due to ozone's high reduction potential), kinetic factors will most often dictate whether ozone will oxidize a pollutant in a reasonable time frame. Ozonation is often hampered by higher costs of operation but can help in partial oxidation of the compounds, which can be effectively applied for the case of biorefractory compounds. Similar to the case of Fenton chemistry, the use of ozonation can aid in increasing the biodegradability and hence can be an effective pretreatment to biological oxidation.

A number of devices can be used to transfer the ozone into water such as countercurrent bubble column, packed and plate columns, static mixers, jet reactors, and agitated vessels [108, 109]. Some of the configurations typically used for ozonation have been given in Figure 15.19. As the process is mass transfer limited, ozone transfer efficiency should be maximized by increasing the



Figure 15.19 Schematic representation of equipments used for ozonation.

- Different types of equipments demonstrated based on varying gas introduction options and utilization of the ozone
- Film layer purifying chamber process typically works on the principle of generating fine spray of liquid with an objective of increasing the contact area
- Torricelli apparatus involves reinjection of gas, which helps in increasing the utilization Counter current bubble column is the simplest apparatus where the bubble size will depend strongly on the sparger dimensions
- Otto apparatus has modified ozone injection facility to give better contact of gas and liquid.

interfacial area for contact, which can be achieved by reducing the bubble size by using small size ozone diffusers such as porous disks, porous glass diffusers, and ceramic membranes, and/or increasing the contact time between the gas and effluent. A major disadvantage of the use of ozone diffusers in the form of porous disks or rods is that the presence of suspended solids and oxidized precipitates may result in plugging of the pores and hence reduce the effective transfer of ozone. Side stream injectors can be used to avoid plugging. This approach also gives additional advantage of operation at higher ratio of gas flow rate to liquid flow rate and higher mixing efficiency without bubble channeling problems. Some drawbacks of side injection are lower contact times, bumping, and corrosion.

Static mixers offer excellent effectiveness for dissolving ozone in water and can also be used at a larger scale. Martin and Galey [110] reported the use of static mixers for the efficient transfer of ozone with studies related to the dependency of mass transfer rates on the operating parameters. It has been established that the mass transfer coefficient increased with a decrease in the water flow rate and increase in the gas flow rate. Although information on the use of static mixers in the ozonation of wastewaters for improving the biodegradability is lacking in the open literature, credence to the effectiveness can be established based on the references dealing with the use of static mixers for water disinfection applications. Because the use of static mixers for actual wastewater treatment applications especially as pretreatment to biological oxidation is lacking, more studies are required in this direction most importantly to calculate the energy requirements as pressure drop will be higher due to the presence of solids and different physical properties of the effluent stream as compared to water containing microorganisms mean different solubility and reactivity for the introduced ozone.

15.8.4

Photocatalysis

The photocatalytic or photochemical degradation processes are also gaining significant importance in the area of wastewater treatment in recent years due to the operation at mild conditions of temperature and pressure. The photo-activated chemical reactions are characterized by a free radical mechanism initiated by the interaction of photons of a proper energy level with the molecules of chemical species present in the solution with or without the presence of the catalyst. The radicals can be easily produced using UV radiation by the homogeneous photochemical degradation of oxidizing compounds such as hydrogen peroxide [111]. An alternative way to obtain free radicals is by the photocatalytic mechanism occurring at the surface of semiconductors (such as titanium dioxide or zinc oxide) and this indeed substantially enhances the rate of generation of free radicals and thereby the rates of degradation [112]. A major advantage of the photocatalytic oxidation based processes is the possibility to effectively use sunlight or near UV light for irradiation, which should result in considerable economic savings especially for large-scale operations and easy integration with the biological oxidation techniques. Various chalcogenides (oxides such as TiO₂, ZnO, ZrO₂, CeO₂, etc.

or sulfides such as CdS, ZnS, etc.) have been used as photocatalysts so far in different studies reported in the literature [112, 113]. As adsorption of pollutants on the catalyst surface is the rate-controlling step, the surface area and the number of active sites offered by the catalyst for the adsorption of pollutants play an important role in deciding the overall rates of degradation. It has been reported [112, 113] that the best photocatalytic performances with maximum quantum yields have been always with titania and also that Degussa P-25 type of titania is the most active form (hybrid mixture of rutile (~70%) and anatase).

The photocatalytic process can be simply carried out in a reactor where the slurry of the fine particles of the solid semiconductor is uniformly dispersed in the liquid phase irradiated with UV light, either directly or indirectly. The proper dispersion of catalyst in the liquid phase can be achieved using mechanical agitation and the design should be such that the liquid flow generation is dominant as compared to turbulence. Aeration should be usually maintained for scavenging the electrons (HO₂[•] radicals are formed in the valence bonds) to prevent electron/hole charge recombination and this also helps in achieving good dispersion of the catalyst. The extent of dispersion can also be increased by sonication of the slurry at low frequency (e.g., 20 kHz) but the effects should be weighed against increased energy consumption. However, in the case of slurry reactors, the performance of the reactor might be severely affected by the low irradiation efficiency due to the opacity of the slurry. Further, after the oxidation treatment the solid catalyst needs to be separated from the liquid, which is not so easy with small sizes of the catalyst particles, which is important due to the offered higher surface area. Thus, the application of slurry reactors for the photocatalytic treatment on a large scale seems to be guite problematic currently.

An alternative to the use of catalyst in the suspended form is the use of supported photocatalysts. The key advantages would be the stability of the catalyst layer with no problems of separation and the possibility to obtain an active crystalline structure. The production of the supported catalyst and operational stability are the two important factors to be looked at while selecting these types of reactors. Films obtained by wash coating using a suspension of commercial products with a well-known photocatalytic activity gives an active crystalline structure, but can be very sensitive to erosion by the flowing liquid. On the other hand, durable supported films can be obtained by different techniques such as physical and chemical vapor deposition, but here the crystalline structure of the final product and, consequently, the catalytic activity might be difficult to control. Thermal treatment at 500 °C can be used to increase the extent of the crystalline nature of the catalyst obtained by physical or chemical vapor deposition. Scouring is another problem associated with films comprising immobilized powders of TiO₂, and reduced catalyst area to volume ratio of the immobilized photocatalyst due to the problem of scouring is likely to cause mass transfer problems, although this can be avoided using modified fabrication technique (cost to benefit analysis must be performed before final modifications).

Overall, the immobilized or supported catalytic reactors offer many advantages; most important being avoiding the separation problems as the supported catalyst is not allowed to mix with the fluid. Various reactor configurations have been developed such as TiO₂ coated tubular photoreactor, annular and spiral photoreactors, falling-film photoreactors, and two commercial scale versions are also available (Matrix photocatalytic Inc., Ontario Canada and Purifies Environmental Technologies Inc., London, Ont. Canada). It should be noted that any configuration can be selected but the most important point is to achieve uniform irradiation of the whole active surface.

1585

Overview of Literature Dealing with Combined Processes

After providing the basics about different processes that can be used as a pretreatment for biological oxidation to improve the biodegradability and, hence, the overall effectiveness of the biological oxidation, we now provide some representative overview of the literature for better understanding.

Beltran et al. [114] studied the use of ozonation or combined ozonation with hydrogen peroxide/UV light as a pretreatment for the improvement of the biological oxidation of the olive oil industry wastewaters. The reported study is very important as it has dealt with real industrial effluents unlike many studies reporting the use of simulated effluents. It has been reported that individual use of ozone resulted in a decrease in the COD by 50% but there was no significant improvement in the bio-degradability. On the other hand, the use of ozone in combination with hydrogen peroxide (typically at low concentrations) resulted in significant improvement in the bio-degradability as indicated by an increase in the BOD/COD ratio. The observed results can be attributed to the production of enhanced free radicals in the system resulting in oxidation products based on hydroxyl radical attack, which are easily biodegradable. Gulyas et al. [115] have also reported that the use of ozone resulted in only marginal enhancement in the biodegradability of real effluent from the paper-mill, whereas Kitis et al. [116] reported that the combined ozone/hydrogen peroxide oxidation technique resulted in significant increase in the biodegradability for the case of effluent stream containing ethylene oxide/propylene oxide block copolymer, alkylphenol ethoxylate, linear secondary alcohol ethoxylate, and polypropylene glycol. Ito et al. [117] have reported that even ozone/hydrogen peroxide combination technique didn't improve the biodegradability significantly and use of additional oxidant in terms of UV light was required to give best results for the effluents containing trihalomethanes. Thus, it indicates that certain minimum level of selective oxidation has to be carried out in the pretreatment stage so as to really benefit in terms of the enhanced biodegradability from the use of advanced oxidation process. It is also important to note here that addition of chemical oxidants can be detrimental to the microorganisms and, hence, the loadings must be adjusted in such a way that these are consumed completely in the pretreatment. Hence, it is necessary to perform an optimization exercise on the specific effluent under question for deciding on the optimized combination approach as well as the optimum oxidant dose so that only beneficial effects of increased biodegradability are obtained. Ledakowicz and Gonera [118] have performed such optimization exercises for the textile industry effluent considering various

oxidation techniques and reported that $UV/O_3/H_2O_2$ (optimum dose as 1 h UV irradiation with 0.6 g ozone/lit of the effluent and 10 ml of commercial grade hydrogen peroxide per liter of the effluent) is the best oxidation approach. It should be again noted here that these optimum dosages should not be taken as generalized recommendations but are likely to be dependent on the type of the effluent stream in question and other operating conditions. The work of Ledakowicz and Gonera [118] can be referred as an important guideline for the optimization exercise.

Hess *et al.* [119] investigated the approach of combined photocatalytic oxidation and fungal treatment for the degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT). It has been reported that even though no significant mineralization, as indicated by change in COD levels, was obtained in the photocatalytic process, there was significant improvement in the biodegradability leading to much better results for the combined treatment approach. The combined treatment scheme was reported to give 32% TNT mineralization as against only 14% for the biological treatment alone and negligible change for the photocatalytic oxidation operated individually. The observed results can be attributed to the fact that there is a considerable rearrangement in the molecules giving the formation of intermediates that are easily oxidizable by the microorganisms. The obtained extent of mineralization (32%) can be easily enhanced by a detailed optimization exercise for the selection of best set of operating parameters (TiO₂ catalyst concentration, operating pH, temperature, and incident light intensity), which can aid in maximizing the oxidation rates in the pretreatment.

Cavitation can also be used as a supplementary technique to conventional biological oxidation with an objective of reducing the toxicity of the effluent or, in other words, to increase the biodegradability. Again, with the use of cavitational reactors, there might not be a significant change in the COD of the effluent but definitely there will be breakage of complex structures into simpler compounds leading to an increase in the overall biodegradability. Mastin et al. [120] investigated the approach of combining the cavitation reactors with the biological treatment (constructed wetland type of reactors) for the treatment of chlorinated hydrocarbons such as trichloroethylene (TCE), perchloroethylene (PCE) and petroleum fractions in aqueous solutions. The reactor used in the investigation for the pretreatment was a typical ultrasonic horn with power dissipation of 137 W and operating frequency of 20 kHz. The degradation of TCE using cavitation was reported to be in the range of 40-80% depending on the initial concentration of TCE with the important observation that the residual concentration at the end of cavitation treatment was always below the toxicity levels for the biological oxidation. However, for the petroleum fractions dissolved in aqueous solutions, no measurable change in the TOC was observed due to sonication alone although there was some improvement in the biodegradability. Sangave et al. [121] investigated different approaches to increase the overall efficiency of the treatment process of distillery spent wash, which is a significant problem in developing countries like India, using a combination of different treatment techniques. Initially, the effluent samples were subjected to thermal pretreatment characterized as thermally pretreated distillery spent wash (TPT-DW) and anaerobic treatment characterized as anaerobically pretreated distillery spent wash (ANA-DW). Advanced oxidation techniques based on the use of ultrasound (US) and ozone were then used for further COD reduction/rearrangement of the complex molecules considered as second stage pretreatment to the conventional aerobic oxidation based on the use of mixed microbial consortium. It has been reported that pretreatment of TPT-DW with US and Ozone (as individually operated techniques) enhanced the subsequent aerobic oxidation rate. For US-treated sample, a maximum of 13% COD reduction was attained at the end of 48 h of aerobic oxidation, while for the ozone-treated effluent a maximum of 45.6% COD reduction was obtained as compared to mere 1.8% COD reduction for the control (TPT-DW directly subjected to aerobic oxidation) indicating a 25 times increase in the rate of aerobic biodegradation for the ozonated sample. Comparison indicates that use of ozone as a pretreatment offers better efficacy as compared to the use of ultrasound.

15.8.6

A Typical Case Study of Biodegradability Enhancement of Distillery Wastewater Using Hydrodynamic Cavitation

Distilleries are considered as one of the highly polluting industries worldwide. The wastewater generated from a distillery unit has a typical obnoxious color (dark brown) and has a significant COD (110 000 – 190 000 ppm) as well as the high BOD (50 000 – 60 000 ppm). The quantum of the inorganic substances such as nitrogen, potassium, phosphates, calcium, sulfates, and so on, present in the wastewater is also very high. The conventional anaerobic digestion is not able to successfully treat the effluent as the treated effluent, described as biomethanated distillery wastewater still retains around 40 000 mg l⁻¹ of COD and significant color. A major drawback of this treatment approach is that the treated effluent becomes recalcitrant (BI of around 0.14) to further treatment by conventional methods. With development of the stringent rules and effective regulations imposed by governments, distillery industries have been forced to look for more effective treatment technologies. Such technologies should not only be beneficial to the environment, but should also be cost effective as the quantum of effluent generated by the industries is very high.

We now present a case study based on an earlier work [122], where HC was applied as a pretreatment option for the effective treatment of the complex/recalcitrant biomethanated distillery wastewater. The typical setup used for HC reactor consists of a holding tank with a capacity of 151, a reciprocating pump of power rating 1.1 kW, flanges to accommodate the cavitating device, control valves, a main line, and a bypass line. The main line consists of a flange that houses the venturi, which is a cavitating device. The liquid flow through the main line is controlled by flow through the bypass line. The suction side of the pump is connected to the bottom of the tank and discharge from the pump branches into two lines (main line and bypass line). The effect of various process parameters such as inlet pressure, dilution, and the reaction time on reduction of COD/TOC, and enhancement in the BI (BOD₅:COD ratio) of the wastewater was investigated. The distillery wastewater treated in a conventional anaerobic

 Table 15.1
 Characteristics of complex wastewater (biomethanated distillery wastewater) used in the experimental work [122].

Parameters	Value
рН	7.61
Color	Brown
$COD (mg l^{-1})$	35 000
BOD (mgl^{-1})	5 000
$TOC (mg l^{-1})$	10 000
Total solids (mg l ⁻¹)	31 000
Total suspended solids (mg l ⁻¹)	1 600
Biomass (%)	1
BOD:COD ratio	0.168

 Table 15.2 Effect of cavitation pretreatment on biodegradability index of biomethanated distillery wastewater [122].

Reaction condition	Time (min)	COD (mg l ⁻¹)	BOD (mg l ⁻¹)	BI: BOD ₅ /COD
Pressure = 5 bar, no dilution	0	34391.00	4853.00	0.14
	50	23723.00	5 120.00	0.22
	100	23 442.00	5 500.00	0.23
	150	23 302.00	5 500.00	0.24
Pressure = 5 bar, 25% dilution	0	28 208.00	3 666.00	0.13
	50	19539.00	4170.00	0.21
	100	18 300.00	4 250.00	0.23
	150	18 163.00	4500.00	0.25
Pressure = 13 bar, no dilution	0	33 973.00	4756.00	0.14
	50	24128.00	5 830.00	0.24
	100	22 325.00	6 400.00	0.29
	150	22 325.00	6 400.00	0.29
Pressure = 13 bar, 25% dilution	0	28754.00	3738.00	0.13
	50	18795.00	6 000.00	0.32
	100	18 374.00	5910.00	0.32
	150	18 363.00	5 800.00	0.32

digester was obtained from a distillery near Nagpur, India (source not given due to confidentiality issues) as a gift sample. The physicochemical properties of this waste as characterized in the work are given in Table 15.1 [122].

The wastewater was subjected to HC pretreatment for which, 6 l of wastewater was taken in a cavitation reactor. The experiments were conducted at two different inlet pressures 5 bar and 13 bar and at different dilutions of the biomethanated distillery wastewater over the time range of 50–150 min. At the end of each predefined time interval, samples were withdrawn from the reactor through a sampling port, centrifuged and analyzed for pH, COD, BOD, and TOC. The obtained results are reproduced in Table 15.2 [122].

From the results presented in Table 15.2, it can be established that HC is capable of reducing the COD and TOC of the wastewater by about 34% and 33%, respectively, at 5 bar inlet pressure and no further improvement is obtained with an increase in the pressure from 5 to 13 bar. It can also be seen from the values of COD and TOC that the dilution has no significant effect on the mineralization of distillery wastewater. Although the percentage reduction is marginally higher at 50% dilution, the net quantum (milligram of COD/TOC per unit volume) of COD and TOC reduction is lower at 25% dilution as compared to the undiluted wastewater. The obtained results in terms of the enhancement in the biodegradability were however different and were found to be dependent on the operating pressure and the levels of dilution. At lower operating pressure (5 bar), the increase in the ratio (BOD/COD) was only marginal under conditions of zero dilution and dilution of 25% confirming that the dilution does not aid BOD enhancement significantly. At higher pressure (13 bar), the increase in the biodegradability ratio was higher as compared to the lower pressures and also the dilution was found to be favorable (final BI of 0.32 for dilution as against a value of 0.29 at zero dilution). From the obtained results, it can be inferred that higher inlet pressure (13 bar) is more suitable for obtaining the enhanced biodegradability (higher BI). The work has clearly confirmed that HC is capable of reducing the toxicity of distillery wastewater as confirmed by enhanced values of biodegradability.

The actual effect of changes in the biodegradability of the cavitationally pretreated wastewater on the subsequent biological oxidation was evaluated by subjecting pretreated effluent to the conventional anaerobic treatment process. The amount of methane generated and reduction in the COD obtained for the cavitationally pretreated sample was compared with that obtained for the untreated wastewater. It has been reported that in the case of cavitationally pretreated sample (13 bar, 25% dilution, 50 min, BI: 0.32), 400 ml of gas volume was generated after a total duration of 40 days (including the lag period of 6 days), along with net COD reduction as 70%. On the other hand, for the untreated system (BI: 0.168), the gas volume was observed to be only 60 ml with around 12% COD reduction under similar experimental conditions.

Overall, it can be established that due to the HC pretreatment, the efficiency of the conventional biological process increased by almost sixfold in terms of COD removal and biogas formation. The study clearly confirmed that the HC is capable of enhancing the efficiency of conventional biological processes in terms of giving enhanced reduction of toxicity as well as increase in biogas generation, along with a significantly net higher reduction in COD and color.

15.8.7

Short Case Study of Intensification of Biological Oxidation Using Acoustic Cavitation/Fenton Chemistry

In a recent study performed by our group [123], the improved biological oxidation process based on the pretreatment using Fenton chemistry or combined approach of Fenton and ultrasound has been demonstrated for the treatment of

wastewater containing benzene, toluene, naphthalene, and o-xylene. The work has also investigated the effect of type of sludge in the case of biological oxidation. Ultrasonic horn procured from M/s Dakshin, India, operating at a fixed frequency of 22 kHz with a rated output power of 120 W has been used for the pretreatment based on the use of ultrasound. Fenton oxidation was performed in a glass reactor equipped with stirrer (pitched blade turbine type with standard geometric configuration) at a working volume of 1l. The subsequent biological treatment was performed in an AS reactor, which is basically a jacketed glass vessel equipped with a pitched blade impeller. The reactor has a maximum capacity of 31 whereas the working volume used in the work was 21. The main objective of the work was to optimize the pretreatment conditions such that maximum beneficial effects can be obtained in the case of biological oxidation. Different approaches such as only H₂O₂, only Ultrasound (US), US/H₂O₂, Fenton and US/Fenton have been used as pretreatment to partially remove BTNXs from wastewater and also obtain the desired change in the biodegradability. The different types of sludge investigated in the work include primary activated sludge (PAS) collected from Common Effluent Treatment facility, AS prepared using a selected strain of Pseudomonas Putida obtained as pure culture, and modified prepared activated sludge (MPAS) specifically prepared in the work using the combined cultures obtained from the industrial as well as municipal treatment units.

The optimum operating conditions for the pretreatment have been established as initial pH of 3–3.5, Fe^{2+} dosage of 2.0 gl⁻¹ and H₂O₂ dosage of 1.0 gl⁻¹. Approximately, 80-95% reduction in the COD was obtained under optimum conditions and BOD₅/COD (BI) value after pretreatment was found to be in the range of 0.32 - 0.40 depending on the specific compound investigated in the work. The BI which is a measure of the extent to which a waste is amenable to biodegradation was quantified for the different approaches used in the work. It was observed that the BI ratio increased to about 0.17-0.22 at 20 min treatment and to about 0.30-0.40 at 40 min indicating that the effective change in the complexity of molecules to render them biodegradable was obtained in 40 min. The BOD₅/COD ratio for BTNXs improved from the initial value of 0.176 to final value of 0.37 after US/Fenton/Stirring pretreatment and also the extent of COD removal was the maximum as 84%. It was also reported that the BOD₅/COD value varied over the range of 0.30-0.37 for Fenton and US/Fenton, although longer treatment times and lower extents of COD reduction in the pretreatment have been observed.

In the case of biological treatment, maximum extent of COD removal was obtained for the case of MPAS sludge. Use of MPAS sludge was found to be 20-30% more effective as compared to the pure culture inoculated sludge (AS) as well as PAS, which are more commonly used in biological oxidation. The pretreated samples resulted in higher biomass yield and better conversion ability as compared to the untreated samples being directly subjected to biological treatment. According to the kinetic analysis for the combined approach of pretreatment followed by aerobic oxidation, it was observed that the oxidation rate constant was the maximum for the pretreated effluent for all the compounds

investigated in the work. The maximum oxidation rate constant was obtained for US/Fenton/stirring as the pretreatment and use of MPAS sludge in the aerobic oxidation. The profile for the evolution of biomass confirmed the lag-logstationary-decay pathway. Overall, the best pretreatment approach among all the different approaches was ultrasound-assisted Fenton process and the work has clearly established the significance of US/Fenton oxidation as pretreatment and the use of mixed culture in the case of aerobic oxidation.

15.8.8

Summary of Pretreatment Approaches

It can be said that the use of advanced oxidation processes in conjunction with biological oxidation has been a successful innovation in the treatment strategies for the wastewater management for both industrial and municipal sectors. The work of Ledakowicz and Gonera [118] have also given the detailed procedure for the optimization of the pretreatment stage and it is important to understand that the degree of benefit that can be obtained would be indeed dependent on the intensity and mechanism of the oxidation processes used as pretreatment. The oxidant dosage must be so adjusted that it is completely utilized in the pretreatment stage itself, as some of the oxidants such as hydrogen peroxide may show toxicity to the microorganisms. It is also important to note that a detailed analysis of the oxidation products must also be done, as sometimes it may happen that the intermediates formed might be more toxic toward the microorganisms. However, the situation may not be that worse always, as the intermediates are usually susceptible to degradation by the advanced oxidation techniques and the effect on the microorganisms will be only felt if they accumulate in large concentrations and have large residence time in the reactor.

15.9

Overall Conclusions

The chapter has presented an elaborate overview on the industrial effluent and municipal wastewater treatment in terms of some well-established and emerging techniques, which are likely to be industrially important and relevant. It clearly defines the basic biological concepts used in various treatments and also the various terms used in the description for characterization of treatment. The general treatment trends have been described along with the regulations for direct comparison. In the first part, the fundamentals of the biological treatments such as aerobic and anaerobic treatments have been presented along with mathematical and conceptual representation. In addition, the discussion about suitability for different types of municipal and industrial wastewaters has been presented. The limitations of the conventional treatment schemes have also been highlighted pressing the need for hybrid treatment schemes.

The second part of the chapter has presented the discussion on the hybrid schemes clearly highlighting the improvements obtained in the biological oxidation schemes. The concept of hybrid schemes is based on exploiting the advantages of the individual treatment approaches and equipments in a synergistic manner leading to beneficial effects in terms of enhanced degradation. The approach can be used either in sequential manner or simultaneously. Some fundamental modifications in the conventional biological treatment options have also been proposed with proven benefits, which can possibly point toward the direction for the adaption of hybrid schemes. The emerging techniques such as cavitation, ozonation, Fenton chemistry, and photocatalysis have been elaborated and their possible successful combinations with the biological oxidation have been discussed. The identification of the operating window for synergism has also been identified and this has been validated with the help of a case study, which clearly confirms the success of the hybrid schemes. Overall, it can be said that properly designed hybrid treatment schemes need to be developed for effective treatment of both industrial and municipal wastewater leading to significant process intensification benefits as well as help in achieving a greener environment.

List of Acronyms/Abbreviations

DTA	direct toxicity assessment
WET	whole effluent toxicity test
TOC	total organic carbon
COD	chemical oxygen demand
BOD	biological oxygen demand
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
VSS	volatile suspended solids
ASP	activated sludge process
MLSS	mixed liquor suspended solids
MLVSS	mixed liquor volatile suspended solids
RAS	return activated sludge
WAS	waste activated sludge
TDS	total dissolved solids
SVI	sludge volume index
VOCs	volatile organic compounds
DO	dissolved oxygen
SOTR	saturated oxygen transfer rate
OTR	oxygen transfer rate
RBCs	rotating biological contactors
SBCs	submerged biological contactors
PACT	powdered activated carbon treatment
MBRs	membrane bioreactors
BAFs	biological aerated filters
EPSs	extracellular polymeric substances
SRT	solid retention time
HRT	hydraulic retention time
------------------	--
UASB	upflow anaerobic sludge blanket
CSTRs	continuous stirred tank reactors
ABRs	anaerobic baffled reactors
EGSB	expanded granule sludge blanket
UV	ultraviolet
TNT	trinitrotoluene
PCE	perchloroethylene
TCE	trichloroethylene
US	ultrasound
TPT-DW	thermally pretreated distillery spent wash
ANA-DW	anaerobically pretreated distillery spent wash
HC	hydrodynamic cavitation
BI	biodegradability index
EPR	electron paramagnetic resonance
BOD ₅	biological oxygen demand over 5 days

List of Variables and Coefficients

rs	rate of substrate removal (mg l^{-1} s ⁻¹)
X _v	concentration of volatile suspended solids (VSS) (mg l ⁻¹)
k	maximum velocity constant
Κ	half-velocity constant
S	concentration of substrate (mg l^{-1})
θ	a constant with a range of $1.0-1.8$
k _t	rate coefficients at temperature T
k ₂₀	rate coefficients at temperature 20 °C
$r_{\rm Xp}$	the production of biomass from the substrate removal $(mg l^{-1} s^{-1})$
Y	yield factor that represents the mass of biomass produced per mass of
	substrate consumed
r _{Xc}	rate of decrease of volatile suspended solids due to endogenous decay
	$(mg l^{-1} s^{-1})$
k _c	rate constant
Q_{R}	the return activated sludge flow rate (m 3 per day)
Q	flow rate, (m ³ per day)
F/M	food to microorganism ratio
BOD	biological oxygen demand (mg l ⁻¹)
MLSS	mixed liquor suspended solids (mg l^{-1})
V_{a}	aeration tank volume (m ³)
$Q_{\rm w}$	WAS flow rate (m ³ per day)
$S_{\rm w}$	waste activated sludge suspended solids (mg l^{-1})
$V_{\rm c}$	secondary settlement tank volume (m ³)
S _e	outflow suspended solids (mg l ⁻¹)
SVI	sludge volume index (ml mg ⁻¹)
$K_{\rm L}a$	oxygen transfer coefficient
T	temperature (°C)

514 15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater

OTRf	actual oxygen transfer rate under field operating conditions
	(kg O ₂ /kg Wh)
SOTR	saturated oxygen transfer rate under test conditions at 20 °C
	(kg O ₂ /kg Wh)
$C_{\rm s}$	oxygen saturation concentration with tap water ν (mg l ⁻¹)
C_{w}	operating oxygen concentration in wastewater (mg l ⁻¹)
C_{s20}	oxygen saturation concentration with tap water at 20 °C
α	ratio of $K_{\rm L}a$ of wastewater and that of tap water
β	ratio of saturation concentration of oxygen at 20 °C for wastewater
	and that for tap water
θ	temperature correction factor (usually considered as 1.024)
OD	mass of oxygen required (g h ⁻¹)
BODi	inflow BOD (mg l^{-1})
BODe	outflow BOD (mgl ⁻¹)
Ammi	inflow ammoniacal nitrogen (mg l^{-1})
Amme	outflow ammoniacal nitrogen (mg l^{-1})
Ne	outflow nitrate nitrogen (mg l ⁻¹)
Ε	fraction of BOD removed
W	loading (kg BOD per day)
$V_{\rm m}$	total volume of filter media
$R_{\rm f}$	recycle factor
р	a weighting factor typically equal to 0.9
R _r	recycle ratio defined as ratio of the recirculation flow to the filter
	influent flow
С	concentration of the biologically degradable substrate as determined
	by the BOD test
K _d	rate constant

References

- Luo, Y., Guo, W., Ngo, H.H., Nghiem, L.D., Hai, F.I., Zhang, J., Xiaochang, S.L., and Wang, C. (2014) A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 473–474, 619–641.
- 2 Ranade, V.V. and Bhandari, V.M. (2014), in *Industrial Wastewater Treatment*, *Recycling, and Reuse*: An Overview (eds V.V. Ranade and V.M. Bhandari), Elsevier, pp. 1–80.
- 3 Chan, Y.J., Chong, M.F., Chung, L.L., and Hassell, D.G. (2009) A review on anaerobic–aerobic treatment of industrial and municipal wastewater. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 155 (1–2), 1–18.

- 4 EPA www.epa.gov (accessed 15 January 2014).
- 5 Ozgun, H., Dereli, R.K., Ersahin, M.E., Kinaci, C., Spanjers, H., and van Lier, J.B. (2013) A review of anaerobic membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment: Integration options, limitations and expectations. *Sep. Purif. Technol.*, **118**, 89–104.
- 6 Molinos-Senante, M., Hernández-Sancho, F., Mocholí-Arce, M., and Sala-Garrido, R. (2014) Economic and environmental performance of wastewater treatment plants: Potential reductions in greenhouse gases emissions. *Resour. Energy Econ.*, 38, 125–140.

- 7 Nguyen, D.D., Ngo, H.H., Kim, S.D., and Yoon, Y.S. (2014) A specific pilot-scale membrane hybrid treatment system for municipal wastewater treatment. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **169**, 52–61.
- 8 www.web.cecs.pdx.edu (accessed 7 March 2014).
- 9 http://ese.mines.edu/courses/esgn453/ handoutpdfs/ActSludge%20M&E %203rd%20ed.pdf (accessed 5 March 2014).
- 10 Pipeline-Spring (2003) Small community wastewater issues explained to the public: Explaining the activated sludge process. *PIPELINE – Spring*, 14 (2), 1–7.
- 11 Eckenfelder, W.E. and Musterman, J.L. (1995) Activated Sludge Treatment of Industrial Wastewater, Technomic Publishing Company, Lancaster, PA.
- 12 Kim, S., Eichhorn, P., Jensen, J.N., Weber, A.S., and Aga, D. (2005) Removal of antibiotics in wastewater: Effect of hydraulic and solid retention times on the fate of tetracycline in the activated sludge process. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **39**, 5816–5823.
- 13 Environmental Protection Agency (1997) Waste Water Treatment Manuals Primary, Secondary and Tertiary Treatment, Environmental Protection Agency.
- 14 Kaewpipat, K. and Grady, C.P.L. (2002) Microbial population dynamics in laboratory-scale activated sludge reactors. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 46, 19–27.
- 15 Tyagi, V.K., Subramaniyan, S., Kazmi, A.A., and Chopra, A.K. (2008) Microbial community in conventional and extended aeration activated sludge plants in India. *Ecol. Indic.*, 8 (5), 550–554.
- 16 Mohammadi, H., Sabzali, A., Gholami, M., Dehghanifard, E., and Mirzaei, R. (2012) Comparative study of SMBR and extended aeration activated sludge processes in the treatment of highstrength wastewaters. *Desalination*, 287, 109–115.
- 17 Zhong, C., Wang, Y., Li, Y., Lv, J., Hao, W., and Zhu, J. (2014) The characteristic and comparison of denitrification potential in granular sequence batch

reactor under different mixing conditions. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **240**, 589–594.

- 18 Artan, N. and Orhon, D. (2005) Mechanism and Design of Sequencing Batch Reactors for Nutrient Removal. Scientific Report No. 19, IWA Publishing, London.
- 19 Yang, M., Sun, P., Wang, R., Han, J., Wang, J., Song, Y., Cai, J., and Tang, X. (2013) Simulation and optimization of ammonia removal at low temperature for a double channel oxidation ditch based on fully coupled activated sludge model (FCASM): A full-scale study. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 143, 538–548.
- 20 Hartley, K.J. (2008) Controlling sludge settleability in the oxidation ditch process. *Water Res.*, 42 (6–7), 1459–1466.
- 21 Pittoors, E., Guo, Y., Stijn, W.H., and Hulle, V. (2014) Oxygen transfer model development based on activated sludge and clean water in diffused aerated cylindrical tanks. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 243, 51–59.
- 22 Yamagiwa, K., Ohmae, Y., Dahlan, M.H., and Ohkawa, A. (1991) Activated sludge treatment of small-scale wastewater by a plunging liquid jet bioreactor with cross-flow filtration. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 37 (3), 215–222.
- 23 Chachuat, B., Roche, N., and Latifi, M.A. (2005) Optimal aeration control of industrial alternating activated sludge plants. *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 23 (3), 277–289.
- 24 Liu, C., Liu, J., Li, J., He, H., Peng, S., Li, C., and Chen, Y. (2013) Removal of H₂S by co-immobilized bacteria and fungi biocatalysts in a bio-trickling filter. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.*, **91** (1–2), 145–152.
- 25 Liu, D., Andreasen, R.R., Poulsen, T.G., and Feilberg, A. (2015) A comparative study of mass transfer coefficients of reduced volatile sulfur compounds for biotrickling filter packing materials. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 260, 209–221.
- 26 Lekang, O.I. and Kleppe, H. (2000) Efficiency of nitrification in trickling filters using different filter media. *Aquacult. Eng.*, 21 (3), 181–199.
- 27 Kim, B., Gautier, M., Prost-Boucle, S., Molle, P., Michel, P., and Gourdon, R. (2014) Performance evaluation of

516 15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater

partially saturated vertical-flow constructed wetland with trickling filter and chemical precipitation for domestic and winery wastewaters treatment. *Ecol. Eng.*, **71**, 41–47.

- 28 Simsek, H., Kasi, M., Wadhawan, T., Bye, C., Blonigen, C., and Khan, E. (2012) Fate of dissolved organic nitrogen in two stage trickling filter process. *Water Res.*, 46 (16), 5115–5126.
- 29 Pal, S., Sarkar, U., and Dasgupta, D. (2010) Dynamic simulation of secondary treatment processes using trickling filters in a sewage treatment works in Howrah, West Bengal, India. *Desalination*, 253 (1-3), 135-140.
- 30 Dermou, E., Velissariou, A., Xenos, D., and Vayenas, D.V. (2005) Biological chromium(VI) reduction using a trickling filter. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, **126** (1–3), 78–85.
- 31 Logan, B.E., Hermanowicz, S.W., and Parker, D.S. (1987) A fundamental model for trickling filter process design. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed., 59, 1029–1042.
- 32 Velz, C.J. (1948) A basic law for the performance of biological filters. *Sewage Works J.*, 20, 607.
- Hassard, F., Biddle, J., Cartmell, E., Jefferson, B., Tyrrel, S., and Stephenson, T. (2015) Rotating biological contactors for wastewater treatment – A review. *Process Saf. Environ. Prot.*, 94, 285–306.
- 34 Jeswani, H. and Mukherji, S. (2015) Treatment of simulated biomass gasification wastewater of varying strength in a three stage rotating biological contactor. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 259, 303–312.
- 35 Abdel-Kader, A.,.M. (2013) Studying the efficiency of grey water treatment by using rotating biological contactors system. J. King Saud Univ.-Eng. Sci., 25 (2), 89–95.
- 36 Najafpour, G., Yieng, H.A., Younesi, H., and Zinatizadeh, A. (2005) Effect of organic loading on performance of rotating biological contactors using palm oil mill effluents. *Process Biochem.*, 40 (8), 2879–2884.
- 37 Choi, Y., Johnson, K., Hayes, D.F., Sung, N., and Xu, H. (2010) Dissolved organic matter and nitrogen removal by

advanced aerated submerged bio-film reactor. *Desalination*, **250** (1), 368-372.

- 38 González-Martínez, S. and Duque-Luciano, J. (1992) Aerobic submerged biofilm reactors for wastewater treatment. Water Res., 26 (6), 825-833.
- 39 Margot, J., Kienle, C., Magnet, A., Weil, M., Rossi, L., de lencastro, L.F., Abegglen, C., Thonney, D., Chèvre, N., Scharer, M., and Barry, D.A. (2013) Treatment of micropollutants in municipal wastewater: Ozone or powdered activated carbon? *Sci. Total Environ.*, 461–462, 480–498.
- 40 Baêta, B.E.L., Lima, D.R.S., Silva, S.Q., and Aquino, S.F. (2015) Evaluation of soluble microbial products and aromatic amines accumulation during a combined anaerobic/aerobic treatment of a model azo dye. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 259, 936–944.
- 41 Aziz, S.Q., Aziz, H.A., Yusoff, M.S., and Bashir, M.J.K. (2011) Landfill leachate treatment using powdered activated carbon augmented sequencing batch reactor (SBR) process: Optimization by response surface methodology. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, **189** (1–2), 404–413.
- 42 Munz, G., Gori, R., Mori, G., and Lubello, C. (2007) Powdered activated carbon and membrane bioreactors (MBRPAC) for tannery wastewater treatment: Long term effect on biological and filtration process performances. *Desalination*, 207 (1–3), 349–360.
- 43 Lee, S.E., Shin, H.S., and Paik, B.C. (1989) Treatment of Cr(VI)-containing wastewater by addition of powdered activated carbon to the activated sludge process. *Water Res.*, 23 (1), 67–72.
- 44 Dalmau, M., Monclús, H., Gabarrón, S., Rodriguez-Roda, I., and Comas, J. (2014) Towards integrated operation of membrane bioreactors: Effects of aeration on biological and filtration performance. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 171, 103–112.
- 45 Meng, F., Liao, B., Liang, S., Yang, F., Zhang, H., and Song, L. (2010) Morphological visualization, componential characterization and microbiological identification of membrane fouling in membrane bioreactors (MBRs). *J. Membr. Sci.*, 361 (1–2), 1–14.

- 46 Li, W., Sheng, G., Wang, Y., Liu, X., Xu, J., and Yu, H. (2011) Filtration behaviors and biocake formation mechanism of mesh filters used in membrane bioreactors. *Sep. Purif. Technol.*, **81** (3), 472–479.
- 47 Radjenovic, J., Matosic, M., Mijatovic, I., Petrovic, M., Barceló, D. (2008) Membrane Bioreactor (MBR) as an Advanced Wastewater Treatment Technology *Hdb Env Chem* 5 (S/2), 37–101.
- 48 Leyva-Díaz, J.C., González-Martínez, A., González-López, J., Muñío, M.M., and Poyatos, J.M. (2015) Kinetic modeling and microbiological study of two-step nitrification in a membrane bioreactor and hybrid moving bed biofilm reactor-membrane bioreactor for wastewater treatment. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 259, 692–702.
- 49 Shen, Y., Xiao, K., Liang, P., Sun, J., Sai, S., and Huang, X. (2012) Characterization of soluble microbial products in 10 large-scale membrane bioreactors for municipal wastewater treatment in China. J. Membr. Sci., 415–416, 336–345.
- 50 Stensel, H.D. and Reiber, S. (1983) Industrial wastewater treatment with a new biological fixed film system. *Environ. Prog.*, 2, 110–115.
- 51 Clark, H.W. (1930) Past and present development in sewage disposal and purification. *Sewage Works J.*, 2, 561–571.
- 52 Smith, A.J. and Hardy, P.J. (1992) High rate sewage treatment using biological aerated filters. *J. Inst. Water Environ. Manage.*, 6, 179–193.
- 53 Costa Reis, L.G. and Sant' Anna, G.L. (1985) Aerobic treatment of concentrated wastewater in a submerged bed reactor. *Water Res.*, 19, 1341–1345.
- 54 Mann, A.T. and Stephenson, T. (1996) Modeling biological aerated filters for wastewater treatment. *Water Res.*, 81, 2443-2448.
- 55 Drushlyak, O.S. and Kirichenko, A.G. (1990) Final treatment of effluents with petroleum products on aerated filters. *Khimiya I. Technol. Vod.*, **12**, 1121–1122.
- 56 Kleiber, B., Roudon, G., Bigot, B., and Sibony, J. (1994) Assessment of aerated

biofiltration at industrial scale. *Water Sci. Technol.*, **29** (10–11), 197–208.

- 57 Isohata, Y. and Kawabata, M. (1984) Development and field experience of anticontact packed-bed reactor for wastewater treatment. Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Fixed Film Biological Processes, Arlington, VA, pp. 989–1013.
- 58 Mahendran, B., Lishman, L., and Liss, S.N. (2012) Structural, physicochemical and microbial properties of flocs and biofilms in integrated fixed-film activated sludge (IFFAS) systems. *Water Res.*, 46 (16), 5085–5101.
- 59 Kim, H., Gellner, J.W., Boltz, J.P., Freudenberg, R.G., Gunsch, C.K., and Schuler, A.J. (2010) Effects of integrated fixed film activated sludge media on activated sludge settling in biological nutrient removal systems. *Water Res.*, 44 (5), 1553–1561.
- 60 Randall, W.C. and Sen, D. (1996) Full-scale evaluation of an integrated fixed-film activated sludge (IFAS) process for enhanced nitrogen removal. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 33 (12), 155–162.
- 61 Jones, R.M., Sen, D., and Lambert, R. (1998) Full scale evaluation of nitrification performance in an integrated fixed film activated sludge process. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 38 (1), 71–78.
- 62 Rosso, D., Lothman, S.E., Jeung, M.K., Pitt, P., Gellner, W.J., Stone, A.L., and Howard, D. (2011) Oxygen transfer and uptake, nutrient removal, and energy footprint of parallel full-scale IFAS and activated sludge processes. *Water Res.*, 45 (18), 5987–5996.
- 63 Nykova, N., Muller, T.G., Gyllenberg, M., and Timmer, J. (2002) Quantitative analyses of anaerobic wastewater treatment processes: Identifiability and parameter estimation. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 78 (1), 89–103.
- 64 Parawira, W. (2004) Anaerobic treatment of agricultural residues and wastewater. Application of high rate reactors. Doctoral dissertation. Department of Biotechnology, Lund University, Sweden.
- 65 Seghezzo, L., Zeeman, G., van Lier, J.B., Hamelers, H.V.M., and Lettinga, G.

(1998) A review: The anaerobic treatment of sewage in UASB and EGSB reactors. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **65** (3), 175–190.

- 66 von Sperling, M. and Chernicharo, C.A.L. (2005) Biological Wastewater Treatment in Warm Climate Regions, IWA Publishing.
- 67 Lettinga, G., Rebac, S., and Zeeman, G. (2001) Challenge of psychrophilic anaerobic wastewater treatment. *Trends Biotechnol.*, **19** (9), 363–370.
- 68 Young, J.C. and McCarty, P.L. (1969) The anaerobic filter for wastewater treatment. *J. Water Pollut. Control Fed.*, 4, 160–173.
- 69 Tiwari, M., Guha, S., Harendranath, C., and Tripathi, S. (2006) Influence of extrinsic factors on granulation in UASB reactor. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 71 (2), 145–154.
- 70 Lettinga, G. and Hulshoff Pol, L.W. (1991) UASB-process design for various types of wastewaters. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 24 (8), 87–107.
- 71 Aiyuk, S., Forrez, I., Lieven, D.K., van Haandel, A., and Verstraete, W. (2006) Anaerobic and complementary treatment of domestic sewage in regions with hot climates – A review. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **97** (17), 2225–2241.
- 72 Hickey, R.F., Wu, W.-M., Veiga, M.C., and Jones, R. (1991) Start-up, operation, monitoring and control of high-rate anaerobic treatment systems. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 24 (8), 207–255.
- 73 Weiland, P. and Rozzi, A. (1991) The start-up, operation and monitoring of high-rate anaerobic treatment systems: discusser's report. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 24 (8), 257–277.
- 74 Fannin K.F., Srivastra V.J., Conrad J.R., and Chynoweth D.P. (1981) Marine biomass program: An-aerobic digester system development. Annual Report for General Electric Company, IGT Project 65044, Institute of Gas Technology, IIT Centre, 3424S, State Street, Chicago, IL.
- 75 Bachmann, A., Beard, V.L., and McCarty, P.L. (1983) in *Comparison* of Fixed Film Reactors with a Modified Sludge Blanket Reactor, Fixed

Film Biological Processes for Wastewater Treatment (eds Y.C. Wu and E.D. Smith), Noyes Data, Park Ridge, NJ.

- 76 Tilche, A. and Yang X. (1987) Light and scanning electron microscope observations on the granular biomass of experimental SBAF and HABR reactors. Proceedings of Gasmat Workshop, Netherlands, pp. 170–178.
- 77 Boopathy, R. and Sievers, D.M. (1991) Performance of a modified anaerobic bed reactor to treat swine waste. *Trans. ASAE*, 34 (6), 2573–2578.
- 78 Switzenbaum, M.S. and Danskin, S.C. (1981) Anaerobic expanded bed treatment of whey. Proceedings of the 36th Industrial Waste Conference, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, 1981, Ann Arbor Science, p. 414.
- 79 Hickey, R.F. and Owens, R.W. (1981) Methane generation from high strength industrial wastes with the anaerobic biological fluidized bed. *Biotechnol. Bioeng. Symp.*, **11**, 339.
- 80 Li, A., Sutton, P.M., and Corrado, J.J. (1982) Energy recovery from pretreatment of industrial wastes in the anaerobic fluidized bed process. First International Conference on Fixed Film Biological Processes, Part 3, Kings Island, OH, p. 1621.
- 81 Heijnen, J.J. (1983) Development of a high rate fluidized bed biogas reactor, in *Proceedings of the European Symposium on Anaerobic Wastewater Treatment*, vol. 33 (ed. W.J. van den Brink), The Corporate Communications Department, The Hague, p. 283.
- 82 Jewell, W.J., Switzenbaum, M.S., and Morris, J.W. (1981) Municipal wastewater treatment with the anaerobic attached microbial film expanded bed process. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed., 53, 482.
- 83 Morris, J.W. and Jewell, W.J. (1981) Organic particulate removal with the anaerobic attached film expanded bed process. Proceedings of the 36th Industrial Waste Conference, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, Ann Arbor Science, p. 621.
- 84 Jewell, W.J. (1978) Anaerobic Fermentation of Agricultural Residue: Potential

for Improvement and Implementation, USDOE-report EY-76-5-02-2981-7.

- 85 Lettinga, G. (1991) Sustainable integrated biological wastewater treatment. *Water Sci. Technol.*, **33** (8), 85–98.
- Lettinga, G., Field, J., van Lier, J., Zeeman, G., and Hulshoff Pol, L.W. (1997) Advanced anaerobic wastewater treatment in the near future. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 35 (10), 5–12.
- 87 Saravanan, V. and Sreekrishnan, T.R. (2006) Modeling anaerobic biofilm reactor A review. *J. Environ. Manage.*, 81 (1), 1–18.
- 88 Vyrides, I. and Stuckey, D.C. (2009) Saline sewage treatment using a submerged anaerobic membrane reactor (SAMBR): Effects of activated carbon addition and biogas-sparging time. *Water Res.*, 43 (4), 933–942.
- 89 Walker, M., Banks, C.J., and Heaven, S. (2009) Two-stage anaerobic digestion of biodegradable municipal solid waste using a rotating drum mesh filter bioreactor and anaerobic filter. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **100** (18), 4121–4126.
- 90 Nickel, K. and Neis, U. (2007) Ultrasonic disintegration of biosolids for improved biodegradation. *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, 14, 450–455.
- 91 Cakir, F.Y. and Stenstrom, M.K. (2005) Greenhouse gas production: A comparison between aerobic and anaerobic wastewater treatment technology. *Water Res.*, 39, 4197–4203.
- 92 Frostell, B. (1983) Anaerobic–aerobic biological treatment of starch industry waste waters. *Starch – Stärke*, 35, 185–189.
- 93 Kapdan, I.K. and Oztekin, R. (2006) The effect of hydraulic residence time and initial COD concentration on color and COD removal performance of the anaerobic–aerobic SBR system. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, **136**, 896–901.
- 94 Ahn, Y.T., Kang, S.T., Chae, S.R., Lee, C.Y., Bae, B.U., and Shin, H.S. (2007) Simultaneous high-strength organic and nitrogen removal with combined anaerobic upflow bed filter and aerobic membrane bioreactor. *Desalination*, 202, 114–121.
- 95 Castillo, A., Llabres, P., and Mata-Alvarez, J. (1999) A kinetic study

of a combined anaerobic–aerobic system for treatment of domestic sewage. *Water Res.*, **33**, 1742–1747.

- 96 Yang, Z. and Zhou, S. (2008) The biological treatment of landfill leachate using a simultaneous aerobic and anaerobic (SAA) bio-reactor system. *Chemosphere*, 72, 1751–1756.
- 97 Wang, R.M., Wang, Y., Ma, G.P., He, Y.F., and Zhao, Y.Q. (2009) Efficiency of porous burnt-coke carrier on treatment of potato starch wastewater with an anaerobic–aerobic bioreactor. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **148**, 35–40.
- 98 Gizgis, N., Georgiou, M., and Diamadopoulos, E. (2006) Sequential anaerobic/aerobic biological treatment of olive mill wastewater and municipal wastewater. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 81, 1563–1569.
- 99 Adewuyi, Y.G. (2001) Sonochemistry: Environmental science and engineering applications. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 40, 4681–4715.
- 100 Gogate, P.R. (2008) Treatment of wastewater streams containing phenolic compounds using hybrid techniques based on cavitation: A review of current status and the way forward. *Ultrason. Sonochem.*, **15**, 1–15.
- 101 Gogate, P.R. and Pandit, A.B. (2004) A review of imperative technologies for wastewater treatment II: Hybrid methods. *Adv. Environ. Res.*, 8, 553–597.
- 102 Sutkar, V.S. and Gogate, P.R. (2009) Design aspects of sonochemical reactors: Techniques for understanding cavitational activity distribution and effect of operating parameters. *Chem. Eng. J.*, **155**, 26–36.
- 103 Gogate, P.R., Sutkar, V.S., and Pandit, A.B. (2011) Sonochemical reactors: Important design and scale up considerations with a special emphasis on heterogeneous systems. *Chem. Eng. J.*, 166, 1066–1082.
- 104 Gogate, P.R. and Pandit, A.B. (2001) Hydrodynamic cavitation reactors: A state of the art review. *Rev. Chem. Eng.*, 17, 1–85.
- 105 Bigda, R.J. (1996) Fenton's chemistry: An effective advanced oxidation process. *Environ. Technol.*, 6, 34–39.

- 520 15 Treatment of Industrial and Municipal Wastewater
 - 106 Bigda, R.J. (1995) Consider Fenton's chemistry for wastewater treatment. Chem. Eng. Prog., 91, 62-66.
 - 107 Venkatadri, R. and Peters, R.V. (1993) Chemical oxidation technologies: Ultraviolet light/hydrogen peroxide, Fenton's reagent and titanium dioxide assisted photocatalysis. Hazard. Waste Hazard. Mater., 10, 107.
 - 108 Glaze, W.H. (1987) Drinking water treatment with ozone. Environ. Sci. Technol., 21 (3), 224.
 - 109 Munter, R., Preis, S., Kamenev, S., and Siirde, E. (1993) Methodology of ozone induction into water and wastewater treatment. Ozone Sci. Eng., 15 (2), 149
 - 110 Martin, N. and Galev, C. (1994) Use of static mixer for oxidation and disinfection by ozone. Ozone Sci. Eng., 16 (6), 455.
 - 111 Legrini, O., Oliveros, E., and Braun, A.M. (1993) Photochemical processes for water treatment. Chem. Rev., 93, 671
 - 112 Bhatkhande, D.S., Pangarkar, V.G., and Beenackers, A.A.C.M. (2002) Photocatalytic degradation for environmental applications: A review. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 77 (1), 102.
 - 113 Hermann, J.-M. (1999) Heterogeneous photocatalysis: Fundamentals and applications to the removal of various types of aqueous pollutants. Catal. Today, 53, 115 - 129.
 - 114 Beltran, F.J., Garcia-Araya, J.F., Frades, J., Alvarez, P., and Gimeno, O. (1999) Effects of single and combined ozonation with hydrogen peroxide or UV radiation on the chemical degradation and biodegradability of debittering table olive industrial wastewaters. Water Res., **33**, 723.
 - 115 Gulyas, H., von Bismarck, R., and Hemmerling, L. (1995) Treatment of industrial wastewaters with ozone/hydrogen peroxide. Water Sci. Technol., 32, 127.

- 116 Kitis, M., Adams, C.D., Kuzhikannil, J., and Daigger, G.T. (2000) Effects of ozone/hydrogen peroxide pretreatment on aerobic degradability of non-ionic surfactants and polypropylene glycol. Environ. Sci. Technol., 34, 2305.
- 117 Ito, K., Jian, W., Nishijima, W., Baes, A.U., Shoto, E., and Okada, M. (1998) Comparison of ozonation and AOPS combined with biodegradation for removal of THM precursors in treated sewage effluents. Water Sci. Technol., 33, 179.
- 118 Ledakowicz, S. and Gonera, M. (1999) Optimization of oxidants dose for combined chemical and biological treatment of textile wastewater. Water Res., 33, 2511.
- 119 Hess, T.F., Lewis, T.A., Crawford, R.L., Katamneni, S., Wells, J.H., and Watts, R.L. (1998) Combined photocatalytic and fungal treatment for the destruction of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT). Water Res., 32, 1481.
- 120 Mastin, B.J., Sherrard, R.M., Rodgers, J.H. Jr., and Shah, Y.T. (2001) Hybrid cavitation/constructed wetland reactors for treatment of chlorinated and non-chlorinated organics. Chem. Eng. Technol., 24, 97.
- 121 Sangave, P.C., Gogate, P.R., and Pandit, A.B. (2007) Ultrasound and ozone assisted biological degradation of thermally pretreated and anaerobically pretreated distillery wastewater. Chemosphere, 68, 42-50.
- 122 Padoley, K.V., Saharan, V.K., Mudliar, S.N., Pandey, R.A., and Pandit, A.B. (2012) Cavitationally induced biodegradability enhancement of a distillery wastewater. J. Hazard. Mater., 219-220, 69-74.
- 123 Ramteke, L.P., Gogate, P.R. (2015) Treatment of toluene, benzene, naphthalene and xylene (BTNXs) containing wastewater using improved biological oxidation with pretreatment using Fenton/ultrasound based processes. J. Ind. Eng. Chem., 28, 247-60.

Michael Nelles, Gert Morscheck, Astrid Lemke, and Ayman El Naas

Municipal solid waste (MSW) is a mixture of different waste fractions: organic waste (compare box for terminology), recyclables, and residual waste coming either from households or from other establishments that municipalities collect together along with household waste. Depending on many factors (country, climate, population density, urbanization, etc.) this waste mixture has different characteristics and compositions for each municipality. However, with 30–40% (in extremes it can range from 18% to 60%), the biodegradable waste stream is one of the main components of MSW. According to a Working Document from the European Commission, the EU produces 118 to 138 Mt bio-waste yearly of which around 88 Mt originate from MSW and 30–50 Mt from industrial sources. The bio-waste fraction of the MSW consists of two major streams: green waste (from parks, gardens, etc.) containing 50–60% water and more wood (lignocellulosic) and kitchen waste containing no wood and up to 80% water [1].

The most common practice for disposal of MSW in Europe was landfilling. Without any treatment, the biodegradable fraction in landfills leads to leachate production and gas and odor emissions, causing in many cases soil and water pollution and contributing to greenhouse gases. Due to increasing waste amounts, lack of disposal space, shortage of resources, and the environmental constraints arising from untreated biodegradable waste, MSW management systems are moving from landfill-based to resource recovery-based solutions. Biological waste treatment options are an important means of integrated MSW management solutions.

The biological waste treatment options differ not only in the technology applied and its purpose but also in the input material: mixed waste or separately collected biodegradable waste. For the treatment of separately collected biodegradable waste, *composting* and *anaerobic digestion* (AD) can be applied. While *composting* aims for the production of a humus-like product, the main purpose of the AD process is to produce energy in the form of biogas. *Mechanical–Biological Treatment* (MBT) can treat mixed MSW and aims on the one hand to produce inert, stabilized waste to reduce the waste amount to be disposed and save landfill space

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

and the recovery of materials on the other. Common to all options is, however, the goal of reducing environmental constraints arising from biodegradable materials.

Agricultural waste is not included in MSW but since it is also biodegradable waste the different possibilities for handling source segregated MSW are also applicable for agricultural waste.

16.1

Biological Treatment of Source Segregated Bio-Waste

Only separately collected organic waste has the quality to produce a good, harmless product, free of contaminants. It is usually not possible to produce a useable compost or digestate out of mixed waste.

16.1.1

Composting

Composting refers to the aerobic biological decomposition of separately collected organic waste to produce a biologically stable product. The processes occurring in composting differ from the natural biological decomposition so far, as in composting the process is controlled to optimize the composting time, emissions, and compost quality. To understand the bio-chemical processes of composting is, therefore, essential to control and adjust the process in the different composting technologies.

16.1.1.1 Composting Process

Organic waste as input material for composting is to a large extent from plant origin [2-5]. Therefore, the main substrates for the biological process are structural components of plants. With 40–70%, cellulose is the major component. Other important plants compounds are: lignin, hemicelluloses, murein, and chitin (detailed information about substrates compounds can be found in [2]). Since the exact composition of the input material cannot be defined, only a general equation for the composting process can be given:

Organic matter $+ O_2 \Rightarrow CO_2 + H_2O + ([N] + [S] + [P])$

+ stabilized organic matter + thermal energy

During the biological process in composting, microorganisms decompose the plant compounds converting them to carbon dioxide and water, mineral salts, compost, and energy. In a well-managed composting system, around 50% of the organic matter is lost as it is transformed into CO_2 , H_2O , mineral salts, and energy. This loss of organic matter during the composting process can range from 30% to 60%.

The energy $(-2.875 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1})$ produced by the microbial oxidation of carbon during the process is released as heat. This self-heating occurs spontaneously,

when the mass of organic material is sufficient for insulation, and determines the decomposition speed as usually microbial activity rises with increasing temperature. As it will be explained later in Section "Phases of the Composting Process," this temperature development is essential for the hygienization of the material.

Microorganisms There is a wide array of microorganisms attacking organic waste, most of them acting in a special temperature range. Therefore, the different species are replaced by others in short intervals. Bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and actinomycea are the most common microorganisms during the composting process but also protozoa and algae can be found (further information of the different species of microbial population involved in composting can be found in [2, 3], their metabolism is described in more detail in [4]). From all these organisms, bacteria are usually the major microbial species responsible for the degradation process. Although the bacterial population changes during composting, bacteria are present in large numbers throughout the whole composting process.

Phases of the Composting Process With regard to the temperature and microbial activity development, the composting process is usually divided into four phases: mesophilic phase (25-40 °C), thermophilic phase (35-65 °C), mesophilic phase, and maturation stage. In composting technologies, however, differentiation in only two phases is more common: active composting and curing.

In the *active composting phase* easily degradable components are decomposed quickly, causing high level of biological activity. The activity of these microorganisms generates a high demand of oxygen as well as a rise in temperature within the input material. At optimal moisture, oxygen and nutrient conditions, the temperature can reach to 55-65 °C degrees within a period of only 2 h. The high temperatures produced are important as they sanitize the compost. This process of reduction of human and plants pathogens, as well as elimination of weed seeds and insect larvae is called hygienization. Despite the importance of hygienization, temperatures have to be properly controlled and managed, as they can also result in the dropping of the moisture content below the optimal range (55-65%), impeding microorganisms, and slowing down the composting process. At moisture content lower than 40% the materials dry out. During this phase monitoring is essential to reach hygienization, avoid drying of the material and maintain the running of the process, and reduce odor generation and vectors attraction. The active composting time is dependent upon many factors, such as type of feedstock, the degree of feedstock preparation, the type of composting technology applied, climatic conditions, and the level of operator control and management.

During the *curing phase* slower biological processes take place (conversion of carbon into carbon dioxide and humus, and nitrogen into nitrates). As the more readily degradable materials in the feedstock are consumed, the types of microorganisms in the feedstock change and the overall populations become smaller. For this reason a lower oxygen demand and lower temperatures can be observed, which characterizes the curing step. If the curing takes place outdoors, climatic

conditions, mainly ambient temperatures, affect the level of biological activity. At cold, winter temperatures the microorganisms become dormant, slowing down the curing step. When the compost product is mature and stable, the curing is considered complete. *Stability* measures the biological activity in the compost material. Compost is stable when it is no longer undergoing rapid decomposition, meaning it shows no or only a low level of biological activity. At this stage the compost material can be used as soil conditioner. However, cured compost, as well as "fresh compost" after hygienization can be utilized as soil conditioner. This compost is also rich in nutrients and fresh organic but it has to be taken into account, that fresh compost smells bad and should not be plough in the soil after application. Maturity indicates the degree of phytotoxicity of the compost, which is usually caused by higher levels of ammonia or organic acids.

Factors Affecting the Composting Process There is a wide variety of chemical and physical factors affecting the growth of microorganisms, which are therefore relevant for the planning, operation, and monitoring of composting technologies.

Kind of substrate: Many properties of the compost process and the quality of the compost are determined by the input material used: C:N ratio, moisture content, pH level, interstices volume, and the particle size.

C:N ratio: The supply of carbon (C) relative to nitrogen (N) is an important quality of compost input material, as it is closely related to the speed of the degeneration process. At a good C:N ratio, microbes will use all the N for their own metabolic needs. As a general rule, the C:N ratio should be greater than 20:1. At C:N ratio lower than 20:1, the microorganisms have surplus N and it can be lost to the atmosphere as ammonia gas, leading to odor problems. Optimum C:N ratio is between 30:1 and 40:1. To achieve this, waste with narrow C:N-ratio (mostly wastes with low structure) might be mixed with waste with a wide C:N ratio (structure rich material).

Moisture and oxygen/aeration: Both moisture and oxygen supply are needed to keep the microorganisms alive, so both need to be provided in sufficient amounts during the composting process. Initial moisture contents should be 50-65% and water might need to be added during the process. To keep the process aerobic, the oxygen amount in the compost material should be greater than 12%. Moisture and aeration are closely related to each other, which has to be considered when managing the composting process, as aeration reduces the water content in the feedstock, drying up the material. Moisture and aeration are also closely related to the structure of the input material.

pH – *level*: The pH level of the input material also influences the activity of the microorganisms. For a good biological activity the pH should be between 5.5 and 8.

Structure: The structure of the input material determines its porosity, which is crucial when considering the aeration. For a good aeration and a fast composting process, the particle size should be between 25 and 100 mm.

Temperature: As already mentioned in Section 16.1.2 active composting phase temperature is important for the hygienization of the compost and it has to be

controlled together with the water content, as high temperatures might also dry up the material.

Mixing/agitation: The turning/mixing of the feedstock is important to achieve a better sanitation of the compost. It also breaks up clumps of particles reestablishing porosity and reintroduces air into the feedstock. The optimal agitation frequency is related, however, to temperature as agitation lowers the temperature.

Organic, Biodegradable or Bio-waste, Is It All the Same? From [1]

Although the three terms are often used as synonyms, there are legal differences between them in Europe. While *organic waste* has no legal definition, bio- and biodegradable waste are defined in the European legislation.

The European Waste Framework Directive (2008/98) defines *bio-waste* as *"biodegradable garden and park waste, food and kitchen waste from households, restaurants, caterers and retail premises, and comparable waste from food processing plants."* It, therefore, does not include forestry or agricultural residues, manure sewage sludge, or other biodegradable waste (natural textiles, paper, or processed wood).

The concept of *biodegradable waste* has a wider meaning. According to the European Landfill Directive (1999/31) biodegradable waste is waste that is capable of undergoing anaerobic or aerobic decomposition, such as food and garden waste and paper and cardboard. Particularly in landfills, biodegradable waste can have negative impacts when improperly managed.

As it can be seen, according to definitions many different organic materials can be counted to bio- and biodegradable waste. In MSW, the two main organic components are food waste from all kinds of origin and green waste. For simplicity reasons we will focus on these two fractions, although the principles and systems from the described technologies may also apply to other organic fractions.

16.1.1.2 Composting Technologies

The treatment capacity of composting $plants^1$ can vary from less than 1000 to more than 100 000 Mg per annum [4–9]. Depending on the capacity, input material, local conditions, and requirements the layout of the plant will differ significantly. Figure 16.1 shows a simplified layout of a composting plant illustrating the different possible treatment steps. Usually, different types of mechanical treatment (separation, size reduction, turning, mixing, etc.) are applied before, during, or/and after the composting process.

Although all composting technologies make use of the degradation processes described before Section 16.1.1.1, the technologies available differ considerably and range from simpler to more sophisticated systems. With regard to the rotting process the compost technologies concentrate on the active rotting step.

1 Small scale home composting methods are not considered here.



Figure 16.1 Simplified layout of a composting facility.

Common approaches to classify the facilities consider whether the active rotting system is as follows:

- · Merely for "green" waste or for bio-waste from segregated collection
- · Open, enclosed, or in-vessel
- · Passively or actively aerated
- Static, semi-dynamic, or dynamic (mechanical agitation).

The differentiation in open, closed, and in-vessel facilities considers whether the rotting process takes place outdoors, in enclosed buildings or in reactors. The consideration of this aspect is of importance mainly when analyzing emissions (odor, water/leachate, exhaust gases) from the facility. Compared to the open system, the enclosed and in-vessel system achieve shorter retention times (5-10 days), less area requirements, better process and emissions control, as well as high quality and a consistent end product. On the other hand, their costs of construction and operation are higher. The material flow in in-vessel technologies can be as batch or continuous input.

Both the aeration and mechanical agitation of the compost material enhance the air supply in the compost influencing therefore the rotting time. The mechanical agitation describes the movement frequency of the compost material. In static composting systems the compost material is moved discontinuously (once a week or less). In semi-dynamic processes the movement of the material takes place regularly but discontinuously and is more than once per week. In dynamic processes the material is continuously moved, either several times a day or constantly (rotating).

In passive aeration systems, air is supplied to the compost material through natural air movement (gaseous diffusion, convection, and chimney effect). In these systems the porosity of the compost material determines the air exchange rate. To avoid anaerobic zones, mechanical agitation is used in some cases to re-establish the air content within the compost material. Actively aerated systems force air through the compost material. A positive aeration system pushes air from the

526

bottom to the surface of the pile, where it comes out. In a negative aeration system, air is pulled down from the surface to the base of the pile, where it is captured and treated in a bio-filter to minimize odor emissions. A bidirectional aeration system (combined pressure and suction aeration) combines the positive and negative systems switching between them. Any of the three systems work continuously or intermittently. Continuous operation work with lower air flow rates but it can lower the temperature of the pile so that pathogen destruction is not achieved. For this reason, intermittent operation is more common.

In the following text, the most common active rotting technologies² will be briefly described. It should be accounted that after active composting is completed mostly the curing of the compost takes place in open windrow composting.

Windrow Composting Windrow composting implies forming long rows of triangular or trapezoid cross-section, whose width is about twice the height. Usual windrow dimensions are a maximum of 3 m height and 6 m width, depending on the windrow turning machine. The dimensions are important as they should allow the generation of sufficient heat and the diffusion of air to the center of the windrow.

Windrows technology can range from simple open windrow (outdoor) to enclosed systems in a building. A further option is to cover the windrow with a membrane textile; this option is explained in detail in Section "Encapsulation with Semipermeable Membrane Cover." One disadvantage of open systems is the influence of the weather (rain, sun, wind). To minimize runoff and leachate problems from rain water, windrows can be placed under a roof or in a building, which will increase the facility costs. Closed systems can further retain odor arising from the process; however, due to the dimensions of the buildings the exhaust air volumes to be treated are significant. For a proper treatment with biofilters low exhaust air rates should be minimized. Further, windrow systems can be passively or actively aerated. Enclosed systems are usually combined with under floor ventilation. A problem from closed systems and especially of its actively aerated systems is corrosion of the building structure caused by water condensation.

In passively aerated systems, the windrows are turned regularly to introduce air in the pile and increase porosity so that the passive aeration is efficient at all times. At the same time, the turning also mixes the material so that material from the surface moves to the center of the windrow, where microorganisms will convert it into compost. The windrow size and spacing are determined by the equipment used for turning. Typical turning machines are front-end loaders, towered windrow turners, or self-propelled turners (see Figure 16.2). Some turners are also equipped with a watering system. To allow the turning and delivery equipment to work the working surface for the windrows has to be firm.

In Germany, windrows systems used for the active composting phase with a facility capacity higher than 6.500 Mg per annum are usually enclosed systems, so that odor emissions are avoided and exhaust gases are treated in a bio-filter.

2 Names for composting technologies differ slightly in literature, so denominations other than the one proposed here can also be found.



Figure 16.2 (a) BACHKUS windrow turner [10], (b) BACKHUS Lane turner [10]. (With permission from BACKHUS EcoEngineers.)

Some windrows systems also use active aeration and occasional turning. In English literature, this windrow type is referred as *aerated static pile* and is considered an independent technology system.

Windrow composting is suitable for a wide range of feedstock and facility capacities with low infrastructure requirements. The disadvantages are the relatively long composting times and large area requirements. Further, in open systems the high odor potential is a problem.

Another special type of windrow composting with passive aeration and periodical agitation (semi-dynamic) is the so-called *matts* [4]. To form the matt-windrows, different layers of waste are alternatively put on top of each other, starting at the bottom with bulking materials to provide porosity. To avoid poor air distribution, the selection of the waste materials and the forming of the layers is essential. The bulking materials shall maintain the porosity throughout the entire composting process. Therefore, the system is mainly used for green waste. A system for leachate collection is needed. The composting time ranges from 3 to 4 months for the active phase and for a further 2-3 months for the curing phase. The curing usually takes place in common open windrows with 2-3 turnings.

Extended Beds Extended bed composting systems can be seen as a special form of windrow composting, where the organic material formed to a wide "extended windrow" instead of many narrow ones. In this way, the area requirements can be significantly reduced. Extended beds systems are, therefore, suitable for larger feedstock amounts and are mainly enclosed although open systems are possible. Usually, in enclosed systems, in-floor forced aeration (positive or negative) and agitation are combined. Agitation is performed by special remote controlled turning machines, which usually also water the compost material. Some of these turners can compensate the mass loss (due to the rotting of the material), so that after the turning the windrow reaches its initial height. The composting time in extended beds, range from 45 to 90 days.

Encapsulation with Semipermeable Membrane Cover This technology was developed as an improvement of the open windrow system to enhance operation and reduce odor emissions. Nowadays, the encapsulation with semi-permeable membrane cover is not limited to enclosed windrow composting systems but is also applied in silo designs, as well as in structural designs, such as box and tunnel systems, for composting, stabilization, and biodrying operations. Emission and process control during the biological treatment is accomplished by the semipermeable behavior of the membrane and the sealing of the cover to the interfaces of the installation in combination with forced aeration. Due to the cover and its sealing function the encapsulated system is considered an enclosed technology.

The membrane is semi-permeable to gases but larger odor-causing molecules (ammonia, hydrogen sulfide, volatile fatty acids) cannot diffuse through the small pores. On the inner side of the membrane, condensation water accumulates, absorbs the odorous compounds, and precipitates back to the windrow. Back in the windrow odorous compounds are further decomposed.

The cover offers other advantages compared to open systems. It prevents rain water from infiltrating the windrow, reducing run-off and leachate problems. In addition, water loss from evaporation is reduced as the cover retains condensation water. Further, the cover reduces vector attraction. Compared to enclosed composting systems in buildings, membrane covers could be economically more favorable, since a building as enclosure is more cost-intensive in the construction, maintenance, and repairs. The life-time of membranes is, however, significantly shorter. Service life of 2-9 years depending on the robustness of the cover as well as on the handling practice have been reported (Personal Communication, W.L. GORE & ASSOCIATES GMBH.).

It is possible to modify open windrow systems into systems covered with membranes. For the aerated windrow composting with membrane cover, common open windrows are formed usually on a concrete pad with ground aeration trenches. Besides structural designs, in which the cover is mounted to a frame, the membrane cover is usually pulled over the windrow by an automatic mechanical winder. At the base of the windrows the membrane cover is sealed to the ground with weight to prevent air from escaping. Positive aeration allows the optimal functioning of the system as no exhaust air collection is then required, since encapsulation with a semi-permeable membrane cover acts as an integrated system combining biological treatment and emission control in one. Aeration is controlled by oxygen and temperature sensors connected to a control computer. The active composting time is 3-8 weeks. The curing can be completed in open windrows.

Channel and Tunnel Composting These enclosed technologies combine forced aeration and agitation. In channel systems, the waste material is piled between walls, which form a rectangular "channel" or lane open to the roof. The walls allow the feedstock to be piled vertically to the sides and ends, so that the space requirements are lower than that for simple windrow composting. The special turning machine moves on rails on top of the channel and works automatically



Figure 16.3 Schema of tunnel composting from STRABAG [11]. (With permission from STRA-BAG Umwelttechnik GMBH.)

(see Figure 16.2). Similarly to windrow composting the agitation of the material breaks up clumps of particles and maintains porosity. Each channel is separately aerated, watered, and periodically turned. Since the channels are placed in a building, corrosion and exhaust air treatment problems are the same as mentioned in closed windrow composting systems.

In tunnel systems (see Figure 16.3), the channels are closed to the top thereby minimizing the exhaust air volume. A further advantage compared to channels is that building damage due to corrosion is reduced, since the processed air is contained within the tunnel. The exhaust air is conducted to and treated in a biofilter. Similarly to channels, aeration, watering, and turning can be regulated separately for each tunnel. Some tunnel systems have only aeration but no agitation components. The composting period depends on the length of the tunnel, turning frequency, and desired compost quality at the end of the process. Common composting periods of commercial systems can range from 2 to 12 weeks. For both systems, channels and tunnels, the produced compost needs further curing.

Box- and **Container Composting** Box- and container composting are in-vessel, static technologies. The difference between them is the size of the containment where the active composting step takes place. The volume of rotting boxes is $50-60 \text{ m}^3$ while the volume of rotting containers is 20 m^3 and can be transported by a truck. Both systems are actively aerated. They both also have a leachate collection system and treat exhaust gases with a bio-filter. The technologies are modular so that it is easy to expand the capacity by adding a new box or container. However, due to the low capacity of each box/container their suitability for large-scale operations is limited. The curing of the compost after the active phase usually takes place in open windrow composting.

"Brikollare" – **Composting Process** The "brikollare" composting process is not widely spread. As of 2009, only five plants in Germany were operating with this technology [9]. In the process the shredded waste material is formed to briquettes

(\sim 30 kg each) and stockpiled on palettes inside a closed building, where the static and passively aerated rotting process takes place. The water content of the briquettes varies from 50% to a maximum of 62%. The composting time varies from 3 to 6 weeks depending on the desired compost quality. After the rotting process the briquettes have a water content of approximately 20% and need further treatment and curing [4, 8].

Silo Composting In-vessel vertical silo is a continuous feed, static technology. It consists of a steel vessel, where every day waste material is loaded at the top and composted material is removed from the bottom of the silo. The material takes usually 14 days to move from the top to the bottom. Air is forced in the opposite direction: from the bottom of the silo through the composting mass. Water from the incoming air condenses at the top of the vessel and waters the incoming waste. The compost extracted from the silo after 14 days is cured, often, in a second aerated silo. Since the material is piled vertically, this technology has low area requirements but present compaction, temperature control, and air flow challenges.

Rotary Drum Composting In this in-vessel composting technology, the waste material is continuously agitated (dynamic system) and actively aerated. The rotating drum is slightly inclined so that the waste material tumbles from the upper (infeed) end to the lower (discharge) end. Air is added through the discharge end. As the waste material tumbles, waste and air get mixed. The time the waste spends in the rotating drum is determined by the speed of the rotation and the inclination of the drum. Generally, rotating drums are planned with 1-7 days composting time.

During the composting process in the drum the highly degradable materials are decomposed quickly, but the short composting time is not sufficient for the decomposition of more persistent materials, like lignin. For this reason, a second stage composting is needed for further decomposition.

16.1.1.3 Compost Use and Quality

Compost improves the physical, biological, and chemical properties of soils [12–14]. Therefore, it can be used as a soil conditioner in agriculture and horticulture, as topsoil for landscaping and land restoration or as component of growing media. The regulations and standards for compost use differ significantly across countries. In Europe, some countries have a complex network of regulations controlling the compost use, while others allow the use of compost without any legal directions. Usually, the regulations for compost use include dosage restrictions concerning the permissible quantity of compost (megagram dry matter) at a maximum heavy metal content (compost class) in a certain period of time, and the application as fertilizer considering the maximum nutrient supply to keep soils in a proper condition. These restrictions are mainly intended for application in agriculture as in most other uses, compost is applied infrequently and larger amounts are necessary [12].

In Germany, following amounts of compost are allowed for agricultural use: Class I 20 Mg dry matter in 3 years and compost Class II 30 Mg dry matter in

3 years (Biowaste Ordinance 1998). For nonagricultural use, the amounts of compost range from 10 to 65 Mg dry matter, depending on the use (Soil Protection Ordinance 1999). For fertilizing purposes the application of compost should occur according to good agricultural practice (Fertilizer Ordinance 2003). An overview of compost use regulations in other European countries is given in [12] or in the country reports of the European Compost Network (ECN) [13].

Further, the German Quality Assurance Organization of Compost (Bundergütegemeinschaft Kompost e.V. – BGK) [14] sets the quality parameters for compost. Important parameters include: hygienization, limit content for heavy metals (Pb, Hg, Cd, Ni, Cr,) and copper and zinc, nutrient content (N, P_2O_5 , K_2O , MgO, CaO), and impurities contents (glass, plastics, stones).

16.1.1.4 Status of Composting in Europe and Germany

The ECN offers a good overview of the composting activities for most European countries [13]. Based on their own survey, the ECN counted ~30 million ton of source segregated biodegradable waste collected in Europe, half of which are garden waste. These are treated in over 2000 composting sites [15]. Furthermore, 800 small agricultural co-composting plants were identified mainly in Germany and Austria. The latest sites offer a large potential for rural areas in the eastern Member States [12].

The last analysis of the status of the composting technology in Germany [16] shows that the main waste fractions processed are bio-waste and separately collected green waste. The share of green waste decreases from 60% in plants with less than 10 000 ton per annum to 26% in plants with more than 30 000 ton per annum. While composting plants with lower capacities (10 000 ton per annum) are mainly open systems, plants with higher capacities (30 000 ton per annum) use mainly enclosed systems. For the segment between 10 000 and 30 000 ton per annum, the share of open and enclosed systems is equal. The technologies mostly used are windrow, extended windrow, covered windrow, tunnels, and box/container composting.

16.1.2

Anaerobic Digestion

AD uses the anaerobic microbial decomposition to break down separately collected organic waste, resulting in biogas and digestate as main products. AD gained importance in the last decades, mainly because the generated biogas can be used for energy purposes and is, therefore, considered a renewable energy source.

16.1.2.1 Process of Anaerobic Digestion

The process of AD can be used to treat separately collected, solid, organic waste as in composting [4-6, 17-19]. The range of possible input materials is, however, wider compared to the aerobic process, as AD can be also used to handle liquid wastes and sludge. The mixing of solid and liquid materials is also a possibility, which can offer environmental and economic benefits. In contrast to composting, AD has one main limitation, namely that the AD process is not able to degrade lignin. A further difference is that AD needs thermal energy to achieve the necessary temperatures. A general equation for the AD process looks as follows:

Organic matter \Rightarrow Biogas (CO₂ + CH₄ + [H₂S] + [NH₃] + trace gases) + digestate

In AD microbes break down carbon compounds from the organic matter into biogas and digestate (for detailed information on microbes' species see [18]). In a typical AD system, about 50% of the organic matter is broken down. Compared to the aerobic decomposition (composting), AD has (since without oxygen) a lower airflow and lower heat production. To reach and maintain optimal temperatures additional heat is necessary. However, since the produced biogas has more energy than required, the process produces more energy than it consumes. For organic municipal waste, the common biogas production is approximately 100 Nm³ biogas per Mg of input material. The main components of biogas are methane (CH_{A}) and carbon dioxide (CO₂), but it can also include hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) and ammonia (NH₃) as well as minor amounts of trace gases, such as siloxanes and different volatile organic compounds (VOCs). The typical composition of biogas varies from 55% to 70% methane, 30% to 45% carbon dioxide, and 200 to 4000 ppm hydrogen sulfide. The share of carbon dioxide to methane depends mainly on the input waste material. To maximize methane production, it is important to have a balanced feed of input materials. Most of the energy from the input material is shifted to the produced biogas as methane. Therefore, due to the methane content, biogas can be used to produce energy. The possible energy uses vary from production of electricity and heat in a combined heat and power unit, to feeding into the gas distribution system after conditioning of the biogas or as alternative fuel for vehicles. Thanks to these energy uses of the biogas, the energy balance of AD technologies is positive compared to composting.

Digestate is the solid or semi-solid material, which remains after the AD process. If the material after the AD process is liquid, it is then called effluent. Digestate is usually composted and used as fertilizer.

Microorganisms and Phases of the Anaerobic Digestion Process The process of AD consists of four successive steps due to the different microbial groups involved. In each step microbes convert the organic material into successive products, which will be used by the following microbes group and result in the production of biogas. The stages of the AD process are listed below (for a more detailed explanation see [4, 19]):

- Hydrolysis: In this first stage, a specific set of microorganisms releases enzymes, which break down the large and complex organic molecules into smaller compounds. This stage works best at lower pH-levels (pH-level below 5) and is usually the limiting step as it is the slower step.
- 2) *Acidogenesis*: Fermentative microorganisms break down the hydrolyzed compounds into organic alcohols and acids, lowering the pH level in the digester.

- 3) Acetogenesis: In this stage, a new group of acid-tolerant microorganisms ferment further the organic acids and alcohols into shorter molecules (volatile fatty acids and hydrogen).
- 4) Methanogenesis: Strictly anaerobic methanogens microorganisms convert the products of the acetogenesis into biogas. The optimal pH-level for methanogens range from 6.5 to 7.2 (die at pH below 5).

The different microbes involved in each step require a different pH optimum level, making it difficult to design a system with optimal conditions for all microbes.

Factors Affecting the AD Process The main factors and operational conditions, which affect the AD process, are described in the following:

Moisture: Since AD systems have been developed to work at a certain moisture level, moisture is usually one of the most important factors to affect the process. If moisture is not at the proper range for the relevant type of AD system, the process will not work.

pH level: Since the microbes involved have a different pH optimum, one challenge in the AD process is to sustain the pH level within a proper range, so that all microbes can develop. Low pH levels can result when methanogens are inhibited and organic acids accumulate. The methanogen microbes can be even killed, if the pH lowers further.

Temperature/microbes: The technical AD process operates at mesophilic and thermophilic ranges. Depending on the temperatures different microorganisms will be present at the four process steps.

Solids retention time (SRT): SRT is important mainly for continuous systems and can be described as the average time that the solid material remains in the digester. At short SRF the degradation process cannot be completed, so that the full biogas potential from the input material cannot be captured. At too long SRT, the digester volume is not efficiently used.

C: N ratio and ammonia toxicity: Although nitrogen is an important nutrient for microbes in the AD process, too much nitrogen can cause the accumulation of ammonia in the digester, leading to ammonia toxicity and disturbing the AD process. The microbes most sensible to ammonia are methanogens; therefore, ammonia toxicity can disturb the quantity and quality of the biogas produced. To control the nitrogen concentrations, the C:N ratio of the input organic waste should be approximately 30.

Sulfide concentration: High concentrations of sulfide, as H₂S, hinder the AD process, leading to lower methane production. In organic MSW, proteins are typical sources of sulfur compounds.

16.1.2.2 AD Technologies

AD technologies comprise a mechanical pre-treatment stage before the digestion, the digestion itself and a post-treatment of the digestate, as well as the energy use of the biogas, as shown in Figure 16.4 [4, 5, 7, 20, 21]. Generally, the pretreatment consists in the removal of metals and oversized materials. To enhance



Figure 16.4 Simplified layout of an anaerobic digestion facility.

the digestion process, a more homogenous input material can be achieved by reducing the size of the feedstock (pulping, cutting, drumming, etc.).

There is a wide variety of engineered systems for AD, designed to optimize the biological process in order to produce biogas rich in methane for energy recovery. All technologies are enclosed and have specially designed vertical or horizontal reactors, where the feedstock breach down takes place. In the following text different criteria used to classify AD technologies are presented.

Wet/Dry Digestion The classification between wet and dry AD considers the dry solids content of the substrate. While the dry solids content in wet digestion ranges between 3% and 15%, it can vary from 15% to 45% in dry systems. Although "dry" digestion might suggest that there is no moisture involved in the process, this is not the case. Moreover, in dry digestion moisture is essential for the process.

Since wet digestion deals with materials suspended or dissolved in water, the feedstock material is pumped and the process is carried out in stirred, sealed digester (tanks). The mixing is essential for different reasons. One is to ensure sufficient contact between the microbes and the substrate since the liquid substrate mixture is prone to get split into two or more layers (light materials on top and dense materials on the bottom) leading to lower gas production. Another reason is to make sure that the optimal average solid retention time is maintained. For the mixing, different components can be applied: hydraulic, pneumatic (biogas recirculation), or mechanical stirring devices. Input material such as food waste, which can be easily converted to liquid, is best suitable for wet systems. To achieve the required low dry solid contents usually liquid manure is added.

The dry solid content of the feedstock for dry systems can differ significantly, showing different "structures." The feedstock for dry systems can consequently include materials such as garden waste and crops straw. Compared to wet systems, dry systems are less susceptible to physical contaminants (sands, fibers, etc.). Due to the input material's composition, the feedstock is usually piled in place.

Dry digestion systems can be further divided into different technologies. The two main systems applied for the treatment of source segregated MSW are percolation and plug flow systems. *Percolation technology* (Figure 16.5) uses usually a container or garage digester with a hydraulic gate. The digester is fed either directly



Figure 16.5 Schema of a percolation digester from BEKON [22]. (With permission from BEKON Energy Technologies GmbH & Co. KG.)

with a wheel loader or the feedstock is placed on a wire cage, which is inserted into the digester with a hook lift. The digester is equipped with a heating system and a percolation drainage system. The percolate is stored in a separate heated tank.

To accelerate the biogas production new feedstock is inoculated with digestate from the previous digestion. In the digester, the feedstock is at first aerated to allow the self-heating of the material and achieve the temperatures needed for the AD. After this short aerobic starting phase, the feedstock is irrigated with percolate and the anaerobic phase follows, lasting for 4-8 weeks (retention time). The irrigation can take place periodically or continuously and is stopped a few days before the end of the process to drain the material. Usually, 3 to 4 digesters are operated phase-delayed to reach a uniform gas production.

The acidity and pH-level of the percolate depends on the digestion stage. Therefore, by interchanging the percolate of different digesters at different stages (feeding the acidic percolate of a newly started digester to an already well-running digester, and vice versa, the percolate with low acidity and rich in bacteria from a well-running digester to a newly started one), the acidity at the start of the digestion process can be controlled.

In percolation technologies, the structure of the feedstock is essential to allow the irrigation of the percolate throughout the whole digestion process. The height of the feedstock pile in the digester is, therefore, limited to 2-3 m to avoid the compaction at lower layers due to the static pressure.

In *plug flow technology* (Figure 16.6) a horizontal lying cylindrical or rectangular digester is equipped either with a horizontal agitator or with several transversely located agitators. The electrically driven agitators help mainly the degassing. The direction of the agitation is changed periodically, so that the feedstock movement through the digester is a result of the material fed to the digester and takes place as a plug-flow continuously pushed forward by the fresh material.

The feedstock is usually fed to the digester with an auger system. Continuous flow systems integrate an inoculum loop to achieve rapid distribution of



Figure 16.6 Schema of a plug flow digester from STABAG [11]. (With permission from STRA-BAG Umwelttechnik GMBH.)

microorganisms in the fresh material. The loop recycles a fraction of the digestate (from the end of the plug-flow) and mixes it with fresh feedstock.

At the back end of the digester the substrate is extracted and dewatered. The solid fraction and the excess liquid fraction are directly used as fertilizer or further treated. A part of the liquid fraction is used for the inoculation of the fresh feedstock.

Single- or Two-Stage Systems AD systems for source segregated organic waste can be also designed as single- or two-stage systems. The biological stages of the AD process need different optimal conditions, especially pH ranges. In a single-stage digestion system, all stages occur in the same vessel, at a pH between 6 and 7, which is not the optimal of the involved microbes. Two-stage systems attempt therefore, to optimize the pH for the microorganisms by operating in two different vessels with different conditions thereby dividing the AD stages. In the first vessel, the first two stages (Hydrolysis and Acidogenesis) occur, while in the second vessel conditions are optimized for the Acetogenesis and Methanogenesis. A disadvantage of this division, are higher costs for the construction and operation.

Mesophil or Thermophil Systems There are two possible operating temperature ranges that are favorable for the microbes in technical AD systems: the thermophilic range, with temperatures between 45 and 60 °C and the mesophilic range, with temperatures between 30 and 45 °C. Any AD system can be operated as a thermophilic or mesophilic system. To sanitize the material in mesophilic systems a pasteurization unit is used. At the beginning of technology development, systems were designed as mesophilic as the process was expected to be more stable and less energy was needed for heating. Nowadays, both systems are equally widely used for the treatment of source segregated organic waste.

Continuous or Batch Systems When considering the performance, technical AD can be operated as a continuous or as a batch process. In continuous systems, the substrate is regularly fed into the digester and the digestate is removed, where the

amounts of substrate and digestate are equal. The purpose of this performance is to achieve an approximately continuous production of biogas and a constant biogas quality. In batch systems, the digester is filled with the substrate and closed for the digestion period. Hence, the biogas amounts and quality vary with the time. To reach more continuous qualities and amounts of biogas, parallel batch systems can be used and operated consecutively.

16.1.2.3 Digestate Use and Quality

Due to its highly available N and P fractions, the main use of digestate is as fertilizer [12, 14]. The soil conditioner properties of digestate are lower than that of compost, except for the separated fiber fraction. In Europe, more than 95% of the produced digestate is applied directly in agriculture as liquid fertilizer. In Germany, liquid digestate is mainly used without further treatment as fertilizer in agriculture. From the plants handling organic waste, approximately 10% separate the liquid phase after digestion and produce compost out of the separated fiber. In Europe, most countries regulate the quality and use of digestate through waste or fertilizer legislation and are similar or the same than for compost [12].

As for compost, the German Quality Assurance Organization of Compost (Bundergütegemeinschaft Kompost e.V. – BGK) [14] sets the quality parameters for digestate. Important parameters are similar to that of compost and consider the hygienization of the digestate, limit contents for heavy metals (Pb, Hg, Cd, Ni, Cr) and copper and zinc, nutrient content (N, P_2O_5 , K_2O , MgO, S), impurities contents (glass, plastics, stones) and a limit for organic acids content.

16.1.2.4 Status of Anaerobic Digestion in Europe and Germany

In 2010, 195 large AD sites with a capacity of 5 900 000 Mg organic waste were operational in Europe [12, 13, 16]. Additionally, 7500 agricultural digestion and co-digestion sites for agricultural residues, energy crops, and organic waste were operating in the same year. The produced digestate volume was ~56 million m^3 and the electricity production from biogas ~2.5 GW. [12].

In their country reports, the ECN offers a good overview of the number of AD plants in most European countries [13].

According to an analysis of the status of AD technology of 2014/2015, there are 75 AD sites in operation with at least 5000 ton per annum of biowaste as input. These sites have a total capacity of 38 million ton per annum for segregated organic waste [23].

16.2

Mechanical-Biological Treatment of Mixed Municipal Solid Waste

MBT of waste gained importance with the implementation of the European Landfill Directive (Council Directive 99/31/EC of 26 April 1999 on the landfill of waste) on 16 July 1999. The Directive aims to reduce the negative effects on the environment from the landfilling of waste. Among others, the Directive specifies that biodegradable waste is no longer allowed to be landfilled and requires MSW to be pre-treated prior to its disposal [24]. At present, only waste incineration and MBT technologies are available as pre-treatment options for mixed MSW.

The treatment with MBT technologies implies effective material flow management applying mechanical and biological processes to convert and segregate the municipal waste into suitable outputs and marketable products [25]. Typical outputs are: a stabilized fraction for disposal, materials for recycling, refuse derived fuels (RDF)/solid recovered fuels (SRF) to be used as alternative fuel as well as a minor fraction of contaminated solid rejects and controlled water and gas emissions. Thus, MBT facilities achieve material and energy recovery of waste contributing to a sustainable resource management and reduction of greenhouse gases.

In addition to legal requirements, increasing energy prices are another reason for the growing importance of MBT plants. RDF/SRF has become a significant alternative fuel for coal-fired power plants, the cement industry and in monoincineration plants (RDF plants) [26].

16.2.1 MBT Technologies

MBT comprises a wide range of technologies designed to handle MSW. The design and technical solution of MBT facilities is determined through the input material and the quality of the desired output. Considering that the waste allowed to be treated in MBT facilities can comprise up to 70 different waste codes,³ it is clear that plants/operation concepts vary and are difficult to compare. Moreover, if the facility aims the production of alternative fuels, also the fuels quality characteristics are important for the plants layout and designed technical solution.

Despite these facts, MBT facilities can be classified into three main groups: MBT, Mechanical – Biological Stabilization (MBS), and Mechanical – Physical Stabilization (MPS). Their simplified layout is shown in Figure 16.7. The latter class is also denominated as mechanical treatment technology, as there is no biological step involved. However, they are counted as MBT if the facility produces RDF/SRF. As this paper concentrates on the biological treatment, the mechanical steps will not be described in detail (for further information on mechanical treatment possibilities see [25]).

16.2.1.1 MBT – Mechanical–Biological Treatment

MBT is the most common method for the material specific waste treatment and aims to produce a stabilized fraction for landfilling. In these MBT plants, the input waste is separated into different material flows: recycling materials,

³ The List of Waste (LoW) is a reference nomenclature providing a common terminology throughout Europe to improve the efficiency of waste management activities. Assignment of waste codes has a major impact on the transport, installation permits (usually granted for the processing of specific waste codes), decision about recyclability or as a basis for waste statistics. http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/framework/list.htm.





Figure 16.7 Simplified layout of the different MBT technologies.

energy recovery materials, and materials for further biological treatment. In the biological treatment the degradation of organic material takes place in a controlled environment within a matter of months. The same degradation process at a landfill would normally occur in a period of more than 50 years. The biological treatment at an MBT plant, therefore, reduces the potential of producing landfill gas by more than 95% [27].

The two possible processes for biological treatment are either the aerobic rotting process (in tunnels or windrows) or the AD process (dry or wet AD). Both processes, composting and AD, have been explained in detail in Section 16.1. In both cases the final product is a stabilized material, which can be safely disposed in a landfill.

16.2.1.2 MBS – Mechanical – Biological Stabilization

MBS plants are optimized for the production of RDF/SRF. In MBS, the waste is stabilized in a biological drying step prior to mechanical separation. *Biodrying* is a form of composting where the heat produced during the aerobic biological activity is used to dry the waste. Depending on the process concept either the whole waste amount or only the high calorific fraction is treated biologically.

After conditioning, the waste is fed to the biological drying, where it shall primarily loose moisture and achieve low degradation of the organic matter. In this way, most of the biomass content from the waste can be included into the RDF/SRF, which not only enlarges the RDF/SRF quantities, but also reduces the biodegradable material to be landfilled.

In the next mechanical treatment of ferrous and non-ferrous metals, inert materials and impurities are segregated and the high calorific fraction is divided into one or more RDF/SRF with different qualities.

16.2.1.3 MPS – Mechanical – Physical Stabilization

Since this plant concept has no biological step it will be described shortly. In MPS the high calorific fraction of the waste is separated by means of mechanical and physical processes and pre-treated to an RDF/SRF. The pre-treatment comprises the segregation of the low calorific fraction and metals together with a multistage crushing. If necessary, hazardous fractions are separated and the high calorific fraction dried using thermal energy (heat) [28].

16.2.1.4 Status for Germany and Europe

During the middle of 2005, the MBT plants had to establish themselves on the market by fulfilling the high requirements regarding emissions and quality of the products safely and continuously during the operation process. Therefore, over the past years plants with MBT technology have been and are continuously optimized. Starting problems are solved and process concepts have been adapted to the changing frame conditions in the waste market [29].

Between 2005 and 2011 the number of MBT plants in Europe increased by about 60% to more than 330 plants. The treatment capacities grew by almost 70% to 33 million annual Mg. It can be assumed that the number of MBT facilities will increase onto more than 450 plants and the capacity onto 46 million Mg within the next years [26].

From the total number of waste treatment plants with MBT technology the plants mainly aimed at producing a stabilized fraction for landfilling (with composting or digestion) make about 280 plants in Europe and are situated largely in Italy, Germany, Austria, France, and Spain [12].

Germany, Austria, and Italy have the longest tradition in the use of MBT technologies and have, therefore, higher treatment capacities than other European countries. Italy has the highest treatment capacity worldwide [27]. In Germany there are currently about 55 operating MBT plants [30], treating more between 5 and 6 million ton of unsegregated waste [31]. Nearly 30% of the incoming municipal waste is treated bio-mechanically.

MBT-Derived Fuels: Refused Derived Fuels (RDF)/Solid Recovered Fuels (SRF)

There are several terms describing the thermal recoverable waste fraction: solid waste fuels, secondary fuels, substitute fuels, alternative fuels, and so on. The two most established terms are RDF and SRF. While RDF is used for a longer time, it refers only to the high calorific fraction of the waste. SRF was introduced by the technical Committee of the European Committee for Standardization (CEN/TC 343) in 2011 and denotes an alternative fuel that is equipped to meet quality specifications. It is defined as "solid fuel prepared from non-hazardous waste to be utilized from energy recovery in incineration or co-incineration plants, and meeting the classification and specifications requirements laid down in EN 15359."

16.3

Biological Treatment of Agricultural Waste

Agricultural waste is not included in MSW but since it is also biodegradable waste the different possibilities for handling source segregated MSW are also applicable for agricultural waste.

Agricultural waste includes mainly large amounts of crops residues and animal husbandry waste. Basically, both technologies, composting and AD, can be applied to treat these wastes. However, due to the different "structures" of the residues some systems might be more convenient than others. Large amounts of manure for instance are usually treated in wet AD systems. As mentioned in section 16.1.2.4, there were approximately 7500 agricultural digestion and co-digestion sites for agricultural residues, energy crops, and organic waste present in Europe in 2010 [12].

16.4

Conclusion

Biological waste treatment options: composting and ADs as well as mechanical biological treatment are well-established technologies in Germany, producing good quality products (respectively compost, digestate and biogas, RDF/SRF and/or a stabilized material for disposal). However, there are many European countries still landfilling most of their wastes, losing in this way, economic opportunities and causing unnecessary environmental constraints. By increasing the amounts of waste treated biologically in the EU, important amounts of greenhouse gas emissions could be avoided. Compost and digestate, could be applied in agriculture, reducing the amounts of chemical fertilizer or in the case of compost, and could even be used to address the problem of degrading soil quality. Further, biogas produced from organic waste could help increase the share of renewable energy and RDF/SRF could help reduce the use of fossil fuels.

The biological waste treatment technologies have achieved high levels of development in Germany and other European countries. Therefore, the focus is now on the *optimization* of the processes in each technology to improve the energy efficiency, the reduction of emissions, the recovery of materials, and so on. Further, the experiences have to be adapted for other countries, mainly for new EU countries, where waste management is still in the build-up process, and also for developing countries and emerging markets, where waste management is still rudimentary, causing environmental constraints and about 10% to 15% of climate relevant emissions.

References

 European Commission (2010) Commission staff working document. Accompanying the communication from the commission on future steps in bio-waste management in the European Union.

2 Insam, H. and de Bertoldi, M. (2007) Microbiology of the composting process, in *Compost Science and Technology. Vol. 8 of Waste Management Series* (eds L.F. Diaz, M. de Bertoldi, and W. Bidlingmaier), Elsevier Science, pp. 25–48.

- 3 Day, M. and Shaw, K. (2001) Biological, chemical, and physical processes of composting, in *Compost Utilization in Horticultural Cropping Systems* (eds P. Stoffella and B. Kahn), Lewis Publishers by CRC Press LLC.
- 4 Zachäus, D. (1995) Kompostierung, in Biologische Abfallbehandlung (ed. K.J. Thome-Kozmiensky), EF-Verlag für Energie- und Umwelttechnik, Berlin, pp. 215–236.
- 5 Environment Canada (2013) Technical Document on Municipal Solid Waste Organics Processing.
- 6 Composting Council of Canada Composting Processing Technologies, http:// www.compost.org/pdf/compost_proc_ tech_eng.pdf (08.05.14)
- 7 UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2013) Advanced Biological Treatment of Municipal Solid Waste, http://www.defra.gov.uk/ publications/ (08.05.14).
- Kern, M., Funda, K., and Mayer, M. (1998) Stand der biologischen Abfallbehandlung in Deutschland. Teil I: Kompostierung. *Müll und Abfall J.*, 11, 694–699.
- 9 Rettenberger, G. et al. (2012) Handbuch Bioabfallbehandlung. Erfassung des Anlagenbestands Bioabfallbehandlung, Umweltbundeamt (UBA) Texte, p. 54.
- 10 http://www.backhus.com/ (08.05.14).
- 11 http://www.strabagenvironmentaltechnology.com/ (08.05.14).
- 12 European Commission, Joint Research Centre (JRC), Institute for Prospective Technological Studies (IPTS) (2012) Technical Report for End-of-Waste Criteria on Biodegradable Waste Subject to Biological Treatment. Third Working Document. Seville, Spain.
- 13 European Compost Network (ECN), Country Information on Composting Activities in European Countries, http:// www.compostnetwork.info/countryreports-world/ (08.05.14).

- 14 German Quality Assurance Organization of Compost (Bundergütegemeinschaft Kompost e.V. – BGK), http://www .kompost.de/ (08.05.14).
- 15 Siebert, S. (2016) Bioabfallverwertung in Europa vor dem Hintergrund des Kreislaufwirtschaftspaketes. Proceedings of the Bioabfallforum Baden-Württenberg 2016, Stuttgart, Germany. Kranert, Sihler (ed.).
- 16 Rettenberger, G., Urban-Kiss, S., and Müsken, J. (2013) Untersuchungen zur Charakterisierung des Anlagebestands zur Bioabfallbehandlung in Deutschland. *Müll und Abfall J.*, 9, 487–492.
- 17 Zachäus, D. (1995) Grundlagen der Vergärung, in *Biologische Abfallbehandlung* (ed. K.J. Thome-Kozmiensky), EF-Verlag für Energie- und Umwelttechnik, Berlin, pp. 360–372.
- 18 Klocke, M., Nettmann, E., and Bergmann, I. (2009) Mikrobielle Diversität in Biogasreaktoren bei der Vergärung von nachwachsenden Rohstoffen. Proceedings of the KTBL/FNR-Biogas-Kongress "Biogas in der Landwirtschaft – Stand und Perspektiven", September 15–16, 2009, Weimar, Germany. Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR).
- 19 Gronauer, A., et al. (2009) Prozessoptimierung – ein Zusammenspiel von Technik und Mikrobiologie. Proceedings of the KTBL/FNR-Biogas-Kongress "Biogas in der Landwirtschaft – Stand und Perspektiven", September 15–16, 2009, Weimar, Germany. Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR).
- 20 Weiland, P. (2006) Stand der Technik bei der Trockenfermentation – Aktuelle Entwicklungen. Proceedings of the Fachgespräch "Trockenfermentation – Stand der Entwicklungen und weiterer F+E-Bedarf", February 4–5, 2006, Gülzow, Germany. Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe e.V. (FNR).
- 21 Hüttner, A., Turk, T., and Fricke, K. (2006) Stellenwert der Anaerobverfahren bei der energetischen Biomassenutzung im Abfallbereich. *Müll und Abfall J.*, 1, 20–26.
- 22 http://www.bekon.eu/productdownloads .html (08.05.14).

543

- **544** 16 Treatment of Solid Waste
 - 23 Raussen, T., and Kern, M. (2015) Biogas-Atlas 2014/2015. Anlagenhandbuch der Vergärung biogener Abfälle in Deutschland und Europa. Witzenhausen Institut.
 - 24 EU Landfill Directive, http://ec.europa .eu/environment/waste/landfill_index .htm (08.05.14).
 - 25 Velis, C.A., Longhurst, P.J., Drew, G.H., Smith, R., and Pollard, S.J.T. (2010) Production and quality assurance of solid recovered fuels using mechanicalbiological treatment (MBT) of waste: A comprehensive assessment. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol., 40 (12), 979-1105.
 - 26 Ecoprog GmbH (2011) Market Study MBT - Extract. The European Market for Mechanical Biological Treatment Plants. Multi-Client Study Series, http:// www.ecoprog.com/fileadmin/user upload/leseproben/ext_market_report_ mbt_ecoprog.pdf (08.05.14).
 - 27 Steiner, M. (2007) MBT in Europe - There is life in the old dog yet. Waste Management World 07/08.

- 28 Nelles, M., Balhar, M., Grünes, J., and Flamme, S. (2011) Processing and Energy of High Calorific M(B)T Fractions in Germany. Proceedings of the Wasteto-Resources 2011 - 4. International Symposium MBT und MRF, May 24-26, 2011, Hannover, Germany. Kühle-Weidemeier (ed.).
- 29 Nelles, M., Morscheck, G., and Grünes, J. (2012) MBT in Germany and Europe - Development, Status and Outlook. Proceedings of the International 9th ASA-Recycling Days - MBT as a Supplier of Secondary Raw Materials, February 29-March 02, 2012, Hannover, Germany. B. Kühle-Weidemeier (ed.).
- 30 www.destatis.de (retrived 19.10.2016).
- 31 Ketelsen, K. and Nelles, M. (2015) Status and new trends / perspectives of MBT in Germany. Proceedings of the Wasteto-Ressources 2015. VI International Symposium MBT and MRF, May 5-7, 2015, Germany. Kühle-Weidemeier, B. (ed.).

17 Energy Recovery from Organic Waste

Yutaka Nakashimada and Naomichi Nishio

17.1 Advantage of Methane Fermentation for Energy Recovery from Organic Matter

Various biological processes have been investigated to recover energy from organic wastes. A schematic drawing of such processes is shown in Figure 17.1. Organic matter is mainly composed of carbohydrates such as glucose, xylose, starch, and cellulose as well as lipids and proteins. Presently, carbohydrates are considered to be promising feedstock for energy production. Indeed, ethanol, the most common liquid fuel, is produced through alcohol fermentation by yeast directly from sugarcane or from cellulosic biomass via pretreatment. Acetone-butanol-ethanol fermentation has also been applied industrially before the petroleum industry was fully developed. Even hydrogen can be produced from carbohydrates since some strictly and facultative anaerobic bacteria produce hydrogen together with mainly volatile fatty acids (VFAs) such as acetate and butyrate.

Lipids, especially vegetable or animal fats, are expected to be useful as feedstock for biodiesel fuel, although some anaerobic microorganisms can ferment them to fatty acids, mainly acetate. Biodiesel fuels are defined as fatty acid methyl or ethyl esters produced from oils, and they are used as fuels in diesel engines and heating systems [1, 2]. Biodiesel fuels have various advantages such as they are an alternative to petroleum-based fuel, are renewable, have a favorable energy balance, produce lower harmful emissions, and are nontoxic; thus they have attracted much attention recently. Although biodiesel fuels are produced chemically and enzymatically, glycerol is essentially generated as a by-product [3, 4]. An increase in the production of biodiesel fuels would raise the problem of efficiently treating wastes containing glycerol. Some microbes ferment glycerol to produce biofuels and chemicals including hydrogen, ethanol, 1,3-propanediol, 2,3-butanediol, butanol, lactic acid, and succinic acid [5].

On the other hand, biological processes for energy recovery from proteins are restricted. Because they are composed of a variety of amino acids that have 546 Energy Recovery from Organic Waste



Figure 17.1 Production of various fuels by biological processes of methane fermentation.

different properties, production of the single chemical from them by a single microorganism is usually difficult. However, the use of microbial consortia would overcome this restriction. For most microorganisms, proteins are easily degradable organic matter. When anaerobic bacteria catabolize them as an energy source, they are converted to VFAs with the release of ammonia. Such fatty acids are feasible substrates for methane fermentation to produce methane as a single energy compound.

It has to be noted that carbohydrates, lipids, and even the alcohols produced from them can also be easily converted to fatty acids by many anaerobic bacteria. This implies that all of the main constituents in organic matter are converted to fatty acids, which are substrates for methane fermentation. This is why methane fermentation is a useful process in the wastewater treatment of various kinds of organic matter including food wastes, municipal wastes, and industrial wastes. Furthermore, the end products (methane and carbon dioxide) of methane fermentation are easily removed from wastewater and can be used for energy after the removal of carbon dioxide. Thus, methane fermentation is the most powerful way to recover energy from organic wastes.

17.2

Basic Knowledge of Methane Fermentation of Organic Wastes

The anaerobic microbial degradation of organic matter to methane, which is usually known as "anaerobic digestion" or "methane fermentation," has been used for the treatment of organic wastes and wastewater. In this process, methanogenic microbial consortia anaerobically degrade organic matter to produce methane and carbon dioxide. Methane fermentation is technologically simple, but its metabolism of organic matter to produce methane by microbial consortium is a relatively complex process. This complex microbial consortium leading to methane formation from organic substrates allows it to be applied to many types of organic matter. For example, the specific yields of biogas in relation to the kinds of substances degraded are given in Table 17.1 [6].

Substance	Gas yield (m ³ per kg-TS)	CH ₄ content (Vol%)
	(per kg 15)	(101/0)
Carbohydrates	0.79	50
Fats	1.27	68
Proteins	0.70	71
Municipal solid waste (MSW)	0.1 - 0.2	55-65
Biowaste	0.2-0.3	55-65
Sewage sludge	0.2 - 0.4	60-70
Manure	0.1 - 0.3	60-65

 Table 17.1
 Mean composition and specific yields of biogas in relation to the kind of substances degraded.

Source: Adapted from Ref. [6].



Figure 17.2 Methane production from biomass wastes by multistep reactions. LCFA, longchain fatty acid; VFA, volatile fatty acid (such as propionate and butyrate).

In the methane fermentation process, a variety of microorganisms play different roles in the decomposition of organic material to produce methane [7]. The roles of the microorganisms in the methane fermentation process can be subdivided into the three phases of hydrolysis/acidogenesis, H_2 -forming acetogenesis, and methanogenesis (Figure 17.2).

Hydrolysis is usually an extracellular biological process induced by hydrolytic enzymes (amylase, cellulase, lipase, protease, etc.). To efficiently hydrolyze complex particulate organic matter containing carbohydrates, lipids, and proteins, the matter should be disintegrated into small particulates by means of adequate biological or nonbiological pretreatments, because the extracellular enzymes secreted by hydrolyzing bacteria can attack the reaction sites on the particulates. The disintegration can be induced by nonbiological pretreatments such as physical shearing as well as heat and chemical treatments [8, 9]. Even without any such pretreatment, some degree of particulate organic matter is depolymerized into soluble substrates by extracellular hydrolytic enzymes. These enzymes hydrolyze

548 17 Energy Recovery from Organic Waste

carbohydrates to soluble monosaccharides, proteins to amino acids, and lipids to long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) and glycerol. Several fermentative bacterial groups can be involved in the hydrolysis process [10].

Hydrolyzed substrates are catabolically converted to a number of simpler molecules under anaerobic conditions. Monosaccharide is usually catabolized to reduced products such as lactate, propionate, and ethanol, or oxidized to end products such as acetate and butyrate to adjust the redox balance. H_2 and CO_2 are also produced to discharge excess electrons and carbons, respectively. The reaction is usually called *fermentation*, and it is a typical characteristic of anaerobic heterotrophic microorganisms to produce adenosine triphosphate (ATP), an energy molecule required for the growth and maintenance of cells. Thus, a wide variety of anaerobes participate in acidogenesis.

The degradation of mixed amino acids obtained by the hydrolysis of proteins occurs via two main pathways: one is a coupled reaction of oxidation/reduction with pairs of amino acids, which is called the Stickland reaction [11]; the other is an uncoupled reaction in which a single amino acid is oxidized with protons or carbon dioxide as the external electron acceptor [12]. The end products from the mixed amino acids are fatty acids, mainly acetate and ammonia.

Metabolites such as propionate, butyrate, and ethanol produced via the acidogenesis phase are further oxidized to acetate by H₂-producing acetogenesis. Acetogenesis plays an important role in methane fermentation because it supplies acetate, a direct substrate to acetoclastic methanogens, and avoids the accumulation of VFA that causes a significant drop of pH, resulting in the failure of methane fermentation. However, acetogenesis is a tricky reaction because the oxidation of fatty acids and alcohols is usually an endergonic reaction under standard biological conditions [13]. For example, when propionate is oxidized to H₂, acetate and carbon dioxide, the Gibbs free energy of the reaction ($\Delta G^{0'}$) is +76 kJ per reaction under the standard biological conditions (25 °C, 1 atm., pH 7). In the case where butyrate is oxidized, $\Delta G^{0'}$ is +48 kJ per reaction. Hence, the reactions do not proceed in the direction of oxidation under standard conditions. However, if the H₂ concentration is kept quite low, the Gibbs free energy becomes negative, and the oxidation of fatty acid proceeds with energy generation for the growth of acetogenic bacteria. The removal of H₂ by hydrogenotrophic methanogens enables the oxidation of VFAs by acetogenic bacteria. This implies an obligate dependence of acetogenic bacteria on methanogens [13, 14].

The substrates that methanogens utilize are very limited. In the industrial process of anaerobic digestion, the usual substrates for methane formation are H_2 and CO_2 , or formate, by hydrogenotrophic methanogens, and acetate by acetoclastic methanogens.

All known methanogens are archaea and strict anaerobes. Several hydrogenotrophic methanogens such as *Methanobacteriales*, *Methanomicrobiales*, *Methanococcales*, *Methanocellales*, and *Methanopyrales* have been isolated and characterized [7]. The removal of H_2 by hydrogenotrophic methanogens is indispensable for syntrophic acetogenesis of higher organic acids to proceed, as mentioned above. On the other hand, the diversity of acetoclastic methanogens,
which is important for the conversion of acetate to methane, is very limited. The acetoclastic methanogens reported so far are *Methanosarcinales*, which is the class including *Methanosarcina* and *Methanosaeta* [7]. *Methanosarcina* can consume a relatively high concentration of acetate and has the ability to use methyl compounds such as methanol. Although *Methanosaeta* can consume a lower concentration of acetate and plays a role in decreasing the chemical oxygen demand (COD) in the anaerobic digestion, since its growth rate is significantly low, the number of *Methanosaeta* cells significantly affects the performance of anaerobic digestion.

17.3 Conventional Methane Fermentation Process

Since anaerobic digestion has been a popular process for the treatment of organic wastes with energy recovery, a variety of processes have been developed. According to the International Energy Association (IEA), anaerobic digestion systems are classified according to operating temperature, mixing method, and percentage of total solids (TS) in the waste (Table 17.2) [15].

For anaerobic digestion, the continuously stirred tank reactor (CSTR) is commonly used with a wide range of TS contents and is applied to treat a variety of organic wastes such as agricultural wastes, food wastes, animal manure, and sewage sludge [16-18]. The contents of the reactor are continuously stirred for complete mixing, which is achieved with mechanical stirring, biogas recirculation, or their combination. Wastes are fed into the reactor continuously or

TS content	Mixing	Temperature	Commercial plants
Low (~10%) wet system	CSTR ^{a)} Plug flow UASB ^b , EGSB ^{c)}	Thermo Meso Thermo/meso Thermo/meso	Herning, Vegger Bellaria, DSD-CTA S-Uhde BTA, Paques
Medium (10–25%) semidry process	CSTR	Thermo/meso	WASSA
High (25–40%) dry process	Batch CSTR Intermittent mixing Plug flow	Thermo Meso Thermo Meso Thermo Meso	ANM, BioFerm Biocel Snamprogetti Valorga Dranco, Kompogas Funnell

Table 17.2 Schematic overview	/ 0	f anaerobic	digestion	process	classified	by	IEA.
-------------------------------	-----	-------------	-----------	---------	------------	----	------

Source: Adapted from Ref. [15].

a) Continuous stirred tank rector.

b) Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket.

c) Expanded granular sludge blanket.

intermittently, and the same amount of effluent is withdrawn from the reactor. The major issue regarding the anaerobic treatment of wastewater with a CSTR has typically been the extended retention times required to grow methanogens (>10 days) [7] and/or to disintegrate and hydrolyze persistent organic matter such as lignocellulosic biomass [19, 20] and sewage sludge [8]. Hence, the retention time in the reactor is typically in the range of 10-30 days, although it can be varied according to the characteristics of the organic wastes and the operating conditions, such as temperature.

To achieve rapid and effective anaerobic digestion, some processes have been developed, for example, the upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) [21, 22]. The UASB system is based on its capability to cause the self-granulation (flocculation) of anaerobic microbes associated with methane formation. The UASB system was first constructed by Lettinga et al. in the Netherlands [23]. In the system, the wastewater influent enters from the bottom of the reactor. The water flows upward through the blanket of methanogenic sludge, where the organic matter is anaerobically decomposed, and some of the methanogenic bacteria form granules by aggregating in the absence of any support matrix. The produced biogas is separated by a gas-solid-liquid separator and the clarified liquid is discharged as an effluent. The dense, compact granular sludge with high sedimentation properties naturally settles into the bottom, being adverse to the water flow. The upward flow of gas-containing granules through the blanket combined with the return downward flow of degassed granules creates continuous convection, enabling effective contact between the granules and wastewater. There is no energy-consuming mechanical or hydraulic agitation within the reactor. The concentration of granules involving methanogenic microbial consortia is very high compared to conventional continuous treatment processes, as it reaches 50-100 kg VS m $^{-3}$ at the bottom and $5-40 \text{ kg VS m}^{-3}$ at the upper part of the reactor [23]. A typical UASB reactor can operate at 10–20 kg COD m⁻³ per day [24]. UASB reactors are typically suited for use in wastewater streams with total suspension solids (TSS) <3% and a particle size <0.75 mm.

The expanded granular sludge blanket (EGSB) reactor is a variant of the UASB concept [25]. Internal mixing in the UASB is suboptimal, since such mixing produces dead space in the reactor that reduces the treatment efficiency. To overcome this problem, the upward flow velocity of the wastewater passing through the sludge bed is accelerated in the EGSB reactor. The increased superficial velocity is gained either by utilizing tall reactors or by incorporating an effluent recycle (or both). The increased superficial velocity (>4 m h⁻¹) causes partial expansion (fluidization) of the granular sludge bed, resulting in better wastewater–sludge contact. Accumulation of flocculent excess sludge between the sludge granules is also prevented. Compared to UASB reactors, EGSB systems can accommodate higher organic loading rates (up to 40 kg COD m⁻³ per day [26]). The EGSB reactor is suitable for low-strength soluble wastewaters (<1–2 g sCOD l⁻¹) or for wastewaters that contain inert or poorly biodegradable suspended particles, which should not be allowed to accumulate in the sludge bed.

Anaerobic fixed-bed reactors (AFBRs) have good potential for treating wastewaters. These reactors are filled with support carriers composed of organic or inorganic materials with high surface areas to immobilize the methanogenic microbial communities on their surfaces [27–29]. Since methanogenic communities not only attach to the surfaces of the media but are also present in the spaces of the media, a high-density microbial population can be retained in the reactor, resulting in low hydraulic retention times, which make the system economical [29] and resistant to organic and hydraulic shock loadings [30]. The selection of a support material is a critical issue in the successful development of the system because microbial adhesion is greatly influenced by the characteristics of the medium [31]. Different natural and artificial solid materials can be used as biofilm carriers. Commercial carrier elements are usually made of organic polymers such as polyethylene, polypropylene, or polyurethane, while natural carriers are essentially made of inorganic materials such as sand, gravel, pumice stone, porous glass beads, and zeolite [32].

17.4 Advanced Methane Fermentation Processes

To achieve rapid and effective anaerobic digestion, several processes have been developed, as mentioned previously. However, to enhance these processes, it is necessary to determine their applicability to recalcitrant organic wastes and wastewaters containing toxic compounds or high-solid organic materials. Although treating such organic wastes is unusual in methane fermentation, several advanced processes have been developed.

17.4.1

Methane Fermentation of Organic Wastes with High Salinity

Acid/alkali pretreated biomass, algal biomass cultured in a marine environment, or wastewaters discharged from the food processing industry may have high salt content, with especially high sodium concentrations. Indeed, it has been reported that the presence of sodium ions at low levels is beneficial for the growth of mesophilic anaerobes and is essential for the growth of methanogens $(230-350 \text{ mg l}^{-1})$ because of their role in the oxidation of NADH and in the formation of ATP [33–35]. However, the methane fermentation of organic wastes with high salinity appears to be difficult because the salt tolerance in methane fermentation is usually low, that is, less than 3.0% NaCl (~12 000 mg l⁻¹ as Na⁺) in conventional systems [36] and less than 1.0% (3900 mg l⁻¹ as Na⁺) for *Methanosaeta* sp. [37]. McCarty [35] reported that a sodium concentration of 3500–5500 mg l⁻¹. Liu and Boone [38] reported an inhibitory effect of sodium on microorganisms participating in the anaerobic digestion of cellulose,

in which it was found that NaCl concentrations up to 0.25 M (~6000 mg l⁻¹ as sodium ions) had little effect on the growth rate of propionate-, acetate-, or H_2-CO_2 -degrading cultures, but the growth rate of lignocellulose-degrading populations was ~50% inhibited by 0.25 M NaCl. These reports suggested that a sodium concentration of 8000 mg l⁻¹ may be critical to induce an inhibitory effect on methane fermentation, although the presence of other ions including potassium, calcium, and magnesium can play an antagonistic role with respect to potential sodium toxicity [39, 40].

Acclimation of the methanogenic sludge to high sodium concentrations over long periods was effective to improve tolerance and reduce the lag phase time [41, 42]. However, the sodium concentration should be stable because anaerobic microorganisms are sensitive to environmental changes [43]. An alternative strategy to overcoming sodium inhibition is to use marine microorganisms. Aspe et al. [44] compared marine sediments and fresh pig manure as anaerobic inocula to purify a saline effluent generated by the fishmeal industry during the hydraulic unloading of fish from ships, and found that the marine inoculum adapted better and faster at 37 °C, showing a specific methanogenic activity of 0.065 g CH_4 -COD per g-VSS per day. Takeno et al. [45] reported methane production during the acidogenic fermentation of marine mud sediment contaminated with organic matter in artificial seawater. In the acidogenic fermentation of the mud sediment, almost all of the fatty acids produced were acetate, which is one of the most favorable substrates for methanogens. Hence, an efficient treatment of the mud sediment was carried out using a semicontinuous, two-stage reactor system, where the culture broth was circulated between acidogenic and methanogenic UASB reactors, yielding \sim 110 mmol methane from \sim 280 g wet wt. mud l⁻¹ under stable operation at four-day intervals for one treatment period (Figure 17.3). The ability of the methanogenic activity of such marine sediments to treat brown algae was evaluated in detail, which showed higher specific rates of acidogenesis from brown algae, acetogenesis from propionate and butyrate, and hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic methanogenesis than conventional mesophilic granular methanogenic sludge under the addition of 3% NaCl [46]. The marine sediments were successfully acclimated as methanogenic sludge to treat raw brown algae without dilution by pure water in processes in which \sim 90% water and 2–3% of salt were involved [47]. These acclimated sediments were successfully applied to the continuous culture for biogas production from nondiluted raw brown algae using a CSTR, in which stale biogas production at a hydraulic retention time of at least 45 days was achieved under saline conditions [48]. These findings imply that the use of marine microorganisms is an effective method of overcoming sodium inhibition.

17.4.2

Methane Fermentation of Nitrogen-Rich Organic Wastes with High Ammonia

Carbohydrates are favorable substrates for anaerobic digestion. On the other hand, proteins, nucleic acids, and urea are sometimes troublesome because the accumulation of ammonia released during their degradation is very toxic for



Figure 17.3 (a) Schematic diagram of the two-stage reactor system for methane fermentation of marine mud sediments. (b) Profiles of methane production and acetic acid in acidogenic reactor effluent (closed

triangle) and in methanogenic reactor effluent (closed square) during batch treatment of mud sediment in a two-stage UASB reactor system. (Adapted from [45]; with permission ©2001, Springer-Verlag.)

methane production. The toxicity of ammonia varies according to its ionic form. Free ammonia (NH₃) has higher toxicity than the ammonium ion (NH₄⁺) [33, 39]. It is speculated that this occurs because NH₃ is passively transported across the cell membrane and subsequently dissociates, leading to a change of intracellular pH to disrupt the cell homeostasis [49]. The inhibition is pH- and temperature-dependent because the relative ratio of NH₃ for total ammonia (=NH₃ + NH₄⁻) depends on both pH and temperature. At neutral pH, the inhibition of methane production by ammonia is often a significant problem when the concentration of ammonia exceeds a critical level (usually 5000 mg-Nl⁻¹ in mesophilic and 3000 mg-Nl⁻¹ in thermophilic conditions) [50–52].

In the case of a wet process, ammonia is diluted to the level at which inhibition does not occur. On the other hand, the dry process is more sensitive to inhibitors, especially ammonia, because a high content of organic materials causes the terrible accumulation of ammonia [53]. Therefore, several techniques have been developed to avoid ammonia inhibition. The acclimation of methanogenic bacteria to high ammonia concentration is effective for maintaining the stable production of methane from an organic solution containing a high concentration of ammonia [51, 54–57]. Co-digestion of organic wastes that contain a high amount of nitrogen compounds and other wastes such as garbage and paper that have a relatively low nitrogen content has been applied to decrease the ammonia from organic wastes may be an efficient method because it is sometimes difficult to collect a sufficient amount of low-nitrogen wastes to maintain the ammonia at less than the threshold level, and because concentrated ammonia can be used in pure ammonia fertilizers [60–62].

The process involves two reactors and an apparatus for ammonia stripping (Figure 17.4a). In the process, high-nitrogen organic wastes are anaerobically digested in the first reactor to release ammonia from nitrogen-containing



Figure 17.4 Ammonia-methane fermentation process for anaerobic digestion of nitrogenrich organic wastes.

compounds. The ammonia is removed from the digested sludge by means of ammonia-stripping under alkaline pH and at a temperature higher than 70°C, and then dry methane fermentation is performed. By using this process, when the raw or ammonia-stripped dehydrated waste activated sludge (DWAS) was fermented to methane under dry conditions (water content = 80%) in the repeated batch mode, only the treated DWAS was fermented to methane sustainably while the treatment of raw DWAS increased the ammonia production up to 7600 mg-N kg⁻¹ wet sludge and stopped the methane production [60]. The ammonia-methane two-stage anaerobic digestion demonstrated successful methane production at a sludge retention time (SRT) of 20 days (6.5 g-VS kg^{-1} per day) in semicontinuous operation using a laboratory-scale reactor system, yielding biogas production of 0.58 Nm³ per kg-VS with an average composition of 64% CH₄. The system can also be applied to model garbage waste (water content = 78%) containing \sim 6000 mg-N kg⁻¹ wet weight of total nitrogen [62] and chicken manure (water content = 75%) containing \sim 22 000 mg-N kg⁻¹ wet weight of total nitrogen [63]. Furthermore, to reduce the cost and the time consumed by the multistep process during dry fermentation, a reactor system equipped with an ammonia-capturing unit for methane production from chicken manure was developed (Figure 17.4b) [61]. At an initial pH of 8 and at 55°C, 195 and 157 ml per g-VS of methane were successfully produced from the onceammonia-stripped chicken manure and the mixture of once-ammonia-stripped chicken manure and raw chicken manure in the ratio of 1:1, respectively. In this method, the ammonia concentration was maintained at a level <2000 mg-N kg⁻¹



Figure 17.5 Methane fermentation of raw chicken manure by the one-stage reactor process with biogas recycle and ammonia capturing.

wet sludge in the reactor. Furthermore, even when 100% raw chicken manure was applied to the reactor, sustainable methane production was observed (Figure 17.5), resulting in a methane yield of 541 per kg-fresh chicken manure (unpublished data).

These findings demonstrate that ammonia is one of the most significant inhibitory factors in the methane fermentation of organic wastes. Adequate control of the ammonia concentration results in successful energy recovery from organic wastes that have been conventionally considered to be unfeasible for methane fermentation.

17.5 Hydrogen Production from Organic Wastes

17.5.1 Hydrogen Production Combining Methane Fermentation

Hydrogen gas (H_2) is expected to be a future clean energy source, and it can be biologically produced either by photosynthetic microorganisms or by fermentative anaerobes [64]. The enhancement of H_2 production by microorganisms for industrial use is being pursued through extensive research [65]. Hydrogen can be produced in the hydrolysis and acidogenesis stages in a methanogenic ecosystem (Figure 17.2). If high-rate and high-yield hydrogen production is achieved, it is possible for the hydrogen gas produced to be directly connected

to a fuel cell system without the need for any reforming. Furthermore, methane can be produced from fatty acids such as acetate, propionate, and butyrate that accumulate in the liquid broth after hydrogen fermentation. Hence the two-stage fermentation process combining hydrogen and methane production has been intensively researched and reviewed [65–67].

The two-stage process combining hydrogen and methane production exhibits several advantages compared with single-stage methane fermentation. First, the recovery of hydrogen prior to methane fermentation can achieve higher energy recovery for thermodynamic reasons. For example, when 1 mole glucose is applied to hydrogen fermentation and the maximum hydrogen yield is obtained by the complete conversion of substrate to acetate ($C_6H_{12}O_6 + 4H_2O \rightarrow 2CH_3COO^- +$ $4 H_2 + 2HCO_3^- + 4H^+$), 89.61 per mol-glucose of hydrogen is produced, giving 1147 kJ mol⁻¹. Since 2 moles methane are produced from 2 moles acetate, $1779 \,\text{kJ}\,\text{mol}^{-1}$ of energy should be recovered as methane, where the energy yield is calculated based on the higher heating values of methane $(39.7 \text{ kJ} \text{ l}^{-1})$ and hydrogen $(12.8 \text{ kJ} \text{ l}^{-1})$. Hence, the two-stage process can theoretically yield 2926 kJ mol⁻¹. On the other hand, since 3 moles methane are produced from 1 mole glucose $(C_6H_{12}O_6 + 3H_2O \rightarrow 3CH_4 + 3HCO_3^- + 3H^+)$, the energy yield of the single methane fermentation is $2668 \, \text{kJ} \, \text{mol}^{-1}$. This simple calculation shows that the theoretical energy yield via the two-stage process is increased by 10% compared with single-stage methane fermentation. Furthermore, the two-stage process is more stable, and the process parameters such as pH, Organic loading rate, and Hydraulic retention time are more easily optimized via the separation of hydrogen and methane fermentation than via the single-stage process [17, 68]. A study by Mitani et al. [69] compared the two-stage hydrogen and methane process with the single-stage methanogenic process. In beer production facilities, high-rate methane fermentation processes such as those involving a UASB or EGSB reactor have been used to treat organic wastewater. However, it was difficult to treat the pressed filtrate from the spent malt in the lauter tun using a UASB reactor because it contains a high density of suspended matter, which is unfeasible for use in a UASB reactor. The two-stage process was applied to this pressed filtrate. When the continuous culture for hydrogen fermentation with an isolated Clostridia and the following UASB methane fermentation were carried out at 50 and 37 °C, respectively, the total amount of energy recovered as the sum of hydrogen and methane increased to 103 from 90 kJ l⁻¹ of that by the single-stage methane fermentation. The result demonstrated effective wastewater treatment without the removal of suspended matter from the pressed filtrate and improvement of energy recovery by connecting the hydrogen fermenter before UASB methane fermentation.

17.5.2

Hydrogen Production by Various Anaerobic Bacteria

As mentioned previously, hydrogen can be generated by fermentative anaerobes in the hydrolysis and acidogenesis phases of anaerobic digestion [65]. Typical genera related to hydrogen fermentation are *Clostridium*, *Enterobacter*, *Escherichia*, *Thermotoga*, and *Caldicellulosiruptor* [65, 70]. Among them, the mesophilic strictly anaerobic bacteria of *Clostridium* genus have received a great deal of attention for their production of either solvents (butanol and acetone) or acids (butyrate and acetate) as well as for their production of H₂ [71] because they can ferment hexoses and pentoses to H₂ with a theoretical maximum yield of 4 mol H₂ per mol hexose [72]. In this context, strictly anaerobic thermophilic bacteria such as those of *Thermotoga* and *Caldicellulosiruptor* genera are expected to be high-yielding hydrogen producers because higher temperatures (\geq 60 °C) are energetically more favorable for biological H₂ production [73], enabling thermophiles to achieve higher H₂ yields than mesophiles. Most of such thermophilic H₂ producers are able to ferment the hexoses and pentoses to H₂ with yields close to the theoretical maximum yield [70, 74].

There have also been multiple reports on H₂ production by facultative anaerobes such as Enterobacter [75-78], because they have a high growth rate and several advantageous properties similar to those of other members of the Enterobacteriaceae family. These properties include the ability to utilize a wide range of carbon sources, facultative anaerobicity, and the lack of an inhibitory effect of high H_2 pressure on H_2 generation [77]. However, the theoretical maximum H_2 yield of this bacterium from glucose is only 2 mol per mol hexose and is practically less than 1 mol per mol hexose, which is lower than that of *Clostridium* sp. [79]. Enterobacter aerogenes produces 2,3-butanediol (BD), ethanol, and organic acids (lactate, acetate, and formate) in addition to H_2 [80, 81]. Of these metabolites, ethanol, BD, and/or lactate are formed for the reoxidation of reducing equivalents such as NADH to maintain the intracellular redox balance (Figure 17.6). However, since H_2 is produced from formate, which is formed through the metabolism to acetyl-CoA from pyruvate via pyruvate-formate lyase, it is possible to theoretically produce a H₂ yield of 2 mol per mol glucose by stopping the production of BD and lactate. In this context, attempts were made to obtain mutants that had higher H₂ yields than the wild type [78, 82]. Recently, although the metabolic engineering of several microorganisms has been intensively researched for the purpose of enhanced hydrogen production [83, 84], the improvement of the H_2 yield that comes with conventional mutation is still useful because it is difficult to apply genetically engineered microorganisms to the treatment of organic wastes.

Mutants carrying defects in the structural genes for butanediol dehydrogenase (BDDH) and alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) can be selected by the allyl alcohol (AA) method [85]. In this method, since AA is oxidized by ADH and/or BDDH to a toxic aldehyde (acrolein), mutants deficient in these enzymes can survive. A number of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* X2180-1A and X2180-1B [86], *Escherichia coli* [87–89], and *Clostridium acetobutylicum* mutants [90] have been isolated by this method. To screen non- or low-acid producers, a proton suicide method [91, 92] is effective. The method is based on the lethal effects of bromine and bromite produced from a mixture of NaBr and NaBrO₃ during the production of acids such as lactate and acetate. Double mutation to *E. aerogenes* HU-101 by the AA and proton suicide methods to block the production of both alcoholic and acidic metabolites increased the H₂ yield to 1.17 mol per mol glucose, which is 2.1-fold



Figure 17.6 Anaerobic catabolism of *Enterobacter aerogenes* HU-101 and screening method applied for increasing hydrogen yield. AA, metabolite reduced by allyl-alcohol

method; PS, metabolite reduced by protonsuicide method; VP, metabolite reduced by Voges–Proskauer (VP) test.

higher than that of the wild strain [78]. The mutant from *E. aerogenes* HU-101 with the higher H_2 yield could be screened using the Voges–Proskauer (VP) test [93]. 2,3-Butanediol is produced via α -acetolactate and acetoin through the three enzymatic steps of α -acetolactate synthase, α -acetolactate dehydrogenase, and acetoin reductase. Since acetoin can be detected by the VP test, a negative mutant of this test should be deficient in 2,3-butanediol production. The mutant VP-1 screened with the VP test successfully showed a high H_2 yield of 1.8 mol per mol glucose with decreased lactate and increased succinate yields [94]. Recently, Lu *et al.* [82] reported that the total hydrogen yield of the mutant obtained by atmospheric and room temperature plasma (ARTP) was increased by 26.4% (1.13 mol per mol glucose), mainly dependent on the increase of hydrogen production by the NADH pathway.

17.5.3

Feasible Substrates for Hydrogen Production

 H_2 production is affected by various environmental factors such as substrates [95], culture pH [71], electron mediators [96], and the nature of the electron acceptor [97]. To optimize H_2 production, it is important to systematically determine the cellular responses to these environmental conditions. In this context, Nakashimada *et al.* [98] tested the effects of carbohydrates possessing



Figure 17.7 The relationship between H₂ yield and C_{ave} in *E. aerogenes* HU-101. Symbols: closed square, hydrogen; open diamond, ethanol. (Adapted from [98]; with permission ©2002 International Association for Hydrogen Energy. Published by Elsevier Ltd.)

various redox levels on the H₂ yield of *E. aerogenes* HU-101 and found a linear correlation between the H₂ yield and redox states of carbon sources, calculated as the available electrons per carbon for each carbon source (C_{ave}) as follows: $C_{ave} = (\text{degree of reduction in compound})/(\text{number of carbons in one mole of compound}), where the degree of reduction in the compound was calculated as C = 4, O = -2, H = 1. The relationship between H₂ yield and <math>C_{ave}$ is illustrated in Figure 17.7, demonstrating that carbohydrate with higher C_{ave} obtains higher H₂ yields [98]. This clearly indicated that the redox state of the carbon sources such as glycerol with higher redox states should be used to obtain higher hydrogen production.

Proteins have much lower hydrogen potential compared to carbohydrates. Xiao *et al.* [99] experimentally demonstrated that the maximum hydrogen yields of glucose and peptone as sole carbon sources were ~0.14 ml H₂ per mg glucose and 0.077 ml H₂ per mg protein, respectively, at a neutral initial pH in batch systems inoculated with thermally treated activated sludge.

17.5.4

Bioreactor for High-Rate Hydrogen Production

For industrial use, the rate of H_2 production is as important as the overall H_2 yield. A bioreactor with a high cell density is required, and a variety of reactor systems have been reported and reviewed [100]. For example, *E. aerogenes* HU-101 exhibited strong flocculation in a cylindrical glass column reactor during continuous culture [101]. A packed-bed reactor with immobilized cells has several advantages over a stirred-tank reactor because of its lower energy demands, high cell density



Figure 17.8 Schematic drawing of (a) packed reactor system for self-immobilized cells of *E. aerogens* and (b) continuous H_2 production from glucose. (Adapted from [101]; with permission ©1998, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg.).

per reactor volume, and ease of scale-up due to the simple construction of the reactor. The use of flocculated cells increased the cell density in the reactor since the space utility of the reactor is maximized when no support materials are used. In a continuous culture using glucose as the substrate in the packed-bed reactor (Figure 17.8), cells from the high H₂-producing mutant AY-2 of E. aerogenes [78] began to flocculate and settle to the bottom of the reactor at 4 days after starting the continuous culture. Thereafter, the H₂ evolution rate increased linearly with a stepwise increase in the dilution rate until 0.67 h⁻¹. The flocculated cells continued to accumulate during the continuous culture. The cell density in the packed bed, estimated as mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS), was 17 g l⁻¹ and the H₂ evolution rate was 58 mmol l⁻¹ h⁻¹ (1.1 mol-H₂ per mol glucose) at 0.67 h⁻¹, which was nearly 2.0-fold higher than that of the wild strain HU-101.

Biodiesel fuels have attracted a great deal of attention recently because they are an alternative to petroleum-based fuel, are renewable and nontoxic, contribute to a favorable energy balance, and produce less harmful emissions than gasoline. Although biodiesel fuels are produced chemically and enzymatically, glycerol is essentially generated as the by-product [3, 4]. If there is an increase in the production of biodiesel fuels in the world, then the problem of efficiently treating wastes containing glycerol will need to be resolved. Since it was found that glycerol is the best substrate for H₂ production by *E. aerogenes* [98], H₂ production from glycerol-containing wastes discharged after the biodiesel manufacturing process was studied [102]. In continuous culture with a packed-bed reactor using self-immobilized cells, the maximum rate of H₂ production from pure glycerol was 80 mmol $l^{-1} h^{-1}$, yielding ethanol at 0.8 mol per mol-glycerol, while that from biodiesel wastes was only 30 mmol $l^{-1} h^{-1}$. However, using porous ceramics as a support material to fix cells in the reactor, the maximum H₂ production rate from 17.6 Upgrading of Biogas from Organic Wastes Based on Biological Syngas Platform 561



Figure 17.9 Process flow of biodiesel fuel production combined with H_2 and ethanol production from BDF waste containing glycerol. (Adapted from experimental data by Ito *et al.* [102].)

biodiesel wastes reached 63 mmol $l^{-1} h^{-1}$, obtaining an ethanol yield of 0.85 mol per mol glycerol. This indicates that we can produce biodiesel, H₂, and ethanol from vegetable oils and animal fats or their wastes (Figure 17.9).

17.6 Upgrading of Biogas from Organic Wastes Based on Biological Syngas Platform

There are several advantages to producing methane and H_2 from organic wastes as described above. However, it is seems that the recovery of energy from organic matter is most likely to occur via liquid fuels such as ethanol and but anol rather than gaseous fuels because liquid fuels have several advantages, including their high energy density, ease of transportation, and their high acceptability in our conventional petroleum-based society.

Although nonrenewable resources such as fossil oil, coal, and gas have been crucial to the development and maintenance of industrialized societies, the need for renewable fuels and industrial bulk substrates is escalating because fossil resources are finite and being depleted. Another motivation for the search for renewable energy compounds and technologies is the concern about global warming related to increased CO_2 concentrations in the atmosphere due to the burning of fossil resources. Although the use of biomass including organic wastes has been widely anticipated as a renewable and sustainable resource, the supply of biomass is not sufficient to satisfy the global demand for energy. Moreover, producing biomass does not necessarily decrease the potential for global warming because of the extensive use of fertilizers that can increase nitrous oxide emissions [103, 104]. Although solar, wind, and water power are also significant renewable energies, they are used mainly for generating electricity and not for

producing bulk substrates. New methods, therefore, should be developed for both the production of bulk chemicals and the production of energy from renewable resources that are not restricted to biomass.

One approach to solving these problems is the use of syngas, the mixture gas of H_2 and CO or of H_2 and CO₂, which is a simple and abundant energy source that will be available even after the complete depletion of fossil resources because it can be generated from various kinds of organic matter via thermal or biological decomposition [105, 106] and by the electrolysis of water [107]. If CO₂ can be used as a carbon source, it will contribute to global carbon recycling without the further emission of CO_2 . In this context, syngas fermentation using acetogens, a group of anaerobic bacteria that can autotrophically grow not only on H₂ plus CO₂ but also on syngas, has received a great deal of attention [108, 109]. Syngas fermentation is a biological process for producing useful metabolites from the mixture gas of H_2 , CO, and CO₂ generated by the gasification of various organic substances. The biological production of fuels and chemicals through syngas fermentation offers several advantages over conventional sugar fermentation technology, because in syngas fermentation, the whole biomass, including nondegradable components such as lignin, via gasification and renewable energies besides biomass such as solar, wind, and waterpower, can be used via their conversion to H_2 [110] (Figure 17.10).

17.6.1

Bioduel Production from Syngas by Acetogens

Typically, acetogens produce mainly acetate from H_2 plus CO_2 or CO via the reductive acetyl-CoA pathway, also referred to as the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway [111]. Briefly, the reductive acetyl-CoA pathway consists of two branches: the methyl branch and the carbonyl branch. These two branches provide reduced, single-carbon molecules that contribute to the formation of acetyl-CoA. In the case of autotrophic growth on CO_2 and H_2 , on the methyl branch, a six-electron



Figure 17.10 Production of biofuels and materials based on a syngas platform.

reduction of CO_2 yields a methyl moiety, while the carbonyl branch reduces CO_2 to CO which is bound to the carbon monoxide dehydrogenase/acetyl-CoA synthase complex. The complex unites the two branches by reacting these products with coenzyme A to yield acetyl-CoA [109]. Although the acetyl-CoA that is produced is mainly assimilated into the cellular biomass or converted to acetate, some of it can be converted to biofuels or chemicals.

A large number of mesophilic and thermophilic acetogens have been isolated so far [111, 112], and the production of biofuels and chemicals including ethanol [113, 114], *n*-propanol [115], *n*-butanol [115, 116], 2,3-butanediol [117], and hexanol [116] by mesophilic acetogens from syngas has been intensively investigated. On the other hand, the use of thermophilic acetogens in a microbial production based on a syngas platform has scarcely been considered, although the physiology has been well characterized [118] and the genome of Moorella thermoacetica has already been sequenced [119]. Sakai et al. first reported that thermophilic Moorella sp. HUC-221, a relative of *M. thermoacetica*, isolated from a mud sample collected from thermophilic groundwater in Japan, produced ethanol in addition to acetate from H₂ plus CO₂ [120]. HUC-221 produced 1.5 mM ethanol from 270 mM H_2 and 130 mM CO_2 in pH-uncontrolled batch cultures, while the total ethanol production reached 15.4 mmol l⁻¹ in a cell-recycled repeated batch culture with pH-controlled at 5.8 [121]. If thermophilic acetogens can be applied for the production of alcohols such as ethanol or propanol from syngas, the recovery of the alcohols will be facilitated because their boiling temperature is close to that of the culture broth, thereby enabling the continuous distillation of alcohols. Furthermore, thermophilic bacteria have higher growth and metabolic rates than mesophilic bacteria, and the risk of microbial contamination is lower [122, 123]. In this context, thermophilic acetogens should be promising candidates for H₂ plus CO₂ or syngas fermentation compared to mesophilic bacteria.

17.6.2

Development of Genetic Engineering Tools of Acetogens

Genetic manipulation of the metabolic pathway by molecular biological techniques is a powerful method for the efficient production of a target product from syngas and H_2 – CO_2 . Recently, there has been remarkable progress in the development of genetic systems for acetogens. Protocols for transformation with plasmids constructed for *C. acetobutylicum* [124] and gene deletion via double crossover homologous recombination were developed for *Clostridium ljungdahlii* [125, 126]. A uracil-auxotrophic mutant (dpyrF) of thermophilic *M. thermoacetica* was constructed, allowing for both the positive and counter-selection of desired recombinants [127] by the disruption of *pyrF* for orotate monophosphate decarboxylase (PyrF), where it was effective in avoiding the decomposition of the introduced plasmids by the restriction–modification system according to the method reported by Yasui *et al.* [128]. For multiple gene manipulation and the direct transformation of an alternative strain that is desired for use as the host strain, a transformation system for *M. thermoacetica* ATCC39073 was developed

[129] using a thermostable kanamycin-resistant gene (*kanR*) derived from the plasmid pJH1 harbored by *Streptococcus faecalis* [130]. The tools can be applied to alternative strains of *Moorella* spp. The procedure of genetic manipulation could be used for two new thermophilic acetogen strains, Y72 and Y73, which were closely related to *M. thermoacetica* ATCC39073, isolated from a soil sample [131]. The transformation efficiency of strains Y72 and Y73 was 20-fold higher than that of strain ATCC39073. The reason for the higher transformation efficiency of Y72 compared to that of ATCC 39073 may be because Y72 possesses only two sets of genes considered to be involved in a restriction–modification system, which is half the number found in ATCC39073 [132].

The combination of metabolic engineering and synthetic biology approaches can be applied to accelerate the development of syngas fermentation processes by using such genetic tools and the recent advances in whole-genome sequencing [109]. For example, the deletion of genes for the putative bifunctional aldehyde/alcohol dehydrogenases from the C. ljungdahlii genome resulted in a significant decrease of ethanol production with the increase of acetate [126]. The introduction of plasmids bearing heterologous genes for the butanol synthesis pathway into C. ljungdahlii allowed transient butanol production [125]. The introduction of the functional lactate dehydrogenase gene (T-ldh) into M. thermoacetica dpyrF successfully transcribed T-ldh and exhibited higher LDH activity than ATCC39073 and dpyrF, yielding 6.8 mM of lactate from fructose. Berzin et al. [133] demonstrated that the complete elimination of acetate production by the deletion of the phosphotransacetylase gene and overexpression of synthetic alcohol dehydrogenase in Clostridium sp. MT653 resulted in a significant increase of the ethanol yield to 590 mM from a syngas blend mixture of 64% CO and 36% H₂ with no acetate production from 250 mM ethanol of the wild strain. The same group also reported the production of several biofuels and chemicals from syngas, including acetone [134], butanol [135], mevalonate [136], methanol, and formate [137], by a similar strategy, suggesting that the elimination of acetate production is effective in improving the production of the target end products. However, the elimination of acetate synthesis may prevent the concurrent synthesis of ATP via acetate kinase, and the impact on the growth energetics is not yet fully understood [126].

Significant growth in the research on and metabolic engineering of acetogens can be expected to improve the use of syngas or H_2/CO_2 obtained from biological and fossil organic wastes. Such research could also improve the production of both biofuels and commodity chemicals using technologies that are currently available.

17.7

Conclusions

In this chapter, we introduced the achievements that have been made thus far in the recovery of biological energy from organic wastes. The development of technologies for the recovery of energy from organic wastes is becoming an ever-more important challenge due to the eventual depletion of fossil fuel resources and global warming. In the above context, biogas fermentation including methane is a timely technology because of its applicability to various types of organic waste, not simply wastes containing carbohydrates as in alcohol fermentation, and because of its role in the treatment of organic wastes. Furthermore, the present chapter described not only biogas production but also strategies for the upgrading of biogas to more useful biofuels and biomaterials by biological methods involving acetogens present in the ecosystem of methane fermentation. If the bioconversion of biogas is realized, a shift from a sugar-based to a syngas-based bioindustry for the production of desired fuels and chemicals from organic matter could occur. The studies reviewed in this chapter represent a few examples demonstrating that the ecosystem of methane fermentation is potentially extremely valuable as a biological resource. The physiology of anaerobic microorganisms is still unclear, but achieving a deep understanding of the physiology and metabolism of anaerobic bacteria will make a significant contribution to environmental protection and the welfare of humanity.

References

- 1 Chowdury, J. and Fouky, K. (1993) Vegetable oils: From table to gas tank. Chem. Eng., 100, 35-39.
- 2 Feofilova, E.P., Sergeeva, Y.E., and Ivashechkin, A.A. (2010) Biodiesel-fuel: Content, production, producers, contemporary biotechnology (Review). Appl. Biochem. Microbiol., 46, 369-378.
- 3 Vicente, G., Martinez, M., and Aracil, J. (2004) Integrated biodiesel production: A comparison of different homogeneous catalysts systems. Bioresour. Technol., 92, 297-305.
- 4 Du, W., Xu, Y.Y., and Liu, D.H. (2003) Lipase-catalysed transesterification of soya bean oil for biodiesel production during continuous batch operation. Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem., 38, 103-106.
- 5 Almeida, J.R.M., Favaro, L.C.L., and Quirino, B.F. (2012) Biodiesel biorefinery: Opportunities and challenges for microbial production of fuels and chemicals from glycerol waste. Biotechnol. Biofuels, 5:48.
- 6 Rilling, N. (1994) Anaerobic fermentation of wet and semidry garbage waste fractions, in Environmental Biotechnology Concepts and Applications (eds

H.-J. Jördening and J. Winter), Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, pp. 355-373.

- 7 Angelidaki, I., Karakashev, D., Batstone, D.J., Plugge, C.M. et al. (2011) Biomethanation and its potential. Methods Enzymol., 494, 327-351.
- 8 Carrere, H., Dumas, C., Battimelli, A., Batstone, D.J. et al. (2010) Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: A review. J. Hazard. Mater., 183, 1-15.
- 9 Fdez-Guelfo, L.A., Alvarez-Gallego, C., Sales, D., and Romero, L.I. (2011) The use of thermochemical and biological pretreatments to enhance organic matter hydrolysis and solubilization from organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW). Chem. Eng. J., 168, 249 - 254.
- 10 Leven, L., Eriksson, A.R.B., and Schnurer, A. (2007) Effect of process temperature on bacterial and archaeal communities in two methanogenic bioreactors treating organic household waste. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol., 59, 683-693.
- 11 Winter, J., Schindler, F., and Wildenauer, F.X. (1987) Fermentation of alanine and glycine by pure and syntrophic cultures of Clostridium

sporogenes. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol., 45, 153–161.

- 12 Batstone, D.J., Keller, J., Angelidaki, I., Kalyuzhnyi, S.V. et al. (2002) Anaerobic Digestion Model No. 1 (ADM1), IWA Publishing, London.
- 13 Stams, A.J.M. and Plugge, C.M. (2009) Electron transfer in syntrophic communities of anaerobic bacteria and archaea. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, 7, 568–577.
- 14 Sousa, D.Z., Smidt, H., Alves, M.M., and Stams, A.J.M. (2009) Ecophysiology of syntrophic communities that degrade saturated and unsaturated long-chain fatty acids. *FEMS Microbiol. Ecol.*, 68, 257–272.
- 15 IEA (1994) Biogas from Municipal Solid Waste: Overview of Systems and Markets for Anaerobic Digestion of MSW. Report of International Energy Agency Task XI. Copenhagen.
- 16 Sonoda, Y., Kida, K., and Nagai, S. (1989) Conventional anaerobic digestion, in *Handbook of Heat and Mass Transfer Vol 3: Catalysis, Kinetics, and Reactor Engineering* (ed. N.P. Cheremisinoff), Gulf Publishing, pp. 753–772.
- 17 Weiland, P. (2010) Biogas production: Current state and perspectives. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 85, 849–860.
- 18 Speece, R.E. (2008) Anaerobic Biotechnology and Odor/Corrosion Control for Municipalities and Industries, Archaeology Press, Nashville, Tennessee.
- 19 Hendriks, A.T.W.M. and Zeeman, G. (2009) Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100, 10–18.
- 20 Herrmann, C., Heiermann, M., Idler, C., and Prochnow, A. (2012) Particle size reduction during harvesting of crop feedstock for biogas production I: Effects on ensiling process and methane yields. *BioEnergy Res.*, 5, 926–936.
- 21 Lettinga, G., Roersma, R., and Grin, P. (1983) Anaerobic treatment of raw domestic sewage at ambient temperatures using a granular bed UASB reactor. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 25, 1701–1723.
- 22 van Lier, J.B. (2008) High-rate anaerobic wastewater treatment: Diversifying

from end-of-the-pipe treatment to resource-oriented conversion techniques. *Water Sci. Technol.*, **57**, 1137–1148.

- 23 Lettinga, G., Vanvelsen, A.F.M., Hobma, S.W., Dezeeuw, W. et al. (1980) Use of the upflow sludge blanket (USB) reactor concept for biological wastewater treatment, especially for anaerobic treatment. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 22, 699–734.
- 24 Verstraete, W., deBeer, D., Pena, M., Lettinga, G. *et al.* (1996) Anaerobic bioprocessing of organic wastes. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **12**, 221–238.
- 25 Kato, M.T., Field, J.A., Versteeg, P., and Lettinga, G. (1994) Feasibility of expanded granular sludge bed reactors for the anaerobic treatment of low-strength soluble wastewaters. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 44, 469–479.
- 26 Seghezzo, L., Zeeman, G., van Lier, J.B., Hamelers, H.V.M. *et al.* (1998) A review: The anaerobic treatment of sewage in UASB and EGSB reactors. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 65, 175–190.
- 27 Perez, M., Romero, L.I., Nebot, E., and Sales, D. (1997) Colonisation of a porous sintered-glass support in anaerobic thermophilic bioreactors. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **59**, 177–183.
- 28 Shell, C. and Moletta, R. (2007) Anaerobic treatment of vinasses by a sequentially mixed moving bed biofilm reactor. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 56, 1–7.
- 29 Wahab, M.A., Habouzit, F., Bernet, N., Steyer, J.P. *et al.* (2014) Sequential operation of a hybrid anaerobic reactor using a lignocellulosic biomass as biofilm support. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 172, 150–155.
- 30 Zhao, H.Y., Li, J., Li, J.J., Yuan, X.F. et al. (2013) Organic loading rate shock impact on operation and microbial communities in different anaerobic fixed-bed reactors. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 140, 211–219.
- 31 Habouzit, F., Hamelin, J., Santa-Catalina, G., Steyer, J.P. et al. (2014) Biofilm development during the start-up period of anaerobic biofilm reactors: The biofilm archaea community is highly dependent on the

support material. *Microb. Biotechnol.*, 7, 257–264.

- 32 Tarjanyi-Szikora, S., Olah, J., Mako, M., Palko, G. *et al.* (2013) Comparison of different granular solids as biofilm carriers. *Microchem. J.*, 107, 101–107.
- 33 Chen, Y., Cheng, J.J., and Creamer, K.S. (2008) Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: A review. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 99, 4044–4064.
- 34 Dimroth, P. and Thomer, A. (1989) A primary respiratory Na⁺ pump of an anaerobic bacterium – the Na⁺-dependent NADH – quinone oxidoreductase of *Klebsiella pneumoniae*. *Arch. Microbiol.*, 151, 439–444.
- 35 McCarty, P.L. (1964) Anaerobic waste treatment fundamentals. *Public Works*, 95, 91–99.
- 36 Sonoda, Y. and Seiko, Y. (1977) Effects of heavy metal compounds, inorganic salts, hydrocarbon compounds and antibiotics in methane fermentation (in Japanese). *Hakko Kogaku Zasshi*, 55, 22–29.
- 37 Rinzema, A., Vanlier, J., and Lettinga, G. (1988) Sodium inhibition of acetoclastic methanogens in granular sludge from a UASB reactor. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, **10**, 24–32.
- 38 Liu, Y.T. and Boone, D.R. (1991) Effects of salinity on methanogenic decomposition. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 35, 271–273.
- 39 McCarty, P.L. and Mckinney, R.E. (1961) Salt toxicity in anaerobic digestion. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed., 33, 399–415.
- 40 Feijoo, G., Soto, M., Mendez, R., and Lema, J.M. (1995) Sodium inhibition in the anaerobic-digestion process – Antagonism and adaptation phenomena. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 17, 180–188.
- 41 Mendez, R., Lema, J.M., and Soto, M. (1995) Treatment of seafood-processing wastewaters in mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic filters. *Water Environ. Res.*, 67, 33–45.
- 42 Vyrides, I. and Stuckey, D.C. (2009) Adaptation of anaerobic biomass to saline conditions: Role of compatible solutes and extracellular polysaccharides. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, 44, 46-51.

- 43 Lefebvre, O. and Moletta, R. (2006) Treatment of organic pollution in industrial saline wastewater: A literature review. *Water Res.*, 40, 3671–3682.
- 44 Aspe, E., Marti, M.C., and Roeckel, M. (1997) Anaerobic treatment of fishery wastewater using a marine sediment inoculum. *Water Res.*, 31, 2147–2160.
- 45 Takeno, K., Nakashimada, Y., Kakizono, T., and Nishio, N. (2001) Methane fermentation of coastal mud sediment by a two-stage upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor system. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 56, 280–285.
- 46 Miura, T., Kita, A., Okamura, Y., Aki, T. et al. (2014) Evaluation of marine sediments as microbial sources for methane production from brown algae under high salinity. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 169, 362–366.
- 47 Miura, T., Kita, A., Okamura, Y., Aki, T. *et al.* (2015) Improved methane production from brown algae under high salinity by fed-batch acclimation. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 187, 275–281.
- 48 Miura, T., Kita, A., Okamura, Y., Aki, T. et al. (2016) Semi-continuous methane production from undiluted brown algae using a halophilic marine microbial community. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 200, 616–623.
- 49 De Baere, L.A., Devocht, M., van Assche, P., and Verstraete, W. (1984) Influence of high NaCl and NH₄Cl salt levels on methanogenic associations. *Water Res.*, 18, 543–548.
- 50 Koster, I.W. and Lettinga, G. (1984) The influence of ammonium-nitrogen on the specific activity of pelletized methanogenic sludge. *Agric. Wastes*, 9, 205–216.
- 51 Koster, I.W. and Lettinga, G. (1988) Anaerobic digestion at extreme ammonia concentrations. *Biol. Wastes*, 25, 51–59.
- 52 Hashimoto, A.G. (1986) Ammonia inhibition of methanogenesis from cattle wastes. *Agric. Wastes*, 17, 241–261.
- 53 Mata-Alvarez, J., Mace, S., and Llabres, P. (2000) Anaerobic digestion of organic solid wastes. An overview of research achievements and perspectives. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 74, 3–16.

- 568 17 Energy Recovery from Organic Waste
 - 54 van Velsen, A.F.M. (1979) Adaptation of methanogenic sludge to high ammonianitrogen concentrations. *Water Res.*, 13, 995–999.
 - 55 Parkin, G.F., Speece, R.E., Yang, C.H.J., and Kocher, W.M. (1983) Response of methane fermentation systems to industrial toxicants. *J. Water Pollut. Control Fed.*, 55, 44–53.
 - 56 Robbins, J.E., Gerhardt, S.A., and Kappel, T.J. (1989) Effects of total ammonia on anaerobic digestion and an example of digestor performance from cattle manure-protein mixtures. *Biol. Wastes*, 27, 1–14.
 - 57 Sung, S.W. and Liu, T. (2003) Ammonia inhibition on thermophilic anaerobic digestion. *Chemosphere*, 53, 43–52.
 - 58 Kayhanian, M. (1999) Ammonia inhibition in high-solids biogasification: An overview and practical solutions. *Environ. Technol.*, **20**, 355–365.
 - 59 Sosnowski, P., Wieczorek, A., and Ledakowicz, S. (2003) Anaerobic codigestion of sewage sludge and organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. *Adv. Environ. Res.*, 7, 609–616.
 - 60 Nakashimada, Y., Ohshima, Y., Minami, H., Yabu, H. *et al.* (2008) Ammoniamethane two-stage anaerobic digestion of dehydrated waste-activated sludge. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **79**, 1061–1069.
 - 61 Abouelenien, F., Fujiwara, W., Namba, Y., Kosseva, M. *et al.* (2010) Improved methane fermentation of chicken manure via ammonia removal by biogas recycle. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 101, 6368–6373.
 - 62 Yabu, H., Sakai, C., Fujiwara, T., Nishio, N. *et al.* (2011) Thermophilic twostage dry anaerobic digestion of model garbage with ammonia stripping. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 111, 312–319.
 - 63 Abouelenien, F., Kitamura, Y., Nishio, N., and Nakashimada, Y. (2009) Dry anaerobic ammonia-methane production from chicken manure. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 82, 757–764.
 - 64 Bicakova, O. and Straka, P. (2012) Production of hydrogen from renewable resources and its effectiveness. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 37, 11563–11578.

- 65 Das, D. (2009) Advances in biohydrogen production processes: An approach towards commercialization. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, **34**, 7349–7357.
- 66 Guwy, A.J., Dinsdale, R.M., Kim, J.R., Massanet-Nicolau, J. et al. (2011) Fermentative biohydrogen production systems integration. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 102, 8534–8542.
- 67 Hawkes, F.R., Hussy, I., Kyazze, G., Dinsdale, R. *et al.* (2007) Continuous dark fermentative hydrogen production by mesophilic microflora: Principles and progress. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 32, 172–184.
- 68 Cooney, M., Maynard, N., Cannizzaro, C., and Benemann, J. (2007) Two-phase anaerobic digestion for production of hydrogen-methane mixtures. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 98, 2641–2651.
- 69 Mitani, Y., Takamoto, Y., Atsumi, R., Hiraga, T. *et al.* (2005) Hydrogen and methane two-stage production directly from brewery effluent by anaerobic fermentation. *Tech. Q. – Master Brew. Assoc. Am.*, 42, 283–289.
- 70 Pawar, S.S. and van Niel, E.W.J. (2013) Thermophilic biohydrogen production: How far are we? *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **97**, 7999–8009.
- Jones, D.T. and Woods, D.R. (1986) Acetone-butanol fermentation revisited. *Microbiol. Rev.*, 50, 484–524.
- 72 Thauer, R.K., Jungermann, K., and Decker, K. (1977) Energy conservation in chemotrophic anaerobic bacteria. *Bacteriol. Rev.*, 4, 100–180.
- 73 Stams, A.J.M. (1994) Metabolic interactions between anaerobic-bacteria in methanogenic environments. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 66, 271–294.
- 74 Maru, B.T., Bielen, A.A.M., Constanti, M., Medina, F. et al. (2013) Glycerol fermentation to hydrogen by *Ther*motoga maritima: Proposed pathway and bioenergetic considerations. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 38, 5563–5572.
- 75 Kumar, N., Ghosh, A., and Das, D. (2001) Redirection of biochemical pathways for the enhancement of H₂ production by *Enterobacter cloacae*. *Biotechnol. Lett*, **23**, 537–541.
- 76 Yokoi, H., Tokushige, T., Hirose, J., Hayashi, S. et al. (1997) Hydrogen

production by immobilized cells of aciduric *Enterobacter aerogenes* strain HO-39. *J. Ferment. Bioeng.*, **83**, 481–484.

- 77 Tanisho, S., Suzuki, Y., and Wakao, N. (1987) Fermentative hydrogen evolution by *Enterobacter aerogenes* strain E 82005. *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, 12, 623–627.
- 78 Rachman, M.A., Furutani, Y., Nakashimada, Y., Kakizono, T. *et al.* (1997) Enhanced hydrogen production in altered mixed acid fermentation of glucose by *Enterobacter aerogenes. J. Ferment. Bioeng.*, 83, 358–363.
- 79 Taguchi, F., Mizukami, N., Hasegawa, K., and Saito-Taki, T. (1994) Microbial conversion of arabinose and xylose to hydrogen by a newly isolated *Clostridium* sp. No. 2. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, 40, 228–233.
- 80 Magee, R.J. and Kosaric, N. (1987) The microbial production of 2,3-butanediol. *Adv. Appl. Microbiol.*, 32, 89–159.
- 81 Johansen, L., Bryn, K., and Stormer, F.C. (1975) Physiological and biochemical role of butanediol pathway in *Enterobacter aerogenes. J. Bacteriol.*, 123, 1124–1130.
- 82 Lu, Y., Wang, L.Y., Ma, K., Li, G. et al. (2011) Characteristics of hydrogen production of an *Enterobacter aerogenes* mutant generated by a new atmospheric and room temperature plasma (ARTP). *Biochem. Eng. J.*, 55, 17–22.
- 83 Zhao, H.X., Ma, K., Lu, Y., Zhang, C. et al. (2009) Cloning and knockout of formate hydrogen lyase and H₂-uptake hydrogenase genes in *Enterobacter* aerogenes for enhanced hydrogen production. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 34, 186–194.
- 84 Goyal, Y., Kumar, M., and Gayen, K. (2013) Metabolic engineering for enhanced hydrogen production: A review. *Can. J. Microbiol.*, **59**, 59–78.
- 85 Dürre, P., Kuhn, A., and Gottschalk, G. (1986) Treatment with allyl alcohol selects specially for mutants of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* defective in butanol synthesis. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, 36, 77–81.
- **86** Wills, C. and Phelps, J. (1975) A technique for the isolation of yeast alcohol

dehydrogenase mutants with altered substrate specificity. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, **167**, 627–637.

- 87 Clark, D. and Cronan, J.E. Jr., (1980) *Escherichia coli* mutants with altered control of alcohol dehydrogenase and nitrate reductase. *J. Bacteriol.*, 141, 177–183.
- 88 Mat-Jan, F., Kiswar, Y.A., and Clark, D. (1989) Mutants of *E. coli* deficient in the fermentative lactate dehydrogenase. *J. Bacteriol.*, 171, 342–348.
- 89 Lorowits, W. and Clark, D. (1982) *Escherichia coli* mutants with a temperature-sensitive alcohol dehydrogenase. J. Bacteriol., 152, 935–938.
- 90 Rogers, P. and Palosaari, N. (1987) Clostridium acetobutylicum mutants that produce butyraldehyde and altered quantities of solvents. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 53, 2761–2766.
- 91 Winkelman, J.W. and Clark, D. (1984) Proton suicide: General method for direct selection of sugar transportand fermentation-defective mutants. *J. Bacteriol.*, 160, 687–690.
- 92 Pablo, H.C. and Me'ndez, B.S. (1990) Direct selection of *Clostridium aceto-butylicum* fermentation mutants by a proton suicide method. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 56, 578–580.
- 93 Krampitz, L.O. (1957) Preparation and determination of acetoin, diacetyl, and acetolactate. *Methods Enzymol.*, 3, 277–283.
- 94 Ito, T., Nakashimada, Y., Kakizono, T., and Nishio, N. (2004) High yield production of hydrogen by *Enterobacter aerogenes* mutants with decreased αacetolactate synthase activity. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 97, 227–232.
- 95 Tanisho, S., Tu, H., and Wakao, N. (1989) Fermentative hydrogen evolution from various substrates by *Enterobacter* aerogenes. Hakko Kougaku Kaishi, 67, 29-34.
- 96 Peguin, S., Goma, G., Delorme, P., and Sopucaille, P. (1994) Metabolism flexibility of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* in response to methyl viologen addition. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 42, 611–616.
- 97 de Graef, M.R., Alexeeva, S., Snoep, J.L., and de Mattos, M.J.T. (1999)

The steady-state internal redox state (NADH/NAD) reflects the external redox state and is correlated with catabolic adaptation in Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol., 181, 2351-2357.

- 98 Nakashimada, Y., Rachman, M.A., Kakizono, T., and Nishio, N. (2002) H₂ production of Enterobacter aerogenes altered by extracellular and intracellular redox states. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 27, 1399-1405.
- 99 Xiao, B.Y., Han, Y.P., and Liu, J.X. (2010) Evaluation of biohydrogen production from glucose and protein at neutral initial pH. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy, 35, 6152-6160.
- 100 Jung, K.W., Kim, D.H., Kim, S.H., and Shin, H.S. (2011) Bioreactor design for continuous dark fermentative hydrogen production. Bioresour. Technol., 102, 8612-8620.
- 101 Rachman, M.A., Furutani, Y., Nakashimada, Y., Kakizono, T. et al. (1998) Hydrogen production with high yield and high evolution rate by self-flocculated cells of Enterobacter aerogenes in a packed-bed reactor. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 49, 450 - 454.
- 102 Ito, T., Nakashimada, Y., Senba, K., Matsui, T. et al. (2005) Hydrogen and ethanol production from glycerolcontaining wastes discharged from biodiesel manufacturing process. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 100, 260-265.
- 103 Clarens, A.F., Resurreccion, E.P., White, M.A., and Colosi, L.M. (2010) Environmental life cycle comparison of algae to other bioenergy feedstocks. Environ. Sci. Technol., 44, 1813-1819.
- 104 Melillo, J.M., Reilly, J.M., Kicklighter, D.W., Gurgel, A.C. et al. (2009) Indirect emissions from biofuels: How Important? Science, 326, 1397-1399.
- 105 Balat, M. (2010) Thermochemical routes for biomass-based hydrogen production. Energy Sources, Part A, 32, 1388-1398.
- 106 Lee, H.S., Vermaas, W.F.J., and Rittmann, B.E. (2010) Biological hydrogen production: Prospects and challenges. Trends Biotechnol., 28, 262 - 271.

- 107 Zeng, K. and Zhang, D.K. (2010) Recent progress in alkaline water electrolysis for hydrogen production and applications. Prog. Energy Combust. Sci., 36, 307-326.
- 108 Daniell, J., Kopke, M., and Simpson, S.D. (2012) Commercial biomass syngas fermentation. Energies, 5, 5372-5417.
- 109 Latif, H., Zeidan, A.A., Nielsen, A.T., and Zengler, K. (2014) Trash to treasure: Production of biofuels and commodity chemicals via syngas fermenting microorganisms. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 27, 79-87.
- 110 Bengelsdorf, F.R., Straub, M., and Durre, P. (2013) Bacterial synthesis gas (syngas) fermentation. Environ. Technol., 34, 1639-1651.
- 111 Drake, H.L., Gossner, A.S., and Daniel, S.L. (2008) Old acetogens, new light. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 1125, 100-128.
- 112 Henstra, A.M., Sipma, J., Rinzema, A., and Stams, A.J.M. (2007) Microbiology of synthesis gas fermentation for biofuel production. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 18, 200-206.
- 113 Klasson, K.T., Ackerson, M.D., Clausen, E.C., and Gaddy, J.L. (1993) Biological conversion of coal and coal-derived synthesis gas. Fuel, 72, 1673-1678.
- 114 Abrini, J., Naveau, H., and Nyns, E.J. (1994) Clostridium autoethanogenum, sp. nov, an anaerobic bacterium that produces ethanol from carbon monoxide. Arch. Microbiol., 161, 345-351.
- 115 Liu, K., Ativeh, H.K., Stevenson, B.S., Tanner, R.S. et al. (2014) Continuous syngas fermentation for the production of ethanol, n-propanol and n-butanol. Bioresour. Technol., 151, 69-77.
- 116 Phillips, J.R., Ativeh, H.K., Tanner, R.S., Torres, J.R. et al. (2015) Butanol and hexanol production in Clostridium carboxidivorans syngas fermentation: Medium development and culture techniques. Bioresour. Technol., 190, 114-121.
- 117 Köpke, M., Mihalcea, C., Liew, F.M., Tizard, J.H. et al. (2011) 2,3-Butanediol production by acetogenic bacteria, an alternative route to chemical synthesis, using industrial waste gas. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 77, 5467-5475.

- 118 Drake, H.L. and Daniel, S.L. (2004) Physiology of the thermophilic acetogen *Moorella thermoacetica. Res. Microbiol.*, 155, 422–436.
- 119 Pierce, E., Xie, G., Barabote, R.D., Saunders, E. *et al.* (2008) The complete genome sequence of *Moorella thermoacetica* (f. *Clostridium thermoaceticum*). *Environ. Microbiol.*, 10, 2550–2573.
- **120** Sakai, S., Nakashimada, Y., Yoshimoto, H., Watanabe, S. *et al.* (2004) Ethanol production from H_2 and CO_2 by a newly isolated thermophilic bacterium, *Moorella* sp. HUC22-1. *Biotechnol. Lett*, **26**, 1607–1612.
- 121 Sakai, S., Nakashimada, Y., Inokuma, K., Kita, M. *et al.* (2005) Acetate and ethanol production from H₂ and CO₂ by *Moorella* sp. using a repeated batch culture. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, **99**, 252–258.
- 122 Taylor, M.P., Eley, K.L., Martin, S., Tuffin, M.I. *et al.* (2009) Thermophilic ethanologenesis: Future prospects for second generation bioethanol production. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 27, 398–405.
- 123 Payton, M.A. (1984) Production of ethanol by thermophilic bacteria. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 2, 153–158.
- 124 Mermelstein, L.D. and Papoutsakis, E.T. (1993) In vivo methylation in Escherichia coli by the Bacillus subtilis phage Phi3TI methyltransferase to protect plasmids from restriction upon transformation of Clostridium acetobutylicum ATCC824. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 59, 1077-1081.
- 125 Köpke, M., Held, C., Hujer, S., Liesegang, H. *et al.* (2010) *Clostridium ljungdahlii* represents a microbial production platform based on syngas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 107, 13087–13092.
- 126 Leang, C., Ueki, T., Nevin, K.P., and Lovley, D.R. (2013) A genetic system for *Clostridium ljungdahlii*: A chassis for autotrophic production of biocommodities and a model homoacetogen. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 79, 1102–1109.
- 127 Kita, A., Iwasaki, Y., Sakai, S., Okuto, S. *et al.* (2013) Development of genetic transformation and heterologous expression system in carboxydotrophic

thermophilic acetogen Moorella thermoacetica. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 115, 347–352.

- 128 Yasui, K., Kano, Y., Tanaka, K., Watanabe, K. *et al.* (2009) Improvement of bacterial transformation efficiency using plasmid artificial modification. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 37.
- 129 Iwasaki, Y., Kita, A., Sakai, S., Takaoka, K. et al. (2013) Engineering of a functional thermostable kanamycin resistance marker for use in *Moorella* thermoacetica ATCC39073. FEMS Microbiol. Lett., 343, 8–12.
- 130 Trieu-Cuot, P. and Courvalin, P. (1983) Nucleotide-sequence of the *Streptococcus faecalis* plasmid gene encoding the 3'5"-aminoglycoside phosphotransferase type-III. *Gene*, 23, 331–341.
- 131 Kita, A., Iwasaki, Y., Yano, S., Nakashimada, Y. *et al.* (2013) Isolation of thermophilic acetogens and transformation of Them with the *pyrF* and *kan*^r Genes. *Biosci. Biotechnol., Biochem.*, 77, 301–306.
- 132 Tsukahara, K., Kita, A., Nakashimada, Y., Hoshino, T. *et al.* (2014) Genomeguided analysis of transformation efficiency and carbon dioxide assimilation by *Moorella thermoacetica* Y72. *Gene*, 535, 150–155.
- 133 Berzin, V., Kiriukhin, M., and Tyurin, M. (2012) Elimination of acetate production to improve ethanol yield during continuous synthesis gas fermentation by engineered biocatalyst *Clostridium* sp. MTEtOH55. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, 167, 338–347.
- 134 Berzin, V., Kiriukhin, M., and Tyurin, M. (2012) Selective production of acetone during continuous synthesis gas fermentation by engineered biocatalyst *Clostridium* sp. MAceT113. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, 55, 149–154.
- 135 Berzin, V., Tyurin, M., and Kiriukhin, M. (2013) Selective *n*-butanol production by *Clostridium* sp MTButOH1365 during continuous synthesis gas fermentation due to expression of synthetic thiolase, 3-hydroxy butyryl-CoA dehydrogenase, crotonase, butyryl-CoA dehydrogenase, butyraldehyde dehydrogenase, and NAD-dependent

butanol dehydrogenase. *Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol.*, **169**, 950–959.

- 136 Kiriukhin, M. and Tyurin, M. (2014) Mevalonate production by engineered acetogen biocatalyst during continuous fermentation of syngas or CO₂/H₂ blend. *Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng.*, 37, 245–260.
- 137 Tyurin, M. and Kiriukhin, M. (2013) Selective methanol or formate production during continuous CO₂ fermentation by the acetogen biocatalysts engineered via integration of synthetic pathways using Tn7-tool. *World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 29, 1611–1623.

18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

Michihiko Ike, Mitsuo Yamashita, and Masashi Kuroda

Our current high standard of living is supported by the extensive use of various metallic elements, not only typical metals such as iron (Fe) but also metalloids such as arsenic (As) and antimony (Sb) and nonmetals such as selenium (Se). In particular, rare metals and rare earth elements have recently become fundamental to the production of novel materials supplied to high-tech industries, and demand for them is growing. In this chapter, the term "metals" will be broadly defined as all the metallic elements mentioned earlier, including radionuclides. Mass consumption of metals increases the chance of their emission into the environment. In fact, based on PRTR (Pollutant Release and Transfer Registration, Japan) data [1], considerable amounts of various metals are moved into the water phase, including wastewater, in the course of their mining, refining, processing, use, and wastage, which may finally lead to their emission into the aquatic environment. For example, 745 tons (t) of manganese and 97 t of molybdenum were discharged into the aquatic environment in 2012 in Japan [1]. Emission of metals into the aquatic environment can cause severe environmental problems, for example, adverse effects of mercury (Hg) on human health and ecosystems, such as the Minamata tragedy [2]. Emission of metals into the environment is also recognized as a loss of valuable resources, leading to their depletion in future. Therefore, it is important to efficiently remove metals from wastewater and recover them as recyclable resources before they are discharged into the aquatic environment, for both environmental protection and sustainable use of metals. However, it is a tremendous challenge to remove/recover metals from wastewater, where they exist in extremely or relatively low concentrations and as mixtures of various compounds, when using existing physicochemical techniques such as adsorption, ion exchange, and chemical coagulation because of the high cost and huge energy and/or materials consumption. It should also be noted that strong acid and alkaline agents are often used in the physicochemical recovery processes, which are friendly neither to working environments nor to natural environments.

574 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

To cope with the above-mentioned difficulties, the use of microbial reactions in metal removal/recovery has been proposed [3]. Such reactions include bioprecipitation, biomineralization, biovolatilization, biosorption, and bioleaching. Since microbial reactions are intrinsically material- and energy-efficient, microbial metal removal/recovery technologies can be cost effective and environmentally friendly. Microbial technologies provide definite advantages, including efficient targeting of metals, even at low concentrations or in the presence of other compounds, because of their high specificity derived from the nature of enzyme reactions. Further, the microbial reactions proceed under ambient temperatures and pressures and do not require strong acid or alkaline reagents, and are thus very safe and easy to use. Consequently, microbial metal removal/recovery shows great promise as a key technology for establishing healthy and sustainable human-metal relationships in the future. This chapter focuses on potential biotechnologies for removal/recovery of metals from wastewater using specific microbial reactions. Various microbial reactions available for metal removal/recovery will be reviewed, and an example of the research and development (R&D) of technologies for the recovery from wastewater will also be introduced [4-6].

18.1

Microbial Reactions Available for Metal Removal/Recovery

Certain types of microbes are known to catalyze metabolic reactions using a variety of metal elements, which considerably affect the geochemical cycles for metals [7]. The metabolic reactions include alteration of the redox state (oxidation/reduction), methylation/alkylation, and hydrogenation of the metals. Some microbes have evolved the ability to actively transport metals to the inside or outside of their cells and to efficiently concentrate them onto the cell surface, by which the microbes gain the advantage of utilizing low concentrations of metals as minor nutrients or the capability of tolerating metal toxicity. Further, microbes may generate various products that affect the behavior of metals inside the cells or in the environment, such as metal-binding proteins/peptides, acids, oxidants, and others. When these microbe-metal interactions lead to the transformation of metals in the water phase or soluble form into those in the solid or gaseous phase, they can be utilized to remove/recover metals from wastewater. When the microbe-metal interactions cause the mobilization of metals from the solid phase, they can be utilized to extract metals from wastes generated during wastewater treatment for recycling. Such microbial processes available for metal removal/recovery can be classified into bioprecipitation/biomineralization, biovolatilization, biosorption, and bioleaching, as conceptually illustrated in Figure 18.1.



Metals in water phase O,solid phase O,gaseous phase

Figure 18.1 Microbial processes available for metal removal/recovery from wastewater: (a) bioprecipitation/biomineralization, (b) biovolatilization, (c) biosorption, and (d) bioleaching.

18.1.1 Bioprecipitation/Biomineralization

The microbial processes that lead to immobilization of soluble metals into the solid phase are called bioprecipitation or biomineralization [7-9]. Bioprecipitation enables removal/recovery of metals from the water phase by simple solid–liquid separation methods. Various kinds of microbial metabolic reactions can cause bioprecipitation of metals, and the known examples are summarized in Table 18.1.

Table 18.1 Examples of bioprecipitation.

Reduction of metals				
$Se(VI) \rightarrow Se(IV) \rightarrow Se(0) \downarrow$	$Te(VI) \rightarrow Te(IV) \rightarrow Te(0) \downarrow$	$Cr(VI) \rightarrow Cr(III) \downarrow$		
$V(V) \rightarrow V(IV) \downarrow$	$Au(III) \rightarrow Au(0) \downarrow$	$Ag(I) \rightarrow Ag(0) \downarrow$		
$Pd(II) \rightarrow Pd(0) \downarrow$	$\mathrm{U}(\mathrm{VI}) \to \mathrm{U}(\mathrm{IV}) \downarrow$	$\mathrm{Tc}(\mathrm{VII}) \to \mathrm{Tc}(\mathrm{IV}) \downarrow$		
Oxidation of metals				
$Fe(II) \rightarrow Fe(III) \downarrow$	$Mn(II) \rightarrow Mn(III) \rightarrow Mn($	IV)↓		
Sulfide precipitation $S(VI) \rightarrow S(II) \rightarrow S(0) \rightarrow S(-II): S(-II) + M(II) \rightarrow MS \downarrow$				
Phosphate precipitation Poly-Pi → Pi: 2Pi + $3M(II) \rightarrow M_3Pi_2 \downarrow$				

M, example of metal element; Pi, phosphate.

576 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

The most typical microbial metabolic reaction that can cause bioprecipitation is the reduction of metals to a lower redox state, lowering metal mobility. Through microbial reduction, some metals are transformed into insoluble elemental metals, and others into forms with lower solubility to precipitate with other minerals, and so on. A well-studied example of the reductive transformation of soluble metals into insoluble elemental metals is Se, where Se oxyanions (selenate and selenite), Se(VI) and Se(IV), are reduced to Se(0) particles [10]. The reductive microbial reactions have been utilized in the removal of Se from wastewater and contaminated water. For example, a pilot-scale Se removal bioreactor utilizing the Se(VI)-reducing bacterium Thauera selanatis has been successfully used for treating drainage water [11]. The microbial chromium (Cr) reduction process transforms highly soluble Cr(VI) into less soluble Cr(III), which can be easily precipitated as $Cr(OH)_2$ in slightly alkaline conditions, and this reaction has also been applied for wastewater treatment and water reclamation processes, though mostly at the lab scale [12, 13]. Other metals that can be reductively immobilized or precipitated include tellurium (Te), antimony (Sb), molybdenum (Mo), vanadium (V), gold (Au), silver (Ag), palladium (Pd), uranium (U), and technetium (Tc), and attempts have been made to establish the removal process for some of these [14, 15]. Metal reduction by microbes under anaerobic conditions is generally catalyzed by the corresponding metal reductases for anaerobic respiration: that is. the metals in oxidized forms can be reduced as electron acceptors, coupled with the oxidation of organic compounds or other electron donors. Therefore, the selection of suitable electron donors may be important to utilize such reductive metabolic reactions for developing metal removal/recovery processes. The importance of sulfur- and sulfate-reducing bacteria and iron-reducing bacteria has been recognized in the reductive bioprecipitation of various kinds of metals, such as Cr, Au, Ag, Pd, U, and Tc [7, 9], and understanding their physiological properties may aid in the design of metal removal/recovery processes that incorporate them. Microbial metal reduction can also proceed under aerobic conditions, and may be associated with metal detoxification mechanisms [16].

Microbial oxidation of certain metals can also lead to their immobilization. It has been well documented that ferrous iron [Fe(II)] in the water phase is not only abiotically but also microbiologically or enzymatically oxidized to precipitate as Fe(III) by iron-oxidizing bacteria. Similarly, dissolved manganese [Mn(II)] can be immobilized as oxidized Mn, such as Mn(III/IV), by manganese-oxidizing microbes. Fe-/Mn-oxidizing microbes can gain energy via oxidation processes and achieve autotrophic and/or heterotrophic growth. Microbiologically generated Fe/Mn precipitates may cause the concentration of other metals by coprecipitation or adsorption, possibly allowing for simultaneous removal of various metals from the water phase [17]. Fe/Mn bioprecipitation reactions have been applied to the removal of Fe/Mn and other metals from wastewater from mining industry as well as from groundwater [18, 19].

In addition to changes in the redox state of metals, other microbial metabolic reactions can cause the bioprecipitation of a wide range of metals even when they themselves cannot be reduced or oxidized. In such bioprecipitation processes, the most important microbial reaction may be the generation of sulfide, which can form insoluble or hard-to-dissolve salts with a wide variety of metals. Sulfide can form precipitate with ions of copper (Cu), cadmium (Cd), bismuth (Bi), lead (Pb), Hg, Sb, and tin (Sn) under acidic conditions and with zinc (Zn), nickel (Ni), and cobalt (Co) under alkaline conditions; it is thus possible to remove these metal ions from the water phase [7]. Microbial sulfide formation is mediated by sulfateor sulfur-reducing bacteria, which are anaerobic heterotrophs. They oxidize organic compounds using sulfate and elemental sulfur as terminal electron acceptors, eventually generating sulfide. Sulfide bioprecipitation may be applied to remove various metals from sulfur-containing wastewater, using sulfate-reducing bacteria under anaerobic conditions. Toxic metals in mining wastewater can be efficiently removed by lab-scale bioreactors using sulfate-reducing bacteria [20]. This concept has also been implemented in large-scale commercial bioreactors [21].

Similar to sulfide precipitation, microbial reactions that produce phosphates can also promote the precipitation of some metals as insoluble salts. Phosphate may be generated by polyphosphate hydrolysis by polyphosphate-accumulating microorganisms found in biological phosphorous removal processes. Microbial phosphate precipitation of zirconium (Zr), U, and lanthanum (La) and other heavy metals has been documented [22, 23].

18.1.2 Biovolatilization

Biovolatilization [7–9, 24] refers to microbial transformation of metals into their volatile forms, offering a way to convert the metals from the water phase to the gaseous phase. It may also be possible to remove metals from the solid phase by biovolatilization. Thus, we can apply this process to the removal of metals from wastewater and also from solid waste generated by wastewater treatment. If we can trap the volatilized metals that is off-gas from the wastewater treatment process (e.g., in a gas scrubber), they can be subsequently recovered. Biovolatilization of metals is generally associated with their methylation or alkylation by microbes, whereas volatilization of Hg may also be mediated by its reduction. Examples of metal biovolatilization are summarized in Table 18.2.

In contrast to metals that are immobilized into precipitates by their reduction, microbial reduction of Hg leads to its mobilization in the gaseous phase, because the end product, Hg(0), is volatile. Certain types of bacteria and fungi can reduce soluble Hg(II) to generate Hg(0) as a mechanism for resistance to or detoxification of Hg, and some Hg(II) reductases that catalyze this reaction have been cloned and characterized [25]. Use of bioreactors for the removal of Hg from contaminated water and sediment using biovolatilization has been documented [26].

Several types of metals are known to be microbially volatilized via methylation or alkylation, and those processes are considered to make significant contributions to geochemical cycling [27]. Among these, Se volatilization has received 578 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

Table 18.2 Examples of biovolatilization.

Reduction of metals Hg(II) → Hg(0) ↑	
Methylation of metals Hg \rightarrow (CH ₃)Hg ⁺ , (CH ₃) ₂ Hg ⁺ Te \rightarrow (CH ₃) ₂ Te	Se \rightarrow (CH ₃) ₂ Se, (CH ₃) ₂ Se ₂ As \rightarrow (CH ₃)AsH ₂ , (CH ₃) ₂ AsH ₁ , (CH ₃) ₃ As
Hydrogenation of metals $Se \rightarrow H_2Se$	

the most attention for its potential bioremediation applications. Se in natural soil and water environments can be mobilized into the atmosphere by microbial volatilization [28]. In such processes, soluble or elemental Se is methylated to generate dimethyl selenide ((CH₃)₂Se; DMSe) and smaller amounts of dimethyl diselenide ((CH₃)₂Se₂; DMDSe). Se methylation is commonly observed and known to be mediated by various types of bacteria and fungi. Bioremediation of Se-contaminated water has been reported in the San Joaquin Valley and Kesterson reservoir using enhanced microbial methylation [29]. However, it should be noted that such applications of Se volatilization via methylation are limited to intrinsic or passive bioremediation systems, but engineered applications, such as wastewater treatment, have rarely been documented. Biovolatilization via methylation has also been relatively well studied in Hg, As, and Te. Hg(II) may be methylated to methyl mercury $((CH_3)Hg^+)$ and further into dimethyl mercury ((CH₃)₂Hg⁺). Microbial methylation of As can produce mono-, di-, and tri-methyl arsines ((CH₃)_nAsH_{3-n}, n = 1,2,3). Dimethyl telluride ((CH₃)₂Te; DMTe) can be microbially produced as the main volatile compound of Te. Bioremediation applications of methylation of Hg and As are still in the R&D stage, similar to those of Se biovolatilization. In addition, some studies have reported on the methylation-mediated biovolatilization of other metals including Sn, Pb, Sb, and Bi [24, 30]. Although methylation of metals was believed to be a detoxification process for protecting microbes, it is considered questionable at present because methylation of metals often leads to an increase in toxicity. Biovolatilization may be caused not only by methylation/alkylation but also by hydrogenation for some metals [30]. The primary hurdle for application of biovolatilization to metal removal/recovery from wastewater may be the typically the slow reaction rate.

18.1.3 Biosorption

Biosorption [31-33] is defined as the removal of substances from the water phase or solution by sorption to biological materials, and is a physicochemical process rather than a biological process. Metals can be removed from the water

phase by biosorption with microbial biomass and/or by using microbial products as biosorbents, which are solid surfaces of bio-matrices capable of adsorbing or concentrating sorbates. Biosorption is recognized as an important process affecting the bioavailability of metals in natural environments, which may provide enhanced or inhibitory effects [7]. Sorption processes use chemically synthesized materials, including activated carbon and ion-exchange resins, rather than biomaterials, but have been applied to remove toxic heavy metals from industrial wastewater. Since biosorption is, in principle, identical to conventional sorption processes using chemically synthesized sorbents, it may also be applied to the removal/recovery of metals from wastewater. "Bioaccumulation" is another microbial metal removal process similar to biosorption. Although it is difficult to completely differentiate these two processes, they have slightly different definitions; bioaccumulation refers to the uptake of metals by living cells, whereas biosorption is the passive concentration of metals onto biomass, which may be inactive or even dead [32]. Thus, bioaccumulation can include the process of active transport of metals into cells and the consequent metabolic changes in the cells. In the application for metal removal/recovery, biosorption may have some advantages compared with bioaccumulation, such as the lack of a requirement for cell activity maintenance, a wider application range, a rapid removal/recovery rate, a high toxicity tolerance, and the potential for regeneration/reuse of the cells.

To date, a large number of studies have been performed to discover efficient biosorbents. These studies have suggested that almost all microbial biomass/ biomaterials can bind certain types of metals. Although it is very difficult to choose a limited number of references to summarize the available knowledge on metal biosorbents, we have attempted to compile a list of some of the biosorbents reported for metal removal/recovery, as shown in Table 18.3. The possible

Microbes	Metals removed	References
Bacteria		
Bacillus subtilis	Ag, Cd, Cu, La	[34]
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Cd, Cu, Pb	[35]
Pseudomonas putida	Cd, Cu, Pb, Zn	[36]
Fungi		
Aspergillus niger	Cd, Cu, Ni, Pb	[37]
Penicillium canescens	As(III), Cd, Hg, Pb	[38]
Penicillium chrysogenum	Cd, Cr(VI), Cu, Ni, Pb, Th, U, Zn	[39 - 42]
Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Au, Ag, Cd, Co, Cr(VI), Cu, Fe,	[43 - 50]
	Hg, Ni, Pb, Pt, Th, U, Zn	
Algae		
Chlorella vulgaris	Cd, Cr(VI), Cu, Fe(III), Ni, Pb, Zn	[51, 52]

Table 18.3 Examples of reported biosorbents for metal removal/recovery.

580 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

microbial biosorbents include a wide range of taxonomic categories; bacteria such as Bacillus subtilis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa, fungi (mainly yeasts and molds) such as Aspergillus and Penicillium species and Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and microalgae such as *Chlorella* species and their metabolic products, including biopolymers [31–33]. In addition, certain wastes or by-products containing microbial cells can be used as biosorbents [53, 54]. These include activated sludge from wastewater treatment processes, and fermentation by-products containing yeasts or mold mycelia, and so on. Utilization of such waste biomass as biosorbents is especially attractive from an economical viewpoint, and a wide variety of metals have been reported to be removed using the above-mentioned biosorbents. Toxic heavy metals are the major target for biosorption studies, including Cd, Co, Cr(VI), Cu, Hg, Ni, Pb, Sn, and Zn. Radionuclides such as americium (Am), cesium (Cs), europium (Eu), protactinium (Pa), strontium (Sr), thorium (Th), and U have also been reported to bind with certain biosorbents. Precious metals, including Ag, Au, Pd, and platinum (Pt), can also be recovered from the water phase by biosorption, though trials to remove rare metals and rare earth elements have been relatively limited (e.g., Ni, Mo, and neodymium (Nd)) [32, 55]. Thus, biosorption shows potential for application to a variety of areas, such as toxic metal wastewater treatment, decontamination of radionuclidecontaminated water, and recovery of valuable metals from industrial waste streams.

The mechanisms of metal biosorption have not been fully elucidated, owing to the complexity of the phenomena. They may be associated with combinations of ion exchange, complexation/chelation, adsorption by physical forces, electrostatic interactions, and micro-precipitation [31-33]. The mechanisms depend on the chemical components and spatial structure of the surface of the microbial cells, affecting capability or performance. In addition, the surface structure of microbial cells may determine the specificity or selectivity of the biosorbents. In particular, the chemical functional groups of the cell wall play important roles in metal biosorption, including carboxyl, carbonyl, amine, amide, thiol, imine, imidazole, sulfonate, phosphonate, and phosphodiester groups. For example, carboxyl groups bind metal cations because of their negative charge, whereas amines can attract both metal cations and oxy-anions, depending on pH. The physiological state of the microbial cells, dead or living, cultivated under nutrient-rich or nutrient-poor conditions, and so on, can also considerably change the properties of the biosorbents, because the chemical and physical structure of the microbial cell surface will be altered. Based on such principles, cell wall modification of microbial cells has been applied to improve or alter the metal-binding capability and specificity using physical treatments such as freeze-thaw and lyophilization, chemical treatments such as alkali/acid treatment, washing with detergents, and cross-linking with organic solvents [56]. In fact, it has been reported that alkali treatment of a fungal cell significantly enhanced its metal uptake capability [57]. Another promising approach to modifying the surface properties of microbial sorbents is genetic manipulation. Genes coding known metal-binding peptides, such as metallothionein and phytochelatin, can be utilized to create recombinant microbes possessing high metal-binding capabilities [58]. The recombinant yeast *S. cerevisiae*, which displays the metal-binding histidine hexapeptide, was created to provide efficient Cu-binding capability [59].

For practical applications of metal biosorption, the selected microbial cells to be used as biosorbents should be immobilized onto/into a solid matrix to allow easy solid-liquid separation, regeneration/reuse, and maintenance at high density in bioreactors, because they are essentially small particles to be suspended in the water phase [32]. Immobilization of microbial cells with polymeric materials is an established technique, and sodium alginate, polysulfone, polyacrylamide, and polyurethane have all been used. An example of the limited number of commercialized biosorbents, AMT-BIOCLAIM[™] (Visa Tech Ltd.) uses B. subtilis cells pretreated with a strong caustic solution, immobilized as porous balls onto polyethyleneimine and glutaraldehyde [60]. AlgaSORBTM (Bio-recovery Systems Inc.) uses Chlorella in silica or polyacrylamide gels [61]. These immobilized biosorbents can be successfully applied to metal removal/recovery from wastewater in traditional reactor configurations, such as packed-bed reactors and fluidized-bed reactors. When the microbial cells as the biosorbent can be taken up into naturally occurring biofilms/biomats, or grow in aggregate forms in bioreactors, they have the same advantages as the above-mentioned synthetically immobilized biosorbents [62].

18.1.4 Bioleaching

Certain microbial activities can dissolve or extract metals from the solid phase, and such processes are termed bioleaching [7, 8, 63, 64]. It may be used to extract metals from solid waste generated by wastewater treatment to yield concentrated metal solution/precipitate for efficient recycling. Such applications may also add significant value by reducing the risk related to solid waste disposal by removal of toxic heavy metals. When bioleaching is applied to the extraction and recovery of metals from mineral ores, it is also called *biomining* [65]. Microbes mediate bioleaching primarily through the formation of inorganic or organic acids, oxidation and reduction reactions of metals, and generation of complexing or chelating agents. The major categories of microbes that play key roles in bioleaching from solid waste are acidophilic chemolithoautotrophic bacteria, heterotrophic bacteria and fungi capable of generating organic acids, and other specific bacteria catalyzing bio-cyanidation (Table 18.4).

Bioleaching/biomining of mineral ores, especially low-grade ores, using acidophilic autotrophic bacteria has already become established in the bioindustry for extracting Cu, Au, U, and other metals [63], and is expected to have application for treating various types of solid waste, including sewage sludge and incineration ash, as well as other metal-rich wastes. Several studies have confirmed the significant potential of bioleaching for the recovery of metals from solid waste. The most commonly utilized bacteria in chemolithotrophic leaching belong to the genus *Acidithiobacillus*, represented by *Acidithiobacillus*

582 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

Microbes	Metals leached	Application	References
Acidophilic chemolithoautor	crophs		
Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans	Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn	Digested sewage sludge	[66, 67]
Acidithiobacillus thiooxidans	As, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Zn	Fly ash (municipal waste)	[68]
Acidithiobacillus sp.	Cd, Co, LI, Ni	Spent battery	[69-71]
Acid-producing heterotroph	S		
Aspergillus niger	Al, Mo, V	Petroleum refinery waste	[72, 73]
Penicillium sp.	Co, Cu, Ni, Zn	Mineral ores	[74]
Cyanide-forming bacteria			
Chromobacterium violaceum	Au	Waste electric device	[75, 76]
C. violaceum, Bacillus megaterium, Pseudomonas	Au, Ag, Pt	Jewellery waste, automobile catalyst	[77]
fluorescens			

Table 18.4 Examples of reported microbes for bioleaching.

ferrooxidans and Acidithiobacillus thiooxidans, which autotrophically oxidize sulfur (S), Fe(II), or both (sulfur- and iron-oxidizing bacteria). Thermophilic or mesophilic archaeal bacteria such as Acidianus, Sulfolobus, Sulfococcus, and Ferroplasma are known to catalyze the same oxidation reactions. They can oxidize metal sulfides directly to obtain electrons, generating relatively soluble metal sulfates and sulfuric acid (direct mechanism). In addition, the oxidation of reduced metals in the solid phase can be chemically catalyzed by Fe(III) generated from the bacterial oxidation of Fe(II), leading to metal solubilization (indirect mechanism). Sulfuric acid generated during these reactions can also contribute to metal extraction. The only important factors required for chemolithotrophic leaching are the supply of S, possibly Fe(II), and oxygen, and acidic conditions. Practical application of this process for metal recovery from wastewater-derived solid waste may be possible using established biomining processes such as dump mining, heap mining, and tank leaching. Lab-scale studies on bioleaching have been performed to remove toxic metals from sewage sludge samples [78, 79].

Heterotrophic microbes, characterized by the capacity for organic acid production, can also be utilized for bioleaching, termed *chemoorganotrophic leaching*. *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* species have often been utilized in studies of metal removal/recovery from various types of solid waste [73, 80]. They produce low-molecular organic acids, including lactic, oxalic, citric, gluconic, and succinic acids, which contribute to metal solubilization. In addition, they may excrete extracellular metal-complexing/chelating agents, improving the extraction of metals. For chemoorganotrophic leaching, proper carbon sources should be supplied, though keeping the pH in the acidic range is not necessary. A two-step process has been proposed to achieve efficient bioleaching with these microbes [74]. In this process, microbes are cultivated in a first reactor to generate metal-solubilizing agents, and a cell-free solution is subsequently placed in contact with the solid waste for metal extraction, avoiding the inhibition of the microbes by the toxic materials contained in the waste.

The well-known cyanogenic heterotrophic bacteria *Chromobacterium violaceum, Pseudomonas fluorescens,* and *Bacillus megaterium* can isolate Ag, Au, and Pt from electronic scraps (e-waste) and jewelry waste [75–77]. With appropriate carbon and nitrogen sources, they produce cyanide in the aqueous phase, and metal–cyanide complexes are formed to be solubilized. It may be possible to utilize this mechanism to recover precious metals from solid waste derived from industrial wastewater.

18.2 Selenium Recovery by *Pseudomonas stutzeri* NT-I

Microbial metal metabolic reactions and microbe – metal relations are considered to possess high potential for removing and recovering metals from wastewater. However, practical industrial applications have remained limited, in spite of the huge numbers of related studies. In particular, microbial recovery of metal as a resource has rarely been implemented at industrial or full scale, though some wastewater treatment bioreactors aimed at metal removal or detoxification have been implemented. In this section, our R&D for Se recovery utilizing bioprecipitation and biovolatilization catalyzed by a versatile selenium-metabolizing bacterial strain is introduced.

18.2.1

Pseudomonas stutzeri NT-I as a Versatile Tool for Selenium Recovery

Selenium, an element in the 16th group of the periodic table, is an important minor metal used as a semiconducting material for photovoltaic cells [81], quantum dots [82], and so on, and which, from another viewpoint, is known as a contaminant of aquatic environments [83]. Selenium species typically found in the environment are shown in Figure 18.2. Highly soluble and toxic selenate (SeO_4^{2-} ; Se(VI)) and selenite (SeO_3^{2-} ; Se(IV)) are the ions responsible for water contamination. Elemental selenium (Se^0) and metal selenides (Se(-II)) are insoluble minerals found in the pedosphere. Selenium is also known as an essential trace element for organisms, found as seleno-amino acids (Se(-II)) in the biosphere. Methyl selenides and hydrogen selenide (Se(-I) or Se(-II)) have volatile properties and is found in the atmosphere. Certain microbes can catalyze redox reactions of the selenium compounds to alter their chemical properties, contributing to cross-boundary transfers within different terrestrial phases on earth. Biological removal and recovery of selenium from the water phase is based on exploitation of microbial reactions. Successful studies on the biological removal of selenium have primarily been

584 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater



Figure 18.2 Selenium species in the environment. Roman numerals in parentheses indicate oxidation numbers.

reported in agricultural or mine wastewater, to date [84]. However, industrial wastewater containing higher concentrations of selenium should be targeted for economical recovery of selenium.

Therefore, we isolated *Pseudomonas stutzeri* NT-I from the drainage of a refinery producing selenium for industrial use [4]. Typical selenium metabolic reactions in aerobic and anaerobic conditions are shown in Figure 18.3. Strain NT-I



Figure 18.3 Typical time courses of selenate reduction by the strain NT-I [4]. (a) Reduction under aerobic conditions, and (b) reduction under anaerobic conditions. Symbols: open squares, selenate; open circles, selenite; open triangles, elemental



selenium. Vertical bars represent the standard deviation of three independent experiments. (With permission ©2011 The Society for Biotechnology, Japan. Published by Elsevier B.V.)


Figure 18.4 Scanning electron microscopy image of strain NT-I [4]. The arrow indicates a particle of elemental selenium. (With permission ©2011 The Society for Biotechnology, Japan. Published by Elsevier B.V.)

reduces selenate to selenite in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions, and then selenite to elemental selenium in aerobic conditions. Because the resulting elemental selenium forms small spherical particles with a diameter of 20 nm outside the cells (Figure 18.4), selenium could readily be separated from the cells by ultrafiltration as well as by sedimentation or centrifugation followed by incineration of the organic matter. Moreover, strain NT-I can reduce high concentrations of selenate (up to 10 mM) and selenite (up to 9 mM), which would enable application to wide range of industrial wastewater types.

During prolonged cultivation of strain NT-I in aerobic conditions, we serendipitously observed the disappearance of the dense red color derived from elemental selenium in the culture medium; we later determined that this marked the volatilization of selenium by the strain NT-I. Detailed analysis clarified that selenium was volatilized as methyl selenides with methyl sulfides by the strain NT-I [6]. Most of the microbial volatilizations of selenium previously reported were subtle metabolism [85–88]. In contrast, strain NT-I volatilized most of the selenium added to the medium, revealing a trait that shows great promise for industrial application in the future. Accordingly, strain NT-I, which catalyzes both bioprecipitation and biovolatilization by reductive reaction of selenium, could be a versatile tool for selenium recovery.

18.2.2

Selenium Recovery by Bioprecipitation

In the selenium refinery factory where strain NT-I was isolated, wastewater containing selenium (up to 124 mg l^{-1}) with high salinity (6–7%) is produced. The current process of wastewater treatment is based on physicochemical technologies,

586 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

employing the electric reduction of selenate to selenite, followed by sedimentation using a ferric flocculant. The concentration of selenium in the discharged inorganic sludge is too low (1%) to recycle economically. The triple costs of energy consumption for the electric reduction, excess flocculant, and sludge disposal place a financial burden on the factory.

We attempted to develop a wastewater treatment process using selenium bioprecipitation by strain NT-I [5]. Strain NT-I was inoculated at a pilot-scale swimbed reactor equipped with an interior acrylic biomass carrier, and the reactor was operated in micro-aerobic conditions for sequential batch processes. The wastewater was neutralized, diluted to reduce salinity, and supplemented with a carbon source (ethanol) and nutrient salts before treatment. Selenate or selenite was augmented when necessary. Neutralization and dilution were also included in the current physicochemical processes.

The first and second batches successfully reduced the selenium concentration to the Japanese effluent standard (0.1 mg Se l^{-1}) within 5 days from wastewater initially containing 60-70 mgl⁻¹ selenite. The third batch removed 30 mg l⁻¹ selenate, which demonstrated that strain NT-I can remove selenate and selenite from actual wastewater, with appropriate pretreatment. Microbial community analysis revealed that bacteria other than strain NT-I coexisted in the reactor after 25 days of operation. Because selenate-reducing bacteria are uncommon [89], it appeared that the selenate reduction in the reactor was primarily performed by the strain NT-I, although coexisting bacteria could substantially contribute. Selenium was removed as elemental selenium in the biomass, which would be ready for refining by incineration because selenium concentration in the biomass was sufficiently high (calculated to be 30%). Selenium recovery might produce a profit over the treatment cost, depending on the price of selenium. Furthermore, we achieved selenium recovery by bioprecipitation from extracts from waste material in cement production and fly ash from sludge incineration, indicating a broad range of potential applications [90, 91].

18.2.3

Selenium Recovery by Biovolatilization

Separation of selenium and biomass, an essential step for selenium recovery by bioprecipitation, adds additional cost. Selenium recovery through biovolatilization can be advantageous because volatilized selenium is separated from the water phase automatically; therefore, we attempted to demonstrate the concept of utilizing vigorous selenium volatilization by strain NT-I [6]. Strain NT-I was cultured in a medium containing selenate using a simple bioreactor equipped with an apparatus containing concentrated HNO₃ for selenium trapping from the exhaust gas. As a result, ~80% of the selenium initially added was removed from the water phase, and ~80% of the volatilized selenium was recovered in concentrated HNO₃, with thrice the the amount of sulfur and a small amount of silicon, during 48 h of operation (Figure 18.5). Selenium refinement from a solution of such simple



Figure 18.5 Recovery of Se through biovolatilization by strain NT-I [6]. (a) Time course of Se during cultivation. The vertical axis indicates the amount of Se in the culture and trapping solution. (b) Material balance of Se at 48 h. The ratio of Se in its respective phases to total Se in the jar fermenter at 0 h is indicated as a percentage. (With permission ©2012 Elsevier Ltd.)

composition should be easier than refining from the mixture with organic matter obtained by bioprecipitation.

However, two challenges remain: establishment of practical operating conditions to decrease the selenium concentration in treated water and to maximize the recovery rate, and increasing the purity of the recovered selenium by eliminating sulfur. To solve these problems, discovery of the molecular mechanism of selenium metabolism and additional biochemical engineering will be necessary. It has been suggested that anaerobic respiration similar to that of *Thauera selenatis* is responsible for selenate reduction in strain NT-I [92]. However, the limitation of selenite reduction and selenium volatilization to aerobic conditions implies that sufficient energy obtained by aerobic respiration is essential for them. Similarly, the simultaneous volatilization of selenium and sulfur implies that selenium metabolism is related to sulfur metabolism in strain NT-I. Therefore, it appears that an "omics" approach, such as genomics, transcriptomics, or metabolomics, should be employed to reveal the relationship between selenate metabolism and the global metabolic pathways.

18.3 Future Prospects

18.3.1

Toward Environmental Conservation and Solutions to Resource Depletion

As discussed thus far, various microbial mechanisms are being proposed for a wide range of applications in environmental conservation technologies, including

588 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

bioremediation of metal-contaminated wastewater, waste material, and soil. However, much of this effort has been limited to laboratory- and pilot-scale experiments. Microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery clearly show a strong potential for application in environmental and resource conservation owing to their favorable economic and environmental characteristics. R&D of environmentally adaptable microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery may also be conducted in the metal industry where biotechnology has not been applied to date, including metal mining, metal processing, new materials development, anti-degradation protection for metal structures, and metals analysis and measurement. To date, these microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery have primarily been applied in environmental conservation, such as treatment and detoxification of metal-contaminated wastewater and waste material, and remediation of contaminated environments such as soil. In addition to common toxic metals such as As, Cd, Hg, and Pb, rare metals such as Sb, Se, and Mo are also being subjected to regulation, raising a requirement for treatment technologies that can be applied to a wider range of metals than do previous technologies [69, 93, 94]. There is a distinct market for treatment technologies for decontamination of environmentally regulated metals, and an opportunity for development and application exists in taking advantage of the economic efficiency of microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery. However, these technologies have yet to overcome their limitations of slower treatment speed and higher uncertainty, compared to physicochemical methods. Biotechnological methods are currently suitable for low-cost, low-environmental-impact treatment of contaminated idle land, or for treatment of farmlands that results in minimal loss of soil texture. A stable market for these technologies is expected to emerge as their environmental conservation value becomes firmly established.

Precious and rare metals are usually discussed in terms of depletion of resources rather than environmental treatment. Providing a stable supply of scarce elements for the future poses a difficult problem. Recovery and recycling of precious metals such as Au and Ag, platinum group of metals such as Pd and Pt, and rare metals such as Mo, Ni, and Se from wastewater and waste treatment facilities pose an important challenge for resource conservation, but recent progress has been made, and this technology should become available in the near future [93, 95, 96]. When low-cost technologies, such as purification and treatment, are converted to dynamic technologies that provide benefits, such as resource recovery and development, these low-cost technologies can serve as catalysts for creating a new industry as novel technologies by evolving from static technologies to construct a recycling-based society. Practical application of microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery in the environmental conservation field may open the door for novel biological catalysts, biomaterials, and utilization in industrial production technologies with high market value. Refining and processing of metals generally employs strong acids or high temperature, and takes place under severe conditions with high energy expenditure. If these processes could be replaced by environmentally friendly bioprocesses, or if concentration of specific metals – which currently depends on chemically synthesized resins – could be replaced by biomaterials, then microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery could make an even greater contribution toward the development of a sustainable society. Biotechnology is a rapidly evolving field where new biological reactions, enzymes, DNA, microbes, and plants are discovered every day, and which is revealing new metabolic reactions involving metals. If these biological reactions are utilized to their full potential, they may lead to development of new technologies in the field of resource supply. Development and application of microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery may help to solve some of the largest problems of the century, such as environmental degradation and resource depletion.

18.3.2

Development of Removal and Recovery Strategies for Other Elements

Microbial technologies for metals removal/recovery in wastewater and waste material could be laterally extended to other elements if microbes that effectively catalyze the same reactions can be obtained. Acquisition of microbes with the capability to metabolize metals is difficult to achieve through normal screening processes, but it has to be attempted first. In fact, microbes have already been identified that perform various functions, including oxidation and reduction of As, oxidation of Mn, reduction of Cr, reduction of Pd and Pt, adsorption and concentration of radioactive elements and rare earth elements, vaporization of mercury ions, elution of metals from incinerated ash, and biomineralization of Te [3, 15]. The use of rapidly developing techniques for genomic analysis and bioinformatics to study global microbe and DNA databases may help in identifying potentially useful biological resources that have so far remained undiscovered.

18.3.3

Potential for Practical Application

Several problems remain to be solved before microbial technologies for metal removal/recovery in wastewater and waste material can be put into practice. The major problems are the slow reaction speed compared to physicochemical reactions and the instability of microbial reactions due to the inhibition of their growth and metabolism by other toxic substances, including metals, that are found in wastewater and waste materials. Although these issues pose problems for the industrial use of microbial processes, they are also inevitable so long as organisms are involved, and they cannot be eliminated. However, these problems may be overcome to a substantial extent if microbes that can tolerate toxic metals and other substances can be isolated and cultured with practical applications in mind, and by improving preprocessing steps for microbial treatment of wastewater and solid wastes.

18.4 Conclusions

Various microbial metabolic reactions of metals and microbe-metal interactions have been reported, and their application to metal removal/recovery from wastewater have attracted a great deal of attention in recent years. Microbial metal removal/recovery technologies are considered to possess several advantages over existing physicochemical technologies, because they typically consume less materials and energy, are more cost effective, do not generate hazardous by-products, and are thus in greater harmony with the natural environment; using this technology can help avoid harsh working conditions such as high pressure and temperature and use of hazardous reagents, and this technology is efficient for targeting metals even in low concentrations and in the co-presence of other compounds because of its high specificity. In spite of the recognition of the great potential of microbial metal removal/recovery, practical industrial applications have been limited to date. In particular, applications of microbial recovery of metal as resources, which can contribute to both environmental conservation and sustainable resource utilization, have yet to be realized at large scales. That means microbial metal recovery technologies are still in the FS (feasibility study) or R&D stages. To establish practical microbial metal recovery technologies, further R&D may be required for screening of promising microbial agents, for detailed characterization of these agents, especially at the genomic level, for understanding the underlying mechanisms, optimization of design and operation of bioreactors/processes, verification of the designed processes using an actual wastewater matrix, field development, downstream processing of recovered metals, and so on. It should also be emphasized that a multidisciplinary approach may be necessary to fully develop metal recovery technologies, with participation of scientists and engineers not only from biotechnology and environmental engineering but also from microbiology, microbial ecology, chemical engineering, hydraulic engineering, materials science, and so on, and even from social sciences such as economics and politics.

References

- National Institute of Technology and Evaluation, http://www.prtr.nite.go.jp/ prtr/prtr_katsuyou.html (30 January 2014).
- 2 Ministry of the Environment, Government of Japan, http://www.env.go.jp/en/ chemi/hs/minamata2002/ (30 January 2014).
- 3 Ike, M., Yamashita, M., and Soda, S. (eds) (2012) Handbook of Metal Biotechnology, Applications for Environmental Conservation and Sustainability, Pan Stanford Publ, Ltd, Singapore.
- 4 Kuroda, M., Notaguchi, E., Sato, A. et al. (2011) Characterization of *Pseudomonas* stutzeri NT-I capable of removing soluble selenium from aqueous phase under aerobic conditions. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 112, 259–264.
- 5 Soda, S., Takahashi, H., Kagami, T. et al. (2012) Biotreatment of selenium refinery wastewater using pilot-scale granular sludge and swim-bed bioreactors augmented with a selenium-reducing bacterium Pseudomonas stutzeri NT-I. Jpn. J. Water Treat. Biol., 48, 63–71.

590

- Kagami, T., Narita, T., Kuroda, M. *et al.* (2013) Effective selenium volatilization under aerobic conditions and recovery from the aqueous phase by *Pseudomonas stutzeri* NT-I. *Water Res.*, 47, 1361–1368.
- 7 Gadd, G.M. (2010) Metals, minerals and microbes: Geomicrobiology and bioremediation. *Microbiology*, **156**, 609–643.
- 8 Gadd, G.M. (2000) Bioremedial potential of microbial mechanisms of metal mobilization and immobilization. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, **11**, 271–279.
- Lovley, D.R. and Coates, J.D. (1997)
 Bioremediation of metal contamination.
 Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 8, 285–289.
- 10 Oremland, R.S. (1994) Biotransformations of selenium in anoxic environment, in *Selenium in the Environment* (eds D.T. Frankenberger Jr., and S. Benson), Marcel Dekker Inc, New York, pp. 389–419.
- 11 Cantafio, A.W., Hagen, K.D., Lewis, G.E. et al. (1996) Pilot-scale selenium bioremediation of San Joaquin drainage water with *Thauera selenatis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **62**, 3298–3303.
- 12 Wang, Y.-T. and Shen, H. (1995) Bacterial reduction of hexavalent chromium. *J. Ind. Microbiol.*, 14, 159–163.
- 13 Shen, H., Pritchard, H., and Sewell, G.W. (1996) Microbial reduction of Cr⁶⁺ during anaerobic degradation of benzoate. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 30, 1667–1674.
- 14 Tsuruta, T. (2002) Removal and recovery of uranyl ion using various microorganisms. J. Biosci. Bioeng., 94, 23–28.
- 15 Kagami, T., Fudemoto, A., Fujimoto, N. et al. (2012) Isolation and characterization of bacteria capable of reducing tellurium oxyanions to insoluble elemental tellurium for tellurium recovery from wastewater. Waste Biomass Valorization, 3, 409–418.
- 16 Mclean, J. and Beveridge, T.J. (2001) Chromate reduction by a pseudomonad isolated from a site contaminated with chromated copper arsenate. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 67, 1076–1084.
- 17 Hennebel, T., De Gusseme, B., Boon, N., and Verstraete, W. (2009) Biogenic metals in advanced water treatment. *Trends Biotechnol.*, 27, 90–98.

- 18 Stuetz, R.M., Greene, A.C., and Madgwick, J.C. (1996) The potential use of manganese oxidation in treating metal effluents. *Miner. Eng.*, 9, 1253–1261.
- 19 Suzuki, I. and Sahabi, D.M. (2012) Biological treatment for removal of iron, manganese and arsenic from groundwater, in *Handbook of Metal Biotechnology, Applications for Environmental Conservation and Sustainability* (eds M. Ike, M. Yamashita, and S. Soda), Pan Stanford Publ, Ltd, Singapore, pp. 11–25.
- 20 White, C., Sharman, A.K., and Gadd, G.M. (1998) An integrated microbial process for the bioremediation of soil contaminated with toxic metals. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 16, 572–575.
- 21 Barnes, L.J., Janssen, F.J., Sherren, J. et al. (1992) Simultaneous microbial removal of sulfate and heavy metals from wastewater. *Trans. – Inst. Min. Metall.*, **101**, 183–190.
- 22 Basnakova, G. and Macaskie, L.E. (1999) Accumulation of zirconium and nickel by *Citrobacter* sp. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, 74, 509–514.
- 23 Boswell, C.D., Dick, R.E., Eccles, H., and Macaskie, L.E. (2001) Phosphate uptake and release by *Acinetobacter johnsonii* in continuous culture and coupling of phosphate release to heavy metal accumulation. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 26, 333–340.
- 24 Bentley, R. and Chasteen, T.G. (2002) Microbial methylation of metalloids: Arsenic, antimony, and bismuth. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 66, 250–271.
- 25 Barkay, T. and Wagner-Dobler, I. (2005) Microbial transformations of mercury: Potentials, challenges, and achievements in controlling mercury toxicity in the environment. *Adv. Appl. Microbiol.*, 57, 1–52.
- 26 Lovley, D.R. (1995) Bioremediation of organic and metal contaminants with dissimilatory metal reduction. *J. Ind. Microbiol.*, 14, 113–118.
- 27 Gadd, G.M. (1993) Microbial formation and transformation of organometallic and organometalloid compounds. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.*, 11, 297–316.

592 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

- 28 Jr. Frankenberger, R.T. and Karlson, U. (1994) Microbial volatilization of selenium from soils and sediments, in Selenium in the Environment (eds D.T. Frankenberger Jr., and S. Benson), Marcel Dekker Inc, New York, pp. 389-419.
- 29 Thompson-Eagle, E.T. and Jr. Frankenberger, W.T. (1992) Bioremediation of soils contaminated with selenium, in Advances in Soil Science (eds R. Lal and B.A. Stewart), Springer, New York, pp. 261-309.
- 30 Dias-Bone, R.A. and Van DeWiele, T.R. (2009) Biovolatilization of metal(loid)s by intestinal microorganisms in the simulator of human intestinal microbial ecosystem. Environ. Sci. Technol., 43, 5249-5256.
- 31 Vijayaraghavan, K. and Yun, Y.-S. (2008) Bacterial biosorbents and biosorption. Biotechnol. Adv., 26, 266-291.
- 32 Wang, J. and Chen, C. (2009) Biosorbents for heavy metals removal and their future. Biotechnol. Adv., 27, 195-226.
- 33 Volesky, B. and Holan, Z.R. (1995) Biosorption of heavy metals. Biotechnol. Prog., 11, 235-250.
- 34 Mullen, M.D., Wolf, D.C., Ferris, F.G., Beveridge, T.J. et al. (1989) Bacterial sorption of heavy metals. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 55, 3143-3149.
- 35 Chang, J.S., Law, R., and Chang, C.C. (1997) Biosorption of lead, copper and cadmium by biomass of Pseudomonas aeruginosa PU21. Water Res., 31, 1651-1958.
- 36 Pardo, R., Herguedas, M., Barrado, E., and Vega, M. (2003) Biosorption of cadmium, copper, lead and zinc by inactive biomass of Pseudomonas putida. Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 376, 26-32.
- 37 Kapoor, A., Viraraghavan, T., and Cullimore, D.R. (1999) Removal of heavy metals using the fungus Aspergillus niger. Bioresour. Technol., 70, 95-104.
- 38 Say, R., Yimaz, N., and Denizli, A. (2003) Removal of heavy metal ions using the fungus Penicillium canescens. Adsorpt. Sci. Technol., 21, 643-650.
- 39 Niu, H., Xu, X.S., Wang, J.H., and Volesky, B. (1993) Removal of lead from aqueous solutions by Penicillium biomass. Biotechnol. Bioeng., 42, 785-787.

- 40 Gadd, G.M. and White, C. (1992) Removal of thorium from simulated acid process streams by fungal biomass - potential for thorium desorption and reuse of biomass and desorbent. J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 55, 39 - 44.
- 41 Park, D., Yun, Y.S., and Park, J.M. (2005) Use of dead fungal biomass for the detoxification of hexavalent chromium: Screening and kinetics. Process Biochem., 40, 2559-2565.
- 42 Deng, S.B. and Ting, Y.P. (2005) Characterization of PEI-modified biomass and biosorption of Cu(II), Pb (II) and Ni(II). Water Res., 39, 2167-2177.
- 43 Kapoor, A. and Viraraghavan, T. (1995) Fungal biosorption — an alternative treatment option for heavy metal bearing wastewaters: A review. Bioresour. Technol., 53, 195-206.
- 44 Al-Saraj, M., Abdel-Latif, M.S., El-Nahal, I., and Baraka, R. (1999) Bioaccumulation of some hazardous metals by sol-gel entrapped microorganisms. J. Non-Cryst. Solids, 248, 137-140.
- 45 Vasudevan, P., Padmavathy, V., and Dhingra, S.C. (2003) Kinetics of biosorption of cadmium on baker's yeast. Bioresour. Technol., 89, 281-287.
- 46 Rapoport, A.I. and Muter, O.A. (1995) Biosorption of hexavalent chromium by yeasts. Process Biochem., 30, 145 - 149.
- 47 Bustard, M. and McHale, A.P. (1998) Biosorption of heavy metals by distilleryderived biomass. Bioprocess. Eng., 19, 351 - 353.
- 48 Godlewska-Żyłkiewicz, B. (2003) Biosorption of platinum and palladium for their separation/preconcentration prior to graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometric determination. Spectrochim. Acta, Part B, 58, 1531-1540.
- 49 Tsezos, M. (1997) Biosorption of lanthanides, actinides and related materials in biosorbents for metal ions, in Biosorbents for Metal Ions (eds J. Wase and C. Forster), CRC Press, London, UK, pp. 87 - 113.
- 50 Savvaidis, I. (1998) Recovery of gold from thiourea solutions using microorganisms. Biometals, 11, 145-151.

- 51 Klimmek, S. and Stan, H.J. (2001) Comparative analysis of the biosorption of cadmium, lead, nickel, and zinc by algae. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 35, 4283–4288.
- 52 Aksu, Z., Açıkel, Ü., and Kutsal, T. (1999) Investigation of simultaneous biosorption of copper(II) and chromium(VI) on dried *Chlorella vulgaris* from binary metal mixtures: Application of multicomponent adsorption isotherms. *Sep. Sci. Technol.*, 34, 501–524.
- 53 Ahluwalia, S.S. and Goyal, D. (2007) Microbial and plant derived biomass for removal of heavy metals for wastewater. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 98, 2243–2253.
- 54 Bailey, S.E., Olin, T.J., Bricka, R.M., and Adrian, D.D. (1999) A review of potentially low-cost sorbents for heavy metals. *Water Res.*, 33, 2469–2479.
- 55 Gadd, G.M. (2009) Biosorption: Critical review of scientific rationale, environmental importance and significance for pollution treatment. *J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol.*, 84, 13–28.
- 56 Vieira, R.H.S.F. and Volesky, B. (2000) Biosorption: A solution to pollution? *Int. Microbiol.*, 3, 17–24.
- 57 Wang, J.L. (2002) Biosorption of copper(II) by chemically modified biomass of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Process Biochem., 37, 847–850.
- 58 Kuroda, K. and Ueda, M. (2012) Cell surface design for selective recovery of rare metal ions, in *Handbook of Metal Biotechnology, Applications for Environmental Conservation and Sustainability* (eds M. Ike, M. Yamashita, and S. Soda), Pan Stanford Publ, Ltd, Singapore, pp. 195–205.
- 59 Kuroda, K., Ueda, M., Shibasaki, S., and Tanaka, A. (2002) Cell surfaceengineered yeast with ability to bind and self-aggregate in response to copper ion. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 59, 259–264.
- 60 Brierley, J.A. (1990) Production and application of a *Bacillus*-based product for use in metals biosorption, in *Biosorption of Heavy Metals* (ed. B. Volesky), CRC Press, Florida, pp. 305–326.
- 61 Kuyucak, N. (1990) Feasibility of biosorbents application, in *Biosorption of Heavy*

Metals (ed. B. Volesky), CRC Press, Florida, pp. 372-377.

- 62 Bender, J., Lee, R.F., and Phillips, P. (1995) Uptake and transformation of metals and metalloids by microbial mats and their use in bioremediation. *J. Ind. Microbiol.*, 14, 113–118.
- 63 Bosecker, K. (1997) Bioleaching: Metal solubilization by microorganisms. FEMS Microbiol. Rev., 20, 591–604.
- 64 Babel, S. and Del Mundo, D.D. (2006) Heavy metal removal from contaminated sludge for land application: A review. *Waste Manage.*, 26, 988–1004.
- 65 Rawlings, D.E. (2002) Heavy metal mining using microbes. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.*, 56, 65–91.
- 66 Tyagi, R.D. and Couillard, D. (1987) Bacterial leaching of metal from digested sewage sludge. *Process Biochem.*, 22, 114–117.
- 67 Pathak, A., Dastidar, M.G., and Sreekrishnan, T.R. (2009) Bioleaching of heavy metals from sewage sludge by indigenous iron-oxidizing microorganisms using ammonium ferrous sulfate and ferrous sulfate as energy sources: A comparative study. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, 171, 273–278.
- 68 Ishigaki, T., Nakanishi, A., Tateda, M., Ike, M. *et al.* (2005) Bioleaching of metal from municipal waste incineration fly ash using a mixed culture of sulfur-oxidizing and ironoxidizing bacteria. *Chemosphere*, 60, 1087–1094.
- 69 Mishra, D., Kim, D.J., Ralph, D.E., Ahn, J.G. et al. (2008) Bioleaching of metals from spent lithium ion secondary batteries using Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans. Waste Manage., 28, 333–338.
- 70 Xin, B., Zhang, D., Zhang, X., Xia, Y. et al. (2009) Bioleaching mechanism of Co and Li from spent lithium-ion battery by the mixed culture of acidophilic sulfur-oxidizing and iron-oxidizing bacteria. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100, 6163–6169.
- 71 Zhao, L., Yang, D., and Zhu, N.W. (2008) Bioleaching of spent Ni-Cd batteries by continuous flow system: Effect of hydraulic retention time and

594 18 Microbial Removal and Recovery of Metals from Wastewater

process load. J. Hazard. Mater., 160, 648-654.

- 72 Aung, K.M. and Ting, Y.P. (2005) Bioleaching of spent fluid catalytic cracking catalyst using *Aspergillus niger. J. Biotechnol.*, **116**, 159–170.
- 73 Santhiya, D. and Ting, Y.P. (2005) Bioleaching of spent refinery processing catalyst using *Aspergillus niger* with high-yield oxalic acid. *J. Biotechnol.*, **116**, 171–184.
- 74 Brandl, H., Bosshard, R., and Wegmann, M. (2001) Computer-munching microbes: Metal leaching from electronic scrap by bacteria and fungi. *Hydrometallurgy*, 59, 319–326.
- 75 Faramarzi, M.A., Stagars, M., Pensini, E., Krebs, W., and Brandl, H. (2004) Metal solubilization from metal-containing solid materials by cyanogenic *Chromobacterium violaceum. J. Biotechnol.*, **113**, 321–326.
- 76 Kita, Y., Nishikawa, H., and Takemoto, T. (2006) Effects of cyanide and dissolved oxygen concentration on biological Au recovery. J. Biotechnol., 124, 545–551.
- 77 Brandl, H., Lehman, S., Faramazi, M.A., and Martinelli, D. (2008) Biomobilization of silver, gold, and platinum from solid waste materials by HCN-forming microorganisms. *Hydrometallurgy*, 94, 14–17.
- 78 Couillard, D. and Mercier, G. (1990) Bacteria leaching of heavy metals from sewage sludge: Bioreactors comparison. *Environ. Pollut.*, 66, 237–252.
- 79 Tyagi, R.D., Couillard, D., and Tran, F.T. (1990) Studies on microbiological leaching of heavy metals from sewage sludge. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 22 (12), 229–238.
- 80 Krebs, W., Brombacher, C., Bosshard, P.P. *et al.* (1997) Microbial recovery of metals from solids. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.*, 14, 103–120.
 96–101.
 96–101.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 96–201.
 9
- 81 U.S. Geological Survey (2014) Mineral Commodity Summaries 2014. pp. 142–143.
- 82 Bruchez, M. Jr., Moronne, M., Gin, P., Weiss, S. *et al.* (1998) Semiconductor nanocrystals as fluorescent biological labels. *Science*, 281, 2013–2016.
- 83 Lemly, A.D. (2004) Aquatic selenium pollution is a global environmental

safety issue. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.*, **59**, 44–56.

- 84 Lenz, M. and Lens, P.N. (2009) The essential toxin: The changing perception of selenium in environmental sciences. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 407, 3620–3633.
- 85 Fleming, R.W. and Alexander, M. (1972) Dimethylselenide and dimethyltelluride formation by a strain of *Penicillium*. *Appl. Microbiol.*, 24, 424–429.
- 86 Van Fleet-Stalder, V., Gürleyük, H., Bachofen, R., and Chasteen, T.G. (1997) Effects of growth conditions on production of methyl selenides in cultures of *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **19**, 98–103.
- 87 De Souza, M.P., Amini, A., Dojka, M.A., Pickering, I.J. *et al.* (2001) Identification and characterization of bacteria in a selenium-contaminated hypersaline evaporation pond. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 67, 3785–3794.
- 88 Soudi, M.R., Ghazvini, P.T.M., Khajeh, K., and Gharavi, S. (2009) Bioprocessing of seleno-oxyanions and tellurite in a novel *Bacillus* sp. strain STG-83: A solution to removal of toxic oxyanions in presence of nitrate. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, 165, 71–77.
- 89 Ike, M., Takahashi, K., Fujita, T., Kashiwa, M. *et al.* (2000) Selenate reduction by bacteria isolated from aquatic environment free from selenium contamination. *Water Res.*, 34, 3019–3025.
- 90 Soda, S., Hasegawa, A., Ike, M., Fujihira, H. et al. (2013) Selenium removal from ash of sewage sludge by chemical extraction and bacterial reduction. (in Japanese). Kankyo-gijutsu, 43, 96-101.
- 91 Soda, S., Hasegawa, A., Kuroda, M., Hanada, A. *et al.* (2014) Selenium recovery from kiln powder of cement manufacturing by chemical leaching and bioreduction. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 72, 1294–1300.
- 92 Kuroda, M., Miwa, E., Sei, K., Yamashita, M., and Ike, M. (2013) Selenate-reduction mechanism in Pseudomonas stutzeri NT-I, a promising biocatalyst for selenium removal and selenium recovery from contaminated water, Abstracts of

IWA Metals in Water-Health Protection and Sustainable Through Technical Innovation 2013, November 6–9, 2013, Shanghai, China. The International Water Association.

- 93 Creamer, N.J., Baxter-Plant, V.S., Henderson, J. *et al.* (2006) Palladium and gold removal and recovery from precious metal solutions and electronic scrap leachates by *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*. *Biotechnol. Lett*, 28, 1475–1484.
- 94 Velgosová, O., Kaduková, J., Marcinčáková, R. *et al.* (2013) Influence of H₂SO₄ and ferric iron on Cd

bioleaching from spent Ni-Cd batteries. *Waste Manage.*, **33**, 456–461.

- 95 Park, D., Lee, D.S., Park, J.M. *et al.* (2005) Metal recovery from electroplating wastewater using acidophilic iron oxidizing bacteria: Pilot-scale feasibility test. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.*, 44, 1854–1859.
- 96 Tay, S.B., Natarajan, G., Rahim, M.N.A. et al. (2013) Enhancing gold recovery from electronic waste via lixiviant metabolic engineering in *Chromobac*terium violaceum. Sci. Rep., 3, 2236. doi: 10.1038/srep02236

19 Sustainable Use of Phosphorus Through Bio-Based Recycling

Hisao Ohtake

19.1 Introduction

Phosphorus (P) is one of the most critical elements in biological building blocks and plays a crucial role in the cellular energy metabolism of all living organisms [1]. Since no other element can substitute for P in biochemical processes, humans ultimately rely on P availability. Modern farming is reliant on phosphate (P_i)-derived fertilizers to enhance agricultural production in soils [2]. Therefore, P availability is critical to our present and future food security [3]. Moreover, P is widely used as an important raw material in a variety of industrial products, including beverages, food, and pharmaceuticals [4].

Today, P is mostly obtained from mined P_i rock, which is nonrenewable on a human timescale [5]. However, natural reserves of high-grade P_i rock (27-37 wt% P_2O_5) are limited and rapidly running out on a global scale. P_1 rock is becoming more and more a valuable and strategic material, because P scarcity is linked to our food security [3]. On the other hand, increased input of P, into lakes, bays, and other surface waters causes nuisance phytoplankton growth known as eutrophication [6]. Eutrophication is a complex problem with serious effects on the state and health of aquatic ecosystems, imposing large economic and ecological costs [7]. Algal blooms degrade water quality by producing an offensive odor and taste. The nuisance growth of algae renders boating and fishing difficult and discourages swimming. Excessive growth of algae consumes dissolved oxygen, when they are decomposed by aerobic bacteria. Algal toxin production is also a serious problem in drinking water supplies [8]. Hence, it should be noted that the inefficient use of P not only accelerates the depletion of high-grade P_i rock but also causes environmental damage to aquatic systems by turning this essential resource into a pollutant.

Despite the potential shortage of P_i rock, a substantial amount of P in eroded soil particles and also in urban waste flows into the ocean from where P recovery is practically infeasible [9]. To prevent the P loss associated with human activities, increased attention has been paid to closing the loop on the anthropogenic P

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

598 19 Sustainable Use of Phosphorus Through Bio-Based Recycling

cycle [10]. Two main pathways toward the sustainable use of P are (i) minimizing P losses in the supply and demand chain, and (ii) recycling P from potential secondary resources [3]. Improving P_i rock mining, beneficiation technologies, and agricultural practices can contribute to preventing P losses in the supply and demand chain [3, 10]. Biotechnological and physicochemical methods have the potential to contribute to the recovery and recycling P from secondary resources [11, 12].

Agriculture is a major user of P, accounting for 80–85% of the world's P consumption [9]. The majority of P consumed from food and feed ends up in human wastes and animal manures, which are large sources of recyclable P. Since human wastes are discharged of in municipal wastewater, it is one of the major P sinks in urban areas [13]. Aiming to control the eutrophication problem, various technologies have already been developed for removing P from wastewater [11, 13]. However, not all the P removal technologies can be applied to P recovery for recycling because the quality of the recovered product is critical to P recycling. For instance, chemical precipitation with Al^{3+} or Fe^{3+} , which is a commonly used technology for P removal, makes P recycling more difficult compared to biological P removal. These cations form insoluble P precipitates, which are poorly utilized by plants when applied to agricultural land as fertilizer. If P is removed by precipitation with Al³⁺ or Fe³⁺, it needs to be converted to a more plant-available form using wet chemical or thermochemical technologies [13]. Biological P removal is more amenable to P recycling, because P is accumulated by sludge microorganisms in the form of polyphosphate (polyP), which can be further recovered as soluble P_i for recycling [12].

19.2 Microbiological Basis

19.2.1

P_i Acquisition in Bacteria

Bacteria use P_i as the preferred P source (Figure 19.1). When P_i is available in excess, P_i is taken up by the P_i inorganic transport (Pit) system that is expressed constitutively [14]. Under these conditions, bacteria can store P_i in excess of their requirement for growth in the form of polyP [14]. On the other hand, since bacteria are often subjected to P_i deficiency in nature, they have evolved complex systems to survive under P_i starvation conditions. P_i starvation induces the P_i -specific transport (Pst) system, which serves as a major scavenger of P_i residues [15]. The Pst system of *Escherichia coli* comprises four distinct subunits encoded by the *pstS*, *pstA*, *pstB*, and *pstC* genes [16]. These genes, together with the *phoU* gene, form the *pst* operon and are involved in the regulation of the P_i (*pho*) regulon [17]. The *phoU* gene encodes a negative regulator of the *pho* regulon.

Biologically synthesized polyP is a linear polymer of P_i with a chain length of up to 1000 residues or more [17]. The enzyme responsible for polyP biosynthesis



Figure 19.1 P acquisition in bacteria [12]. (With permission ©2009 The Society for Biotechnology, Japan. Published by Elsevier B.V.)

is polyP kinase (PPK), which polymerizes the terminal P_i of ATP into polyP in a freely reversible reaction [18]. The utilization and degradation of polyP is catalyzed by polyPases, including an exopolyPase (PPX), and several polyP-specific kinases, including polyP-glucokinase and polyP-fructokinase [18].

19.2.2 Bacterial polyP Accumulation

Bacteria exhibit two distinct patterns of polyP accumulation, known as P_i luxury uptake and polyP overplus [12]. P_i luxury uptake occurs when bacterial cells are subjected to nutritional imbalance unfavorable for growth. For example, *E. coli* can accumulate polyP when it is subjected to amino acid (nitrogen) starvation [19]. The molecular mechanism of polyP accumulation under nitrogen starvation has been described by Kuroda *et al.* [20]. Briefly, guanosine pentaphosphate (pppGpp), which is the major regulatory signal for amino acid starvation, inhibits PPX activity without affecting PPK. This leads to polyP accumulation in *E. coli* in response to the nitrogen starvation. The resulting polyP forms a complex with Lon protease, enabling the activation of protein degradation to supply free amino acids. On the other hand, many bacteria exhibit polyP overplus when P_i is added to cells previously subjected to P_i starvation. The molecular mechanism of polyP overplus has been determined with *Klebsiella aerogenes* [21]. Induced expression of the *ppk* gene encoding PPK and the *pst* genes under P_i starvation is responsible for polyP overplus in *K. aerogenes*.

Bacterial polyP accumulation can be enhanced by genetic modification [22]. A genetically modified strain of *E. coli* could accumulate approximately 16% of

600 19 Sustainable Use of Phosphorus Through Bio-Based Recycling

its dry weight as P (73% as P_2O_5). This P content of the *E. coli* recombinant far exceeded that of high-grade P_i rock. Genetically modified microorganisms have no practical use in an open system such as activated sludge process. However, spontaneous mutations of the *phoU* gene enable bacteria to accumulate high levels of polyP even under P_i excess. Such mutations can be caused by the *N*-methyl-*N*'-vitro-*N*-nitrosoguanidine (NTG) mutagenesis [23]. Since the *phoU* mutants express alkaline phosphatase constitutively, they can be easily screened as blue-colored colonies on P_i -excess agar plates containing 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-phosphate (X-P_i). This simple technology allows us to enhance the ability of sludge bacteria to accumulate polyP without using the recombinant DNA technology [24].

19.3 Bio-Based P Recycling

Basically, bio-based P recycling from wastewater consists of (i) biological P removal from wastewater, (ii) P_i release in a more condensed form from P-rich sludge biomass or P_i leaching from sludge incineration ash, and (iii) P_i precipitation from solution with inorganic cations such as Ca^{2+} or Mg^{2+} . Through this process, P is recovered in the form of either calcium hydroxyapatite $[Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2, HAP]$ or struvite (MgNH₄PO₄·6H₂O, magnesium ammonium phosphate) [13, 25, 26]. The recovered products can be used as an effective slow-release fertilizer in agriculture depending on the pH [25]. From the industrial viewpoint, HAP recovery is more promising because it has versatile applications in the manufacturing industry [26]. There are many technological options to remove, release, and precipitate P_i .

19.3.1

Biological P Removal

Although many technologies have been proposed to remove P from wastewater, biological P removal is a relatively inexpensive and environmentally sustainable option [13, 27]. Biological P removal can avoid consuming a lot of chemicals and correspondingly reduce the cost of sludge disposal [11]. In addition, it is achievable in existing activated sludge processes with a minimum modification on the operating regimes [11]. Activated sludge processes, which are commonly used for treating wastewater, can remove 50-70% of the P_i normally found in municipal wastewater [13]. Moreover, when activated sludge is subjected to alternate anaerobic and aerobic cycles, sludge microorganisms can accumulate high levels of cellular P_i in the form of polyP [12, 28]. This phenomenon is known as enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR).

EBPR has already become a well-established process applied in many full-scale wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs). There is no doubt that EBPR primarily relies on the ability of sludge microorganisms to accumulate polyP. However, despite extensive works on EBPR microbiology and biochemistry, the detailed mechanism still remains unclear [29]. This is attributable to the complex nature of activated sludge. The complexity and variability of the microbial population hinder taking molecular and genetic approaches except fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE), and metagenomic techniques. It seems difficult, if not impossible, to clarify the detailed mechanism of EBPR at a molecular level.

EBPR processes can remove typically 80–90% of influent P in WWTPs. The alternate anaerobic-aerobic cycle can be installed by introducing an anaerobic zone ahead of an aerobic stage [11]. In a conventional WWTP, this can be readily realized by shutting off aeration at the upstream part of an aeration tank and returning the sludge to this region from a secondary settler. EBPR sludge contains considerable amounts of P (typically 3-5 dry wt%), together with organic matter and other plant nutrients such as nitrogen, sulfur, and potassium. However, it also contains residues formed from the addition of precipitating agents in the wastewater treatment, organic contaminants, and potentially toxic trace elements such as chromium, mercury, and cadmium [30]. These potential pollutants may become enriched in the soil in the long run if the sludge is directly applied to agricultural land. To avoid these potential risks, it is recommended to process EBPR sludge into fertilizers that are safer to store, handle, and apply [31].

19.3.2

P, Release from polyP-Rich Sludge

P_i is released from EBPR sludge in the more concentrated form by various technologies, including heat treatment [32], anaerobiosis [33], anaerobic digestion [34], and incineration followed by chemical leaching [30]. PolyP can be released from sludge by heating at 70 °C for ~1 h [32]. The released polyP is degraded to P_i in solution during heat treatment. Since sludge settleability is unchanged before and after heat treatment, the P-rich solution can be readily separated from sludge solids by sedimentation [35]. An obvious disadvantage of this technology is the additional cost for heating the sludge at 70 °C. Heat exchangers may help minimize heat energy loss, thereby enabling cost reduction [12].

PolyP-rich activated sludge can release P_i, but not polyP, back into solution when it is subjected to anaerobiosis [33]. Although the detailed mechanism is unclear, this is considered as a simple and the most inexpensive option to release P_i from sludge biomass in a side stream [33]. For instance, this phenomenon has been applied to releasing P_i from sludge biomass in a small anaerobic P_i stripper tank [33]. The addition of a readily decomposable organic acid such as acetate or propionate can significantly enhance the rate of anaerobic P_i release. However, the rate and extent of P_i release by anaerobiosis are less prominent than those achieved by heating at 70 °C.

Anaerobic sludge digestion is a well-established process to stabilize waste sludge from the EBPR process [34]. It is one of the most technically mature and costeffective processes to convert sludge to methane-rich bioenergy (biogas), thereby

602 19 Sustainable Use of Phosphorus Through Bio-Based Recycling

reducing volume, odor, and pathogens [34]. During anaerobic sludge digestion, P_i is released to the sludge liquor in a more condensed form. However, P_i derived from polyP-rich sludge often causes uncontrolled precipitation of struvite on pipe walls and equipment surfaces of anaerobic digestion processes [25]. This leads to operational problems and significantly increases maintenance costs in waste sludge management. The possibility of struvite formation increases with a rise in the P content of waste sludge. Hence, P_i recovery prior to anaerobic digestion may reduce the potential of struvite deposition. One technical option for P_i removal prior to anaerobic digestion is the above-mentioned heat treatment [32]. Many studies have shown that heat treatment prior to anaerobic digestion can improve digestibility and methane productivity [36]. Therefore, the heat treatment prior to anaerobic digestion may be beneficial not only for controlling the struvite deposition problem but also for improving methane productivity [35].

Sludge incineration followed by chemical P_i leaching is another option for P_i release from polyP-rich sludge [37]. When EBPR sludge is incinerated in a mono-incineration plant, P is concentrated in the ash and can be released by acid or alkaline leaching. One issue of the chemical P_i leaching is how to separate the valuable P from problematic heavy metals. Various separation technologies, including solvent extraction [38] and ion exchange [39], are available to remove heavy metals. Solvent extraction involves the transfer of metal compounds from an aqueous solution to an organic solvent using extracting chemical agents [38]. Ion exchange is achieved by ion exchangers with specific affinity to definite metal ions or groups of metals. This enables replacing heavy metal ions by nontoxic ones such as Na⁺ and K⁺ [39]. However, it is unavoidable that the P recovery cost increases with increasing consumption of chemicals. The main alternative for chemical P_i leaching from sludge incineration ash is via thermochemical methods [31]. For instance, problematic heavy metals can be removed from sludge incineration ash by heating at 900-1000 °C in the presence of KCl or MgCl₂. P loss during the thermochemical treatment can be minimized by granulating sludge incineration ash into pellets as a pretreatment. The thermochemically treated sludge ash can be used as NPK fertilizer after being supplemented with NH₄NO₃ and K₂SO₄. Since fertilizer is a relatively inexpensive commodity, the potential of the thermochemical method as a P recycling option depends on the fuel cost for heating sludge incineration ash [40].

19.3.3

P_i Recovery from Aqueous Solution

 P_i can be recovered from an aqueous solution in the form of either HAP or struvite. HAP has a chemical formula similar to that of bone mineral and is commonly used as a bioceramic owing to its biological properties of biocompatibility [41]. HAP is formed from unstable calcium phosphates such as dicalcium phosphate dehydrate (CaHPO₄·2H₂O, brushite) and amorphous calcium phosphate (Ca₃(PO₄)₂·*n*H₂O, ACP) during and after P_i precipitation with Ca²⁺ [42]. P_i precipitation with Ca²⁺ is influenced by many factors such as the Ca/P molar ratio, pH, ionic strength, temperature, and coexisting ions [43]. Extensive studies have been carried out on P_i precipitation with Ca^{2+} , enabling this process to become a well-established P_i recovery option. P_i recovered in the form of HAP can be used as a raw material for the manufacturing of commercial fertilizers.

As mentioned earlier, struvite often forms in anaerobic sludge digestion processes where high concentrations of P_i and ammonium are present. The blockage of pipes by struvite precipitation causes significant operational problems which lead to an increase in the maintenance costs of WWTPs. However, if struvite precipitation is minimized in the digester, high struvite production from P_i -rich stream can be achieved in the downstream crystallization process [25]. P_i recovery by controlled struvite crystallization has been one of the most widely recommended technologies for treating sludge digestion liquors [25]. A high-quality struvite pellet product has been marketed as a slow-release fertilizer [43].

 P_i can also be recovered from aqueous solutions using crystalline calcium silicate hydrates (CSHs) [44]. CSHs occur naturally and produced technically during the production of gas concrete [13]. CSHs release Ca²⁺ into P_i -bearing water, thereby triggering the Ca–P crystallization and its deposition onto the surface of CSHs. This technology has the merit of reducing the consumption of chemicals and correspondingly decreasing the cost of P recovery [44]. To avoid struvite scaling problems, it is effective to directly add CSHs to an anaerobic digester, thereby decreasing the P_i concentration in the digested sludge [45].

The use of amorphous calcium silicate hydrates (A-CSHs) is a new cost-effective option to recover P_i from aqueous solution [42]. A-CSHs can be synthesized using unlimitedly available materials such as siliceous shale and Ca(OH)₂ at low costs. Since the reaction of P_i with A-CSHs occurs at pH 7–9, it is not required to adjust the solution pH to a high alkaline pH. The high settleability, filterability, and dewaterability of the recovered P are the advantages of A-CSHs over conventional CaCl₂ and Ca(OH)₂ (Figure 19.2). No chemical coagulants are required for P_i recovery by A-CSHs. Moreover, unlike Ca(OH)₂, no significant carbonate inhibition occurs with P_i recovery with A-CSHs. Although the detailed mechanism for P_i recovered by A-CSHs remains unclear, it seems likely that P_i is exchanged with soluble silicate polymers in A-CSHs, enabling P_i to bind to them. Importantly, the P recovered by A-CSHs can be directly used as by-product P_i fertilizer. *In situ* experiments at a WWTP have shown that heavy metals such as As, Cd, Cr, Cu. Hg, Pb, and Zn are not enriched in the recovered products [46]. A-CSHs have great potential as a beneficial material for P recycling.

Biological P removal has been implemented in many WWTPs, aiming to control eutrophication in aquatic systems. However, only a minor portion of removed P is currently recycled for the manufacture of fertilizers. Despite its precious resource potential, it is mostly disposed of as landfill or construction materials without being recycled. This is because essentially no regulation requires P reuse and recycling. Lack of policy measures allows the wastewater treatment sector to neglect P recycling, which may be considered as an extra service. Emerging issues for the implementation of P recycling include the high capital cost for plant construction and the difficulty in establishing stable channels for the distribution and





Figure 19.2 Settleability, filterability, and dewaterability of P recovered by A-CSHs, $CaCl_2$, and $Ca(OH)_2$ [42]. The settleability (a), filterability (b), and dewaterability (c) of recovered P were assessed by the method

described previously [42]. Symbols are A-CSHs (circles), $Ca(OH)_2$ (squares), and $CaCl_2$ (triangles). (With permission ©2013 Elsevier Ltd.)

sale of recovered products. To overcome these challenges, it is critical that the wastewater treatment sector works in close collaboration with government agencies and the fertilizer industry.

19.4 Other Options for P Recycling

19.4.1 Land Application of Biosolids

The application of biosolids (treated sewage sludges) to agricultural land is the simplest option to recycle P from wastewater. The nutrient-rich organic solids are considered as a low-grade fertilizer and soil amendment to improve the chemical and physical properties of soil [47]. However, a number of factors make the land application of biosolids increasingly difficult [40]. As mentioned earlier,

the residual sludge from wastewater treatment contains a variety of organic contaminants, heavy metals, and pathogens. Although most risk assessments demonstrate that the majority of the contaminants do not place human health at risk, continued vigilance in assessing the significance and implications of potential pollutants is necessary to ensure the long-term security of the land application of biosolids [48].

Urine diversion is another option for the application of human waste to agriculture [49]. Urine diversion sanitation technology, which can divert urine away from human excreta via a specially designed toilet, has been developed and applied in mainly developing countries [50]. The source separation of urine can improve effluent quality and save energy utilization and investment costs of the receiving wastewater treatment. Recycling urine as a liquid fertilizer has the potential to provide approximately 15% P required to fertilize cereal crops on a global basis. However, human urine also contains ingested pharmaceuticals and hormones. If urine sources are sterile and lack chemical contaminants, they may be used as liquid fertilizer after a precautionary waiting period [50].

19.4.2

Animal Manure Management

Animal manure has often been considered as a waste product and disposed of by application to land within a narrow region of where it is produced [51]. However, animal manure is one of major secondary P resources that have the potential to reduce reliance on mineral P_i fertilizer. Animal manure is a valuable source of plant nutrients and organic matter if it is adequately managed and applied. Reuse of animal manure is currently hindered by its bulky nature, the risk of transmitting pathogens, the contamination of heavy metals, undesirable odor, and the geographical separation of livestock farming from crop production. Additionally, where animal manure has been applied as organic fertilizer over a long term, P_i overaccumulation in soil causes increased transfer of P_i to surrounding water bodies, leading to eutrophication [51].

To sustainably use animal manure as fertilizer, manure treatment technologies have been developed and are still being developed [52]. Among them is anaerobic digestion of animal manure, which can offer substantial benefits, including onsite energy generation, production of stable liquid fertilizers and high-quality soil amendment, reduction in odors, and reduction in ground and surface water contamination [53]. The unavoidable issue is the associated investment costs for large-size reactors and the handling, dewatering, and disposal of the digested residues. Like biosolids, animal manure contains potential organic pollutants such as veterinary medicines, antibiotics, and biocides. To minimize the health and environmental risks, P needs to be recovered from animal waste and transformed into a form of marketable product, thereby easing the storage, movement, and application of manure nutrients. Incineration ash of animal manure, particularly chicken manure, contains a considerable amount of P and can be easily processed into fertilizers.

19.4.3

Biosolubilization of Immobilized P_i

P is present in inorganic and organic forms in agricultural soil. Although chemical fertilizers contain large amounts of soluble inorganic P_i , it is easily and rapidly immobilized by forming complexes with Al^{3+} , Fe^{3+} , Ca^{2+} , and Mn^{2+} , depending on the soil type [54]. Many microorganisms are able to solubilize and mineralize P pools in soil. They produce organic acids such as butyrate, citrate, and gluconate, which can convert unavailable P to soluble P_i at decreased pH [55, 56]. P-solubilizing microorganisms, predominantly bacteria, can contribute to the P efficiency of plants by increasing the P cycling in agricultural soil. P-solubilizing bacteria can also be economically and environmentally useful for bioleaching P_i from high-P iron ore and low-grade P_i rock [57]. Molecular breeding of plants that can use P_i efficiently may be a helpful strategy for agriculture. However, taking into account public acceptance issues on genetically modified plants, investments may be more effective if aimed at the use of P-solubilizing microorganisms.

19.4.4

Industrial P Recycling

Approximately 15% of the global P demand comes from the manufacturing industry [3, 58]. For instance, high-grade phosphoric acid is used as an iron-coating material in the automotive industry, etching agents for aluminum line pattern substrates of computer chips and liquid crystal panels, food additives, chemical catalysts, and flame retardants. P is also one of the crucial raw materials for the production of rechargeable batteries such as lithium ion batteries. In the industrial manufacturing sector, considerable attention has been paid to P_i removal from wastewater, because P_i emission is strictly regulated by national or local governments to control eutrophication [59, 60].

Recently, P recycling has been considered as an economically beneficial option, because it may lead to the reduction of waste disposal costs by turning P-rich waste into a resource [46]. For instance, considerable attention has been paid to P recovery in wastewater treatment processes of the fermentation and food industries [61]. Nucleic acid fermentation processes use P_i as an essential raw material, thereby generating P_i -rich wastewater. P_i is removed from the wastewater by biological P removal and precipitation with Ca(OH)₂ [61]. P recovery has also been implemented in an edible oil refining process, which uses high-grade phosphoric acid to remove impurities from crude vegetable oil [46]. Since no harmful substance is used in the edible oil refinery process, the quality of the recovered product makes it suitable for use in fertilizers for agricultural purposes. The P recovered in the form of HAP is sold as a raw material to local fertilizer companies [46].

In the manufacture of liquid crystal glass substrates, P_i is commonly used as an aluminum etching agent [62]. Although the P_i -rich wastewater can be chemically treated with FeCl₃ or Ca(OH)₂, this generates large amounts of precipitates, which must be disposed of as industrial wastes. A membrane system has been developed for recovering P from the spent etching solution of a liquid crystal substrate manufacturing process [46]. P_i is separated from spent etching solutions using a two-step reverse osmosis membrane system. This technology uses essentially no chemicals to recover P_i from spent etching solutions. The resulting P_i solution contains no impurities such as heavy metals.

In terms of quantity, P recycling in the steel-making industry is particularly important [63]. For instance, the amount of P emitted into steel-making slag is estimated to be ~ 2 times larger than that ending up in sewage sludge in Japan [64]. Coal and iron ore, which are essential raw materials for the manufacture of iron and steel, contain small amounts of P (typically <0.03 mass% of P₂O₅). Since P has detrimental effects on the mechanical properties of steel, it is removed into steelmaking slag at concentrations as high as 2-10 mass% of P_2O_5 [64]. Hence, dephosphorization slag from the steel-making industry is considered as a quantitatively important secondary P resource. Laboratory experiments have demonstrated that P is potentially recovered from dephosphorization slag using wet magnetic separation [64] and carbonate flux treatment [65]. Dephosphorization slag can also be reduced in an iron bath furnace to simultaneously extract iron, manganese, and P [66]. P-enriched slag can be separated from the hot metal yield and used as P fertilizer. The global production of iron ore is ~ 2000 million tons per year (mt/y) [67]. Assuming that iron ore contains 0.05% of P on average, ~1.0 mt/y of P could be potentially recovered from dephosphorization slag. This is equivalent to one-third of industrial P demand worldwide (2.8 mt/y).

19.5 Conclusions

The cheap supply of P is crucial to our food security [3]. Sustainable P use must ensure that all the world's farmers have sufficient access to P in the long run to produce enough food to support humanity while minimizing adverse environmental and social impacts [3]. However, because of the limited supply and increasing demand of P worldwide, cheap P fertilizer is becoming a thing of the past.

Much P is lost along the way when passing from mine to field to fork [3]. The losses are significant in arable land and livestock production because of overuse of P fertilizer and improper management of animal manure. Improved agricultural efficiency can contribute much to the achievement of P sustainability [68]. In addition to cutting usage, recycling P is crucial to the sustainable use of P. Biotechnology is involved in the demand and consumption chain of P, ranging from crop production, livestock farming, and food processing to waste treatment. Hence, biotechnology has the potential to improve the efficiency of anthropogenic P use if adequate and full consideration is given to its role in the demand and consumption chain. To fully realize P recycling, it is necessary to establish P_i refinery technology that can recover P from a wide variety of secondary P resources and use it for recycling (Figure 19.3). P-solubilizing microorganisms play fundamental



Figure 19.3 P_i refinery technology.

roles in biogeochemical P cycling in natural and agricultural ecosystems [69]. A biotechnological option for P_i refinery may be given by the use of P-solubilizing microorganims. Microbial P_i refinery technology is just starting and needs to fully exploit the potential of microbes to valorize P-containing wastes.

Despite the recent development of P recovery technology, implementation of P recycling is hindered by a variety of socioeconomic reasons such as a lack of public awareness, immature markets for recovered P, and insufficient support from governments. As a result, only a limited amount of potential secondary P resources has been used for recycling. When compared with P removal from wastewater, P recycling is more difficult to implement, because it needs to create channels for the distribution and sale of the recovered products. The implementation of P recycling requires the integration of technology innovation, corporate strategies, and public policies. It is particularly important to realize synergies with pollution control, energy/materials recovery, and reducing wastes. A sustainable and safe strategy for P recycling is expected to benefit our present and future society.

References

- Madigan, M.T., Martinko, J.M., and Paker, J. (1997) *Brock Biology of Microorganisms*, 8th edn, Prentice-Hall International, London.
- 2 Mengel, K. (1997) Agronomic measures for better utilization of soil and fertilizer phosphates. *Eur. J. Agron.*, 7, 221–233.
- 3 Cordell, D., Drangert, J., and White, S. (2009) The story of phosphorus: Global food security and food for thought. *Glob. Environ. Change*, **19**, 292–305.
- 4 McComas, C. and McKinley, D. (2008) Reduction of phosphorus and other pollutants from industrial dischargers using pollution prevention. *J. Cleaner Prod.*, 16, 727–733.
- 5 Van Kauwenbergh, S.J. (2010) World Phosphate Rock Reserves and Resources, IFDC, USA.
- 6 Lundberg, C. (2013) Eutrophication, risk management and sustainability. The perceptions of different stakeholders in the northern Baltic sea. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 66, 143–150.
- 7 Le, C., Zha, Y., Li, Y., Sun, D., Lu, H., and Yin, B. (2010) Eutrophication of lake waters in China: Cost, causes, and control. *Environ. Manage.*, 45, 662–668.
- 8 Wicks, J.R. and Thiel, P.G. (1990) Environmental factors affecting the production of peptide toxins in floating scums of the cyanobacterium *Microcystis*

aeruginosa in a hypertrophic African reservoir. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **24**, 1413–1418.

- 9 Liu, Y., Villalba, G., Ayres, R.U., and Schroder, H. (2008) Global phosphorus flows and environmental impacts from a consumption perspective. *J. Ind. Ecol.*, 12, 229–247.
- 10 Scholz, R.W., Ulrich, E.A., Eilittä, M., and Roy, A. (2013) Sustainable use of phosphorus: A finite resource. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 461–462, 799–803.
- 11 Morse, G.K., Brett, S.W., Guy, J.A., and Lester, J.N. (1998) Review: Phosphorus removal and recovery technologies. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 212, 26–81.
- 12 Hirota, R., Kuroda, A., Kato, J., and Ohtake, H. (2010) Bacterial phosphate metabolism and its application to phosphorus recovery and industrial bioprocesses. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, **109**, 423–432.
- 13 Petzet, S. and Cornel, P. (2013) Phosphorus recovery from wastewater, in Issues in Environmental Science and Technology *37, Waste as a Resource* (eds R.E. Hester and R.M. Harrison), Royal Soc. Chem., pp. 110–143.
- 14 Kato, J., Yamada, K., Muramatsu, A., Hardoyo, and Ohtake, H. (1993) Genetic improvement of *Escherichia coli* for

enhanced biological removal of phosphate from wastewater. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **59**, 3744–3749.

- 15 Nikata, T., Sakai, Y., Shibata, K., Kato, J., Kuroda, A., and Ohtake, H. (1996) Molecular analysis of the phosphate transport (*pst*) operon of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Mol. Gen. Genet.*, **250**, 692–698.
- 16 Wanner, B.L. (1994) Molecular genetics of carbon-phosphorus bond cleavage in bacteria. *Biodegradation*, 5, 175–184.
- 17 Kornberg, A. (1995) Inorganic polyphosphate: Toward making a forgotten polymer unforgettable. *J. Bacteriol.*, 177, 491–496.
- 18 Ahn, K. and Kornberg, A. (1990) Polyphosphate kinase from *Escherichia coli*. Purification and demonstration of a phosphoenzyme intermediate. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 265, 11734–11739.
- 19 Kuroda, A., Murphy, H., Cashel, M., and Kornberg, A. (1997) Guanosine tetraand pentaphosphate promote accumulation of inorganic polyphosphate in *Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem.*, 272, 21240–21243.
- 20 Kuroda, A., Nomura, K., Ohtomo, R., Kato, J., Ikeda, T., Takiguchi, N., Ohtake, H., and Kornberg, A. (2001) Role of inorganic polyphosphate in promoting ribosomal protein degradation by the Lon protease in *E. coli. Science*, 293, 705–708.
- 21 Kato, J., Yamamoto, T., Yamada, K., and Ohtake, H. (1993) Cloning, sequence and characterization of the polyphosphate kinase-encoding gene (*ppk*) of *Klebsiella aerogenes. Gene*, **137**, 237–242.
- 22 Hardoyo , Yamada, K., Shinjo, H., Kato, J., and Ohtake, H. (1994) Production and release of polyphosphate by a genetically engineered strain *Escherichia coli. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **60**, 3485–3490.
- 23 Morohoshi, T., Maruo, T., Shirai, Y., Kato, J., Ikeda, T., Takiguchi, N., Ohtake, H., and Kuroda, A. (2002) Accumulation of inorganic polyphosphate in *phoU* mutants of *Escherichia coli* and *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC6803. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 68, 4107–4110.
- 24 Morohoshi, T., Yamashita, T., Kato, J., Ikeda, T., Takiguchi, N., Ohtake, H., and

Kuroda, A. (2003) A method for screening polyphosphate-accumulating mutants which remove phosphate efficiently from synthetic wastewater. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, **95**, 637–640.

- 25 Marti, N., Pastor, L., Bouzas, A., Ferrer, J., and Seco, A. (2010) Phosphorus recovery by struvite crystallization in WWTPs: Influence of the sludge treatment line operation. *Water Res.*, 44, 2371–2379.
- 26 Song, Y., Weidler, P.G., Berg, U., Nüesch, R., and Donnert, D. (2006) Calciteseeded crystallization of calcium phosphate for phosphorus recovery. *Chemosphere*, 63, 236–243.
- 27 Oehmen, A., Lemos, P.C., Carvalho, G., Yuan, Z., Keller, J., Blackall, L.L., and Reisa, M.A.M. (2007) Advances in enhanced biological phosphorus removal: From micro to macro scale. *Water Res.*, **41**, 2271–2300.
- 28 Ohtake, H., Takahashi, K., Tsuzuki, Y., and Toda, K. (1985) Uptake and release of phosphate by a pure culture of *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus*. *Water Res.*, 19, 1587–1594.
- 29 Yuan, Z., Pratt, S., and Batstone, D.J. (2012) Phosphorus recovery from wastewater through microbial processes. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 23, 878–883.
- 30 Petterssona, A., Amand, L.E., and Steenari, B.M. (2008) Leaching of ashes from co-combustion of sewage sludge and wood – Part I: Recovery of phosphorus. *Biomass Bioenergy*, 32, 224–235.
- 31 Adam, C., Peplinski, B., Michaelis, M., Kley, G., and Simon, F.G. (2009) Thermochemical treatment of sewage sludge ashes for phosphorus recovery. *Waste Manage.*, 29, 1122–1128.
- 32 Kuroda, A., Takiguchi, N., Gotanda, T., Nomura, K., Kato, J., Ikeda, T., and Ohtake, H. (2002) A simple method to release polyphosphate from activated sludge for phosphorus reuse and recycling. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 78, 333–338.
- 33 Bond, P.L., Keller, J., and Blackall, L.L. (1999) Anaerobic phosphate release from activated sludge with enhanced biological phosphorus removal. A possible mechanism of intracellular pH control. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 63, 507-515.

- 34 Cao, Y. and Pawlowski, A. (2012) Sewage sludge-to-energy approaches based on anaerobic digestion and pyrolysis: Brief overview and energy efficiency assessment. *Renewable Sustainable Energy Rev.*, 16, 1657–1665.
- 35 Takiguchi, N., Kishno, M., Kuroda, A., Kato, J., and Ohtake, H. (2004) A laboratory-scale test of anaerobic digestion and methane production after phosphorus recovery from waste activated sludge. *J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, 97, 365–368.
- 36 Stuckey, D.C. and McCarty, P.L. (1984) The effect of thermal pretreatment on the anaerobic biodegradability and toxicity of waste activated sludge. *Water Res.*, 18, 1343–1353.
- 37 Kalmykova, Y. and Fedje, K.K. (2013) Phosphorus recovery from municipal solid waste incineration fly ash. *Waste Manage.*, 33, 1403–1410.
- 38 Abdel-Aziz, M.H., Amin, N.K., and El-Ashtoukhy, E.-S.Z. (2013) Removal of heavy metals from aqueous solutions by liquid cation exchanger in a jet loop contactor. *Hydrometallurgy*, 137, 126–132.
- 39 Dąbrowski, A., Hubicki, Z., Podkościelny, P., and Robens, E. (2004) Selective removal of the heavy metal ions from waters and industrial wastewaters by ion-exchange method. *Chemosphere*, 56, 91–106.
- 40 Donatello, S. and Cheeseman, C.R. (2013) Recycling and recovery routes for incinerated sewage sludge ash (ISSA): A review. *Waste Manage.*, 33, 2328–2340.
- Palard, M., Champion, E., and Foucaud, S. (2008) Synthesis of silicate hydroxyapatite Ca₁₀(PO₄)_{6-x}(SiO₄)_x(OH)_{2-x}. *J. Solid State Chem.*, **181**, 1950–1960.
- 42 Okano, K., Uemoto, M., Kagami, J., Miura, K., Aketo, T., Toda, M., Honda, K., and Ohtake, H. (2013) Novel technique for recovering phosphorus from aqueous solutions using amorphous calcium silicate hydrates (A-CSHs). *Water Res.*, 47, 2251–2259.
- 43 Pratt, C., Parsons, S.A., Soares, A., and Martin, B.D. (2012) Biologically and chemically mediated adsorption and precipitation of phosphorus from

wastewater. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 23, 890–896.

- 44 Berg, U., Donnert, D., Ehbrecht, A., Bumiller, W., Kusche, I., Weidler, P.G., and Nüesch, R. (2005) "Active filtration" for the elimination and recovery of phosphorus from waste water. *Colloids Surf., A*, 265, 141–148.
- 45 Petzet, S. and Cornel, P. (2012) Prevention of struvite scaling in digesters combined with phosphorus removal and recovery – The FIX-Phos process. *Water Environ. Res.*, 84, 220–226.
- 46 Ohtake, H. and Okano, K. (2014) Development and implementation of technologies for recycling phosphorus in secondary resources in Japan. *Global Environ. Res.*, 19, 49–65.
- 47 Elliott, H.A. and O'Connor, G.A. (2007) Phosphorus management for sustainable biosolids recycling in the United States. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, **39**, 1318–1327.
- 48 Clarke, B.O. and Smith, S.R. (2011) Review of 'emerging' organic contaminants in biosolids and assessment of international research priorities for the agricultural use of biosolids. *Environ. Int.*, 37, 226–247.
- 49 Vinneras, B. and Jönsson, H. (2002) The performance and potential of faecal separation and urine diversion to recycle plant nutrients in household wastewater. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 84, 275–282.
- 50 Karak, T. and Bhattacharyya, P. (2011) Human urine as a source of alternative natural fertilizer in agriculture: A flight of fancy or an achievable reality. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, 55, 400–408.
- 51 Bateman, A., van der Horst, D., Boardman, D., Kansal, A., and Carliell-Marquet, C. (2011) Closing the phosphorus loop in England: The spatio-temporal balance of phosphorus capture from manure versus crop demand for fertilizer. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.*, 55, 1146–1153.
- 52 Melse, R.W. and Timmerman, M. (2009) Sustainable intensive livestock production demands manure and exhaust air treatment technologies. *Bioresour: Technol.*, 100, 5506–5511.
- 53 Demirer, G.N. and Chen, S. (2005) Twophase anaerobic digestion of unscreened

612 19 Sustainable Use of Phosphorus Through Bio-Based Recycling

dairy manure. Process Biochem., 40, 3542-3549.

- 54 Azziz, G., Bajsa, N., Haghjou, T., Taule, C., Valverde, A., Igual, J.M., and Arias, A. (2012) Abundance, diversity and prospecting of culturable phosphate solubilizing bacteria on soils under crop-pasture rotations in a no-tillage regime in Uruguay. *Appl. Soil Ecol.*, 61, 320-326.
- 55 Chen, Y.P., Rekha, P.D., Arun, A.B., Shen, F.T., Lai, W.-A., and Young, C.C. (2006) Phosphate solubilizing bacteria from subtropical soil and their tricalcium phosphate solubilizing abilities. *Appl. Soil Ecol.*, 34, 33–41.
- 56 Buch, A., Archana, G., and Naresh Kumar, G. (2008) Metabolic channeling of glucose towards gluconate in phosphate solubilizing *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* P4 under phosphorus deficiency. *Res. Microbiol.*, **159**, 635–642.
- 57 Delvasto, P., Valverde, A., Ballester, A., Munoz, J.A., Gonzalez, F., Blazquez, M.L., Igual, J.M., and Garcia-Balboa, C. (2008) Diversity and activity of phosphate bioleaching bacteria from a high-phosphorus iron ore. *Hydrometallurgy*, **92**, 124–129.
- 58 Schipper, W. (2014) Phosphorus: Too big to fail. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, 2014, 1567–1571.
- 59 Ramosa, A.F., Gómeza, M.A., Hontoria, E., and González-López, J. (2007) Biological nitrogen and phenol removal from saline industrial wastewater by submerged fixed-film reactor. *J. Hazard. Mater.*, **142**, 175–183.
- 60 Warmadewanthi and Liu, J.C. (2009) Recovery of phosphate and ammonium as struvite from semiconductor wastewater. Sep. Purif. Technol., 64, 368–373.

- 61 Okano, K., Kagami, J., Honda, K., and Ohtake, H. (2012) *Engineering Aspects* of Sustainable Use for Phosphorus. Proceedings of EcoBalance 2012, Tokyo, Japan.
- 62 Kim, K.-J. (2006) Purification of phosphoric acid from waste acid etchant using layer melt crystallization. *Chem. Eng. Technol.*, 29, 271–276.
- 63 Yamasue, E., Matsubae, K., Nakajima, K., Hashimoto, S., and Nagasaka, T. (2013) Using total material requirement to evaluate the potential for recyclability of phosphorous in steelmaking dephosphorization slag. *J. Ind. Ecol.*, **17**, 722–730.
- 64 Matsubae-Yokoyama, K., Kubo, H., Nakajima, K., and Nagasaka, T. (2009) A material flow analysis of phosphorus in Japan – The iron and steel industry as a major phosphorus source. *J. Ind. Ecol.*, 13, 687–705.
- 65 Morita, K., Guo, M., Oka, N., and Sano, N. (2002) Resurrection of the iron and phosphorus resource in steel-making slag. *J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manage.*, 4, 93-101.
- 66 Dippenaar, R. (2005) Industrial uses of slag (the use and reuse of iron and steelmaking slags). *Ironmaking and Steelmaking*, 32, 35–46.
- 67 USGS: Iron ore statistics and information (2013), http://minerals.usgs.gov/ minerals/pubs/commodity/iron_ore/mcs-2016-feore.pdf.
- 68 Elser, J.J. (2012) Phosphorus: A limiting nutrient for humanity? *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, 23, 833–838.
- 69 Chang, C.H. and Yang, S.S. (2009) Thermo-tolerant phosphate-solubilizing microbes for multi-functional biofertilizer preparation. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 100, 1648–1658.

а

abiotic elicitors 307 acetoclastic methanogens 548, 549 acetogenesis 534, 548 acetone-butanol-ethanol fermentation 545 acid/alkali pretreated biomass 551 acoustic settlers 444-445 acrylic polymer-based hydrogels 117 activated sludge process 476-481 active composting phase 523 adenosine triphosphate (ATP) 548 aerated static pile 528 aerobic and anaerobic processes 495 agricultural waste treatment 542 Agrobacterium rhizogenes 264 Agrobacterium tumefaciens CCNWGS0286 339 air-well sparging mini-fermentor system 177 alternate sugars and amino acids 425-426 alternating tangential flow (ATF) 438-440 alumina 140 aluminum etching agent 606 Amaranthus retroflexus 343 amine transaminases (ATA) 33 amino acids 390-392 - and alternate sugars 425-426 ω-aminocarboxylic acids 35-37 6-aminopenicillanic acid (6-APA) production 20 - 21amorphous calcium silicate hydrates (A-CSHs) 603 AMT-BIOCLAIMTM 581 anaerobic baffled reactors (ABR) 490-491 anaerobic digestion (AD) 494 see also methane fermentation - continuous/batch systems 537-538 digestate use and quality 538 - factors 534

- mesophil/thermophil systems 537 - microorganisms and phases 533-534 - single-or two-stage systems 537 – status 538 - technologies 534-535 - wet/dry digestion 535-537 anaerobic fixed bed reactors (AFBR) 551 anaerobic fluidized bed reactors 491-492 anaerobic membrane reactors 492-494 anaerobic sludge digestion 601 anaerobiosis 601 analytical and diagnostic enzymes 29-31 anchorage dependent cells 404 animal cell culture 5 animal manure management 605 antibiotics 399 antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) 270 antioxidants 5, 398 aqueous polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) 118 aqueous-organic two phase systems (ATPSs) 306 - 307AraGEM 308 arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) 340 - 341AT-rich elements (ARE) 363 atmospheric nitrogen (N) 336 Atorvastatin 33, 62, 91–92 avidin/biotin system 125, 126 b baby hamster kidney (BHK) 359, 417 Bacillus subtilis strain SJ-101 334 Baeyer-Villiger monooxygenases (BVMO) 36

balanced salt solutions (BSS) 383 balloon type bubble bioreactors (BTBBs) 295 basal medium 386, 387, 395, 410

Applied Bioengineering: Innovations and Future Directions, First Edition. Edited by Toshiomi Yoshida. © 2017 Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA. Published 2017 by Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA.

bio-based P recycling - aqueous solution 602-604 biological P removal 600–601 – polyP-rich sludge 601–602 bio-waste 525 biological treatment 522–538 mechanical-biological treatment 538 - 541bioaccumulation 579 bioaugmentation-assisted phytoextraction 6 biobetter drugs 274 biobetters 270 biocatalysis - atorvastatin 33, 62, 91-92 - biocatalyst immobilization 87-88 biocatalyst yield 85–86 – mixing 95 optically pure chiral amines 95 – process concept 81, 82 product concentration 86 - product value 81, 82 - productivity 85 protein and genetic engineering 87 reaction engineering 88–89 reaction yield 84–85 – sitagliptin 92–94 structured approach 83 biocatalyst engineering biocatalyst immobilization 87–88 protein and genetic engineering 87 reaction engineering 88–89 biocatalyst immobilization 87-88 biocatalyst yield 85-86 biochemical engineering 1 biodegradability index (BI) 496, 508, 510 biodegradable waste 525 biodegradative bacteria 330-333 biodiesel fuels 545, 560 biodrying 540 biogas bioduel production 562–563 genetic engineering tools 563–564 - global carbon recycling 562 global warming 561 renewable and sustainable resource 561 - upgradation 561-562 bioleaching 581-583 BioLector 176 biological aerated filters (BAF) 485-487 biological engineering/bioengineering 1 biological oxygen demand (BOD) 472-473 biologically synthesized polyP 598-599 biomass production rate 219 biomass sensor and flow cytometry 198

biomining 581 bioprecipitation/biomineralization 574, 575, 585 - 586bioprocess control see microbial process control bioprocess optimization 417 bioprocess parameters – aeration 295–296 - agitation 295 - medium composition and optimization 294 temperature and pH 294–295 bioreactors biological catalysts 170 - biomass sensor and flow cytometry 198 - chromatography based methods 452 – computational fluid dynamics 171 - disposable 447 - electrochemical methods 453 - electronic tongues and noses 198 - enzymatic assays 450 - EU experts' recommendations on sensors 198 fed batch see fed batch bioreactor operations - flow injection analysis 199-200 - hydrodynamic conditions 170 - *in situ* sensors 196–197 ion mobility spectrometry 200 - microbial cultivation 169 microscopy-based methods 452–453 - near infrared spectroscopy 199 oxygen supply 170 - oxygen transfer performance 170 - oxygen uptake rate 171 - parallel see parallel bioreactor systems - perfusion see perfusion mode of bioreactor operation primary modes 417–419 process analytical technology 200-203 quality by design 170 - single-use disposable bioreactor systems see single-use disposable bioreactor systems soft sensors 198–199 spectroscopy based methods 452 biosensors 3 biosolids 604-605 biosolubilization 606 biosorbents 579 biosorption 579 Biostat CultiBag 194 biotechnology 1 biotin 393 biotin-4-fluorescein 125 biotin-labeled enzymes 125

biotowers 481 biovolatilization 577–578, 586–587 bolus mode of feeding 429 bovine serum albumin (BSA) 406 box-and container composting 530 brewing strain 215 "brikollare"-composting process 530–531 bubble column systems 188–189 bulk ions and trace elements 395–396 2,3-butanediol 558

С

caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) 149-150 13C-based metabolic flux analysis - examples 225-227 - principles 223, 224 carbon nanotubes (CNTs) 140 carrot cells 289-290 catalytic macromolecular components 388 cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV) 35S promoter 309 cavitation 496-499 cell adhesion molecules 404-405 cell growth environment 384-386 cell immobilization 306 cell suspension cultures 263 CELL-trainer® 195 CellCelectorTM 373 centrifuges 441-442 channel and tunnel composting 529-530 cheese making 13 chemical oxygen demand (COD) 473 chemically defined medium 386-387 chemically defined synthetic medium, F12 383 chemically reduced graphene oxide (CRGO) 154 Chinese Hamster EF-1alpha (CHEF1) gene 361 Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cell lines 361, 417 - CHO-K1 cell lines 363 chip-type reactors 100 choline oxidase (ChOx) 147 chromatography based methods 452 cis-acting DNA elements 367-369 Class I solvents 303 Class II solvents 303 Class III solvents 304 CLEA-based enzyme microreactor (CEM) 146 click chemistry 152-153 clone stability 376 ClonePix system 373

clustering analysis 215, 216 CO₂evolution rate (CER) 239 Cobalamin (B12) 393 coenzymes 17, 155 compost use and quality 531-532 comprehensive phenotypic analysis high-throughput culture system 228 - microarray analysis method 230 - Saccharomyces cerevisiae 227 - specific growth rate 228 - yeast cells 228-230 continuous bioprocessing 253 continuous culture system 244-246 continuous feed 429 continuous/batch systems 537-538 continuously stirred tank reactor (CSTR) 549,550 controlled-environment greenhouses 262 controlled shear filtration (CSF) 440 conventional methane fermentation process 549 - 551Corynebacterium glutamicum 219-221, 225, 226, 246 CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system 434 cross-flow filtration 438 crosslinked enzyme aggregate (CLEA) 146 cryogel 118 crystalline calcium silicate hydrates (CSHs) 603 Cu-resistant strain Sinorhizobium meliloti CCNWSX0020 338 Cube shaped Nucleo Bioreactors 448 CultiBag 183 curing phase 523-524 cyanobacteria 231 cyclodextrins 406

d

decoy protein 271 dehydrated waste activated sludge (DWAS) 554 dextrin production 14, 15 α, ω -dicarboxylic acids 35 diffused aeration 479 digestate use and quality 538 dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) 363 direct immobilization to channel wall 142 direct toxicity assessment (DTA) 472 disposable bioreactors 301–303, 447 dissolved oxygen (DO) concentration 242 distillery wastewater 507–509 DNA hybridization system 126 DNA microarray 214

1

Eagle's Minimal Essential Medium (MEM) 383 ectomycorrhizia (EM) 341 ectomycorrhizal fungi (EMF) 341-342 eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) 38 electro-chemical methods 453 Elelyso 273-275 . ELELYSO[®] 289, 305, 310–312 elicitation 307-308 embedded monolith 127, 139 encapsulation with semipermeable membrane cover 529 endotoxin free water 389 ENERGIA 18 enhanced biological phosphorus removal (EBPR) 600-601 environmental bioengineering 6 environmental protection agency (EPA) 473 environmentally responsive hydrogels 151 enzymatic assays 450 enzymatic cascade reactions 35-37 enzymatic microreactors 100 enzyme immobilization adsorption 101–108 - affinity labeling 119-126 - azide chemistry 152-153 - covalent linking 127-149 - entrapment 110-117 graphene-based nanomaterial 153–154 hydrogen bonds 151 - microfluidics 149-150 - organisms 149 – ProSAR 155 proteins modified with solid-support-binding modules 154 thermoresponsive hydrogels 151–152 enzyme polymerization 146-149 enzyme technology 2 - recombinant technology see recombinant technology early period up to 1890 13–16 – enzymatic cascade reactions 35–37 immobilized see immobilized enzymes metabolic engineering 37–39 metagenome/protein databases 32–34 period from 1890 to 1940 16–19 protein engineering 34–35 enzyme-adsorbed AuNPs 109 enzyme-immobilized reactors 100 Escherichia coli cultures 243 essential fatty acids 407 ethanol stress tolerant strain 217-218 ethanolamine 408

1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethyl aminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) 143 ethylene 335-336 ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) 343 euchromatin 368 Eupergit oxirane acrylic beads 140 European Federation of Biotechnology (EFB) 251 European Section of Biochemical Engineering Science (ESBES) 251 expanded granule sludge blanket (EGSB) Reactor 492, 493, 550 extended aeration 478 extended bed composting systems 528 extended Kalman filters (EKFs) 240-242 extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) 487

f

fast acetic acid manufacture 14, 15 fatty acids and lipids 393-395 fed batch bioreactor operations alternate sugars and amino acids 425–426 - challenges 430, 434 - culture working volume 423 design of feed composition 419–421 – dual control 425 - glucose 423-424 glutamine 424–425 mode and frequency of feeding 429–433 nutrient consumption rate 426–427 oxygen uptake rate 428–429 - pH 427-428 predicted growth rate 427 fed-batch culture 242-244 Fenton chemistry 500-501 flow injection analysis (FIA) 199-200 fluorescent assisted cell sorting (FACS) 372, 373 flux balance analysis (FBA) 219-221 folded-sheet mesoporous materials (FSM) 109

g

Gamborg's B5 medium 268 β-galactosidase 117 gene amplification 369–370 gene deletion mutants 216 Gene Ontology Annotation 218 genes conferring ethanol stress tolerance, identification of 215–217 genetic engineering 27 genome scale model (GSM) – biomass production rate 219

- design of metabolic modification 221-223 hydrolysis 547 - reconstruction 219-222 glucose 419, 423 β-glucosidase 140 Glut1 transporter 390 Glut5 390, 426 glutamine 391-392, 420-426 glutamine synthetase (GS) 363, 370 γ-glycidoxypropyltrimethoxysilane (GPTES) 143 glycoprotein production 178 gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) 109 graphene oxide (GO) 153, 154 graphene-based nanomaterial 153-154 gravity settlers 435, 437 greenhouse conditions 333 greenovation Biotech GmbH 264-265 growth associated components 388 GST-tag/glutathione system 125

h

hemagglutinin-neuraminidase glycoprotein 274heterochromatin 368 heterologous protein production 289, 309, 310 heterotrophic microbes 582 hierarchical clustering (HC) method 215 high molecular weight and complex supplements - cell adhesion molecules 404-405 - insulin 402 - lipid supplements 406-407 - protein hydrolysates 405-406 - serum 400-402 - serum albumin and other carrier proteins 403 - 404- transferrin 402-403 high-throughput bioreactors (HTBRs) 182 His-tag/Ni-NTA system 119 hollow fibers 438 homo-fermentative lactic acid bacteria 246 host cell 359-360 human CD30-specific antibody 265 human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4-immunoglobulin (hCTLA4Ig) 310 hydrocyclones 443 hydrodynamic cavitation reactor 499, 507 hydrogen production - anaerobic bacteria 556-558 - bioreactor 559-561 - feasible substrates 558-559 methane fermentation 555-556 hydrogenotrophic methanogens 548

ω-hydroxycarboxylic acids 35, 36 hyperaccumulating plants 329 hyperaccumulators 329

i

immobilized biocatalysts 25 immobilized enzymes - application 24-27 - fundamental research 19-20 – penicillin amidase 20–23 - sugar isomerization 23-24 immobilized lipase 118 in situ product removal (ISPR) 89, 306-307 in situ sensors 196–197 indole acetic acid (IAA) 333-335 inducible promoters 361 industrial enzymes 26, 31-32 industrial P recycling 606-607 Infliximab 441 influenza hemagglutinin protein 269 insect cell baculovirus expression vector system (IC-BEVS) 5 insulin 402 insulin-like growth factors (IGF) 401, 402 insulin-transferrin-selenium (ITS) 407 Integrated Fixed Film Activated Sludge System 486 - 487inverse metabolic engineering 214 ion exchange 602 ion mobility spectrometry (IMS) 200 isomaltose 17

i

Jatropha curcas 342 jet aeration 479-480

k

Kozak sequence 362 Kluyvera ascorbata SUD165 339 Kluyveromyces marxianus 246-249

I

laccase 151-152 lactic acid fermentation 245, 246 Lactococcus lactis 246 layer-by-layer (LBL) assembly technology 110 L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine (L-DOPA) 148 light-dependent expression platforms 264 - 265lipids 545 - supplements 406-407

```
long chain fatty acids (LCFAs) 548
low-temperature cofired ceramics (LTCC)
technology 140–141
```

т

mammalian cell culture 286, 400, 429 matts 528 mechanical biological treatment (MBT) 539 - 540mechanical damage protective agents 398-399 mechanical-biological stabilization (MBS) 540 Medicago truncatula plants 334, 339 medium for industrial production - biopharmaceutical processes 410 - chemically defined media 407 – essential fatty acids 407 - ethanolamine 408 insulin-transferrin-selenium 407 - medium design 408 – osmolarity condition 409 quality by design 409 – selenium 408 - serum-free media formulation 407 specific media formulations 408 transferrin 407–408 membrane bioreactors 484-486 mercaptoethylpyridine 273 mesophil/thermophil systems 537 metabolic engineering 37-39, 220, 231, 308 metagenome/protein databases 32-34 metal-binding peptides 580 metal-resistant rhizobia 338 methane fermentation - advantage 545-546 basic knowledge 546–549 - conventional 549-551 – high ammonia 552–555 high salinity 551-553 Methanosaeta 549 Methanosarcina 549 method of transfection 365 methotrexate (MTX) 369 micro-/mini-bioreactors (MBRs) 169, 171 - 172micro/nanoparticles and nanotubes 139 - 140microarray analysis method 230 microbial metal removal/recovery - application 589 - bioleaching 581-583 - bioprecipitation/biomineralization 575 - 577

- biosorption 578-581 - biovolatilization 577-578 environmental conservation and solutions 587 - 589 strategies for other elements 589 microbial oxidation 576 microbial phosphate precipitation 577 microbial process control - continuous culture 237, 244-246 - control system design 237 - control technologies 252-253 - extended Kalman filters 240-242 - fed-batch culture 242 - filtering 239 - mixed cultures 246-250 – online estimation 239 online measurements 238–239 - production costs 237 - sensors technologies and analytical methods 251 - 252- software sensors 239 supervision and fault detection 249-250 - tight and effective control systems 238 – yield and productivity 237 microbial process engineering bioreactor development 2–3 measurement and monitoring 3-4 - SSF 4-5 microbioreactors 251 microfluidic microbioreactor systems 184 - 188microfluidic paper-based analytical device (µPAD) 109, 110 microfluidics 149-150 microorganisms 523 microscopy based methods 452-453 microtiter plate systems 172-178 microtube-type reactors 100 Minamata tragedy 573 mini bioreactors 448 miniaturized bioreactor systems 3 mixed liquor suspended solids (MLSS) 476 mixed liquor volatile suspended solids (MLVSS) 476 mixed microbial cultures 246-250 modified prepared activated sludge (MPAS) 510 moisture and oxygen/aeration 524 molecular farming - biobetter drugs 274 - cell suspension cultures 263 light-dependent expression platforms 264 - 265

- pharmaceutical proteins 273

- quality and consistency of recombinant proteins 269-271 - quantity of recombinant proteins 267-269 recombinant glucocerebrosidase 274 - regulatory and industry barriers 271-273 - tissue cultures 264 - whole plants and cell/tissue cultures 261 - 262- whole plants vs. in vitro culture platforms 265 - 267monoliths and particles 109 mouse myeloproliferative virus (MPSV) 361 multi-omics analysis and data integration 230 - 231multi-walled carbon nanotubes (MWNTs) 140 municipal and industrial wastewaters - activated sludge process 476-481 - aerobic and anaerobic processes 495 - anaerobic baffled reactors 490-491 - anaerobic digestion 494 anaerobic fluidized bed reactors 491–492 anaerobic membrane reactors 492–494 - biological aerated filters 485-487 - biological oxidation 509-511 - biological treatment 471-475 - cavitation 496-499 combined processes 505-507 distillery wastewater 507–509 - expanded granule sludge blanket reactor 492, 493 - Fenton chemistry 500-501 - integrated fixed film activated sludge system 486 - mathematical modeling 475-476 membrane bioreactors 484–486 - ozonation 501-503 - PACT systems 484, 485 - photocatalysis 503-505 - regulations 473 rotating biological contactors 483 - submerged biological contactors 484 - trickling filters 481-483 - types 471 - UASB reactors 489-490 - ultrasound 487-488 municipal solid waste (MSW) compost use and guality 531–532 - composting process 522-525 - composting technologies 525-531 - continuous/batch systems 537-538 - digestate use and quality 538 mechanical biological treatment 538-539 mechanical-biological stabilization 540

- mechanical-physical stabilization 541 - mesophil/thermophil systems 537 - process of anaerobic digestion 532-534 - single-or two-stage systems 537 - status of anaerobic digestion 538 - status of composting 532 - status of MBT 541 - waste disposal 521 wet/dry digestion 535-537 Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium 268

mycorrhizae 340-342

n

N-acetylneuraminic acid (NANA) 359 N-glycolylneuraminic acid (NGNA) 359 natural cellular environment 384-386 near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) 199 nitrocellulose (NC) 109 nitrogen fixation 336-339 non-essential amino acids 392 non-immobilized (soluble) enzymes 24-25 non-nutritional medium components alternative buffers 397-398 - antibiotics 399 - antioxidants 398 - mechanical damage protective agents 398 - 399- phenol red 396 - sodium bicarbonate buffer 396-397 non-silica-based matrices 117-119 Novozyme 435 150 nucleic acid fermentation processes 606 nucleotides 126

nutrient consumption rate 426-427

0

- omics-integrated approach
- ¹³C-based metabolic flux analysis 223 - 227
- comprehensive phenotypic analysis 227 - 230

- genome scale model 219-223

- metabolic pathways 213
- multi-omics analysis and data integration 230 - 231

- transcriptome analysis 214-218

oncogene activated production system 360

OptKnock 221-222

organic waste 525

organic waste energy recovery

- advanced methane fermentation processes 551 - 555
- advantage of methane fermentation 545 - 546

organic waste energy recovery (contd.) - tangential flow filtration 438 vortex flow filters 440–441 basic knowledge of methane fermentation phenol red 396 546 - 549phosphoenol-pyruvate carboxykinase (PEPck) biogas see biogas conventional methane fermentation process 549 - 551 hydrogen production see hydrogen production oxidation ditches 479, 480 oxidative pentose phosphate pathways 231 oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex (ODHC) 225 oxygen uptake rate (OUR) 239, 428-429 ozonation 501-503 D P recycling – animal manure 605 - biosolids 604-605 biosolubilization 606 industrial recycling 606–607 PacificGMP 195 packed bed microreactor 150 Paclitaxel 302-303 parallel bioreactor systems basic characteristics of high-throughput systems 171-172 bubble column systems 188–189 - microfluidic microbioreactor systems 184 - 188 microtiter plate systems 172–178 - parallel-use micro-/ mini-bioreactor system 189 - 193 stirred tank reactor systems 178–184 parallel-use micro-/ mini-bioreactor system 189 - 193Paxillus involutus 342 penicillin amidase (PA) 20-23 penicillin hydrolysis and derivatives 20-23 percolation technology 535-536 perfusion mode of bioreactor operation acoustic settlers 444–445 - advantages 435 alternating tangential flow 438 - 440 cell density based feeding 445 - centrifuges 441-442 - challenges 446 controlled shear filtration 440 - cross-flow filtration 438 gravity settlers 435, 437 hollow fibers 438

 hydrocyclones 443 metabolite based feeding 445-446

- spin filters 441

225 phosphoenol-pyruvate carboxylase (PEPc) 225 phosphorus recovery agricultural efficiency 607 agriculture 598 - algal toxin production 597 animal manure management 605 - application of biosolids 604-605 aqueous solution 602–604 bacterial polyP accumulation 599–600 biological P removal 600–601 biosolubilization 606 - biotechnology 607 cheap supply 607 - chemical precipitation 598 - food security 597 - P; acquisition in bacteria 598-599 P-solubilizing microorganims 607 - polyP-rich sludge 601-602 sustainable use 598 photocatalysis 503-505 photosynthetic microalgae 265 phytodegradation 329 phytoextraction 329 Phyton Biotech[®] 288, 302-303 phytoremediation - biodegradative bacteria 330-333 definition 329–330 - examples 342-343 - metals and organics 328 - mycorrhizae 340-342 - plant growth-promoting bacteria 333-340 stable isotope probing 343 traditional cleanup procedures 328-329 phytostabilization 329 phytotransformation 329 phytovolatilization 329 Pichia pastoris cultures 252 PiggyBac transposon 369 plant cell and tissue culture platforms – cell suspension cultures 263 light-dependent expression platforms 264 - 265tissue cultures 264 plant cell culture 5 Plant Cell Fermentation (PCFTM) 302-303 plant cell suspension culture – aeration 295–296 - aggregation 292-293
Index 621

- agitation 295 - cell growth and morphology 291-292 - cell immobilization 306 - choice of culture system 288-290 - culture development and maintenance 286 - 288- disposable bioreactors 301-303 - elicitation 307-308 - gas requirements 292 - medium composition and optimization 294 - medium rheology 293 - metabolic engineering 308 - operational modes 296-297 - Paclitaxel 314-315 - Phyton Biotech 288, 314-315 Plant Cell Fermentation (PCFTM) 314–315 - pneumatic bioreactors 300-301 - products 283-285 - Protalix and ProCellExTM Platform 310 - 313 recombinant protein extraction and purification 304-305 - recombinant-protein-specific strategies 309 - 310- shear sensitivity 293-294 - shikonin 295 - specialized metabolite extraction and purification 303-304 - specialized metabolites 306-307 - stirred-tank reactors 297, 299-300 - temperature and pH 294-295 plant glycans 269-270 plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) - ethylene 335-336 indole acetic acid 333-335 nitrogen fixation 336–339 - siderophores 339-340 plant-derived pharmaceutical protein 270 plasmid cloning in E. coli 364 plasmid conformation 366 plastic roller bottles 447 plug flow technology 536, 537 Pluronic F68 398 pneumatic bioreactors 288-289 poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) hydrogel 151, 152 poly-adenylation signal 362-363 polyethylene glycol (PEG) 111 polyethyleneimine (PEI)-coated silica-monolithic grass microchip 109 polyketone polymer 151 polyP kinase (PPK) 599 polyP-rich sludge 601-602

polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) 109 powdered activated carbon treatment (PACT) systems 484, 485 process analytical technology (PAT) - biochemical process engineering 200 - biopharmaceutical manufacturing 201 - fermentation and downstream processing technologies 200 - implementations 202-203 - product quality 201 - tools 201-202 Protalix and ProCellExTM Platform 310-313 protein and genetic engineering 87 protein engineering 34-35 protein hydrolysates 405-406 protein production - adaptation 374 - cis-acting DNA elements 367-369 - clone stability 376 - gene amplification 369-370 - host cell 359 intron 362 method of transfection 365 - plasmid cloning in E. coli 364 - plasmid conformation 366 - poly-adenylation signal 362-363 - process and product attributes 374-375 - promoter/enhancer 360-362 - scale-down model 375-376 - screening platform 373-374 - secretion leader sequence 364 - selection marker 363-364 - single cell cloning 370-371 - site specific integration 367 protein secretion pathway 434 proteins modified with solid-support-binding module 154 proteolytic enzymes 19 Pseudomonas aeruginosa 339 Pseudomonas brassicacearum strain Zy-2-1 335 Pseudomonas denitrificans 243 Pseudomonas putida GR12-2 334 Pseudomonas putida KNP9 339, 340 Pseudomonas strains 330 pyridoxal-5'-phosphate (PLP) dependent enzymes 33 pyruvate carboxylase (Pc) 225

r

- reaction engineering
- product removal 89, 90
- reactant supply 89
- two-phase systems 90-91

622 Index

recombinant glucocerebrosidase 274-275 recombinant proteins 263 extraction and purification 304–305 specific strategies 309-310 recombinant technology analytical and diagnostic enzymes 29–31 genetic engineering 27–29 - industrial enzymes 26, 31-32 recombinase-mediated cassette exchange (RMCE) 367 recycling of precious metals 588 RegulonDB 218 remote plasma enhanced chemical vapor deposition (RPECVD) system 117 restriction enzymes 27, 28, 30, 366 return activated sludge (RAS) 477 reusable bioreactors 272 revolutionary molecular biology method 30 rhizobial bacterium Mesorhizobium sp. 342 rhizobial strains 337, 338 rhizodegradation 329 rhizofiltration 329 rice α-amylase 3D (RAmy3D) promoter 297, 309 Robinia pseudoacacia 339 rotary drum composting 531 rotating biological contactors (RBCs) 483

s

Saccharomyces cerevisiae 227 scaffold/matrix attachment regions (S/MAR) 368 SEAP 435 secretion leader sequence 364 selenium 408 selenium recovery - bioprecipitation 585-586 - biovolatilization 586-587 – P. stutzeri NT-I 583–585 self-assembled monolayers (SAMs) 141 semi-solid medium system 373 sequencing batch reactors (SBR) 478-479 serum 400-402 serum albumin and carrier proteins 403-404 serum-free media formulation 407 shikonin 283, 289, 295, 306, 307 siderophores 339-340 silica-based matrices 111, 117 silica-based nanospring mats 142 silica-containing monoliths 127 silo composting 531 single cell cloning 370-373 single-or two-stage systems 537

single-use disposable bioreactor systems 169, 193 - features 194 in practical use 195–196 - sensors and monitoring 194-195 single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) 140 Sinorhizobium meliloti strain 336, 338 Sinorhizobium meliloti strain RD64 334 sitagliptin 92-94 sludge incineration 602 sludge volume index (SVI) 478 small scale bioreactors 169 small unilamellar vesicles (SUVs) 125 sodium bicarbonate buffer 396-397 sodium carboxymethyl cellulose 398 soft sensors 198-199, 251 solid state fermentation (SSF) 4-5 solid-liquid two-phase systems 307 solvent extraction 602 somaclonal variation 268 spectroscopy based methods 452 spin filters 441, 446 Sporolactobacillus inulinus ATCC15538 246 stabilizing and antirepressor (STAR) elements 368 stable isotope probing (SIP) 343 stably transformed hairy root cultures 264 stainless steel fermentors 169, 193 Staudinger ligation 152 Stickland reaction 548 stirred-tank reactors (STRs) 178-184, 297, 299 - 300streptavidin-coated microbeads 125 streptavidin-linked enzymes 125, 126 Streptomyces acidiscabies E13 340 Streptomyces tendae F4 339 stress ethylene 335 submerged biological contactors (SBCs) 484 sugars 390 surface aeration 480 switchgrass 5 symbiotic N fixing bacteria 336 synthetic polymer membranes and papers 109

t

tangential flow filtration 438 Taxol[®] 283, 314 Teflon[®] 100 1,1,3,3-tetramethyldisiloxane (TMDSO) monomer 117 Thelephora terrestris 341 thermochemically treated sludge ash 602 thermoresponsive hydrogels 151-152 thiamine pyrophosphate 393 threonine production 230 tissue cultures 264 tobacco plants 289, 310 total dissolved solids (TDS) 478 total organic carbon demand (TOC) 472 traditional cell culture medium 386 transcriptome analysis - DNA microarray 214 - ethanol stress tolerant strain 217-218 - identification of genes conferring ethanol stress tolerance 215-217 - inverse metabolic engineering 214 - omics analysis 214 - RNA-seq 214 transferrin 401-403, 407-408 3.6 kb transgene expression enhancing sequence 368 trickling filters 481-483 Trigonella foenum-graecum plants 341 trypsin-entrapped tetraethoxysilane (TEOS) polymer 111 tryptophan biosynthesis genes 216 tube spin bioreactors 449

и

ubiquitous chromatin opening elements (UCOE) 368 ultrasonic horns 497, 498, 510 unconsumed components 388 universal nutrient consumption rate 422 upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) 489–490, 550, 556 Urban Wastewater Treatment Directive 473 Ure2 protein 149 vector engineering 434 vitamins 392–393 volatile suspended solids (VSS) 475, 476 vortex flow filters (VFFs) 440–441

w

waste activated sludge (WAS) 477 waste disposal 521, 581, 606 see also municipal solid waste (MSW) wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) 600. 601.603 Water Framework Directive 473 water in media preparation 388-389 water quality 388, 389 water-soluble vitamins 393 wave bioreactors 301, 302, 447, 448 wet/dry digestion 535-537 whole effluent toxicity (WET) test 472 whole plants and cell/tissue cultures 261 - 262whole plants vs. in vitro culture platforms 265-267 whole transcriptome shotgun sequencing (RNA-seq) 214 windrow composting 527-530

Ζ

zwitterions 397 zymase 18

WILEY END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT

Go to www.wiley.com/go/eula to access Wiley's ebook EULA.